
  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

Planning Commission 
  
 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

Date:   12/12/2022 
Time:  7:00 p.m. 
Location:  Zoom.us/join – ID# 871 4022 8110 and  
  Council Chambers 
  751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 
 

NOVEL CORONAVIRUS, COVID-19, EMERGENCY ADVISORY NOTICE  
Consistent with Government Code section 54953(e), and in light of the declared state of emergency, and 
maximize public safety while still maintaining transparency and public access, members of the public can 
listen to the meeting and participate using the following methods. 
 
How to participate in the meeting 

• Access the live meeting, in-person, at the Council Chambers  
• Access the meeting real-time online at:  

zoom.us/join – Meeting ID# 871 4022 8110 
• Access the meeting real-time via telephone (listen only mode) at:  

(669) 900-6833 
Regular Meeting ID # 871 4022 8110  
Press *9 to raise hand to speak 

• Submit a written comment online up to 1-hour before the meeting start time: 
PlanningDept@menlopark.org * 
Please include the agenda item number you are commenting on. 

 
*Written comments are accepted up to 1 hour before the meeting start time. Written messages are 
provided to the Planning Commission at the appropriate time in their meeting.   

Subject to Change: Given the current public health emergency and the rapidly evolving federal, state, 
county and local orders, the format of this meeting may be altered or the meeting may be canceled. You 
may check on the status of the meeting by visiting the City’s website www.menlopark.gov. The instructions 
for logging on to the webinar and/or the access code is subject to change. If you have difficulty accessing 
the webinar, please check the latest online edition of the posted agenda for updated information 
(menlopark.gov/agenda). 
  

  

https://zoom.us/join
https://zoom.us/join
http://www.menlopark.gov/
http://menlopark.org/agenda


Planning Commissions Regular Meeting Agenda 
December 12, 2022 
Page 2 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

Regular Meeting 

A. Call To Order

B. Roll Call

C. Reports and Announcements

D. Public Comment

Under “Public Comment,” the public may address the Commission on any subject not listed on the
agenda. Each speaker may address the Commission once under public comment for a limit of three
minutes. You are not required to provide your name or City of residence, but it is helpful. The
Commission cannot act on items not listed on the agenda and, therefore, the Commission cannot
respond to non-agenda issues brought up under Public Comment other than to provide general
information.

E. Consent Calendar

E1. Approval of minutes from the October 3, 2022, Planning Commission meeting. (Attachment) 

F. Public Hearing 1

F1. Consider and adopt a resolution to deny a variance to reduce the number of required off-street 
parking spaces from two compliant spaces to one compliant space and to approve a use permit to 
demolish an existing one-story, single-family residence and construct a new two story residence on 
a substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width in the R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) 
zoning district, at 715 Laurel Avenue; determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15303’s Class 3 exemption for new construction of small structures. The project 
includes an attached ADU which is a permitted use. (Staff Report #22-071-PC)  

F2 and G1 are associated items with a single staff report 

F2. Public hearing to receive comments on the Draft Environmental Impact Report (Draft EIR) for the 
proposed 123 Independence Drive Project that would redevelop the project site (119, 123-125, and 
127 Independence Drive, 130 Constitution Drive, and 1205 Chrysler Drive) with a new apartment 
building with 316 units and 116 three story for-sale townhome condominium units. The five existing 
office and industrial buildings totaling approximately 103,000 square feet would be demolished. The 
project site is located in the R-MU-B (Residential Mixed Use-Bonus) zoning district. The total gross 
floor area of residential uses on the site would be approximately 476,962 square feet with a total 
floor area ratio of 134 percent. The proposal includes a request for an increase in floor area ratio 
(FAR) and density under the bonus level development allowance in exchange for community 
amenities. The proposed project includes 48 rental apartment units and 18 for-sale townhome units 
(15 percent of the total units) affordable to low-income households pursuant to the City’s BMR 
Housing Program and Guidelines. The applicant is currently proposing to provide eight additional 
rental BMR units affordable to low-income households as the community amenity in exchange for 
bonus level development. The proposal also includes a request for a vesting tentative map for a 
major subdivision and a use permit for storage and use of hazardous materials (diesel fuel) for 
emergency back-up generator. The proposed project would remove 29 heritage trees. (Staff Report 



Planning Commissions Regular Meeting Agenda 
December 12, 2022 
Page 3 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

#22-072-PC)  

G.  Study Session 1 

G1. Request for a study session for a use permit, architectural control, below market rate housing 
agreement, and vesting tentative map for the 123 Independence Drive Project to redevelop the 
project site (119, 123-125, and 127 Independence Drive, 130 Constitution Drive, and 1205 Chrysler 
Drive) with a new apartment building with 316 units and 116 three story for-sale townhome 
condominium units. The five existing office and industrial buildings totaling approximately 103,000 
square feet would be demolished. The project site is located in the R-MU-B (Residential Mixed Use-
Bonus) zoning district. The total gross floor area of residential uses on the site would be 
approximately 476,962 square feet with a total floor area ratio of 134 percent. The proposal includes 
a request for an increase in floor area ratio (FAR) and density under the bonus level development 
allowance in exchange for community amenities. The proposed project includes 48 rental apartment 
units and 18 for-sale townhome units (15 percent of the total units) affordable to low-income 
households pursuant to the City’s BMR Housing Program and Guidelines. The applicant is currently 
proposing to provide eight additional rental BMR units affordable to low-income households as the 
community amenity in exchange for bonus level development. The proposal also includes a request 
for a vesting tentative map for a major subdivision and a use permit for storage and use of 
hazardous materials (diesel fuel) for emergency back-up generator. The proposed project would 
remove 29 heritage trees.   (Staff Report #22-072-PC)  

H.  Public Hearing 2 

H1 and I1 are associated items with a single staff report 

H1. Request for an Environmental Impact Report (EIR) Scoping Session for the Parkline Master Plan 
project to comprehensively redevelop an approximately 63.2-acre site located at 301 and 333 
Ravenswood Avenue and 555 and 565 Middlefield Road. The proposed project would redevelop SRI 
International’s research campus by creating a new office/research and development, transit-oriented 
campus with no net increase in commercial square footage, up to 550 new rental housing units (with 
a minimum of 15% of the units available for below market rate households), new bicycle and 
pedestrian connections, and approximately 25 acres of publicly accessible open space. The 
proposed project would demolish all existing buildings, excluding Buildings P, S, and T, which would 
remain on-site and operational by SRI and its tenants. The proposed project would organize land 
uses generally into two land use districts within the project site, including 1) an approximately 10-
acre Residential District in the southwestern portion of the project site; and 2) an approximately 53-
acre Office/R&D (research and development) District that would comprise the remainder of the 
project site. In total, the proposed project would result in a total of approximately 1,898,931 square 
feet, including approximately 1,380,332 square feet of office/R&D and approximately 518,599 
square feet of residential uses (including up to 450 rental residential units). In addition, the proposed 
project would establish a separate parcel of land that is proposed to be leased to an affordable 
housing developer for the future construction of a 100 percent affordable housing or special needs 
project which would be separately rezoned as part of the proposed project for up to 100 residential 
units (in addition to the residential units proposed within the Residential District), and which is not 
included in residential square footage calculations as the square footage has not been determined. 
The EIR will study two potential project variants, one that includes an approximately 2 million gallon 
buried concrete water reservoir and associated facilities, and one that includes an additional 50 
residential units for a total of up to 600 dwelling units, inclusive of the standalone affordable housing 
building. The project site is zoned “C-1(X)” (Administrative and Professional District, Restrictive) and 



Planning Commissions Regular Meeting Agenda 
December 12, 2022 
Page 4 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

governed by a Conditional Development Permit (CDP) approved in 1975, and subsequently 
amended in 1978, 1997, and 2004. The proposed project is anticipated to include the following 
entitlements: General Plan Amendment (Text and Map), Zoning Ordinance Amendment, Rezoning, 
Conditional Development Permit, Development Agreement, Architectural Control (for potential future 
Design Review) Heritage Tree Removal Permits, Vesting Tentative Map, Below Market Rate (BMR) 
Housing Agreement and Environmental Review. A Notice of Preparation (NOP) for the proposed 
project was released on Friday, December 2, 2022. The NOP provides a description of the proposed 
project, the location of the proposed project and its probable environmental effects. The EIR will 
address potential physical environmental effects of the proposed project, as outlined in the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). An initial study was not completed as it is anticipated this will be 
a full EIR and no topic areas will be scoped out with the exception of agricultural and forestry 
resources, mineral resources, and wildfire that are topic areas that are not anticipated to require 
further analysis. (The project site is located within a “transit priority area”, as defined, and thus 
pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21099, aesthetic and parking impacts are not 
considered significant impacts on the environment. Accordingly, the analysis in the EIR will reflect 
this statutory directive. Nevertheless, the City still retains authority to consider aesthetic impacts 
pursuant to its design review authority.) The City is requesting comments on the scope and content 
of this EIR. The project location does not contain a toxic site pursuant to Section 6596.2 of the 
Government Code. Comments on the scope and content of the EIR are due by 5:00 p.m., Monday, 
January 9, 2023.(Staff Report #22-073-PC)  

I.  Study Session 2 

I1. Study session for the Parkline Master Plan project to comprehensively redevelop an approximately 
63.2-acre site located at 301 and 333 Ravenswood Avenue and 555 and 565 Middlefield Road. The 
proposed project would redevelop SRI International’s research campus by creating a new 
office/research and development, transit-oriented campus with no net increase in commercial square 
footage, up to 550 new rental housing units (with a minimum of 15% of the units available for below 
market rate households), new bicycle and pedestrian connections, and approximately 25 acres of 
publicly accessible open space. The proposed project would demolish all existing buildings, 
excluding Buildings P, S, and T, which would remain on-site and operational by SRI and its tenants. 
The proposed project would organize land uses generally into two land use districts within the 
Project site, including 1) an approximately 10-acre Residential District in the southwestern portion of 
the Project site; and 2) an approximately 53-acre Office/R&D (research and development) District 
that would comprise the remainder of the Project site. In total, the Proposed Project would result in a 
total of approximately 1,898,931 square feet, including approximately 1,380,332 square feet of 
office/R&D and approximately 518,599 square feet of residential uses (including up to 450 rental 
residential units). In addition, the proposed project would establish a separate parcel of land that is 
proposed to be leased to an affordable housing developer for the future construction of a 100 
percent affordable housing or special needs project which would be separately rezoned as part of 
the proposed project for up to 100 residential units (in addition to the residential units proposed 
within the Residential District), and which is not included in residential square footage calculations 
as the square footage has not been determined. The EIR will study two potential project variants, 
one that includes an approximately 2 million gallon buried concrete water reservoir and associated 
facilities, and one that includes an additional 50 residential units for a total of up to 600 dwelling 
units, inclusive of the standalone affordable housing building. The project site is zoned “C-1(X)” 
(Administrative and Professional District, Restrictive) and governed by a Conditional Development 
Permit (CDP) approved in 1975, and subsequently amended in 1978, 1997, and 2004. The 
proposed project is anticipated to include the following entitlements: General Plan Amendment (Text 



Planning Commissions Regular Meeting Agenda 
December 12, 2022 
Page 5 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

and Map), Zoning Ordinance Amendment, Rezoning, Conditional Development Permit, 
Development Agreement, Architectural Control (for potential future Design Review) Heritage Tree 
Removal Permits, Vesting Tentative Map, Below Market Rate (BMR) Housing Agreement and 
Environmental Review.  (Staff Report #22-073-PC)  

 J. Informational Items 

J1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule – The upcoming Planning Commission meetings 
are listed here, for reference. No action will be taken on the meeting schedule, although individual 
Commissioners may notify staff of planned absences. 

• Regular Meeting: January 9, 2023 
• Special Meeting: January 12, 2023 

 
K.  Adjournment  
  

At every regular meeting of the Planning Commission, in addition to the public comment period where the public shall have 
the right to address the Planning Commission on any matters of public interest not listed on the agenda, members of the 
public have the right to directly address the Planning Commission on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by 
the chair, either before or during the Planning Commission’s consideration of the item.  
 
At every special meeting of the Planning Commission, members of the public have the right to directly address the 
Planning Commission on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by the chair, either before or during 
consideration of the item. For appeal hearings, appellant and applicant shall each have 10 minutes for presentations.  
 
If you challenge any of the items listed on this agenda in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or 
someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written correspondence delivered to the City of 
Menlo Park at, or prior to, the public hearing. 
 
Any writing that is distributed to a majority of the Planning Commission by any person in connection with an agenda item is 
a public record (subject to any exemption under the Public Records Act) and is available by request by emailing the city 
clerk at jaherren@menlopark.org. Persons with disabilities, who require auxiliary aids or services in attending or 
participating in Planning Commission meetings, may call the City Clerk’s Office at 650-330-6620.  
 
Agendas are posted in accordance with Government Code Section 54954.2(a) or Section 54956. Members of the public 
can view electronic agendas and staff reports by accessing the City website at menlopark.gov/agenda and can receive 
email notification of agenda and staff report postings by subscribing to the “Notify Me” service at menlopark.gov/subscribe. 
Agendas and staff reports may also be obtained by contacting City Clerk at 650-330-6620. (Posted: 12/07/2022) 

mailto:jaherren@menlopark.org
http://menlopark.org/agenda
http://www.menlopark.org/notifyme


  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

Planning Commission 
  
 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA DRAFT MINUTES 

Date:   10/03/2022 
Time:  7:00 p.m. 
Meeting Location: Zoom.us/join – ID# 871 4022 8110 
 

A. Call To Order 
 
Chair Chris DeCardy called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 

B. Roll Call 
 
Chair DeCardy said Commissioner Barnes had indicated technical difficulties joining the meeting. 
 
Present: Chris DeCardy (Chair), Linh Dan Do, Cynthia Harris (Vice Chair), Henry Riggs, Michele 
Tate 
 
Absent: Andrew Barnes 
 
Staff: Christine Begin, Planning Technician; Matt Pruter, Associate Planner; Corinna Sandmeier, 
Acting Principal Planner; Chris Turner, Associate Planner 
 

C. Reports and Announcements 
 
 None 

 
D.  Public Comment  
 
 None 
 
E.  Consent Calendar 
 
E1 Approval of minutes from the June 13, 2022, Planning Commission meeting. (Attachment) 

 
E2 Approval of minutes from the June 27, 2022, Planning Commission meeting. (Attachment) 
 
E3 Approval of court reporter’s transcript and minutes from the July 11, 2022, Planning Commission 

meeting. (Attachment) 
 

ACTION: Motion and second (Harris/Do) to approve the consent calendar consisting of the minutes 
from the June 13 and 27, 2022 Planning Commission meetings and court reporter’s transcript and 
minutes from the July 11, 2022 Planning Commission meeting; passes 3-0-2-1 with Commissioners 
Riggs and Tate abstaining and Commissioner Barnes absent. 

  

https://zoom.us/join


Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
October 3, 2022 
Page 2 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

F.  Public Hearing 
 
F1. Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to remove an existing chain link fence and 

construct a new fence that would exceed the fence height/location requirements for properties 
fronting on Santa Cruz Avenue at 1975 Santa Cruz Avenue (Holy Cross Cemetery), in the R-1-S 
(Single Family Suburban) zoning district. The new fence would be 5.5 feet in height with 
column/bollard heights of 6.5 feet, and would feature a block base and columns with iron pickets in 
between. The existing auto entry gate and columns would remain. (Staff Report #22-052-PC) 

 
Associate Planner Chris Turner noted an email received after publication of the staff report and that 
it commented on all three public hearing items on this agenda. He said the writer on this item 
indicated general support for this agenda item but requested that the cloth on the other portion of 
fence be repaired or replaced and made suggestions regarding heritage tree replacements. 
 
Project applicant representatives Margaret Weimmer and Mark Melbye spoke on behalf of the 
project. 
 
Chair DeCardy opened the public hearing and closed it as no persons requested to speak. 
 
Ms. Weimmer, responding to Commission question, said they were willing to replace the cloth on the 
other portion of the fence to improve its appearance. 
 
Chair DeCardy reopened the public hearing. 
 
Public Comment: 

  
• Carole Grace, District 5, requested that the green cloth be replaced in its entirety or removed 

entirely along the other section of fence.  
 

• Victor Buathier, 1800 Santa Cruz Avenue, expressed concerns with removal of trees as well as 
the noise level on the side facing his home and suggested the fence be replaced by a wall and 
shrubs planted on that side to mitigate.   

 
Chair DeCardy closed the public hearing. 
 
Ms. Weimmer, responding to Commission question, said the city was requiring landscaping across 
the width and the plantings used would be drought resistant and maintained. 
 
The Commission clarified with the applicant and staff that the site view at the corner for traffic had 
been reviewed by transportation division staff and approved, that the new gates were see-through, 
and that the height was to provide a physical boundary for the privately owned site and the public 
sidewalk.  
 
Commissioner Riggs moved approval with the added condition to require replacement of the cloth 
on the portion of fence otherwise not changed by the proposed work. Commissioner Tate seconded 
the motion. Replying to Planner Turner, Chair DeCardy clarified with Commissioners Riggs and Tate 
that the additional condition would be subject to review and approval by Planning staff.  
 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
October 3, 2022 
Page 3 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

ACTION: Motion and second (Riggs/Tate) to adopt a resolution adopt a resolution to approve a use 
permit to remove an existing chain link fence and construct a new fence that would exceed the fence 
height/location requirements for properties fronting on Santa Cruz Avenue at 1975 Santa Cruz 
Avenue (Holy Cross Cemetery), in the R-1-S (Single Family Suburban) zoning district with the 
following addition to the conditions of approval; passes 5-0-1 with Commissioner Barnes absent. 
 
Add Condition 2.b: Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the 
applicant shall indicate on the plans that the screening fabric on the chainlink fence proposed to 
remain shall be replaced with new screening fabric. The fabric shall be installed prior to final 
inspection subject to review and approval of the Planning Division 
 

F2. Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to exceed the maximum night time noise 
limit of 50 dBA, measured at residential property lines, to accommodate electric pool heating 
equipment for the approved Menlo Park Community Campus (MPCC) development currently under 
construction at 100 Terminal Avenue, in the in the PF (Public Facilities) zoning district. (Staff Report 
#22-053-PC) 
 
Planner Turner said the email previously noted had also expressed concern about the noise from 
the heat pumps and suggested that noise would be cumulative with noise from Highway 101. 
 
Cherrelle Jarrett, project manager, Meta representative, spoke on behalf of the project.  
 
Chair DeCardy opened the public hearing. 
 
Public Comment: 
 
• Pam Jones, Belle Haven resident, said the excess noise was concerning as there were nearby 

residences and questioned if there were other no-gas alternatives to use. 
 

• Carole Grace, District 5, said other solutions should be looked at as heat pumps were 
particularly noisy when they started up. 

 
Chair DeCardy closed the public hearing. 
 
The Commission questioned the noise level and options. Ms. Jarrett said acoustic silencers were not 
possible due to limited space, that the heat pumps required six feet of free airflow on all sides, and 
that runtimes would be dependent upon operation of the pool. Ethan Salter, Salter Associates, said 
they had looked at a number of machines and potential ways to mitigate noise but had not found an 
effective solution. Replying to the Commission regarding community outreach and mockups for 
noise, Mr. Salter described the type of “noise storyboard” that they had done for construction 
projects.  
 
The Commission expressed concern that the noise impact at night on residents from the heat pumps 
operating was unknown and discussed relocating or using an alternative heating system.  
 
Commissioner Riggs moved to deny the project; Commissioner Harris seconded the motion.  
 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
October 3, 2022 
Page 4 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

After further discussion with staff and the applicant representative regarding that action and its 
potential to delay the project, the Commission discussed alternatively the project bringing noise level 
into compliance which would not require a use permit and continuing the project.  
Commissioner Harris retracted her second to the motion to deny. Commissioner Riggs retracted his 
motion to deny. 
 
Commissioner Riggs moved to continue the project to investigate alternate sources for the heat 
pump, alternate locations or siting of the heating system, and mechanisms to baffle or mitigate the 
sound.  
 
Chair DeCardy asked if Commissioner Riggs would agree to requiring more proactive and engaged 
outreach to neighbors with some way to demonstrate the expected noise level. Commissioner Riggs 
accepted the suggestion. Chair DeCardy seconded the motion to continue.  
 
Replying to Commissioner Do, Commissioner Riggs and Chair DeCardy said alternative sources 
would not include fossil fuel solutions. Commissioner Tate said the objective was that the residents 
could sleep at night and not be disturbed by equipment noise and with that she was uncomfortable 
limiting the solution to non-fossil fuel. She emphasized that residents know what the full impact of 
heating systems noise would be prior to installation. Commissioner Riggs suggested looking at 
natural gas for comparison. Chair DeCardy said he could support for comparative information, but 
fossil fuel should not be the solution.  
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Riggs/DeCardy) to continue the item with the following direction to the 
applicant; passes 5-0-1 with Commissioner Barnes absent. 
 
1. Research modifications to the project that would reduce the noise level including: 

 
a. Alternate heat sources and equipment. Information on the noise produced by fossil fuel-

powered heat sources should be provided for reference, but not be considered as an 
alternative heat source. 
 

b. Alternate locations for the equipment 
 

c. Noise-dampening enclosures or other physical noise barriers 
 

2. Conduct additional outreach to the affected residents adjacent to the project, including a 
demonstration of the anticipated noise level 

 
F3. Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit for hazardous materials to install a diesel 

back-up generator for an under-construction development including a two-story office building and a 
three-story residential building with 27 residential units and an underground parking garage at 1540 
El Camino Real in the SP-ECR/D (El Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan) zoning district. The 
generator would be located in the underground garage under the office building. (Staff Report #22-
054-PC) 

Associate Planner Matt Pruter referred to the email previously mentioned and had for this project 
inquired whether the diesel generator was temporary, how it would be used and expressed concerns 
with noise and continued use of fossil fuels. 
 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
October 3, 2022 
Page 5 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

Rich Ying, project applicant, spoke on behalf of the project.  
 
Chair DeCardy opened the public hearing. 
 
Public Comment: 
 
• Pam Jones, Belle Haven, expressed concerns with emissions using a fossil fuel generator. 
 
Chair DeCardy closed the public hearing. 
 
The Commission discussed with the applicant representative why an alternative battery powered 
system was infeasible because of the space needed for that and that the function of the system was 
to operate basement sump pumps in the event of a weather event and energy outage as part of the 
required onsite stormwater treatment.   
 
Chair DeCardy reopened the public hearing. 
 
Public Comment: 
 
• Carole Grace, District 5, asked whether it had to be diesel and if it could be gasoline as that 

would release less particulates. 
 
Replying to Chair DeCardy, Mr. Ying said that diesel fuel was stable for a very long time and that  
new diesel was fairly clean. He said a gasoline generator would need to have its fuel changed more 
frequently than diesel and that would increase the potential for hazardous spills.  
 
Chair DeCardy closed the public hearing. 
 
The Commission clarified with the applicant that natural gas generators were not an option as the 
sump pumps might be needed during an event that disrupted natural gas pipeline delivery.  
 
The Commission discussed that the use of the diesel generator was minimal and emissions not 
great as a result, that the city was committed to non-fossil fuel energy solutions, and that the project 
brought needed housing and had reduced its parking spaces.   
 
ACTION: Motion and second (DeCardy/Harris) to adopt a resolution to approve a use permit for 
hazardous materials to install a diesel back-up generator for an under-construction development 
including a two-story office building and a three-story residential building with 27 residential units 
and an underground parking garage at 1540 El Camino Real in the SP-ECR/D (El Camino 
Real/Downtown Specific Plan) zoning district; passes 5-0 with Commissioner Barnes absent. 

 
G.  Regular Business 

G1. Consider and adopt a resolution to approve the Below Market Rate (BMR) Housing in-lieu fee for 
conversion of existing light industrial commercial space to research and development space in an 
existing commercial building over 10,000 square feet at 1190 O’Brien Drive, in the LS (Life Science) 
zoning district. The tenant improvement is subject to building permit approval and is not a 
discretionary action. (Staff Report #22-055-PC) 
 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
October 3, 2022 
Page 6 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

Planner Turner said there were no additions to the staff report. 
 
Chair DeCardy opened for public comment and closed public comment as no persons requested to 
speak. 
 
The Commission discussed a preference for actual housing but noted this was a zoning area lacking 
residential infrastructure and services. 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Riggs/Harris) to adopt a resolution to approve the Below Market Rate 
(BMR) Housing in-lieu fee for conversion of existing light industrial commercial space to research 
and development space in an existing commercial building over 10,000 square feet at 1190 O’Brien 
Drive, in the LS (Life Science) zoning district; passes 5-0-1 with Commissioner Barnes absent. 
 

H. Informational Items 

H1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule 

• Regular Meeting: October 24, 2022 
 
Planner Sandmeier said the next meeting was October 24 and would include Willow Village.  
 
• Regular Meeting: November 7, 2022 

 
I.  Adjournment  
  

Chair DeCardy adjourned the meeting at 9:30 p.m. 
 
 Staff Liaison: Corinna Sandmeier, Acting Principal Planner 
 
 Recording Secretary: Brenda Bennett 

 



Community Development 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission    
Meeting Date:   12/12/2022 
Staff Report Number:  22-071-PC 
 
Public Hearing:  Consider and adopt a resolution to deny a variance 

to reduce the number of required off-street parking 
spaces from two compliant spaces to one compliant 
space and to approve a use permit to demolish an 
existing one-story, single-family residence and 
construct a new two story residence on a 
substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width in 
the R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) zoning 
district, at 715 Laurel Avenue 

 
Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a resolution denying a variance to allow one 
compliant parking space where two spaces are required and approving a use permit to demolish an existing 
one-story, single-family residence and construct a new two-story residence on a substandard lot with regard 
to minimum lot width in the R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) zoning district. The proposal also 
includes an attached accessory dwelling unit (ADU), which is not subject to discretionary review. The draft 
resolution, including the recommended actions and conditions of approval, is included as Attachment A. 

 
Policy Issues 
Each use permit and variance request is considered individually. The Planning Commission should consider 
whether the required findings can be made for the proposal. 

 
Background 
Site location 
The subject property is located on the western side of Laurel Avenue, between Durham Street and O’Keefe 
Street in the Willows neighborhood. All neighboring properties are also located in the R-1-U zoning district. 
A location map is included as Attachment B. This block of Laurel Avenue primarily features one-story ranch-
style residences, with a few newer two-story residences in proximity to the subject site.   

 
Analysis 
Project description 
The applicant is proposing to demolish the existing one-story, single-family residence, and construct a new 
two-story, single-family residence with an attached ADU. A data table summarizing parcel and project 
characteristics is included as Attachment C. The project plans and project description letter are included as 
Attachment A Exhibits A and B, respectively. 
 



Staff Report #: 22-071-PC 
Page 2 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

The proposed residence would be a two-bedroom, one and one half-bathroom home. The first floor would 
be shared living space, including the kitchen, dining room, living room, and family room. The second floor 
would contain the two bedrooms, one bathroom, laundry room, and an exterior balcony on the rear of the 
residence. The attached ADU would be a two-story ADU with the kitchen and half-bathroom on the first floor 
and a living room, bedroom, and full bathroom on the second floor. The required parking for the primary 
dwelling would be provided by an attached, front-loading, one-car garage and a second uncovered space in 
tandem with the covered space. The second uncovered space would not count as a compliant space for 
purposes of the minimum parking standards. The proposal includes a variance request to allow only one 
compliant space where two compliant spaces are required, which is analyzed in more detail below. The 
proposed residence would meet all other Zoning Ordinance requirements for setbacks, lot coverage, floor 
area limit (FAL), daylight plane, and height. Of particular note, the project would have the following 
characteristics with regard to the Zoning Ordinance: 

• The proposed floor area would be at the maximum with 3,592 square feet proposed where 2,800 
square feet is the maximum permitted. The main residence would be 2,762 square feet and the 
attached ADU would be 830 square feet and would exceed the maximum floor area limit, however 
the maximum FAL is permitted to be exceeded by up to 800 square feet in order to accommodate the 
ADU; 

• The proposed residence and ADU would be well below the maximum building coverage with 27.9 
percent proposed where 35 percent is the maximum; 

• The proposed second floor of the main residence would be below the second floor limit with 1,141 
square feet proposed where the maximum allowable second-story floor area is 1,400 square feet; 

• The proposed residence would be below the maximum height, with 27 feet, three inches proposed 
where 28 feet is the maximum permitted height. 

• The residence includes a daylight plane intrusion on the right side, which complies with the permitted 
intrusions per Section 16.67.020 of the Municipal Code.  

 
The proposed residence would have a front setback of 23 feet 11 inches, and a rear setback of 54 feet, six 
inches, where 20 feet is required in either case. The residence is proposed to be built to the minimum five-
foot required side setback on the right side, and at approximately five feet, six inches on the left side. The 
attached ADU would conform to the required side setback of the main residence, where four feet is the 
minimum required side setback. The proposed second story would be stepped back from the first story on 
all sides. The second story would be constructed directly above the first floor and would not step back from 
the first floor. The proposed residence would include a balcony on the rear which complies with the 
minimum balcony setbacks of 20 feet from the sides and 30 feet from the rear. 
 

Design and materials  
The applicant states that the proposed residence would be constructed in modern architectural style. The 
house would be oriented in an “L” shape, consistent with the existing footprint. Siding material would be 
primarily horizontal shiplap siding and formed concrete with vertical wood slat and perforated metal mesh 
accents. Windows would be metal clad with no gridding pattern. The residence would have additional metal 
features including the balcony railings and an awning over the front entry. 
 
Most second-story windows on the front and rear would have a sill height of two feet, six inches, with 
additional floor to ceiling windows at the rear. All second-story windows on the right side have a minimum 
sill height of three feet. Second-story windows on the left side, which serve the ADU, would have sill heights 
of two feet, six inches. Due to the extent of the rear setback, staff believes the windows to the rear would 
not create privacy issues.   



Staff Report #: 22-071-PC 
Page 3 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
Staff believes that the scale, materials, and style of the proposed residence would result in a consistent 
aesthetic approach and are generally consistent with the broader neighborhood, given the similar 
architectural styles and sizes of structures in the area. 
 
Variance 
As part of this proposal, the applicant is requesting a variance to provide only one compliant parking space 
where two compliant spaces are required. One additional, non-compliant parking space would be provided. 
The applicant has provided a variance request letter which is included as Attachment A Exhibit C. The 
required variance findings are evaluated below in succession: 

1. That a hardship peculiar to the property and not created by any act of the owner exists. In this context, 
personal, family or financial difficulties, loss of prospective profits and neighboring violations are not 
hardships justifying a variance. Further, a previous variance can never have set a precedent, for each 
case must be considered only on its individual merits; 

 
The applicant states that the hardship is to the fact that the property is substandard with regard to the 
minimum lot width. The applicant states that the 50-foot lot width limits the ability to provide a driveway of 
appropriate width to a two-car garage in the rear. Furthermore, the applicant states that it is undesirable to 
provide a garage-centric design by providing an attached, front-loading, two-car garage at the front of the 
residence.    
 
Staff believes that this finding cannot be made since the desired aesthetic does not constitute a hardship 
particular to the lot. A second compliant parking space can be accommodated with relatively minor design 
adjustments. Additionally, neighboring properties which contain substandard parking conditions (i.e. only 
provide one compliant space), may not be used as justification for granting of a variance.      
  
2. That such variance is necessary for the preservation and enjoyment of substantial property rights 

possessed by other conforming property in the same vicinity and that a variance, if granted, would not 
constitute a special privilege of the recipient not enjoyed by his/her neighbors; 

 
The applicant states that the requested variance is necessary for the preservation of substantial property 
rights enjoyed by other properties in the vicinity because other residences in the area also only have one 
conforming parking space in a one-car garage, with a separate, non-compliant parking space in the 
driveway. The applicant states that relocating the proposed house further back on the property would 
reduce the amount of back yard space for the property that other properties enjoy.  
 
Staff believes that allowing one compliant parking space would constitute a special privilege for the owners 
because other properties would be required to provide two compliant parking spaces upon re-development. 
The findings suggest that the preservation of property rights should be compared to other conforming 
properties. In this case, neighboring properties with one compliant space do not conform to current zoning 
standards, and therefore, should not be used as a compliant comparison for purposes of off-street parking 
requirements. 
 
3. That the granting of the variance will not be materially detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare, 

or will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent property; and 
 

Although only providing one compliant parking space would create a substandard parking situation, staff 



Staff Report #: 22-071-PC 
Page 4 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

believes that this would not be particularly detrimental to the public health, safety, and welfare, or impair an 
adequate supply of light and air to the adjacent properties. 
 
4. That the conditions upon which the requested variance is based would not be applicable, generally, to 

other property within the same zoning classification. 
 
The applicant states that the conditions upon which the variance is requested would not be applicable to 
other property in the same zoning district because the zoning regulations were developed for lots with a 
width of 65 feet in the R-1-U zoning district.   
 
Staff believes that the conditions upon which the variance is requested would be applicable to other 
property in the same zoning district. The minimum lot width of 65 feet applies to new lots created in the R-1-
U zoning district. Existing lots that do not meet the minimum lot width, depth, and/or area in their respective 
zoning districts are considered to be substandard, which are subject to the same development regulations 
as a standard lot. Substandard lots are common within the city, and a 50-foot lot width is not unique. A new 
residence on a substandard lot in the R-1-U zoning district with a 50-foot width would also be required to 
provide two compliant parking spaces, and therefore the conditions upon which the variance is requested 
would be applicable to other properties in the same zoning classification.    
 
5. That the condition upon which the requested variance is based is an unusual factor that was not 

anticipated or discussed in detail during any applicable Specific Plan process. 
 
The property is not within any Specific Plan area. Hence, a finding regarding an unusual factor does not 
apply. 
 
Approval of a variance requires that all five findings be made. Staff believes several of the findings cannot 
be made and recommends denial of the variance request. Findings to this effect are included in the draft 
resolution. 
 
Alternate site plan 
The applicant provided an alternate site plan that includes modifications to the proposed site plan that would 
allow the development to comply with the requirement to provide two compliant parking spaces. The 
modifications would be modest and consist of relocating the foot print on the site approximately nine feet 
further back on the property in order to accommodate a parking space that would be of sufficient size, 
outside of the front setback, and not in tandem with the parking space located in the garage. The design of 
the residence itself would not need to be modified. Staff believes this would be a relatively simple remedy 
and has included project-specific condition of approval 2.a. that would require this modification upon 
submittal of a building permit application.   
 
Trees and landscaping 
The applicant has submitted an arborist report (Attachment D), detailing the species, size, and conditions of 
on-site and nearby trees. The arborist report lists a total of four trees on and around the subject property of 
which three are heritage size (Trees #1, 2, and 4). There is one non-heritage Japanese maple tree (Tree 
#3) located on the property to the right. No trees included in the arborist report are proposed for removal. 
There are two additional small fruit trees (no tree number) on the property that would be relocated.    
 
The arborist report includes tree protection recommendations for the pre-construction, construction, and 
post-construction phases of the project. As part of the project review process, the arborist report was 



Staff Report #: 22-071-PC 
Page 5 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

reviewed by the City Arborist. Implementation of all recommendations to mitigate impacts to the heritage 
trees identified in the arborist report would be ensured as part of condition 1h. The applicant has not 
proposed any additional landscaping at this time. Additional landscaping, if any, would be reviewed during 
the building permit stage. 
 
Flood zone 
The subject property is located within the “AE” zone established by the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA). Within this zone, flood-proofing techniques are required for new construction and 
substantial improvements of existing structures. Stated in general terms, the finished floor must be at least 
one foot above the base flood elevation (BFE). The Public Works Department has reviewed and tentatively 
approved the proposal for compliance with FEMA regulations. The sections (Plan Sheet A-4.1) show the 
BFE (29.2 feet) in relation to the existing average natural grade (approximately 26.9 feet) and the finished 
floor elevation (30.2 feet). 
 
Correspondence  
The applicant does not state in their project description letter whether any outreach to neighbors was 
conducted. As of the publication of this report, staff has not received any direct correspondence regarding 
the project. 
 
Conclusion 
Staff believes that the design, scale, and materials of the proposed residence are generally compatible with 
the surrounding neighborhood. The modern style would be generally attractive and well-proportioned. Staff 
does not believe the variance findings can be made to allow one compliant parking space where two spaces 
are required. However, staff believes an alternate design provided by the applicant would be feasible to 
implement in order to comply with the off-street parking regulations. Staff recommends that the Planning 
Commission deny the variance and approve the use permit with the condition to make modifications that 
would accommodate the compliant parking space. 

 
Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building and Public Works permit fees, based on the City’s 
Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the project. 
 

Environmental Review 
The project is categorically exempt under Class 3 (Section 15303, “New Construction or Conversion of 
Small Structures”) of the current California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines. 

 
Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 
and notification by mail of owners and occupants within a 300-foot radius of the subject property.  
 

Appeal Period 
The Planning Commission action will be effective after 15 days unless the action is appealed to the City 
Council, in which case the outcome of the application shall be determined by the City Council. 
 



Staff Report #: 22-071-PC 
Page 6 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Attachments 
A. Draft Planning Commission Resolution Adopting Findings of Approval for project Use Permit, including 

project Conditions of Approval 
Exhibits to Attachment A 
A. Project Plans 
B. Project Description Letter 
C. Variance Letter 
D. Conditions of Approval 

B. Location Map 
C. Data Table 
D. Arborist Report 
 

Disclaimer 
Attached are reduced versions of maps and diagrams submitted by the applicants. The accuracy of the 
information in these drawings is the responsibility of the applicants, and verification of the accuracy by City 
Staff is not always possible. The original full-scale maps, drawings, and exhibits are available for public 
viewing at the Community Development Department. 

 
Exhibits to Be Provided at Meeting 
None  
 
Report prepared by: 
Chris Turner, Associate Planner 
 
Report reviewed by: 
Corinna Sandmeier, Acting Principal Planner 



Resolution No. 2022-XX 

1 

PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2022-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
MENLO PARK DENYING (1) A VARIANCE TO ALLOW ONE OFF-
STREET PARKING SPACE WHERE TWO ARE REQUIRED IN THE R-1-
U (SINGLE-FAMILY URBAN RESIDENTIAL) ZONING DISTRICT, AND 
(2) APPROVING A USE PERMIT TO DEMOLISH AN EXISTING ONE-
STORY RESIDENCE AND CONSTRUCT A NEW TWO-STORY
RESIDENCE ON A SUBSTANDARD LOT WITH REGARD TO MINIMUM
LOT WIDTH IN THE R-1-U ZONING DISTRICT

WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park (“City”) received an application requesting a use 
permit to construct a new two-story, single-family residence on a substandard lot in the R-
1-U zoning district. The project includes a request for a variance to allow one compliant off-
street parking space where two are required (collectively, the “Project”) from Vineet Mehta
(“Owner” and “Applicant”), located at 715 Laurel Avenue (APN 062-204-130) (“Property”).
The variance and use permit are depicted in and subject to the development plans and
documents which are attached hereto as Exhibit A through Exhibit C and incorporated herein
by this reference; and

WHEREAS, the Property is located in the Single Family Urban Residential (R-1-U) 
zoning district, which supports the construction of single family residences; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project complies with all objective standards of the R-1-U 
district; and 

WHEREAS, Section 16.72.020 of the Municipal Code requires two compliant off-
street parking spaces for single-family residences; and 

WHEREAS, the applicant proposes to provide one compliant parking space; and 

WHEREAS, the applicant provided and alternative design that could accommodate 
a second compliant parking spaces; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project was reviewed by the Engineering Division and 
found to be in compliance with City standards; and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant submitted an arborist report prepared by Bo Firestone 
Consulting and Design which was reviewed by the City Arborist and found to be in 
compliance with the Heritage Tree Ordinance and proposes mitigation measures to 
adequately protect heritage trees in the vicinity of the project; and 

WHEREAS, the Project, requires discretionary actions by the City as summarized 
above, and therefore the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA,” Public Resources 
Code Section §21000 et seq.) and CEQA Guidelines (Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, 

ATTACHMENT A

A1



Resolution No. 2022-XX 

2 

§15000 et seq.) require analysis and a determination regarding the Project’s environmental 
impacts; and  

WHEREAS, the City is the lead agency, as defined by CEQA and the CEQA 
Guidelines, and is therefore responsible for the preparation, consideration, certification, and 
approval of environmental documents for the Project; and  

WHEREAS, the Project is categorically except from environmental review pursuant 
to Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15303 et seq. (New Construction or Conversion of 
Small Structures); and 

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held 
according to law; and 

WHEREAS, at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on December 12, 
2022, the Planning Commission fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated the whole of the 
record including all public and written comments, pertinent information, documents and 
plans, prior to taking action regarding the variance and use permit revision. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MENLO PARK PLANNING COMMISSION HEREBY 
RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

 
Section 1.  Recitals.  The Planning Commission has considered the full record before it, 
which may include but is not limited to such things as the staff report, public testimony, and 
other materials and evidence submitted or provided, and the Planning Commission finds 
the foregoing recitals are true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by reference 
into this Resolution. 
 

Section 2.  Variance Findings.  The Planning Commission of the City of Menlo Park does 
hereby make the following Findings per Section 16.82.340 of the Zoning Ordinance pertaining 
to the denial of a variance: 
 

1. That a hardship peculiar to the property and not created by any act of the owner 
does not exist; in that, the applicant states that providing a front-loading, two-car 
garage to comply with the parking standards creates an undesirable design but 
desired aesthetic is not a hardship particular to the lot. 

 
2. That the variance is not necessary for the preservation and enjoyment or substantial 

property rights possessed by other conforming properties in the vicinity and that the 
variance, if granted, would constitute a special privilege of the recipient not enjoyed 
by his/her neighbors; in that, other substandard properties in the vicinity have 
redeveloped and have been required to provide two compliant parking spaces. 
Other properties in the vicinity that do not provide two compliant parking spaces are 

A2



Resolution No. 2022-XX 

3 

older and not in compliance with current parking standards, and cannot be used to 
justify allowing one compliant parking space on the subject property. 

 
3. That the granting of the variance will not be materially detrimental to the public 

health, safety, or welfare, or will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to 
adjacent property; in that locating the house closer to the front setback would allow 
more light and air into neighboring yards. 

 
4. That the conditions upon which the requested variance is based would be 

applicable, generally, to property within the same zoning classification; in that, other 
substandard properties in the same zoning classification would be required to 
provide two compliant parking spaces upon redevelopment. 
 

5. That the condition upon which the requested variance is based is an unusual factor 
that was not anticipated or discussed in detail during any applicable Specific Plan 
process; in that, the subject parcel is not located within a Specific Plan area. 
 
 

Section 3.  Conditional Use Permit Findings.  The Planning Commission of the City of 
Menlo Park does hereby make the following Findings:   

The approval of the use permit to construct a new two-story residence on a substandard lot in 
the R-1-U zoning district is based on the following findings which are made pursuant to Menlo 
Park Municipal Code Section 16.82.030: 

1. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for will not, 
under the circumstance of the particular case, be detrimental to the health, safety, 
morals, comfort and general welfare of the persons residing in the neighborhood of 
such proposed use, or injurious or detrimental to property and improvements in the 
neighborhood or the general welfare of the city because: 

a. Consideration and due regard were given to the nature and condition of all 
adjacent uses and structures, and to general plans for the area in question 
and surrounding areas, and impact of the application hereon; in that, the 
proposed use permit is consistent with the R-1-U zoning district and the 
General Plan because two-story residences are allowed to be constructed 
on substandard lots subject to granting of a use permit provided that the 
proposed residence conforms to applicable zoning standards, including, but 
not limited to, minimum setbacks, maximum floor area limit, and maximum 
building coverage. 

b. The proposed residence would include the required number of off-street 
parking spaces when conditions of approval are implemented because one 
covered and one uncovered parking space would be required at a minimum, 
and one covered space and one uncovered parking space would be 
provided. 

 
 
Section 3. Variance and Conditional Use Permit.  The Planning Commission hereby denies 
the variance and approves use permit No. PLN2022-00016, which variance and use permit 

A3



Resolution No. 2022-XX 

4 

revision are depicted in and subject to the development plans, project description letter, and 
variance letter which are attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference as Exhibit 
A, Exhibit B, and Exhibit C, respectively. The Use Permit is conditioned in conformance with 
the conditions attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference as Exhibit D.   
 
Section 5.  ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW.  The Planning Commission makes the following 
findings, based on its independent judgment after considering the Project, and having 
reviewed and taken into consideration all written and oral information submitted in this matter: 
 

A. The Project is categorically except from environmental review pursuant to Cal. 
Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15303 et seq. (New Construction or Conversion 
of Small Structures) 

 

Section 6.  SEVERABILITY  

If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of these findings to a 
particular situation is held by a court to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining 
provisions of these findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, shall 
continue in full force and effect unless amended or modified by the City. 

I, Corinna Sandmeier, Acting Principal Planner and Planning Commission Liaison of the City 
of Menlo Park, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing Planning Commission 
Resolution was duly and regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by said Planning 
Commission on December 12, 2022, by the following votes: 

AYES:   

NOES:   

ABSENT:   

ABSTAIN:   
 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said 
City on this 12th day of December, 2022 
 
 
______________________________ 
Corinna Sandmeier 
Acting Principal Planner and Planning Commission Liaison 
City of Menlo Park 
 
 
Exhibits 

A. Project Plans  

A4



Resolution No. 2022-XX 

5 

B. Project Description Letter 
C. Variance Letter 
D. Conditions of Approval 

A5



VINEET MEHTA AND KARISHMA SHARMA
715 LAUREL AVE
MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC.
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609

JEFF BARNEA
789 14TH AVE
MENLO PARK, CA 94025

BUSARA FIRESTONE
MILPITAS, CA

A-0.0 TITLE PAGE GENERAL
A-0.1 EXTERIOR PHOTOS OF PROPERTY

A-0.2       SURVEY

A-0.3 SQUARE FOOTAGE CALCULATIONS
A-0.4 VARIANCE DIAGRAMS

A-1.0 EXISTING AREA PLAN + STREETSCAPE
A-1.1 PROPOSED AREA PLAN + STREETSCAPE
A-1.2 EXISTING SITE PLAN
A-1.3 PROPOSED SITE PLAN

A-2.0 EXISTING FIRST FLOOR PLAN
A-2.1 PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN
A-2.2 PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR PLAN

A-3.0 FRONT + REAR ELEVATIONS
A-3.1 SIDE ELEVATIONS

A-4.0 SECTIONS
A-4.1 SECTIONS

A-5.0 FRONT PERSPECTIVE
A-5.1 FRONT PERSPECTIVE
A-5.2 REAR AXONOMETRIC
A-5.3 REAR PERSPECTIVE
A-5.4 MATERIAL PALETTE
A-5.5 MATERIAL DETAILS

1

Mehta + Sharma Residence
715 LAUREL AVE, MENLO PARK, CA 94025

715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-0.0

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

TITLE PAGE GENERAL

JL

2 (1 CONFORMING)

3

20 FT

5 FT

5 FT

20 FT

1

13' - 8"

7000 SF

1671 SF

1893 SF

26%

24%

50%

NEW 2,770 SQUARE FOOT SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCE  AND 830 
SQUARE FOOT ATTACHED ADU TO REPLACE AN EXISTING SINGLE 
FAMILY HOME.

NEW HOME HAS 2 BEDROOMS AND 1.5 BATHROOMS WITH A SINGLE 
CAR GARAGE AND OPEN PLAN LIVING ROOM AND KITCHEN.
NEW ADU HAS 1 BEDROOM AND 2 BATHROOMS.
THE MAIN HOME HAS A REAR SECOND FLOOR DECK

PERMIT INCLUDES GRADING UP TO NEW HOUSE LEVEL AT 1' ABOVE 
BASE FLOOD ELEVATION (BFE = 29.2' FOR PROPERTY)

2

2

20 FT

5 FT

5 FT

20 FT

2

27' - 3"

7000 SF

2770 SF

1651 SF

27.7%

23.0%

49.3%

1

SAME AS MAIN HOUSE

24' - 9"

830 SF

292 SF

APN #:  062-204-130   
CONSTRUCTION TYPE: V-B
OCCUPANCY TYPE:  R-3 RESIDENTIAL    
ZONING:  R-1-U SINGLE FAMILY URBAN RESIDENTIAL

AE FLOOD ZONE
BASE FLOOD ELEVATION (BFE): 29.2'
DESIGN FLOOD ELEVATION (DFE): 30.2'

2 (1 CONFORMING)

GENERAL NOTES
G E N E R A L   N O T E S 
1. All construction shall conform the 2019 California Building Code, and shall be 
equal to or exceed local and county minimum construction requirements.

2. Engineer's notes take precedence over these notes.

3. Structural steel shall conform to the requirements of the A.S.T.M.

4. Written dimensions and notes take precedence over scaled drawings. 

5. Dimensions are from face of finish U.O.N.  

6. Site conditions take precedence over all notes and drawings.  Builder shall notify 
designer of any discrepancies between the drawings and the field conditions

7. Flash and counterflash to provide a watertight job.  Stepflash skylights and 
chimneys and all other perpendicular intersections.

8. All material stored on the site shall be properly stacked and protected to prevent 
damage and deterioration until use. Failure to protect materials may be cause for 
rejection of work.

9. Provide all necessary blocking and framing for light fixtures, electrical units, 
panels, HVAC equipment and all other items requiring same.

10. All dimensions shall be verified in the field.

11. Ceiling height dimensions are from finished floor or slab to the finished face of 
ceiling.

12. Drawings indicated general and typical details of construction. Where conditions 
are not specifically indicated but are of similar character to details shown, details of
construction shall be used subject to the review and approval of the architect.

13. The contractor shall confine his/her operations on the site to areas permitted by 
the owner. The job site shall be maintained in a clean, orderly condition free of
debris and litter, and shall not be unreasonably encumbered with any materials or 
equipment. Each subcontractor immediately upon completion of each phase of
his/her work shall remove all trash and debris as a result of his/her operation.

14. All materials shall be handled and installed per the manufacturer's specifications 
and recommendations.

C O N C R E T E   F O U N D A T I O N   N O T E S 

1. Where drain rock is used, aggregate size to be 1" max and 3/4" min.  Where 
drain pipe is used, lay perforated pipe with holes down.

C A R P E N T R Y   N O T E S 

1. All carpentry shall be carefully laid out, cut, fitted, and erected.  Brace, plumb 
and/or level all members and place them to bear fully & accurately.  Solid-block all 
joists and beams at bearings and ends.  Nail, spike, or bolt as shown or as required.

2. Follow engineering calculations and details regarding all beams, trusses, rafters, 
joists, and connections. All timber connectors shall be I.C.B.O. rated and installed 
as recommended by manufacturer.  Hardware indicated is from Simpson Strong-Tie 
catalog.

3. All beams to have full wood bearing to foundation below. 

P L U M B I N G   N O T E S

1. Water piping shall be copper, typical

2. All fixtures to be selected by owner, U.O.N.

E L E C T R I C A L   N O T E S

1. Outdoor receptacles at grade shall be gfci protected.

2. All fixtures to be selected by owner, U.O.N.

3. Contractor to confirm locations of boxes with owner.

FLOOD  N O T E S

1. The project will be designed to comply with the City's Flood Damage Prevention 
Ordinance, Chapter 12, Section 42. WORKPOINTWKPT.

WHERE OCCURS

WATER RESISTANT
WOOD SCREW

WT.

W/O
WR
W.S.
WSCT.

W.O.

WEIGHT

WITHOUT

WAINSCOT

ON CENTER
OUTSIDE DIAMETER

OPPOSITE HAND

PLASTIC LAMINATE

PRE-FABRICATED

RECYCLING

REFRIGERATOR

RISE, RISER, REFRIGERATOR

REFERENCE

RESILIENT BASE

ROUGH OPENING

REVISION, REVISED

RAIN WATER LEADER
RUBBER BASE

REINFORCED

SPECIFICATION
SHEET METAL

SOLID CORE
SCHEDULE

TOWEL BAR
TOP OF CURB

STAINLESS STEEL

SQUARE FOOT, SQUARE FEET

SEE STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS

PRESSURE TREATED DOUGLAS FIR

TELEPHONE

TOP OF STRUCTURE
TRANSFORMER

TOP OF CEILING

THRESHOLD

TONGUE AND GROOVE
TILE GROUT

TOP OF WALL

VERIFY IN FIELD

VINYL COMPOSITION TILE

WATER CLOSET

UNLESS OTHERWISE

INTERMEDIATEINTERM.

CLO. CLOSET

D.O. DOOR OPENING

EXT.
EXP.

EQUIP

(E)

E.P.
EQ.

EL.

EXPO.

ELEC.

E.F.

E.J.

E.
EA.

DW

DWR.
DWG.

D.S.

ELECTRICAL PANEL

EQUIPMENT

EXISTING

ELEVATION

EXTERIOR
EXPANSION
EXPOSED

EQUAL

DISHWASHER
DOWNSPOUT

EXHAUST FAN

EXPANSION JOINT
ELECTRICAL

DRAWING

EAST
EACH

DRAWER

DET.

DIAG.
DIM.
DN.

DIAM.
D.F.

DBL.

DEPT.
DEMO.

D.

CTSK.
CNTR.
CPT
CTR.

C.T.

C.O.
CLR.

COL.
COMP.
CONC.
CONT.

DEPARTMENT
DEMOLISH

DOUGLAS FIR

DIAGONAL
DIMENSION

DIAMETER

DETAIL

DOWN

DEEP
DOUBLE

COUNTERSINK
CERAMIC TILE

CLEAN_OUT

COUNTER

CONTINUOUS
CONCRETE
COMPOSITION

CARPET
CENTER

CLEAR

COLUMN

THICK

MEDICINE CABINET

THK.

M.C.

N.T.S.

N

NO.
N.I.C.

(N)

NOM.
NOT TO SCALE

NOT IN CONTRACT
NORTH

NUMBER

NEW

NOMINAL

MOD. BIT.

MTL.
MUL.

MISC.

MTD.

MIN.
MIR.

MECH.
MEMB.
MFR.

MODIFIED BITUMINOUS
MISCELLANEOUS

MOUNTED
METAL
MULLION

MECHANICAL
MEMBRANE
MANUFACTURER
MINIMUM
MIRROR

W.

WC
WD.

W/

W

VCT

V.I.F.

VERT.

WEST

WOOD

WITH

WIDE

VERTICAL

T.O.W.

U.O.N.

TYP.

TRANSF.

T.O.
T.O.C
T.O.S.

THR.

TYPICAL

TOP OF

L.

L/R

MAX.

LT.

L.B.
LAM.
LAV.

LONG

LIVING ROOM

MAXIMUM

LIGHT

LAG BOLT
LAMINATE
LAVATORY

KIT. OR K
K.D.

JST.
J.H.
JT.

KITCHEN
KILN DRY

JOIST HANGER
JOIST

JOINT

T.D.

T&G

T.
TEL.
TEMP.
TER.

TG

T.T.B.
T.C.

T

TIE DOWN

TEMPERED
TERRAZZO

TREAD

S.S.D.
S.S.

SIM.

SPEC.

SF

S.M.

SQ.

SHT.
SIMILAR

SQUARE

SHEET

APPROX.

CEM. PLAS.

BM.

CER.
C.I.
C.J.

CLG.
CLKG.

B.O.

CAB.
CEM.

BLK.
BLKG.

BD.

BLDG.
BITUM.

ARCH.
ASPH.

BTW.

BEAM
BOTTOM OF

CAST IRON

CAULKING

CONTROL JOINT

CEMENT PLASTER
CERAMIC

CEILING

CABINET
CEMENT

BLOCKING

APPROXIMATE
ARCHITECT
ASPHALT

BETWEEN

BUILDING
BITUMINOUS

BLOCK

BOARD

PL

C

(N)

ADJ.
A.F.F.

ALUM.
ALT.
A.P.

AGGR.

A.B.

ACOUS.
A.D.

@

T

#
(E)

CL or

d
PL or

&

NEW

ANCHOR BOLT

ACOUSTICAL
AREA DRAIN

ABOVE FINISH FLOOR

ALUMINUM
ALTERNATE
ACCESS PANEL

AGGREGATE

ADJUSTABLE, ADJACENT

CENTERLINE

PROPERTY LINE
PENNY (NAIL)

EXISTING

PERPENDICULAR
POUND, NUMBER

DIAMETER, ROUND

AT
L

AND
ANGLE

GROUND FAULT INTERUPTER

HOSE BIBBH.B.

HT.

INSUL.
INT.

I.D.

HR.

HDR.
HDWD.

HORIZ.
HDWR.

HEIGHT

INSULATION

INSIDE DIAMETER

INTERIOR

HARDWOOD
HARDWARE
HORIZONTAL
HOUR

HEADER

G.F.I.

H.R.
H.

G.B.
GL.
GND.

GWB.

GR.
GYP.

HAND RAIL
HIGH

GRAB BAR

GYPSUM WALL BOARD

GLASS
GROUND
GRADE
GYPSUM

R.O.

S.B.

SH.

SECT.

SHR.

S.C.
SCH.

R.W.L.
RDWD.

R.B.

SETBACK

SHELF

SECTION

SHOWER

REDWOOD

REQ'D
RESIL.
RET.
REV.
RM.

RECY.

REFER.
REINF.

R.

REF.

RB

RETAINING

ROOM

REQUIRED
RESILIENT

FACE OF FINISHF.O.F.

FURR.

GA.

FUT.

GALV.

FRMG.
FT
FTG.

F.O.S.

FURRING

GALVANIZED
GAUGE

FUTURE

FOOT, FEET

FACE OF STUDS

FOOTING

FRAMING

FIXT.

F.O.
F.O.C.

FLR.
FLASH.
FLUOR.

F.D.
FDN.
F.F.
FIN.

FIXTURE

FLUORESCENT

FACE OF CONCRETE
FACE OF

FLOOR
FLASHING

FOUNDATION
FLOOR DRAIN

FINISH FLOOR
FINISH

PLATEPL.

PTDF

r.

PR.

PTD
PT.

PRCST.
PREFAB.

P.LAM
PLAS.
PLYWD.

RADIUS

PAIR

PAINTED
POINT

PLYWOOD
PRECAST

PLASTER

OPNG.

PLUMB.

OPP.

PART'N.

OFF.
O.H.

O.C.
O.D.

OPENING

PLUMBING

OPPOSITE

PARTITION

OFFICE

NOTED

SOUTHS

WINDOWSWDW

ABOVEABV.

BEDROOMB/R

O/ OVER

PAGEPG.

VERTICAL GRAIN FIRVGF

STEEL

STORAGE
STRUCT.

STL.

STOR.

SYM. SYMMETRICAL
STRUCTURAL

STG. STORAGE

STRL STRUCTURAL

INCAND INCANDESCENT

FOUNDATIONFNDN

EQUIPMENTEQPT

EFFICACYEFF

CENTERLINECL

ABBREVIATIONS IMMEDIATE VICINITY MAP

SITE MAP

SYMBOLS LEGEND DRAWING INDEX SCOPE OF WORK SITE INFORMATION CODE REGULATIONS

CODE SUMMARY

PROJECT TEAM
OWNER: 

ARCHITECT:

SURVEYOR:

ARBORIST:

THE FOLLOWING CODES AS AMENDED BY THE CITY OF MENLO PARK:

THE 2019 CALIFORNIA RESIDENTIAL BUILDING CODE (INCORPORATES BY 
ADOPTION AND REPRINTS THE 2019 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE WITH 
CALIFORNIA AMENDMENTS. PUBLISHED BY THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
OF BUILDING OFFICIALS,).

THE 2019 CALIFORNIA ENERGY CODE WITH NO LOCAL AMENDMENTS- CHECK 
THE CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION'S WEBSITE AT 
HTTP:/WWW.ENERGY.CA.GOV FOR A DOWNLOADABLE VERSION. (PUBLISHED 
BY ICC) 

THE 2019 CALIFORNIA ELECTRICAL CODE (INCORPORATES BY ADOPTION AND 
REPRINTS THE 2019 NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE WITH CALIFORNIA 
AMENDMENTS. PUBLISHED BY THE NATIONAL FIRE PROTECTION AGENCY, 
NFPA)

THE 2019 CALIFORNIA PLUMBING CODE (INCORPORATES BY ADOPTION AND 
REPRINTS THE 2019 UNIFORM PLUMBING CODE WITH CALIFORNIA 
AMENDMENTS. PUBLISHED BY THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 
PLUMBING AND MECHANICAL OFFICIALS, IAPMO).

THE 2019 CALIFORNIA MECHANICAL CODE (INCORPORATES BY ADOPTION AND 
REPRINTS THE 2019 UNIFORM MECHANICAL CODE WITH CALIFORNIA 
AMENDMENTS. PUBLISHED BY THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 
PLUMBING AND MECHANICAL OFFICIALS, IAPMO).

THE 2019 CALIFORNIA FIRE CODE (INCORPORATES BY ADOPTION AND 
REPRINTS THE 2019 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE WITH CALIFORNIA 
AMENDMENTS. PUBLISHED BY BY ICC).

WINDOW  TYPE

REFER TO WALL SCHEDULE

INTERIOR ELEVATION

ELEVATION TARGET

BelevD

C

sheet

A view

DRAWING TITLE

DETAIL PLAN KEY

1

WALL TYPE

SECTION KEY

REFER TO WINDOW SCHEDULE

01 DOOR TYPE

REFER TO DOOR SCHEDULE

EXTERIOR ELEVATION

1
A-0.1

0

2
A-2.0

T.O.W.
9' - 3"

# OF DWELLING UNITS

# OF PARKING SPACES

# OF BEDROOMS: -MAIN BULD.
 - ADUs

FRONT YARD SETBACK

SIDE YARD SETBACK (L) 

SIDE YARD SETBACK (R)

REAR YARD SET BACK

ADU SETBACKS 

BUILDING HEIGHT - STORIES

BUILDING HEIGHT 

ADU HEIGHT

LOT AREA

GROSS BUILDING FLOOR AREA

GROSS ADU FLOOR AREA

BUILDING FOOTPRINT

ADU FOOTPRINT

BUILDING COVERAGE

PAVED COVERAGE

LANDSCAPE COVERAGE 

EXISTING PROPOSED

2
A-2.0

EXHIBIT A

A6



715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-0.1

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

EXTERIOR PHOTOS OF
PROPERTY

JL

1. FRONT OF HOUSE - EAST ELEVATION 2. SIDE YARD - NORTH ELEVATION

3. REAR OF HOUSE - FACING NORTH 4. SIDE YARD - SOUTH ELEVATION KEY PLAN

1

4

2

3

A7



715 LAUREL AVE
MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION

PLN REVISION

A-0.2

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

SURVEY

A8



UP

UP

UP

38 SF

149 SF
ADU

61 SF

9'
-5

"
5'

-1
0"

21'-9" 6'-7"

15
'-6

"

167 SF

319 SF
GARAGE

437 SF

332 SF

288 SF

ADU

DECK

PORCH

9'-10" 5'-1"

15
'-3

"
8'

-9
"

15
'-0

"

14
'-6

"
4'

-0
" 67 SF

79 SF
ADU

16'-10" 18'-5"

ABCD

E

F

G

H

J

K
19'-7"

19'-1"

15
'-3

"

21'-3"

23
'-9

"

STAIRWELL
EXEMPT

BALCONY

BALCONY

15
'-0

"

16'-9" 11'-10" 29'-10"

11
'-3

"

11'-10" 12'-4" 8'-11"

5'
-6

"
9'

-9
"

7'
-4

"
7'

-1
1"

9'-1"

251 SF

133 SF

448 SF

103 SF

176 SF
ADU

36 SF

64 SF
ADU 67 SF

ADU

129 SF
ADU

65 SF

78 SF

STAIRWELL
EXEMPT

15
'-3

"

21 SF
ADU

84 SF
ADU

X

LNQ OP

M
R

STU

VW

15
'-6

"

6'-7"

8'
-9

"

5'-6" 11'-6"

15
'-0

"

8'
-9

"

6'-7"

34 SF

228 SF

64 SF

9'
-5

"
6'

-1
"6'-6"

15
'-6

"

164 SF

19'-6" 21'-0"

294 SF

15
'-3

"

463 SF

335 SF

296 SF

ADU

ADU

DECK

PORCH

DRIVEWAY

REAR YARD GRASS

18
'-6

"

0"

AA

9'
-9

"
14

'-0
"

6'-6"

BB

DD

EE

CC

FF

HH

GG

IIJJ

15 SF

44 SF

3'-1" 16'-3"

KK

23 SF

23
'-9

"

22'-0"

3'-5"

4'
-4

"
14

'-6
"

22'-11"

18'-10"

715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-0.3

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

SQUARE FOOTAGE
CALCULATIONS

JL

3/16" = 1'-0"2 FIRST FLOOR - FLOOR AREA

3/16" = 1'-0"3 SECOND FLOOR - FLOOR AREA

1/8" = 1'-0"1 BUILDING COVERAGE

AREA

FIRST FLOOR

A - ADU
B - ADU
C - ADU
D
E
F
G - GARAGE
H
J
K

SECOND FLOOR

L - ADU
M - ADU
N - ADU
O - ADU
P - ADU
Q - ADU
R
S
T
U
V
W
X

ADU
MAIN HOUSE

TOTAL

FLOOR AREA LIMIT 

      SF

1,937 SF

79 SF
149 SF
  61 SF
332 SF
  38 SF
167 SF
319 SF
437 SF
288 SF
  67 SF

1,655 SF

  21 SF
129 SF
  67 SF
  64 SF
176 SF 
  84 SF
  36 SF
  78 SF

65 SF
103 SF
448 SF
133 SF
251 SF

830 SF
2,762 SF

3,592 SF

DIMENSIONS

5'-1" x 15'-6"
9'-10" x 15'-3"
6'-7" x 9'-5"
15'-3" x 21'-9"
6'-7" x 5'-10"
8'-9" x 19'-1"
15'-0" x 21'-3"
23'-9" x 18'-5"
14'-6" x 19'-7"
16'-10" x 4'-0"

N/A
16'-5" x 7'-11"
9'-1" x 7'-4"
9'-9" x 6'-7"
15'-3" x 11'-6"
5'-6" x 15'-2"
6'-7" x 5'-6"
8'-11" x 8'-9"
12'-4" x 5'-3"
11'-10" x 8'-9"
29'-10" x 15'-0"
11'-10" x 11'-3"
16'-9" x 15'-0"

AREA

AA - ADU
BB - ADU
CC
DD
EE
FF
GG
HH
II
JJ
KK

ADU
MAIN HOUSE

TOTAL

BUILDING COVERAGE

      SF

228 SF
64 SF
34 SF

335 SF
147 SF
23 SF 

294 SF
463 SF
296 SF
44 SF
15 SF

292 SF
1,651 SF

1,943 SF

DIMENSIONS

15'-0" x 16'-3"
6'-6" x 9'-1"
6'-6" x 6'-4"
20'-5" x 16'-0"
16'-10" x 9'-6"
21'-5" x 1'-0"
21'-0" x 13'-6"
18'-0" x 24'-0"
17'-6" x 19'-0"
3'-1" x 14'-6"
4'-10" x 3'-5"

A9



UP

50
'-0

"
E G

20
' F

R
O

N
T 

SE
TB

AC
K

GRASS

(E) 3' FENCE

TRELLIS

10
'-0

"

18
'-6

"

20'-0"

UP

SI
D

EW
AL

K

23'-0"

PERSIMMON TREE

FRONT SETBACK

SI
D

EW
AL

K

NP

9'
-0

"

18'-0"

UNCOVERED
PARKING9'

-0
"

18'-0"

UNCOVERED
PARKING

HOUSE MOVES BACK 7'

7'-0"

9'-0"

18
'-0

"

PROPOSED PARKING

REQUIRED PARKING
WHICH CONFORMS WITH 
CODE WITHOUT A VARIANCE

715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-0.4

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

VARIANCE DIAGRAMS

JL

1/8" = 1'-0"1
VARIANCE 1 - PROPOSED
ALTERNATE

LEGEND

CURRENT PROPOSED DESIGN

ALTERNATE DESIGN WHICH 
CONFORMS WITHOUT A VARIANCE

A10



COTTONWOOD

COTTONWOOD

LEMON TREE

ORANGE TREE

OAK 

JAPANESE MAPLE

UTILITY POLE
W/ LIGHT

UTILITY POLE
W/ LIGHT

140'-0"

50
'-0

"

EXISTING HOUSE
719 LAUREL AVE

EXISTING HOUSE
711 LAUREL AVE

EXISTING HOUSE
715 LAUREL AVE

TO BE DEMOLISHED

TRELLIS

SHED

SHED

SHED

LA
U

R
EL

 A
VE

(E) CURB

EXISTING HOUSE
712 REGAL CT

EXISTING HOUSE
716 REGAL CT

EXISTING HOUSE
312 O'KEEFE ST

TO BE MOVED
PERSIMMON TREE(E) DECK

(E) DRIVEWAY

~80'

~110'

10
'-6

"
10

'-6
"

24'-9"

39'-5"

46'-9"PLAYHOUSE

#1

#2

#3

#4

NP

NP

NP

711 LAUREL AVE, MENLO PARK, CA 94205 715 LAUREL AVE, MENLO PARK, CA 94205 719 LAUREL AVE, MENLO PARK, CA 94205

715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-1.0

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

EXISTING AREA PLAN

JL

1" = 10'-0"1 (E) AREA PLAN
0' 10' 20' 40' 80'

1/8" = 1'-0"2 (E) STREETSCAPE

A11



711 LAUREL AVE, MENLO PARK, CA 94205 715 LAUREL AVE, MENLO PARK, CA 94205 719 LAUREL AVE, MENLO PARK, CA 94205

COTTONWOOD

COTTONWOOD

OAK 

JAPANESE MAPLE

UTILITY POLE
W/ LIGHT

UTILITY POLE
W/ LIGHT

140'-0"

50
'-0

"

EXISTING HOUSE
719 LAUREL AVE

EXISTING HOUSE
711 LAUREL AVE

(N) HOUSE
715 LAUREL AVE

TRELLIS

SHED

SHED

LA
U

R
EL

 A
VE

(E) CURB

EXISTING HOUSE
712 REGAL CT

EXISTING HOUSE
716 REGAL CT

EXISTING HOUSE
312 O'KEEFE ST

LEMON TREE ORANGE TREE

NEW LOCATIONS
MOVED CITRUS TREES

REAR SETBACK

(N) DRIVEWAY

(N) DECK
PORCH

PERSIMMON TREE

#1

#2

#3

#4

NP NP

NP

10
'-6

"

107'-6"

77'-4"

10
'-6

"

715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-1.1

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

NEW AREA PLAN

JL

1/8" = 1'-0"2 (N) STREETSCAPE

0' 10' 20' 40' 80'

1" = 10'-0"1 (N) AREA PLAN

A12



TO BE DEMOLISHED

SHED

COTTONWOOD
30" TRUNK
40' CANOPY

COTTONWOOD
20"+ 20" TRUNK
30' CANOPY

LEMON TREE

ORANGE TREE

OAK 
30" TRUNK
50' CANOPY

(E) ASPHALT DRIVEWAY

140'-0"

50
'-0

"24'-9"

5'
-0

"
40

'-5
"

4'
-7

"34'-5"23'-8"

25
'-6

"
14

'-1
1"

E G

(E) PAVER WALK

20
' R

EA
R

 S
ET

BA
C

K

20
' F

R
O

N
T 

SE
TB

AC
K

5' SIDE SETBACK

5' SIDE SETBACK

JAPANESE MAPLE
10" TRUNK
20' CANOPY

NO FENCE DUE TO LOT LINE STRUCTURE

(E) SOLAR BOX

(E) PAVERS
@ 8" A.F.G.

(E) WOOD DECK
@ 8" A.F.G.

BUILDING 
FOOTPRINT

PLANTINGS

GRASS

GRASS

(E) 7' FENCE

(E) 7' FENCE

(E) 7' FENCE

(E) 3' FENCE

(E) 3' FENCE

TRELLIS

10
'-0

"
10

'-0
"

3"
 / 

12
"

3"
 / 

12
"

3" / 12" 3" / 12"

3"
 / 

12
"

3"
 / 

12
"

TO BE MOVED

EXISTING HOME
1658 SQ FT

TO BE DEMOLISHED

20'-0"20'-0"

LA
U

R
EL

 A
VE

EDGE OF CURB

PLANTINGS

PERSIMMON TREE

PLAYHOUSE
TO BE DEMOLISHED

#1

#2

#3

#4

NP

NP

NP

+28'-3 1/2" +27'-11"

+28'-2 1/2"

+27'-10 1/2"A
B

C
D

EXISTING DAMAGED SIDEWALK AT 
DRIVEWAY CURB CUT 
FRONTAGE IMPROVEMENTS TO EXTEND 
ACROSS ENTIRE PROPERTY FRONTAGE

SI
D

EW
AL

K
SI

D
EW

AL
K

715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-1.2

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

EXISTING SITE PLAN

JL

3/16" = 1'-0"1 (E) SITE PLAN
0' 3' 5' 11' 21'

ZONING: R-1-U SINGLE FAMILY URBAN RESIDENTIAL

LOT AREA

EXISTING FLOOR AREA OF HOUSE
FLOOR AREA OF SHED

COVERED AREA ON SITE
BUILDING COVERAGE

LANDSCAPED AREA
LANDSCAPE COVERAGE

PAVED + DECK AREA
PAVED + DECK COVERAGE

PARKING

SITE ANALYSIS

7000 SF

1671 SF
82 SF

1841 SF
26%

3472 SF
50%

1699 SF
24%

1 COV. / 1 UNCOV.

TO BE DEMOLISHED

ELECTRICAL METER

GAS METER

LEGEND

E

G

1. COAST LIVE OAK (HERITAGE) - 30" DBH, 40' CANOPY

2. COAST LIVE OAK (HERITAGE) - 2 x 20" DBH, 30' CANOPY

3. JAPANESE MAPLE - EST.10" DBH, 20' CANOPY

4. COAST LIVE OAK (HERITAGE) - EST 30" DBH, 50' CANOPY

TREE INVENTORY

AVG. NORTH SIDE =   (        +       ) / 2 = (28.2 + 27.8) / 2 = 28.0'

AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE

A B

AVG. SOUTH SIDE =   (        +       ) / 2 = (28.3 + 27.9) / 2 = 28.1'C D

DAYLIGHT PLANES TO BEGIN  FROM 1' ABOVE AVG. NATURAL 
GRADE (PER VARIANCE) = 29'-0"

A13



LA
U

R
EL

 A
VE

COTTONWOOD
33" TRUNK
40' CANOPY

COTTONWOOD
20"+ 18" TRUNK
35' CANOPY

LEMON TREE
ORANGE TREE

OAK 
30" TRUNK
40' CANOPY

140'-0"

50
'-0

"

E G

20
' R

EA
R

 S
ET

BA
C

K

20
' F

R
O

N
T 

SE
TB

AC
K

5' SIDE SETBACK

5' SIDE SETBACK

JAPANESE MAPLE
10" TRUNK

GRASS

(N) 3' WOOD FENCE
ON SLOPING CONCRETE
WALL

(E) 3' FENCE

TRELLIS

10
'-0

"

10
'-0

"

EDGE OF CURB

NEW LOCATIONS
MOVED CITRUS TREES

GRASS

18
'-6

"

20'-0"

WOOD DECKING

9'
-0

"

18'-0"

UNCOVERED
PARKING

5'
-0

"

20'-0"

5'
-0

"

BUILDING FOOTPRINT

BUILDING FOOTPRINT

GREEN ROOF WITHIN PARAPET

BALCONY

UP

SI
D

EW
AL

K

PLANTINGS

NEW HOME AND ADU
FIRST FLOOR @ EL. 30'-3"

23'-0"

PERSIMMON TREE

SOLAR ROOF TILES

EL. 29'

CONCRETE
CHIMNEY

EL. 29'
EL. 28'

EL. 31' EL. 30' EL. 29'EL. 30' EL. 31'EL. 29'

SOLAR ARRAY

+29'-10"

+29'-6"+30'-2"

+29'-11"

6'-0"

20
'-8

"

57'-4" REAR BALCONY SETBACK

#1

#2

#3

#4

DRIP LINE IRRIGATION SYSTEM

EXISTING DAMAGED SIDEWALK TO BE 
REPLACED WITH NEW SIDEWALK, CURB, 
AND GUTTER, PURSUANT TO THE LATEST 
CITY STANDARDS, TO THE SATISFACTION 
OF THE PUBLIC WORKS DEPT.
NEW FRONTAGE IMPROVEMENTS TO BE 
ACROSS ENTIRE PROPERTY FRONTAGE

54'-6"

FRONT SETBACK

REAR SETBACK

SI
D

EW
AL

K

NP
NP

NP

SI
D

E 
BA

LC
O

N
Y 

SE
TB

AC
K

4"

(N) 5' WOOD FENCE ON 
2' CONCRETE WALL

(N) 5' WOOD FENCE ON 
2' CONCRETE WALL

(N) 5' WOOD FENCE ON 
2' CONCRETE WALL

(N) 3' WOOD FENCE ON 
SLOPING CONCRETE WALL

+30'-1"

+30'-2"

715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-1.3

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

JL

3/16" = 1'-0"1 SITE PLAN
0' 3' 5' 11' 21'

ZONING: R-1-U SINGLE FAMILY URBAN RESIDENTIAL

LOT AREA

FLOOR AREA
MAIN HOUSE
ADU

COVERED AREA ON SITE
BUILDING COVERAGE

LANDSCAPED AREA
LANDSCAPE COVERAGE

PAVED + DECK AREA
PAVED + DECK COVERAGE

PARKING

BFE

DFE

FFE

SITE ANALYSIS

7000 SF

2,766 SF
830 SF

1,943 SF
27.7 %

3446 SF
49.3 %

1611 SF
23.0 %

1 COV. / 1 UNCOV.

29.2'

30.2'

30.25'

TO BE DEMOLISHED

ELECTRICAL METER

GAS METER

LEGEND

E

G

1. COAST LIVE OAK (HERITAGE) - 30" DBH, 40' CANOPY

2. COAST LIVE OAK (HERITAGE) - 2 x 20" DBH, 30' CANOPY

3. JAPANESE MAPLE - EST.10" DBH, 20' CANOPY

4. COAST LIVE OAK (HERITAGE) - EST 30" DBH, 50' CANOPY

TREE INVENTORY

TREES #1 AND #2:
TPZ TRUNK WRAP TO SERVE AS PROTECTION DURING DEMOLITION OF SMALL
STRUCTURES UNDER THESE TREES. 

TREE #3 AND #4:
EXISTING FENCE AT THE PROPERTY LINE TO SERVE AS PROTECTION FOR
THESE TREES. DUE TO PROXIMITY OF WORK, ADDITIONAL FENCING
WOULD NOT BE PRACTICAL. 

TREE #4:
WHEN EXCAVATING UNDERNEATH THE CANOPY, OR WITHIN 25' OF THE TRUNK, USE HAND TOOLS 
WITHIN THE FIRST 36 INCHES. LEAVE ROOTS ENCOUNTERED UNDISTURBED. IF WOODY ROOTS OVER 
ONE INCH NEED TO BE CUT, SEE "ROOT PRUNING" SECTION OF ARBORIST REPORT

ANYWHERE WORKERS AND VEHICLES WILL BE TRAVELING OVER BARE GROUND WITHIN FIFTEEN 
FEET OF A TREE'S DRIPLINE SHOULD HAVE MATERIAL APPLIED OVER THE GROUND TO DISPERSE 
THE LOAD. SEE ARBORIST REPORT ON PAGE 7 FOR DISPERSAL STRATEGIES.

TREE PROTECTION RECOMMENDATIONS PER ARBORIST REPORT

A14



4'
-1

1"

4'-
1"

4'
-0

"

12
'-2

"

14'-3"

BEDROOM

GARAGE

LIVING ROOMKITCHEN

BEDROOMBEDROOM

14'-8"

11
'-5

"
11

'-6
"

16
'-0

"
10

'-5
"

13
'-1

0"

17'-7" 27'-3"

13'-4" 19'-8"

EXISTING HOUSE TO BE DEMOLISHED

20
' F

R
O

N
T 

SE
TB

AC
K

5' SIDE SETBACK

5' SIDE SETBACK

715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-2.0

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

EXISTING FIRST FLOOR
PLAN

RA

3/8" = 1'-0"1 (E) GROUND FLOOR

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

A15



UP

UP

1
A-3.0

(N) WOOD DECK

4

4

3

3

1

1

AA

BB

C C

E E

3.3

3.3

D D

EG

20
' F

R
O

N
T 

SE
TB

AC
K

(E) 7' FENCE

5' SIDE SETBACK

2
A-3.0

1
A-3.1

62'-6"

5'
-6

"
15

'-3
"

5'
-3

"
4'

-0
"

11
'-3

"
3'

-3
"

5'
-6

"

39
'-0

"

4.1

4.1

1
A-4.1

1
A-4.1

2
A-3.1

1
A-4.0

1
A-4.0

(N) PORCH

10
'-0

"

20'-0"

+0"

FIRST FLOOR @ EL. 30'-3"
+0"

3.2

3.2

19'-3" 14'-4" 5'-0" 2'-10" 18'-2" 3'-0"

5' SIDE SETBACK

19'-11"

14
'-6

"

14
'-6

"

6'-1"

8'
-8

"
5'

-5
"

190 SF
FAMILY ROOM

123 SF
DINING

244 SF
KITCHEN

366 SF
LIVING ROOM

200 SF
ADU KITCHEN

32 SF
BATH

51 SF
BATH

184 SF
ENTRY

6'-0"

+0"

REFLECTING POND
TO COMPLY WITH 
MENLO PARK 
NOISE ORDINANCE

O
VE

R
H

AN
G

UNDER
COUNTER
REF.

2
A-4.0

2
A-4.0

A.1A.1

2

2

18
'-0

"

WORK SINK

O
VE

R
H

AN
G

O
VE

R
H

AN
G

O
VE

R
H

AN
G

PORCH TO BE LEVEL WITH 
INTERIOR, MAX. 6" ABOVE 
ADJACENT GRADE

SKYLIGHT ABOVE

1
A-0.10

TRASH

1.1

1.6

1.9

1.2

1.8

1.3

1.4

1.10

1.7

1.5

25 SF
PANTRY

33 SF
MECH

268 SF
GARAGE

2
A-4.1

2
A-4.1

715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-2.1

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

JL

1/4" = 1'-0"1 FIRST FLOOR

A16



UP

1
A-3.0

4

4

3

3

1

1

AA

BB

C C

E E

3.3

3.3

D D

E G

20
' F

R
O

N
T 

SE
TB

AC
K

2
A-3.0

1
A-3.1

4.1

4.1

62'-6"

5'
-6

"
15

'-3
"

5'
-3

"
4'

-0
"

11
'-3

"
3'

-3
"

5'
-6

"

39
'-0

"

1
A-4.1

1
A-4.1

SKYLIGHT BELOW

2
A-3.1

MILLWORK CLOSET

(N) WOOD DECK
BELOW

3.2

3.2

SKYLIGHT ABOVE

OPENING ABOVE

CL.
147 SF
BATH

6'-1"

19'-0"
12'-11"

5'
-1

"
9'

-0
"

14
'-6

"

4'
-6

"

5' SIDE SETBACK

5' SIDE SETBACK

CL.

255 SF
BEDROOM 2

225 SF
ADU LIVING ROOM

217 SF
ADU BEDROOM

54 SF
BATH 2

30 SF
LAUNDRY

EXTERIOR
BALCONY

20
'-8

"

SKYLIGHTS ABOVE

SKYLIGHT
ABOVE

JU
LI

ET
 B

AL
C

O
N

Y

INACCESSIBLE
ROOF

19'-3" 14'-4" 5'-0" 2'-10" 18'-2" 3'-0"

2
A-4.0

2
A-4.0

A.1A.1

2

2

4'
-0

"
4'

-5
"

13
'-6

"

OPENING ABOVE

SKYLIGHT ABOVE

2.1

2.4

2.62.5

2.7

2.8

2.92.10

2.11

2.3

2.2

278 SF
PRIMARY BEDROOM

32 SF
WIC

2
A-4.1

2
A-4.1

15'-7"

16'-3"

715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-2.2

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

SECOND FLOOR PLAN

JL

1/4" = 1'-0"1 SECOND FLOOR

A17



FIRST FLOOR
0"

SECOND FLOOR
11'-0"

T.O.C. SECOND FLOOR
20'-6"

ABCE D

DAYLIGHT PLANE

PL SB SB PL

T.O.C. FIRST FLOOR
10'-0"

A.1

DFE (30.2')
-1"
BFE (29.2')
-1'-1"
AVG. (E) GRADE
-2'-3"

27
'-3

" F
R

O
M

 (E
) G

R
AD

E
19

'-6
"

8'
-6

"

GARAGE DOOR

HEIGHT LIMIT
25'-9"

DAYLIGHT PLANE BASE
17'-3"

5'-6" 15'-3" 5'-3" 4'-0" 11'-3" 3'-3" 5'-6"

2'
-6

"
3'

-0
"

2'
-6

"

SOLAR ARRAY

1.4

1.3 1.2

1.1 1.1

2.6 2.5 2.4 2.2

2.3

2.34

2.33

2.32

A B C ED

DAYLIGHT PLANE

PLSBSBPL

JULIET BALCONY
METAL HANDRAILS @ 42" 
HEIGHT WITH CABLE INFILL

A.1

5'-6"15'-3"5'-3"4'-0"11'-3"3'-3"5'-6"

19
'-6

"
8'

-6
"

1.14

2.2

2.162.17

2.1

2.19

1.17 1.16

1.3

715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-3.0

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

FRONT + REAR
ELEVATIONS

JL

1/4" = 1'-0"1 EAST ELEVATION - FRONT
1/4" = 1'-0"2 WEST ELEVATION - REAR

1. MATERIALS CALLED OUT AT
SHEET A-5.4 MATERIAL PALLETTE

NOTES

A18



FIRST FLOOR
0"

SECOND FLOOR
11'-0"

T.O.C. SECOND FLOOR
20'-6"

4 3 13.34.1

21'-11" 3'-0" 18'-2" 2'-10" 5'-0" 14'-4" 19'-3"

3.2

FUTURE
MECHANICAL
EQUIPMENT

T.O.C. FIRST FLOOR
10'-0"

3'
-0

"

4'
-6

"

DFE (30.2')
-1"
BFE (29.2')
-1'-1"
AVG. (E) GRADE
-2'-3"

2

HEIGHT LIMIT
25'-9"

DAYLIGHT PLANE BASE
17'-3"

8'
-0

"

7'
-6

"

DAYLIGHT PLANE
INTRUSION

2.31 2.30 2.29 2.28

1.21 1.20

1.19

1.18

2.26

2.252.1

16'-5"

FIRST FLOOR
0"

SECOND FLOOR
11'-0"

T.O.C. SECOND FLOOR
20'-6"

431 3.3 4.1

22'-0"3'-0"18'-2"2'-10"5'-0"14'-4"19'-3"

3.2

T.O.C. FIRST FLOOR
10'-0"

8'
-0

"

5'
-0

"

3'
-0

"

DFE (30.2')
-1"
BFE (29.2')
-1'-1"
AVG. (E) GRADE
-2'-3"

2

HEIGHT LIMIT
25'-9"

DAYLIGHT PLANE BASE
17'-3"

5'
-0

"

4'
-0

"

2'
-6

"

2.7

1.5

1.61.7

1.2

2.8

1.9

1.8

1.10

2.122.13

1.111.121.13

2.15 2.14 2.11 2.10 2.92.18

2.3

1.4

1.15

2.332.344'-6"

3'-1"

4'-0"

2.20 2.21

17'-7"
7"13'-2"

715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-3.1

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

SIDE ELEVATIONS

JL

1/4" = 1'-0"2 NORTH ELEVATION - SIDE

1/4" = 1'-0"1 SOUTH ELEVATION - SIDE

1. MATERIALS CALLED OUT AT
SHEET A-5.4 MATERIAL PALLETTE

NOTES

A19



ABCE D

5'-6" 15'-3" 5'-3" 4'-0" 11'-3" 3'-3" 5'-6"

HALL GARAGEADU KITCHEN

ADU LIVING

BEDROOM

MECHANICAL
ROOM

SOLAR ARRAY

12
'-0

"

A.1

DAYLIGHT PLANES BEGIN @ DFE (30.2')

3'-3"

1'
-6

"
10

'-9
"

FOLLOWS INTRUSION RULES
SEE SHEET A-3.1

10
'-8

"

SKYLIGHTS TO BE GLASSED IN
TO CREATE AIR BUFFER FOR
THERMAL ENVELOPE

10
'-0

"

6'
-3

"

7'
-1

" 9'
-6

"

9'
-1

0"

10
'-5

"

A-4.2
1A-4.3

2
A-4.2

4
A-6.1

10
A-6.11

6

FIRST FLOOR
0"

SECOND FLOOR
11'-0"

T.O.C. SECOND FLOOR
20'-6"

A B C ED

T.O.C. FIRST FLOOR
10'-0"

5'-6"15'-3"5'-3"4'-0"14'-6"5'-6"

SOLAR TILES

A.1

BALCONY

KITCHEN

PRIMARY 
BEDROOM

BEDROOM

DFE (30.2')
-1"

BFE (29.2')
-1'-1"

AVG. (E) GRADE
-2'-3"

10
'-9

"
1'

-6
"

HEIGHT LIMIT
25'-9"

DAYLIGHT PLANE BASE
17'-3"

9'
-6

"

A-4.2
3

715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-4.0

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

BUILDING SECTIONS

JL

1/4" = 1'-0"1 CROSS SECTION
1/4" = 1'-0"2 CROSS SECTION 2

A20



FIRST FLOOR
0"

SECOND FLOOR
11'-0"

T.O.C. SECOND FLOOR
20'-6"

4 3 13.34.1 3.2

BATHROOMBEDROOM

PANTRY

CLOSET

KITCHEN FAMILY ROOMGARAGE

BEDROOM

CLERESTORIES TO HALLWAY BEYOND

3'-0" 18'-2" 2'-10" 5'-0" 14'-4" 19'-3"

T.O.C. FIRST FLOOR
10'-0"

DFE (30.2')
-1"

BFE (29.2')
-1'-1"

AVG. (E) GRADE
-2'-3"

2

HEIGHT LIMIT
25'-9"

DAYLIGHT PLANE BASE
17'-3"

A-4.3
3

A-4.3
4

A-6.11
3

FIRST FLOOR
0"

SECOND FLOOR
11'-0"

T.O.C. SECOND FLOOR
20'-6"

431 3.3 4.13.2

T.O.C. FIRST FLOOR
10'-0"

DFE (30.2')
-1"

BFE (29.2')
-1'-1"

AVG. (E) GRADE
-2'-3"

2

HEIGHT LIMIT
25'-9"

DAYLIGHT PLANE BASE
17'-3"

1
A-4.2

3'-0"18'-2"2'-10"5'-0"14'-4"19'-3"

A-5.5
2

A-5.5
2

ADU KITCHENADU
BATH

BATH 2

LIVING ROOM

ADU BEDROOM ADU LIVING ROOM

715 LAUREL AVE
MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION

PLN REVISION

A-4.1

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

BUILDING SECTIONS

1/4" = 1'-0"1 LONGITUDINAL SECTION

1/4" = 1'-0"2 LONGITUDINAL SECTION 2

A21



715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-5.0

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

FRONT PERSPECTIVE

JL

A22



715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-5.1

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

FRONT PERSPECTIVE

JL

A23



715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-5.2

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

REAR AXONOMETRIC

JL

A24



715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-5.3

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

REAR PERSPECTIVE

JL

A25



GARAGE DOOR CLAD
TO MATCH CEMENT

BOARD SIDING

PAINTED CEMENT BOARD PANEL

GREEN ROOF INSIDE PARAPET

UNDER SIDE OF ROOF - WOOD CLADDING

PTD. STEEL TRELLIS FRAME
W/ WOOD SLAT INFILL

715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-5.4

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

MATERIAL PALETTE

JL

1/4" = 1'-0"1 FRONT ELEVATION MATERIALS

1/4" = 1'-0"2 SIDE ELEVATION MATERIALS

3

2

5

4

3

1

1

MATERIALS

2

3 4

5

ACCENT SIDING
PERFORATED METAL PANEL SIDING
OR PAINTED CEMENT BOARD SIDING

ACCENT SIDING
VERTICAL WOOD SLATS

TRIM AND WINDOW/DOOR FRAMES
METAL PAINTED BLACK

TYPICAL SIDING
GREY STAIN HORIZONTAL SHIPLAP

FOUNDATION AND STRUCTURAL WALL
BOARD FORMED CONCRETE

4

5

5

4

2

A26



4"
3'

-6
"

WOOD HANDRAIL

STEEL GUARDRAIL WITH 
STEEL ROD INFILL

WOOD DECK AND SOFFIT
INTEGRATED DRAINAGE

PTD. STEEL FASCIA

1 1/2" 4 1/2"

3 
1/

2"

8"

TONGUE AND GROOVE WOOD SOFFIT

CEMENT BOARD EXTERIOR

RESIDENTIAL STOREFRONT
GLAZING

WEATHERING STEEL PLANTER
INTEGRATED DRAINAGE CEMENT BOARD 

EXTERIOR
BEYOND

PTD. STEEL FRAME 
CANTILEVERING TRELLIS 

STRUCTURE

WOOD INFILL MEMBERS

3'-3 1/2" 1'-4 1/2"

WOOD SLAT EXTERIOR
BEYOND

715 LAUREL AVE

1. THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING IS VESTED IN 
DESIGN DRAW BUILD INC. AND IT MAY NOT BE 
REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART OR USED FOR 
THE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISION OF THE 
COPYRIGHT HOLDERS.

2. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECT'S, ENGINEER'S 
DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

MENLO PARK, CA 94025

TYLER KOBICK, AIA
2866 WEBSTER STREET
OAKLAND, CA 94609
510.833.2643
www.designdrawbuild.com

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION
NUMBER: PLN2022-00016

REV. ISSUED SET DATE

PLN SUBMISSION 03/10/22

PLN REVISION 07/19/22

Sheet Drawn By:

PLN REVISION 10/05/222

1

PLN RESUBMIT 10/24/22

PLN REVISION 11/21/223

A-5.5

NOVEMBER 21, 2022

DECK + TRELLIS DETAILS

JL

1 1/2" = 1'-0"1 RAILING DETAIL

1 1/2" = 1'-0"2 TRELLIS DETAIL

NOTES

1. DETAILS SHOWN ON THIS SHEET 
ARE TO DEMONSTRATE AESTHETIC 
PROPERTIES FOR PLANNING REVIEW. 
DETAILS ARE NOT FOR 
CONSTRUCTION PURPOSES.

A27



2866 WEBSTER STREET, OAKLAND, CA 94609    510.833.2643 info@designdrawbuild.com 

1 

July 20, 2022 

Project Description 

715 Laurel Ave, Menlo Park, CA 94025 

PLN2022-00016 

To the Menlo Park Planning Department, 

We are submitting a Development Permit Application for a new construction, two-story home 

and Accessory Dwelling Unit at 715 Laurel Avenue, Menlo Park with an R-1-U Urban Residential zoning 

designation. The proposal includes the demolition of an existing, non-historic single-family home of 

1,658 square feet across a single floor.  

We are proposing a new single-family home with 2 bedrooms, 1.5 bathrooms and accessory 

dwelling unit with 1 bedroom, 2 bathrooms which together maintain a similar footprint to the existing 

home, with an added a second story. The new primary residence is 2,766 square feet; the accessory 

dwelling unit totals 830 square feet. The proposal sits within all required front, rear, and side yard 

setbacks, and maintains a building coverage of only 27.7% which is only slightly more than the existing 

home and well below the 35% maximum set by zoning.  

The overall building form creates an “L” shape which opens the rear of building to sunlight from 

the South and West and ensures more light can reach the rear yard. The overall building massing 

respects the intent of the daylight planes, cutting down towards the side setbacks either with the slope 

of a roof, or a notch filled with clerestories. Small pop-ups break up the eave line along the side 

elevations and bring light and air into the upstairs rooms. The southern roof is sloped to capture sun for 

a photovoltaic array, and a flat green roof is proposed on the northern volume to capture stormwater 

and reduce runoff. This green roof would be provided with a dripline irrigation system to ensure low-

maintenance and limited requirements for access to the roof. 

The new residence and ADU will be of a modern architectural style, in keeping with similar new 

construction throughout the neighborhood. The building will be predominantly light-wood framing 

with a slab-on-grade foundation raised to above the Design Flood Elevation designated for the 

property. Exterior materials will largely include painted wood siding, clear-sealed cedar siding, and 

painted cement board siding with black metal trim and window frames. The rear of the home features 

large glass “storefront” windows, including operable sliding glass walls to bathe the home in light and 

welcome the outdoors in. 

Thank you, 

Tyler Kobick 

Principal  
p. 510.833.2643

w. designdrawbuild.com

a. 2866 WEBSTER STREET, OAKLAND, CA 94609

EXHIBIT B

A28

tel:510.833.2643
http://designdrawbuild.com/
https://maps.google.com/?q=2866+WEBSTER+STREET%2C+OAKLAND%2C+CA+94609


2866 WEBSTER STREET, OAKLAND, CA 94609    510.833.2643 info@designdrawbuild.com 

1 

October 24, 2022 

Variance Letter 

715 Laurel Ave, Menlo Park, CA 94025 

PLN2022-00016 

Variance 1 – Non-conforming Parking 

We are requesting a variance, to maintain the existing non-conforming on-site condition for the 

placement of the required uncovered parking space within the front setback. With this variance we are 

seeking to maintain the pattern of development in the neighborhood, including front and rear yard 

depths, and the street-facing wall alignment of adjacent homes. 

1. That a hardship peculiar to the property and not created by any act of the owner exists. In this

context, personal, family or financial difficulties, loss of prospective profits and neighboring

violations are not hardships justifying a variance. Further, a previous variance can never have set

a precedent, for each case must be considered only on its individual merits;

Finding: Our site is a non-conforming width within the R-1-U zoning district. The lot is 50’ wide - 

rather than the zoning minimum of 65’ - which limits the ability to fit a driveway along the side of the 

lot to provide access to a more hidden parking space. Additionally, given the narrow nature of the 

lot, it is undesirable to fit two parking spaces next to each other, for it would create a dominant car-

centric look along the street frontage. 

2. That such variance is necessary for the preservation and enjoyment of substantial property rights

possessed by other conforming property in the same vicinity and that a variance, if granted,

would not constitute a special privilege of the recipient not enjoyed by his/her neighbors;

Finding: The variance condition we are requesting maintains the existing parking condition on-site 

and matches all of the original homes in the neighborhood. The typical home in the neighborhood 

features one, single-car garage outside the setback, and an uncovered parking space within the 

setback. If the uncovered parking space were to be located outside the front setback, it would push 

the new proposed dwelling further to the rear of the property, creating a smaller backyard than 

neighboring properties enjoy. 

3. That the granting of the variance will not be materially detrimental to the public health, safety, or

welfare, or will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent property;

Finding: The granting of the variance will in fact provide better supply of light and air to adjacent 

properties. If the variance is not granted, it will push the proposed home further back on the 

property, blocking the access of light and air into the backyards of the adjacent homes.  

EXHIBIT C

A29



 
 

 
2866 WEBSTER STREET, OAKLAND, CA 94609             510.833.2643  info@designdrawbuild.com 

2 

 

 

4. That the conditions upon which the requested variance is based would not be applicable, 

generally, to other property within the same zoning classification. 

Finding: The zoning code was developed based on lots which are minimum 65’ in width. As such, 

zoning regulations on parking within this zone were not considered for properties like 715 Laurel 

Ave with 50’ widths.  

 

5. That the condition upon which the requested variance is based is an unusual factor that was not 

anticipated or discussed in detail during any applicable Specific Plan process. 

Finding: No specific plan could be found for this neighborhood. 

 

  

A30



715 Laurel Avenue – Exhibit D: Conditions of Approval 

PAGE: 1 of 2 

LOCATION: 715 Laurel 
Avenue 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2022-00016 

APPLICANT: Vineet 
Mehta 

OWNER: Vineet Mehta 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

1. The use permit shall be subject to the following standard conditions:

a. The applicant shall be required to apply for a building permit within one year from the date of
approval (by December 12, 2023) for the use permit to remain in effect.

b. Development of the project shall be substantially in conformance with the plans prepared by
Design, Draw, Build consisting of 22 plan sheets, dated received November 21, 2022 and
approved by the Planning Commission on December 12, 2022, except as modified by the
conditions contained herein, subject to review and approval of the Planning Division.

c. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall comply with all Sanitary District, Menlo
Park Fire Protection District, and utility companies’ regulations that are directly applicable to
the project.

d. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall comply with all requirements of the
Building Division, Engineering Division, and Transportation Division that are directly applicable
to the project.

e. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall submit a plan for any new utility
installations or upgrades for review and approval by the Planning, Engineering and Building
Divisions. All utility equipment that is installed outside of a building and that cannot be placed
underground shall be properly screened by landscaping. The plan shall show exact locations of
all meters, back flow prevention devices, transformers, junction boxes, relay boxes, and other
equipment boxes.

f. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant shall
submit plans indicating that the applicant shall furnish new sidewalk, curb and gutter, pursuant
to the latest City Standards, to the satisfaction of the Public Works Department along the
property frontage.

g. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant shall
submit a Grading and Drainage Plan for review and approval of the Engineering Division. The
Grading and Drainage Plan shall be approved prior to the issuance of grading, demolition or
building permits.

h. Heritage trees in the vicinity of the construction project shall be protected pursuant to the
Heritage Tree Ordinance and the arborist report prepared by Bo Firestone Consulting and
Design dated May 19, 2022.

i. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall pay all fees incurred through staff time
spent reviewing the application.

j. The applicant or permittee shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Menlo Park
or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action, or proceeding against the City of
Menlo Park or its agents, officers, or employees to attack, set aside, void, or annul an approval
of the Planning Commission, City Council, Community Development Director, or any other
department, committee, or agency of the City concerning a development, variance, permit, or
land use approval which action is brought within the time period provided for in any applicable
statute; provided, however, that the applicant’s or permittee’s duty to so defend, indemnify, and
hold harmless shall be subject to the City’s promptly notifying the applicant or permittee of any
said claim, action, or proceeding and the City’s full cooperation in the applicant’s or permittee’s
defense of said claims, actions, or proceedings.

2. The use permit shall be subject to the following project-specific conditions:

EXHIBIT D

A31



715 Laurel Avenue – Exhibit D: Conditions of Approval 
 

PAGE: 2 of 2 

LOCATION: 715 Laurel 
Avenue 

PROJECT NUMBER:  
PLN2022-00016 

APPLICANT: Vineet 
Mehta 

OWNER: Vineet Mehta 

a. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant shall 
submit a revised site plan adjusting the location of the footprint to accommodate a second, 
compliant parking space. The site plan shall indicate the location of the uncovered parking 
space, subject to review and approval of the Planning Division. 

 

A32



City of Menlo Park

715 LAUREL AVENUE
Location Map

Date: 12/12/2022 Drawn By:4,000 CRT Checked By: CDS1: Sheet: 1Scale:

ATTACHMENT B

B1



715 Laurel Avenue – Attachment C: Data Table 

PROPOSED 
PROJECT 

EXISTING 
PROJECT 

ZONING 
ORDINANCE 

Lot area 7,000 sf 7,000 sf 7,000 sf min 
Lot width 50 ft 50  ft 65 ft min 
Lot depth 140 ft 140  ft 100 ft min 
Setbacks 

Front 23 ft 24.7 ft 20 ft min 
Rear 54.5 ft 54.9 ft 20 ft min 
Side (left) 5.5 ft 5.0 ft 10 percent of minimum lot 

width, minimum 5 feet Side (right) 5 ft 4.6 ft 
Building coverage* 1,954.2 

27.9 
sf 
% 

1,737 
24.8 

sf 
% 

2,450 
35.0 

sf max 
% max 

FAL (Floor Area Limit)* 3,592* sf 1,737 sf 2,800 sf max 
Square footage by floor 1,329 

1,141 
319 
289 
541 
15 

2.2 

sf/1st 
sf/2nd 
sf/garage 
sf/ADU 1st 
sf/ADU 2nd 
sf/fireplace 
sf/wing wall 

1,350 
305 
82 

sf/1st 
sf/garage 
sf/shed and 
playhouse 

Square footage of buildings 3,636.2 sf 1,737 sf 
Building height 27.3 ft 13.7 ft 28 ft max 
Parking 1 covered space** 1 covered space 1 covered and 1 uncovered 

space 
Note: Areas shown highlighted indicate a nonconforming or substandard situation 

Trees Heritage trees 3*** Non-Heritage trees 3**** New trees 0 
Heritage trees 
proposed for removal 

0 Non-Heritage trees 
proposed for removal 

0 Total Number of 
trees  

6 

*Floor area and building coverage for the proposed project includes the ADU, which is allowed to
exceed the maximum floor area and building coverage by up to 800 square feet.
**Implementation of Condition 2.a would create a standard parking situation with one covered
and one uncovered space.
***Of these trees, two are located on the subject property and one is located on a neighboring property.
****Of these trees, two are located on the subject property and one is located on a neighboring property.

ATTACHMENT C

C1



BO FIRESTONE CONSULTING & DESIGN

BUSARA FIRESTONE, CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A

2150 LACEY DR., MILPITAS, CA 95035

E:  BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM  P: (408) 497-7158

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM

A R B O R I S T  R E P O R T

R E V .  M A Y  1 9 ,  2 0 2 2

P R E P A R E D  F O R :  
V I N E E T  M E H T A  &  K A R I S H M A  S H A R M A

S I T E A D D R E S S :
7 1 5  L A U R E L  A V E . • M E N L O  P A R K , C A 9 4 0 2 5

ATTACHMENT D

D1



715 Laurel Ave.• Mehta - Sharma • Rev. 05/19/22 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page i 
 

PREPARED BY:  BUSARA FIRESTONE 

ISA-CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

 

Contents 
Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 1 

ARBORIST ASSIGNMENT .............................................................................................................. 1 

USES OF THIS REPORT ................................................................................................................. 1 

City Tree Protection Requirements ................................................................................................ 2 

Heritage Tree Definition .............................................................................................................. 2 

Construction-Related Tree Removals .......................................................................................... 2 

Violation Penalties ....................................................................................................................... 2 

Impacts on Protected Trees ............................................................................................................ 3 

SITE DESCRIPTION........................................................................................................................ 3 

TREE INVENTORY ......................................................................................................................... 3 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION ................................................................................................................ 3 

HOW CONSTRUCTION CAN DAMAGE TREES ............................................................................... 4 

Damage to Roots ..................................................................................................................... 4 

Mechanical Injury .................................................................................................................... 5 

IMPACTS TO HERITAGE TREES ..................................................................................................... 5 

Tree Protection Recommendations ................................................................................................ 6 

PRE-CONSTRUCTION ................................................................................................................... 6 

Establish Tree Protection Zones (TPZ) .................................................................................... 6 

Preventing Root Damage – Tree #4 (neighboring oak) .......................................................... 7 

Pruning Branches .................................................................................................................... 8 

Arborist Inspection.................................................................................................................. 8 

DURING CONSTRUCTION ............................................................................................................. 8 

Special Tree Protection Measures (Tree #4 – neighboring oak)............................................. 8 

Root Pruning ........................................................................................................................... 9 

D2



715 Laurel Ave.• Mehta - Sharma • Rev. 05/19/22 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page ii 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BUSARA FIRESTONE 

ISA-CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Irrigation.................................................................................................................................. 9 

Project Arborist Supervision ................................................................................................... 9 

POST-CONSTRUCTION ............................................................................................................... 10 

Continued Tree Care ............................................................................................................. 10 

Post-Construction Monitoring .............................................................................................. 10 

City Arborist Inspection ........................................................................................................ 10 

Conclusion ..................................................................................................................................... 11 

Supporting Information ................................................................................................................ 12 

GLOSSARY .................................................................................................................................. 12 

BIBLIOGRAPHY ........................................................................................................................... 14 

    CERTIFICATE OF APPRAISAL.………………….………..…………………………………………………….….………….15 

    TPZ TRUNK WRAP SPECIFICATION.………………….……..…………….……………………………….….………….16 

    TREE INVENTORY (TABLE).…………………….………..…………………………………………………….….………….17 

    TPZ MAP.………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………18 

 

D3



715 Laurel Ave.• Mehta - Sharma • Rev. 05/19/22 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 1 of 18 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BUSARA FIRESTONE 

ISA-CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Introduction 
 

ARBORIST ASSIGNMENT 
As Project Arborist, I visited the site of the proposed home building project at 715 Laurel 
Avenue, Menlo Park in November of 2021.  After review of proposed site plan A-1.3 updated 
05/10/22 by Design Draw Build, it was my understanding that the existing home would be 
demolished and a larger one-story house with attached ADU built in its place.  A new deck was 
planned off the back of the house. 

My inventory included four (4) Heritage Trees: two (2) coast live oak (Quercus agrifolia) in the 
back yard of the property, as well as one (1) coast live oak and a (1) Japanese maple (Acer 
palmatum) on neighboring parcels.  No Heritage Trees were requested for removal.  All other 
trees on grounds were sub-size (<6”).  All other neighboring trees were sufficiently distant from 
the work (>10x DBH). 

 

USES OF THIS REPORT 
According to City Ordinance, any person who conducts grading, excavation, demolition, or 
construction activities on a property must do so in a manner that does not threaten the health 
or viability or cause the removal of any Heritage Tree.  Any work performed within an area 10 
times the diameter of the tree (i.e., the tree protection zone) requires the submittal of a tree 
protection plan for approval by the City before issuance of any permit for grading or 
construction. 

This report was written by Busara Firestone, Project Arborist, to serve as a resource for the 
property owner, designer, and builder.  I have provided instructions for retaining, protecting 
and working around trees during construction, as well as information on City requirements. The 
owner, contractor and architect are responsible for knowing the information included in this 
arborist report and adhering to the conditions provided. 

D4



715 Laurel Ave.• Mehta - Sharma • Rev. 05/19/22 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 2 of 18 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BUSARA FIRESTONE 

ISA-CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

City Tree Protection Requirements 
 

Heritage Tree Definition 
A “Heritage Tree” is a tree that has protected status by the City of Menlo Park.  The City can 
classify trees with Heritage status for their remarkable size, age, or unique value.  However, in 
general, native oaks of 10 inches or more, and any tree having a trunk with a diameter of 15 
inches or more has Heritage status (measured at 54 inches above natural grade, or at the 
branching point for multi-trunk trees).   

 

Construction-Related Tree Removals 
According to the City of Menlo Park, applicants are required to submit a site plan with the 
Heritage Tree Removal Application Permit even if they have submitted a site plan to the City for 
a planning or building permit. The site plan facilitates the review by the City Arborist.  

For removals of two or more trees, applicants shall be required to submit a planting plan 
indicating the species, size and location of the proposed replacement trees on a site plan. 
Heritage Tree Permits related to Construction will also be charged for City-retained arborist 
expenses. 

 

Violation Penalties 
Any person who violates the tree protection ordinance, including property owners, occupants, 
tree companies and gardeners, could be held liable for violation of the ordinance. The 
ordinance prohibits removal or pruning of over one-fourth of the tree, vandalizing, mutilating, 
destruction and unbalancing of a heritage tree without a permit.  

If a violation occurs during construction, the City may issue a stop-work order suspending and 
prohibiting further activity on the property until a mitigation plan has been approved, including 
protection measures for remaining trees on the property. Civil penalties may be assessed 
against any person who commits, allows or maintains a violation of any provision of the 
ordinance. The fine will be an amount not to exceed $5,000 per violation, or an amount 
equivalent to the replacement value of the tree, whichever is higher. 

D5



715 Laurel Ave.• Mehta - Sharma • Rev. 05/19/22 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 3 of 18 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BUSARA FIRESTONE 

ISA-CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Impacts on Protected Trees 
 

SITE DESCRIPTION 
The property at 715 Laurel Avenue was a rectangular lot typical of the neighborhood and 
without notable topography.  An existing one-story house stood on the parcel.  The trees on the 
property included two mature coast live oak in the back yard as well as several small fruit trees.  
A large coast live oak stood in the neighbor’s front yard with its canopy extending over the 
property.  There was also a Japanese maple handing over the back yard on the opposite side of 
the property.   

 

TREE INVENTORY 
This tree preservation plan includes an attached inventory of all trees on the property 
regardless of species, that were at least 12 feet tall and 6-inch DSH. 

This inventory also includes as necessary, any neighboring Heritage Trees with work proposed 
within 10 times their diameter (DSH).  Any street trees within the public right-of-way were also 
included, regardless of size, as required by the City.   

The Inventory includes each tree’s number (as shown on the TPZ map), measurements, 
condition, level of impact (due to proximity to work), tolerance to construction, overall 
suitability for conservation, and prescription (remove/retain).  The inventory also includes the 
appraised value of each tree using the Trunk Formula Method (10th Edition). 

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
After review of proposed site plan A-1.3 updated 05/10/22 by Design Draw Build, it was my 
understanding that the existing home would be demolished and a new, one-story house with 
attached ADU built in its place with a larger footprint.  A new front porch would be built as well 
as a new deck off the back of the house.   An uncovered parking area was planned in the 
location of the existing driveway. 

 

D6



715 Laurel Ave.• Mehta - Sharma • Rev. 05/19/22 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 4 of 18 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BUSARA FIRESTONE 

ISA-CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

HOW CONSTRUCTION CAN DAMAGE TREES 
Damage to Roots 
Where are the Roots? 
The most common types of injury to trees that occur during property improvements are related 
to root cutting or damage.  Tree roots extend farther out than people realize, and the majority 
are located within the upper 24 inches of soil.  The thickest roots are found close to the trunk, 
and taper and branch into ropey roots.  These ropey roots taper and branch into an intricate 
system of fine fibrous roots, which are connected to an even finer system of fungal filaments. 
This vast below-ground network is tasked with absorbing water and nutrients, as well as 
anchoring the tree in the ground, storage, and communication.   

Damage from Excavation  
Any type of excavation will impact adjacent trees by severing roots and thus cutting off the 
attached network.  Severing larger roots, or trenching across the root plate, destroys large 
networks.  Even work that appears to be far from a tree (like on the far side of the yard), will 
impact the fibrous root system where excavation is taking place.  Placing impervious surface 
over the ground, or installing below ground structures, such as a pool, or basement wall, will 
remove rooting area permanently from a site.   

 Damage from Fill 
Adding fill can smother roots, making it difficult for them to access air and water.  The roots 
and other soil life need time to colonize the new upper layers of soil.   

Changes to Drainage and Available Water 
Changes to the hydrology of the site, caused for instance by new septic fields, changes to grade, 
and drainage systems, can also cause big changes in available water for trees.  Trees can die 
from lack of water or disease if their water supply dries up or gets much wetter than they are 
used to.   

Soil Compaction and Contamination 
In addition, compaction of soil, or contamination of soil with wash-water, paint, fuel, or other 
chemicals used in the building process, can cause damage to the rooting environment that can 
last many years.  Tree protection fencing creates a barrier to protect as many roots as possible 

D7



715 Laurel Ave.• Mehta - Sharma • Rev. 05/19/22 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 5 of 18 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BUSARA FIRESTONE 

ISA-CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

from this damage, which can be caused by travelling vehicles, equipment storage, and other 
construction activities that may occur even outside the construction envelope. 

Mechanical Injury 
Injury from the impact of vehicles or equipment can occur to the root crown, trunk, and lower 
branches of a tree.  The bark protects a tree – creating a skin-like barrier from disease-causing 
organisms.  The stem issues are in charge of supporting the weight of the plant, and conducting 
the flow of water, sugars, and other important compounds throughout the tree.  When the 
bark and wood is injured, the structure and health of the tree is compromised.   

 

IMPACTS TO HERITAGE TREES 
Trees #1 and #2 (oak) as well as neighboring Tree #3 would be expected to sustain “low” impact 
from the excavation of the foundation and back deck. 

Tree #4 (neighboring oak) would sustain a “moderate” and acceptable impact from root 
damage and disturbance from the building of the foundation and porch in the front of the 
house.   

All retained trees were expected to survive project impacts if tree protection measures are 
properly implemented.  No Heritage Trees were proposed for removal as part of this project. 

My evaluation of the impacts of the proposed construction work for all affected trees was 
summarized in the Tree Inventory.  These included impacts of grading, excavation for utility 
installation, retaining walls, drainage or any other aspect of the project that could impact the 
service life of the tree.  Anticipated impacts to trees were summarized using a rating system of 
“severe,” “high,” “moderate,” “low,” or “very low.”  

General species tolerance to construction, and condition of the trees (health and structural 
integrity), was also noted on the Inventory.  These major factors, as well as tree age, soil 
characteristics, and species desirability, all factored into an individual tree’s suitability rating, as 
summarized on the Inventory.   Suitability of trees to be retained was rated as “high,” 
“moderate,” “low.”  Trees with low suitability would be appropriate candidates for removal.  
Please see Glossary for definitions of ratings.  No Heritage Trees were proposed for removal 
as part of this project. 

 

D8



715 Laurel Ave.• Mehta - Sharma • Rev. 05/19/22 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 6 of 18 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BUSARA FIRESTONE 

ISA-CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Tree Protection Recommendations 
 

PRE-CONSTRUCTION 
Establish Tree Protection Zones (TPZ) 
The Tree Protection Zone (TPZ) shall be a fenced-off area where work and material storage is 
not allowed.  They are established and inspected prior to the start of work.  This barrier 
protects the critical root zone and trunk from compaction, mechanical damage, and chemical 
spills.   

Tree protection fencing is required to remain in place throughout construction and may only 
be moved or removed with written authorization from the City Arborist.  The Project Arborist 
may authorize modification to the fencing when a copy of the written authorization is 
submitted to the City. 

The City requires that tree protection fencing be installed before any equipment comes on-
site and inspected by the Project Arborist, who shall submit a verification letter to the City 
before issuance of permits.   

 

TPZ LOCATIONS: 
The dripline (area beneath the tree’s canopy) serves as a rule of thumb for where the critical 
roots are located and serves as a good visual guideline for establishing the TPZ fencing radius.  
However, site restrictions may limit where fencing can be feasibly placed.  Please see attached 
“Existing Tree/TPZ Map” for recommended fencing locations specific to this project.   

In addition, it is my practice to include a column on my inventory which shows the “ideal TPZ” 
radius for each tree.  This number was calculated based on tree age, species tolerance to 
construction, and size, as per industry Best Management Practices.   I am often asked for 
recommended setbacks and this column provides this information in ready form.  The “ideal 
TPZ” is to be used as an educational tool for the project team and is not meant to indicate any 
requirements.  Specific recommended protection for trees is as follows: 

 

D9



715 Laurel Ave.• Mehta - Sharma • Rev. 05/19/22 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 7 of 18 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BUSARA FIRESTONE 

ISA-CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

 Trees #1 and #2:  Establish standard six-foot “TPZ I” chain-link fencing with radius of 20 
feet.  Existing property fencing may serve to complete the enclosure.  I recommended 
TPZ Wrap in addition to the standard fencing in the case that the Tree Protection Zone 
must be entered, or if the fencing radius is altered for the demolition of the small 
structures under these trees.  This would be a temporary measure and fencing installed 
as directed afterwards.  See attached “TPZ Map” for recommended fencing locations. 
 

 Trees #3 and #4:  These neighboring trees are partially protected by the existing (6’) 
wooden property fence.  Additional fencing would not be practical.  Please see “Special 
Tree Protection Measures” for further guidelines for building around these trees. 
 

TPZ FENCING SPECIFICATIONS: 

1) Establish tree protection fencing radius by installing six (6)-foot tall chain link fencing 
mounted on eight (8)-foot tall, two (2)-inch diameter galvanized posts, driven 24 inches 
into the ground and spaced no more than 10 feet apart.  
 

2) Post signs on the fencing stating, “TREE PROTECTION FENCE - DO NOT MOVE OR 
REMOVE WITHOUT APPROVAL FROM CITY ARBORIST.”  
 

Preventing Root Damage – Tree #4 (neighboring oak) 
Anywhere workers and vehicles will be traveling over bare ground within fifteen feet of a 
tree’s dripline should have material applied over the ground to disperse the load.  This may 
be done by applying a six to 12-inch layer of wood chip mulch to the area.  With this method, 
mulch in excess of four inches would have to be removed after work is completed.  As an 
alternative method that would not require mulch removal, the contractor could place plywood 
(>3/4-inch-thick) or road mats over a four-inch layer of mulch.  Mulch should be spread 
manually so as not cause compaction or damage.   

 

D10



715 Laurel Ave.• Mehta - Sharma • Rev. 05/19/22 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 8 of 18 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BUSARA FIRESTONE 

ISA-CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Pruning Branches 
Branches must be pruned to allow clearance for proposed structures and the passage of 
workers, vehicles and machines.  Any large dead branches should be pruned out for the safety 
of people working on the site.   

I recommend that each tree that designated to remain shall be pruned as necessary to provide 
clearance for development, while maintaining a natural appearance.  All tree pruning (or 
removal) activities shall be performed prior to the beginning of any demolition or development.  

Pruning should be specified in writing adhering to ANSI A300 Pruning Standards and performed 
according to Best Management Practices endorsed by the International Society of 
Arboriculture. Pruning should be performed by a licensed and insured tree contractor and 
supervised by an ISA-certified arborist or an ASCA-Registered Consulting Arborist.  

Any property owner wanting to prune heritage tree more than one-fourth of the canopy 
and/or roots, must have permission from the City. 

 

Arborist Inspection 

The City requires that tree protection fencing be installed before any equipment comes on-
site and inspected by the Project Arborist, who shall submit a verification letter to the City 
before issuance of permits. Tree protection fencing to be inspected by City Arborist before 
demo and/or building permit issuance.   

 

DURING CONSTRUCTION 
Special Tree Protection Measures (Tree #4 – neighboring oak)  
1. Excavation guidelines for installation of new foundation and porch:  When excavating 

underneath the canopy, or within 25' of the trunk, use hand tools within the first 36 inches.  
Leave roots encountered undisturbed.  If woody roots over one inch need to be cut, see 
next section titled “Root Pruning.”   

2. See also section titled “Preventing Soil and Root Damage” on pg. 7 of this report for 
instructions pertinent to this tree.   

D11



715 Laurel Ave.• Mehta - Sharma • Rev. 05/19/22 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 9 of 18 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BUSARA FIRESTONE 

ISA-CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Root Pruning 
Roots often extend farther beyond the tree than people realize.  Even outside of the fencing 
protecting the critical root zone, there are roots that are important to the wellbeing of the tree.  
Builders may notice torn roots after digging or trenching.  If this happens, exposed ends should 
be cut cleanly.   

However, the best way to cut roots is to cut them cleanly before they are torn by excavating 
equipment.  Roots may be exposed by gentle excavation methods and then cut selectively.  
Alternatively, a tool specifically designed to cut roots may be used to cut through the soil on the 
tree-side of the excavation line prior to digging so that roots are not torn.  

Any root pruning must be supervised by the Project Arborist. 

 

Irrigation 
Water moderately and highly impacted trees during the construction phase.  As a rule of 
thumb, provide one to two inches per month.  Water slowly so that it penetrates 18 inches into 
the soil, to the depth of tree roots.  Do not water native oaks during the warm dry season (June 
– September) as this activates oak root fungus.  Instead, make sure that the soil is sufficiently 
insulated with mulch (where possible).  Remember that unsevered tree roots typically extend 
three to five times the distance of the canopy.   

 

Project Arborist Supervision 
I recommend the Project Arborist meet with the builder on-site:  

 Soon after excavation 
 During any root pruning 
 As requested by the property owner or builder to document tree condition and on-going 

compliance with tree protection plan (I suggest every 6 weeks).   

Any time development-related work is recommended to be supervised by a Project Arborist, 
a follow-up letter shall be provided, documenting the mitigation has been completed to 
specification.  

 

D12



715 Laurel Ave.• Mehta - Sharma • Rev. 05/19/22 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 10 of 18 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BUSARA FIRESTONE 

ISA-CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

POST-CONSTRUCTION 
Ensure any mitigation measures to ensure long-term survival including but not limited to: 

 

Continued Tree Care 
Provide adequate and appropriate irrigation.  As a rule of thumb, provide 1- 2 inches of 
water per month.  Water slowly so that it penetrates 18 inches into the soil, to the depth of the 
tree roots.  Native oaks usually should not be provided supplemental water during the warm, 
dry season (June – September) as this activates oak root fungus.  Therefore, native oaks should 
only be watered October – May when rain has been scarce.   

Mulch insulates the soil, reduces weeds, reduces compaction, and promotes myriad benefits 
to soil life and tree health.  Apply four inches of wood chips (or other mulch) to the surface of 
the soil around trees, extending at least to the dripline when possible.  Do not pile mulch 
against the trunk. 

Do not fertilize unless a specific nutrient deficiency has been identified and a specific plan 
prescribed by the project arborist (or a consulting arborist). 

 

Post-Construction Monitoring 
 Monitor trees for changes in condition.  Check trees at least once per month for the first year 
post-construction.  Expert monitoring should be done at least every 6 months or if trees show 
signs of stress.  Signs of stress include unseasonably sparse canopy, leaf drop, early fall color, 
browning of needles, and shoot die-back.  Stressed trees are also more vulnerable to certain 
disease and pest infestations.  Call the Project Arborist, or a consulting arborist if these, or 
other concerning changes occur in tree health. 

 

City Arborist Inspection 
A final inspection by the City Arborist is required at the end of the project.  This is to be done 
before Tree Protection Fencing is taken down.  Replacement trees should be planted by this 
time as well. 

D13



715 Laurel Ave.• Mehta - Sharma • Rev. 05/19/22

ARBORIST REPORT

Page 11 of 18

PREPARED BY:  BUSARA FIRESTONE

ISA-CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM

Conclusion 

The home building project planned at 715 Laurel Avenue appeared to be a valuable upgrade to 
the property and neighborhood.  If the recommendations and protection measures in this 
report are followed, all trees identified for preservation are expected to survive.  Most trees 
would be expected to sustain low impact.  However, special care should be taken building close 
to the neighboring oak, Tree #4.  

If any of the parties involved have questions on this report, or require Project Arborist 
supervision or technical support, please do not hesitate to contact me at (408) 497-7158 or 
busara@bofirestone.com. 

Signed,

Busara (Bo) Firestone | ISA Certified Arborist WE-#8525A | ISA Qualified Tree Risk Assessor | 
ASCA Tree and Plant Appraisal Qualification | Member – American Society of Consulting Arborists

D14



715 Laurel Ave.• Mehta - Sharma • Rev. 05/19/22 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 12 of 18 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BUSARA FIRESTONE 

ISA-CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Supporting Information 
 

GLOSSARY 
Terms appear in the order they appear from left to right on the inventory column headings.   

DBH / DSH:  Diameter at 4.5' above grade.   Trees which split into multiple stems at 4.5’ are 
measured at the narrowest point below 4.5’. 

Mathematic DBH / DSH:  diameter of multitrunked tree, mathematically derived from the 
combined area of all trunks. 

SPREAD:  Diameter of canopy between farthest branch tips 

TREE STATUS:  A “Heritage Tree” is a tree that has protected status by the City of Menlo Park.  
The City can classify trees with Heritage status for their remarkable size, age, or unique value.  
However, in general, native oaks of 10 inches or more, and any tree having a trunk with a 
diameter of 15 inches or more has Heritage status (measured at 54 inches above natural grade, 
or at the branching point for multi-trunk trees).   

CONDITION-Ground based visual assessment of structural and physiological well-being:  

"Excellent" = 81 - 100%; Good health and structure with significant size, location or quality. 

"Good" = 61-80%; Normal vigor, full canopy, no observable significant structural defects, 
many years of service life remaining. 

"Fair" = 41-60%; Reduced vigor, significant structural defect(s), and/or other significant signs 
of stress 

"Poor" = 21- 40%; In potentially irreversible decline, structure an aesthetics severely 
compromised 

"Very Poor" = 6-20%; Nearly dead, or high risk of failure, negative contribution to the 
landscape  

"Dead/Unstable" = 0 - 5%; No live canopy/buds or failure imminent 

D15



715 Laurel Ave.• Mehta - Sharma • Rev. 05/19/22 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 13 of 18 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BUSARA FIRESTONE 

ISA-CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

IDEAL TPZ RADIUS:  Minimum recommended tree protection radius to ensure healthy, sound 
trees.  Based on species tolerance, age, and size (total combined stem area).   Compromising 
the radius in a specific area may be acceptable as per arborist approval. 

AGE:  Relative to tree lifespan; “Young” <1/3; “Mature" 1/3 - 2/3;  "Overmature" >2/3 

IMPACT:  Anticipated impact to an individual tree including…… 

SEVERE - In direct conflict, removal necessary if plans proceed (distance to root cuts/fill 
within 3X DBH) 

HIGH - Ideal TPZ significantly encroached upon but could still be retained with 
monitoring or alternative building methods.  Health and structure may worsen even if 
conditions for retainment are met.  May recommend alternative TPZ method due to 
proximity to work.  

MODERATE - Ideal TPZ encroached upon in limited areas.  Special building guidelines 
may be provided by Project Arborist.  Although some symptoms of stress are possible, 
tree is not likely to decline due to construction related activities.  May recommend 
alternative TPZ method due to proximity to work. 

LOW - Minor or no encroachment on ideal TPZ.  Longevity uncompromised with 
standard protection. 

VERY LOW - Ideal TPZ well exceeded.  Potential impact only by ingress/egress.  
Longevity uncompromised. 

NONE - Negligible anticipated impact. 

TOLERANCE:  General species tolerance to construction (HIGH, MODERATE, or LOW) as given in 
Managing Trees During Construction, Second Edition, by International Society of Arboriculture   

SUITABILITY ASSESSMENT:  An individual tree's suitability for preservation considering impacts, 
condition, maturity, species tolerance, site characteristics, and species desirability. (HIGH, 
MODERATE, or LOW) 

APPRAISAL RESULT:  The reproduction cost of tree replacement as calculated by the Trunk 
Formula Technique.  

D16



715 Laurel Ave.• Mehta - Sharma • Rev. 05/19/22 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 14 of 18 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BUSARA FIRESTONE 

ISA-CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

BIBLIOGRAPHY 
 

Fite, Kelby, and E. Thomas Smiley.  Managing trees during construction, second edition. 

 Champaign, IL:  International Society of Arboriculture, 2016.  Print. 

 

ISA.  Guide for Plant Appraisal, 10th edition, second printing.  Atlanta, GA: International Society 
of Arboriculture, 2019.  Print. 

 

ISA. Species Classification and Group Assignment, 2004 Western Chapter Regional Supplement. 

 Western Chapter ISA. 

 

Smiley, E. Thomas, Nelda Matheny, and Sharon Lilly.  Best Management Practices:  Tree Risk  

Assessment:  International Society of Arboriculture, 2011.  Print. 

 

D17



BO FIRESTONE CONSULTING & DESIGN

BUSARA FIRESTONE, CERTIFIED ARBORIST #WE-8525A

2150 LACEY DR., MILPITAS, CA 95035

E:  BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM  P: (408) 497-7158

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM

CERTIFICATE OF APPRAISAL

I, Busara Rea Firestone, CERTIFY to the best of my knowledge and belief:

1. That the statements of fact contained in this plant appraisal are true and correct.

2. That the appraisal analysis, opinions, and conclusion are limited only by the reported assumption

and limiting conditions, and that they are my personal, unbiased professional analysis, opinions, and

conclusions.

3. That I have no present or prospective interest in the plants that are the subject of this appraisal, and

that I have no personal interest or bias with respect to the parties involved.

4. That my compensation is not contingent upon a predetermined value or direction in value that

favors the cause of the client, the amount of the value estimate, the attainment of a stipulated

result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event.

5. That my analysis, opinions, and conclusions are developed, and this appraisal has been prepared, in

conformity with the Guide for Plant Appraisal (10th edition, 2000) authored by the Council of Tree

and Landscape Appraisers.

6. That the methods found in this appraisal are based on a request to determine the value of the plants

considering reasonable factors of plant appraisal.

7. That my appraisal is based on the information known to me at this time.  If more information is

disclosed, I may have further opinions.

Signed,

Busara (Bo) Firestone 

ISA Certified Arborist WE-#8525A 

2021 

D18



Created by Bo Firestone 2018 

TPZ II – Alternative Method of Tree Protection 

May be used to protect trunk from damage during construction activities when standard TPZ fencing is 
not practical.  Install prior to construction activities.  Adjust to allow for diameter growth as needed. 

Step 1:  Wrap trunk with foam pad 
OR at least five layers of orange 
plastic fencing. 

Step 2:  Install dimensional lumber in 
a layer around trunk to create barrier. 
Angle to protect root flare. 

Step 3:  Secure planks with straps, 
chicken wire, or no less than four 
layers of orange plastic fencing. 

DO NOT DRIVE FASTENERS INTO TREE 

D19



pg
. 1

M
eh

ta
 &

 S
ha

rm
a 

Re
si

de
nc

e 
- 

/
/2

#
He

rit
ag

e 
(H

)
Co

m
m

on
 N

am
e

Bo
ta

ni
ca

l N
am

e
Pr

ot
ec

te
d 

St
at

us
DB

H
(in

ch
es

)

 m
at

h.
 

DB
H

(in
ch

es
)

He
ig

ht
 

(fe
et

)
Sp

re
ad

(fe
et

)
Co

nd
iti

on
Ag

e
Sp

ec
ie

s 
To

le
ra

nc
e

6X
 D

SH
*

(fe
et

)

Es
tim

at
ed

 
Ro

ot
 

Lo
ss

**

TP
Z 

m
ul

t. 
Fa

ct
or

Id
ea

l T
PZ

 
Ra

di
us

 (f
t) 

Im
pa

ct
 Le

ve
l  

**
*

Su
ita

bi
lit

y
Ra

tin
g

Pr
es

cr
ip

tio
n

A p
pr

ai
sa

l 
Re

su
lt

1
H

Co
as

t L
iv

e 
O

ak
Q

ue
rc

us
 a

gr
ifo

lia
HE

RI
TA

GE
30

30
60

40
GO

O
D 

(7
5%

) 
M

AT
UR

E
HI

GH
15

< 
10

%
8

20
LO

W
HI

GH
PR

ES
ER

VE
$1

9,
50

0

2
H

Co
as

t L
iv

e 
O

ak
Q

ue
rc

us
 a

gr
ifo

lia
HE

RI
TA

GE
(2

) 2
0

28
50

30
FA

IR
 (5

0%
)

M
AT

UR
E

HI
GH

14
<1

0%
8

19
LO

W
M

O
DE

RA
TE

PR
ES

ER
VE

$8
,8

00

3
Ja

pa
ne

se
 M

ap
le

Ac
er

 p
al

m
at

um
(n

ot
 h

er
ita

ge
)

es
t. 

10
10

20
20

GO
O

D 
(7

5%
) 

M
AT

UR
E

M
O

DE
RA

TE
5

< 
10

%
12

10
LO

W
HI

GH
PR

ES
ER

VE
$2

,8
60

4
H

Co
as

t L
iv

e 
O

ak
Q

ue
rc

us
 a

gr
ifo

lia
HE

RI
TA

GE
es

t. 
30

30
50

50
GO

O
D 

(7
5%

) 
M

AT
UR

E
HI

GH
15

< 
25

%
8

20
M

O
DE

RA
TE

HI
GH

PR
ES

ER
VE

$1
7,

40
0

KE
Y: #

on
 n

ei
gh

bo
rin

g 
pa

rc
el

 

pr
op

os
ed

 re
m

ov
al

 (0
)

SE
E 

GL
O

SS
AR

Y 
FO

R 
DE

FI
N

IT
IO

N
 O

F 
TE

RM
S

Ap
pr

ai
sa

l c
al

cu
la

tio
ns

 su
m

m
ar

y 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

ap
on

 re
qu

es
t.

TR
EE

 IN
VE

N
TO

RY
 - 

71
5 

La
ur

el
 A

ve
, M

en
lo

 P
ar

k,
 C

A,
 9

40
25

*6
X 

D
B

H
 is

 re
co

ng
ni

ze
d 

by
 tr

ee
 c

ar
e 

in
du

st
ry

 b
es

t p
ra

ct
ic

es
 a

s 
th

e 
di

st
an

ce
 fr

om
 tr

un
kf

ac
e 

to
 a

 c
ut

ac
ro

ss
 th

e 
ro

ot
 p

la
te

 th
at

 w
ou

ld
 re

su
lt 

in
 a

 lo
ss

 o
f a

pp
ro

xi
m

at
el

y 
25

%
 o

f t
he

 ro
ot

 m
as

s.
  C

ut
s 

cl
os

er
th

an
 th

is
 m

ay
 re

su
lt 

in
 tr

ee
 d

ec
lin

e 
or

 in
st

ab
ili

ty
. 

**
B

as
ed

 o
n 

ap
pr

ox
im

at
e 

di
st

an
ce

 to
 e

xc
av

at
io

n 
an

d 
ex

te
nt

 o
f e

xc
av

at
io

n 
(a

s 
sh

ow
n 

on
 p

la
ns

).

TR
EE

 IM
PA

CT
 A

SS
ES

SM
EN

T

Pr
ep

ar
ed

 b
y 

Bu
sa

ra
 F

ire
st

on
e

IS
A 

Ce
rt

ifi
ed

 A
rb

or
ist

 #
W

E-
85

25
A

D20



LAUREL AVE

C
O

TT
O

N
W

O
O

D
33

" T
R

U
N

K
40

' C
A

N
O

PY

C
O

TT
O

N
W

O
O

D
20

"+
 1

8"
 T

R
U

N
K

35
' C

A
N

O
PY

LE
M

O
N

 T
R

EE
O

R
AN

G
E

 T
R

EE

O
AK

 
30

" T
R

U
N

K
40

' C
A

N
O

PY

14
0'

-0
"

50'-0"

E
G

20' REAR SETBACK

20' FRONT SETBACK

5'
 S

ID
E 

SE
TB

A
C

K

5'
 S

ID
E 

SE
TB

A
C

K

JA
P

AN
E

SE
 M

A
PL

E
10

" T
R

U
N

K

G
R

A
SS

(E
)7

' F
EN

C
E

(E
) 7

' F
EN

C
E

LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

 W
AL

L 
W

IT
H

 F
EN

C
E

 O
N

 T
O

P

(E
)3

' F
EN

C
E

(E
)3

' F
EN

C
E

TR
EL

LI
S

10'-0"

10'-0"

ED
G

E 
O

F 
C

U
R

B

N
EW

 L
O

C
AT

IO
N

S
M

O
VE

D
 C

IT
R

U
S 

TR
E

ES

G
R

A
SS

17'-6"

20
'-0

"

W
O

O
D

 D
EC

K
IN

G

9'-0"

18
'-0

"

U
N

C
O

VE
R

ED
PA

R
KI

N
G

5'-0"

20
'-0

"

5'-0"

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 F

O
O

TP
R

IN
T

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 F

O
O

TP
R

IN
T

G
R

EE
N

 R
O

O
F 

W
IT

H
IN

 P
AR

AP
ET

BA
LC

O
N

Y

U
P

SIDEWALK

PL
A

N
TI

N
G

S

EL
. 3

0'

N
EW

 H
O

M
E 

AN
D

 A
D

U
FI

R
ST

 F
LO

O
R

 @
 E

L.
 3

0'
-3

"

23
'-0

"

PE
R

SI
M

M
O

N
 T

R
EE

TE
SL

A 
SO

LA
R

 R
O

O
F

EL
. 2

9'
EL

. 3
1'

LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

 W
AL

L 
W

IT
H

 F
EN

C
E

 O
N

 T
O

P

C
O

N
C

R
ET

E
C

H
IM

N
EY

EL
. 3

2'

EL
. 3

1'
EL

. 3
0'

EL
. 2

9' EL
. 2

8'

EL
. 3

1'
EL

. 3
0'

EL
. 2

9'
EL

. 3
0'

EL
. 3

1'
EL

. 2
9'

SO
LA

R
 A

R
R

AY

-1
0"

-1
0"

+1
 1

/2
"

+7
"

+2
'-5

"

+2
'-5

"

6'
-0

"

4"

20'-1"

56
'-2

"
R

E
AR

 B
AL

C
O

N
Y

 S
E

TB
AC

K

#1 #2

#3

#4

D
R

IP
 L

IN
E

 IR
R

IG
AT

IO
N

 S
YS

TE
M

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 S

ID
E

W
AL

K 
D

AM
AG

ED
 A

T 
C

U
R

B 
C

U
T.

 R
EP

AI
R

 D
A

M
A

G
E

 IN
 L

O
C

A
TI

O
N

 B
Y

 
FU

R
N

IS
H

IN
G

 N
E

W
 S

ID
EW

AL
K

, C
U

R
B

, 
G

U
TT

E
R

 P
U

R
SU

AN
T 

TO
 L

A
TE

S
T 

C
IT

Y 
ST

AN
D

AR
D

S

50
'-0

"

FR
O

N
T 

SE
TB

AC
K

R
E

AR
 S

ET
BA

C
K

SIDEWALK

N
P

N
P

N
P

SIDE BALCONY SETBACK

3/
16

" =
 1

'-0
"

1
(N

)S
IT

E 
PL

AN
0'

3'
5'

11
'

21
'

ZO
N

IN
G

: R
-1

-U
 S

IN
G

LE
 F

AM
IL

Y
 U

R
BA

N
 R

ES
ID

E
N

TI
AL

LO
T 

AR
EA

FL
O

O
R

 A
R

EA
M

AI
N

 H
O

U
S

E
AD

U

C
O

VE
R

ED
 A

R
E

A 
O

N
 S

IT
E

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 C

O
V

ER
AG

E

LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

D
 A

R
EA

LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

 C
O

VE
R

AG
E

PA
VE

D
 +

 D
EC

K
 A

R
EA

PA
VE

D
 +

 D
EC

K
 C

O
V

ER
AG

E

PA
R

KI
N

G

BF
E

D
FE

FF
ESI
TE

 A
NA

LY
SI

S

70
00

 S
F

2,
77

6 
S

F
82

4 
SF

1,
98

3 
S

F
28

.3
 %

36
54

 S
F

52
.2

 %

13
63

 S
F

19
.5

 %

1 
C

O
V.

 / 
1 

U
N

C
O

V.

29
.2

'

30
.2

'

30
.2

5'

TO
 B

E 
D

EM
O

LI
S

H
ED

EL
E

C
TR

IC
A

L 
M

ET
ER

G
AS

 M
ET

ER

LE
G

EN
D

E G

1.
C

O
AS

T 
LI

VE
 O

AK
 (H

E
R

IT
AG

E)
 -

30
" D

BH
, 4

0'
 C

AN
O

PY

2.
C

O
AS

T 
LI

VE
 O

AK
 (H

E
R

IT
AG

E)
 -

2 
x 

20
" D

BH
, 3

0'
 C

A
N

O
PY

3.
JA

P
AN

ES
E 

M
AP

LE
 -

E
ST

.1
0"

 D
B

H
, 2

0'
 C

AN
O

PY

4.
C

O
AS

T 
LI

VE
 O

AK
 (H

E
R

IT
AG

E)
 -

ES
T 

30
" D

BH
, 5

0'
 C

A
N

O
PY

TR
EE

 IN
VE

N
TO

R
Y

TR
EE

S 
#1

 A
N

D
 #

2:

TP
Z 

TR
U

N
K 

W
R

A
P 

TO
 S

ER
VE

 A
S

 P
R

O
TE

C
TI

O
N

 D
U

R
IN

G
 D

EM
O

LI
TI

O
N

 O
F 

SM
AL

L
ST

R
U

C
TU

R
ES

 U
N

D
ER

 T
H

E
SE

 T
R

EE
S

. 

TR
EE

 #
3 

A
N

D
 #

4:

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 F

EN
C

E 
AT

 T
H

E 
PR

O
PE

R
TY

 L
IN

E 
TO

 S
ER

V
E 

A
S 

PR
O

TE
C

TI
O

N
 F

O
R

TH
ES

E 
TR

EE
S.

 D
U

E
 T

O
 P

R
O

XI
M

IT
Y

 O
F 

W
O

R
K,

 A
D

D
IT

IO
N

A
L 

FE
N

C
IN

G
W

O
U

LD
 N

O
T 

BE
 P

R
A

C
TI

C
A

L.
 

TR
EE

 P
R

O
TE

C
TI

O
N

 R
EC

O
M

M
EN

D
AT

IO
N

S 
PE

R
 A

R
BO

R
IS

T 
R

EP
O

R
T

D
A

TE
:  

R
E
V
. 0

5
/1

9
/2

2

TP
Z
 E

LE
M

E
N

TS
 D

RA
W

N
: 

B
.F

IR
E
S

TO
N

E
IS

A
-C

E
R

TI
FI

E
D

 A
R

B
O

R
IS

T 
#W

E
-8

52
5
A

B
A

S
E
 M

A
P
:  

A
-1

.3
by

 D
E
S

IG
N

 D
RA

W
 B

U
IL

D
 

(R
E
V
. 0

5
/1

0
/2

2
)

A
R

B
O

R
IS

T 
R

E
P
O

R
T

pg
 1

TREE PROTECTION ZONE MAP

715 LAUREL AVE, MENLO PARK, CA

N
P
 (
4

” L
E
M

O
N

)

   1
 

TP
Z
 N

O
TE

:  
E
X
IS

TI
N

G
 F

E
N

C
E
 A

T 
P
R

O
P
E
R

-
TY

 L
IN

E
 T

O
 S

E
R

V
E
 A

S
 P

R
O

TE
C

TI
O

N
 F

O
R

 
TR

E
E
 #

4
.  

D
U

E
 T

O
 P

R
O

X
IM

IT
Y

 O
F 

W
O

R
K

, 
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L 
FE

N
C

IN
G

 W
O

U
LD

 N
O

T 
B

E
 

P
RA

C
TI

C
A

L.
  

R
O

O
T 

P
R

O
TE

C
TI

O
N

 P
R

E
S

C
R

IB
E
D

 A
S

 P
E
R

 
H

IG
H

LI
G

H
TE

D
 A

R
B

O
R

IS
T 

R
E
P
O

R
T 

S
E
C

TI
O

N
 

O
N

 P
A

G
E
 7

.

TP
Z
 M

A
P
 L

E
G

E
N

D
:

TR
E
E
 T

O
 R

E
M

A
IN

 

TR
E
E
 O

N
 N

E
IG

H
B

O
R

S
’ P

R
O

P
E
R

TY
 /

P
U

B
LI

C
 R

IG
H

T-
O

F-
W

A
Y

TR
E
E
 P

R
O

TE
C

TI
O

N
 F

E
N

C
IN

G
 (
S

E
E
 R

E
P
O

R
T 

FO
R

 S
P
E
C

.)

TR
U

N
K

 W
RA

P
 (
S

E
E
 A

TT
A

C
H

E
D

 S
P
E
C

.)

  n
TR

E
E
 T

O
 R

E
M

O
V

E

 n   n

 4

 3

N
P
 (
5.

5
” O

RA
N

G
E
)

   2

N
P
 (
2
” P

E
R

S
IM

M
O

N
) 

TP
Z
 N

O
TE

:  
E
X
IS

TI
N

G
 F

E
N

C
E
 A

T 
P
R

O
P
E
R

-
TY

 L
IN

E
 T

O
 S

E
R

V
E
 A

S
 P

R
O

TE
C

TI
O

N
 F

O
R

 
TR

E
E
 #

4
.  

D
U

E
 T

O
 P

R
O

X
IM

IT
Y

 O
F 

W
O

R
K

, 
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L 
FE

N
C

IN
G

 W
O

U
LD

 N
O

T 
B

E
 

P
RA

C
TI

C
A

L.

TP
Z
 N

O
TE

:  
TP

Z
 T

R
U

N
K

 W
RA

P
 T

O
 S

E
R

V
E
 

A
S

 P
R

O
TE

C
TI

O
N

 D
U

R
IN

G
 D

E
M

O
LI

TI
O

N
 

O
F 

S
M

A
LL

 S
TR

U
C

TU
R

E
S

 U
N

D
E
R

 T
H

E
S

E
TR

E
E
S

.

R
O

O
T 

P
R

O
TE

C
TI

O
N

 M
E
A

S
U

R
E
S

 (
P
R

E
S

C
R

IB
E
D

 P
E
R

 R
E
P
O

R
T 

P
G

.  
7)

50'-0"

G
R

A
SS

(E
)3

' F
EN

C
EE

PL
A

N
TI

N
G

S
N

23
'-0

"
FR

O
N

T 
SE

TB
AC

K

N
P

N
P
 (
2
” P

E
R

S
IM

M
O

N
)

D21



Community Development 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission 
Meeting Date:  
Staff Report Number:  

Public Hearing and
Study Session: 

12/12/2022 
22-072-PC

Draft Environmental Impact Report (EIR) public 
hearing and study session for the proposed 123 
Independence Drive Project with approximately 316 
rental apartment units and 116 for-sale townhome 
condominium units with associated open spaces 
and other improvements located at 119 
Independence Drive, 123-125 Independence Drive, 
127 Independence Drive, 1205 Chrysler Drive, and 
130 Constitution Drive   

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission conduct: 

• A public hearing to receive public testimony and provide comments on the Draft EIR; and
• A study session to receive public comments and ask clarifying questions on the proposed project,

including but not limited to the applicant’s project refinements since the previous Planning Commission
study session on September 27, 2021, and the community amenities proposal.

The December 12, 2022 meeting will not include any project actions. Pursuant to Menlo Park Municipal 
Code Chapters 16.82 (Use Permit), Section 16.68.020 (Architectural Control), Chapter 16.45 (R-MU 
Residential Mixed Use District), Section 16.43.070 (Community Amenities) and 13.24 (Heritage Trees), the 
Planning Commission is required to review, and make the final decision on the certification of the Final EIR 
and the requested use permit and architectural control. However, the Planning Commission will review the 
subdivision and the vesting tentative map and project specific equivalent alternatives to the Below Market 
Rate (BMR) guidelines, and provide a recommendation to City Council. The City Council will be the final 
decision-making body on the major subdivision map, project specific equivalent alternatives to the BMR 
guidelines, and any appeals on the project entitlements.  

Staff recommends the following meeting procedure for the two items, allowing the public and the Planning 
Commission to focus comments and discussion on the specific project components. 

Draft EIR public hearing 
• Introduction by staff
• Presentation by the applicant
• Presentation by City’s EIR Consultant
• Public comments on Draft EIR
• Commissioner questions and comments on Draft EIR
• Close of public hearing

Project proposal study session



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 2 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

• Introduction by staff  
• Commissioner questions on proposed project  
• Public comments on proposed project  
• Commissioner comments on proposed project 
 
Including the applicant team’s presentation during the Draft EIR public hearing instead of the study session 
allows the Planning Commission and community members to receive an overview of the proposed project 
prior to providing comments on the Draft EIR. 

 
Policy Issues 
A public hearing on the Draft EIR provides an opportunity for the Planning Commission and the public to 
comment on the completeness and accuracy of the Draft EIR document. A study session provides an 
opportunity for the Planning Commission and the public to ask clarifying questions on the proposed project’s 
details and design. The Draft EIR public hearing and the study session should be considered as separate 
items, with comments and clarifying questions used to inform future consideration of the proposed project. 
The Planning Commission will consider approval of the requested entitlements at future meetings and 
provide a recommendation to the City Council on the proposed major subdivision and project specific BMR 
housing program, after the City has received public comments on the Draft EIR and prepares responses. 
The heritage tree removal permits are reviewed separately by the City Arborist before the Commission 
makes any decision on the overall project entitlements. Commissioners are advised to refrain from 
expressing a position regarding recommending approval of the project until the environmental review 
process is completed and the project is before the Planning Commission for action.  
 
The proposed project requires the following actions: 
 
1. Environmental Review to analyze potential environmental impacts and certify the EIR as legally 

compliant with CEQA; 
2. Use Permit for bonus-level development (which requires the provision of community amenities) and for 

the storage and use of diesel fuel for the proposed onsite backup generator; 
3. Architectural Control approval of the design of the new buildings and associated site improvements, 

including review of the requested concessions and waivers associated with the development of for-sale 
inclusionary housing units pursuant to the State Density Bonus Law;  

4. Major Subdivision to change boundaries of the existing five parcels to create five reconfigured parcels, 
with one parcel containing the apartment building, one parcel containing the common publicly accessible 
open space, and the remaining three parcels containing the 116 townhome units;  

5. Below Market Rate (BMR) Housing Agreement to provide 48 apartment and 18 townhome BMR units 
on-site in accordance with the City’s BMR Ordinance and project specific equivalent alternatives to the 
Below Market Rate (BMR) guidelines to allow development of the proposed for-sale units on a separate 
stand-alone parcel within the project site; and,  

6.  Heritage Tree Removal Permits to remove heritage trees to enable the proposed project and plant 
heritage tree replacements per the City’s municipal code requirements 

 
In addition, the City has prepared the following documents to analyze the proposed project and inform 
reviews by community members, the Planning Commission, and the City Council: 
 
• Housing Needs Assessment (HNA), including an analysis of the multiplier effect for indirect and induced 

employment from the proposed project, in compliance with the terms of the 2017 settlement agreement 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 3 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

between the City of Menlo Park and the City of East Palo Alto; 
• Fiscal Impact Analysis (FIA) to inform decision makers and the public of the potential fiscal impacts of 

the proposed project; and 
• Appraisal to identify the required value of the community amenity in exchange for bonus level 

development.   
 

These reports are not subject to specific Planning Commission action, but provide background information 
for the Commission’s consideration alongside the requested land use entitlements and environmental 
review.  
 
After the close of the Draft EIR public comment period on January 17, 2023, the City and its environmental 
consultant will review and respond to all substantive comments received in what is referred to as a 
“Response to Comments” document, which along with the Draft EIR and any revisions, additions, or 
clarifications to the Draft EIR, will constitute the Final EIR. The Planning Commission, as the final decision 
maker, will review the Draft and Final EIR together and determine if the environmental review was prepared 
in compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Certifying the EIR as legally adequate 
and adopting findings to comply with CEQA must be completed prior to taking final action on the proposed 
project. After certifying the Final EIR, the Planning Commission would then consider and take action on the 
requested land use entitlements and make recommendations to the City Council on the requested major 
subdivision and project specific equivalent alternatives to the Below Market Rate (BMR) guidelines. 
Certifying the EIR does not require approval of the project. 

 
Background 
Site location 
The project site consists of five parcels zoned R-MU-B (Residential Mixed Use-Bonus) with a total of 
approximately 8.15 acres, which is currently developed with five office/industrial buildings totaling 
approximately 103,000 square feet in size. The existing buildings would be demolished as part of the 
redevelopment of the project site.  
 
For purposes of this staff report, Bayfront Expressway (California State Route 84) is considered to have an 
east-west orientation, and all compass directions referenced will use this orientation. The project site is 
located south of Bayfront Expressway, east of Marsh Road, and north of the Bayshore Freeway (US-101). 
The parcels to the north and south are located in the commercial business park (M-3-X) zoning district and 
are part of the Menlo Gateway project.  The parcels to the west are also in the R-MU-B zoning district and 
are being redeveloped with residential and office uses for the approved Menlo Portal project. The parcels to 
the east and across Chrysler Drive are in the R-MU-B zoning district and Office (O-B) zoning district and 
currently contain office and industrial buildings. A location map is provided in Attachment A.   

Previous proposal 
A mixed-use version of the project which included the development of the project site with 316 rental 
apartment units, 67 for-sale townhomes, and approximately 88,750 square feet of office space was 
reviewed by the Planning Commission on January 25, 2021. On June 30, 2021, the applicant revised the 
application to develop a 100 percent residential project with 316 rental apartment units and 116 for-sale 
townhomes. The City reissued the Notice of Preparation (NOP) and reinitiated the environmental review 
process for the revised project (Attachment B) due to these changes. The Planning Commission held a 
public hearing on September 27, 2021 to solicit comments on the updated NOP and conduct a study 
session on the revised project proposal. During the September 27, 2021 study session, the Commission 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 4 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

provided comments on the project BMR proposal, community amenities proposal, traffic impacts in the area, 
and need for a pedestrian bridge across the inactive Dumbarton Corridor to Kelly Park and the Menlo Park 
Community Campus, which is currently under construction. Excerpt minutes of the September 27, 2021 
meeting along with certified transcript of the comments received on the NOP are available as Attachment C.  

Project overview 
The applicant proposes to demolish existing buildings and site improvements across the entire project site 
and redevelop the site with a four-story multi-family 316-unit rental apartment building and 116 for-sale 
condominium units in three-story townhomes with project attributes listed in Table 1. The proposed project 
would be developed in 23 separate residential buildings along with associated parking, recreational open 
space, and landscaping. The project plans including materials and color board are included in Attachment 
D.  
 
The applicant is proposing to develop the project utilizing the bonus level provisions identified in the Zoning 
Ordinance. The bonus level provisions of the R-MU-B zoning district allow a development to seek an 
increase in floor area ratio (FAR), density (dwelling units per acre), and/or height subject to obtaining a use 
permit and providing one or more community amenities, as further discussed in the “Community amenities” 
section of the report.  
 
Site layout 
The proposed new four-story apartment building would consist of 316 multi-family residential rental units 
located over two levels of structured parking, one level of which is under ground. Stairs and pedestrian 
ramps at the northwest corner of the building would bring pedestrians from the sidewalk to the front doors of 
the lobby on Constitution Drive. A driveway from Constitution Drive would provide access to the garage 
entrance located along the northern side of the building. Residential units are proposed to line the north, 
west, and south sides of the building and would have direct access from Constitution Drive and the publicly 
accessible paseo located along the western property line via residential stoops and entries.  
 
The publicly accessible paseo would connect Constitution Drive and Independence Drive and would run 
along the western property line along the length of the proposed apartment building widening into an 
approximately 100 feet by 105 feet publicly accessible private park before meeting Independence Drive. 
The paseo is proposed to be used for emergency vehicle access (EVA) on the project site as permitted by 
the Zoning Ordinance. The paseo bifurcates the southern portion of the site where the proposed 116 for-
sale townhome units would be located in 22 separate buildings.  
 
Eight three-story townhome buildings would front on Independence Drive and Chrysler Drive, two buildings 
and a portion of the third building would have frontages on the park, and remaining buildings would have 
frontages on interior meandering landscaped areas and pathways. The townhome units fronting 
Independence Drive and Chrysler Drive would be accessed directly from the street by pedestrians, with 
vehicular access provided from interior driveways. The townhomes are proposed to be accessible from 
Independence Drive via two vehicular access points.  One vehicular access is proposed to be located along 
Chrysler Drive. The proposed residential buildings would comply with the minimum and maximum setbacks 
permitted at the street frontages. The majority of the street façade would be located within the maximum 25-
foot setback requirement. 
 
The summary below provides an overview of the proposed project for the Planning Commission, based on 
Table 1 below. More detailed information on the overall project, including open space, architectural design, 
transportation demand management (TDM), below market rate (BMR) housing, and sustainability are 
contained within the study session portion of this staff report. A table summarizing the project previous 
meetings and milestones is included in Attachment E. 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 5 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
Density, floor area ratio (FAR), and gross floor area (GFA) 
Table 1 provides a comparison of the existing development, the proposed new development, and the 
development standards established by the R-MU-B zoning regulations. 
 

Table 1: Project Data 

 Existing development Proposed project 

Zoning 
Ordinance 
bonus level 
standards 

(maximums)* 

Residential dwelling units 0 432 units 815 units 

Residential square footage 0 476,962 sq.ft.  798,782 sq.ft.  

Residential floor area ratio 0 134% 225% 

Office square footage 103,900 sq.ft. 0 88,754 sq.ft. 

Office floor area ratio 29.3% 0 25% 

Total square footage 103,900 sq.ft. 476,962 sq.ft. 887,535 sq.ft. 

Total floor area ratio 29.3%  134% 250% 

Height (maximum) 25 feet 67 feet 95 feet** 

Height (average) 19.7 feet 48.75 feet 62.5 feet** 

*This maximum is based on a density of 100 dwelling units per acre.  
**Maximum height and average height do not include roof-mounted equipment, utilities, or parapets used to screen mechanical 
equipment; maximum height and average height include a 10-foot increase for properties in the flood zone. 
 
For the purposes of this project, all five parcels are considered as one project site. In the R-MU-B zoning 
district, base level development has a maximum FAR of 90 percent at 30 dwelling units per acre and at the 
bonus level the maximum FAR increases on an even gradient to 225 percent at 100 dwelling units per acre 
(approximately 2.25 percent FAR for each unit).  
 
Height 
The proposed apartment building would have a maximum height of 65 feet, where 95 feet is the maximum 
height permitted for any building on a bonus level development site in the R-MU-B zoning district. The 
proposed townhome buildings would have a maximum height of approximately 44 feet. More information 
about the average height and maximum height of the existing and proposed buildings is included in Table 1.  
 
Site access and circulation 
The project site would be accessible from Constitution Drive to the north with a direct access into the multi-
family apartment building garage. There would be a publicly accessible paseo and pedestrian access from 
the north east corner of the site which would be directly accessible from Constitution Drive. The paseo 
would provide north-to-south pedestrian and bicycle access through the site and connect Constitution Drive 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 6 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

and Independence Drive. As mentioned previously, the paseo would double as an EVA and is accessible by 
emergency services as needed. The paseo would have furnishing zones every 100 feet, landscaping, and 
lighting through its length. The paseo is proposed to be designed to widen into a publically accessible park, 
within the middle of the project site, before it connects to Independence Drive. The project proposes two 
vehicular access points on Independence Drive and one access point on Chrysler Drive. As part of the 
proposed project, it is anticipated that a new sidewalk and other street frontage improvements such as 
street trees, planting buffers (including green infrastructure), and complete streets improvements would be 
provided along Independence, Chrysler, and Constitution Drives, as required by the City’s Public Works 
Department. 
 
Vehicular and bicycle parking 
The proposed project would include 336 vehicular spaces in the two level-garage structure of the proposed 
multi-family apartment building. Of the 336 vehicular spaces, six spaces would be available for guest use. 
For the for-sale townhome units, the project proposes to provide 180 garage parking spaces and 36 guest 
parking spaces. The townhomes would feature a minimum of one parking space in each garage. 
Approximately 34 townhomes feature two parking spaces in the garage, but in tandem configuration. The 
following table provides a more detailed overview of the parking for the proposed project: 
 

*The project also includes 34 tandem spaces, which are not included in the total shown above pursuant to the Zoning Ordinance’s 
requirements for single-vehicle spaces. The total number of vehicular parking space are 586 spaces. 
 
The Zoning Ordinance requires parking within multi-family developments to be unbundled from the price of 
the unit (unless parking is physically connected to the unit). Therefore, the proposed project would be 
required to unbundle the parking for the apartment units. In addition, as required by the R-MU-B zoning 
regulations, the project would be required to submit a TDM plan demonstrating that the project would 
reduce associated vehicle trips by least 20 percent below standard generation rates for uses on the site. 
The TDM plan and associated trip reduction could reduce the parking demand for the proposed project. The 
efficacy of the TDM plan was analyzed through the environmental review process and was founds to meet 
the trip reduction targets required by the Zoning Ordinance.  
 
Residential uses in the R-MU-B zoning district require 1.5 long-term bicycle parking spaces per unit plus an 
additional 10 percent short-term spaces for guests. Consistent with the requirements of the Zoning 
Ordinance, the applicant has proposed to provide 474 long-term bicycle parking spaces and 48 short-term 
bicycle parking spaces for the apartment building, and 174 long-term bicycle parking spaces and 18 short-
term bicycle parking spaces to serve the proposed townhomes. The long-term bicycle storage is located on 
the first floor of the apartment building and for the townhomes units is located within the garage. The short 
term bicycle parking spaces are located near the two entrances to the apartment building, near the publicly 
accessible open space and at various other locations in proximity to the townhome buildings.  

Table 2: Parking requirements 

 Proposed Zoning Ordinance standards 

Proposed apartment parking 330 (plus 6 guest spaces) = 336 min. 316 and max. 474 

Proposed townhome parking 180 (plus 36 guest spaces) = 216 min. 116 and max. 174 
Total residential parking 
stalls  510 (plus 42 guest spaces) = 552 min. 432 and max. 648 

Total residential parking ratio 
(spaces/dwelling unit) 1.27 min. 1 and max. 1.5 spaces per unit 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 7 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) review 
A Draft EIR evaluates potential environmental impacts that could result from implementation of the 
proposed project. Under CEQA, a significant environmental effect is a potentially substantial, adverse 
change in any of the physical conditions within the area affected by the project including land, air, water, 
minerals, flora, fauna, ambient noise, and objects of historic or aesthetic significance. Potential 
environmental impacts under CEQA are only related to the physical environment, and do not evaluate 
potential social or economic effects of the proposed project. Each potential impact is determined based on 
criteria of significance, which are thresholds set by the CEQA Guidelines and applicable City policies to 
determine whether an impact is potentially significant. 
 
As stated in the CEQA Guidelines, an EIR is an informational document that is intended to provide the City, 
responsible and trustee agencies, other public agencies, and community members with detailed information 
about the potential environmental effects that could result from implementing the proposed project, examine 
and implement mitigation measures to reduce or avoid potentially significant physical environmental impacts 
if the proposed project is approved, and consider feasible alternatives to the proposed project, including a 
required No Project Alternative. Members of the Planning Commission were previously provided a copy of 
the Draft EIR for the proposed project, which was released on Monday, November 28, 2022. A hyperlink is 
also included in Attachment F.  
 
The December 12, 2022 Planning Commission meeting falls within the Draft EIR comment period, which 
ends on Tuesday, January 17, 2023 and serves as a public hearing to receive comments from interested 
persons and the Planning Commission on the Draft EIR. The CEQA process recognizes that public 
agencies cannot produce a perfect Draft EIR and thus comments are solicited on the substantive analysis 
provided in the Draft EIR. Oral comments received during the public hearing and written comments received 
during the Draft EIR comment period will be considered while preparing the Final EIR for the proposed 
project. Responses to substantive comments on the Draft EIR will be included in the Final EIR. 
 
Prior to development of the Draft EIR, and in accordance with CEQA Guidelines, a Notice of Preparation 
(NOP) for a prior version of the project including office buildings along with residential uses was released for 
a 30-day circulation period starting on January 8, 2021 to February 8, 2021. The City reissued the NOP for 
a revised 100 percent residential project on September 10, 2021. Following the release of the revised NOP, 
the Planning Commission conducted a scoping session on September 27, 2021, to provide an opportunity 
early in the environmental review process for the Planning Commission and interested person to provide 
comments on the scope and content of the EIR.  
 
The Project site is within the General Plan and M-2 Area Zoning Update (Connect Menlo) study area. 
ConnectMenlo, which updated the City’s General Plan Land Use and Circulation Elements and rezoned 
land in the M-2 Area (now referred to as the Bayfront Area), was approved on November 29, 2016. The 
certified ConnectMenlo EIR included an evaluation of 4,500 residential units in the Bayfront Area, consisting 
of 3,000 unrestricted residential units and 1,500 corporate dormitory-style units on the Meta East Campus 
(also known as the Classic Campus). Because the City’s General Plan is a long range planning document, 
the ConnectMenlo Final EIR was prepared as a program EIR, pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15168. 
Section 15168(d) of the CEQA Guidelines provides information for simplifying the preparation of subsequent 
environmental documents by incorporating by reference analyses and discussions. CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15162(d) states that where an EIR has been prepared and certified for a program or plan, the 
environmental review for a later activity consistent with the program or plan should be limited to effects that 
were not analyzed as significant in the prior EIR or susceptible to substantial reduction or avoidance. The 
proposed project, if approved, would result in more than 3,000 unrestricted units in the Bayfront Area, 
therefore, a full EIR is required. Although a full EIR is required, a general plan amendment is not required.  



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 8 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

The general plan identifies 4,500 residential units in total and does not make the distinction between types 
of residential units.  Because the proposed number of units is consistent with the level of residential 
development allowed under the general plan, no amendment is necessary. 
 
The Draft EIR was prepared in accordance with the terms of the settlement agreement between the cities of 
Menlo Park and East Palo Alto, which allows for simplification in accordance with CEQA Guidelines Section 
15168 for all topic areas, except housing and transportation. The analysis provided in the Draft EIR tiers 
from the certified ConnectMenlo EIR as appropriate.  

 
Analysis 
Draft EIR 
While the project-level Draft EIR tiers from the ConnectMenlo program-level EIR, most CEQA topic areas 
were included in the Draft EIR, including the following:  
 

• Aesthetics 
• Air quality 
• Biological resources 
• Cultural resources 
• Energy  
• Geology, soils, seismicity, and 

paleontological resources  
• Greenhouse gas emissions  

 

• Hazards and hazardous materials 
• Hydrology and water quality 
• Land use and planning 
• Noise 
• Population, employment, and housing 
• Public services and recreation 
• Transportation 
• Tribal cultural resources 
• Utilities and service systems  

 
Section 15128 of the CEQA Guidelines states that “an EIR shall contain a statement briefly indicating the 
reasons that various possible significant effects of a project were determined not be significant and were 
therefore not discussed in detail in the EIR.” Implementation of the proposed project would not result in 
significant environmental impacts on agricultural and forestry resources, mineral resources, or wildfire and 
were not further analyzed in the Draft EIR.  
 
Impact analysis 
For each of the analyzed topic areas, the Draft EIR describes the existing conditions (including regulatory 
and environmental settings) and analyzes the potential environmental impacts (noting the thresholds of 
significance and applicable methods of analysis). Impacts are considered for the project both individually 
and cumulatively, meaning the project in combination with other reasonably foreseeable probable future 
projects. The Draft EIR identifies and classifies the potential environmental impacts as: 
 
• No Impact (NI) 
• Less than Significant (LTS) 
• Significant (S) 
• Potentially Significant (PS) 
 
Where a significant or potentially significant impact is identified, mitigation measures are considered to 
reduce, eliminate, or avoid the adverse effects (less than significant with mitigation). If a mitigation measure 
cannot eliminate/avoid an impact, or reduce the impact below the threshold of significance, it is considered 
a significant and unavoidable impact. One of the following determinations is then applied to the impact: 

 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 9 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

• Less than Significant with Mitigation (LTS/M) 
• Significant and Unavoidable (SU) 
 
Table 3 provides a summary of impacts for applicable topic areas that could result from the proposed 
project and the level of significance of the impact after implementation of the mitigation measures.  

 
A complete description of potential impacts and recommended mitigation measures for all topic areas is 
provided in Table 1-1 of the Executive Summary chapter of the Draft EIR (Attachment G). 

Project alternatives 
Although the Draft EIR concluded that implementation of the proposed project would not create any 
significant and unavoidable impacts, CEQA Guidelines require study of a reasonable range of alternatives 
to the proposed project. A “reasonable range” includes alternatives that could feasibly attain most of the 
project’s basic objectives, while avoiding or substantially lessening any of the significant adverse 
environmental effects of the project. An EIR does not need to consider every conceivable alternative to a 
project, but it must consider a reasonable range of potentially feasible alternatives for the purpose of 
fostering informed decision-making and public participation. Section 15126.6(e) of the State CEQA 
Guidelines requires the evaluation of a No Project Alternative. Other alternatives may be considered during 
preparation of the EIR and must comply with the State CEQA Guidelines. Alternatives considered but 
rejected include: 
 
1. Off-site alternative: An alternative location was explored but rejected because it would require general 

plan and Zoning Ordinance amendments to accommodate a similar project and/or land acquisition. 
Additionally, if the proposed project were to be developed at an alternative site, the existing office and 
industrial buildings onsite would remain in place which would not contribute to the realization of 

Table 3: Summary of impacts 

Topic areas Level of significance 
before mitigation 

Mitigation 
required 

Level of significance after 
mitigation 

Aesthetics LTS No n/a 
Air Quality PS Yes LTS/M 
Biological resources PS Yes LTS/M 
Cultural resources PS Yes LTS/M 
Energy LTS No n/a 
Geology and soils LTS No n/a 
Greenhouse gas emissions LTS No n/a 
Hazards and hazardous materials PS Yes LTS/M 
Hydrology and water quality LTS No n/a 
Land use and planning LTS No n/a 
Noise PS Yes LTS/M 
Population and housing LTS No n/a 
Public services LTS No n/a 
Transportation LTS No n/a 
Tribal cultural resources PS Yes LTS/M 
Utilities and service systems LTS No n/a 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 10 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

ConnectMenlo goals for the Bayfront area. 
 
2. All commercial option alternative: Commercial and retail uses are permitted under the R-MU zoning 

district, but would not achieve the basic project objectives related to the proposed project, and would not 
be consistent with the ConnectMenlo goals to increase residential use in the Bayfront area. An all 
commercial option alternative would also not comply with the R-MU zoning district, which requires 
residential units as a component of any development project. Moreover, an all commercial alternative 
would result in greater environmental effects than the proposed project because it would not contribute 
to a better jobs/housing balance and increase in affordable housing.  

 
3. Reduced parking alternative: The intent of this alternative was to achieve maximum VMT reduction 

allowed per the California Air Pollution Control Officers Association (CAPCOA). Under this scenario the 
development proposal would be the same, but the total parking would be reduced by 137 spaces, with 
the resulting project providing 415 spaces. The VMT reduction is estimated using a CAPCOA equation1 
which compares the proposed parking ratio against the ITE parking demand rate. The ITE parking 
generation rate for multi-family (mid-rise) uses is 1.31 spaces per dwelling unit, while the rate for the 
multi-family housing (low-rise) is 1.21 spaces per dwelling unit. The proposed project includes a total of 
552 parking spaces (including guest spaces and tandem spaces), which is 1.28 spaces per dwelling 
unit. The proposed 1.28 spaces per unit ratio is in between the ITE estimated demand for these uses, 
however, the average of the ITE rates is 1.26 spaces per dwelling unit, which is slightly less than the 
proposed project parking ratio. CAPCOA identifies that at maximum a 12 percent VMT reduction can be 
realized by limiting vehicle parking on site. To achieve this, the parking rate would have to be lowered to 
a rate of 0.96 spaces per dwelling unit.  

 
Additionally, the project is required to implement a transportation demand management program (TDM) 
that would reduce per capita VMT for the project site by minimum 20 percent. One of the measures in 
the proposed TDM would require that the apartment building parking is “unbundled”, meaning that 
apartment leases would not automatically include a designated parking space. Thus, a reduction in 
parking would not lead to substantial reductions in VMT compared to the proposed TDM plan.  
 
This alternative was rejected from further consideration because it would not reduce any of the project’s 
significant impacts. Also, considering the City’s zoning ordinance requirement of a minimum one parking 
space per dwelling unit, any additional reduction in parking would require approval of a variance from 
the City’s development standards, which the City does not have the ability to require; hence making this 
alternative infeasible within the regulatory framework under which the project is proposed.  

 
For more detailed summary of the alternatives considered but rejected for analysis in the Draft EIR, please 
review the Draft EIR Chapter 7: Alternatives.  
 
The Draft EIR includes discussion and analysis of the following alternatives:  
 
1. No Project Alternative: Under this alternative, no additional construction would occur at the project site. 

The project site would remain unaltered, and the existing buildings and its associated parking areas 
would be maintained under current conditions. The applicant would not construct any new buildings, 
parking garage, and publicly accessible open space, nor install any new infrastructure.  

 

                                                 
1 The CAPCOA equation is: % VMT Reduction = [(Actual Parking Provision – ITE Parking Generation Rate) / ITE 
Parking Generation Rate] x 0.5. 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 11 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

2. Mixed-Use Alternative: Under this alternative, the proposed project would be developed with 316 rental 
apartment units within one five-story building, 67 three-story townhome units, and approximately 81,500 
square feet of office space and 8,500 square feet of retail space, common open space, and associated 
parking. The proportion of 1-, 2-, 3-, and 4- bedroom units would remain similar to the proposed project. 
The parking requirement would however increase and the size of the publicly accessible park would be 
reduced. 

  
Table 3: Mixed-Use alternative characteristics  

Project component Mixed-Use project alternative Proposed project 

Apartment 289,223 s.f. (316 rental units)  289,223 s.f. 

Townhomes 82,878 s.f. (67 for-sale townhome units) 143,490 s.f. 

Office/Commercial 90,000 s.f. none 

Total square footage 462,101 s.f. 476,962 s.f. 

Residential FAR 105% 134% 

Office/Commercial FAR 25% n/a 

Total floor area ratio 130% 134% 

 
3. Base-Level Development Alternative: This alternative would involve reduced development compared 

to the proposed project and would not include any bonus-level development. This alternative would 
include demolition of existing buildings, landscaping, and hardscape on site and construction of a four-
story apartment building that would provide 179 residential units with at-grade parking accommodating 
206 parking spaces, and 66 three-story residential townhomes with private garages. With less building 
space, this alternative could potentially allow for a larger open space; however, the open space 
requirements would be the same as the proposed project.  

  
Table 4: Base-Level development alternative characteristics 

Project component Base-Level development alternative Proposed project 

Apartment 155,486 s.f. (179 rental units)  289,223 s.f. 

Townhomes 81,641 s.f. (66 for-sale townhome units)  143,490 s.f. 

Office/Commercial none none 

Total square footage 197,127 s.f. 476,962 s.f. 

Residential floor area 
ratio 55.52% 134% 

 
Table 7-3 from the Draft EIR (page 7-24) contains a comparison of the impacts of the proposed project to 
the project alternatives (Attachment H). CEQA requires the EIR to identify what is considered the 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 12 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

environmentally superior alternative, which for the proposed project would be the No Project Alternative. 
However, CEQA Guidelines Section 15126.6(e)(2) states that when the No Project Alternative is identified 
as the environmentally superior alternative, the EIR must also identify an environmentally superior 
alternative from among the other alternatives. 
 
As summarized in Table 7-3, the base level development alternative would result in similar and/or less 
adverse impacts from construction and operation of the proposed project. The base level development 
alternative is considered the environmentally superior alternative because it would reduce construction-
related air quality impacts, would slightly reduce the potential of uncovering cultural and tribal cultural 
resources during construction, would generate less noise during construction and operation, and would 
reduce demands for public services, recreation, and utilities. However, the base level development 
alternative would not fully achieve the project objectives to provide a sufficient density and intensity of 
housing on the site in order to achieve a better job/housing ratio; would provide fewer affordable housing 
units than the proposed project, both in terms of absolute numbers of units as well as percentage of 
affordable units relative to the total development; and would be less effective at helping to reduce overall 
vehicle miles travelled (VMT) because it would provide fewer residential units close to a job center. 
 
Next steps 
As previously mentioned, the comment period on the Draft EIR is currently open through Tuesday, January 
17, 2023. Once the Draft EIR comment period is completed, the environmental consultant will review and 
respond to all substantive comments received in what is referred to as a “Response to Comments” 
document or Final EIR. The Final EIR will be circulated a minimum 10-days prior to the public hearing by 
the Planning Commission to allow for public review of the responses to comments. The EIR must be 
certified by the Planning Commission before final action can be taken on the proposed project entitlements. 
Certification of the Final EIR does not require that the Planning Commission or the City Council to approve 
the requested land use entitlements. 
 
Study session  
Please refer to the earlier Project Overview section of this staff report for a general summary of the 
proposed project. This portion of the report highlights a variety of topics areas for consideration during the 
study session. As the Planning Commission reviews the report, staff recommends that the Commission 
consider the following topics and use them as a guide to ask clarifying questions: 
 
• Site layout, including proposed open space and paseo 
• Architectural design for all unit types and requested waivers  
• Potential intersection improvements through project-specific conditions 
• Below Market Rate (BMR) housing proposal 
• Community amenities proposal  
 
The Planning Commission may also wish to discuss additional topics of interest not mentioned above.  
 
Design standards  
The proposed multi-family residential building is designed in a contemporary architectural style, 
incorporating elements of glass store front for the frontage along Constitution Drive. Lobbies and ancillary 
uses for the tenants would be located on the first floor. To account for potential flooding and sea level rise 
(and comply with the City’s Zoning Ordinance requirements), the main lobbies and residential ancillary 
spaces would be elevated at least 24 inches above the base flood elevation of the site.  
 
The apartment façades would predominantly consist of cement plaster, fiber cement siding, porcelain tile, 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 13 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

and dark colored vinyl windows. The garage on the east side of the multi-family apartment building is 
proposed to be screened with a vegetated green screen. The stucco portions of the façade are proposed to 
be smooth troweled and will be limited to 50 percent of the façade area.  Balconies and patio areas would 
be designed with metal and glass railings. Apartments on the first level would be designed with stoops with 
direct entrances to the apartment units from the paseo or the public street. These units would help to screen 
the first level garage from the public right-of-way. The apartment units would be made up of 88 studios, 185 
one-, and 43 two-bedroom units.  
 
The for-sale townhomes would be located along the southern portion of the site in groups of four to 12 units 
distributed across 22 building that are separated by pedestrian walkways, driveways, meandering 
landscaping, and publicly accessible open space. The townhome units are proposed to be designed as 
three-stories in height, but would have three different architectural styles with similarities like fenestration 
and roof design and application of materials tying them together. The townhome unit facades would be 
designed in a varying combination of cement plaster, fiber cement paneling, brick veneer, metal and asphalt 
shingle roofs, dark vinyl windows, panelized garage doors, and vertical metal railings. Similar to the ground 
floor apartment unit design, the townhome units would be designed with direct entrances from the paseos or 
public streets and parking is positioned not to face the public right-of-ways. The for-sale townhome units 
would consist of 37 two-, 64 three-, and 15 four-bedroom units. The for-sale inclusionary units are designed 
to be located on a separate parcel within the project site with exterior finishes including cement plaster, fiber 
cement panels, vinyl windows, panel garage door, metal railings and asphalt singles roof.  
 
Minimum stepback and building projections 
On public street-facing facades, buildings in the R-MU-B zoning district are required to step back at least 10 
feet for 75 percent of the building on the upper stories above 55 feet in height. The plans submitted by the 
applicant demonstrate that the project complies with this requirement by pulling the façade of the fifth floor 
back by 10 feet for more than 75 percent of the building. Staff believes the project as currently proposed to 
be generally in compliance with this requirement of the Zoning Ordinance.   
 
Major and minor modulations 
The design standards of the R-MU-B district require major and minor modulations on street-and open 
space-facing facades. For major modulations, the design must include a minimum of one recess of 15 feet 
wide by 10 feet deep per every 200 feet of facade length from ground level to 45 feet in height. For minor 
modulations, a minimum recess of five feet wide by five feet deep per 50 feet of facade length is required 
from ground level to the top of the building. The intent of the required modulations is to provide visual 
variety, reduce large building volumes, and provide spaces for entryways. 
 
As currently designed both the apartment and townhome buildings would meet the above stated major and 
minor modulation requirements. For the apartment building, the project proposes to provide major 
modulation of minimum 30 feet by 10 feet for the façade fronting Constitution Drive, minimum 15 feet by 10 
feet fronting the paseo, and minimum 43 feet by minimum 10 feet on the southern façade. Along with major 
modulations the project design would include several minor modulations pursuant to the above 
requirements.  
 
Similarly, the project would provide a minimum 15 feet wide and 10 feet deep major modulation on the 
townhome façade that exceeds 200-feet length fronting Independence Drive and would provide several 
minor modulations along right-of-ways and paseo pursuant to the above requirements. Staff finds that as 
currently designed, the project meets the major and minor modulation requirements of the Zoning 
Ordinance. 
 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 14 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Ground floor exterior 
The applicant has provided preliminary diagrams indicating compliance with the ground floor transparency 
requirement, and building and garage entrance location and frequency requirements. Staff believes the 
project as currently designed would generally meet the ground floor exterior requirements. The ground floor 
façades occupied with parking garages are not required to meet the transparency requirements. However, 
the parking garage screens limit the variation of the building façade. The project proposes to develop a 
living wall and perforated screening of the garage to provide some variation. 
 
Open space 
The proposed project would be required to provide open space equivalent to 25 percent of the project site 
area and would be required to provide 25 percent of the required open space as publicly accessible open 
space. The project provides 38 percent or approximately 3.10 acres of the site as open space of which 56 
percent or approximately 1.72 acres, is designed as publically accessible open space.  
 
Common and private open space 
The project proposes to include an approximately 23,360 square feet landscaped podium courtyard area 
which includes a pool, club, fitness, lounge, seating, games, and barbeque areas as part of the apartment 
building common open space. Additionally, the apartment building would incorporate private balconies and 
terraces totaling approximately 8,486 square feet. The project would therefore include approximately 31,847 
square feet of private and common open space within the multifamily apartment building where 31,600 
square feet is required.  
 
The project proposes to provide approximately 15,518 square feet of common landscaped areas between 
townhomes and approximately 12,710 square feet of private open space in form of balconies, decks, and 
patio areas, totaling approximately 28,228 square feet of common and private open space for the 
townhomes where 11,600 square feet is required. While collectively, the overall common and private open 
space complies with the requirements of the zoning district, the Lot C where the BMR units are proposed to 
be located does not meet the minimum 20 feet by 20 feet common open space requirement. As discussed 
later in the staff report, the applicant is requesting a waiver under the State Density Bonus Law from this 
requirement.  
 
Publicly accessible open space 
As defined in the Zoning Ordinance, paseos are pedestrian and bicycle paths that provide a number of 
public access through one or more parcels to public streets and/or other paseos. The project would include 
a paseo, as required by the general plan and adopted zoning map, which would provide a mid-block 
pedestrian and bicycle connection between Constitution Drive and Independence Drive. The paseo area will 
be a minimum of 20 feet in width, with certain locations increasing in width. The paseo provides a 10-foot 
wide pathway designed in hardscape material, seating including benches and pedestrian level lighting 
provided at a minimum interval of 100 feet, appropriate landscaping along the edge of the paseo to the 
property lines and adjoining buildings, trees with a canopy of 25 feet planted at 40-foot intervals, and 
lighting at 40-foot intervals. The paseo which is part of the publically accessible open space is 
approximately 15,367 square feet. The Planning Commission may wish to consider the proposed paseo 
features and provide feedback on the current design. In addition to the paseo, the applicant is proposing to 
provide a publically accessible private park complete with bike repair station, native plant garden, soft 
surface with play equipment, wooden decks, rain-garden, and seating areas.  
 
Trees and landscaping  
The project is proposing to remove 85 trees in the existing parking and landscape areas, out of which 29 
trees are considered heritage-size trees. The heritage tree replacements would be required to meet the 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 15 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

City’s Heritage Tree Replacement Procedures guidelines in place at the time the SB 330 application was 
filed for the proposed project (January 29, 2020). Those guidelines require a 2:1 replacement ratio for 
multifamily projects. The proposed project is not subject to the City’s heritage tree ordinance that took effect 
on July 1, 2020, which modified the criteria for granting tree removals and created an appraised valuation 
for heritage tree removals and replacements. The applicant will be required to plant a minimum of 58 trees 
as heritage tree replacements to meet the City’s requirement as explained above. The project is currently 
proposing to plant approximately 203 24-inch to 36-inch box trees as part of the development along with 
native draught tolerant shrubs and other landscaping. The proposed trees include bloodgood japanese 
maple, california buckeye, hercules aloe, western redbud, columnar ginkgo, shademaster honeylocust, 
jacaranda tree, chinese flame tree, crape myrtle, catalina ironwood, pink melaleuca, london plane, fern 
podocarpus, coast live oak, little leaf linden, morton/accolade elm, everygreen elm, and Mexican fan palm.  
 
Summary 
With regards to the overall project design/style, open space, and the application of R-MU-B zoning district 
standards, staff believes that the project would generally comply with the design standards required by the 
Zoning Ordinance. Staff will continue to evaluate the proposed project to ensure compliance as more 
detailed plans are prepared and any modifications are made. The Planning Commission may wish to 
provide additional feedback on the proposed building design and site layout before the project advances 
further. 
 
Green and sustainable building regulations  
In the R-MU zoning district, projects are required to meet green and sustainable building regulations. 
Accordingly, the proposed building would: 
• Meet 100 percent of its energy demand through any combination of on-site energy generation, purchase 

of 100 percent renewable electricity, and/or purchase of certified renewable energy credits; 
• Offset use of any nonrenewable energy used on site;  
• Be designed to meet LEED (Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design) Gold BD+C (Building 

Design + Construction); 
• Comply with the electric vehicle (EV) charger requirements adopted by the City Council in November 

2018;  
• Meet water use efficiency requirements; 
• Locate the proposed building 24 inches above the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) 

base flood elevation (BFE) to account for sea level rise; 
• Plan for waste management during the demolition, construction, and occupancy phases of the project 

(including the preparation of the required zero waste plans); and  
• Incorporate bird friendly design in the placement of the building, and use bird friendly exterior glazing 

and lighting controls. 
 
In addition, the project would be required to use electricity as the only source of energy for all appliances 
used for space heating, water heating, cooking, and other activities, consistent with the City’s reach code 
ordinance approved in September 2019. The apartment building roof is designed to receive photovoltaic 
panels in the future. The reach codes went into effect beginning January 1, 2020. Further details regarding 
how the proposed building would meet the green and sustainable building requirements would be provided 
as part of the building plan check submittal. 
 
Emergency Generator  
The applicant has indicated that the proposed project would include a back-up diesel generator for the 
apartment building. Generator testing would be limited to Monday through Friday between 8:00 a.m. and 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 16 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

6:00 p.m. and would comply with the noise ordinance limitations of the Menlo Park Municipal Code. A use 
permit for the storage and use of diesel fuel associated with the emergency generator is currently under 
review by the City as part of the proposed project review.   
 
Level of service or roadway congestion analysis (non-CEQA transportation analysis)  
LOS is no longer a CEQA threshold of significance; however, the City’s Transportation Impact Analysis 
(TIA) Guidelines require that the TIA also analyzes LOS for planning purposes. The LOS analysis 
determines whether the project traffic would cause an intersection LOS to be potentially noncompliant with 
local policy if it degrades the LOS operational level or increases delay under near term and cumulative 
conditions beyond acceptable thresholds. The LOS and delay thresholds vary depending on the street 
classifications as well as whether the intersection is on a state route. Attachment I includes an excerpt from 
the Transportation chapter of the Draft EIR that further explains the LOS thresholds and the identified 
deficiencies and recommended improvement measures to comply with the TIA Guidelines. Where 
deficiencies are identified, the TIA Guidelines require consideration of improvement measures.  
 
Near-term (2025) plus project conditions 
Staff is currently evaluating the recommended improvement measures and will provide a more detailed 
analysis of which measures staff believes are feasible and which are infeasible for the Planning 
Commission’s consideration of the entitlements and certification of the Final EIR. Potentially feasible 
improvement measures were identified for the following intersections:  
 
• #1 Marsh Road/Bayfront Expressway (signal phasing improvements)  
• #9 Chrysler Drive/Constitution Drive (roadway improvements) 
• #10 Chrysler Drive/Jefferson Drive – East Driveway (install traffic signal)  
• #11 Chrysler Drive/Independence Drive (install traffic signal)  
• #14 Willow Road/Bayfront Expressway (roadway improvements)  

 
Cumulative (2040) plus project conditions  
The proposed project would cause one additional intersections to be potentially non-compliant with respect 
to local policies during either the a.m. or p.m. peak hours under cumulative plus project conditions 
compared to near-term plus project conditions. Potentially feasible improvement measures for the additional 
five intersections were identified as follows: 
 
• #1 Marsh Road/Bayfront Expressway (signal phasing improvements) 
• #9 Chrysler Drive/Constitution Drive (roadway improvements) 
• #10 Chrysler Drive/Jefferson Drive - East Driveway (install traffic signal) 
• #11 Chrysler Drive/Independence Drive (install traffic signal) 
• #13 Chilco Street/Constitution Drive (roadway and signal phasing improvements, project’s fair-share 

contribution is approximately 0.54 percent)  
• #14 Willow Road/Bayfront Expressway (roadway improvements) 
 
For intersections operating below the delay thresholds in both near term and cumulative scenarios, 
implementation of the near term improvements would bring the intersection in compliance also in the 
cumulative scenario. Attachment J includes a table outlining the potential improvements for intersections 
exceeding the LOS thresholds for Near Term and Cumulative Plus Project conditions along with staff’s 
preliminary feasibility determination. 
 
Below market rate (BMR) ordinance 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 17 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Projects in the R-MU-B zoning district are required to design and construct the required inclusionary 
affordable housing on-site as part of the project. The City’s BMR Housing Program requires 15 percent of 
the proposed dwelling units be set aside for low-income households or an equivalent alternative. The 
proposed project reduces the commercial square footage on the site by approximately 103,000 square feet 
and based on the existing use of the building as offices, since there is no commercial component proposed, 
the project would not require the payment of a commercial in-lieu fee or provision of commercial linkage 
BMR units.  
 
The BMR Guidelines assess the project’s BMR requirement on the entire project and not by housing 
product type (for-sale or rental), with the exception that the BMR units must be evenly distributed throughout 
the project and the unit sizes/bedroom counts must be based on similar percentages of the unit 
sizes/bedroom counts within the proposed project. The proposed project is required to provide 15 percent of 
the total number of proposed units as BMR units, which for a project of 432 units equates to 65 units. The 
applicant proposes to provide a total of 66 BMR housing units, which allows for a minimum of 15 percent of 
both the rental apartment and for-sale townhomes units to be BMR units by rounding up the partial units in 
each housing type. The project would provide 15 percent of housing units in both product types as 
inclusionary units affordable to low-income households. This breakdown would mean that out of 66 total 
inclusionary units, 48 units would be rental apartment units and the remaining 18 units would be for-sale 
townhomes.  
 
Additionally, as further discussed below, the project is proposing to provide eight additional inclusionary 
units to fulfill their community amenities obligation. These additional BMR units are proposed to be rental 
units; therefore, the project proposes a total of 56 BMR rental units. The project proposes to provide these 
additional inclusionary units affordable to low-income households.  
 
Table 5 provides the total breakdown of unit type and size of the inclusionary units for both apartment and 
townhome components of the project. 
 

Table 5: Inclusionary unit breakdown for both unit types 

Ownership Type Unit Type Average Size Total number of BMR 
units 

Rental* Studio 542 sq. ft. 16 

Rental* One Bedroom 720 sq. ft. 33 

Rental Two Bedroom 1,006 sq. ft. 7 

For-sale Two Bedroom 958 sq. ft.  3 

For-sale** Four Bedroom 1,165 sq.ft.  15 

Total BMR Units   74 
* Includes additional inclusionary units to fulfill the community amenities requirements of the project  
**Includes three four-bedroom units that are mobility compliant. 
 
The project proposes to evenly distribute the rental units throughout the project and design them to be 
indistinguishable from the market-rate rental units. However, the for-sale inclusionary units are clustered on 
one parcel within the project and the applicant is requesting concessions and waivers pursuant to the State 
Density Bonus Law that would allow the developer to collaborate with Humanity Greater San Francisco 
(HGSF) to provide the for-sale inclusionary units as discussed further below in the report. The applicant’s 
draft BMR proposal along with the request for concessions and waivers and project specific alternatives to 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 18 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

the City’s Guidelines is included in Attachment K.  
 
Requested concessions and waivers 
Because the project is proposing to provide 74 low-income inclusionary units which equals 17 percent of the 
project, the project qualifies for two concessions and unlimited waivers pursuant to State Density Bonus 
Law. Under the State Density Bonus Law, concessions are defined as a reduction in site development 
standards or modification of zoning code requirements that result in actual, identifiable cost reductions, and 
waivers are modifications to development standard that would physically preclude the construction of the 
project with its permitted density and concessions. The project requests the following concessions and 
waivers: 
 
Concession #1: Clustered affordable for-sale townhome units. The City’s BMR Guidelines currently require 
that the affordable units be distributed throughout the development. The applicant is requesting a 
concession from this requirement as applied to the townhome portion of the project, citing that enforcement 
of this requirement would preclude them from partnering with Habitat for Humanity Greater San Francisco 
Bay Area (Habitat for Humanity) to provide affordable ownership units on-site. Allowing the concession 
would permit the affordable housing developer to construct 100 percent affordable units (18 townhomes) on 
a separate parcel and leverage certain financing that would otherwise be unavailable if the units were on 
the same parcel as the market rate units. Therefore, the applicant requests the above concession from the 
BMR Guidelines to allow the development of for-sale units to be developed on one parcel (Lot C) rather 
than being distributed throughout the market-rate townhome development. This concession would only 
apply to the for-sale townhome units and not to the affordable rental units which are proposed to be evenly 
distributed throughout the project.  
 
Concession #2: Different construction schedule. The City’s Zoning Ordinance requires that the affordable 
units be constructed concurrently with the market rate units. The applicant is requesting a concession from 
this requirement to allow for the affordable units to be developed on a delayed schedule.  Habitat for 
Humanity relies on (i) a volunteer labor and “sweat equity” model whereby the future owners of homes 
provide some labor and (ii) donated goods and materials. Both volunteer labor and donated materials result 
in cost savings for the project to provide affordable housing, but they lead to a less predictable timeline than 
traditional construction methods and procurement practices.  Therefore, the developer has requested to 
decouple the delivery of the for-sale BMR units from the market rate units.  
 
Waiver #1: Equal design. The applicant is requesting a waiver from City’s Municipal Code Section 
16.97.100 and BMR Guidelines Section 5.2 which require the affordable units be constructed so that the 
inclusionary units are of equal design and quality as the market rate units. This standard includes, but is not 
limited to, exteriors, such as architectural elevations; floor plans; interior finishes; and amenities. The 
applicant is requesting a waiver from this requirement citing that the affordable townhomes would be 
different from the market-rate units in the following aspects: 
 
• Smaller average unit size, resulting in different interior layout, with fewer bathrooms and smaller living 

rooms, but an increase in bedrooms from the market-rate units of similar size;  
• Less parking; 
• Smaller windows; 
• Different exterior finishes and massing; 
• Fewer balconies; and 
• Different interior finishes, lighting, and appliances.  
 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 19 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

The applicant notes that these modifications would allow the project to be constructed at the allowable 
densities without loss of affordable units. The applicant also notes that the variations in design and finishes 
are requested for purposes of simplification of the design for ease of construction by volunteer labor and 
that the finishes would vary based on the types of donations received by the affordable housing developer 
at the time of construction. The applicant is proposing to partner with Habitat for Humanity to develop and 
sell the below market rate townhome units, therefore, the requested concessions and waivers are required 
to support this unique Habitat for Humanity development model.  
 
Waiver #2: Common open space  
The applicant requests a waiver from the City’s Municipal Code Section 16.45.120(4)(c)(iii) which requires 
that parcels with 10 to 15 units shall provide a minimum common open space of 400 square feet with the 
minimum dimensions of 20 feet by 20 feet. The proposal includes a common open space of 400 square feet 
for the parcel (Lot C), however, the size of the common open space does not meet the required 20 feet by 
20 feet dimension. The applicant notes that they are unable to fully meet the requirement because the 
project cannot fit the required affordable housing units as designed at the density allowed and provide the 
required size of open space without losing affordable units.  
 
Alternatives to the BMR Guidelines  
Section 13 of the City’s BMR Guidelines allows applicants to request that the City Council approve 
modifications to the BMR Guidelines as long as findings can be made that the alternative proposal is 
commensurate with the applicable requirements outlined in the City’s BMR Guidelines. Accordingly, the 
applicant and Habitat for Humanity requests the following modifications to the City’s BMR Guidelines:  
 
• Section 5.5: requires that affordable units have a right of first refusal in favor of the City. Habitat for 

Humanity requests first refusal, with the City in second position to allow Habitat for Humanity to resell 
properties to second generation affordable homeowners and maintain a 99-year deed restriction on all 
homes sold. Allowing this change would allow the affordable units to continue to be part of the City’s 
affordable housing stock.  
 

• Section 7.1: requires all members of the applicant household to be first time homebuyers. Habitat for 
Humanity requests that the City allow only those on the title to be required to be first time homebuyers, 
allowing multigenerational households to become eligible.  
 

• Section 7.1.1: makes an exception to the first-time homebuyer preference for households that already 
own BMR units: Habitat for Humanity requests that the City waive this exception to provide ownership 
opportunity to buyers who do not already own homes. 
 

• Section 7.2: requires only households that have completed the education requirements to be invited to 
apply when units are become available and outlines detailed requirements about the education provider 
and content of such programs. Habitat for Humanity program requires homeownership education during 
the “sweat equity” phase of its homebuyer process, which follows the application period and the initial 
selection of homebuyers’ candidates and this happens as part of the 500-hour sweat equity requirement 
that occurs during unit construction. This programmatic need requires Habitat for Humanity to identify 
households for its units before the units are available. Habitat for Humanity proposes to work with the 
City to establishing a requirement that interested applicants attend a 90-minute information session prior 
to applying, where information on homeownership and program requirements are thoroughly reviewed.  
 

• Section 7.4: provides a list of assets and how they count towards income limits for the purchasers of 
affordable units. Habitat for Humanity requests to qualify only those households that have non-



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 20 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

retirement assets that do not exceed the purchase price of the BMR unit. Habitat for Humanity’s model 
asset tests require liquid assets over $60,000 to be assessed at 10% of their value and added to annual 
income. Habitat for Humanity submits that modification of the guideline as proposed would allow access 
to the BMR units only to those households that truly need them, by allowing households with lower 
incomes to count a small percent of other assets to show that they qualify for an affordable unit.  
 

• Section 10.2: outlines refinancing options. Habitat for Humanity’s model does not allow homeowners to 
refinance homes or assume second loans. To ensure affordability, Habitat for Humanity offers 
mortgages to first-time homebuyers with 0% down payment and 0% interest loans and caps 
homeowner’s total housing payment at 30% of their gross household income at the time of sale. Habitat 
for Humanity’s model allows sharing of the property value between the homeowner, who receives their 
principle plus CPI adjustment at the time of resale, and Habitat for Humanity who uses any realized 
capital appreciation towards construction of new affordable projects.  
 

• Section 11: outlines detailed process for resale of affordable units, including how the sale price will be 
set and that the City will retain the realtor for the sale.  Habitat for Humanity requests that the City allow 
use of its standard process for calculating the resale price which is based on the original price plus 
appreciation at the lower of CPI or 3%. Habitat for Humanity also requires that the new buyers perform 
sweat equity of 250 hours. Habitat for Humanity’s model requires repetition of all the steps performed 
during the initial sale including marketing, outreach, performing a lottery, and determining eligibility. 
 

• Lastly, Habitat for Humanity would like the City to select Habitat for Humanity Greater San Francisco to 
be the City’s designee or program provider to undertake orientation and other educational meetings, 
marketing, applicant selection, and title requirements.  

 
Staff is currently reviewing the applicant’s BMR proposal, project specific alternatives to the BMR 
Guidelines and requested concessions and waivers.  
 
Community amenities 
Bonus level development is allowed in exchange for the provision of community amenities. Community 
amenities are intended to address identified community needs that result from the effect of the increased 
development intensity on the surrounding community. As part of the ConnectMenlo process, a list of 
community amenities was generated based on robust public input and adopted by resolution of the City 
Council. The Zoning Ordinance identifies several mechanisms for providing amenities, including selecting 
an amenity from the Council-approved list as part of the proposed project, providing an amenity not on the 
approved list through a development agreement, or through the payment of an in-lieu fee. The value of the 
amenity to be provided must equal a minimum of 50 percent of the fair market value of the additional GFA 
of the bonus level development.  
 
The method for determining the required value of the community amenities begins with an appraisal. The 
applicant provides, at their expense, an appraisal performed by a licensed appraisal firm consistent with the 
City’s appraisal instructions. The Zoning Ordinance requires the form and content of the appraisal to be 
approved by the Community Development Director. To provide the Community Development Director with 
sufficient information to determine if the form and content is adequate, the City commissions a peer review 
or peer appraisal at the applicant’s cost. Once the Community Development Director approves the appraisal 
based on the peer review or peer appraisal identifying the required community amenity value, the applicant 
will then provide the City with a proposal identifying the proposed community amenity and providing an 
explanation of the amenity value. The applicant submitted an appraisal for the City’s review (Attachment L). 
The appraisal provided by the applicant has been peer reviewed by the City’s appraiser and the value 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 21 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

determined to be $3,350,000. The applicant submitted an updated community amenities proposal on 
December 6, 2022 (Attachment M) which proposes eight inclusionary rental apartment units affordable to 
low-income households at a value of $4,200,299 which is $850,299 above the projected community 
amenities value per the applicant’s appraisal. (These eight units are included in the total 74 BMR units 
discussed previously in the report.) The applicant estimated the value of the affordable units pursuant to the 
methodology used to determine the value of the affordable units for the approved 111 Independence Drive 
project. The City will engage its consultant (BAE Urban Economics) to review the community amenities 
proposal to determine the value of the affordable units given the potential changes in costs/values since 
2021. Depending on that analysis the applicant may be required to revise its community amenities proposal. 
 
Major subdivision 
The applicant is requesting a major subdivision for the townhome component of the project which would 
allow the 116 condominium units to be purchased and sold independently. The site currently consists of five 
parcels bounded by Chrysler, Independence, and Constitution Drives. As part of the project, the applicant is 
proposing a lot line adjustment that would maintain the five parcels on the site, with the property lines 
shifted to accommodate the proposed development. One parcel (Lot 1) would consist of the public paseo 
running north to south across the project site. Three other parcels (Lots B, C, and D) would be three-story 
townhome communities that would be subdivided via condominium mapping. The last parcel (Lot A) would 
be the five-story apartment building. The City Council would review and take final action on the proposed 
subdivision following a recommendation by the Planning Commission. 
 
Title 15 of the City’s Municipal Code, the Subdivision Ordinance, lists certain required data and statements 
that must be made as part of a subdivision map to be reviewed by the Planning Commission and City 
Council. The required data includes defined boundaries of the subdivision; the width, approximate location, 
and purpose of existing and proposed easements; widths, proposed names, and grade of all streets and 
other rights-of-way within the subdivision proposed for dedication or not; locations of buildings and 
structures within the subdivision; locations of trees over six inches in diameter; and other similar 
requirements.   
 
Fiscal Impact Analysis 
In order to inform the decision makers and the community about the fiscal impacts that the proposed project 
would generate, staff also engaged BAE to prepare a FIA outlining the effects of the proposed project on 
local expenditures and revenues the proposed project would generate. The FIA is included in Attachment N. 
 
The FIA determined the anticipated net increase in revenue and expenditures and resulting net fiscal impact 
of the proposed for the following: 
1. City of Menlo Park General Fund, 
2. Menlo Park Fire Protection District, 
3. School districts that serve the project area, and  
4. Other special districts that serve the project site. 
 
The FIA estimates that the proposed project would result in a net negative fiscal impact on the City of Menlo 
Park annual General Fund operating budget, totaling $570,500, equal to approximately 0.7 percent of the 
City’s 2022-2023 General Fund operating budget. The proposed project would also generate a net negative 
fiscal impact to the Menlo Park Fire Protection District, equal to approximately 0.4 percent of the District’s 
2022-23 General Fund operating budget. For the Sequoia Union High School, the proposed project would 
generate a net negative fiscal impact of 0.7 percent of the District’s 2022-23 Unrestricted General Fund 
budget and that for the Redwood City School District, the proposed project would have a net negative fiscal 
impact of 0.2 percent of Redwood City School District’s 2022-23 unrestricted General Fund budget.  



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 22 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
 

 
The fiscal impacts shown in the above table reflect the impacts of the proposed project itself, irrespective of 
other changes in the City’s population, workforce, property tax base, and other factors that could impact the 
City’s budget. The proposed project would not occur in isolation, and therefore other projects that have a 
net positive impact on the City, as well as other factors that affect the City budget, could potentially 
counterbalance the negative fiscal impacts of this proposed project. No action on the FIA is required by the 
Planning Commission, but should be considered by the Planning Commission when evaluating the 
proposed project. 
 
Correspondence 
As of the writing of this report, staff has received two comments; one from the Menlo Park Fire Protection 
District noting that no additional facilities are needed at this time, however, the increase in growth in the 
area would require additional firefighters and potentially upgrades to Station 77 which serves the area, and 
another from the Housing Action Coalition expressing support for the proposed project. Both comments are 
included herein as Attachment O. 
 
The applicant conducted two recent community meetings on November 1, 2022 and November 3, 2022. 
Staff did not attend the outreach meetings, but have been informed by the applicant that a total of 24 
community members attended the meetings and that comments included: interest in the affordable housing 
and information on qualifying for a unit, concerns with the size of the development, concerns with clustering 
of the affordable units, and questions regarding overall timing of the project.  
 
Next steps 
As mentioned previously, at the end of the comment period on Tuesday, January 17, 2023, staff will prepare 
a “response to comments” document also known as the Final EIR which would provide responses to all 
substantive comments received on the Draft EIR. The Final EIR would be circulated minimum 10-days prior 
to the Planning Commission meeting during which the Commission will be required to certify the Final EIR 
and provide a decision on the requested project entitlements. Prior to circulating the Final EIR, staff will be 
presenting the project to the Housing Commission to solicit their input on the proposed BMR proposal 
including, but not limited to, the requested concession and waivers. Staff anticipates releasing the Final EIR 
and scheduling public hearings in Spring 2023.  
 

 
Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building and Public Works permit fees, based on the City’s 
Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the proposed project. The 

Table 6: Selected net fiscal impact findings for the proposed project 

Annual Impact for 
Proposed Project 

City of Menlo Park 
General Fund 

Menlo Park Fire 
Protection District 

Sequoia Union 
High School 

District 
Redwood City 

Elementary District 

New Revenues $501,686 $408,321 $472,055 $689,036 

New Expenditure ($1,072,139) ($657,401) ($1,413,433) ($865,696) 

Net Fiscal Impact ($570,453) ($249,080) ($941,378) ($176,659) 



Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 23 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

project sponsor is also required to fully cover the cost of work by consultants performing environmental 
review and additional analyses to evaluate potential impacts of the project. 

 
Environmental Review 
A Draft EIR has been prepared for the proposed project. Following the close of the comment period, staff 
and its consultant will compile the response to comments document, and will consider and respond to 
substantive comments received on the Draft EIR. Repeat comments may be addressed in Master 
Responses, and portions of the EIR may be revised in strikethrough (deleted text) and underline (new text) 
format. Once the responses and revisions are complete, the Final EIR will be released, consisting of the 
Response to Comments document plus the Draft EIR. The Final EIR will be considered for certification in 
compliance with CEQA by the Planning Commission prior to the final project actions. 

 
Public Notice 
Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 
and notification by mail of owners and occupants within a ¼-mile radius of the subject property. 

 
Attachments 
A. Location Map 
B. Hyperlink: Notice of Preparation: https://beta.menlopark.org/files/sharedassets/public/community-

development/documents/september-10-2021-notice-of-preparation.pdf 
C. Minutes of the September 27, 2021 Planning Commission meeting (excerpt) 
D. Hyperlink: Project Plans including materials and colors board: 

https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-
review/123-independence-drive/202210-123-independence-drive-project-plans.pdf  

E. Previous project milestone and meetings  
F. Hyperlink: Draft EIR: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/services/community-

development/documents/projects/under-review/123-independence-drive/deir/deir_full-document.pdf  
G. Summary of Draft EIR impacts – Table 1-1 from Draft EIR 
H. Comparison of alternative from Draft EIR (excerpt)  
I. Non-CEQA LOS section from Draft EIR (excerpt) 
J. Potential improvements for intersections exceeding the LOS thresholds for Near-Term and Cumulative 

Plus Project conditions table 
K. Hyperlink: Draft Below Market Rate (BMR) housing proposal and alternative to BMR Guidelines: 

https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-
review/123-independence-drive/123-independence-project-below-market-rate-housing-and-equivalent-
alternative.pdf  

L. Appraisal for bonus level development 
M. Hyperlink: Preliminary community amenities appraisal and proposal: 

https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-
review/123-independence-drive/123-independence-project-community-amenities-proposal.pdf  

N. Fiscal Impact Analysis  
O. Correspondence  
 
Report prepared by: 

https://beta.menlopark.org/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/september-10-2021-notice-of-preparation.pdf
https://beta.menlopark.org/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/september-10-2021-notice-of-preparation.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/123-independence-drive/202210-123-independence-drive-project-plans.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/123-independence-drive/202210-123-independence-drive-project-plans.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/services/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/123-independence-drive/deir/deir_full-document.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/services/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/123-independence-drive/deir/deir_full-document.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/123-independence-drive/123-independence-project-below-market-rate-housing-and-equivalent-alternative.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/123-independence-drive/123-independence-project-below-market-rate-housing-and-equivalent-alternative.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/123-independence-drive/123-independence-project-below-market-rate-housing-and-equivalent-alternative.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/123-independence-drive/123-independence-project-community-amenities-proposal.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/123-independence-drive/123-independence-project-community-amenities-proposal.pdf


Staff Report #: 22-072-PC 
Page 24 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Payal Bhagat, Contract Planner  
 
Report reviewed by: 
Kyle Perata, Planning Manager 
Eric Phillips, Special Counsel  
Corinna Sandmeier, Acting Principal Planner 



120
135

130

1205

149

144

101

162

141

119

127

111

104

115

123

120

3760

150

110

138

1150

165

1215

4000

12
21

3735

160

CH
RY

SL
ER

 DR

US HIGHWAY 101  

CONSTITUTION DR

INDEPENDENCE DR

STATE HIGHWAY 84 

MA
RS

H R
D

SCOTT DR

JEFFERSON DR

HAVEN AVE

US HIGHWAY 101  

´
CITY OF MENLO PARK

LOCATION MAP
123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE PROJECT DRAWN:
DRAWN: TAS CHECKED: KTP DATE: 1/25/21 SCALE: 1" = 300' SHEET: 1

105-155

200

100-150

ATTACHMENT A

A1



City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Planning Commission

REGULAR MEETING EXCERPT MINUTES 

Date: 09/27/2021 
Time: 7:00 p.m. 
Meeting Location: Zoom.us/join – ID# 831 6644 9012 

A. Call To Order

Chair Michael Doran called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.

Associate Planner Matt Pruter provided an overview of process for applicant and public comment on
zoom.

B. Roll Call

Present: Chris DeCardy (Vice Chair), Michael Doran (Chair), Cynthia Harris, Camille Gonzalez
Kennedy, Henry Riggs, Michele Tate

Absent: Andrew Barnes

Staff: Payal Bhagat, Contract Principal Planner; Ori Paz, Associate Planner; Matt Pruter, Associate
Planner; Corinna Sandmeier, Senior Planner; Chris Turner, Assistant Planner

C. Reports and Announcements

Senior Planner Corinna Sandmeier said the September 28 City Council meeting was cancelled. She
said the City Council was seeking residents to apply to serve on the Independent Redistricting
Commission.

Replying to Chair Doran about recent state law that would impact zoning, Planner Sandmeier said
that staff and the City Attorney were working on that and would provide updates to the Commission
as it progressed.

D. Public Comment

None

E. Consent Calendar

None

F. Public Hearing

F3 and G1 are associated items with a single staff report 

F3. Environmental Impact Report (EIR) Scoping Session/The Sobrato Organization/119-127 
Independence Drive, 1205 Chrysler Drive, and 130 Constitution Drive: 

ATTACHMENT C

C1

https://zoom.us/join


Planning Commission Draft Minutes 
September 27, 2021 
Page 2 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

Request for environmental review for a use permit, architectural control, vesting tentative map, 
below market rate housing agreement, and heritage tree removal permits for a proposed multi-family 
residential development in the R-MU-B (Residential Mixed Use Bonus) zoning district. The proposed 
project would consist of a major subdivision for construction of 116 for-sale town homes and a 316-
unit rental apartment building, for a total of 432 dwelling units. The townhomes are proposed to be 
three stories tall with garage parking and the apartment building is proposed to be five stories tall 
with two levels below and at grade podium parking. The project site currently consists of five existing 
office and industrial buildings totaling 103,900 square feet that would be demolished. The proposed 
buildings would contain approximately 476,961 square feet of gross floor area of residential uses 
with a floor area ratio of 134 percent. The proposed project would utilize bonus level gross floor area 
(GFA), density, and height in exchange for community amenities. The proposed project would 
include a below market rate housing agreement that requires a minimum of 15 percent (or 66 units) 
be affordable and will be required to comply with the city’s BMR program. The proposed project 
includes lot line adjustments and removal of 28 heritage trees. The proposal also includes a use 
permit request for the storage and use of hazardous materials (diesel fuel) for an emergency backup 
generator to be incorporated into  the proposed project. A Notice of Preparation (NOP) for the 
proposed project was released on Friday, September 10, 2021. The NOP provides a description of 
the proposed project, the location of the proposed project and its probable environmental effects. 
The EIR will address potential physical environmental effects of the proposed project, as outlined in 
the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). An initial study was not completed as it is 
anticipated this will be a full EIR and no topic areas will be scoped out with the exception of 
agricultural and forestry resources, mineral resources, and wildfire that are topic areas that are not 
anticipated to require further analysis. The City is requesting comments on the scope and content of 
this EIR. The project location does not contain a toxic site pursuant to Section 6596.2 of the 
Government Code. Comments on the scope and content of the focused EIR are due by 5:00 p.m., 
Monday, October 11, 2021. (Staff Report #21-046-PC) 
 
Staff summary: The Planning Commission reviewed presentations from staff, the applicant, and the 
City’s environmental review consultant, took public comment, asked questions, and provided 
feedback.  
 
A transcript of this item will be available along with the meeting minutes. The NOP comments will be 
considered by staff and the consultant and will be addressed in the Draft EIR.  
 

G. Study Session 
 
G1. Study Session/The Sobrato Organization/119-127 Independence Drive, 1205 Chrysler Drive, and 

130 Constitution Drive: 
Study session on a request for a use permit, architectural control, vesting tentative map, below 
market rate housing agreement, heritage tree removal permits, and environmental review for a 
proposed multi-family residential development in the R-MU-B (Residential Mixed Use Bonus) zoning 
district. The proposed project would consist of a major subdivision for construction of 116 for-sale 
town homes and a 316-unit rental apartment building, for a total of 432 dwelling units. The 
townhomes are proposed to be three stories tall with garage parking and the apartment building is 
proposed to be five stories tall with two levels below and at grade podium parking. The project site 
currently consists of five existing office and industrial buildings totaling 103,900 square feet that 
would be demolished. The proposed buildings would contain approximately 476,961 square feet of 
gross floor area of residential uses with a floor area ratio of 134 percent. The proposed project would 
utilize bonus level gross floor area (GFA), density, and height in exchange for community amenities. 
The proposed project would include a below market rate housing agreement that requires a 

C2

https://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/29750


Planning Commission Draft Minutes 
September 27, 2021 
Page 3 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

minimum of 15 percent (or 66 units) be affordable and will be required to comply with the city’s BMR 
program. The proposed project includes lot line adjustments and removal of 28 heritage trees. The 
proposal also includes a use permit request for the storage and use of hazardous materials (diesel 
fuel) for an emergency backup generator to be incorporated into the proposed project. (Staff Report 
#21-046-PC)  
 
Staff Comment: Planner Bhagat asked that the Commission in its discussion consider site and 
building design, public open space, community amenity and the BMR housing proposals.  
 
Chair Doran opened the public comment period. 
 
Public Comment: 
 
 Pamela Jones, Menlo Park, said she sent in a public comment for the EIR but thought it was 

appropriate here as well. She said BMR units should be substantially increased and that 
residents in Belle Haven and other parts of the City who were losing their homes should have 
first rights to those units.  

 
Chair Doran closed the public comment period.  
 
Commission Comment: Chair Doran asked about the financing of the for-sale BMR units and those 
being clustered together to secure financing. Mr. Tsai said for any developer, market rate or other, 
for-sale units were clustered together and sold as individual units. He said if a developer was 
financing a 100% affordable project, then public funds such as state, county or city even federal 
funds could be sought and enabled even deeper levels of affordability. He said that could not be 
achieved for mixed affordability projects.   
 
Chair Doran said the site layout and plan was very appropriate. He said he was glad to see the plan 
revisions and the office space eliminated in favor of more housing. He said overall the architecture 
was pleasing and appropriate in the context of the neighborhood. He said the community amenity 
was up in the air and he would wait to see what was proposed. He said regarding BMR units he 
thought those should be distributed throughout the project. He said he understood the 
considerations regarding the financing and keeping the costs of those units as low as possible was 
an understandable and desirable objective. He said he supported the application as presented. 
 
Commissioner Harris said overall the architecture and massing were attractive. She said she liked 
the trails through the site and how it connected with the apartment building. She said she liked the 
oak tree forest area and the meandering paseo through the townhomes. She said she was excited 
that the townhomes were included in the BMR proposal and also were two and four bedrooms for 
families to be able to own. She said regarding community amenities that the City was looking at the 
list. She said she supported additional BMR units, especially for sale townhomes. She said the idea 
of a bicycle and pedestrian path and a bridge from this area to the community center arose with  
each large project in this area the Commission saw. She said previously Chair Doran had suggested 
the Sobrato Organization and its philanthropic group might be interested in contributing toward that.  
She said she would be interested in what occurred there. She said the BMR units although in the 
middle were separate and she was not comfortable with that. She said it appeared the housing units 
for the BMR townhomes were not equal to the market rate ones. She said for example the four-
bedroom BMR townhomes were 1200 or 1300 square feet each while the market rate three 
bedrooms were 1650 to 1830 square feet and with more bathrooms and more parking. She said the 
BMR policy said that the units should be equally distributed throughout the project and the unit sizes 

C3

https://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/29750
https://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/29750


Planning Commission Draft Minutes 
September 27, 2021 
Page 4 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

and bedroom counts should be similar percentages. She said she was concerned with the separate 
and unequal housing for the BMR units.  
 
Commissioner Riggs said there was typically a significant BMR waiting list. He asked if displaced 
Belle Haven residents could get priority for these units. Planner Sandmeier said at least for the 
required 15% BMR units it would not be possible to prioritize Belle Haven residents. She said those  
would be for anyone who lived or worked in Menlo Park. She said they could get further clarification 
about that if it helped. Commissioner Riggs said he thought that would be responsive and he was 
partially optimistic that could be possible. He said he would echo Chair Doran’s comments related to 
the quality of the site plan, changing the scope from mixed use to residential, and that the 
architecture was interesting and skillfully done. He said regarding the site plan that everything from 
the quality massing of the buildings to the attractive paseos and plaza including the street frontage 
landscaping looked nice. He said the walkways looked well laid out. He said the clustering of the 
BMRs was appreciated as that would allow the developer to seek even more funding for BMR units. 
He said the centralized location avoided the marginalizing of the units and occupants. He said the 
architecture reflected an equal interest in the quality of the facades. He said he was very supportive 
of the project. 
 
Commissioner DeCardy said he liked where the project had changed with the housing and asked 
how they got there. Mr. Tsai said within ConnectMenlo there was a very distinct formula to follow in 
terms of number of units, square footage and overall density. He said they looked at how many units 
and what sizes could be done that worked out economically. He said this proposal fit their sliding 
scale number. He said if they had more units, and the square footage changed that the project 
would no longer be marketable. Chuck Tang said with a sliding scale and the zoning when they went 
to a wholly residential plan that they wanted to have a diversity of housing types for sale and rental. 
 
Commissioner DeCardy said the site and building design and the proposed use of open space were 
among the best the Planning Commission had seen. He said regarding community amenity that the 
best thing was to keep engaging with the community through the course of the project with the focus 
on Belle Haven residents, particularly those residents getting priced or squeezed out for various 
reasons to understand the best possible way the community amenity could help address some of 
those needs. He said regarding the BMR proposal that he valued hearing from the Housing 
Commission about the mix and types of units across the scale and when appropriate he would like 
to hear from them. He said he would echo Commissioner Harris’ comments. He said he understood 
about the financing. He asked that they clarify the tradeoff between clustering the BMRs and 
locating them through the development related to funding.   
 
Commissioner Tate said she did not support the separation of the BMR units from the other units. 
She said the project looked good.  
 
Staff summary of Commission comment: Planning Commission asked questions of the applicant and 
staff and made comments to inform future review of the project. Key direction included:  
 
1. Engage in broad outreach to the community;  
2. Consider providing additional for-sale BMR units as part of the community amenities proposal;  
3. Consider providing a bridge to the community center as part of the community amenities 

proposal and as a way to mitigate traffic;  
4. Clarify why clustering of the for-sale BMR units is necessary; and  
5. Consider making the square footage for for-sale BMR units more similar to the market rate units.  
 

C4



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 1

CITY OF MENLO PARK

PLANNING COMMISSION

In re )
119-127 INDEPENDENCE,   )
DRIVE, 1205 CHRYSLER    )
DRIVE, 130 CONSTITUTION )
DRIVE, )
________________________)

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT

SCOPING SESSION

REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 27, 2021

MENLO PARK CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS

Reported by:  MARK I. BRICKMAN, CSR, RPR, CRG
License No. 5527

C5



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 2

1                          ATTENDEES

2 THE PLANNING COMMISSION:

3 Michael C. Doran - Chairperson
Chris DeCardy - Vice Chairperson

4 Henry Riggs
Cynthia Harris

5 Camille Kennedy
Michele Tate

6

7 THE CITY STAFF:

8 Payal Bhagat - Principal Planner
Matt Pruter - Associate Planner

9
SUPPORT CONSULTANT:

10
Kaitlin Roberts, Dudek

11
PROJECT PRESENTERS:

12
Peter Tasi

13 Chek Tang
Nick Samuelson

14

15                          ---o0o---

16

17               BE IT REMEMBERED that, pursuant to Notice

18 of the Meeting, and on September 27, 2021, 7:35 PM at the

19 Menlo Park City Council Chambers, 701 Laurel Street,

20 Menlo Park, California, before me, MARK I. BRICKMAN, CSR

21 No. 5527, State of California, there commenced a Planning

22 Commission meeting under the provisions of the City of

23 Menlo Park.

24                          ---o0o---

25

C6



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 3

1 MEETING AGENDA

2 Page

3 Presentation by Ms. Bhagat 6

4 Public Comments - None

5 Commission Questions - None

6 Presentation by Applicant 9

7 Consultant Presentation 23

8 Commission Comments 30

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C7



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 4

1 SEPTEMBER 27, 2021 7:35 PM

2 P R O C E E D I N G S

3 ---o0o---

4 CHAIR DORAN:   Let's go to the Scoping Session,

5 item F3.

6 This is the Environmental Impact Report (EIR)

7 Scoping Session for the Sobrato Organization, 119-127

8 Independence Drive, 1205 Chrysler Drive and 130

9 Constitution Drive.  Request for environmental review for

10 a use permit, architectural control, vesting tentative

11 map for below market rate housing agreement and heritage

12 tree removal permits for a proposed multi-residential

13 development in the R-MU-B (Residential Mixed Use Bonus)

14 zoning district.  The proposed project would consist of a

15 major subdivision for construction of 116 for-sale

16 townhomes and a 316 unit rental apartment building, for a

17 total of 432 dwelling units.

18 The townhomes are proposed to be three stories

19 tall with garage parking and the apartment building is

20 proposed to be five stories with two levels below and

21 atgrade podium parking.

22 The project site currently consists of five

23 existing office and industrial buildings totaling 103,900

24 square feet that would be demolished.  The proposed

25 buildings would contain approximately 476,961 square feet

C8



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 5

1 of gross floor area of residential use with a floor area

2 ratio of 134 percent.

3 The proposed project would utilize bonus level

4 gross floor area (GFA), density and height in exchange

5 for community amenities.

6 The proposed project would include a below

7 market rate housing agreement that requires a minimum of

8 fifteen percent of sixty-six units to be affordable and

9 will be required to comply with the City's BMR program.

10 The proposed project includes lot line

11 adjustments and removal of twenty-eight heritage trees.

12 The proposal also includes a Use Permit request for the

13 storage and use of hazardous materials, diesel fuel, for

14 an emergency backup generator to be incorporated into the

15 proposed project.

16 A Notice of Preparation (NOP) for the proposed

17 project was released on Friday September 10th, 2021.  The

18 NOP provides a description of the proposed project, the

19 location of the proposed project and its probable

20 environmental effects.

21 The EIR will address potential physical

22 environmental effects of the proposed project, as

23 outlined in the California Environmental Quality Act

24 (CEQA).

25 An initial study was not completed as it is

C9



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 6

1 anticipated this will be a full EIR and no topic areas

2 will be scoped out with the exception of agricultural and

3 forestry resources, minimal resources, wildfire and the

4 topic areas that are not anticipated to require further

5 analysis.

6 The City is requesting comments on the scoping

7 content in this EIR.  The proposed location does not

8 contain a toxic site pursuant to Section 6506.2 of the

9 Government Code.

10 Comments on the scoping context of the focused

11 EIR are due by 5:00 PM Monday, October 11th, 2021.

12 I believe we have a staff report from Mr.

13 Bhagat.  Is he here with us tonight?  Oh, Ms. Bhagat.

14 I'm sorry.

15 MS. BHAGAT:   Sure.  Good evening.  I'm just

16 waiting for Juan to bring it up for the commissioners.

17 People just give me a moment while I control the slides.

18 Here we go.

19 Good evening, Chair, members of the Commission

20 and members of the public.  As Chair Doran mentioned, the

21 project this evening is the review of scope of works to

22 be included in the Environmental Impact Report and the

23 Study Session for the redevelopment of the five parcels

24 with 316 unit apartment building and 116 for-sale

25 townhomes.

C10



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 7

1 The project site is 8.15 acres and it's located

2 in the Bayfront area north of Highway 101 and east of

3 Marsh Road.  This project site sits east of the recently

4 approved Menlo Portal project.

5 As previously mentioned, the purpose of this

6 meeting is not to begin action, but to review the Notice

7 of Preparation prepared by staff and to provide comments

8 for the Environmental Impact Report for this project.

9 This project was previously reviewed by the

10 Planning Commission on January 25th, but at that time

11 this project was a mixed use project and had an office

12 element to it.

13 The applicant has since then revised the

14 project to make it residential and therefore staff has

15 been advised.

16 As mentioned, the notice -- the NOP public

17 comment period ends October 11th at 5:00 PM.

18 Staff would also like to do a Study Session to

19 review the various design components and other components

20 of the project.  Details of that will be discussed in --

21 after the Study Session component of the project is

22 accomplished.

23 As par of this we have two elements.  Staff has

24 prepared a recommended format.  Staff recommends we do

25 the public hearing for the EIR Scoping Session first.

C11



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 8

1           Following my presentation, staff would

2 recommend that you invite the applicants to make

3 presentation and give an overview of the project,

4 following which the EIR consultant, which in this case is

5 Dudek, will come and give you the overview of the CEQA

6 process, then the EIR process and what is the future

7 timing for this project.

8           Following which we recommend that you open up

9 and solicit public coment on the EIR Scoping Session and

10 then conclude the meeting with questions and Commissioner

11 comments.

12           For the Study Session, staff would like to make

13 a brief introduction and we request that you open up the

14 comments -- public comments on the design of the project

15 and then that we'll conclude the meeting providing your

16 own comments.

17           This concludes my brief introduction and I'm of

18 course available to answer any questions that you might

19 have as we go through the project.

20           And with this, I will turn the meeting over to

21 the chair.

22           Thank you.

23           THE COURT:   Thank you.

24           Does anyone have clarifying questions for Miss

25 Bhagat now before we go to the applicant's presentation?

C12



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 9

1           Okay.  I'm not seeing any, so if the applicant

2 would like to make their presentation now.

3           MR. TSAI:   That would be great.  Give us one

4 second to load it up.

5           CHAIR DORAN:   Okay.

6           MR. TSAI:   Sorry.  I didn't know if I was

7 sharing my screen.  I just thought we were controlling

8 the screen.  I can share mine.

9           CHAIR DORAN:   Yes, whatever you'd like.

10           MR. TSAI:   Sorry.  Sorry for the delay.

11           All right.  Good evening.  Everyone.  Chair

12 Doran, Vice-chair Decardy, Commissioners, staff and Menlo

13 Park residents.  Thank you for giving us the opportunity

14 to re-present 123 Independence.

15           I am Peter Tsai from the Sobrato organization

16 and I'm joined tonight by Chek Tang from T-SQ Squared and

17 Nick Samuelson from the Guzzardo Partnership.

18           For those of you who are unfamiliar with

19 Sobrato, we are a local family owned organization that

20 has been part of the Bay Area since the 1950s.

21           The organization consists of three divisions,

22 Sobrato Capital, Sobrato Philanthropies and Sobrato Real

23 Estate.  The ethos of the organization is making a the

24 Bay Area a place of opportunity for all, and this is

25 shown through its philathropic ventures as well as its

C13



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 10

1 approach towards real estate.

2 Back on January 25th at the Planning Commission

3 meeting, we highlighted our commitment to community

4 outreach.  As long-term holders of real estate, it is

5 important for Sobrato to understand the community we

6 develop in.

7 Since the January 25th meeting, Sobrato's

8 continued its outreach to a diverse group of Menlo Park

9 and Belle Haven stakeholders to solicit feedback on the

10 project.

11 The resounding feedback we received from those

12 in the community as well as this Planning Commission was

13 the need for more housing and in particular more

14 ownership units.

15 Sobrato took that comment to heart and directed

16 our team to remove the office building and add more for-

17 sale housing.

18 The result is an all residential 432 unit

19 project with a public gath -- with public gathering

20 sections, walkable green connections and paseos and a

21 genuine neighborhood feel.

22 To orient you, lot A at the top of the page is

23 a 316 apartment complex.  Moving counterclockwise, lot B

24 is 26 townhome units, lot C is 18 townhome unites and lot

25 D is 72 townhome units.

C14



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 11

1           The apartments are a mix of studio ones and

2 twos while the townhomes are two to four bedrooms.

3           As currently conceived, all the affordable

4 townhomes are located in lot C.  Sobrato plans to either

5 develop the affordable townhomes through Sobrato

6 Philanthropies or partner with a non-profit for-sale

7 housing developer such as Habitat for Humanity to deliver

8 those housing units.

9           By concentrating the affordable units together

10 on one parcel, that component of the project can utilize

11 additional funding sources with the goal of achieving

12 deeper levels of affordability.

13           You will also notice that lot C is prominently

14 placed along Independence Drive and has great frontage

15 along the central open space of the project.

16           I will now be turning the presentation over to

17 Chek Tang who will guide you through a quick

18 slide-through of the project.

19           Chek?

20           MR. TANG:   Thank you, Peter.

21           I would attempt to do a very quick tour of the

22 project.  To start, starting from Independence Drive on

23 the south side of the project taking a stroll through the

24 paseo going forth going through essentially the townhome

25 district adjacent to the park and fronting on

C15



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 12

1 Independence going -- arriving at the Menlo Park

2 Community Park, continuing on the paseo which becomes a

3 linkage to the existing project as well as future

4 projects.

5           The presence of the apartment building on

6 Constitution is much more commercial and of larger scale.

7 Coming through the Central Park, which is kind of the

8 outdoor living room of this district, is organized to

9 also tie into a green belt that threads to the various

10 neighborhood of the townhome community creating the

11 pedestrian friendly experience.

12           And we also heard from the previous Planning

13 Commission Study Session that we want to create a much

14 more interesting residential scale on the townhome side

15 and complement to the apartments.

16           During the design intent to really meet the --

17 and to be compliant with the Connect Menlo, the RU zoning

18 district.

19           With that, I'll go back to Power Point.

20           As Peter has mentioned that -- this is our

21 previous plan with the office building.  Now that we're

22 going to an all residential component, it really kind of

23 creates some opportunity for us to plan even more.

24           Previously the -- the office building kind

25 of cut off the residential circulation, pedestrian

C16



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 13

1 circulation within the site over to Chrysler, and also

2 the paseo, the way it was designed, it is straight kind

3 of shot through from Independence to Constitution, but

4 nevertheless the community space becomes a transit

5 corridor space.

6           And then also again as mentioned, we also

7 improved on the residential character on the townhomes by

8 creating various districts in this new plan.

9           So with this new plan, one of the things that's

10 really, you know, a great addition also is the

11 circulation.

12           We eventually allowed the access point now on

13 Chrysler to be now aligned with Jeff -- I think it's

14 Jeffrey Drive that has now allowing us vehicular all

15 turning radius in all directions in and out of the

16 project.

17           In addition to that, as you can see, the -- the

18 alignment of the paseo is still visually all the way from

19 Independence to Constitution.

20           However, the community part is now much more

21 defined as part of the public open space, necessarily

22 part of the path and more defined community park.

23           And then also is a result of -- eliminating the

24 office, we were able to create green belt connection

25 throughout the -- the townhome portion of the project

C17



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 14

1 which creates lot better connections besides the street

2 frontage on all sides.

3           And then not -- not the least of it is also the

4 idea of having -- creating a little bit of a crack in the

5 apartment building that allows for the pub -- the amenity

6 areas up in the podium level now to connect to the park.

7 So in essence the apartments also front the park and

8 sharing it with the rest of the district.

9           And then in terms of the affordable housing,

10 one of the things that you may want to do is integrate

11 affordable housing to townhome lot C area really as

12 almost a feature of the district in -- in a way that it

13 addresses street the same way as any market rate units,

14 it addresses the park and the presence of the park

15 equally well with the rest of the project in addition to

16 all -- all of the affordable rental units in lot A.

17           With that, we also have taken a shot at the

18 elevations.  We'd really appreciate -- I'm sorry.  This

19 is basically a zoning sigh gram to that -- next page.

20           So this is a zoning diagram that talks about

21 massing bulk.  It really has not changed since the last

22 time we spoke on the project.

23           As you can see, we have a mix of housing types,

24 townhomes as well as apartments.  You can see later that

25 we have actually married the architectural expression of

C18



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 15

1 the townhomes and made improvement to the apartments, as

2 well.

3 In terms of variation heights, we are two and

4 three stories, kind of articulations of the townhomes on

5 36 in height.  The apartments are five story.  In this

6 case actually because of kind of future for FEMA, so the

7 garage was actually one that was subterranean with the

8 transition from street up to the actual finished grade

9 and we're doing some creative things to make those not

10 feel like a grade separation, but really a better feel.

11 Open space amenities as mentioned, the heart of

12 the community is a comm -- a neighborhood park and also

13 the through paseo from Independence to Constitution along

14 with a series of open spaces within the townhome project

15 and obviously the gardens -- podium gardens on the

16 answer.

17 In terms of architecture, we also received some

18 really constructive feedback from staff.  It's our intent

19 to be compliant with Connect Menlo and the R-M-U design

20 guideline.

21 This is our previous submittal where the

22 critique was that the larger frames did not meet some of

23 the -- the minor articulation of the building.

24 In addition to some of these very consistent

25 roof line that was mentioned and then maybe some of the

C19



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 16

1 contrast in the areas that resets in addition to some

2 comments on material.

3           So in a new design that we have worked with the

4 recommendation from staff, looking intently at the -- the

5 compliance of the R-MU zone, by creating much more clear

6 articulat, vertical articulations as prescribed in zoning

7 to create this major end line articulations in closing.

8           In addition to that, the other thing that we've

9 done is creating a much clearer base, middle and top as

10 also called with the upper story recess as called for in

11 the zoning ordinance.

12           Another thing that we're also refining is some

13 material given that we know there's requirement for lower

14 use of plaster, we actually minimizing the exterior

15 plaster which are smoother plaster on some of the darker

16 elements and the upper floor elements and some of the

17 frame elements actually.

18           Next, please.

19           And the townhomes where we received probably

20 the most commentary is that we were trying to make it

21 tying into the apartments, as our previous design, and

22 the commentary was to make this more residential kind of

23 feel and -- and kind of massing.

24           And so in our new project design that we're

25 proposing essentially kind of a -- the kind of

C20



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 17

1 composition of three different architectural styles,

2 because now that we have a much larger townhome project,

3 one of which is kind of a brick, kind of a contemporary

4 brick building that has a more contemporary roof line,

5 but it's nevertheless a very playful roof line.

6           Another one that has a look back to the

7 character of the apartment project, but more contemporary

8 and also a very interesting roof lining, as well.

9           And then the -- the lower left one is actually

10 the architecture of the affordable housing is we want to

11 keep it simple and clean, but also becomes a really good

12 counterpoint to the market rate housing.

13           The notion of all these project is the

14 architectural really does not very regardless of the uses

15 or the type.

16           So you can see we have combination of brick

17 veneer.  There are some rain screen material, a hardy

18 siding material as well as plaster material.  The

19 combination of those work in concert with each other

20 throughout the site.

21           With that I'm going to turn it over to Nick

22 Samuelson of the Guzzardo Partnership, our landscape

23 architect.

24           MR. SAMUELSON:   Hi.  I'm Nick Samuelson with

25 the Guzzardo Partnership.  Nice to be here with you

C21



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 18

1 talking about this today.

2          Looking at the landscape design, an important

3 element for us was connecting all these open space

4 amenities throughout the site with the different paseos

5 and the walkways and the vehicular circulation that we

6 had to have here.

7           Running north to south, we have the Connect

8 Menlo Park Trail.  We'll be going through the site,

9 looking at how we're going to integrate that in there,

10 and then going east to west, we have an additional paseo

11 that cuts through the townhomes.

12           And wrapping around the west side and the south

13 side of the apartments is a fire access lane, twenty-six

14 feet wide.  That's near the apartment buildings.

15           We're going to integrate that in there, and

16 then going east to west, we have the additional paseo

17 that cuts through the townhomes.

18           It's part of -- this is a vehicular area for

19 fire trucks, but it's a pedestrian zone mainly in our

20 minds.

21           So looking at that and -- and other important

22 functions of the site, storm water treatment, our

23 integration with the surrounding community with the

24 stoops that we'll be doing around the -- all the streets,

25 all the -- all of the units have a direct access out and

C22



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 19

1 on to there, and part of what's happening on the site,

2 we're required to raise the site five feet to meet the

3 FEMA flood requirements, and that provides some

4 challenges and also some opportunities.

5           I would say it's an opportunity with these

6 stoops, gets some eyes out on the street there, and it

7 provides a nice entry into the paseo.

8           It does present the problem where all of the

9 trees on the site have to be removed just because of the

10 way the topography is going to work on the site now.  So

11 we are looking at replacing the trees.

12           We have twenty-eight heritage trees.  We also

13 have -- I think it's fifty-seven non-heritage trees that

14 we'll be removing as part of that.

15           But we are putting in 351 new trees.  A lot of

16 them are larger canopy trees and native oaks will be a

17 part of it and various sizes from twenty-four inch fox to

18 forty-eight to sixty inch fo trees that we're integrating

19 inches of design.

20           Can we go to the next slide?

21           So as Chek says, the heart of the site really

22 is this central open space.  And then we're looking at

23 story and through it.  We have the Connect Menlo Park

24 Trail.  It's the ten foot wide pathway that goes through

25 there, trying to keep that pretty open through there and

C23



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 20

1 it meadering through so has some interest to it.

2           So if you're starting down on Independence, I

3 it's picking up the five foot grade changes there through

4 a series of terraced spaces that we'd have.  We'd have

5 the different materials, decks and lawn areas that go

6 through there, another path that zigzabs through and it.

7           And as you level out at the top, there's a

8 large plaza space right there.  It's atually also a fire

9 access that's required to get through the site right

10 there.

11           And as you step past that, you enter into a

12 rain garden, which is doing a lot of the treatment for

13 the areas around the townhomes, and we took that area as

14 an opportunity to make some nice garden spaces where you

15 have deck spaces that meander through it, step zones that

16 allow you to get fully immersed into that garden area.

17           And after that site path fans out into the

18 larger open space, and when you're there, there's a

19 playground space.  We have a flexible turf area, and as

20 the backdrop on the east, there's an oak woodland garden

21 right over there.

22           So your oak tree's providing a canopy.  Of

23 course on the west side is the Connect Menlo Park Trail.

24           As you go further up, there is the plaza space

25 there that's - we can switch to the next slide.  I can

C24



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 21

1 show a little bit more.  This -- this fire lane paseo

2 diagram here.

3           So still a part of the open space here, but is

4 the fire lane.  So we took that as opportunity to make a

5 nice plaza space that fronts this kind of a porch or

6 front door to the apartment building part there, and this

7 gives us kind of a seamless connection to some of the

8 uses that we have in the apartments.

9           There's a lobby area over on the far right and

10 there's a stairway that leads up to the podium and then

11 there's some flex uses and various other area -- doors

12 that kind of front out on to the open space there.

13           Also providing a lot of bike parking areas over

14 there near the lobby and those flex use areas down to the

15 park for also putting like a bike service area to be a

16 part of that.

17           The paseo down on the bottom, that's the one

18 that's cutting through the townhomes.  We wanted to kind

19 of meander that through there to make that a nice

20 leisurely walk kind of experience as you go there.

21           The meandering also allows us to have little

22 nooks along the way that can be little seating areas.

23 You kind of bump into some rain gardens and just where

24 intersections happen in the path.

25           Go to the next slide.

C25



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 22

1           This is the paseo that goes along the

2 apartments, so it's kind of the west side of the

3 apartments and so also the fire lanes will.  So it's got

4 to be twenty-six feet wide of the weatherproof surface.

5           So we have a look at paving opportunities that

6 we could do in this area.  So we kept the ten foot wide

7 trail going through there and we're looking at breaking

8 up the rest of the paving with a variety of different

9 materials, kind of like what we're showing for these

10 inspiration pictures.

11           We usually pull the different materials over

12 each other to give variety and richness to the spaces

13 that we're making and using some of that meandering

14 pathway ideas that we're using to create little nooks

15 where you can have seating opportunities along there, as

16 well.

17           And if you go to the next slide, this is just

18 kind of showing a nice overview of how the open space

19 connects through there.

20           So you have down on Independence on the bottom

21 and the walkway kind of terracing up leading into the

22 rain gardens, and to the lawn which kind of functions as

23 the front yard to the apartment buildings connects it all

24 together right there.

25           With that, thank you for your time and be happy

C26



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 23

1 to answer any questions we can.

2           CHAIR DORAN:   Okay.  If we have any clarifying

3 questions from the Commission, we can ask them now.

4 Otherwise, we should go on to the EIR report,

5 consultant's report and the public comments.

6           I can't see all of the Commission.  If the

7 Commissioners would like to speak.  I don't have all of

8 your pictures on my screen right now.

9           Okay.  So I think we have an EIR consultant's

10 report next all right.

11           MS. ROBERTS:   Good evening, Commissioners.  My

12 name is Kaitlin Roberts and I am an engineer with the

13 environmental consulting firm Dudek.  We will be

14 preparing the Environmental Impact Report or EIR for this

15 project in compliance with the requirements of the

16 California Environmental Quality Act or CEQA.

17           Can you all see my screen okay?

18           CHAIR DORAN:   Yes.

19           MS. ROBERTS:   Okay.  Okay.  So this slide just

20 provides an overview of -- of the slides in this

21 presentation.  I do have a slide for each of these bullet

22 points, so I'll just go ahead and jump right in.

23           First up, the purpose of the Scoping Session is

24 to help inform our work as we prepare the EIR for the

25 project.  The Scoping Session provides an opportunity

C27



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 24

1 early in the environmental review process for

2 Commissioners, public agencies and community members to

3 comment on specific topics that they believe should be

4 addressed or included in the environmental analysis.

5           The Scoping Session is also an opportunity for

6 us to receive comments related to possible mitigation

7 measures or strategies that may be used to reduce

8 environmental impacts associated with the development of

9 the project site, and it's also an opportunity to provide

10 input -- input on potential alternatives for

11 consideration in the Draft EIR.

12           So as the applicant has already touched on, the

13 project revisions that have come about since the

14 submission of the original application, those include the

15 replacement of the office use with forty-nine townhomes,

16 and as the applicant showed, those townhomes would be

17 distributed across the southern portion of the site.

18           There was a previous Scoping Session held on

19 January 25th of this year to solicit comments on thatt

20 original application.  I'll discuss some of the feedback

21 that was received during that presentation.

22           So just as I mentioned before, the revisions

23 included the replacement of office uses with residential.

24 The other changes, as the applicant discussed, included

25 the conversion of the emergency only access from Chrysler

C28



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 25

1 Drive to full access and then the modification of the

2 paseo park and open space elements of the project.

3 This slide lists the topics that we're

4 anticipating will be addressed in the EIR.  As we

5 discussed back in January, the project is not expected to

6 result in significant effects to agriculture or forestry

7 resources, mineral resources or wildfire.

8 So a detailed analysis will not be included in

9 the EIR.  The rest of these -- the topics listed on this

10 slide will be covered in the document.

11 For several of these topics, we will be

12 preparing some of the typical technical reports, and we

13 use those to complete the impact analysis in each of the

14 associated sections of the EIR.

15 For example, our team is preparing stand-alone

16 reports for biological and cultural resources, noise, air

17 quality and greenhouse gas, and also transpor --

18 transportation and traffic.

19 So for traffic, our transportation team is

20 going to be preparing a transportation impact analysis in

21 accordance with the City's guidelines.

22 The City's traffic analysis guidelines have

23 recently been updated to require the transportation

24 impacts in CEQA be determined in vehicle miles traveled

25 or VMT, instead of levels of service or LOS.

C29



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 26

1 However, the City's guidelines still do require

2 traffic reports include that LOS analysis for planning

3 purposes.  So the report that our Dudek team prepares

4 will include is VMT analysis as well as LOS analysis.

5 And the graphic on this slide just shows the

6 study intersections that our team will be looking at in

7 their traffic study.

8 So on this slide, we have an overview of the

9 environmental review process and -- along with milestones

10 and then the estimated dates for completion of those

11 milestones.

12 As was mentioned before, the NOP was released

13 on September 10th, and then the comment period for the

14 NOP will end on October 11th.

15 Following the close of the comment period, we

16 will be working on preparing the Draft EIR, and the Draft

17 EIR is expected to be published in mid-winter of 2022,

18 and then at that time there will be another public

19 hearing on the Draft EIR and that will be an opportunity

20 for the public and agencies to comment on the Draft EIR

21 documents.

22 And then the Final EIR will be prepared and

23 that will address all of the comments received during the

24 Draft EIR comment review period and the -- the Final EIR

25 will require the final changes that are necessary to the

C30



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 27

1 Draft EIR, and then that -- the date for that is expected

2 to occur in mid-spring of 2022.

3           And then following the hearing for the Final --

4 then we'll be hearing for the Final EIR will be held

5 before the Planning Commission and City Council, and

6 that's expected in late spring of 2022.

7           And after the EIR is certified, the project can

8 then be approved.

9           Also, as I mentioned, there was a previous

10 Scoping Session held to look at the original project

11 application, and that -- that was in December of 2020

12 into January of this year.

13           The Scoping Session was held on January 25th of

14 this year and verbal comments were received during that

15 session, and then following the session, there were four

16 agency comment letters that were received.

17           So for the agency comments that were received,

18 they came from the State Department of Fish and Wildlife,

19 Caltrans, Native American Heritage Commission and then

20 the Sequoia Union High School District.

21           And then for -- for the verbal comments

22 received -- I'm not going to go through all of them, but

23 they did include comments about the relationship of the

24 project to the Connect Menlo plan and the EIR for the

25 plan.

C31



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 28

1           And then there were concerns related to

2 adequacy of open space and recreation demands, concerns

3 related to traffic impacts, land use compatibility,

4 impacts to schools, loss of trees and so on.

5           So as I said before, comments received

6 regarding the scope and content of information to be

7 considered in the EIR from both the January 25th session

8 and the verbal comments received tonight and then any

9 other written comments received prior to end of the

10 current comment period that ends on October 11th, those

11 will all be considered in the Draft EIR.

12           So this slide just provides information on

13 submitting written comments of the Draft EIR.  Those have

14 to be submitted on October 11th before 5:00 pm to the

15 City.  Contact information is provided on this slide, and

16 I guess that concludes any presentation and I am

17 available to answer any questions and look forward to

18 receiving your comments.

19           Thank you.

20           CHAIR DORAN:   Thank you, Ms. Roberts.

21           So if we have any clarifying questions for Ms.

22 Roberts, now is the appropriate time.  If not, I'm going

23 to move to public comment on the EIR Scoping Session, and

24 then after that, we'll have a chance from comments from

25 Commission.

C32



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 29

1           Do we have any clarifying questions at this

2 time?  Okay.  I'm not seeing any.

3           Mr. Pruter, can you see if we have any hands

4 are raised for public comment?

5           MR. PRUTER:   As a reminder to members of the

6 public, if you'd like to speak on the EIR Scoping Session

7 item for this project, you may do so by raising your

8 hand, the hand icon -- icon on your screen or if you are

9 calling by phone, pressing star 9.

10           At this moment, I do not see any hands or

11 phones that seek to provide public comments, but if you'd

12 like to wait a moment and confirm that, as well.

13           CHAIR DORAN:   Yeah.  Let's -- let's give the

14 people a moment to raise their hands.  So still no hands

15 raised?

16           MR. PRUTER:   That is correct, Chair Doran.  No

17 phone hands raised, as well.

18           CHAIR DORAN:   Okay.  I'm going to close public

19 comments on the EIR Scoping Session.  We'll have another

20 opportunity for comments on the project when we do the

21 study session next.

22           So I'd like to bring it back to our virtual

23 dais and see what comments and questions we have or the

24 questions we have from the Commission.  Don't be shy.

25           Mr. DeCardy.

C33



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 30

1           COMMISSIONER DECARDY:   This is a pattern that

2 I'm very happy to break to my fellow Commissioners.  I am

3 glad not to go first, but I'm also happy going first.

4           CHAIR DORAN:   Someone's got to do it.

5           COMMISSIONER DECARDY:   Ms. Roberts, thanks for

6 your presentation.  I really appreciate it and the work

7 that you're doing here.

8           I have a couple of questions.  The first is

9 around how you all do your analysis around transportation

10 and vehicle miles traveled relative to different

11 scenarios for parking embedded in a project.

12           So do you look at only the proposed parking or

13 what are the dependent or independent variables that you

14 would look at in order to analyze what the impacts are on

15 vehicle miles traveled?

16           MS. ROBERTS:   I'm not really prepared to

17 answer that question.  I would have to pull in, you know,

18 our specialists.  They will be preparing study.  We have

19 a whole transportation team, and I am not sure how they

20 would assess that per this project.

21           COMMISSIONER DECARDY:   I think Miss Bhagat

22 wanted to say something.  Is that why you came on screen?

23           MS. BHAGAT:   Yeah.  I was hoping to give an

24 overview of generally how this is done.

25           For a project like this, you would take a look

C34



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 31

1 at what the applicant is proposing in terms of parking.

2 There's also as you know requirements in our zoning code

3 to reduce the vehicle miles traveled through TDM

4 programs.  And we would look at the TDM programs and

5 their effectively vis-a-vis the VMT.

6           But, you know, after that, if there should be

7 any impact identified, hen we would kind of go in and see

8 how those impacts.

9           I know we've had this conversation around

10 reduction of VMT and its connection to parking and

11 alternatives for the project at various other meetings,

12 and I think that component of the environmental document

13 would really depend on the type of impact that we find.

14           But as Miss Roberts indicated, they have not

15 done the analysis in this stage for this project.  This

16 is really informing the scope of the environmental

17 document.

18           So when we prepare the document analysis, we

19 would look at all those various aspects and hopefully

20 that kind of a little bit answers your question.

21           COMMISSIONER DECARDY:   Yeah.  It does.  I -- I

22 appreciate that.  I've been on the record before.  Miss

23 Roberts, you may not as much.

24           The TDM that's always put in place is

25 essentially voluntary TDM.  It's conceptual.  It doesn't

C35



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 32

1 really help in this mix.

2 And it all is based -- then the analysis that

3 you end up doing through your firm is going to have a

4 whole set of assumptions.

5 But I've said this so I'll just be clear.  I'm

6 not going to certify an EIR as adequate if it does not

7 have an alternative project that has a -- a major, major

8 reduction in parking and shows what the costs and

9 benefits are to the community and that major reduction in

10 parking.

11 I've given comments on EIRs I can't imagine how

12 many times now and the outcome of the EIRs is that they

13 are not helpful documents for our community and members

14 of our community to understand something that comes up

15 again and again, especially in this neighborhood, which

16 is the impact of traffic and increase of traffic and

17 frustrations that that causes for people.

18 And that has a significant environmental

19 component, and we always look at this from the lens of

20 what is code and what is proposed for parking and we

21 never get to see it from the lens of what would it look

22 like if there was half of the parking proposed or if

23 there was seventy-five percent reduction in parking and

24 what the environmental impacts would be for that and the

25 opportunity for the community to consider those.

C36



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 33

1           So that's my one and major frustration with our

2 EIR process.  That's my input, but ultimately if we end

3 up with alternatives, which are essentially no project,

4 max project or this project and we don't address the

5 parking as a fourth alternative in some significantly

6 reduced way, then I am not going to certify it as

7 adequate.

8           I am only one Commissioner, so I can get voted

9 down, but you know where I stand.

10           Thank you.

11           CHAIR DORAN:   Thank you.

12           Do we have others who would like to speak now?

13 Mr. Riggs.

14           COMMISSIONER RIGGS:   Thank you.

15           This won't surprise the other Commission

16 members that I will echo Mr. DeCardy, and my request that

17 we see an alternative in the EIR that specifically

18 results in significant traffic reduction.

19           And I will simply echo what Mr. DeCardy has

20 suggested.  I think that that's a fine approach, to

21 specifically look at parking.  Because that can be part

22 of the definition of a project alternative.

23           This may not be a requirement of CEQA, but I

24 think there is interest here on this Commission

25 representing the City of Menlo Park to, the degree that

C37



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 34

1 we may, that we have such an alternative, and if it's

2 presented as an additional alternative outside the

3 requirements of CEQA, as long as it appears in the EIR,

4 it will respond to the concerns to be heard in the last

5 five minutes.

6           Thank you.

7           CHAIR DORAN:   Thank you.

8           Do we have other commissioners who would like

9 to speak?  Okay.  It appears we don't.

10           I want to ask Ms. Bhagat if she feels that

11 she's got enough input for the Scoping Session.

12           MS. BHAGAT:   Thank you, Chair.  We still have

13 time till October 11 to get input.  So if any of the

14 Commissioners have another thought on what should be

15 studied as part of this Environmental Impact Report, we

16 will we will certainly consider those comments, and quite

17 oftentimes we get comment letters after the public

18 hearing to define issues that they would like to see

19 studied in the document.

20           So for this evening, if you have no other

21 speakers, then we can certainly move on to the Study

22 Session.

23           CHAIR DORAN:   Certainly.  I don't see other

24 Commissioners raising their hand, so I'm going to close

25 the public hearing portion and move on to our Study

C38



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 35

1 Session.

2 (This portion concluded at 8:38 pm).

3 ---o0o---

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

C39



925-831-9029 emerickfinch@emerickfinch.com

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings
Emerick and Finch, Certified Shorthand Reporters

Page 36

1 STATE OF CALIFORNIA )

2 COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO    )

3
I, the undersigned, hereby certify that the

4
discussion in the foregoing meeting was taken at the

5
time and place therein stated; that the foregoing is a

6
full, true and complete record of said matter.

7
I further certify that I am not of counsel or

8
attorney for either or any of the parties in the

9
foregoing meeting and caption named, or in any way

10
interested in the outcome of the cause named in said

11
action.

12

13

14

15

16

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have 

hereunto set my hand this 

1st day of November, 2021.

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C40



Attachment E: Project Meetings and Milestones 

Milestone Date 

Project submittal September 30, 2020 

Notice of Preparation for EIR release January 8, 2021 

Planning Commission EIR scoping session and study 
session February 8, 2021 

Second Notice of Preparation for EIR release September 10, 2021 

Second Planning Commission EIR scoping session 
and study session September 27, 2021 

Notice of Availability of the Draft EIR  November 28, 2022 

Planning Commission Draft EIR public hearing and 
study session December 12, 2022 

ATTACHMENT E

E1



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT 13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 1 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

Aesthetics 

Impact 4.1-1: Would the project have a 
substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.1-2: Would the project substantially 
damage scenic resources including, but not 
limited to, trees, rock outcroppings, and 
historic buildings within a state scenic 
highway? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.1-3: In non-urbanized areas, would 
the project substantially degrade the existing 
visual character or quality of public views of 
the site and its surroundings? (Public views are 
those that are experienced from publicly 
accessible vantage point). If the project is in an 
urbanized area, would the project conflict with 
applicable zoning and other regulations 
governing scenic quality? 

Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.1-4: Would the project create a new 
source of substantial light or glare which 
would adversely affect day or nighttime views 
in the area? 

Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.1-5: Would the project have a 
cumulative effect on aesthetic resources? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Air Quality 

Impact 4.2-1: Would the project conflict with 
or obstruct implementation of the applicable 
air quality plan? 

Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.2-2: Would the project result in a 
cumulatively considerable net increase of any 
criteria pollutant for which the Project region 

Potentially Significant  MM 4.2a Fugitive Dust Reduction Less than Significant 
Impact with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

ATTACHMENT G

G1



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 2 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

is non-attainment under an applicable federal 
or state ambient air quality standard? 

The project shall implement the following during 
construction: 

1. All exposed surfaces (e.g., parking/staging areas, 
soil piles, graded areas, and unpaved access roads) 
shall be watered two times per day. 

2. All haul trucks transporting soil, sand, or other 
loose material off site shall be covered. 

3. All visible mud or dirt track-out onto local roads 
shall be removed using wet power vacuum street 
sweepers at least once per day. The use of dry 
power sweeping is prohibited. 

4. All vehicle speeds on unpaved roads shall be 
limited to 15 miles per hour (mph). 

5. All roadways, driveways, and sidewalks to be 
paved shall be completed as soon as possible. 
Building pads shall be laid as soon as possible after 
grading unless seeding or soil binders are used. 

6. Idling times shall be minimized either by shutting 
equipment off when not in use or reducing the 
maximum idling time to 5 minutes (as required by 
the California Airborne Toxics Control Measure 
Title 13, Section 2485 of California Code of 
Regulations [CCR]). Clear signage shall be 
provided for construction workers at all access 
points. 

7. All construction equipment shall be maintained 
and properly tuned in accordance with 
manufacturer’s specifications. All equipment shall 
be checked by a certified mechanic and 
determined to be running in proper condition prior 
to operation. 

G2



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 3 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

8. Post a publicly visible sign with the telephone 
number and person to contact at the Lead Agency 
regarding dust complaints. This person shall 
respond and take corrective action within 48 
hours. The BAAQMD’s phone number shall also be 
visible to ensure compliance with applicable 
regulations. 

Impact 4.2-3: Would the project expose 
sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant 
concentrations? 

Potentially Significant  MM 4.2b Construction Equipment Emissions 
Reductions 

To reduce the potential for TAC emissions, 
specifically diesel particulate matter (DPM) as a result 
of construction of the project, the applicant shall: 

Prior to the start of construction activities, the 
project applicant, or its designee, shall ensure 
that all 50-horsepower or greater diesel-powered 
equipment is powered with California Air 
Resources Board (CARB)-certified Tier 4 Final 
engines or better. Such equipment shall be 
outfitted with Best Available Control Technology 
(BACT) devices including, but not limited to, a 
CARB-certified Level 3 Diesel Particulate Filters 
(DPFs). Additionally, the City shall include this 
requirement in applicable bid documents, and 
successful contractor(s) must demonstrate the 
ability to supply compliant equipment prior to the 
commencement of the grading activity. A copy of 
each unit’s certified tier specification and CARB or 
Bay Area Air Quality Management District 
(BAAQMD) operating permit (if applicable) 
should be available upon request at the time of 
mobilization of each applicable unit of 
equipment. The City should require periodic 
reporting and provision of written documentation 

Less than Significant 
Impact with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

G3



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 4 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

by contractors to ensure compliance, and conduct 
regular inspections to the maximum extent 
feasible to ensure compliance. 
 

 In the event that the City finds that Tier 4 Final 
construction equipment is not feasible pursuant 
to California Environmental Quality Act 
Guidelines Section 15364, the project 
representatives or contractors must provide 
written documentation supported by substantial 
evidence that is reviewed and approved by the 
City before using other technologies/strategies. 
Before an exemption may be considered by the 
City, the applicant shall: (1) be required to 
demonstrate that two construction fleet 
owners/operators in the Bay Area region were 
contacted and that those owners/operators 
confirmed Tier 4 Final equipment could not be 
located within the Bay Area region; and (2) the 
proposed replacement equipment has been 
evaluated using the California Emissions 
Estimator Model or other industry standard 
emission estimation method and documentation 
provided to the City to confirm the project-
generated emissions do not exceed applicable 
BAAQMD mass daily thresholds of significance. 

 
 Alternative applicable strategies may include, but 

would not be limited to, Tier 4 Interim 
construction equipment and/or reduction in the 
number and/or horsepower rating of construction 
equipment, if appropriate.  

 

G4



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 5 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

The construction contractor(s) shall maintain 
equipment maintenance records for the 
construction portion of the project. All 
construction equipment must be tuned and 
maintained in compliance with the 
manufacturer’s recommended maintenance 
schedule and specifications. Upon request for 
inspection, construction contractor(s) shall make 
available all maintenance records for equipment 
used on site within one business day (either 
hardcopy or electronic versions). 

Impact 4.2-4: Would the project result in 
other emissions (such as those leading to 
odors) adversely affecting a substantial 
number of people? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.2-5: Would the project have a 
cumulative effect on air quality resources? 

Potentially Significant  MM 4.2a 

MM 4.2b 

Less than Significant 
Impact with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Biological Resources 

Impact 4.3-1: Would the project have a 
substantial adverse effect, either directly or 
through habitat modifications, on any species 
identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special 
status species in local or regional plans, 
policies, or regulations, or by the California 
Department of Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service? 

Potentially Significant  MM 4.3a Pre-construction Surveys for Bat Roosts.  

To the extent practicable, demolition of existing 
structures should occur outside the bat maternity 
season when dependent young would be present, 
which generally occurs from April to September in 
California. Prior to the removal of trees or the demolition 
of buildings, a bat survey shall be performed by a qualified 
bat biologist no more than 3 days prior to the start of 
construction activities. A qualified bat biologist shall 
have at least 2 years of experience conducting bat 
surveys that resulted in detections for relevant 
species, such as pallid bat and Townsend’s big-eared 
bat, with verified project names, dates, and 

Less than Significant 
Impact with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

G5



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 6 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

references, and experience with relevant equipment 
used to conduct bat surveys. The survey should 
include a determination on whether active bat roosts 
are present on or within 50 feet of the project site. 
The survey shall include a visual inspection of 
potential roosting features (e.g., cavities, crevices in 
wood and bark, exfoliating bark, suitable canopy for 
foliage roosting species, attics, eaves). 

If no evidence of bat roosting is found, the project 
sponsor shall complete the following: 

Submit a memorandum prepared by the biologist 
who completed the survey describing survey 
methods, conditions, and results of the survey. 

No further action is required if the trees and buildings 
are removed prior to the next breeding season (the 
following April). 

If demolition is not completed by the following 
April, a new bat survey shall be completed by a 
qualified biologist no more than three days prior 
to any further demolition or tree removal. 

If the survey identifies active bat roosts, or buildings 
scheduled for demolition, or trees scheduled for 
removal as potential bat habitat, demolition and tree 
removal may not begin, or resume, and the project 
sponsor shall complete the following: 

Retain a qualified biologist to conduct an evening 
visual emergence survey of the source building(s) 
from 0.5 hours before to 1 or 2 hours after sunset 
for a minimum of 2 nights, using night-vision 
goggles and/or passive acoustic 
detectors/monitoring equipment to assist in 
species identification. 

G6



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 7 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

If roosting is found to occur on site, the project sponsor 
and qualified biologist must prepare an appropriate 
bat eviction and exclusion plan which will recognize 
maternity and winter roosting seasons as vulnerable 
seasons for bats, and require exclusion outside of 
these times, for example, dates generally between 
March 1 and April 15 or September 1 and October 
15 are suitable times for exclusion; identify 
suitable areas for excluded bats to disperse or 
require installation of appropriate dispersal 
habitat, such as artificial bat houses, prior to 
project activities, and include an associated 
management and monitoring plan with 
implementation and funding; and include a 
requirement that exclusion materials shall be re-
evaluated for effectiveness by the qualified 
biologist up to 2 weeks prior to building 
demolition. Locations and procedures for the 
implementation of bat boxes shall be determined by 
a qualified biologist and consultation with the 
California Department of Fish and Wildlife to reduce 
the likelihood of mortality of the evicted bats. 

If maternity roosts are identified during the maternity 
roosting season (between the months of April and 
September), avoid all disturbance to such roosts until 
a qualified biologist has determined the young bats 
are no longer roosting.  

If a female or maternity colony of bats is found on the 
project site, construction activities shall be conducted 
outside of the maternity roost season (after 
September 1 and before April 15), if feasible.  

G7



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 8 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

If an active maternity roost is documented on-site and 
the project cannot be conducted outside of the 
maternity roosting season, a qualified biologist shall 
implement a construction-free buffer zone around 
the active roost to ensure the continued success of 
the colony. Such buffer zones may include a 
construction-free barrier of 200 feet from the roost. If 
implementing a construction-free buffer during the 
maternity roosting season is not feasible for the 
project, then bats shall be excluded from the site 
after September 1 and before October 15, and/or 
after March 1 and before April 15, to prevent the 
formation of maternity colonies. Non-breeding bats 
shall be safely evicted under the direction of a 
qualified biologist.  

G8



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 9 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

- If the qualified biologist identifies potential bat 
habitat trees, then tree trimming and tree 
removal shall not proceed unless the following 
occurs: (1) a qualified biologist conducts night 
emergence surveys or completes visual 
examination of roost features that establishes 
absence of roosting bats or (2) tree trimming 
and tree removal occurs only during seasonal 
periods of non-breeding bat activity, from 
approximately March 1 through April 15 and 
September 1 through October 15, and tree 
removal occurs using the two-step removal 
process. Two-step tree removal shall be 
conducted over two consecutive days. The first 
day (in the afternoon), under the direct 
supervision and instruction by a qualified 
biologist with experience conducting two-step 
tree removal, limbs and branches shall be 
removed by a tree cutter using chainsaws only; 
limbs with cavities, crevices or deep bark 
fissures shall be avoided. The second day the 
entire tree shall be removed. 

Impact 4.3-2: Would the project have a 
substantial adverse effect on any riparian 
habitat or other sensitive natural community 
identified in local or regional plans, policies, 
regulations, or by the California Department 
of Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service? 

No impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.3-3: Would the project have a 
substantial adverse effect on state or federally 
protected wetlands (including, but not limited to, 
marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct 

No impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

G9



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 10 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

removal, filling, hydrological interruption, or other 
means? 
Impact 4.3-4: Would the project interfere 
substantially with the movement of any native 
resident or migratory fish or wildlife species or 
with established native resident or migratory 
wildlife corridors, or impede the use of native 
wildlife nursery sites? 

Potentially Significant  MM 4.3b Pre-construction Survey for Nesting Birds. 

If project construction activities are scheduled to 
occur during the nesting season (March 1 to August 
31), a pre-construction nesting bird survey should be 
conducted by a qualified biologist within 7 days prior 
to construction activities to determine if any native 
birds are nesting on or near the project site (including 
a 250-foot buffer for raptors). If any active nests are 
observed during surveys, a suitable avoidance buffer 
will be determined by the qualified biologist based on 
species, location and planned construction activity. 
These nests would be avoided until the chicks have 
fledged and the nests are no longer active as 
determined by the qualified biologist. 

Less than Significant 
Impact with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Impact 4.3-5: Would the project conflict with 
any local policies or ordinances protecting 
biological resources, such as a tree 
preservation policy or ordinance? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.3-6: Would the project conflict with 
the provisions of an adopted Habitat 
Conservation Plan, Natural Community 
Conservation Plan, or other approved local, 
regional, or state habitat conservation plan? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.3-7: Would the project have a 
cumulative effect on biological resources? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Cultural Resources 

Impact 4.4-1: Would the project cause a 
substantial adverse change in the significance 
of a historical resource pursuant to §15064.5? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

G10



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 11 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

Impact 4.4-2: Would the project cause a 
substantial adverse change in the significance 
of an archaeological resource pursuant to 
§15064.5? 

Potentially Significant  MM 4.4a Extended Phase I Investigation 

Prior to issuance of a demolition permit, the City shall 
verify that the project sponsor has retained a qualified 
archaeologist, meeting the Secretary of the Interior’s 
Professional Qualification Standards, to develop and 
implement an Extended Phase I Archaeological 
Assessment of the project site to test for buried 
archaeological deposits to the depth of the project’s 
grading, trenching, and excavation. This Extended 
Phase 1 Assessment shall include subsurface testing 
of the project site through mechanical trenching to 
allow the archaeologist to observe subsurface 
conditions and locate any buried cultural deposits, 
features or artifacts. Following demolition of existing 
buildings and removal of pavement and other 
impervious surfaces at the project site and prior to 
commencement of grading, trenching, and 
excavation, the Extended Phase I Assessment shall be 
completed, and the archaeologist shall document any 
findings and subsurface conditions in an Extended 
Phase 1 report which shall be submitted to the City. If 
the Extended Phase I Investigation identifies 
archaeological resources, the archaeologist shall 
evaluate the find to determine its significance under 
CEQA (14 CCR 15064.5[f]; Public Resources Code 
Section 21082), consistent with MM-4.4b. 

MM 4.4b Unanticipated Discovery of 
Archaeological Resources  

In the event that archaeological resources (sites, 
features, or artifacts) are exposed during construction 
activities for the proposed project, all construction 
work occurring within 50 feet of the find shall 

Less than Significant 
Impact with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

G11



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 12 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

immediately stop until a qualified archaeologist, 
meeting the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional 
Qualification Standards, can evaluate the significance 
of the find and determine whether or not additional 
study is warranted. Construction activities may not 
resume in the area immediate to the discovery until 
authorized by the archaeologist. Depending upon the 
significance of the find under CEQA (14 CCR 
15064.5[f]; Public Resources Code Section 21082), the 
archaeologist may simply record the find and allow 
work to continue. If the discovery proves significant 
under CEQA, additional work such as preparation of 
an archaeological or tribal cultural treatment plan, 
testing, or data recovery would be warranted. 
Examples of treatment for archaeological resources, 
in no order of preference, may include, but are not 
limited to, any of the following: (1) avoiding the 
resource, (2) establishing a permanent conservation 
easement over the resource, (3) capping or covering 
archaeological site with a layer of soil before building 
on the site, and (4) having parks, greenspace, or other 
open space incorporate the archaeological site. 
Excavation and curation shall be the last considered 
treatment for archaeological resources.  

Impact 4.4-3: Would the project disturb any 
human remains, including those interred 
outside of dedicated cemeteries? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.4-4: Would the project have a 
cumulative effect on cultural resources? 

Less than Significant  MMs 4.4a and 4.4b as listed above. Less than Significant 
Impact with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Energy 

Impact 4.5-1: Would the project result in 
potentially significant environmental impact 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

G12



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 13 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

due to wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary 
consumption of energy resources, during 
project construction or operation? 
Impact 4.5-2: Would the project conflict with 
or obstruct a state or local plan for renewable 
energy or energy efficiency? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.5-3: Would the project have a 
cumulative effect on energy resources? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Geology and Soils 

Would the project directly or indirectly cause potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death involving: 
 Impact 4.6-1: Rupture of a known 
earthquake fault, as delineated on the 
most recent Alquist-Priolo Earthquake 
Fault Zoning Map issued by the State 
Geologist for the area or based on other 
substantial evidence of a known fault? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.6-2: Strong seismic ground 
shaking? 

Less than Significant   No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.6-3: Strong seismic-related ground 
failure, including liquefaction? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.6-4: Landslides? Less than Significant 
Impact 

No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.6-5: Would the project result in 
substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil? 

Less than Significant 
Impact 

No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.6-6: Would the project be located on 
a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, or that 
would become unstable as a result of the 
project, and potentially result in on or offsite 
landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, 
liquefaction, or collapse? 

Potentially Significant  MM 4.6a 

Prior to issuance of a grading permit, the project 
developer shall submit to the City an analysis 
prepared by a qualified geotechnical consultant 
regarding the effects of dewatering on nearby 
buildings and the proposed design of the shoring and 
dewatering systems and confirming that the 

Less than Significant 
Impact with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

G13



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 14 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

geotechnical aspects of the proposed shoring system 
meets the Geotechnical Investigation requirements. 
The analysis shall demonstrate that the shoring and 
dewatering systems minimize the amount of 
dewatering required and that dewatering will not 
result in structural damage to improvements on 
adjacent properties. If the estimated settlements are 
not acceptable, the dewatering and shoring system 
shall include measures to reduce settlement, such as 
installing a secant pile or continuous soil-cement mix 
wall to shore the excavation as well as cut off lateral 
groundwater flow, thus reducing the amount of 
dewatering required from within the excavation. 

MM 4.6b 

Prior to issuance of a grading permit, the City shall 
ensure that the proposed grading and construction 
schedule provides for fill placement to occur a 
minimum of 3 months prior to foundation installation, 
consistent with the recommendations provided in the 
Geotechnical Investigation prepared for the project 
by Rockridge Geotechnical. 

Impact 4.6-7: Would the project be located on 
expansive soil, as defined in Table 18-1-B of 
the Uniform Building Code, creating 
substantial direct or indirect risks to life or 
property? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.6-8: Would the project have soils 
incapable of adequately supporting the use of 
septic tanks or alternative wastewater 
disposal systems where sewers are not 
available for the disposal of wastewater? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

G14



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 15 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

Impact 4.6-9: Would the project directly or 
indirectly destroy a unique paleontological 
resource or site or unique geologic feature? 

Potentially Significant  MM 4.6c 

In the event that fossils or fossil bearing deposits are 
discovered during ground-disturbing activities, 
excavations within a 50‐foot radius of the find shall be 
temporarily halted or diverted. Ground disturbance 
work shall cease until a City‐approved qualified 
paleontologist determines whether the resource 
requires further study. The paleontologist shall 
document the discovery as needed (in accordance 
with Society of Vertebrate Paleontology standards 
[Society of Vertebrate Paleontology 1995]), evaluate 
the potential resource, and assess the significance of 
the find under the criteria set forth in CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15064.5. The paleontologist shall 
notify the appropriate agencies to determine 
procedures that would be followed before 
construction activities are allowed to resume at the 
location of the find. If avoidance is not feasible, the 
paleontologist shall prepare an excavation plan for 
mitigating the effect of construction activities on the 
discovery. The excavation plan shall be submitted to 
the City of Menlo Park for review and approval prior 
to implementation, and all construction activity shall 
adhere to the recommendations in the excavation 
plan (ConnectMenlo EIR MM CULT-3). 

Less than Significant 
Impact with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Impact 4.6-10: Would the project make a 
cumulatively considerable contribution to a 
significant cumulative impact related to 
geology, soils, seismicity, or paleontological 
resources? 

Potentially Significant  MMs 4.6a, 4.6b, and 4.6c as listed above. Less than Significant 
Impact with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

G15



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 16 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

Impact 4.7-1: Would the project generate 
greenhouse gas emissions, either directly or 
indirectly, that may have a significant impact 
on the environment? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.7-2: Would the project conflict with 
an applicable plan, policy or regulation 
adopted for the purpose of reducing the 
emissions of greenhouse gases? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.7-3: Would the project have a 
cumulative effect on greenhouse gas 
emissions? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Hazards and Hazardous Materials 

Impact 4.8-1: Would the project create a 
significant hazard to the public or the 
environment through the routine transport, 
use, or disposal of hazardous materials? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.8-2: Would the project create a 
significant hazard to the public or the 
environment through reasonably foreseeable 
upset and accident conditions involving the 
release of hazardous materials into the 
environment? 

Potentially Significant  MM 4.8a 

Construction at the sites of any site in the City with 
known contamination, shall be conducted under a 
project-specific Environmental Site Management 
Plan (ESMP) that is prepared in consultation with the 
Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB) or 
the Department of Toxic Substances Control (DTSC), 
as appropriate. The purpose of the ESMP is to protect 
construction workers, the general public, the 
environment, and future site occupants from 
subsurface hazardous materials previously identified 
at the site and to address the possibility of 
encountering unknown contamination or hazards in 
the subsurface. The ESMP shall summarize soil and 

Less than Significant 
Impact with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

G16



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 17 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

groundwater analytical data collected on the project 
site during past investigations; identify management 
options for excavated soil and groundwater, if 
contaminated media are encountered during deep 
excavations; and identify monitoring, irrigation, or 
other wells requiring proper abandonment in 
compliance with local, State, and federal laws, 
policies, and regulations (ConnectMenlo EIR MM 
HAZ-4a) The ESMP shall include measures for 
identifying, testing, and managing soil and 
groundwater suspected of or known to contain 
hazardous materials.  

The ESMP shall: (1) provide procedures for evaluating, 
handling, storing, testing, and disposing of soil and 
groundwater during project excavation and 
dewatering activities, respectively; (2) describe 
required worker health and safety provisions for all 
workers potentially exposed to hazardous materials in 
accordance with State and federal worker safety 
regulations; and (3) designate personnel responsible 
for implementation of the ESMP. 

MM 4.8b 

For those sites throughout the city with potential 
residual contamination in soil, gas, or groundwater 
that are planned for redevelopment with an overlying 
occupied building, a vapor intrusion assessment shall 
be performed by a licensed environmental 
professional. If the results of the vapor intrusion 
assessment indicate the potential for significant vapor 
intrusion into an occupied building, project design 
shall include vapor controls or source removal, as 
appropriate, in accordance with regulatory agency 

G17



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 18 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

requirements. Soil vapor mitigations or controls could 
include vapor barriers, passive venting, and/or active 
venting. The vapor intrusion assessment and 
associated vapor controls or source removal can be 
incorporated into the ESMP required under MM 4.8a. 
(ConnectMenlo EIR MM HAZ-4b). 

MM 4.8c 

Prior to commencement of any demolition or 
construction activities, the project applicant shall 
prepare a Hazardous Materials Health and Safety Plan 
that identifies required practices and procedures to 
protect the general public and construction workers 
from potentially hazardous materials and accidental 
release of hazardous materials. The practices and 
procedures shall include spill prevention, cleanup and 
evacuation procedures as well as procedures to be 
followed in the event that previously undiscovered 
hazardous materials are encountered during 
construction. The Hazardous Materials Health and 
Safety Plan shall demonstrate compliance with 
California Code of Regulations, Title 8, Chapter 4: 
Subchapter 4: Construction Safety Orders; 
Subchapter 5: Electrical Safety Orders; and 
Subchapter 7: General Industry Safety Orders as well 
as California Health and Safety Code, Section 25100 
et seq.: Hazardous Waste Control Act. 

The Hazardous Materials Health and Safety Plan shall 
also include provisions for completion of a 
comprehensive survey within each existing building to 
identify asbestos-containing materials (ACM) and 
lead-based paints (LBP) prior to any demolition 
activities and shall define procedures for managing 

G18



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 19 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

demolition activities such that ACM and LBP are not 
released into the air and worker exposure to ACM and 
LBP is avoided. These procedures shall be sufficient to 
ensure that demolition of buildings containing ACM 
and/or LBP and disposal of these materials will be 
conducted in accordance with local, state, and federal 
regulations, including the U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency’s (EPA’s) Asbestos National 
Emissions Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants, the 
California Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration’s Construction Lead Standard (8 CCR 
1532.1), California Department of Toxic Substances 
Control, EPA requirements for disposal of hazardous 
waste, and Bay Area Air Quality Management District 
(BAAQMD) Regulation 11, Hazardous Pollutants Rule 
2: Asbestos Demolition, Renovation And 
Manufacturing. At least 10 days prior to demolition, 
the project applicant and/or construction contractor 
shall submit an Asbestos Notification to BAAQMD 
and obtain an Asbestos Demolition/Renovation job 
number. Disposal of any ACM and/or LBP found on 
the site shall be carried out by a contractor trained 
and qualified to conduct lead- or asbestos-related 
construction work and in accordance with the 
appropriate state and federal standards to ensure 
that these materials are not released into the air in 
the project vicinity. 

Impact 4.8-3: Would the project emit 
hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or 
acutely hazardous materials, substances, or 
waste within one-quarter mile of an existing or 
proposed school? 

Potentially Significant  MM 4.2b as listed above. Less than Significant 
Impact with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

G19



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 20 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

Impact 4.8-4: Would the project be located on 
a site that is included on a list of hazardous 
materials sites compiled pursuant to 
Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a 
result, would it create a significant hazard to 
the public or the environment? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.8-5: For a project located within an 
airport land use plan or, where such a plan has 
not been adopted, within two miles of a public 
airport or public use airport, would the project 
result in a safety hazard or excessive noise for 
people residing or working in the project area? 

No Impact  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.8-6: Would the project impair 
implementation of or physically interfere with 
an adopted emergency response plan or 
emergency evacuation plan? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.8-7: Would the project expose 
people or structures, either directly or 
indirectly, to a significant risk of loss, injury, or 
death involving wildland fires? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.8-8: Would the project have a 
cumulative effect on hazards or hazardous 
materials? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Hydrology and Water Quality 

Impact 4.9-1: Would the project violate any 
water quality standards or waste discharge 
requirements or otherwise substantially 
degrade surface or ground water quality? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

G20



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 21 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

Impact 4.9-2: Would the project substantially 
decrease groundwater supplies or interfere 
substantially with groundwater recharge such 
that the project may impede sustainable 
groundwater management of the basin? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.9-3: Would the project substantially 
alter the existing drainage pattern of the site 
or area, including through the alteration of the 
course of a stream or river or through the 
addition of impervious surfaces, in a manner 
which would result in substantial erosion or 
siltation on- or off-site? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.9-4: Would the project substantially 
alter the existing drainage pattern of the site 
or area, including through the alteration of the 
course of a stream or river or through the 
addition of impervious surfaces, in a manner 
which would substantially increase the rate or 
amount of surface runoff in a manner which 
would result in flooding on- or offsite? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.9-5: Would the project substantially 
alter the existing drainage pattern of the site 
or area, including through the alteration of the 
course of a stream or river or through the 
addition of impervious surfaces, in a manner 
which would create or contribute runoff water 
which would exceed the capacity of existing or 
planned stormwater drainage systems or 
provide substantial additional sources of 
polluted runoff? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.9-6: Would the project substantially 
alter the existing drainage pattern of the site 
or area, including through the alteration of the 

Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

G21



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 22 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

course of a stream or river or through the 
addition of impervious surfaces, in a manner 
which would impede or redirect flood flows? 
Impact 4.9-7: In flood hazard, tsunami, or 
seiche zones, would the project risk release of 
pollutants due to project inundation? 

Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.9-8: Would the project conflict with or 
obstruct implementation of a water quality 
control plan or sustainable groundwater 
management plan? 

Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.9-9: Would the project have a 
cumulative effect on hydrology or water 
quality resources? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Land Use and Planning 

Impact 4.10-1: Would the project physically 
divide an established community? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.10-2: Would the project cause a 
significant environmental impact due to a 
conflict with any land use plan, policy, or 
regulation adopted for the purpose of 
avoiding or mitigating an environmental 
effect? 

Less than Significant 
Impact 

No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.10-3: Would the project make a 
cumulatively considerable contribution to a 
significant cumulative impact related to land 
use and planning? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Noise 

Impact 4.11-1: Would the project result in 
generation of a substantial temporary or 
permanent increase in ambient noise levels in 
the vicinity of the project in excess of 

Potentially Significant 
Impact 

MM 4.11a 

Project applicants shall minimize the exposure of 
nearby properties to excessive noise levels from 
construction related activity through CEQA review, 

Less than Significant 
Impact with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

G22



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 23 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

standards established in the local general plan 
or noise ordinance, or applicable standards of 
other agencies? 

conditions of approval and/or enforcement of the 
City’s Noise Ordinance. Prior to issuance of 
demolition, grading, and/or building permits for 
development projects, a note shall be provided on 
development plans indicating that during ongoing 
grading, demolition, and construction, the property 
owner/developer shall be responsible for requiring 
contractors to implement the following measures to 
limit construction related noise: 

Construction activity is limited to the daytime hours 
between 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. on Monday 
through Friday, as prescribed in the City’s 
municipal code. 

All internal combustion engines on construction 
equipment and trucks are fitted with properly 
maintained mufflers, air intake silencers, and/or 
engine shrouds that are no less effective than as 
originally equipped by the manufacturer. 

Stationary equipment such as generators and air 
compressors shall be located as far as feasible from 
nearby noise-sensitive uses. 

Stockpiling is located as far as feasible from nearby 
noise-sensitive receptors. 

Limit unnecessary engine idling to the extent 
feasible. 

Limit the use of public address systems. 
Construction traffic shall be limited to the haul 

routes established by the City of Menlo Park. 
(Modified ConnectMenlo MM NOISE-1c) 

MM 4.11b Construction Noise Control Plan 

The project sponsor shall develop a noise control plan 
for construction at the project site. The plan shall 

G23



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 24 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

require compliance with Section 8.06 of the Menlo 
Park Municipal Code and include measures to ensure 
compliance with the 60 dBA Leq limit during the hours 
of 7:00 a.m. to 8:00 a.m. and the 50 dBA Leq limit 
during the hours of 10:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. In 
addition, the plan shall include measures to ensure 
that construction noise will not result in a 10 dB 
increase over the ambient noise level at nearby 
sensitive receptors (i.e., Hotel Nia). 

The plan shall specify the noise-reducing construction 
practices that will be employed to reduce noise from 
construction activities in Menlo Park and shall 
demonstrate that compliance with these standards 
will be achievable. The measures specified by the 
project sponsor shall be reviewed and approved by 
the City prior to issuance of building permits. 
Measures to reduce noise may include, but are not 
limited to, the following: 

The noise control plan shall demonstrate that noise 
levels during construction on the project site will 
meet the standards of this mitigation measure at 
sensitive receptors while those receptors are in 
use. 

The noise control plan shall demonstrate that any 
construction activities taking place outside of 
normal construction hours of 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 
p.m. Monday through Friday shall comply with 
the 60 dBA Leq limit during the hours of 7:00 a.m. 
to 8:00 a.m. and the 50 dBA Leq limit during the 
hours of 10:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m.  

G24



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 25 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

The plan shall demonstrate that that combined 
construction noise would not result in a 10 dBA 
increase over the ambient noise level at nearby 
sensitive receptors.  

The contractor shall ensure that construction 
equipment will be equipped with mufflers. In 
addition, construction equipment must use the 
best available noise control techniques (e.g., 
improved mufflers, intake silencers, ducts, engine 
enclosures, acoustically attenuating shields, 
shrouds) on equipment and trucks used for 
project construction. 

All construction activities shall be conducted only at 
an adequate distance, or otherwise shielded with 
sound barriers, as determined in the noise control 
plan, from noise- sensitive receptors when 
working outside the normal construction hours of 
8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. Monday through Friday to 
ensure compliance with the Menlo Park Municipal 
Code and this mitigation measure. 

Stationary construction noise source with the 
potential to generate noise levels exceeding the 
applicable thresholds, shall be located at an 
adequate distance, or otherwise shielded with 
temporary sound barriers, from sensitive 
receptors to ensure compliance with the Menlo 
Park Municipal Code and this mitigation measure. 

G25



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 26 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

Temporary noise barriers (height to be determined) 
shall be installed around construction on the 
project site to reduce construction noise from 
equipment used outside the normal construction 
hours of 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. on weekdays. The 
installation of barriers would help reduce overall 
construction noise to less than 50 dBA Leq for 
work occurring between 6:00 a.m. and 7:00 a.m. 
and 60 dBA Leq for work occurring between 7:00 
a.m. and 8:00 a.m., as measured at the applicable 
property lines of the adjacent uses, such that a 10 
dB increase over ambient would not occur at 
nearby sensitive land uses. However, 
confirmation of the noise reduction would be 
required (per the last bullet of this measure, 
below). If the project sponsor can demonstrate, 
through an acoustical analysis, that construction 
noise would not exceed the allowable limits 
during non-exempt hours, as measured at the 
applicable property lines of the adjacent uses 
without barriers, then temporary noise barriers 
shall not be required. 

The effectiveness of noise attenuation measures 
shall be monitored by taking noise measurements 
at nearby noise-sensitive land uses during 
construction activities to ensure that the project 
is not causing an increase over ambient levels 
greater than 10 dB and compliance with the 50 
and 60 dBA Leq standards, which apply outside 
the construction exception hours of 8:00 a.m. and 
6:00 p.m. Monday through Friday. 

G26



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 27 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

Impact 4.11-2: Would the project result in 
generation of excessive groundborne 
vibration or groundborne noise levels? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.11-3: Would the project result in 
cumulatively considerable noise impacts? 

Potentially Significant  MMs 4.11a and 4.11b as listed above. Less than Significant 
Impact with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Population and Housing 

Impact 4.12-1: Would the project induce 
substantial unplanned population growth in an 
area, either directly (for example, by proposing 
new homes and businesses) or indirectly (for 
example, through extension of roads or other 
infrastructure)? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.12-2: Would the project displace 
substantial numbers of existing people or 
housing, necessitating the construction of 
replacement housing elsewhere? 

No Impact  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.12-3: Would the project have a 
cumulative effect on housing and/or 
population resources? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Public Services 

Impact 4.13-1: Would the project result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of new or physically altered governmental 
facilities, need for new or physically altered governmental facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, in order to 
maintain acceptable service ratios, response times, or other performance objectives for any of the public services: 

Fire protection? Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 
Police protection? Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 
Schools? Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 
Parks? Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 
Other public facilities? Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

G27



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 28 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

Impact 4.13-2: Would the project increase the 
use of existing neighborhood or regional 
parks, or other recreational facilities requiring 
the construction of new parks? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.13-3: Would the project include 
recreational facilities or require the 
construction or expansion of recreational 
facilities which might have an adverse physical 
effect on the environment? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.13-4: Would the project contribute 
to a cumulative increase in demand for fire 
services, which could result in the need to 
construct new fire facilities? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.13-5: Would the project contribute 
to a cumulative increase in demand for police 
services, which could result in the need to 
construct new police facilities? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.13-6: Would the project contribute 
to a cumulative increase in demand for 
schools, which could result in the need to 
construct of new school facilities? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.13-7: Would the project contribute 
to a cumulative increase in demand for parks 
or other recreational/public facilities, which 
could result in the need to construct new 
parks or facilities? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Transportation 

Impact 4.14-1: Would the project conflict with 
a program, plan, ordinance, or policy 
addressing the circulation system, including 
transit, roadway, bicycle, and pedestrian 
facilities? 

Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

G28



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 29 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

Impact 4.14-2: Would the project exceed an 
applicable VMT threshold of significance? 

Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.14-3: Would the project 
substantially increase hazards due to a 
geometric design feature (e.g., sharp curves or 
dangerous intersections) or incompatible uses 
(e.g., farm equipment)? 

Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.14-4: Would the project result in 
inadequate emergency access? 

Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.14-5: Would the project have a 
cumulative effect on transportation 
resources? 

Less than Significant  No mitigation measures are required. 
  

N/A 

Tribal Cultural Resources 

Impact 4.15-1: Would the project cause a 
substantial adverse change in the significance 
of a tribal cultural resource, defined in PRC 
Section 21074 as either a site, feature, place, 
cultural landscape that is geographically 
defined in terms of the size and scope of the 
landscape, sacred place, or object with 
cultural value to a California Native American 
tribe, and that is: 
• Listed or eligible for listing in the 

California Register of Historical 
Resources, or in the local register of 
historical resources as defined in Public 
Resources Code Section 5020.1(k); or  

• A resource determined by the lead 
agency, in its discretion and supported by 
substantial evidence, to be significant 
pursuant to criteria set forth in subdivision 
(c) of PRC Section 5024.1. In applying the 

Potentially Significant MM 4.15a Unanticipated Discovery of Tribal 
Cultural Resources. 
In the event that resources with potential to meet the 
definition of a “Tribal Cultural Resource” 
(archaeological sites, features, or artifacts of Native 
American origin or association) are exposed during 
construction activities, the City shall be immediately 
notified and all construction work occurring within 50 
feet of the find shall immediately stop until the find is 
assessed by a qualified archaeologist. A report 
documenting the resource assessment shall be 
submitted to the City. The City shall review this 
information to assess if the resource has potential to 
meet the definition of a Tribal Cultural Resource and, 
if appropriate, contact and/or provide a designated 
individual the authority to notify traditionally and 
culturally affiliated Native American tribes. The tribes 
shall be provided a reasonable time to provide 
comment and recommend treatment of the find. The 

Less than Significant 
Impact with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

G29



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 30 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of PRC 
Section 5024.1, the lead agency shall 
consider the significance of the resource 
to a California Native American tribe. 

City shall review these recommendations and, if they 
are confirmed to be reasonable and appropriate, they 
shall be implemented by the contractor. All 
management strategies shall occur in compliance 
with cultural resources mitigation and pertinent 
regulatory conditions. Treatment for tribal cultural 
resources would be consistent with PRC Section 
21084.3(b), which recommends: (1) avoidance and 
preservation of the resources in place, including 
planning and construction to avoid the resources and 
protect the cultural and natural context, or planning 
greenspace, parks, or other open space, to 
incorporate the resources with culturally appropriate 
protection and management criteria; (2) treating the 
resource with culturally appropriate dignity, taking 
into account the tribal cultural values and meaning of 
the resource, including the following: (a) protecting 
the cultural character and integrity of the resource, 
(b) protecting the traditional use of the resource, and 
(c) protecting the confidentiality of the resource;  
(3) permanent conservation easements or other 
interests in real property, with culturally appropriate 
management criteria for the purposes of preserving 
or utilizing the resources or places; or (4) protecting 
the resource. 

Impact 4.15-2: Would the project make a 
cumulatively considerable contribution to a 
significant cumulative impact related to tribal 
cultural resources? 

Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

G30



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 31 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

Utilities and Service Systems 

Impact 4.16-1: Would the project require or result in the relocation or construction of new or expanded water, wastewater treatment, or storm water 
drainage, electric power, natural gas, or telecommunications facilities, the construction or relocation of which could cause significant environmental effects 
for the following resources? 

Water treatment? Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 
Wastewater conveyance and 
treatment? 

Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Stormwater management Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 
Electrical supply? No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 
Telecommunications? Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.16-2: Would the project have 
sufficient water supplies available to serve the 
project and reasonably foreseeable future 
development during normal, dry, and multiple 
dry years? 

Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.16-3: Would the project result in a 
determination by the wastewater treatment 
provider, which serves or may serve the 
project that it has adequate capacity to serve 
the project’s projected demand in addition to 
the provider’s existing commitments? 

Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.16-4: Would the project generate 
solid waste in excess of State or local 
standards, or in excess of the capacity of local 
infrastructure, or otherwise impair the 
attainment of solid waste reduction goals? 

Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

Impact 4.16-5: Would the project comply with 
federal, state, and local management and 
reduction statutes and regulations related to 
solid waste? 

No Impact No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

G31



SUMMARY OF PROJECT IMPACTS FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT  13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 32 

Table 1-1. Summary of Project Impacts 

Impacts 

Level of 
Significance 
Before Mitigation Mitigation Measure(s) 

Level of Significance 
After Mitigation 

Impact 4.16-6: Would the project have a 
cumulative effect on utilities and/or service 
systems resources? 

Less than Significant No mitigation measures are required. N/A 

 

 

G32



PROJECT ALTERANTIVES IMPACTS SUMMARY FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT 13121 
NOVEMBER 2022 1

Table 7-3. Project Alternatives Impacts Summary 

Environmental Issue 
Proposed Project 
Impacts 

Alternative 
1: No 
Project 
Alternative 

Alternative 
2: Mixed-Use 
Alternative 

Alternative 3: 
Base Level 
Development 
Alternative 

Aesthetics Less than Significant Similar Similar Similar 
Air Quality Less than Significant 

with Mitigation 
Less Similar Less 

Biological Resources Less than Significant 
with Mitigation 

Less Similar Similar 

Cultural Resources Less than Significant 
with Mitigation 

Less Similar Slightly less 

Energy Less than Significant Greater Similar Similar 
Geology, Soils, Seismicity, 
and Paleontological 
Resources 

Less than Significant 
with Mitigation Less Similar Similar 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Less than Significant Greater Similar Similar 
Hazards and Hazardous 
Materials 

Less than Significant 
with Mitigation 

Less Similar Similar 

Hydrology and Water 
Quality 

Less than Significant 
Greater Similar Similar 

Land Use and Planning Less than Significant Greater Similar Similar 
Noise Less than Significant 

with Mitigation 
Less 

Similar Less 

Population and Housing Less than Significant Similar Similar Similar 
Public Services and 
Recreation 

Less than Significant Less 
Similar Less 

Transportation Less than Significant Greater Similar Similar 
Tribal Cultural Resources Less than Significant 

with Mitigation 
Less Similar Slightly less 

Utilities and Service 
Systems 

Less than Significant Less 
Similar Similar 

ATTACHMENT H

H1



4.14 – TRANSPORTATION 

DRAFT EIR FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT—SCREENCHECK DRAFT EIR 13121 
OCTOBER 2022 4.14-1 

4.14.5 Non-CEQA Analysis 
Intersection Level of Service Analysis 

An intersection level of service (LOS) analysis is provided in this section for informational purposes only. The TIA 
contains the analysis methodology and standards, as located in Appendix J1.  

Although the City of Menlo Park adopted VMT thresholds into their TIA Guidelines, the City continues to require LOS 
analysis for conformance with their General Plan. LOS is commonly used as a qualitative description of intersection 
operations and roadway segments and is based on the design capacity of the intersection configuration and roadway 
facility, compared to the volume of traffic using the facility. Compliance criteria identified in the ConnectMenlo 
General Plan Update Circulation Element (City of Menlo Park 2016) and the City of Menlo Park Traffic Impact Analysis 
Guidelines (City of Menlo Park 2020a) were used to evaluate the project’s potential impacts on intersection LOS. 
Thresholds vary depending on street classification and location of the intersection in relation state (Caltrans) 
approaches and jurisdictions. Potential improvements that could bring the proposed project into conformance with 
Circulation Policy 3.4 (strive to maintain LOS D at all City controlled intersections, except at the intersection of 
Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield Road and at intersections along Willow Road from Middlefield Road to US 101) 
are also identified. Implementation of any such measures would require review and approval by City decision makers 
and implementation through project conditions of approval.  

Near Term (2025) Plus Project Conditions 

This section presents the results of a cumulative condition analysis that was conducted for a short-term horizon year 
(2025) assuming the proposed project is constructed and fully occupied. This section follows the City’s TIA Guidelines for 
intersection LOS analysis. Further discussion regarding methodology, LOS definitions, policy standards, and thresholds 
are provided in Appendix J1. The PTV Vistro software was used to determine intersection LOS, consistent with HCM 6 
methodology for both signalized and unsignalized intersections, and detailed LOS calculation worksheets are included 
in Appendix J1. 

Table 4.14-9 identifies the LOS for each intersection included in the study area under the near term no project and plus 
project conditions and whether the project could cause the City’s LOS standards to be exceeded. With the addition of 
project traffic, the following intersections would exceed the thresholds identified in the City’s TIA guidelines and 
increase the average critical movement delay by 0.8 seconds or more during AM and/or PM peak hours. As such, the 
following intersections would be non-compliant with the City’s TIA Guidelines under Near Term (2025) plus project 
conditions.  

 #1 (Marsh Road/Bayfront Expressway) – LOS E in AM and PM peak hours (signalized)

 #9 (Chrysler Drive/Constitution Drive) – LOS F in AM peak hour; LOS E in PM peak hour (signalized) 

 #10 (Chrysler Drive/Jefferson Drive – East Driveway) – LOS F in AM peak hour (unsignalized)

 #11 (Chrysler Drive/Independence Drive) - LOS F in AM peak hour; LOS E in PM peak hour (unsignalized) 

 #14 (Willow Road/Bayfront Expressway) – LOS F in AM and PM peak hours (signalized)

The Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) peak hour signal warrant was performed at the unsignalized 
intersections (#10 and #11) and is provided in Appendix J1. The warrant is not met in either peak hour primarily due to 
lower traffic volumes along Chrysler Drive. 

ATTACHMENT I

DI1



4.14 – TRANSPORTATION 

DRAFT EIR FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT—SCREENCHECK DRAFT EIR  13121 
OCTOBER 2022 4.14-2 

A summary of recommended improvement measures is provided in Table 4.14-11 to improve intersection operations 
to pre-project conditions or better for consistency with the City’s TIA Guidelines.  

DI2



4.14 – TRANSPORTATION 

DRAFT EIR FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT—SCREENCHECK DRAFT EIR  13121 
OCTOBER 2022 4.14-3 

Table 4.14-9. Near Term (2025) Plus Project Peak Hour Intersection Level of Service 

No. Intersection Jurisdiction 
LOS 
Method 

Critical 
Approach 

Near Term (2025) Near Term (2025) plus Project 
Change in 
Avg. Delay 

Inconsistent 
w/City 
Standards?1 

Inconsistent 
w/TIA 
Guidelines?2 

Near Term (2025) plus Project 
w/Improvements 

AM Peak PM Peak AM Peak PM Peak AM Peak PM Peak 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

Avg. 
Delay LOS AM PM AM PM AM PM 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

Avg. 
Delay1 LOS 

1 Marsh Road/Bayfront 
Expressway  

Menlo 
Park/State 

HCM 
Signal 

  58.8 E 60.6 E 59.2 E 61.8 E 0.4 1.2 Yes Yes Yes Yes 50.8 D 63.5 E 

 NB 82.9 F 81.3 F 83.0 F 83.7 F 0.1 2.4 Yes Yes 17.9 B 35.2 D 
EB 99.3 F 86.5 F 99.2 F 87.0 F -0.1 0.6 Yes Yes 68.5 E 77.3 E 

2 Marsh Road/US 101 
NB Off-Ramp  

Menlo 
Park/State 

HCM 
Signal 

 30.8 C 17.8 B 31.4 C 18.7 B 0.6 0.9 No No No No 

 

3 Marsh Road/US 101 
SB Off-Ramp  

Menlo 
Park/State 

HCM 
Signal 

19.8 B 17.7 B 20.0 C 18.1 B 0.2 0.4 No No No No 

4 Marsh Road/Scott 
Drive  

Menlo Park HCM 
Signal 

19.3 B 32.7 C 19.4 B 32.8 C 0.1 0.1 No No No No 

5 Marsh Road/Bay 
Road  

Menlo Park HCM 
Signal 

23.9 C 18.7 B 23.9 C 18.7 B 0.0 0.0 No No No No 

6 Marsh 
Road/Middlefield 
Road 

Atherton HCM 
Signal 

37.6 D 38.1 D 38.0 D 38.3 D 0.4 0.2 No No No No 

7 Marsh Road/Florence 
Street-Bohannon 
Drive  

Menlo Park HCM 
Signal 

40.4 D 55.1 E 40.5 D 55.1 E 0.1 0.0 No Yes No No 

8 Chrysler 
Drive/Bayfront 
Expressway  

Menlo 
Park/State 

HCM 
Signal 

12.7 B 20.3 C 13.8 B 22.5 C 1.1 2.2 No No No No 

9 Chrysler 
Drive/Constitution 
Drive  

Menlo Park HCM 
Signal 

230.9 F 73.7 E 239.4 F 104.2 F 8.5 30.5 Yes Yes Yes Yes 140.1 F 45.5 D 

 SB 340.5 F 208.4 F 400.1 F 314.7 F 59.7 106.3 Yes Yes 338.1 F 100.6 F 
EB 241.6 F 30.4 C 232.3 F 33.3 C -9.2 2.9 Yes No 47.6 D 30.5 C 

10 Chrysler 
Drive/Jefferson 
Drive-East Driveway 

Menlo Park HCM 
TWSC 

 56.6 F 20.8 C 67.3 F 28.9 D 10.7 8.1 Yes No Yes Yes 20.1 C 22.1 C 

11 Chrysler Drive/ 
Independence Drive  

Menlo Park HCM 
TWSC 

291.3 F 45.5 E 336.3 F 50.9 F 45.0 5.4 Yes Yes Yes Yes 31.7 C 21.7 C 

12 Chilco Street/ 
Bayfront Expressway  

Menlo 
Park/State 

HCM 
Signal 

33.8 C 57.6 E 33.9 C 58.7 E 0.1 1.1 No Yes No No 

 
 NB N/A N/A 165.1 F N/A N/A 165.1 F N/A 0.0 No Yes 

13 Chilco Street/ 
Constitution Drive  

Menlo Park HCM 
Signal 

  33.8 C 171.1 F 33.9 C 163.0 F 0.1 -8.1 No Yes No No 

 EB N/A N/A 295.0 F N/A N/A 294.1 F N/A -1.0 No Yes No No 

DI3



4.14 – TRANSPORTATION 

DRAFT EIR FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT—SCREENCHECK DRAFT EIR  13121 
OCTOBER 2022 4.14-4 

Table 4.14-9. Near Term (2025) Plus Project Peak Hour Intersection Level of Service 

No. Intersection Jurisdiction 
LOS 
Method 

Critical 
Approach 

Near Term (2025) Near Term (2025) plus Project 
Change in 
Avg. Delay 

Inconsistent 
w/City 
Standards?1 

Inconsistent 
w/TIA 
Guidelines?2 

Near Term (2025) plus Project 
w/Improvements 

AM Peak PM Peak AM Peak PM Peak AM Peak PM Peak 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

Avg. 
Delay LOS AM PM AM PM AM PM 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

Avg. 
Delay1 LOS 

14 Willow 
Road/Bayfront 
Expressway  

Menlo 
Park/State 

HCM 
Signal 

  137.1 F 113.0 F 136.9 F 114.3 F -0.2 1.3 Yes Yes No Yes N/A N/A —3 —3 

 NB 291.2 F 241.9 F 285.1 F 240.7 F -6.1 -1.2 Yes Yes N/A N/A —3 —3 
SB 68.2 E 130.3 F 68.6 E 139.4 F 0.4 9.1 Yes Yes N/A N/A —3 —3 

15 
University Avenue/ 
Bayfront Expressway  

Menlo 
Park/State 

HCM 
Signal 

  14.1 B 105.4 F 14.2 B 105.8 F 0.1 0.4 No Yes No No 

 

 NB N/A N/A 161.3 F N/A N/A 161.1 F N/A -0.2 No Yes No No 
D1 Southwest Driveway/ 

Independence Drive  
Menlo Park HCM 

TWSC 
  N/A 12.7 B 13.1  N/A B No No No 

D2 Southeast Driveway/ 
Independence Drive  

Menlo Park HCM 
TWSC 

N/A 12.1 B 12.4 N/A B No No No 

D3 North Driveway/ 
Constitution Drive  

Menlo Park HCM 
TWSC 

N/A 17.7 C 12.0 N/A B No No No 

Notes: Bold – Exceeds LOS threshold  
TWSC = two-way stop control; LOS reported for the movement with highest delay; NB = northbound; EB = eastbound; SB - southbound 
N/A = not applicable – critical approach information is not relevant. Critical approach information is relevant where the proposed project would increase delay over the City’s LOS thresholds. 
1 Inconsistency with City standards is provided for informational purposes only to determine whether intersection LOS meets General Plan standards. 
2 The City’s TIA guidelines indicate that intersections with deficient LOS may result in "…a project [being] considered potentially noncompliant with local policies.” The City has discretion to allow LOS to be exceeded in order to achieve other Circulation Element goals and policies. 
3 TIF improvements include adaptive traffic signal coordination along the Bayfront Expressway corridor which is likely to improve LOS operations; however, LOS is unable to be quantified at this time. Additionally, physical intersection improvements are considered infeasible due to right-of way (ROW) 

constraints. 

 

DI4



4.14 – TRANSPORTATION 

DRAFT EIR FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT—SCREENCHECK DRAFT EIR  13121 
OCTOBER 2022 4.14-5 

Cumulative (2040) Plus Project Conditions  

This section presents the results of a cumulative condition analysis that was conducted for a long-term horizon year 
(2040) assuming both buildout of the General Plan and full operation of the proposed project. This section follows the 
City’s TIA Guidelines for intersection LOS analysis. Further discussion regarding methodology, LOS definitions, policy 
standards, and thresholds are provided in Appendix J1. The PTV Vistro software was used to determine intersection 
LOS, consistent with HCM 6 methodology for both signalized and unsignalized intersections, and detailed LOS 
calculation worksheets are included in Appendix J1. 

Table 4.14-10 identifies the LOS for each intersection included in the study area under the cumulative no project and 
plus project conditions and whether the project could cause the City’s LOS standards to be exceeded. With the addition 
of project traffic, the following intersections would exceed the thresholds identified in the City’s TIA guidelines and 
increase the average critical movement delay by 0.8 seconds or more during AM and/or PM peak hours. As such, the 
following intersections would be non-compliant with the City’s TIA Guidelines under cumulative (2040) plus project 
conditions. 

 #1 (Marsh Road/Bayfront Expressway) – LOS E in AM peak hour; LOS F in PM peak hour (signalized) 

 #9 (Chrysler Drive/Constitution Drive) – LOS F in AM and PM peak hours (signalized) 

 #10 (Chrysler Drive/Jefferson Drive – East Driveway) – LOS F in AM peak hour; LOS E in PM peak hour 
(unsignalized) 

 #11 (Chrysler Drive/Independence Drive) - LOS F in AM peak hour (unsignalized) 

 #13 (Chilco Street/Constitution Drive) – LOS F in AM and PM peak hours (signalized) 

 #14 (Willow Road/Bayfront Expressway) – LOS F in AM and PM peak hours (signalized) 

The Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) peak hour signal warrant was performed at the unsignalized 
intersections (#10 and #11) and is provided in Appendix J1. The warrant is not met in either peak hour primarily due to 
lower traffic volumes along Chrysler Drive. 

A summary of recommended improvement measures is provided in Table 4.14-11 to improve intersection operations 
to pre-project conditions or better for consistency with the City’s TIA Guidelines. However, it should be noted that per 
OPR’s Technical Advisory Guidelines (OPR 2018), roadway improvements that are confined to the intersection and do 
not extend through to the next roadway segment (i.e., roadway remaining at 4-lane capacity, even with widening of 
lanes at intersection level), would not likely lead to a substantial or measurable increase in vehicle travel, and therefore 
generally should not require an induced travel analysis. 

It is noted that the ConnectMenlo EIR concluded that additional motor vehicle trips generated on the local roadway 
network as a result of the project would cause an increase in delay to peak hour vehicle traffic, resulting in significant 
impacts at some study intersections and roadway segments. The ConnectMenlo EIR was prepared before the 2018 
CEQA Guidelines update, which included the section implementing SB 743 (CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.3) and 
before the City updated its Traffic Impact Analysis Guidelines. Thus, the ConnectMenlo EIR relied on LOS as a metric 
for defining significant environmental effects.  

ConnectMenlo EIR Mitigation Measure TRANS-1a would require the widening of impacted roadway segments at 
appropriate locations throughout the city to add travel lanes and capacity to accommodate the increase in net daily 
trips. Implementation of Mitigation Measure TRANS-1a would reduce the impacts but not to a less than significant 
level. The ConnectMenlo EIR found that fully mitigating the impact to less than significant levels would be infeasible 

DI5



4.14 – TRANSPORTATION 

DRAFT EIR FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT—SCREENCHECK DRAFT EIR  13121 
OCTOBER 2022 4.14-6 

because it would require eliminating most of the year 2040 traffic growth on impacted segments, including 
background traffic growth and regional traffic growth outside the boundary of the City. Therefore, impacts to roadway 
segments were considered significant and unavoidable. However, these impacts are no longer considered 
environmental effects under CEQA. 

ConnectMenlo EIR Mitigation Measure TRANS-1b requires updates to the City’s TIF program to secure a funding 
mechanism for future roadway and infrastructure improvements to mitigate impacts from future projects (based on 
the current standards at the time the Final EIR was certified) but would not reduce the impact to less than significant 
levels. The City could not guarantee improvements at the impacted intersections because the nexus study (for 
development impact fees under AB 1600) had not been prepared, some improvements could cause secondary 
environmental impacts that would need to be addressed prior to construction, and some impacted intersections are 
within the jurisdiction of the City of East Palo Alto and Caltrans. Therefore, impacts to intersections were considered 
significant and unavoidable. Recently, the City’s TIF program was updated and approved by the City Council. The City’s 
Transportation Master Plan has been updated and was adopted by the City Council on November 17, 2020. The 
identified roadway improvements would not fully mitigate the intersection impacts identified in the ConnectMenlo 
EIR; however, these impacts are no longer considered environmental effects under CEQA. 

 

  

DI6



4.14 – TRANSPORTATION 

DRAFT EIR FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT—SCREENCHECK DRAFT EIR  13121 
OCTOBER 2022 4.14-7 

Table 4.14-10. Cumulative (2040) Peak Hour Intersection Level of Service 

No. Intersection 
Jurisdictio
n 

LOS 
Method 

Critical 
Approach 

Cumulative (2040) Cumulative (2040) plus Project 
Change in 
Avg. Delay 

Inconsistent 
w/City 
Standards?1 

Inconsistent 
w/TIA 
Guidelines?2 

Cumulative (2040) plus Project 
w/Improvements 

AM Peak PM Peak AM Peak PM Peak AM Peak PM Peak 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

Avg. 
Delay LOS AM PM AM PM AM PM 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

1 Marsh 
Road/Bayfront 
Expressway  

Menlo 
Park/State 

HCM 
Signal 

  61.9 E 96.3 F 62.5 E 99.1 F 0.6 2.8 Yes Yes No Yes 54.5 D 97.7 F 

 NB 74.9 E 101.6 F 75.0 E 101.6 F 0.2 0.0 Yes Yes 37.8 D 100.8 F 
EB 111.4 F 132.1 F 112.0 F 134.9 F 0.6 2.8 Yes Yes 78.0 E 126.5 F 

2 Marsh Road/US 101 
NB Off-Ramp  

Menlo 
Park/State 

HCM 
Signal 

 61.6 E 21.3 C 62.2 E 22.8 C 0.6 1.5 Yes No No No  

3 Marsh Road/US 101 
SB Off-Ramp  

Menlo 
Park/State 

HCM 
Signal 

21.8 C 18.0 B 22.4 C 18.3 B 0.6 0.3 No No No No 

4 Marsh Road/Scott 
Drive  

Menlo Park HCM 
Signal 

31.7 C 36.9 D 31.8 C 37.0 D 0.1 0.1 No No No No 

5 Marsh Road/Bay 
Road  

Menlo Park HCM 
Signal 

64.9 E 54.9 D 64.8 E 54.9 D -0.1 0.0 Yes No No No 

 EB 182.5 F N/A N/A 182.5 F N/A N/A 0.0 N/A Yes No No No 
6 Marsh 

Road/Middlefield 
Road 

Atherton HCM 
Signal 

 48.3 D 45.4 D 49.1 D 45.7 D 0.8 0.3 No No No No 

7 Marsh 
Road/Florence 
Street-Bohannon 
Drive  

Menlo Park HCM 
Signal 

60.3 E 90.9 F 60.4 E 90.8 F 0.1 -0.1 Yes Yes No No 

 NB 84.9 F 195.9 F 84.9 F 195.0 F 0.0 -0.9 Yes Yes 
8 Chrysler 

Drive/Bayfront 
Expressway  

Menlo 
Park/State 

HCM 
Signal 

 11.7 B 29.8 C 12.8 B 36.3 D 1.1 6.5 No No No No 

9 Chrysler Drive/ 
Constitution Drive  

Menlo Park HCM 
Signal 

328.6 F 151.4 F 342.1 F 193.5 F 13.5 42.1 Yes Yes Yes Yes 252.7 F 106.5 F 

 
SB 635.8 F 489.9 F 713.5 F 640.0 F 77.7 150.1 Yes Yes 633.0 F 321.4 F 
EB 266.6 F 40.4 D 253.4 F 43.0 D -13.2 2.6 Yes No 97.2 F 41.1 D 

10 Chrysler 
Drive/Jefferson 
Drive-East Driveway 

Menlo Park HCM 
TWSC 

  76.5 F 22.2 C 117.8 F 36.0 E 41.3 13.8 Yes Yes Yes Yes 19.9 B 26.0 C 

11 Chrysler Drive/ 
Independence Drive  

Menlo Park HCM 
TWSC 

  47.9 E 17.8 C 60.5 F 18.5 C 12.6 0.7 Yes No Yes Yes 15.5 B 18.7 B 

12 Chilco 
Street/Bayfront 
Expressway  

Menlo 
Park/State 

HCM 
Signal 

  71.9 E 113.7 F 71.9 E 114.6 F 0.0 0.9 Yes Yes No No     

 NB 138.1 F 337.5 F 138.1 F 337.5 F 0.0 0.0 Yes Yes     

DI7



4.14 – TRANSPORTATION 

DRAFT EIR FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT—SCREENCHECK DRAFT EIR  13121 
OCTOBER 2022 4.14-8 

Table 4.14-10. Cumulative (2040) Peak Hour Intersection Level of Service 

No. Intersection 
Jurisdictio
n 

LOS 
Method 

Critical 
Approach 

Cumulative (2040) Cumulative (2040) plus Project 
Change in 
Avg. Delay 

Inconsistent 
w/City 
Standards?1 

Inconsistent 
w/TIA 
Guidelines?2 

Cumulative (2040) plus Project 
w/Improvements 

AM Peak PM Peak AM Peak PM Peak AM Peak PM Peak 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

Avg. 
Delay LOS AM PM AM PM AM PM 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

Avg. 
Delay LOS 

13 
Chilco 
Street/Constitution 
Drive  

Menlo Park HCM 
Signal 

  87.1 F 201.4 F 87.6 F 202.8 F 0.5 1.4 Yes Yes No Yes N/A N/A 116.4 F 

 NB 106.4 F 264.7 F 106.6 F 272.0 F 0.2 7.3 Yes Yes N/A N/A 191.8 F 

14 
Willow 
Road/Bayfront 
Expressway  

Menlo Park/ 
State 

HCM 
Signal 

  187.2 F 159.3 F 186.6 F 163.1 F -0.6 3.8 Yes Yes No Yes N/A N/A - 3 - 3 

 
NB 379.9 F 255.0 F 373.7 F 253.8 F -6.3 -1.2 Yes Yes N/A N/A - 3 - 3 
SB 60.6 E 387.4 F 60.8 E 421.4 F 0.2 34.0 Yes Yes N/A N/A - 3 - 3 

15 
University Avenue/ 
Bayfront 
Expressway  

Menlo Park/ 
State 

HCM 
Signal 

  13.2 B 141.2 F 13.2 B 141.7 F 0.0 0.5 No Yes No No     

 NB N/A N/A 162.3 F N/A N/A 162.2 F N/A N/A No Yes     
D1 Southwest 

Driveway/ 
Independence Drive  

Menlo Park HCM 
TWSC 

 N/A 11.2 B 11.3 B N/A No No No No     

D2 Southeast Driveway/ 
Independence Drive  

Menlo Park HCM 
TWSC 

N/A 10.8 B 11.0 B N/A No No No No     

D3 North Driveway/ 
Constitution Drive  

Menlo Park HCM 
TWSC 

N/A 17.6 C 12.1 B N/A No No No No     

Notes: Bold – Exceeds LOS threshold  
TWSC = two-way stop control; LOS reported for the movement with highest delay; NB = northbound; EB = eastbound; SB - southbound 
N/A = not applicable – critical approach information is not relevant. Critical approach information is relevant where the proposed project would increase delay over the City’s LOS thresholds. 
1 Inconsistency with City standards is provided for informational purposes only to determine whether intersection LOS meets General Plan standards. 
2 The City’s TIA guidelines indicate that intersections with deficient LOS may result in "…a project [being] considered potentially noncompliant with local policies.” The City has discretion to allow LOS to be exceeded in order to achieve other Circulation Element goals and policies. 
3 TIF improvements include adaptive traffic signal coordination along the Bayfront Expressway corridor which is likely to improve LOS operations; however, LOS is unable to be quantified at this time. Additionally, physical intersection improvements are considered infeasible due to right-of way (ROW) 

constraints. 

 

DI8



4.14 – TRANSPORTATION 

DRAFT EIR FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT—SCREENCHECK DRAFT EIR  13121 
OCTOBER 2022 4.14-9 

Table 4.14-11. Summary of Recommended Improvement Measures 

No
. 

Intersectio
n 

Jurisdic
tion 

Near Term (2025) 
Plus Project 

Cumulative (2040) 
Plus Project 

Improvemen
t in TIF Fee 
Program?a 

Project 
Responsi
bility 

1 Marsh 
Road/Bayfro
nt 
Expressway 

Menlo 
Park/ 
State 

Modify signal phasing 
for eastbound right-
turning movements to 
overlap phasing. 

Same No Design/Inst
allation 

c    
9 Chrysler 

Drive/Constit
ution Drive  

Menlo 
Park 

Widen and reconfigure 
eastbound approach to 
one eastbound left-turn 
lane, one eastbound 
through lane, and one 
eastbound right-turn 
lane. c  

Same No Design/Inst
allation 

10 Chrysler 
Drive/Jeffers
on Drive-East 
Driveway 

Menlo 
Park 

Install a traffic signald Same Yes - Menlo 
Gateway 
Mitigation 

Design/Inst
allation 

11 Chrysler 
Drive/ 
Independenc
e Drive  

Menlo 
Park 

Install a traffic signald Same Yes - Chrysler 
Drive 
Intersection 
Improvements 

Design/Inst
allation 

13 Chilco Street/ 
Constitution 
Drive  

Menlo 
Park 

N/A Widen and 
reconfigure 
eastbound approach 
to one eastbound left-
turn lane, one 
eastbound through 
lane, and one 
eastbound right-turn 
lane c  

No Fair Share 
(0.54%) 

Widen and reconfigure 
westbound approach 
to one westbound left-
turn lane, one 
westbound through 
lane, and one 
westbound right-turn 
lane c  

No Fair Share 
(0.54%) 

Modify signal phasing 
for east and 
westbound left-
turning movements 
to protected-
permitted phasing 

No Fair Share 
(0.54%) 

DI9



4.14 – TRANSPORTATION 

DRAFT EIR FOR 123 INDEPENDENCE DRIVE RESIDENTIAL PROJECT—SCREENCHECK DRAFT EIR  13121 
OCTOBER 2022 4.14-10 

Table 4.14-11. Summary of Recommended Improvement Measures 

No
. 

Intersectio
n 

Jurisdic
tion 

Near Term (2025) 
Plus Project 

Cumulative (2040) 
Plus Project 

Improvemen
t in TIF Fee 
Program?a 

Project 
Responsi
bility 

14 Willow Road/ 
Bayfront 
Expressway  

Menlo 
Park/ 
State 

Widen the eastbound 
approach with an 
additional through 
lane. Widen the 
northbound approach 
with an additional left-
turn lane. These 
physical improvements 
would not be feasible.ee 

Samee Yes - Bayfront 
Expressway 
Multimodal 
Corridor 
Project 

Design/Inst
allation 

Notes: a Improvements included in City of Menlo Park Transportation Impact Fee (TIF) program and noted in the City of Menlo Park TIF 
Nexus Study (January 3, 2020). b Identifies either the project's responsibility to construct an improvement or contribute fair share towards 
the implementation of improvements outside of payment to the TIF program. Project responsibility and improvements will be determined 
in the project's conditions of approval. c May require right-of-way (ROW) acquisition and/or relocation of utilities and/or mature trees. This 
approach is also along private ROW. d MUTCD peak hour signal warrants are not met under either the 2025 or 2040 conditions with the 
addition of project traffic; however, signalization is recommended due to the volume of vehicles approaching on minor streets and 
potential for queuing along stop-controlled approaches. Additionally, signalization is included as part of the noted TIF projects at these 
intersections in the City of Menlo Park TIF Nexus Study. e TIF improvements include adaptive traffic signal coordination along the Bayfront 
Expressway corridor which is likely to improve LOS operations; however, LOS is unable to be quantified at this time. Additionally, physical 
intersection improvements are considered infeasible due to ROW constraints for both the eastbound approach and the northbound 
approach. 

 

DI10



1 | P a g e

Tables outlining the potential improvements for intersections exceed the Level-Of-
Service thresholds 

Potential Improvements to Return Intersections Exceeding LOS Thresholds for Near-Term (2025) Plus 
Project Conditions and Cumulative (2040) Plus Project to Pre-Project Conditions 

Intersection 
and 

Jurisdiction 

Affected 
Peak Hour 

Period 

Improvement Type for Near 
Term (2025) Plus Project 

Improvement Type for 
Cumulative (2040) Plus 

Project 

TIA 
Reference 

Staff’s Preliminary 
Feasibility 

Determination 

#1 Marsh 
Road/Bayfront 
Expressway 
(State) 

AM and PM 

Modify signal phasing for 
eastbound (haven Avenue) 
right-turning movements to 
overlap phasing 

Same Pages: 54,55, 
63, 64, 71, 72 

Low: Conflicts with 
TIF program 
improvements. 

#9: Chrysler 
Drive and 
Constitution 
Drive (Menlo 
Park) 

AM and PM 

Widen and reconfigure 
eastbound (Constitution 
Drive) approach to one 
eastbound left-turn lane, one 
eastbound through lane, and 
one eastbound right-turn lane 

Same Pages: 54,55, 
63, 64, 71, 72 

Low: Improvements 
likely requires 
roadway 
widening/ROW 
acquisition 

#10: Chrysler 
Drive and 
Jefferson 
Drive-East 
Driveway 

(Menlo Park) 

AM for Near 
Term (2025) 
Plus project 

condition 
and  AM 

and PM for 
Cumulative 
(2040) Plus 

Project 
condition 

Install a traffic signal Same Pages: 54,55, 
63, 64, 71, 72 

High: Included in the 
City’s TIF program. 

#11: Chrysler 
Drive and 

Independence 
Drive (Menlo 

Park) 

AM and PM 
for Near 

Term (2025) 
Plus project 

condition 
and  AM for 
Cumulative 
(2040) Plus 

Project 
condition 

Install a traffic signal Same Pages: 54,55, 
63, 64, 71, 72 

High: Included in the 
City’s TIF program. 

#13: Chilco 
Street and 
Constitution 
Drive (Menlo 
Park) 

AM and PM 
for only 
Cumulative 
(2040) Plus 
Project 
condition 

none 

Widen and reconfigure 
eastbound (Constitution 
Drive) approach to on 
eastbound left-turn lane, 
one eastbound through 
lane, and one eastbound 
right-turn lane; Widen and 
reconfigure westbound 
approach to one 
westbound left-turn lane, 
one westbound through 
lane, and one westbound 
right-turn lane; Modify 

Pages: 63,64, 
71, 72 

High: The project’s 
fair share percent is 
approximately 0.54% 
for all three 
improvements 

ATTACHMENT J

J1



  Attachment J 

2 | P a g e  
 

 

 

signal phasing for east and 
westbound left-turning 
movements to protected-
permitted phasing 

#14: Willow 
Road and 
Bayfront 
Expressway 
(State) 

AM and PM 

Widen the eastbound 
(Bayfront Expressway) 
approach with an additional 
through lane; widen the 
northbound approach with an 
additional left-turn lane 

Same Pages: 54,55, 
63, 64, 71, 72 

Low: Improvements 
likely requires 
roadway 
widening/ROW 
acquisition and will 
need Caltrans 
approval.  

J2



Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site 

123 Independence Drive 

Menlo Park, San Mateo County, CA 94025 

NKF Job No.: 21-0132828-1 

Appraisal Report Prepared For: 

Sierra Sousa 

Development Associate 

The Sobrato Organization 

599 Castro Street 

Mountain View, CA  94041 

Prepared By: 

Newmark Knight Frank 

Valuation & Advisory, LLC 

2950 S. Delaware Street, Suite 125  

San Mateo, CA 94403   

ATTACHMENT L

L1



  

Newmark Knight Frank 
2950 S. Delaware Street, Suite 125 
San Mateo, CA 94403 
www.ngkf.com 

November 23, 2022 

Sierra Sousa 
Development Associate 
The Sobrato Organization 
599 Castro Street 
Mountain View, CA  94041 

RE: Appraisal of Land located at 123 Independence Drive, Menlo Park, San Mateo County, CA 
94025, prepared by Newmark Knight Frank Valuation & Advisory, LLC (herein “Firm” or 
“NKF”) 

 

NKF Job No.:  21-0132828-1 
 

Dear Ms. Sousa: 

The “Subject Property” is an 8.15-acre development site. The parcel numbers for the subject site 
are 055-236-140, 180, 240, 280 & 300. A tentative map describing the site is included the addenda 
of this report. This report provides a value of the community amenities under bonus level zoning 
for this site. The appraisal instructions for determining this value are included in the addenda of 
this report.  

A total of 116 townhomes (for sale condominiums) and 316 apartments (for rent) are planned for 
the site. The City of Menlo Park indicates that 476,962 square feet of building area is planned for 
the site. A detailed summary of the site and development plans follows: 

 

L2



November 23, 2022 
Sierra Sousa 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

COVID-19 Pandemic 
The COVID-19 Pandemic has had a significant impact on the economy and, by extension, real 
estate markets.  Commercial real estate is transforming and adapting with some similarities and 
some differences to previous crises.  As the Pandemic has progressed, there has been greater 
clarity about the effects through metric and transactional data as well as market participant 
information and expectations.  Although transactional data is hard to come by, month over month 
sales volumes are turning positive – they are just still significantly depressed as evidenced by 
2nd Quarter U.S. sales volume decreasing 68% from the same period last year according to Real 
Capital Analytics.  Available data and analyses are contained within this appraisal report and are 
a foundation to the appraisal.  Effects and projections related to COVID-19 will be addressed 
throughout the report.   

Based on the analysis contained in the following report, the opinions of value for the subject are: 

L3



November 23, 2022 
Sierra Sousa 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 
 

Extraordinary Assumptions 
An extraordinary assumption is defined in USPAP as an assignment-specific assumption as of 
the effective date regarding uncertain information used in an analysis which, if found to be false, 
could alter the appraiser’s opinions or conclusions. The value conclusions are subject to the 
following extraordinary assumptions that may affect the assignment results. 

 

Hypothetical Conditions 
A hypothetical condition is defined in USPAP as a condition, directly related to a specific 
assignment, which is contrary to what is known by the appraiser to exist on the effective date of 
the assignment results but is used for the purpose of analysis. The value conclusions are based 
on the following hypothetical conditions that may affect the assignment results. 

 
The appraisal was developed based on, and this report has been prepared in conformance with 
the Client’s appraisal requirements, the guidelines and recommendations set forth in the Uniform 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP), and the requirements of the Code of 
Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute.  

Value Conclusions
Appraisal Premise Interest Appraised Date of Value Value Conclusion
Land Value at the Bonus Level Fee Simple 1/8/2022 $88,200,000
Land Value at the Base Level Fee Simple 1/8/2022 $81,500,000
Value of the Additional GFA Proposed Fee Simple 1/8/2022 $6,700,000
Value of the Amenity Fee Simple 1/8/2022 $3,350,000
Compiled by NKF

1. None

1.

2.

3.

We are not giving consideration to the improvements on the site as per the City of Menlo Park Appraisal 
Instructions

The value conclusions under each scenario are based on the hypothetical assumption that the project is fully 
entitled at the stated development density per the City of Menlo Park Appraisal Instructions

The use of these hypothetical conditions might have affected assignment results.

The bonus level land value conclusion does not consider the community amenities requirement per the City of 
Menlo Park Appraisal Instructions

L4



Certification 5 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Certification 
We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief: 

 

 

 

 
 
 

1. The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct.
2. The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions and limiting 

conditions and are our personal, impartial and unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and conclusions.
3. We have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and no personal 

interest with respect to the parties involved.
4. We have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties involved with this 

assignment.
5. Our engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined results.
6. Our compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or reporting of a 

predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the amount of the value opinion, the 
attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event directly related to the intended use of 
this appraisal.

7. This appraisal assignment was not based upon a requested minimum valuation, a specific valuation, or the 
approval of a loan.

8. Our analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared, in conformity with 
the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice, as well as the requirements of the State of California.

9. The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared, in 
conformity with the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the 
Appraisal Institute.

10. The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by its duly 
authorized representatives.

11. As of the date of this report, John Walsh, MAI, MRICS has completed the continuing education program for 
Designated Members of the Appraisal Institute.

12. John Walsh, MAI, MRICS made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report. 
13. No one provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person(s) signing this certification.   
14. The Firm operates as an independent economic entity.  Although employees of other service lines or affiliates of 

the Firm may be contacted as a part of our routine market research investigations, absolute client confidentiality 
and privacy were maintained at all times with regard to this assignment without conflict of interest.

15. Within this report, "Newmark Knight Frank", "NKF Valuation & Advisory", "NKF, Inc.", and similar forms of 
reference refer only to the appraiser(s) who have signed this certification and any persons noted above as having 
provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the persons signing this report.

16. John Walsh, MAI, MRICS has prepared two appraisals of the subject property for the current client within the three-
year period immediately preceding the agreement to perform this assignment.  John Walsh, MAI, MRICS has 
performed no other services, as an appraiser or in any other capacity, regarding the subject property during this 
time period.    

L5



Certification 6 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

  
John Walsh, MAI, MRICS 
Senior Vice President 
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser 
California # AG003248 
Telephone: 650.358.5263 
Email: John.Walsh@nmrk.com 

 

  

  
  

L6



Table of Contents 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Table of Contents 

Appraisal Transmittal and Certification 
Certification 
Table of Contents 
Subject Maps 
Subject Photographs 

Executive Summary 11 

Introduction 13 

Economic Analysis 16 
The Impact of COVID-19 16 
Area Analysis 16 
Neighborhood Analysis 23 
Multifamily Market Analysis 28 

Land and Site Analysis 36 

Zoning and Legal Restrictions 40 

Highest and Best Use 41 

Appraisal Methodology 43 

Sales Comparison Approach 44 

Reconciliation of Value 52 

Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 54 

Addenda 
A. Glossary of Terms 
B. Property Information 
C. Comparable Data 
D. Land Sales 
E. Appraiser Qualifications and Licenses 
 

L7



Subject Maps 8 

 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 
Aerial Photo 

 
Location Map 

L8



Subject Photographs 9 

 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

 

 
Property Photo  Property Photo 

 

 

 
Property Photo  Property Photo 

 

 

 
Property Photo  Property Photo 

 

L9



Subject Photographs 10 

 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

 

 
Property Photo  Property Photo 

 

  

Property Photo   
   
   
   
   

   

   
   
   

 
   
   
   
   
   

 

L10



Executive Summary 11 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Executive Summary 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Property Type: Land-MF Residential
Street Address: 123 Independence Drive
City, State & Zip: Menlo Park, San Mateo County, CA 94025
Number of Units: 432
Land Area: 8.150 acres; 355,014 SF
Zoning: R-MU-B
Highest and Best Use - As Vacant: A Multifamily Use

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site

Analysis Details
Valuation Dates:

Land Value at the Bonus Level January 8, 2022
Land Value at the Base Level January 8, 2022
Value of the Additional GFA Proposed January 8, 2022
Value of the Amenity January 8, 2022

Inspection Date and Date of Photos:
Report Date:
Report Type:
Client:
Intended Use:
Intended User:
Appraisal Premise:
Intended Use and User:

Interest Appraised:
Exposure Time (Marketing Period) Estimate:

The Sobrato Organization

January 8, 2022

Land Value at the Bonus Level, Land Value at the Base Level 

November 23, 2022

The intended use and user of our report are specifically identified in our report as agreed upon in our 
contract for services and/or reliance language found in the report. No other use or user of the report is 
permitted by any other party for any other purpose. Dissemination of this report by any party to non-client, 
non-intended users does not extend reliance to any other party and Newmark Knight Frank will not be 
responsible for unauthorized use of the report, its conclusions or contents used partially or in its entirety.

Appraisal Report

Internal Business Decisions
The Sobrato Organization and the City of Menlo Park

Fee Simple
6 Months (6 Months)

Compiled by NKF

Valuation Summary

Value of the Amenity $3,350,000
Compiled by NKF

L11



Executive Summary 12 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 
 

1.

1.

2.

3.

Compiled by NKF

We are not giving consideration to the improvements on the site as per the City of Menlo Park Appraisal 
Instructions

Extraordinary Assumptions and Hypothetical Conditions
An extraordinary assumption is defined in USPAP as an assignment-specific assumption as of the effective date regarding 
uncertain information used in an analysis which, if found to be false, could alter the appraiser’s opinions or conclusions.  The 
value conclusions are subject to the following extraordinary assumptions that may affect the assignment results.

A hypothetical condition is defined in USPAP as a condition, directly related to a specific assignment, which is contrary to 
what is known by the appraiser to exist on the effective date of the assignment results, but is used for the purpose of 
analysis.  The value conclusions are based on the following hypothetical conditions that may affect the assignment results.

None

The value conclusions under each scenario are based on the hypothetical assumption that the project is fully 
entitled at the stated development density per the City of Menlo Park Appraisal Instructions

The use of these hypothetical conditions might have affected assignment results.

The bonus level land value conclusion does not consider the community amenities requirement per the City of 
Menlo Park Appraisal Instructions

L12



Introduction 13 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Introduction 

Ownership History 
The current owner is The Sobrato Organization.  The following summarizes a three-year history 
of ownership, the current listing status, and pending transactions for the subject property (as 
applicable).   

 

To the best of our knowledge, no other sale or transfer of ownership has taken place within a 
three-year period prior to the effective date of the appraisal. 

Intended Use and User 
The intended use and user of our report are specifically identified in our report as agreed upon in 
our contract for services and/or reliance language found in the report. No other use or user of the 
report is permitted by any other party for any other purpose. Dissemination of this report by any 
party to non-client, non-intended users does not extend reliance to any other party and Newmark 
Knight Frank will not be responsible for unauthorized use of the report, its conclusions or contents 
used partially or in its entirety. 

The intended use of the appraisal is for Internal Business Decisions related to 
obtaining development approvals with the City of Menlo Park and no other use is 
permitted. 

The client is The Sobrato Organization. 

The intended user is The Sobrato Organization and the City of Menlo Park and no other 
user is permitted by any other party for any other purpose. 

Definition of Value 
Market value is defined as: 

“The most probable price which a property should bring in a competitive and open market under 
all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and 
knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus. Implicit in this 

Listing Status: Not Listed For Sale
Current or Pending Contract: None Reported
Sales in the Previous Three Years: None

Compiled by NKF

Ownership History
To the best of our knowledge, no sale or transfer of ownership has taken place within the three-year period prior to the effective date 
of the appraisal.

L13



Introduction 14 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the passing of title from seller 
to buyer under conditions whereby: 

Buyer and seller are typically motivated; 

Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what they consider their 
own best interests; 

A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; 

Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial arrangements 
comparable thereto; and 

The price represents the normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by 
special or creative financing or sales concessions granted by anyone associated with 
the sale.” 

(Source: Code of Federal Regulations, Title 12, Chapter I, Part 34.42[g]; also, Interagency Appraisal and 
Evaluation Guidelines, Federal Register, 75 FR 77449, December 10, 2010, page 77472) 

Interest Appraised 

The appraisal is of the Fee Simple interest.1 

Fee Simple Estate:  Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate, subject only 
to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers of taxation, eminent domain, police power, 
and escheat. 

Appraisal Report 
This appraisal is presented in the form of an appraisal report, which is intended to comply with 
the reporting requirements set forth under Standards Rule 2-2(a) of USPAP. This report 
incorporates sufficient information regarding the data, reasoning and analysis that were used to 
develop the opinion of value in accordance with the intended use and user. 

Purpose of the Appraisal 
The purpose of the appraisal is to develop an opinion of the Value of the Amenity of the Fee 
Simple Interest in the property. 

 
1 The Dictionary of Real Estate, 6th Edition, Appraisal Institute 

L14



Introduction 15 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

Scope of Work 
Extent to Which the Property is Identified 

Physical characteristics 
Legal characteristics 
Economic characteristics 

 

Extent to Which the Property is Inspected 
NKF inspected the subject property on January 8, 2022 as per the defined scope of work.  John 
Walsh, MAI, MRICS made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report.    

Type and Extent of the Data Researched 
Exposure and marking time; 
Neighborhood and land use trends; 
Demographic trends; 
Market trends relative to the 
subject property type; 
Physical characteristics of the site 
and applicable improvements; 

Flood zone status; 
Zoning requirements and 
compliance; 
Real estate tax data; 
Relevant applicable comparable 
data; and 
Investment rates 

Type and Extent of Analysis Applied 
We analyzed the property and market data gathered through the use of appropriate, relevant, and 
accepted market-derived methods and procedures. Further, we employed the appropriate and 
relevant approaches to value, and correlated and reconciled the results into an estimate of market 
value, as demonstrated within the appraisal report. 

Purpose of the Appraisal
Appraisal Premise Interest Appraised Date of Value
Land Value at the Bonus Level Fee Simple 1/8/2022
Land Value at the Base Level Fee Simple 1/8/2022
Value of the Additional GFA Proposed Fee Simple 1/8/2022
Value of the Amenity Fee Simple 1/8/2022
Compiled by NKF

L15



Economic Analysis 16 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Economic Analysis 

The Impact of COVID-19 
It is well known that the past several months have been volatile.  Real estate market volatility has 
resulted from the COVID-19 pandemic as well as other events such as oil price declines.  Every 
day, there is greater clarity about the effects and expectations as evidenced by transaction 
activity, various data sources, and market participants.  We have continuously reached out to 
brokers and other market participants to understand how the market is reacting.   

Most of our major data sources, such as Moody’s economy.com, include both COVID-19 
pandemic period data and projections inclusive of its effects.  This data is included within this 
section as well as throughout this report and is a central foundation of our analysis.  There are an 
increasing number of transactions occurring and these are providing indications of trends. 

Area Analysis 

 
Area Map 

 
The subject is located within Menlo Park and San Mateo County, California.  It is part of the San 
Francisco-Redwood City-South San Francisco metro area (San Francisco MSA).   

L16



Economic Analysis 17 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Moody’s Analytics’ Economy.com provides the following economic summary for the San 
Francisco MSA as of March, 2021.   

 

Moody’s summarizes the area’s economic performance in recent months as follows: 

Recent Performance 
San Francisco MSA is down but not out. Barely a quarter of lost jobs have been recovered, well 
below the state average, which is itself a laggard. However, key drivers such as professional 
services and information are adding jobs. The metro division has recently moved into the third 
stage of the state's four-tier reopening process, and its share of vaccinated residents is among 
the highest in the country. Multifamily housing permits have bounced back to near their pre-
pandemic pace, and single-family permits have been on an upward trajectory for several months. 

Market Comparison 
The following table illustrates key economic indicators and a comparison of the San Francisco 
MSA to the regional grouping as a whole.  As indicated, San Francisco is projected to outperform 
the West Region Metros in seven of eight performance categories shown over the next five years.   

 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 INDICATORS 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
187.2 200.5 216.0 229.9 246.0 236.4 Gross metro product (C12$ bil) 249.9 270.8 280.6 289.4 296.6 303.5

8.0 7.1 7.8 6.4 7.0 -3.9 % change 5.7 8.3 3.6 3.1 2.5 2.3
1,038.5 1,080.2 1,104.4 1,136.8 1,177.8 1,072.7 Total employment (ths) 1,077.7 1,140.6 1,170.9 1,188.2 1,198.2 1,206.6

4.8 4.0 2.2 2.9 3.6 -8.9 % change 0.5 5.8 2.7 1.5 0.8 0.7
3.5 3.2 2.8 2.4 2.1 7.2 Unemployment rate (%) 4.8 2.4 1.7 1.8 2.2 2.3

10.1 6.6 8.3 8.8 4.5 -0.2 Personal income growth (%) 7.6 4.6 7.1 7.1 6.1 6.0
98.3 105.2 112.1 120.3 130.4 131.4 Median household income ($ ths) 137.6 142.2 149.6 157.6 165.1 172.9

1,628.1 1,639.4 1,646.9 1,649.4 1,648.1 1,657.3 Population (ths) 1,668.7 1,679.7 1,690.8 1,701.8 1,712.4 1,722.8
1.3 0.7 0.5 0.1 -0.1 0.6 % change 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.6 0.6

12.3 3.7 0.4 -3.7 -6.9 3.1 Net migration (ths) 5.4 4.9 5.1 5.2 5.0 4.9
626 550 405 348 376 366 Single-family permits (#) 671 1,082 1,339 1,341 1,332 1,258

4,659 5,512 5,211 5,946 4,176 2,408 Multifamily permits (#) 2,973 2,772 3,519 3,720 3,751 3,539
357 389 408 446 444 427 FHFA house price (1995Q1=100) 420 452 501 570 639 703

Source: Moody's Analytics Précis® US Metro

Moody's Analytics Précis® Metro Indicators: San Francisco Metro

Indicator 2015 2020 2025 2015 - 2020 2020 - 2025 2015 2020 2025 2015 - 2020 2020 - 2025
Gross metro product (C12$ bil) 200.5 249.9 303.5 4.5% 4.0% 4,314 4,844 5,814 2.3% 3.7%
Total employment (ths) 1,080.2 1,077.7 1,206.6 0.0% 2.3% 32,023 32,850 35,894 0.5% 1.8%
Unemployment rate (%) 3.2% 4.8% 2.3% 5.7% 9.2% 4.8%
Personal income growth (%) 6.6% 7.6% 6.0% 6.8% 6.0% 5.1%
Population (ths) 1,639.4 1,668.7 1,722.8 0.4% 0.6% 75,743 78,939 81,916 0.8% 0.7%
Single-family permits (#) 550 671 1,258 4.0% 13.4% 160,707 221,687 333,584 6.6% 8.5%
Multifamily permits (#) 5,512 2,973 3,539 -11.6% 3.5% 116,528 128,243 142,057 1.9% 2.1%
FHFA house price (1995Q1=100) 389 420 703 1.6% 10.8% 452 612 719 6.2% 3.3%
San Francisco Metro outperforming West Region Metros
San Francisco Metro underperforming West Region Metros
Source: Moody's Analytics Précis® US Metro; Compiled by NKF

San Francisco Metro Annual Growth West Region Metros
Comparison of Key Economic Indicators - San Francisco Metro Metro to West Region

Annual Growth

L17



Economic Analysis 18 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Employment Sectors and Trends 
Employment data by occupation and business/industry sectors provides an indication of the 
amount of diversification and stability in the local economy.  Job sector composition also gives 
an indication of the predominant drivers of current and future demand for supporting commercial 
real estate sectors.  The following tables display employment data by occupation sector and by 
business/industry sector for the area and region. 

 

 

 

Comparing the industry sectors for the local market area (Menlo Park City) to San Francisco-
Oakland-Berkeley, CA MSA indicates the local market area is somewhat more heavily weighted 
toward the Services, Information, and Manufacturing sectors.  By contrast, the industry 
employment totals for San Francisco-Oakland-Berkeley, CA MSA indicate somewhat higher 
proportions within the Transportation/Utilities, Retail Trade, Public Administration, Construction, 
Wholesale Trade, Finance/Insurance/Real Estate, and Agriculture/Mining sectors.  The following 
graphic further illustrates this comparison. 

Occupation Sector
White Collar 18,810 82.7% 15,071 84.1% 297,855 72.9% 1,758,920 73.1% 11,580,421 64.0%

Administrative Support 1,269 5.6% 920 5.1% 40,057 9.8% 225,260 9.4% 1,955,983 10.8%
Management/Business/Financial 6,311 27.8% 4,963 27.7% 98,245 24.0% 569,889 23.7% 3,318,432 18.3%
Professional 9,532 41.9% 7,870 43.9% 123,887 30.3% 758,471 31.5% 4,611,876 25.5%
Sales and Sales Related 1,698 7.5% 1,318 7.4% 35,666 8.7% 205,300 8.5% 1,694,130 9.4%

Services 2,184 9.6% 1,658 9.3% 54,704 13.4% 316,086 13.1% 2,768,509 15.3%
Blue Collar 1,741 7.7% 1,194 6.7% 56,039 13.7% 329,972 13.7% 3,746,712 20.7%

Construction/Extraction 826 3.6% 505 2.8% 15,218 3.7% 93,582 3.9% 901,454 5.0%
Farming/Fishing/Forestry 17 0.1% 13 0.1% 1,072 0.3% 4,505 0.2% 266,802 1.5%
Installation/Maintenance/Repair 148 0.7% 106 0.6% 7,274 1.8% 40,815 1.7% 437,054 2.4%
Production 270 1.2% 190 1.1% 9,727 2.4% 62,106 2.6% 768,621 4.2%
Transportation/Material Moving 480 2.1% 380 2.1% 22,748 5.6% 128,964 5.4% 1,372,781 7.6%

Total Employees (16+ Occupation Base) 22,735 100.0% 17,923 100.0% 408,598 100.0% 2,404,978 100.0% 18,095,642 100.0%
Source: ESRI; Compiled by NKF

Current Employment by Occupation Sector

California94025
San Francisco-Oakland-

Berkeley, CA MSAMenlo Park City San Mateo County

Industry Sector
Agriculture/Mining 57 0.3% 39 0.2% 2,052 0.5% 9,885 0.4% 402,905 2.2%
Construction 1,038 4.6% 689 3.8% 22,692 5.6% 138,300 5.8% 1,236,406 6.8%
Manufacturing 1,706 7.5% 1,323 7.4% 28,371 6.9% 164,545 6.8% 1,567,303 8.7%
Wholesale Trade 351 1.5% 281 1.6% 8,443 2.1% 50,494 2.1% 487,645 2.7%
Retail Trade 1,365 6.0% 1,072 6.0% 36,835 9.0% 210,847 8.8% 1,818,261 10.0%
Transportation/Utilities 578 2.5% 455 2.5% 28,088 6.9% 137,473 5.7% 1,093,654 6.0%
Information 1,552 6.8% 1,315 7.3% 15,983 3.9% 87,751 3.6% 495,228 2.7%
Finance/Insurance/Real Estate 1,667 7.3% 1,342 7.5% 31,908 7.8% 190,040 7.9% 1,155,716 6.4%
Services 13,919 61.2% 11,024 61.5% 218,646 53.5% 1,318,051 54.8% 8,900,763 49.2%
Public Administration 502 2.2% 384 2.1% 15,580 3.8% 97,592 4.1% 937,761 5.2%
Total Employees (16+ Occupation Base) 22,735 100.0% 17,923 100.0% 408,598 100.0% 2,404,978 100.0% 18,095,642 100.0%
Source: ESRI; Compiled by NKF

Current Employment by Industry Sector

94025 Menlo Park City San Mateo County
San Francisco-Oakland-

Berkeley, CA MSA California

L18



Economic Analysis 19 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

Unemployment 
The following table displays the historical unemployment data for the area derived from the US 
Department of Commerce, Bureau of Labor Statistics.  The most recent reported unemployment 
rate for the San Francisco-Oakland-Hayward, CA Metropolitan Statistical Area is 5.8% (April 
2021). 

Source: ESRI; Compiled by NKF

Employment Comparison

54.8%

7.9%

6.8%

3.6%

8.8%

5.8%

5.7%

4.1%

2.1%

0.4%

61.5%

7.5%

7.4%

7.3%

6.0%

3.8%

2.5%

2.1%

1.6%

0.2%

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0% 60.0% 70.0%

Services

Finance/Insurance/Real Estate

Manufacturing

Information

Retail Trade

Construction

Transportation/Utilities

Public Administration

Wholesale Trade

Agriculture/Mining

Menlo Park City San Francisco Oakland Berkeley, CA MSA

L19



Economic Analysis 20 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

Major Employers 
The following table lists a number of major employers with the San Francisco MSA as reported 
by Moody’s.  While not all-encompassing, this list provides further indication of the types of 
economic sectors that are drivers for the area. 

Bars represent beginning to end range of unemployment rates in each year
Red bars denote increasing unemployment from beginning to end of year
Green bars are declining unemployment from beginning to end of year
Compiled by NKF

Unemployment Rate: San Francisco-Oakland-Hayward, CA Metropolitan Statistical Area

1.0%

3.0%

5.0%

7.0%

9.0%

11.0%

13.0%

15.0%

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

L20



Economic Analysis 21 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

Analysis 
Further economic analysis from Moody’s is detailed as follows: 

Tech 
Tech weathered the past year relatively well and will remain the economy's driving force. Even as 
some firms, both large and small, opt to relocate to cheaper locales, workforce quality, abundant 
venture capital, and an entrepreneurial culture will have lasting appeal. California remains the 
clear national leader in venture capital funding, both in terms of deals and dollars. San Francisco's 
high-tech employment barely stumbled last year and has already expanded beyond the old peak. 
Growth has stalled so far in 2021, but lingering weakness will fade as the broader recovery gains 
steam and confidence improves. Although high costs are undoubtedly a deterrent to some firms, 
plenty of others are willing to pay a premium for the advantages of doing business in the Bay 
Area. 

Office Space 
Commercial real estate faces headwinds in the aftermath of the pandemic. Stay-at-home orders 
and working from home have hit demand for office space, and according to CBRE, office vacancy 
rates are up to 13.3%, more than double the year-ago rate. San Francisco has the highest 

Rank Employer Employees
1 University of California, San Francisco 34,690
2 Salesforce.com Inc. 9,100
3 Wells Fargo 7,296
4 Kaiser Permanente 6,659
5 United Airlines 6,153
6 Sutter Health 6,134
7 Uber Technologies Inc. 5,500
8 Oracle Corp. 5000-9999
9 Lucile Packard Health Care System 5000-9999
10 Gap Inc. 4,000
11 PG&E Corp. 3,800
12 Gilead Sciences Inc. 1000-4999
13 Facebook Inc. 1000-4999
14 Williams-Sonoma Inc. 1000-4999
15 Visa USA 1000-4999
16 California Pacific Medical Center 1000-4999
17 Genentech Inc. 1000-4999
18 SS&C Advent 1000-4999
19 Ernst & Young LLP 1000-4999
20 San Francisco Marriott 1000-4999

Source: Moody's Analytics Précis® US Metro

Selected Major Employers: San Francisco Metro

L21



Economic Analysis 22 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

concentration of office-using employment in the nation, so if working from home remains 
commonplace after the pandemic, demand for office space could nosedive. Pair this with the 
years-long trend of firms leaving the Bay Area for cheaper locales and commercial real estate is 
in for a rough ride. However, all is not lost. In the first quarter, tenant demand in square feet 
reached its highest level in a year, an improvement, even if it pales in comparison to demand seen 
in the last business cycle. Diminished demand may prevent some of the overheating seen at the 
end of the last business cycle. As vaccination rates rise, more firms will return to the office. So 
far, several leading employers have already announced plans to do just that, including Wells 
Fargo, Salesforce and Uber. 

Services 
A full recovery of consumer industries will take years. Leisure/hospitality and personal services 
employment is barely off the mat, whereas nationally, those industries have recouped upwards 
of 60% of jobs lost. Some businesses will never reopen, and according to the Quarterly Census of 
Employment and Wages, the rebound in the number of restaurants in San Francisco has yet to 
begin, in stark contrast with the national recovery. While the broader reopening is underway, there 
is a lot of ground to recover. Community mobility data from Google show that activity at retail and 
recreation establishments is still down, more so than the state average and well below the 
national average. This year will prove better for services, but uncertainty of the timing of herd 
immunity obscures the outlook. 

Conclusion 
Positive Attributes Negative Attributes 

Highly educated and skilled workforce. 
Very high incomes. 
Expanding cluster of internet and other
tech-service companies. 

High costs, including housing, office
rents and energy. 
Land constraints and regulations limit
construction. 

San Francisco MSA's recovery will pick up in the second half of the year. The reopening is barely 
underway, but once herd immunity is reached, business activity and spending will resume. A 
legacy of entrepreneurship and tech agglomeration ensures a bright future for San Francisco over 
the forecast horizon. 

L22



Economic Analysis 23 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Neighborhood Analysis 

 
Area Map 

 

Boundaries 
Menlo Park is a city located at the eastern edge of San Mateo County within the San Francisco 
Bay Area of California in the United States. It is bordered by San Francisco Bay on the north and 
east; East Palo Alto, Palo Alto, and Stanford to the south; and Atherton, North Fair Oaks, and 
Redwood City to the west.  

Surrounding Area of Influence Trends 

Description 
The City of Menlo Park is located in San Mateo County, midway between the cities of San 
Francisco and San Jose. It is an area of comparatively high property values and is a vital part of 
the region commonly referred to as the Silicon Valley. One of its noteworthy neighbors is Stanford 
University. Many venture capital firms are located in Menlo Park. 

The City maintains a healthy balance of residential, commercial and industrial uses. Residential 
home prices are still among the highest in the area, reflecting the desirability of living in the 
community. Home to the headquarters of social networking giant Facebook, other major 
companies that have facilities in Menlo Park include the Rosewood Hotel, Pacific Biosciences, 
and SRI International. Menlo Park is also home to a major Veterans Affairs medical facility, and 

L23



Economic Analysis 24 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

the U.S. Department of Energy-funded SLAC National Accelerator Laboratory. 

Nuisances or Hazards 
Our observation of the area revealed no evidence of significant nuisances or hazards. 

Access 

Primary Access 
Regional vehicular access to the project site is provided by US Highway 101 (US 101), via the 
Marsh Road on  and off ramps located to the west and State Route 84 (SR 84 or the Bayfront 
Expressway) located to the north. Direct local access is via Independence Drive and Constitution 
Drive which border the site immediately to the north, west, and south. The Menlo Park and Palo 
Alto Caltrain stations are located within 3 miles of the site to the south, providing weekday service 
from San Francisco to Gilroy and weekend service from San Francisco to San Jose. 

Transportation 
Willow Road and Marsh Road Caltrain shuttle service is available free of charge thanks to efforts 
by the city, the Peninsula Joint Powers Board, and grant funding. Many commuters use the shuttle 
service to get to their trains in the morning and evening. The shuttle service also takes commuters 
through the area's business parks and areas around Highway 101. 

SamTrans is the countywide bus system in San Mateo County. Many SamTrans routes connect 
with Caltrain and/or BART. SamTrans provides service to Downtown San Francisco and San 
Francisco International Airport as well as connects with VTA at Palo Alto Station. 

Distance from Key Locations 
Located in the central Peninsula the subject is minutes away from major downtown markets and 
driving distance to all major transit hubs including the following: 

San Francisco Airport (SFO) – 17.5 miles (22-minute drive) 

San Jose Airport (SJC) – 18.7 miles (23-minute drive) 

The following illustrates the 10-minute drive time from the subject. 

L24



Economic Analysis 25 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 
Drive Time Map 

 

Demographics 
A demographic summary for the defined area is illustrated as follows: 

L25



Economic Analysis 26 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

The total population within a 3-mile radius of the subject is 116,116, and the average 
household size is 2.95. Compared to San Mateo County overall, the population within 
a 3-mile radius is projected to grow at a similar rate. 

The percentage of renter occupied housing units (55.2%) within 3-mile of the subject 
is greater than compared to San Mateo County, supporting the need for multifamily 
housing. 

Demand Generators 
The subject neighborhood is surrounded by Facebook’s global headquarters which is expected 
to grow from 12,000 employees in 2018 to 35,000 employees in 2028 in Menlo Park alone. In a 
show of strength since COVID 19 Facebook paid all full-time employees an extra bonus and 
announced plans to hire 10,000 more employees in 2020. Facebook achieved this milestone in 
only 9 months hiring 11,711 employees and increasing their total headcount from 44,942 in Q4 
2019 to 56,653 in Q3 2020. Facebook currently owns or operates approximate 4.1 million square 
feet of office space in the immediately surrounding the subject property. 

Conclusion 
Although the pandemic has caused unemployment levels to rise over the past year, 
we have a positive future outlook for San Mateo County due to its proximity to some 
of the largest employment centers in the world that continue to see unprecedented 

1-Mile Radius 3-Miles Radius 5-Miles Radius 94025 Menlo Park City
San Mateo 

County

San Francisco-
Oakland-

Berkeley, CA 
MSA California

Population
2010 Total Population 9,051 107,593 228,021 41,489 32,038 718,451 4,335,391 37,253,956
2021 Total Population 10,003 114,794 238,353 43,844 34,431 741,360 4,641,032 39,476,705
2026 Total Population 10,073 118,240 242,764 44,598 35,192 753,560 4,789,448 40,507,842
Projected Annual Growth % 0.1% 0.6% 0.4% 0.3% 0.4% 0.3% 0.6% 0.5%

Households
2010 Total Households 2,756 35,645 80,062 15,698 12,352 257,837 1,627,360 12,577,498
2021 Total Households 3,206 38,461 83,779 16,367 13,053 265,976 1,735,591 13,283,432
2026 Total Households 3,236 39,738 85,330 16,630 13,320 270,343 1,790,031 13,615,954
Projected Annual Growth % 0.2% 0.7% 0.4% 0.3% 0.4% 0.3% 0.6% 0.5%

Income
2021 Median Household Income $125,130 $109,599 $139,625 $176,845 $176,453 $132,440 $112,557 $80,044
2021 Average Household Income $192,231 $171,135 $196,507 $231,810 $232,235 $177,991 $158,125 $113,468
2021 Per Capita Income $62,293 $56,842 $69,241 $86,583 $88,787 $63,900 $59,204 $38,272

Housing
2021 Owner Occupied Housing Units 50.8% 38.4% 47.8% 53.3% 50.6% 55.8% 51.5% 51.3%
2021 Renter Occupied Housing Units 44.3% 55.1% 46.4% 40.4% 43.5% 38.9% 42.6% 40.8%
2021 Median Home Value $1,353,635 $1,491,085 $1,784,766 $2,000,001 $2,000,001 $1,260,277 $952,431 $625,650
Median Year Structure Built 1957 1963 1961 1959 1959 1965 1966 1975

Miscellaneous Data Items
2021 Bachelor's Degree 21.1% 20.8% 25.9% 27.7% 28.9% 30.2% 30.5% 22.3%
2021 Grad/Professional Degree 27.0% 26.4% 34.1% 41.0% 41.9% 23.0% 21.3% 13.4%
2021 College Graduate % 48.1% 47.2% 60.0% 68.6% 70.7% 53.1% 51.8% 35.6%
2021 Average Household Size 3.08 2.91 2.73 2.62 2.60 2.75 2.62 2.91
2021 Median Age 35.9 35.3 36.7 39.5 39.2 41.0 39.8 36.6
Source: ESRI; Compiled by NKF

Demographic Analysis

L26



Economic Analysis 27 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

growth from the Technology/Bioscience sectors. Moreover, San Mateo County 
benefits from being part of the San Francisco MSA, which exhibits both a higher rate 
of GDP growth and a higher level of GDP per capita than the nation overall. We 
anticipate that the San Mateo County economy will improve, and employment will 
continue to grow, strengthening the demand for real estate. 

 

L27



Economic Analysis 28 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Multifamily Market Analysis 
Demographic Analysis 

Population and Household Formation 

 

Income Distributions 

 

Employment 
The following graph was presented previously but is also given below given its relevance to 
Multifamily demand.  Comparing the industry sectors for the local market area (Menlo Park City) 
to San Francisco-Oakland-Berkeley, CA MSA indicates the local market area is somewhat more 
heavily weighted toward the Services, Information, and Manufacturing sectors.  The following 
graphic further illustrates this comparison. 

1-Mile Radius
3-Miles 
Radius

5-Miles 
Radius 94025

Menlo Park 
City

San Mateo 
County

San Francisco-
Oakland-

Berkeley, CA 
MSA California

Population
2010 Total Population 9,051 107,593 228,021 41,489 32,038 718,451 4,335,391 37,253,956
2021 Total Population 10,003 114,794 238,353 43,844 34,431 741,360 4,641,032 39,476,705
2026 Total Population 10,073 118,240 242,764 44,598 35,192 753,560 4,789,448 40,507,842
Annual Growth - Past Period 0.9% 0.6% 0.4% 0.5% 0.7% 0.3% 0.6% 0.5%
Annual Growth - Future Period 0.1% 0.6% 0.4% 0.3% 0.4% 0.3% 0.6% 0.5%

Households
2010 Total Households 2,756 35,645 80,062 15,698 12,352 257,837 1,627,360 12,577,498
2021 Total Households 3,206 38,461 83,779 16,367 13,053 265,976 1,735,591 13,283,432
2026 Total Households 3,236 39,738 85,330 16,630 13,320 270,343 1,790,031 13,615,954
Annual Growth - Past Period 1.4% 0.7% 0.4% 0.4% 0.5% 0.3% 0.6% 0.5%
Annual Growth - Future Period 0.2% 0.7% 0.4% 0.3% 0.4% 0.3% 0.6% 0.5%
Source: ESRI; Compiled by NKF

Demographic Growth Rate Analysis

2021
Household Income <$15,000 151 4.7% 2,464 6.4% 4,687 5.6% 781 4.8% 645 4.9% 11,386 4.3% 121,592 7.0% 1,099,178 8.3%
Household Income $15,000-$24,999 107 3.3% 2,261 5.9% 3,819 4.6% 660 4.0% 458 3.5% 11,026 4.1% 81,967 4.7% 880,890 6.6%
Household Income $25,000-$34,999 174 5.4% 1,836 4.8% 3,426 4.1% 386 2.4% 284 2.2% 9,664 3.6% 79,117 4.6% 904,722 6.8%
Household Income $35,000-$49,999 222 6.9% 3,406 8.9% 6,010 7.2% 964 5.9% 714 5.5% 17,889 6.7% 121,170 7.0% 1,315,538 9.9%
Household Income $50,000-$74,999 508 15.8% 5,322 13.8% 9,450 11.3% 1,594 9.7% 1,343 10.3% 29,051 10.9% 201,369 11.6% 2,026,222 15.3%
Household Income $75,000-$99,999 185 5.8% 2,655 6.9% 5,854 7.0% 816 5.0% 671 5.1% 22,702 8.5% 170,451 9.8% 1,658,500 12.5%
Household Income $100,000-$149,999 437 13.6% 5,114 13.3% 10,298 12.3% 1,840 11.2% 1,505 11.5% 43,151 16.2% 280,646 16.2% 2,314,442 17.4%
Household Income $150,000-$199,999 291 9.1% 3,945 10.3% 9,133 10.9% 1,904 11.6% 1,531 11.7% 35,775 13.5% 219,929 12.7% 1,263,639 9.5%
Household Income $200,000+ 1,131 35.3% 11,460 29.8% 31,103 37.1% 7,422 45.3% 5,904 45.2% 85,332 32.1% 459,329 26.5% 1,820,086 13.7%

Median Household Income $125,130 $109,599 $139,625 $176,845 $176,453 $132,440 $112,557 $80,044
Average Household Income $192,231 $171,135 $196,507 $231,810 $232,235 $177,991 $158,125 $113,468
Per Capita Income $62,293 $56,842 $69,241 $86,583 $88,787 $63,900 $59,204 $38,272
Source: ESRI; Compiled by NKF

Household Income Analysis

1-Mile Radius 3-Miles Radius 5-Miles Radius 94025 Menlo Park City San Mateo County

San Francisco-
Oakland-Berkeley, 

CA MSA California

L28



Economic Analysis 29 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

Demographic Analysis Conclusion 
Population growth in the surrounding area has been increasing with income levels 
increasing. This is due to the proximity to some of the largest employment centers in 
the world. This has a positive effect on manufacturing and services related real estate 
demand. This trend is projected to continue into the foreseeable future. 

Multifamily Market Overview 
The following discussion outlines overall market performance in the surrounding Multifamily 
market using Costar market metric data.  Presented first are market statistics of the San 
Francisco area and the subject Redwood City/Menlo Park submarket overall.  The analysis is then 
further refined to focus on demand for the subject and the properties considered to be primary 
competition. 

Source: ESRI; Compiled by NKF

Employment Comparison

54.8%

7.9%

6.8%

3.6%

8.8%

5.8%

5.7%

4.1%

2.1%

0.4%

61.5%

7.5%

7.4%

7.3%

6.0%

3.8%

2.5%

2.1%

1.6%

0.2%

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0% 60.0% 70.0%

Services

Finance/Insurance/Real Estate

Manufacturing

Information

Retail Trade

Construction

Transportation/Utilities

Public Administration

Wholesale Trade

Agriculture/Mining

Menlo Park City San Francisco Oakland Berkeley, CA MSA

L29



Economic Analysis 30 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

 

Period San Francisco
Redwood 

City/Menlo 
Q1 2018 95.1% 93.0%
Q2 2018 95.1% 93.2%
Q3 2018 95.2% 92.9%
Q4 2018 95.6% 93.5%
Q1 2019 95.8% 93.9%
Q2 2019 95.2% 94.2%
Q3 2019 95.0% 94.3%
Q4 2019 95.0% 94.0%
Q1 2020 94.3% 93.5%
Q2 2020 92.2% 91.9%
Q3 2020 90.2% 90.0%
Q4 2020 89.9% 90.6%
Q1 2021 91.0% 91.8%
Q2 2021 92.5% 93.2%

Source: Costar; Compiled by NKF Valuation & Advisory

Occupancy Rate

85.0%

87.0%

89.0%

91.0%

93.0%

95.0%

97.0%

99.0%

Q1 2018 Q4 2018 Q3 2019 Q2 2020 Q1 2021

San Francisco Redwood City/Menlo Park

Period San Francisco
Redwood 

City/Menlo 
Q1 2018 $2,808 $2,645
Q2 2018 $2,847 $2,696
Q3 2018 $2,857 $2,698
Q4 2018 $2,863 $2,711
Q1 2019 $2,897 $2,771
Q2 2019 $2,927 $2,834
Q3 2019 $2,920 $2,839
Q4 2019 $2,898 $2,833
Q1 2020 $2,898 $2,849
Q2 2020 $2,807 $2,766
Q3 2020 $2,644 $2,653
Q4 2020 $2,598 $2,604
Q1 2021 $2,659 $2,636
Q2 2021 $2,788 $2,744

Source: Costar; Compiled by NKF Valuation & Advisory

Asking Rent Per Unit

$2,500.00

$2,550.00

$2,600.00

$2,650.00

$2,700.00

$2,750.00

$2,800.00

$2,850.00

$2,900.00

$2,950.00

$3,000.00

Q1 2018 Q4 2018 Q3 2019 Q2 2020 Q1 2021

San Francisco Redwood City/Menlo Park

L30



Economic Analysis 31 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

Market and Submarket Trends 

 

While employment opportunities are abundant in the submarket, the current economic 
downturn, increased remote working trends, and job losses have cut into demand. The 
data showed sharp increases in the submarket vacancy rate to 10.0% in 3Q 2020.  With 
more freedom to look further afield to meet housing needs, residents in Menlo Park 
may be taking the short-term opportunity to find more affordability, as social 
distancing has left offices mostly empty since March 2020. The market has since 
recovered.  

Rent growth was strong into 2017 and 2018, with rent growth of over 3% each year, 
respectively. Furthermore, while the metro as a whole experienced a slowdown in rent 
growth in 2019, rent growth in Redwood City/Menlo Park still managed a 4% rise. 
However, even landlords in the hot submarket succumbed to the reality of an 
economic recession and an outflow of rental demand during the pandemic. Rents 
appear to have found a bottoming at the close of 2020 and are on an upward trajectory 
in 2021, which is picking up pace as the year progresses.  

Long Term Redwood City/Menlo Park Submarket Metrics 
The following provides a longer-term view of the market.   

Trailing Four Quarters Ended Q2 2021

Market / Submarket Inventory (Unit)
Completions 

(Unit) Vacancy (%)
Net Absorption 

(Unit)
Asking Rent Per 

Unit
Effective Rent 

Per Unit
San Francisco 232,235 2,682 7.50% 3,023 $2,788 $2,750
Redwood City/Menlo Park 20,042 67 6.80% 315 $2,744 $2,716
Source: Costar; Compiled by NKF Valuation & Advisory

Multifamily Market Statistics

Inventory 
(Unit)

Completions 
(Unit) Vacancy %

Asking Rent 
Per Unit

Inventory 
(Unit)

Completions 
(Unit) Vacancy %

Asking Rent 
Per Unit

Q2 2019 227,040 1,507 4.8% $2,927 19,799 0 5.8% $2,834
Q3 2019 227,804 763 5.0% $2,920 19,800 0 5.7% $2,839
Q4 2019 227,922 121 5.0% $2,898 19,800 0 6.0% $2,833
Q1 2020 228,594 672 5.7% $2,898 19,975 175 6.5% $2,849
Q2 2020 229,553 959 7.8% $2,807 19,975 0 8.1% $2,766
Q3 2020 230,509 956 9.8% $2,644 19,975 0 10.0% $2,653
Q4 2020 231,475 966 10.1% $2,598 20,042 67 9.4% $2,604
Q1 2021 231,569 94 9.0% $2,659 20,042 0 8.2% $2,636
Q2 2021 232,235 666 7.5% $2,788 20,042 0 6.8% $2,744

* Forecast
Source: Costar; Compiled by NKF Valuation & Advisory

San Francisco Redwood City/Menlo Park
Multifamily Market Trends

L31



Economic Analysis 32 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

Redwood City/Menlo Park Submarket Metrics

Period
Inventory 

(Units) Vacancy %

Net 
Absorption 

(Units)
Completions 

(Units)
Asking Rent 

Per Unit

Effective 
Rent Per 

Unit
Q4 2018 19,707 6.5% 107 0 $2,711 $2,666
Q1 2019 19,799 6.1% 167 92 $2,771 $2,731
Q2 2019 19,799 5.8% 61 0 $2,834 $2,809
Q3 2019 19,800 5.7% 20 0 $2,839 $2,822
Q4 2019 19,800 6.0% -53 0 $2,833 $2,819
Q1 2020 19,975 6.5% -93 175 $2,849 $2,834
Q2 2020 19,975 8.1% -324 0 $2,766 $2,725
Q3 2020 19,975 10.0% -372 0 $2,653 $2,586
Q4 2020 20,042 9.4% 187 67 $2,604 $2,533
Q1 2021 20,042 8.2% 239 0 $2,636 $2,597
Q2 2021 20,042 6.8% 261 0 $2,744 $2,716
Y 2001 15,970 3.5% -80 129 $2,137 $2,124
Y 2002 16,180 5.4% -95 210 $1,895 $1,883
Y 2003 16,133 5.4% -52 0 $1,724 $1,712
Y 2004 16,169 4.7% 145 36 $1,700 $1,690
Y 2005 16,172 3.0% 281 3 $1,755 $1,745
Y 2006 16,249 3.1% 58 77 $1,934 $1,923
Y 2007 16,307 3.4% 8 58 $2,056 $2,044
Y 2008 16,310 3.8% -59 3 $2,167 $2,152
Y 2009 16,322 4.9% -168 12 $1,983 $1,968
Y 2010 16,333 6.6% -267 42 $2,040 $2,022
Y 2011 16,333 4.1% 410 0 $2,079 $2,067
Y 2012 16,363 4.4% -27 30 $2,167 $2,155
Y 2013 16,363 4.6% -26 0 $2,264 $2,251
Y 2014 16,611 4.0% 328 248 $2,351 $2,339
Y 2015 17,363 5.4% 351 775 $2,474 $2,451
Y 2016 18,155 4.6% 891 792 $2,562 $2,518
Y 2017 19,423 7.9% 583 1,268 $2,607 $2,541
Y 2018 19,707 6.5% 523 284 $2,711 $2,666
Y 2019 19,800 6.0% 195 92 $2,833 $2,819
Y 2020 20,042 9.4% -602 242 $2,604 $2,533
5 Year Average 19,425 6.9% 318 536 $2,663 $2,615
10 Year Average 18,016 5.8% 214 343 $2,427 $2,397
15 Year Average 17,445 5.2% 147 262 $2,322 $2,297
Source: Costar; Compiled by NKF Valuation & Advisory

L32



Economic Analysis 33 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Supply & Demand 

Supply Additions 
Two high-end apartment projects have been developed next to the Menlo Gateway 
office development, which was leased to Facebook and will effectively function as a 
western expansion of their headquarter campus. According to news outlets, Facebook 
was involved in the financing and planning of one of the highly amenitized apartment 
projects. The 394-unit Anton Menlo, and 146-unit Elan Menlo Park Luxury Apartments, 
both 5-Star mid-rise apartments were developed on Haven Ave. in 2017 and leased-up 
briskly at premium rental rates. 

While several housing projects have been developed around Facebook's campus on 
the Bayfront, the majority of recent multifamily development in the submarket has 
been clustered in Downtown Redwood City. With a 15-minute walk of Redwood City's 
Downtown Caltrain Station, a total of 11 housing projects have been developed over 
the past 10 years, adding 2,400 units to the city, most of which are market-rate. 
Greystar's 350-unit complex at 1409 El Camino Real, Highwater, is currently underway, 
continuing the trend. 

There are four substantial projects under construction currently, two in Redwood City 
and two in Menlo Park, which will add an additional 870 units to the submarkets total 
inventory stock, which represents a lofty 5.7% addition to its existing inventory. 
Following historical precedence, all of the development projects in Redwood 
City/Menlo Park are either mid-rise or low-rise properties. This trend reflects city-
imposed zoning restrictions, which in Redwood City, for example, limits high-density 
multifamily and mixed-use development to a few corridors in the city's downtown core, 
and limits building heights to a maximum of 12 floors / 136 feet. 

Demand Generators 
An influx of tech workers and a revitalized downtown boosted organic demand for 
housing in Redwood City/Menlo Park during the 2010s expansion cycle. Google 
acquired a large portion of the Pacific Shores Center back in 2014, and Facebook's 
ongoing expansion in their hometown headquarters has bolstered apartment demand 
in the area. Considering the social media giant's outsized impact on nearby housing, 
Facebook is planning to build around 1,500 rental apartments themselves, near their 
Willow Village campus expansion. 

Mega tech firms have maintained their long-term growth plans in the area, but 
apartment demand evaporated during the coronavirus pandemic downturn. Newer 
properties that stabilized quickly in the expansion have suffered substantial 
occupancy losses. Facebook is providing a significant percentage of its local 
employee's the option to relocate and work remotely as a result of the coronavirus 
outbreak, and presumably, some have done so on a permanent basis, while others are 

L33



Economic Analysis 34 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

now returning as the pandemic subsides. Due to the pandemic renter outflow, vacancy 
increased from below 7% in 2019 to a peak of 11.2% last year. Demand has returned 
to a moderately positive trajectory in 2021 though, with vacancy in the submarket 
hedging back to 6.8% today. 

As new developments came online to meet demand from Facebook employees over 
the past decade, owners had little trouble leasing apartment units to young, well-paid 
tech workers. Vacancy jumped in 2017 due to the simultaneous completion of over 
1,300 units in the first half of the year, but the projects leased quickly, and vacancy 
receded into 2019. Young workers, who have a high propensity to rent, may continue 
to flock to the area over the long term as Facebook expands. 

Construction Versus Absorption 

 

Trends and Projections 

Subject and Market Historical and Forecast Trends 

 

Conclusion 

 

Market / Submarket

Units Built
Units 

Absorbed
Const. / 

Abs. Ratio
Units Built

Units 
Absorbed

Const. / 
Abs. Ratio

Units Built
Units 

Absorbed
Const. / 

Abs. Ratio
San Francisco 3,553 -8,565 -0.4 9,218 -4,141 -2.2 17,722 2,820 6.3
Redwood City/Menlo Park 242 -602 -0.4 618 116 5.3 2,678 1,590 1.7
Source: Costar; Compiled by NKF Valuation & Advisory

Prior Calendar Year History Prior Three Year History Prior Five Year History
Prior Calendar Years History

Construction/Absorption Change

Current
Most Recent 

Full Year
Trailing 3-

Year
Trailing 5-

Year
Trailing 10-

Year

Costar
San Francisco 7.50% 10.10% 4.40% 4.50% 4.20%
Redwood City/Menlo Park 6.80% 9.40% 6.50% 4.60% 4.10%

Source: Costar, NKF Valuation & Advisory

Market Vacancy Rate Indicators

Costar
San Francisco 92.50%
Redwood City/Menlo Park 93.20%

Source: Costar, NKF Valuation & Advisory

Occupancy Conclusions

L34



Economic Analysis 35 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Redwood City/Menlo Park is already home to a plethora of noteworthy tech firms, with 
Google joining the fray in 2016. Facebook's continual expansion and development in 
the area has fueled demand for nearby housing and catalyzed an effort to enhance 
public transit options. In 2014, 2016, and 2018, Google and Facebook ran pilots for 
ferries out of Redwood City for employees, and the city initiated a study in 2019 to see 
if running a ferry service to the port would be feasible. Demand for a wealth of new 
high-end apartments developed in the 2010s expansion cycle was adequate, but 
occupancy levels deteriorated significantly in response to the coronavirus pandemic. 
The submarket and market are rebounding now, but it may take some time to regain 
pre-COVID occupancy and rental rates. 

The economic recession temporarily slowed digital ad sales and in turn, the pace of 
hiring at Facebook and Google. More consequentially, local tech workers left the area 
amid the pandemic, provided the opportunity to work remotely on a temporary and 
sometimes permanent basis, to live in cheaper destinations. 

However, with billions of dollars on hand and dominant market share positions, the 
world's largest tech giants have navigated the pandemic extremely well with revenues 
eventually soaring to new highs. Nevertheless, housing demand in Redwood 
City/Menlo Park has not been immune to the coronavirus recession's job losses and 
the work from home movement. Landlords responded to the recent reversal in 
demand trends by lowering asking rents and increasing concessions, with the 
downturn finally abating as 2020 came to a close, and rents rebounding in 2021. 

 

L35



Land and Site Analysis 36 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Land and Site Analysis 

 

Site Plan 

L36



Land and Site Analysis 37 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Site Plan 
 

L37



Land and Site Analysis 38 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

 

Easements, Encroachments and Restrictions 
We were not provided a current title report to review.  Further, we are not aware of any easements, 
encroachments, or restrictions that would adversely affect value.  Our valuation assumes no 
adverse impacts from easements, encroachments, or restrictions, and further assumes that the 
subject has clear and marketable title. 

Environmental Issues 
No environmental issues were observed or reported.  NKF is not qualified to detect the existence 
of potentially hazardous issues such as soil contaminants, the presence of abandoned 
underground tanks, or other below-ground sources of potential site contamination.  The existence 
of such substances may affect the value of the property.  For this assignment, we have 

Total Land Area 8.1500 Acres; 355,014 SF
Usable Land Area 8.1500 Acres; 355,014 SF
Excess Land Area None
Surplus Land Area None
Source of Land Area Plans
Site Characteristics
Traffic Flow Moderate
Accessibility Rating Above Average
Visibility Rating Average
Shape Rectangular
Corner Yes
Rail Access No
Topography Level 
Site Vegetation Typical 
Other Site Characteristics None Noted
Easements / Encroachments None Noted
Environmental Hazards None Noted
Flood Zone Analysis
Flood Area Panel Number 06081C0306F
Date 4/5/2019
Zone Zone AE
Description Special Flood Hazard Area where base flood elevations are provided.

Insurance Required? No
Utilities
Utility Services Cable TV, Electricity, Gas, Sewer, Water
Compiled by NKF

Land Description

L38



Land and Site Analysis 39 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

specifically assumed that any hazardous materials that would cause a loss in value do not affect 
the subject. 

L39



Zoning and Legal Restrictions 40 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Zoning and Legal Restrictions 

 

We are not experts in the interpretation of zoning ordinances. A qualified land use/zoning expert 
should be engaged if there are any zoning concerns or if a determination of compliance with 
zoning is required. 

Category Description
Zoning Jurisdiction City of Menlo Park
Zoning Designation R-MU-B
Description Residential Mixed-Use Bonus
Legally Conforming? Yes
Zoning Change Likely? Unlikely
Permitted Uses Permitted uses in the residential mixed use district include the following: 

Multiple dwellings, Administrative and professional offices, Banks and 
other financial institutions, Retail sales establishments, Eating 
establishments, Personal services, Recreational facilities privately 
operated & Community education/training center that provides free or 
lowcost educational and vocational programs to help prepare local youth 
and adults for entry into college and/or the local job market.

Minimum Lot Area 25,000 SF
Maximum Density (units per acre) 30 (base) 100 (bonus)
Allowable Building Units 245 (base) 432 (proposed)
Maximum Floor Area Ratio (proposed) 1.34
Allowable Building Area (square feet) 476,986

Front 0 feet
Side 10 feet
Rear 10 feet

Building Height Restrictions 70 feet

Parking Requirement
Residential units require a minimum of 1 space per unit (per unit or 1,000 
SF) and a maximum space of 1.5 per unit (per unit or 1,000 SF)

Other None noted
Compiled by NKF

Zoning Summary

L40



Highest and Best Use 41 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Highest and Best Use 

As Vacant 
Legally Permissible 
The site is zoned R-MU-B which allows for permitted uses in the residential mixed use district 
include the following: multiple dwellings, administrative and professional offices, banks and other 
financial institutions, retail sales establishments, eating establishments, personal services, 
recreational facilities privately operated & community education/training center that provides free 
or lowcost educational and vocational programs to help prepare local youth and adults for entry 
into college and/or the local job market..  Based on available data and analysis, no other legal 
restrictions such as easements or deed covenants are present which would impair the utility of 
the site.  Given that surrounding properties have similar zoning and the future land use plan is 
focused on similar uses as well, it is unlikely that there would be a change of zoning classification.  
Further information and analysis about the legal restrictions to the subject property is included in 
the Site Analysis and Zoning and Legal Restrictions sections of this report.   

Physically Possible 
The subject site contains 355,014 square feet (8.150 acres), has favorable topography, adequate 
access, and all necessary utilities to support the range of legally permissible uses.  No significant 
physical limitations were noted.  The size of the site is typical for the categories of uses allowed 
under zoning.  In total, the site is physically capable of supporting the legally permissible uses. 

Financially Feasible 
Of the legally permissible and physically possible uses, research and development uses appear 
most probable based on observation of surrounding properties as well as the location.   

Given the underlying market conditions and activity, it appears that a multifamily development 
would have a sufficient degree of feasibility.   

Maximally Productive 
The test of maximum productivity is to determine the actual use of the property that results in the 
highest land value and/or the highest return to the land.  It is important to consider the risk of 
potential uses as a use that may generate the highest returns in cash could also be the riskiest 
and thus not as likely for a developer to consider.  In this case, the maximally productive use is a 
multifamily development.  The associated risk is typical and market conditions appear to be 
supportive. 

L41



Highest and Best Use 42 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Highest and Best Use Conclusion – As Vacant 
The highest and best use of the subject as though vacant is the development of a multifamily 
use. 

Most Probable Buyer 
The most likely buyer would be a developer. 

As Improved 
The subject site is improved with older industrial buildings.  We are not giving consideration to 
the improvements per the appraisal instructions.    

 

L42



Appraisal Methodology 43 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Appraisal Methodology 

Cost Approach 
The cost approach is based on the proposition that the informed purchaser would pay no more 
for the subject than the cost to produce a substitute property with equivalent utility.  This 
approach is particularly applicable when the property being appraised involves relatively new 
improvements that represent the highest and best use of the land, or when it is improved with 
relatively unique or specialized improvements for which there exist few sales or leases of 
comparable properties. 

Sales Comparison Approach 
The sales comparison approach utilizes sales of comparable properties, adjusted for differences, 
to indicate a value for the subject.  Valuation is typically accomplished using physical units of 
comparison such as price per square foot, price per unit, price per floor, etc., or economic units 
of comparison such as gross rent multiplier.  Adjustments are applied to the property units of 
comparison derived from the comparable sale.  The unit of comparison chosen for the subject is 
then used to yield a total value.   

Income Capitalization Approach 
The income capitalization approach reflects the subject’s income-producing capabilities.  This 
approach is based on the assumption that value is created by the expectation of benefits to be 
derived in the future.  Specifically estimated is the amount an investor would be willing to pay to 
receive an income stream plus reversion value from a property over a period of time.  The two 
common valuation techniques associated with the income capitalization approach are direct 
capitalization and the discounted cash flow (DCF) analysis. 

 

The subject property is a development site.  In the absence of ground leases, subdivision, or other 
income sources, the sales comparison approach is viewed as most applicable in the valuation of 
land parcels. It is also the only approach allowed under the Menlo Park Appraisal Instructions.  
Therefore, the sales comparison approach is the sole approach to value utilized in this appraisal.  
The exclusion of the other two approaches does not impact the reliability of the appraisal. 

Application of Approaches to Value 
Approach Comments
Cost Approach
Sales Comparison Approach
Income Capitalization Approach

Compiled by NKF

The Income Capitalization Approach is not applicable and is not utilized in this appraisal.
The Sales Comparison Approach is applicable and is utilized in this appraisal.
The Cost Approach is not applicable and is not utilized in this appraisal.

L43



Sales Comparison Approach 44 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Sales Comparison Approach 

Land value can be developed from a number of different methodologies.  In this case, we have 
employed the sales comparison as sufficient comparable data exists from which to derive a 
reliable indication of value.  Sales comparison includes the following steps. 

Research and verify information on properties in the market that are similar to the 
subject and that have recently sold, are listed for sale, or are under contract. 

Select the most relevant units of comparison in the market and develop a comparative 
analysis. 

Examine and quantify via adjustments differences between the comparable sales and 
the subject property using all appropriate elements of comparison.  

Reconcile the various value indications to a value indication. 

Based on a review of market activity, the appropriate unit of comparison is price per far. 

 
Land Comparables Map 

 

L44



Sales Comparison Approach 45 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

Analysis of Land Comparables 
The following paragraphs analyze the most relevant comparable data against the subject 
property. 

Comparable One 
Sale Comparable One represents the September 2021 sale of 2.830 acres of land located at 1 & 
45 Adrian Court, Burlingame, California.  The subject site has 2.83 acres of land zoned for mixed-
use development. Carmel purchased the property from Summerhill for a total consideration of 
$33,112,500 (approximately $125,000/ unit) in September of 2021. The City of Burlingame 
approved the application in September 2019 for construction of a new seven-story, 265-unit 
mixed-use development at 1 and 45 Adrian Court, within the North Rollins Road Mixed Use area. 
The project consists of two parcels that currently include two commercial buildings, surface 
parking, and landscaping. The project entails the demolition of these features and the merging of 
the two parcels to create a 2.83-acre site for a seven-story, 265-unit mixed use development. 
Approximately 14.3 percent of the residential units (38 units) would be designated for low income 
households. The project would include 3,701 square feet of commercial/office space on the 
ground floor and a publicly accessible private park. Parking would be provided in an at-grade 
garage, containing two levels of parking for a total of 314 parking spaces. 

No transaction adjustments were warranted. 

An upward adjustment was applied for location due to its inferior location in Burlingame with 
historically lower rental rates and sale prices. An upward adjustment was applied for density (far) 
due to a higher density planned development with higher construction costs plus longer 
development and absorption times. Combining transaction and physical adjustments, overall net 
upward adjustment is indicated resulting in a price per FAR indication of $207.76. 

Subject Sale 1 Sale 2 Sale 3 Sale 4 Sale 5 Sale 6 Sale 7
Address 123 Independence Drive 1 & 45 Adrian Court 110 Constitution Drive 141 Jefferson Drive 1555 West Middlefield 1095 Rollins Road 925 South Wolfe Road 1-3 Waters Park Drive
City, State Menlo Park, CA Burlingame, CA Menlo Park, CA Menlo Park, CA Mountain View, CA Burlingame, CA Sunnyvale, CA San Mateo, CA
Proposed Use Multifamily MF Residential MF Residential MF Residential MF Residential MF Residential MF Residential MF Residential
Gross Land SF 355,014 SF 123,275 SF 84,942 SF 210,395 SF 236,972 SF 46,827 SF 232,610 SF 484,638 SF
Useable Acres 8.15 Acres 2.83 Acres 1.95 Acres 4.83 Acres 5.44 Acres 1.08 Acres 5.34 Acres 11.13 Acres
Useable Land SF 355,014 SF 123,275 SF 84,942 SF 210,395 SF 236,972 SF 46,827 SF 232,610 SF 484,638 SF
Allowable Bldg Units 245 (base) 432 (proposed) 265 335 483 115 150 128 190
Allowable Bldg Area (Base Level) 319,513 SF 223,128 SF 326,816 SF 469,046 SF 246,451 SF 193,864 SF 223,306 SF 436,174 SF
FAR 0.90 1.81 3.85 2.23 1.04 4.14 0.96 0.90
Approvals Approved Approved Not Approved Nearing Approvals Approved Approved Approved Approved
BMR Requirements 15% 14% 15% 15% 0% 10% 16% 10%
Zoning R-MU-B North Rollins Mixed-Use R-MU-B R MU B R3-2 Multiple Family R-4 - High Density R3 R3
Transaction Type Closed Closed Closed Closed Closed Closed Closed
Buyer Carmel GS MP Portal Owner LLC Greystar Summer Hill Housing Prometheus Landsea Pulte
Seller Summerhill Coyne Patrick Living Trust & 

Studio RED
Ragno & Assoc, B Battagin 

& InfoIMAGE, Inc.
Calson Properties Inc. Hanover Summerhill Strada

Interest Conveyed Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple
Transaction Date Sep-21 Jan-21 Dec-20 Dec-20 Nov-20 Nov-20 Jun-20
Price $33,112,500 $29,700,000 $75,100,000 $81,000,000 $18,750,000 $68,500,000 $106,000,000 
Adj. Sale Price $33,112,500 $38,250,000 $84,000,000 $81,000,000 $18,750,000 $68,500,000 $106,000,000 
Price per Gross Land Acre $11,700,511 $19,615,385 $17,391,304 $14,889,354 $17,441,860 $12,827,737 $9,527,441 
Price Per Gross Land SF $268.61 $450.31 $399.25 $341.81 $400.41 $294.48 $218.72 
Price per Usable Land Acre $11,700,511 $19,615,385 $17,391,304 $14,889,354 $17,441,860 $12,827,737 $9,527,441 
Price Per Usable Land SF $268.61 $450.31 $399.25 $341.81 $400.41 $294.48 $218.72 
Price per Unit $124,953 $114,179 $173,913 $704,348 $125,000 $535,156 $557,895 
Price per FAR $148.40 $117.04 $179.09 $328.67 $96.72 $306.75 $243.02 

Compiled by NKF

Comparable Land Sales Summary 

L45



Sales Comparison Approach 46 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Comparable Two 
Sale Comparable Two represents the January 2021 sale of 1.950 acres of land located at 110 
Constitution Drive, Menlo Park, California.  This is a sale of land proposed for redevelopment with 
a multifamily use containing a total of 335 units, of which 48 (15%) will be comprised of affordable 
housing units. The total site area is 1.95 acres or 84,942 square feet, spanning across 2 
neighboring parcels. Menlo Portal Apartments is located at 110 Constitution Drive & 115 
Independence Drive in Menlo Park, two miles from the Facebook campus. Nearby major 
employers include Evernote, Google and Stanford University. The property is located about 3 
miles from the Menlo Park downtown, 0.1 miles from access to U.S. Route 101 and just over 3 
miles from the Menlo Park Caltrain station. Entitlements for Menlo Portal have been in process 
since 2017 and were anticipated to be fully approved by mid-year 2021. The leases at the existing 
industrial buildings have been extended on a month-to-month basis while the developer secures 
permits. The multifamily parcels were part of an assemblage purchase comprised of three 
parcels - (104 Constitution Drive: $16,500,000; 110 Constitution Drive: $16,000,000; 115 
Independence Drive: $13,700,000). 104 Constitution Drive is part of the larger Menlo Portal 
development and will be redeveloped with an office building. Buyer paid a $8,550,000 Community 
Amenities Fee to attain bonus density.  

No transaction adjustments were warranted. 

An upward adjustment was applied for density (far) due to a much higher density planned 
development with higher construction costs plus longer development and absorption times. . An 
upward adjustment was applied for approvals due to the buyer spending approximately $6 million 
on design and other costs prior to closing. Combining transaction and physical adjustments, 
overall net upward adjustment is indicated resulting in a price per FAR indication of $210.67. 

Comparable Three 
Sale Comparable Three represents the December 2020 sale of 4.830 acres of land located at 141 
Jefferson Drive, Menlo Park, California.  The subject site has 4.83 acres of land zoned R-MU-B. 
Greystar purchased the land from Ragno & Assoc, B Battagin & InfoIMAGE, Inc. for a total 
consideration of $75,100,000. This was an assemblage of three parcels that will be part of the 
proposed Menlo Uptown project. The proposal is to demolish three existing office and industrial 
buildings and redevelop the three-parcel site with 483 multi-family dwelling units, comprised of 
441 rental units split between two seven-story apartment buildings and approximately 2,940 
square feet of office uses located on the ground floor of one of the proposed buildings, and 42 
for-sale townhome-style condominium units, located in the R-MU-B (Residential Mixed Use, 
Bonus) zoning district. 73 units (15%) will be designated as affordable units. The buyer paid an 
$8,900,000 Community Amenities Fee in order to obtain bonus density.  

No transaction adjustments were warranted. 

L46



Sales Comparison Approach 47 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

An upward adjustment was applied for density (far) due to a higher density planned development 
with higher construction costs plus longer development and absorption times. . An upward 
adjustment was applied for approvals due to the project not being fully approved at the time of 
sale. Combining transaction and physical adjustments, overall net upward adjustment is 
indicated resulting in a price per FAR indication of $259.68. 

Comparable Four 
Sale Comparable Four represents the December 2020 sale of 5.440 acres of land located at 1555 
West Middlefield Road, Mountain View, California.  The project site is located on the west side of 
W. Middlefield Road, between Burgoyne Street and San Pierre Way, on a 5.44-acre site. The project 
would demolish the existing apartment buildings/structures and construct 20 rowhouse buildings 
with 115 for-sale residential units with vehicle access via two full-access driveways on San 
Ramon Avenue. This area contains a mix of multi-family, single-family residential and office and 
Crittenden Middle School across W. Middlefield Road. The site currently contains 13 two-story 
apartment buildings with 116 existing apartment units. The proposed project is a three-story, 115 
rowhouse development, in 20 separate buildings. The project proposes three and four bedroom 
units, with an average living area of 1,659 square feet. Materials include stucco, tile roofs, metal 
railings, balconies in a “Spanish California” style. The site was fully entitled at the time of sale. 

No transaction adjustments were warranted. 

A downward adjustment was applied for affordable requirement due to the absence of required 
affordable units. Combining transaction and physical adjustments, overall net downward 
adjustment is indicated resulting in a price per FAR indication of $279.37. 

Comparable Five 
Sale Comparable Five represents the November 2020 sale of 1.075 acres of land located at 1095 
Rollins Road, Burlingame, California.  Prometheus Real Estate Group acquired this fully entitled 
multifamily development site located at 1095 Rollins Rd., in Burlingame, CA from Hanover 
Company for $18.75 million or about $400 psf. The City of Burlingame has approved an 
application for the construction that includes merging two parcels to create a 46,827 square foot 
site, demolishing the existing structures and constructing a new 6-story, 150-unit apartment 
building. The project would include a subterranean garage containing surface, tandem and 
stacked parking for 195 off-street parking spaces, with approximately 175 of the spaces provided 
in stackers. The units would include studio, one-bedroom, two-bedroom and three-bedroom units, 
with 10% (15 units) designated affordable for moderate income households, and therefore the 
project includes a request to use the State Density Bonus, including waivers and incentives.  

No transaction adjustments were warranted. 

An upward adjustment was applied for location due to its inferior location in Burlingame with 
historically lower rental rates and sale prices. An upward adjustment was applied for density (far) 

L47



Sales Comparison Approach 48 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

due to a higher density planned development with higher construction costs plus longer 
development and absorption times. A downward adjustment was applied for affordable 
requirement due to a lower affordable requirement. Combining transaction and physical 
adjustments, overall net upward adjustment is indicated resulting in a price per FAR indication of 
$159.59. 

Comparable Six 
This comparable was purchased to construct 123 townhomes. This property was sold with full 
development approvals. The price per FAR was $306.75. This property is similar to the subject in 
location and density at the base level. There will be 16% below market rate units at this 
development. 

Comparable Seven 
This comparable was purchased to construct 190 total residential units with 28 detached single 
family homes. This property was sold with full development approvals. The price per FAR was 
$243.02. This comparable is adjusted upward for its inferior location in San Mateo. A downward 
adjustment is applied to reflect the lower (10%) affordable requirement. The adjusted price per 
FAR is $255.17. 

  

L48



Sales Comparison Approach 49 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

 

Base Level Land Value Conclusion 
Prior to adjustments, the sales reflect a range of $96.72 to $328.67 per FAR.  

After adjustment, the range is narrowed to $159.59 to $306.75 per FAR, with an 
average of $239.86 per FAR. 

Comparables 4, 6, and 7 with adjusted values of $255.17 to $306.75 per FAR are most 
similar to the subject in base level density and are given greater weight in our 
reconciliation.    

 

 
Bonus Level Land Value Conclusion 

As stated earlier, higher density developments tend to sell for a lower price per FAR 
due to higher development costs plus longer development and absorption times. 

Subject Sale 1 Sale 2 Sale 3 Sale 4 Sale 5 Sale 6 Sale 7
Address 123 Independence Drive 1 & 45 Adrian Court 110 Constitution Drive 141 Jefferson Drive 1555 West Middlefield 1095 Rollins Road 925 South Wolfe Road 1-3 Waters Park Drive
City, State Menlo Park, CA Burlingame, CA Menlo Park, CA Menlo Park, CA Mountain View, CA Burlingame, CA Sunnyvale, CA San Mateo, CA
Gross Land SF 355,014 SF 123,275 SF 84,942 SF 210,395 SF 236,972 SF 46,827 SF 232,610 SF 484,638 SF
Usable Land Area (Acres) 8.15 Acres 2.83 Acres 1.95 Acres 4.83 Acres 5.44 Acres 1.08 Acres 5.34 Acres 11.13 Acres
Usable Land Area (SF) 355,014 SF 123,275 SF 84,942 SF 210,395 SF 236,972 SF 46,827 SF 232,610 SF 484,638 SF
Units 245 (base) 432 (proposed) 265 335 483 115 150 128 190
Allowable Bldg Area 319,513 223,128 326,816 469,046 246,451 193,864 223,306 436,174
FAR 0.90 1.81 3.85 2.23 1.04 4.14 0.96 0.90
Transaction Date -- Sep-21 Jan-21 Dec-20 Dec-20 Nov-20 Nov-20 Jun-20
Price per FAR $148.40 $117.04 $179.09 $328.67 $96.72 $306.75 $243.02

Property Rights 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Financing 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Conditions of Sale 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Market Conditions (Time) 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Subtotal (adjustments are multiplied) 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Transaction Adjusted Price per FAR $148.40 $117.04 $179.09 $328.67 $96.72 $306.75 $243.02 

Location 10% 0% 0% 0% 10% 0% 10%
Corner 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Frontage 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Size 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Shape 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Topography 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Utilities 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Zoning 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Density (FAR) 30% 60% 40% 0% 60% 0% 0%
Approvals 0% 20% 5% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Affordable Requirement 0% 0% 0% -15% -5% 0% -5%
Subtotal (adjustments are summed) 40% 80% 45% -15% 65% 0% 5%
Gross Adjustment 40% 80% 45% 15% 75% 0% 15%
Overall Adjustment 40.0% 80.0% 45.0% -15.0% 65.0% 0% 5.0%
Indicated Price per FAR $207.76 $210.67 $259.68 $279.37 $159.59 $306.75 $255.17 
Compiled by NKF

Physical Adjustments

Transaction Adjustments

Comparable Land Sales Adjustment Grid - Base Level Density

Allowable Bldg Area (Base Level) 319,513
Comparable Sales Indications Range Average
Unadjusted Price per FAR $96.72 - $328.67 $202.81
Adjusted Price per FAR $159.59 - $306.75 $239.86
Reconciled Value per FAR $255.00
Total Indicated Value $81,475,815

Rounded $81,500,000
Compiled by NKF

Land Value Conclusion - Base Level

L49



Sales Comparison Approach 50 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Comparable Sale 5 with the highest FAR of 4.14 sold for the lowest price per FAR 
($96.72). Comparable 2 with the second highest FAR of 3.85 sold for the second 
lowest price per FAR ($117.04). Comparable Sales 4, 6, and 7 with the lowest densities 
of 1.04, 0.96, and 0.90 sold for the highest prices per FAR of $328.67, $306.75 and 
$243.02.  

The studied base level development project would consist of 194 apartments in a 5- 
story apartment building (Type VA) that includes an above grade parking structure.  
The base project would also include 51 townhomes units.  These townhomes would 
be 3 stories and include a tuck under garage containing two parking spaces.  The base 
project includes a total of 319,513 residential square footage with density at 30 
DU/acre.  While there are some fixed costs that remain relatively the same between 
the base and bonus level projects such as site work and soft costs, other costs such 
as hard costs for the building and garage will increase for the bonus project.  The 
building hard cost for the bonus level project will increase by approximately 35% due 
to more materials and labor for the increase in residential square footage.  The garage 
hard cost for the bonus level project will increase by approximately 26% due to the 
bonus project requiring a below grade parking structure. This estimate is consistent 
with Marshall Valuation Service (Section 14 Page 34) cost estimates of $96.50/SF for 
above grade parking structures versus $121.00/SF for underground parking 
structures. The overall cost increase for the bonus project is approximately 25% more 
than the base level project. 

Achievable prices per square foot tend to decline with increasing density. Consumers 
in this market generally prefer living in lower density environments. Significant view 
premiums from the proposed upper floor units are not anticipated due to the heights 
of surrounding buildings. The bonus level development will have 187 units (76%) more 
units than the base level. The holding costs will be much higher due to a longer 
development and absorption time.  

The density adjustments on the following worksheet are based on the factors 
discussed above. Comparables 1, 4, 6, and 7 with adjusted values of $170.66 to 
$214.73 are most similar to the subject in density under the bonus scenario and are 
given greater weight in our reconciliation. The concluded value of $185 per FAR is 27% 
less than the base value of $255 per FAR. This conclusion is reasonable based on the 
estimated 25% higher construction costs plus substantially longer construction and 
absorption times under the bonus scenario.  

 

L50



Sales Comparison Approach 51 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

 

 

Adjustments to Derive the Value of the Amenity 
According to the appraisal instructions, the value conclusion at the Base Level is subtracted from 
the value conclusion at the Bonus Level. The result is the Market Value of the additional GFA 
proposed at the Bonus Level. The “Value of the Amenity” is 50 percent of the Market Value of the 
additional GFA proposed at the Bonus Level. Calculations are provided below:  

 

Subject Sale 1 Sale 2 Sale 3 Sale 4 Sale 5 Sale 6 Sale 7
Address 123 Independence 1 & 45 Adrian Court 110 Constitution Drive 141 Jefferson Drive 1555 West Middlefield 1095 Rollins Road 925 South Wolfe Road 1-3 Waters Park Drive
City, State Menlo Park, CA Burlingame, CA Menlo Park, CA Menlo Park, CA Mountain View, CA Burlingame, CA Sunnyvale, CA San Mateo, CA
Gross Land SF 355,014 SF 123,275 SF 84,942 SF 210,395 SF 236,972 SF 46,827 SF 232,610 SF 484,638 SF
Usable Land Area (Acres) 8.15 Acres 2.83 Acres 1.95 Acres 4.83 Acres 5.44 Acres 1.08 Acres 5.34 Acres 11.13 Acres
Usable Land Area (SF) 355,014 SF 123,275 SF 84,942 SF 210,395 SF 236,972 SF 46,827 SF 232,610 SF 484,638 SF
Land Units 432 265 335 483 115 150 128 190
Allowable Bldg Area 476,962 223,128 326,816 469,046 246,451 193,864 223,306 436,174
FAR 1.34 1.81 3.85 2.23 1.04 4.14 0.96 0.90
Transaction Date -- Sep-21 Jan-21 Dec-20 Dec-20 Nov-20 Nov-20 Jun-20
Price per FAR $148.40 $117.04 $179.09 $328.67 $96.72 $306.75 $243.02

Property Rights 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Financing 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Conditions of Sale 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Market Conditions (Time) 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Subtotal (adjustments are multiplied) 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Transaction Adjusted Price per FAR $148.40 $117.04 $179.09 $328.67 $96.72 $306.75 $243.02 

Location/Access 10% 0% 0% 0% 10% 0% 10%
Corner 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Frontage 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Size 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Shape 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Topography 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Utilities 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Zoning 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Density (FAR) 5% 35% 10% -30% 40% -30% -30%
Approvals 0% 20% 5% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Affordable requirement 0% 0% 0% -15% -5% 0% -5%
Subtotal (adjustments are summed) 15% 55% 15% -45% 45% -30% -25%
Gross Adjustment 15% 55% 15% 45% 55% 30% 45%
Overall Adjustment 15.0% 55.0% 15.0% -45.0% 45.0% -30.0% -25.0%
Indicated Price per FAR $170.66 $181.41 $205.95 $180.77 $140.24 $214.73 $182.27 
Compiled by NKF

Comparable Land Sales Adjustment Grid - Bonus Level

Transaction Adjustments

Physical Adjustments

Allowable Bldg Area 476,962
Comparable Sales Indications Range Average
Unadjusted Price per FAR $96.72 - $328.67 $202.81
Adjusted Price per FAR $140.24 - $214.73 $182.29
Reconciled Value per FAR $185.00
Total Indicated Value $88,237,970

Rounded $88,200,000
Compiled by NKF

Land Value Conclusion - Bonus Level 

Land Value at the Bonus Level 476,962 SF $88,200,000
Land Value at the Base Level 319,513 SF $81,500,000
Value of the Additional GFA Proposed (Bonus Level less Base) $6,700,000
50% Discount $3,350,000
Value of the Amenity $3,350,000
Compiled by NKF

Land Value Conclusions 

L51



Reconciliation of Value 52 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

Reconciliation of Value 

The values indicated by our analyses are as follows: 

 

Cost Approach 
As previously discussed, the Cost Approach was not utilized for valuation of the subject property 
as it is land. 

Sales Comparison Approach 
The Sales Comparison Approach is focused on comparing the subject to sale and other market 
transactions with the aim to develop an indication of value that is founded on the theory of 
substitution.  Basically, the intention is to determine value through considering the prices of 
properties which would be a substitute property to the subject.  In this case, a selection of 
reasonably similar sales were obtained and the adjustment process was well founded by 
reasoning and direct evidence.  In the absence of ground leases, subdivision, or other income 
sources, the sales comparison approach is viewed as most applicable in the valuation of land 
parcels.  Therefore, the sales comparison approach is the sole approach to value utilized in this 
appraisal.   

Income Capitalization Approach 
As the subject property is a development site and is not leased (or has any other reasonable 
income source), the Income Capitalization Approach was not applicable and not utilized.   

 

Land Value at the Bonus Level 476,962 SF $88,200,000
Land Value at the Base Level 319,513 SF $81,500,000
Value of the Additional GFA Proposed (Bonus Level less Base) $6,700,000
50% Discount $3,350,000
Value of the Amenity $3,350,000
Compiled by NKF

Land Value Conclusions 

Value Conclusions
Appraisal Premise Interest Appraised Date of Value Value Conclusion
Land Value at the Bonus Level Fee Simple 1/8/2022 $88,200,000
Land Value at the Base Level Fee Simple 1/8/2022 $81,500,000
Value of the Additional GFA Proposed Fee Simple 1/8/2022 $6,700,000
Value of the Amenity Fee Simple 1/8/2022 $3,350,000
Compiled by NKF

L52



Reconciliation of Value 53 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

Exposure Time 
Exposure time is the estimated length of time the subject property would have been offered on 
the market prior to the hypothetical consummation of a sale at market value on the effective date 
of the appraisal.  It is a retrospective estimate based on an analysis of past events assuming a 
competitive and open market.   

Recent sales transaction data for similar properties, supply and demand characteristics for the 
local land market, and the opinions of local market participants were reviewed and analyzed.  
Based on this data and analysis, it is our opinion that the probable exposure time for the subject 
at the concluded market values stated previously is 6 months. 

Marketing Time 
Marketing time is an opinion of the amount of time it might take to sell a real or personal property 
interest at the concluded market value level during the period immediately after the effective date 
of an appraisal.  Marketing time differs from exposure time, which is always presumed to precede 
the effective date of an appraisal.  As no significant changes in market conditions are foreseen 
in the near term, it is our opinion that a reasonable marketing period for the subject is likely to be 
the same as the exposure time. Accordingly, we estimate the subject’s marketing period at 6 
months. 

1.

1.

2.

3.

Compiled by NKF

We are not giving consideration to the improvements on the site as per the City of Menlo Park Appraisal 
Instructions

Extraordinary Assumptions and Hypothetical Conditions
An extraordinary assumption is defined in USPAP as an assignment-specific assumption as of the effective date regarding 
uncertain information used in an analysis which, if found to be false, could alter the appraiser’s opinions or conclusions.  The 
value conclusions are subject to the following extraordinary assumptions that may affect the assignment results.

A hypothetical condition is defined in USPAP as a condition, directly related to a specific assignment, which is contrary to 
what is known by the appraiser to exist on the effective date of the assignment results, but is used for the purpose of 
analysis.  The value conclusions are based on the following hypothetical conditions that may affect the assignment results.

None

The value conclusions under each scenario are based on the hypothetical assumption that the project is fully 
entitled at the stated development density per the City of Menlo Park Appraisal Instructions

The use of these hypothetical conditions might have affected assignment results.

The bonus level land value conclusion does not consider the community amenities requirement per the City of 
Menlo Park Appraisal Instructions

L53



Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 54 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 

The Appraisal contained in this Report (herein “Report”) is subject to the following assumptions 
and limiting conditions: 

1. Unless otherwise stated in this report, title to the property which is the subject of this report (herein 
“Property”) is assumed to be good and marketable and free and clear of all liens and encumbrances 
and that there are no recorded or unrecorded matters or exceptions to title that would adversely 
affect marketability or value.  No responsibility is assumed for the legal description, zoning, 
condition of title or any matters which are legal in nature or otherwise require expertise other than 
that of a professional real estate appraiser.  This report shall not constitute a survey of the Property. 

2. Unless otherwise stated in this report, it is assumed: that the improvements on the Property are 
structurally sound, seismically safe and code conforming; that all building systems 
(mechanical/electrical, HVAC, elevator, plumbing, etc.)  are in good working order with no major 
deferred maintenance or repair required; that the roof and exterior are in good condition and free 
from intrusion by the elements; that the Property and improvements conform to all applicable local, 
state, and federal laws, codes, ordinances and regulations including environmental laws and 
regulations.  No responsibility is assumed for soil or subsoil conditions or engineering or structural 
matters. The Property is appraised assuming that all required licenses, certificates of occupancy, 
consents, or other legislative or administrative authority from any local, state, or national 
government or private entity or organization have been or can be obtained or renewed for any use 
on which the value estimates contained in this report is based, unless otherwise stated.  The 
physical condition of the Property reflected in this report is solely based on a visual inspection as 
typically conducted by a professional appraiser not someone with engineering expertise. 
Responsible ownership and competent property management are assumed. 

3. Unless otherwise stated in this report, this report did not take into consideration the existence of 
asbestos, PCB transformers or other toxic, hazardous, or contaminated substances or 
underground storage tanks, or the cost of encapsulation, removal or remediation thereof. Real 
estate appraisers are not qualified to detect such substances.  The presence of substances such 
as asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, contaminated groundwater or other potentially 
hazardous materials and substances may adversely affect the value of the Property.  Unless 
otherwise stated in this report, the opinion of value is predicated on the assumption that there is 
no such material or substances at, on or in the Property. 

4. All statements of fact contained in this report as a basis of the analyses, opinions, and conclusions 
herein are true and correct to the best of the appraiser's actual knowledge and belief.  The appraiser 
is entitled to and relies upon the accuracy of information and material furnished by the owner of 
the Property or owner’s representatives and on information and data provided by sources upon 
which members of the appraisal profession typically rely and that are deemed to be reliable by such 
members. Such information and data obtained from third party sources are assumed to be reliable 
and have not been independently verified. No warranty is made as to the accuracy of any of such 
information and data. Any material error in any of the said information or data could have a 

L54



Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 55 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

substantial impact on the conclusions of this Report.  The appraiser reserves the right to amend 
conclusions reported if made aware of any such error.  

5. The opinion of value stated in this report is only as of the date of value stated in this report. An 
appraisal is inherently subjective, and the conclusions stated apply only as of said date of value, 
and no representation is made as to the effect of subsequent events.  This report speaks only as 
of the date hereof.  

6. Any projected cash flows included in the analysis are forecasts of estimated future operating 
characteristics and are predicated on the information and assumptions contained within this 
report.  Any projections of income, expenses and economic conditions utilized in this report are not 
predictions of the future.  Rather, they are estimates of market expectations of future income and 
expenses.  The achievement of any financial projections will be affected by fluctuating economic 
conditions and is dependent upon other future occurrences that cannot be assured.  Actual results 
may vary from the projections considered herein.  There is no warranty or assurances that these 
forecasts will occur.  Projections may be affected by circumstances beyond anyone’s knowledge 
or control. Any income and expense estimates contained in this report are used only for the 
purpose of estimating value and do not constitute predictions of future operating results. 

7. The analyses contained in this report may necessarily incorporate numerous estimates and 
assumptions regarding Property performance, general and local business and economic 
conditions, the absence of material changes in the competitive environment and other matters. 
Some estimates or assumptions, however, inevitably will not materialize, and unanticipated events 
and circumstances may occur; therefore, actual results achieved during the period covered by the 
analysis will vary from estimates, and the variations may be material.  

8. All prospective value opinions presented in this report are estimates and forecasts which are 
prospective in nature and are subject to considerable risk and uncertainty. In addition to the 
contingencies noted in the preceding paragraphs, several events may occur that could 
substantially alter the outcome of the estimates such as, but not limited to changes in the economy, 
interest rates, capitalization rates, behavior of consumers, investors and lenders, fire and other 
physical destruction, changes in title or conveyances of easements and deed restrictions, etc.  In 
making prospective estimates and forecasts, it is assumed that conditions reasonably foreseeable 
at the present time are consistent or similar with the future. 

9. The allocations of value for land and improvements must not be used in conjunction with any other 
appraisal and are invalid if so used.  This report shall be considered only in its entirety.  No part of 
this report shall be utilized separately or out of context. 

10. Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report (especially any conclusions as to value, the 
identity of the appraiser, or any reference to the Appraisal Institute) shall be disseminated through 
advertising media, public relations media, news media or any other means of communication 
(including without limitation prospectuses, private offering memoranda and other offering material 
provided to prospective investors) without the prior written consent of the Firm. Possession of this 
report, or a copy hereof, does not carry with it the right of publication. 

11. Client and any other Intended User identified herein should consider this report and the opinion of 
value contained herein as only one factor together with its own independent considerations and 

L55



Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 56 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

underwriting guidelines in making any decision or investment or taking any action regarding the 
Property.  Client agrees that Firm shall not be responsible in any way for any decision of Client or 
any Intended User related to the Property or for the advice or services provided by any other 
advisors or contractors.  The use of this report and the appraisal contained herein by anyone other 
than an Intended User identified herein, or for a use other than the Intended Use identified herein, 
is strictly prohibited. No party other than an Intended User identified herein may rely on this report 
and the appraisal contained herein. 

12. Unless otherwise stated in the agreement to prepare this report, the appraiser shall not be required 
to participate in or prepare for or attend any judicial, arbitration, or administrative proceedings.   

13. The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) became effective January 26, 1992. No survey or 
analysis of the Property has been made in connection with this report to determine whether the 
physical aspects of the improvements meet the ADA accessibility guidelines.  No expertise in ADA 
issues is claimed, and the report renders no opinion regarding the Property’s compliance with ADA 
regulations. Inasmuch as compliance matches each owner’s financial ability with the cost to cure 
the non-conforming physical characteristics of a property, a specific study of both the owner’s 
financial ability and the cost to cure any deficiencies would be needed for the Department of 
Justice to determine compliance. 

14. Acceptance and/or use of this report constitutes full acceptance of these Assumptions and 
Limiting Conditions and any others contained in this report, including any Extraordinary 
Assumptions and Hypothetical Conditions, and is subject to the terms and conditions contained in 
the agreement to prepare this report and full acceptance of any limitation of liability or claims 
contained therein.   

 

L56



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Addendum A 

Glossary of Terms 

L57



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

The following definitions are derived from The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 6th ed. 
(Chicago: Appraisal Institute, 2015). 

Absorption Period:  The actual or expected period required from the time a property, group of 
properties, or commodity is initially offered for lease, purchase, or use by its eventual users until all 
portions have been sold or stabilized occupancy has been achieved. 

Absorption Rate:  1) Broadly, the rate at which vacant space in a property or group of properties for 
sale or lease has been or is expected to be successfully sold or leased over a specified period of 
time. 2) In subdivision analysis, the rate of sales of lots or units in a subdivision. 

Ad Valorem Tax:  A tax levied in proportion to the value of the thing(s) being taxed. Exclusive of 
exemptions, use-value assessment provisions, and the like, the property tax is an ad valorem tax. 
(International Association of Assessing Officers [IAAO]) 

Assessed Value:  The value of a property according to the tax rolls in ad valorem taxation; may be 
higher or lower than market value or based on an assessment ratio that is a percentage of market 
value. 

Cash Equivalency:  An analytical process in which the sale price of a transaction with nonmarket 
financing or financing with unusual conditions or incentives is converted into a price expressed in 
terms of cash or its equivalent. 

Contract Rent:  The actual rental income specified in a lease. 

Disposition Value:  The most probable price that a specified interest in property should bring under 
the following conditions:  1) Consummation of a sale within a specified time, which is shorter than 
the typical exposure time for such a property in that market.  2) The property is subjected to market 
conditions prevailing as of the date of valuation.  3) Both the buyer and seller are acting prudently 
and knowledgeably.  4) The seller is under compulsion to sell.  5) The buyer is typically motivated.  
6) Both parties are acting in what they consider to be their best interests.  7) An adequate marketing 
effort will be made during the exposure time.  8) Payment will be made in cash in US dollars (or the 
local currency) or in terms of financial arrangements comparable thereto.  9) The price represents 
the normal consideration for the property sold, unaffected by special or creative financing or sales 
concessions granted by anyone associated with the sale.  This definition can also be modified to 
provide for valuation with specified financing terms.  

Effective Rent:  Total base rent, or minimum rent stipulated in a lease, over the specified lease term 
minus rent concessions; the rent that is effectively paid by a tenant net of financial concessions 
provided by a landlord.  

Excess Land:  Land that is not needed to serve or support the existing use. The highest and best 
use of the excess land may or may not be the same as the highest and best use of the improved 
parcel. Excess land has the potential to be sold separately and is valued separately. See also 
surplus land. 

L58



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Excess Rent:  The amount by which contract rent exceeds market rent at the time of the appraisal; 
created by a lease favorable to the landlord (lessor) and may reflect unusual management, 
unknowledgeable or unusually motivated parties, a lease execution in an earlier, stronger rental 
market, or an agreement of the parties. 

Exposure Time:  1) The time a property remains on the market.  2) [The] estimated length of time 
that the property interest being appraised would have been offered on the market prior to the 
hypothetical consummation of a sale at market value on the effective date of the appraisal.  

Extraordinary Assumption:  An assumption, directly related to a specific assignment, as of the 
effective date of the assignment results, which, if found to be false, could alter the appraiser’s 
opinions or conclusions. See also hypothetical condition. 

Fee Simple Estate:  Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate, subject only 
to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers of taxation, eminent domain, police power, 
and escheat. 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR):  The relationship between the above-ground floor area of a building, as 
described by the zoning or building code, and the area of the plot on which it stands; in planning 
and zoning, often expressed as a decimal, e.g., a ratio of 2.0 indicates that the permissible floor 
area of a building is twice the total land area.   

Frictional Vacancy:  The amount of vacant space needed in a market for its orderly operation. 
Frictional vacancy allows for move-ins and move-outs.  

Full-Service Lease:  See gross lease. 

General Vacancy:  A method of calculating any remaining vacancy and collection loss 
considerations when using discounted cash flow (DCF) analysis, where turnover vacancy has been 
used as part of the income estimate. The combined effects of turnover vacancy and general 
vacancy relate to total vacancy and collection loss.  

Going-Concern Premise:  One of the premises under which the total assets of a business can be 
valued; the assumption that a company is expected to continue operating well into the future 
(usually indefinitely). 

Going Concern Value:  An outdated label for the market value of all the tangible and intangible 
assets of an established and operating business with an indefinite life, as if sold in aggregate; more 
accurately termed the market value of the going concern or market value of the total assets of the 
business.  

Gross Building Area (GBA):  1) Total floor area of a building, excluding unenclosed areas, measured 
from the exterior of the walls of the above grade area. This includes mezzanines and basements if 
and when typically included in the market area of the type of property involved.  2) Gross leasable 
area plus all common areas.  3) For residential space, the total area of all floor levels measured 
from the exterior of the walls and including the superstructure and substructure basement; 
typically, does not include garage space. 

L59



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Gross Lease:  A lease in which the landlord receives stipulated rent and is obligated to pay all of 
the property’s operating and fixed expenses; also called full-service lease.  

Hypothetical Condition:  1) A condition that is presumed to be true when it is known to be false. 
(Appraisal Institute: The Standards of Valuation Practice [SVP]) 2) A condition, directly related to a 
specific assignment, which is contrary to what is known by the appraiser to exist on the effective 
date of the assignment results but is used for the purpose of analysis.  See also extraordinary 
assumption. 

Intended Users:  1) The party or parties the valuer intends will use the report. (SVP) 2) The client 
and any other party as identified, by name or type, as users of the appraisal or appraisal review 
report by the appraiser on the basis of communication with the client at the time of the assignment. 
(USPAP, 2016-2017 ed.) 

Investment Value:  1) The value of a property to a particular investor or class of investors based on 
the investor’s specific requirements. Investment value may be different from market value because 
it depends on a set of investment criteria that are not necessarily typical of the market.   
2) The value of an asset to the owner or a prospective owner for individual investment or 
operational objectives. (International Valuation Standards [IVS]) 

Land-to-Building Ratio:  The proportion of land area to gross building area; one of the factors 
determining comparability of properties.  

Lease:  A contract in which the rights to use and occupy land, space, or structures are transferred 
by the owner to another for a specified period of time in return for a specified rent.  

Leased Fee Interest:  The ownership interest held by the lessor, which includes the right to receive 
the contract rent specified in the lease plus the reversionary right when the lease expires. 

Leasehold Interest:  The right held by the lessee to use and occupy real estate for a stated term 
and under the conditions specified in the lease.  

Lessee:  One who has the right to occupancy and use of the property of another for a period of time 
according to a lease agreement. 

Lessor:  One who conveys the rights of occupancy and use to others under a lease agreement. 

Liquidation Value:  The most probable price that a specified interest in property should bring under 
the following conditions:  1) Consummation of a sale within a short time period.  2) The property is 
subjected to market conditions prevailing as of the date of valuation.  3) Both the buyer and seller 
are acting prudently and knowledgeably. 4) The seller is under extreme compulsion to sell.  5) The 
buyer is typically motivated.  6) Both parties are acting in what they consider to be their best 
interests.  7) A normal marketing effort is not possible due to the brief exposure time.   
8) Payment will be made in cash in US dollars (or the local currency) or in terms of financial 
arrangements comparable thereto.  9) The price represents the normal consideration for the 
property sold, unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions granted by anyone 

L60



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

associated with the sale.  This definition can also be modified to provide for valuation with 
specified financing terms.  

Market Rent: The most probable rent that a property should bring in a competitive and open market 
reflecting the conditions and restrictions of a specified lease agreement, including the rental 
adjustment and revaluation, permitted uses, use restrictions, expense obligations, term, 
concessions, renewal and purchase options, and tenant improvements (TIs). 

Market Value:  A type of value that is the major focus of most real property appraisal assignments. 
Both economic and legal definitions of market value have been developed and refined, such as the 
following.  1) The most widely accepted components of market value are incorporated in the 
following definition: The most probable price, as of a specified date, in cash, or in terms equivalent 
to cash, or in other precisely revealed terms, for which the specified property rights should sell after 
reasonable exposure in a competitive market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, with the 
buyer and seller each acting prudently, knowledgeably, and for self-interest, and assuming that 
neither is under undue duress.  2) Market value is described, not defined, in the Uniform Standards 
of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) as follows: A type of value, stated as an opinion, that 
presumes the transfer of a property (i.e., a right of ownership or a bundle of such rights), as of a 
certain date, under specific conditions set forth in the definition of the term identified by the 
appraiser as applicable in an appraisal. 2 

Market Value of the Going Concern:  The market value of an established and operating business 
including the real property, personal property, financial assets, and the intangible assets of the 
business. 

Marketing Time:  An opinion of the amount of time it might take to sell a real or personal property 
interest at the concluded market value level during the period immediately after the effective date 
of an appraisal. Marketing time differs from exposure time, which is always presumed to precede 
the effective date of an appraisal.  

Modified Gross Lease:  A lease in which the landlord receives stipulated rent and is obligated to 
pay some, but not all, of the property’s operating and fixed expenses.  Since assignment of 
expenses varies among modified gross leases, expense responsibility must always be specified. 
In some markets, a modified gross lease may be called a double net lease, net net lease, partial net 
lease, or semi-gross lease. 

Net Lease:  A lease in which the landlord passes on all expenses to the tenant. See also gross lease; 
modified gross lease. 

Net Net Net Lease:  An alternative term for a type of net lease. In some markets, a net net net lease 
is defined as a lease in which the tenant assumes all expenses (fixed and variable) of operating a 
property except that the landlord is responsible for structural maintenance, building reserves, and 
management; also called NNN lease, triple net lease, or fully net lease.  

 
2 The actual definition of value used for this appraisal is contained within the body of the report.  The 
definition of market value given above is general in viewpoint and is only provided for amplification. 

L61



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Occupancy Rate:  1) The relationship or ratio between the potential income from the currently 
rented units in a property and the income that would be received if all the units were occupied.   
2) The ratio of occupied space to total rentable space in a building. 

Overage Rent:  The percentage rent paid over and above the guaranteed minimum rent or base 
rent; calculated as a percentage of sales in excess of a specified breakpoint sales volume.  

Percentage Rent:  Rental income received in accordance with the terms of a percentage lease; 
typically derived from retail store and restaurant tenants and based on a certain percentage of their 
gross sales. 

Prospective Opinion of Value:  A value opinion effective as of a specified future date. The term 
does not define a type of value. Instead, it identifies a value opinion as being effective at some 
specific future date. An opinion of value as of a prospective date is frequently sought in connection 
with projects that are proposed, under construction, or under conversion to a new use, or those that 
have not yet achieved sellout or a stabilized level of long-term occupancy.  

Rentable Area:  For office or retail buildings, the tenant’s pro rata portion of the entire office floor, 
excluding elements of the building that penetrate through the floor to the areas below. The rentable 
area of a floor is computed by measuring to the inside finished surface of the dominant portion of 
the permanent building walls, excluding any major vertical penetrations of the floor. Alternatively, 
the amount of space on which the rent is based; calculated according to local practice. 

Retrospective Value Opinion:  A value opinion effective as of a specified historical date. The term 
retrospective does not define a type of value. Instead, it identifies a value opinion as being effective 
at some specific prior date. Value as of a historical date is frequently sought in connection with 
property tax appeals, damage models, lease renegotiation, deficiency judgments, estate tax, and 
condemnation. Inclusion of the type of value with this term is appropriate, e.g., “retrospective 
market value opinion.” 

Shell Rent:  The typical rent paid for retail, office, or industrial tenant space based on minimal “shell” 
interior finishes (called vanilla finish or white wall finish in some areas). Usually, the landlord 
delivers the main building shell space or some minimum level of interior build-out, and the tenant 
completes the interior finish, which can include wall, ceiling, and floor finishes, mechanical 
systems, interior electricity, and plumbing. Typically, these are long-term leases with tenants paying 
all or most property expenses. 

Surplus Land:  Land that is not currently needed to support the existing use but cannot be separated 
from the property and sold off for another use. Surplus land does not have an independent highest 
and best use and may or may not contribute value to the improved parcel. See also excess land.  

Turnover Vacancy:  A method of calculating vacancy allowance that is estimated or considered as 
part of the potential income estimate when using discounted cash flow (DCF) analysis. As units or 
suites turn over and are available for re-leasing, the periodic vacancy time frame (vacancy window) 
to release the space is considered.  

L62



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Usable Area:  1) For office buildings, the actual occupiable area of a floor or an office space; 
computed by measuring from the finished surface of the office side of corridor and other 
permanent walls, to the center of partitions that separate the office from adjoining usable areas, 
and to the inside finished surface of the dominant portion of the permanent outer building walls. 
Sometimes called net building area or net floor area. See also floor area.  2) The area that is actually 
used by the tenants measured from the inside of the exterior walls to the inside of walls separating 
the space from hallways and common areas. 

Use Value:  The value of a property assuming a specific use, which may or may not be the property’s 
highest and best use on the effective date of the appraisal.  Use value may or may not be equal to 
market value but is different conceptually. See also value in use. 

Value In Use:  The value of a property assuming a specific use, which may or may not be the 
property’s highest and best use on the effective date of the appraisal. Value in use may or may not 
be equal to market value but is different conceptually. See also use value. 

Value Indication:  A valuer’s conclusion of value resulting from the application of an approach to 
value, e.g., the value indication by the sales comparison approach. 

 

L63



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Addendum B 

Property Information

L64



L65



CITY OF MENLO PARK - APPRAISAL INSTRUCTIONS 
TO DETERMINE THE VALUE OF COMMUNITY AMENITIES 

UNDER BONUS LEVEL ZONING

I. Required Appraiser Qualifications

II. Methodology for Life Science (LS) and Office (O) Districts

A. Base Level Value

Subject 
Property

“Base Level”

“GFA”)

Market Value

entitled”

“GFA Per Square Foot Unit Value”

Date of Value

L66



CITY OF MENLO PARK - APPRAISAL INSTRUCTIONS 
TO DETERMINE THE VALUE OF COMMUNITY AMENITIES 

UNDER BONUS LEVEL ZONING

B. Bonus Level Value  

L67



CITY OF MENLO PARK - APPRAISAL INSTRUCTIONS 
TO DETERMINE THE VALUE OF COMMUNITY AMENITIES 

UNDER BONUS LEVEL ZONING

“Bonus Level”

entitled

L68



CITY OF MENLO PARK - APPRAISAL INSTRUCTIONS 
TO DETERMINE THE VALUE OF COMMUNITY AMENITIES 

UNDER BONUS LEVEL ZONING

C.  Value of the Amenity Conclusion 

Value of the Amenity

Value of the Amenity        $5,000,000

III. Methodology for Residential Mixed-Use (R-MU) District

A. Base Level Value for a Residential Development or the Residential 
Component of a Mixed-Use Project

Subject 
Property

Base Level

L69



CITY OF MENLO PARK - APPRAISAL INSTRUCTIONS 
TO DETERMINE THE VALUE OF COMMUNITY AMENITIES 

UNDER BONUS LEVEL ZONING

BMR”)

“GFA”)

Market Value

“entitled”

“GFA Per Square Foot Unit Value”

“Date of Value”

L70



CITY OF MENLO PARK - APPRAISAL INSTRUCTIONS 
TO DETERMINE THE VALUE OF COMMUNITY AMENITIES 

UNDER BONUS LEVEL ZONING

B. Bonus Level Value for a Residential Development or the Residential 
Component of a Mixed-Use Project  

Bonus Level

L71



CITY OF MENLO PARK - APPRAISAL INSTRUCTIONS 
TO DETERMINE THE VALUE OF COMMUNITY AMENITIES 

UNDER BONUS LEVEL ZONING

“entitled”

L72



CITY OF MENLO PARK - APPRAISAL INSTRUCTIONS 
TO DETERMINE THE VALUE OF COMMUNITY AMENITIES 

UNDER BONUS LEVEL ZONING

C. Value of Amenity Conclusion for a Residential Development or the 
Residential Component of a Mixed-Use Project

Value of the Amenity

Value of the Amenity        $5,000,000

D.  For Non-Residential Component of Mixed-Use Project

E.  Value of Amenity Conclusion R-MU District Combined Residential and 
Non-Residential Component of Mixed-Use Project

L73



CITY OF MENLO PARK - APPRAISAL INSTRUCTIONS 
TO DETERMINE THE VALUE OF COMMUNITY AMENITIES 

UNDER BONUS LEVEL ZONING

IV. Methodology for Projects That Include Multiple Zoning Districts 

L74



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Addendum C 

Comparable Data 

L75



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Land Sales 

L76



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

L77



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

L78



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

L79



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

L80



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

L81



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

L82



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

 

 

L83



Addenda 

Proposed Apartment/Townhouse Development Site  

Addendum D 

Appraiser Qualifications and Licenses

L84



Partial List of Significant Assignments

Licenses and Designations

Education

John P. 
Walsh      
MAI, MRICS

Senior Vice President

CA Appraiser License #AG003248

YEARS OF
EXPERIENCE

AREAS OF
SPECIALTY

L85



L86



bae urban economics

Fiscal Impact Analysis Report for 
Proposed 123 Independence Project 
Prepared for the City of Menlo Park 
October 28, 2022 

ATTACHMENT N

N1



 

2 

 

Table of Contents 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ................................................................................................ I 

INTRODUCTION .......................................................................................................... 1 

Project Description ................................................................................................................... 1 

GENERAL FUND FISCAL IMPACTS ................................................................................ 3 

Fiscal Impact Analysis Methodology ......................................................................................... 3 

Projected Annual Revenue Impacts ......................................................................................... 4 

One-Time/Non-Recurring Revenue Impacts ........................................................................... 15 

Projected Annual Service Cost Impacts .................................................................................. 16 

Summary of Net Fiscal Impact to the City of Menlo Park General Fund .................................. 18 

SPECIAL DISTRICT FISCAL IMPACT ANALYSIS ............................................................. 22 

Menlo Park Fire Protection District ........................................................................................ 22 

School Districts Serving the Project Site ................................................................................. 25 

APPENDIX A: FISCAL IMPACTS TO OTHER SPECIAL DISTRICTS .................................... 30 

Water and Sanitary Districts ................................................................................................... 30 

Midpeninsula Regional Open Space District ........................................................................... 30 

San Mateo County Community College District ..................................................................... 31 

San Mateo County Office of Education ................................................................................... 33 

 

  

N2



 

3 

List of Tables 
Table 1: Development Program at Project Buildout ...................................................................... 2 

Table 2: Current Service Population, City of Menlo Park ............................................................... 3 

Table 3: Estimated Annual Taxable Expenditures per Resident ..................................................... 6 

Table 4: Projected Net Change in Annual General Fund Sales Tax Revenue at Buildout ................ 7 

Table 5: Distribution of Base 1% Property Tax Revenue, TRA 08-010 ............................................ 8 

Table 6: Current (2022) Assessed Value of Project Site ................................................................. 9 

Table 7: Assessed Value Assumptions ......................................................................................... 10 

Table 8: Projected Total Assessed Value of Project Site at Buildout ............................................ 10 

Table 9: Projected Change in Annual Property Tax Revenue at Buildout ..................................... 11 

Table 10: Projected Change in Annual Property Tax In-Lieu of Vehicle License Fee Revenue at 

Buildout ...................................................................................................................................... 12 

Table 11: Projected Change in Annual Business License Tax Revenue at Buildout ....................... 13 

Table 12: Projected Change in Annual Utility User Tax Revenue at Buildout ............................... 14 

Table 13: Projected Change in Annual Franchise Fee and Fines Revenues at Buildout ................. 15 

Table 14: Summary of Net Change in Annual General Fund Revenues at Buildout ...................... 15 

Table 15: Impact Fees from the Proposed Project ....................................................................... 16 

Table 16: Current City of Menlo Park Annual General Fund Operating Expenditures, FY 2022-23 

Adopted Budget ......................................................................................................................... 17 

Table 17: City of Menlo Park General Fund Expenditure Impacts at Buildout............................... 18 

Table 18: Annual Net Fiscal Impact to the City of Menlo Park General Fund at Full Buildout and 

Occupancy .................................................................................................................................. 19 

Table 19: Projected Net Fiscal Impact to the City of Menlo Park General Fund, 2022-2031, 

Proposed Project ........................................................................................................................ 21 

Table 20: Projected Net Fiscal Impact to Menlo Park Fire Protection District .............................. 24 

Table 21:  Projected Fiscal Impacts to the Redwood City School District ..................................... 27 

Table 22:  Projected Fiscal Impacts to the Sequoia Union High School District ........................... 29 

N3



 

i 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This report presents the findings from a Fiscal Impact Analysis (FIA) of the proposed residential 

development at 123 Independence Drive in Menlo Park (Proposed Project).  The Proposed Project 

would include 316 multifamily rental apartments and 116 for-sale townhomes on an 8.5-acre site. 

 

The FIA addresses the anticipated net increase in revenues and expenditures and the resulting 

net fiscal impact of the Proposed Project on the following: 

 City of Menlo Park General Fund, 

 Menlo Park Fire Protection District, 

 School districts that serve the project site, and 

 Other special districts that serve the project site. 

Selected FIA findings are summarized in the following table.  As shown below, the Proposed 

Project would have a negative net fiscal impact on the City of Menlo Park’s annual General Fund 

operating budget, with new General Fund expenditures exceeding new General Fund revenues 

by approximately $570,500 annually.  This annual fiscal deficit is equal to approximately 0.7 

percent of the City’s 2022/23 Fiscal Year General Fund operating budget.  The Proposed Project is 

also projected to have negative net fiscal impacts on the Menlo Park Fire Protection District, 

Redwood City Elementary School District, and the Sequoia Union High School District.  The net 

fiscal impact to the Menlo Park Fire Protection District represents 0.4 percent of the District’s 

2022/23 Fiscal Year General Fund budget.  The projected annual fiscal deficits for the school 

districts represent approximately 0.2 percent of Redwood City School District’s 2022/23 

unrestricted General Fund budget and approximately 0.7 percent of Sequoia Union High School 

District’s 2022/23 unrestricted General Fund budget. 

 

Selected Net Fiscal Impact Findings for the Project at Buildout 
 

 
 
Source: BAE, 2022. 

 

All figures in 2022 dollars Menlo Park Redwood City Sequoia Union

City of Fire Protection Elementary High School

ANNUAL IMPACTS Menlo Park District District District

Project

New  Revenues $501,686 $408,321 $689,036 $472,055
New  Expenditures ($1,072,139) ($657,401) ($865,696) ($1,413,433)
Net Fiscal Impact ($570,453) ($249,080) ($176,659) ($941,378)

See report for explanation of Project, methodology, and limiting conditions.

N4



 

1 

INTRODUCTION 

The City of Menlo Park (City) is evaluating the proposed 123 Independence Project (Proposed 

Project) and engaged BAE Urban Economics, Inc. (BAE) to conduct a Fiscal Impact Analysis (FIA) 

to inform the City’s evaluation of the Proposed Project.  Like most new development, the 

Proposed Project is expected to increase demands on local government services and 

infrastructure and generate new revenues for local government through additional taxes and 

fees.  This report provides an analysis of the effects that the Proposed Project would have on 

local expenditures and revenues in order to estimate the net fiscal impact that the Proposed 

Project would generate.  The FIA addresses the fiscal impacts to the City’s General Fund as well 

as impacts to special districts that provide services to residents and businesses in Menlo Park.  

Except as otherwise noted in the text, the annual ongoing fiscal impact of the proposed project is 

described in constant 2022 dollars, based on the future point in time when the project would be 

fully built out and occupied. 

 

Project Description 
The Proposed Project would include construction of a new 4-story, 5-level multifamily building 

with 316 rental apartments and 116 for-sale townhomes on five existing parcels located at 119 

Independence Drive, 123-125 Independence Drive, 127 Independence Drive, 1205 Chrysler Drive, 

and 130 Constitution Drive in Menlo Park.  The Project site is approximately 8.5 acres in size and 

currently contains five office and light industrial buildings (approximately 103,900 square feet).  

All existing buildings would be demolished as part of the Proposed Project.   

 

Table 1 summarizes the development program for the Proposed Project at buildout.  As shown, 

at buildout the Proposed Project would deliver a total of 432 new residential units.  The 

residential units would include a total of 66 below market-rate (BMR) units, including 48 BMR 

apartments and 18 BMR townhomes.  

 

Table 1 also shows the growth in new residents, change in employment, and the service 

population associated with the Proposed Project.  The analysis defines the City’s service 

population as all residents plus one third of the employees who work within the City. Calculating 

service population in this way reflects the fact that employees, who generally spend less time in 

the community than residents, tend to generate a smaller share of demand for services.  As 

shown, the new residential units in the Proposed Project would accommodate 1,110 residents at 

buildout.  Overall, the Proposed Project would result in a net increase of 1,061 service population 

members after accounting for the existing employment on the Project site (148 employees).   

 

N5



 

2 

Table 1: Development Program at Project Buildout 

 
 
Notes: 
(a) Service population equals the resident population plus a portion of the employment population to reflect the reduced 
service demand from commercial uses.  To estimate service population, each employee is multiplied by 1/3. 
(b) Based on an assumed average 2.57 persons per household. 
 
Sources: City of Menlo Park; BAE, 2022. 

 

 

  

123 Independence

Project

New Residential Units 432

Multifamily Apartments 316
Market-Rate Units 260
Affordable Units 56

Townhomes 116
Market-Rate Units 98
Affordable Units 18

New Residential Building Area (gsf) 476,962

Multifamily Apartments 289,223
Townhomes 187,739

Existing Square Footage to be Demolished 103,983

New Service Population (a) 1,110

New Residents 1,110
New Employees 0

Existing Service Population (a) (49)

Existing Residents 0
Existing Employees (148)

Net Change in Service Population (a) 1,061

Net Change in Residents 1,110
Net Change in Employees (148)

N6



 

3 

GENERAL FUND FISCAL IMPACTS 

This section of the report summarizes the projected ongoing annual fiscal impacts from the 

Proposed Project.  The analysis is focused on the City of Menlo Park’s General Fund, as this 

represents the portion of the City’s budget that finances key public services.  To pay for these 

services, the City’s General Fund is dependent on discretionary revenue sources such as property 

taxes, sales taxes, transient occupancy taxes, and various local fees and taxes.  The following 

sections detail the scope of the analysis and the underlying methodologies and assumptions used 

to estimate fiscal impacts from the Proposed Project. 

 

Fiscal Impact Analysis Methodology 
This fiscal impact analysis (FIA) uses a variety of methods to estimate the projected change in 

General Fund revenues and service costs that would be associated with the Proposed Project.  

The cost of providing municipal services is often based on the number of persons served (or 

“service population”), as are some sources of municipal revenues.  In general, as the service 

population increases, there is a need to hire additional public safety and other government 

employees, as well as a need to increase spending on equipment and supply budgets.  Some 

municipal revenues, such as franchise fees and fines, also generally increase as the service 

population increases.  The analysis therefore relies in large part on an average cost and average 

revenue approach, based on the City’s current costs and revenues per member of the current 

service population.  This approach is standard practice for fiscal impact analyses and assumes 

that future development would generate costs and revenues at the same average rate as the 

existing service population. 

 

As shown in Table 2, the City’s existing service population consists of 33,034 residents and 35,471 

employees, resulting in a total service population of 44,858 (100 percent of residents plus one-

third of employees).  The fiscal impact analysis uses this service population figure to derive 

current expenditures and revenues per service population member. 

 

Table 2: Current Service Population, City of Menlo Park 
 

 
 
Notes: 
(a) California Department of Finance January 2022 population estimate. 
(b) Esri estimate. 
(c) Service population equals the resident population plus a portion of the employment population to reflect the reduced 
service demand from commercial uses.  To estimate service population, each employee is multiplied by 1/3. 
 
Sources: California Department of Finance; Esri Business Analyst; BAE, 2022. 

 

City of Menlo Park 2022

Residents (a) 33,034
Employees (b) 35,471
Service Population (c) 44,858

N7



 

4 

While an average revenue approach is appropriate for some revenue sources, other major 

sources of revenue such as property taxes, property tax in-lieu of vehicle license fee revenues, 

and sales taxes are projected based on statutory requirements and other factors normally used to 

allocate revenues from these sources to the City of Menlo Park.  Additional methodological 

details and assumptions are provided in the discussions of individual cost and revenue 

projections below.    

 

Except where noted in this report, all cost and revenue projections are expressed in 2022 dollars 

at a future point in time when the Proposed Project would be fully built out and occupied.  

 

Projected Annual Revenue Impacts 
The following subsections provide an overview of the major General Fund revenue sources that 

would be impacted by the Proposed Project and the estimated revenue that the Proposed 

Project would generate from each source.  This section also details the assumptions and 

methodology used to estimate the revenue impacts associated with the Proposed Project. 

 

Sales Taxes 

The Proposed Project would generate sales tax revenue for the City of Menlo Park as the 

residents that move into the residential units in the Proposed Project make taxable purchases at 

city retailers, such as purchasing lunch and other convenience goods.  At the same time, the 

Proposed Project would result in the demolition of existing non-residential space and the 

resulting removal of workers from the project site.  To the extent that these workers currently 

make taxable purchases in Menlo Park, this would result in a decrease in taxable purchases by 

people that work in Menlo Park. 

 

Taxable transactions that take place in the City of Menlo Park are subject to a 9.25-percent sales 

tax.  This total includes the statutory 1.0-percent Bradley-Burns sales tax, of which 95 percent 

(i.e., 0.95 percent of the sale price) accrues to the City of Menlo Park while the remaining five 

percent (i.e., 0.05 percent of the sale price) accrues to San Mateo County.  Apart from the City’s 

share of the Bradley-Burns sales tax, all other sales tax revenues from taxable transactions that 

take place in Menlo Park accrue to other governmental agencies, including the State of 

California. 

 

Taxable Sales from Resident Spending.  To estimate taxable sales from new resident spending 

in Menlo Park, this analysis relies on taxable sales data provided by the California Department of 

Tax and Fee Administration for retailers in Menlo Park and a larger “benchmark area” consisting 

of the two counties of San Mateo and Santa Clara.  According to the data shown in Table 3, 

annual taxable retail sales in the two-county area average $15,043 per person, compared to only 

$8,106 per person in Menlo Park.  The lower per capita sales volume in Menlo Park indicates that 

retail sales are “leaking” out of the City.  Retail leakage indicates that, of the $15,043 in typical 

average taxable purchases per Menlo Park resident, a portion is spent in locations outside of 

Menlo Park due to a shortage of retailers in Menlo Park to meet the demand for retail goods in 

N8



 

5 

specific categories or the presence of retailers outside by near City limits that are capturing 

“leaked” sales. 

 

Table 3 shows that Menlo Park experiences leakages in several retail categories, including home 

furnishings and appliances, clothing and clothing accessories, food services and drinking places, 

and “other retail”.  For these categories, the analysis uses the per-capita spending figure for 

Menlo Park to estimate retail sales by Menlo Park residents at retailers and restaurants in Menlo 

Park.  The remainder of resident spending in those categories is assumed to occur outside of 

Menlo Park. 

 

Meanwhile, the data in Table 3 also indicate that the City experiences an “injection” of retail sales 

in some categories (i.e., food and beverage stores and gasoline stations), with per-capita taxable 

sales in Menlo Park exceeding the average for the two-county area.  This indicates that there are 

likely enough retailers in these categories in Menlo Park to meet the demand from Menlo Park 

residents, and that people that live outside of Menlo Park likely make a portion of their purchases 

in these categories at locations in Menlo Park.  However, while the data indicate that there are 

enough retailers in Menlo Park to capture all resident sales in these categories, it is likely that 

residents will nevertheless make a portion of their purchases in these categories outside of Menlo 

Park.  The analysis assumes that retailers in Menlo Park will capture 85 percent of new resident 

taxable sales in these retail categories, with the remainder spent at locations outside of Menlo 

Park.  This is meant to provide a more conservative analysis and account for the fact that some 

taxable sales in Menlo Park are likely due to spending by people that are not Menlo Park 

residents. 

 

Applying these capture rates results in an estimate that the new Menlo Park residents generated 

by the Proposed Project will spend $6,491 per year in taxable purchases at locations in Menlo 

Park, with the remainder of their $15,043 in total estimated annual per-capita spending occurring 

in locations outside of Menlo Park.  This total is smaller than the $8,106 per year in per-capita 

taxable sales that occur in Menlo Park to account for the fact that some of the sales that occur in 

Menlo Park are due to spending by people that are not Menlo Park residents, particularly in 

categories where Menlo Park experiences an injection of taxable sales and are therefore not 

affected by residential growth.  This figure ($6,491 per resident per year) was multiplied by the 

estimated number of new residents in the Proposed Project to estimate the total annual taxable 

sales in Menlo Park generated by new resident spending. 

 

 

N9



 

6 

Table 3: Estimated Annual Taxable Expenditures per Resident 
 

 
 
Notes: 
(a) 2021 data inflated to 2022 dollars.  Population estimates for 2021 per the California Department of Finance: 

Menlo Park: 33,509 
San Mateo County: 751,596 
Santa Clara County: 1,907,693 

(b) Retail spending for Menlo Park residents is assumed to be equal to per capita spending patterns for the two counties.  If 
Menlo Park residents spend fewer dollars per capita than in San Mateo and Santa Clara Counties, the analysis assumes 
the difference leaks out to other shopping centers in the two counties.  A zero percent leakage indicates that residents can 
get all shopping needs met in Menlo Park.  Negative figures indicate that Menlo Park receives a net injection, i.e. more 
sales than are likely attributable to just Menlo Park residents. 
(c) Based on data in column (b); estimates the percentage of resident spending within a category that will occur in Menlo 
Park.  While zero percent or negative leakage indicates residents could meet their shopping needs within the City, shoppers 
are still likely to seek goods and services outside Menlo Park.  To be conservative, the maximum capture rate has been 
estimated at 85 percent of sales. 
(d) Equals (Taxable Sales per Capita in San Mateo & Santa Clara Counties) x (Estimated % of Resident Sales in City).  
Assumes that Menlo Park will capture most of new residents' retail spending in categories with low/no leakage and will 
capture little spending in high leakage categories, based on current spending patterns, and assumes that the mix of retail 
offerings in Menlo Park remains relatively consistent. 
(e) Total does not include taxable sales in the category classified as "All Other Outlets", as these taxable sales consist  
primarily of business-to-business sales taxes that would not be impacted by resident population growth. 
 
Sources: CA Department of Finance; CA Department of Tax and Fee Administration; BAE, 2022. 

 

Taxable Sales from Worker Spending.  To estimate taxable expenditures made by existing 

workers on the Project site, this analysis uses data from the International Council of Shopping 

Centers (ICSC) survey of office worker spending.  The ICSC survey provides estimates of worker 

spending near work by store category, including both taxable and non-taxable purchases.  The 

taxable expenditure estimates used in this analysis reflect adjustments to remove a portion of 

spending at drug and grocery stores, most of which is typically not subject to sales tax under 

California State law, as well as all non-taxable spending on services and entertainment, which is 

generally not taxable.  The adjustments also account for the available retail offerings in Menlo 

Park, which affects the extent to which businesses in Menlo Park capture existing worker 

spending.  After accounting for non-taxable purchases and the specific types of retail available in 

Menlo Park, the estimated annual taxable sales in Menlo Park totals approximately $1,890 per 

existing worker.   

 

Net Change in General Fund Sales Tax Revenue from Resident and Worker Spending.  Table 4 

shows the estimated net change in total taxable sales from resident and worker spending in 

Estimated %

San Mateo & of Resident Estimated

Menlo Santa Clara Sales Taxable Sales New Sales

Business Category Park Counties Leakage (b) in City (c) in City (d)
Retail and Food Services
   Home Furnishings & Appliance Stores $693 $933 26% 74% $693
   Food and Beverage Stores $1,693 $824 -105% 85% $701
   Gasoline Stations $1,502 $1,165 -29% 85% $990
   Clothing & Clothing Accessories Stores $350 $1,086 68% 32% $350
   Food Services and Drinking Places $2,286 $2,559 11% 85% $2,175
   Other Retail $1,581 $8,475 81% 19% $1,581
Total (e) $8,106 $15,043 $6,491

2021 Taxable

Sales per Capita (a)

N10



 

7 

Menlo Park attributable to the Proposed Project.  As shown, new residents in the Proposed 

Project would collectively spend approximately $7.2 million per year on taxable purchases in 

Menlo Park at buildout.  This increase in taxable spending would be partially offset by a decrease 

in annual taxable expenditures among workers on the project site due to the demolition of 

existing commercial space, estimated to total approximately $280,000.  Based on the resulting 

net increase in annual taxable sales in Menlo Park (approximately $6.9 million) and the City’s 

share of sales tax revenue, annual General Fund sales tax revenue would increase by 

approximately $65,800 at buildout and full occupancy of the Proposed Project. 

 

Table 4: Projected Net Change in Annual General Fund Sales Tax Revenue at 

Buildout 

 
 
Notes: 
(a) See Table 3. 
(b) Based on data from International Council of Shopping Centers (ICSC), Office-Worker Retail Spending in a Digital Age, 
2012.  Spending estimates were adjusted to 2022 dollars.  Worker spending estimates were adjusted to account for the 
available retail offerings in Menlo Park and to remove non-taxable spending on services and entertainment as well as a 
portion of spending at drug and grocery stores.   
 
Sources: ICSC, 2012; CA Department of Finance; CA Department of Tax and Fee Administration; BAE, 2022. 

 

Property Taxes 

The property taxes that accrue to a city are a function of the assessed value of real property and 

the City’s share of the property tax collected for each parcel.  Property in California is subject to a 

base 1.0 percent property tax rate, which is shared among local jurisdictions including the 

County, City, and special districts.  The State requires that a portion of property tax revenues also 

be allocated to countywide Educational Revenue Augmentation Funds (“ERAF”) to offset state 

expenditures on local K-12 education.  In addition to the base 1.0 percent tax rate, additional 

property taxes and special assessments apply to most properties to pay for school district bonds 

or other special purposes, which vary by property location and are restricted for specific uses.  

This analysis evaluates impacts to the City’s General Fund operating budget, which receives a 

share of the base 1.0 percent property tax but does not receive revenue from any additional taxes 

or special assessments. 

123 Independence

Project

Resident Spending

Net Change in Residents 1,110
Per Capita Taxable Sales in Menlo Park (a) $6,491
Net Change in Annual Taxable Resident Spending $7,204,704

Worker Spending

Net Change in Workers (148)
Taxable Sales in Menlo Park per Worker (b) $1,890
Net Change in Annual Taxable Worker Spending ($279,720)

Annual Sales Tax Revenue

Net Change in Annual Cityw ide Taxable Sales $6,924,984
Menlo Park Share of Sales Tax Receipts 0.95%
Net Change in General Fund Sales Tax Revenue $65,787

N11



 

8 

 

The share of the base 1.0 percent property tax that is allocated to each taxing jurisdiction is based 

on the Tax Rate Area (TRA) where the property is located.  Table 5 shows the effective 

distribution of the base 1.0 percent property tax to the taxing jurisdictions in the TRA where the 

Project site is located.  After accounting for estimated ERAF reductions, Menlo Park receives 

approximately 9.6 percent of the base 1.0 percent tax, with the remainder going to various other 

taxing jurisdictions. 

 

Table 5: Distribution of Base 1% Property Tax Revenue, TRA 08-010 
 

 
 
Note: 
(a) Represents the percentage reduction in property taxes to each jurisdiction to fund ERAF, based on FY 2021-22 figures 
provided by the San Mateo County Controller's Office. 
 
Sources: San Mateo County Controller; BAE, 2022. 

 

As shown in Table 6, the current assessed value of the Project site totals approximately $52 

million.  To estimate future property tax revenues resulting from the project, this analysis 

estimates the net change in assessed value that the County assessor would assign to the 

property and then applies the applicable tax rate.  In California, Proposition 13 provides that the 

assessed value of land and improvements cannot increase by more than two percent per year, 

except when a property is transferred to a new ownership entity, in which case the County re-

assesses the property at the current market value; or for construction of new improvements, in 

which case the County re-assesses the property by the value of the construction.  The County 

Assessor bases the assessed value of new improvements on: 1) the construction cost of new 

improvements, 2) the income value of the property and/or 3) the sale price of recently-sold, 

comparable properties.  The Assessor may use one, two, or all three of these methods to assign 

an assessed improvement value to a project following construction.   

 

 

Pre-ERAF ERAF Effective

Jurisdiction Distribution Shift (a) Distribution

City of Menlo Park 11.4% 16.4% 9.6%
County of San Mateo 22.6% 39.8% 13.6%
Redw ood City Elementary School District 22.5% 0.0% 22.5%
Sequoia Union High School District 14.9% 0.0% 14.9%
San Mateo Community College District 6.5% 0.0% 6.5%
Menlo Park Fire District 15.0% 11.0% 13.3%
Midpeninsula Regional Open Space District 1.7% 0.0% 1.7%
Bay Area Air Quality Management 0.2% 0.0% 0.2%
County Harbor District 0.3% 22.2% 0.3%
San Mateo Co. Mosquito & Vector Control District 0.2% 15.9% 0.2%
Sequoia Hospital District 1.4% 0.0% 1.4%
County Office of Education 3.4% 0.0% 3.4%
ERAF 0.0% 12.6%

100.0% 100.0%

N12



 

9 

Table 6: Current (2022) Assessed Value of Project Site 
 

 
 
Sources: San Mateo County Treasurer-Tax Collector; BAE, 2022. 

 

The project applicant owns all five existing parcels that comprise the Project site.  As part of the 

Proposed Project, the applicant is proposing a lot line adjustment that would locate the 

apartment building on a single parcel and the townhomes on three other parcels.1  To estimate 

the assessed value of the multifamily parcel, the analysis uses estimated construction costs for 

the multifamily building and garage provided by the applicant for the Proposed Project.  The 

construction cost approach typically leads to a more conservative estimate of assessed value 

compared to the other two approaches that the County Assessor might use.   The analysis 

assumes that the owner of the Project site would retain ownership of the multifamily parcel 

through construction and following completion of the multifamily building, and therefore the 

Proposed Project would not trigger a reassessment of the land value of the multifamily parcel to 

market value.  As shown in Table 7, total hard and soft construction costs for the multifamily 

building are estimated at approximately $186.1 million.  To estimate the assessed value of the 

townhomes, it was assumed that the townhomes would all be individually sold at the average 

sale prices shown in Table 7.  As shown, the estimated total value of the townhomes would be 

approximately $144.6 million once all homes are sold. 

 

                                                                  

 
1 One other parcel (Lot 1) would be improved as a publicly accessible paseo and dedicated to the City of Menlo Park.  

Parcel Land Improvements Total

055-236-140 $4,899,533 $546,822 $5,446,355
055-236-180 $6,534,534 $355,433 $6,889,967
055-236-240 $9,569,403 $546,822 $10,116,225
055-236-280 $15,609,610 $795,078 $16,404,688
055-236-300 $12,549,588 $574,163 $13,123,751
Total Project Site $49,162,668 $2,818,318 $51,980,986

Assessed Value, FY 2021-2022

N13



 

10 

Table 7: Assessed Value Assumptions 
 

 
 
Notes: 
(a) Soft costs were estimated by BAE at 20 percent of hard costs. 
(b) Weighted average sales price of market rate units based on the June 2022 Draft Housing Needs Assessment for the 
Proposed Project. 
(c) Weighted average sales price of BMR units estimated by BAE based on 2022 income limits for applicable household 
sizes. 
 
Source: BAE, 2022. 

 

The total estimated net change in assessed value at buildout is shown in Table 8.  Following 

construction of the multifamily building, the multifamily parcel would have an estimated total 

assessed value of approximately $201.7 million, including both land and improvements.  Once all 

the townhomes are constructed and individually sold, the townhome parcels would have an 

estimated total assessed value of approximately $144.6 million.  Combined, the Project site 

would have an estimated total assessed value of $346.3 million at full buildout. 

 

Table 8: Projected Total Assessed Value of Project Site at Buildout 
 

 
 
Notes: 
(a) Equal to the multifamily construction costs shown in Table 7. 
(b) Since the Project applicant currently owns the site and is expected to retain ownership of the multifamily parcel following 
construction of the improvements, the FIA does not assume any increase in land value from the Project.  The boundaries of 
the proposed new multifamily parcel roughly align with the boundaries of an existing parcel (APN 055-236-280).  The 
estimated assessed land value shown in this table is based on the existing assessed land value of this parcel, as shown in 
Table 6. 
(c) It is assumed that the townhome units would be individually sold at the weighted average sales prices shown in Table 7.  
The projected total assessed value of the townhome parcels reflects the total value after all homes have been sold. 
 
Sources: City of Menlo Park; BAE, 2022. 

 

Quantity Total Costs

Multifamily Building $554 per sf 289,223 $160,229,542
Parking Garage $77,000 per space 336 $25,872,000
Total Assessed Value of Multifamily Improvements $186,101,542

Market Rate Units (b) $1,395,900 per unit 98 $136,798,200
BMR Units (c) $431,700 per unit 18 $7,770,600
Total Assessed Value of Townhomes $144,568,800

Construction Costs (Hard & Soft Costs) (a)
123 Independence Project

Townhome Sale Prices

123 Independence

Assessed Value Project

Multifamily Parcel

Projected Assessed Value of Improvements (a) $186,101,542
Projected Assessed Value of Land (b) $15,609,610
Total Projected Assessed Value of Multifamily Parcel $201,711,152

Townhome Parcels

Projected Assessed Value of Tow nhomes (c) $144,568,800

Total Assessed Value of Project Site at Buildout $346,279,952

N14



 

11 

As shown in Table 9, the Proposed Project’s total assessed value at buildout (approximately 

$346.3 million) represents a net increase of approximately $294.3 million over the current 

assessed value of the Project site.  Based on the City’s share of the base 1.0 percent property tax 

in the TRA where the project site is located (9.6 percent), the Proposed Project would increase 

annual General Fund property tax revenue by approximately $281,400 at buildout. 

 

Table 9: Projected Change in Annual Property Tax Revenue at Buildout 
 

 
 
Notes: 
(a) This is the City's share of the base 1.0 percent property tax in the TRA where the Project site is located (TRA 08-010), 
after accounting for ERAF. 
 
Sources: San Mateo County Controller; BAE, 2022. 

 

Property Tax In-Lieu of Vehicle License Fee Revenues 

Beginning in FY 2005-2006, the State ceased to provide “backfill” funds to counties and cities in 

the form of Motor Vehicle In-Lieu Fees (VLF) as it had through FY 2004-2005.  As a result of 

financial restructuring enacted as part of the State’s budget balancing process, counties and 

cities now receive revenues from the State in the form of property tax in-lieu of vehicle license 

fees, or ILVLF.  This State-funded revenue source is tied to a city’s total assessed valuation.  In FY 

2005-2006, former VLF revenues were swapped for ILVLF revenues, which set each local 

jurisdiction’s ILVLF “base.”  The base increases each year thereafter in proportion to the increase 

in total assessed valuation within the jurisdiction.  For example, if total assessed valuation 

increases by five percent from one year to the next, the ILVLF base and resulting revenues would 

increase by five percent.   

 

As shown in Table 10, in fiscal year 2022-23 annual property tax ILVLF revenue totaled 

approximately $4.7 million.  This amounts to approximately $0.18 per $1,000 in assessed value.  

Based on the estimated total net change in assessed value shown below, the Proposed Project 

would increase annual General Fund ILVLF revenues by approximately $52,500.   

 

123 Independence

Project

Assessed Value

Total Projected Assessed Value of Project Site at Buildout $346,279,952
Less: Current (FY 2021-22) Assessed Value of Project Site ($51,980,986)
Net Change in Assessed Value at Buildout $294,298,966

Annual Property Tax Revenue

Base 1% Property Tax Revenue $2,942,990
Menlo Park Share of Base 1% Property Tax (a) 9.6%
Net Change in City Property Tax Revenue $281,388

N15



 

12 

Table 10: Projected Change in Annual Property Tax In-Lieu of Vehicle License Fee 

Revenue at Buildout 
 

 
 
Sources: City of Menlo Park; San Mateo County Controller's Office; BAE, 2022. 

 

 

Business License Tax 

Business license fees are charged to businesses operating in the City at varying rates based on 

business types.  The City charges administrative offices based on the number of employees at the 

business, with fees ranging from $50 per year for businesses with five employees or less to $1,250 

per year for businesses with over 200 employees.  Most businesses, including retail outlets and 

rental apartments, are charged based on annual gross receipts, ranging from $50 per year for 

businesses with annual gross receipts of $25,000 or less to a cap of $8,000 per site per year.2 

 

To estimate annual business license tax revenues associated with the proposed rental 

apartments, BAE estimated total annual gross receipts based on 2022 maximum rents for BMR 

units and the market rate rents provided in the Draft Housing Needs Assessment for the 

Proposed Project.  Annual business license taxes for the existing businesses on the Project site 

were estimated based on the number of employees in each business.  As shown in Table 11, the 

Proposed Project is projected to result in a slight net increase in annual business license tax 

revenue. 

 

                                                                  

 
2 Menlo Park Municipal Code section 5.12.020. 

123 Independence

Project

Net Change in Assessed Value at Buildout $294,298,966
Net change in ILVLF Revenue $52,520

Assumptions

Total Taxable Assessed Value, FY 2022-23 $26,211,741,251
FY 2022-23 ILVLF Revenue $4,677,710
ILVLF Revenue per $1,000 in Assessed Value $0.18

N16



 

13 

Table 11: Projected Change in Annual Business License Tax Revenue at Buildout 
 

 
Notes: 
(a) Based on 2022 maximum rents for BMR units and market rate rents in the Draft Housing Needs Assessment for the 
Proposed Project.   
 
Sources: City of Menlo Park; BAE, 2022. 

 

Utility Users Tax 

The City currently collects a Utility User Tax (UUT) at a rate of one percent, assessed on gas, 

electric, water, wireless, cable, and telephone bills.  For business entities with more than $1.2 

million in annual combined electric, gas and water bills, the City Council has established a 

maximum combined electric, gas, and water UUT payment of $12,000 (i.e., one percent of $1.2 

million) per year.  As shown in Table 12, based on the FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget, the City 

receives approximately $1.6 million in total annual UUT revenue, averaging $36.20 per member 

of the existing service population.  Once complete and fully occupied, the Project would generate 

a net increase in the City’s service population based on the calculations shown above in Table 1.  

Assuming a commensurate increase in the amount of UUT revenue collected each year, the net 

change in service population associated with the Project would generate additional annual UUT 

revenue of approximately $38,400. 

 

123 Independence

Project

New Business License Tax Revenue $3,500
Estimated Existing Business License Tax Revenue ($1,750)
Net Change in Annual Business License Tax Revenue $1,750

Assumptions

New Business License Tax Revenue - Rental Apartments

Number of New Rental Units 316
Weighted Average Monthly Rent per Unit (a) $3,225
Number of Residential (Assigned) Parking Spaces 330
Monthly Parking Rent per Space $125
Vacancy Adjustment 5%
Estimated Total Annual Gross Receipts from Rental Apartments $12,087,990
Total Annual Business License Tax Revenue from Apartments $3,500

Existing Business License Tax Revenue

Number of Existing Businesses 5
Median Number of Employees per Business 24
Estimated Annual Business License Tax Revenue per Business $350

N17



 

14 

Table 12: Projected Change in Annual Utility User Tax Revenue at Buildout 
 

 
 
Notes: 
(a) See Table 1. 
(b) Service population is defined as all residents plus one-third of employment. 
 
Sources: City of Menlo Park, BAE, 2022. 

 

It is important to note that the Proposed Project would be required to use electricity as the only 

source of energy for all appliances used for water heating, cooking, and other activities, 

consistent with the City’s reach code ordinance approved in September 2019.  Since it is unclear 

how reach code requirements will ultimately impact how much UUT revenue is generated from 

new developments, this analysis assumes that increases in electricity expenditures due to these 

requirements would be comparable to the resulting decrease in gas expenditures.  Actual UUT 

revenue generated by the Proposed Project would depend on a number of factors, including the 

extent to which the reach code ordinance requirements impact energy usage patterns. 

 

Other Revenues 

According to the FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget, the City generates approximately $2.6 million in 

General Fund revenues from franchise fees and fines.  Both of these revenue sources tend to 

increase as the City’s service population grows.  Franchise fees are generally set as a percentage 

of gross receipts and increase as expenditures on utilities, such as gas and electricity, increase.  

Fine revenues are primarily collected by the Police Department for parking and traffic citations 

and would also generally increase commensurate with growth in the service population.  As 

shown in Table 13, General Fund revenues from franchise fees and fines in FY 2022-23 totaled 

approximately $58.31 per member of the service population.  Assuming a commensurate 

increase in the amount of revenue collected each year, the net new service population associated 

with the Project would generate additional annual franchise fee and fines revenues of 

approximately $61,800. 

 

123 Independence

Project

Net Change in Service Population (a) 1,061
UUT Revenue per Service Population $36.20
Projected Net Change in UUT Revenue $38,396

Assumptions FY 2022-23

Total UUT Revenue, FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget $1,623,858
Current (2022) Cityw ide Service Population (b) 44,858
UUT Revenue per Service Population $36.20

N18



 

15 

Table 13: Projected Change in Annual Franchise Fee and Fines Revenues at 

Buildout 
 

 
 
Notes: 
(a) See Table 1. 
(b) Revenues based on the FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget. 
(c) Service population is defined as all residents plus one-third of employment. 
 
Sources: City of Menlo Park; BAE, 2022. 

 

Summary of Annually Recurring General Fund Revenues 

As shown in Table 14, the Proposed Project would increase annual General Fund revenues by 

approximately $501,700 at buildout.  Most of these annual General Fund revenues would be 

generated through property tax and property tax in lieu of vehicle license fees.   

 

Table 14: Summary of Net Change in Annual General Fund Revenues at Buildout 
 

 
  
Source: BAE, 2022. 

 

 

One-Time/Non-Recurring Revenue Impacts 
The City and some special districts collect impact fees and capital facilities charges for public 

services such as water, sewer, transportation, below market rate housing, and schools.  These 

impact fees are established pursuant to State law, and represent a one-time revenue source from 

a project, intended to offset impacts to infrastructure systems that are generated by new 

development.  Based on FY 2022-23 impact fee rates, the Proposed Project would generate 

approximately $11.3 million in impact fees to the City of Menlo Park after accounting for 

123 Independence

Project

Net Change in Service Population (a) 1,061
Franchise Fee and Fines Revenue per Service Population $58.31
Net Change in Franchise Fee and Fines Revenue $61,844

Assumptions FY 2022-23 (b)
Franchise Fee Revenue $2,430,500
Fines Revenue $185,000
Total Franchise Fee and Fines Revenue $2,615,500

Current (2022) Cityw ide Service Population (c) 44,858
Revenue Per Service Population $58.31

Annual Percent

General Fund Revenues Revenue of Total

Property Tax $281,388 56.1%
ILVLF $52,520 10.5%
Sales Tax $65,787 13.1%
Business License Tax $1,750 0.3%
Utility Users Tax $38,396 7.7%
Other Revenues $61,844 12.3%
Total Revenues $501,686 100.0%

N19



 

16 

offsetting fee credits (see Table 15).  Impact fees to Sequoia Union High School District would 

total approximately $830,800, while fees to Redwood City Elementary School District would total 

approximately $1.0 million. 

 

Table 15: Impact Fees from the Proposed Project 
 

 
 
Notes: 
(a) The recreation in-lieu fee is only charged on residential developments that include a subdivision map.  The fee would not 
apply to the multifamily rental units included in the Proposed Project. 
(b) The project applicant may be eligible to receive additional fee credits for providing dedicated land and improvements.   
(c) The City of Menlo Park uses ICC building valuation data to calculate the Construction Street Impact Fee.  The ICC 
building valuation differs from the projected assessed value of the improvements in Table 7 above. 
 
Sources: City of Menlo Park; Sequoia Union School District; BAE, 2022. 

 

 

Projected Annual Service Cost Impacts 
The City’s General Fund expenditures generally increase as the service population increases, with 

some exceptions for General Fund expenditures that tend to be relatively fixed and would not 

Quantity Gross New Net New

FY 2022-23 Impact Fees Rate per Unit Removed Quantity Quantity Total Fees

Transportation
Office $21.88 per net sf 0 0 0 $0
R&D $9.32 per net sf 64,681 0 (64,681) ($602,827)
Warehousing $3.62 per net sf 0 0 0 $0
Manufacturing $12.76 per net sf 39,302 0 (39,302) ($501,494)
Multifamily Residential $6,352 per unit 0 432 432 $2,743,991
Total $1,639,670

Storm Drainage Connection Fees
Single Family $450 per lot 0 0 0 $0
Multiple Family $150 per unit 0 432 432 $64,800
Total $64,800

Recreation In-Lieu Fees (a)
Multifamily Residential $78,400 per unit 0 116 116 $9,094,400
Total (b) $9,094,400

Construction Street Impact Fee (c) 0.58% of construction $551,036
value

Total City of Menlo Park Impact Fees $11,349,906

Sequoia Union High School Dist.
Commercial $0.294 per net sf 103,983 0 (103,983) ($30,571)
Residential $1.806 per net sf 0 476,962 476,962 $861,393
Total $830,822

Redw ood City Elementary School Dist.
Commercial $0.366 per net sf 103,983 0 (103,983) ($38,058)
Residential $2.274 per net sf 0 476,962 476,962 $1,084,612
Total $1,046,554

123 Independence Project

$95,006,265

N20



 

17 

change based on changes in the service population.  BAE analyzed the City’s budgeted General 

Fund expenditures from the FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget to estimate the costs that would likely 

increase as the service population increases as a result of the Proposed Project.  This analysis 

focused on expenditures for the Human Resources, Library and Community Services, Public 

Works, and Police Departments, as these departments are most likely to experience increases in 

demand for services that are funded by the General Fund.  For each department, BAE made 

adjustments to exclude the portion of departmental costs that would not change based on 

changes in the service population.  These “fixed costs” include personnel costs for certain 

executive positions (i.e., department heads, Chief of Police, etc.) as well as costs to maintain 

fixed assets, capital outlays, utilities, rental of land and buildings, and most special projects 

expenditures.  The analysis also accounts for charges for service and other department revenues 

that offset variable costs in each department.  As shown in Table 16, the City’s net variable costs 

for the impacted departments total approximately $45.3 million. 

 

Table 16: Current City of Menlo Park Annual General Fund Operating Expenditures, 

FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget 

 
Notes: 
(a) Salary and benefits costs for department/division heads are considered fixed costs that are not expected to increase with 
new development in the City.  Data reflect salaries and benefits for the following positions: Human Resources Manager, 
Library and Community Services Director, Police Chief, and Public Works Director.  Salary and benefit costs are based on 
2021 data provided by the State Controller's Office.  Data for the Police Chief position were not available for 2021, so the 
table shows 2020 data for this position.  
(b) Reflects General Fund expenditures for Fixed Assets and Capital Outlay, Utilities, Transfers, Rental of Land and 
Buildings, and Special Projects expenditures.  These costs are not anticipated to increase with new development.   
(c) Some expenditures are directly recovered through charges for services, license fees, and permit fees.  Revenues from 
these sources directly offset variable expenditures in each department.   
 
Sources: City of Menlo Park; California State Controller; BAE, 2022. 

 

As shown in Table 17, the City’s net variable costs for the impacted departments equate to $1,011 

per member of the service population.  This means that the City would need to add $1,011 to its 

annual budget for each new member of the service population (i.e., $1,011 per resident and $337 

per worker) to maintain current levels of service provided by these departments.  Table 17 applies 

the net variable costs per member of the service population to the net increase in service 

population associated with the Proposed Project to estimate General Fund expenditure impacts.  

As shown, the Proposed Project would increase the City’s total annual General Fund 

Less:

Fixed Assets

and Capital Less:

Less: Outlay, Utilities, Charges for

Annual Executive Transfers, Service and Net Variable

General Fund Salary and and Special Other Ofsetting  General Fund

Department/Division Expenditures Benefits (a) Projects (b) Revenues (c) Expenditures

Human Resources $1,267,463 ($268,125) ($7,500) $0 $991,838
Library and Community Svcs $11,803,980 ($292,256) ($601,460) ($2,767,000) $8,143,264
Police $22,951,641 ($304,405) ($901,073) ($264,000) $21,482,163
Public Works $17,403,309 ($302,700) ($1,239,500) ($1,135,500) $14,725,609
Total Expenditures $53,426,393 ($1,167,486) ($2,749,533) ($4,166,500) $45,342,874

(Impacted Departments)

N21



 

18 

expenditures by approximately $1.1 million.  The projected expenditures solely account for 

projected increases in ongoing operating costs (e.g., salaries) and do not account for any one-

time capital improvements that might be necessary to serve the Proposed Project.  

  

Table 17: City of Menlo Park General Fund Expenditure Impacts at Buildout 

 
Notes: 
(a) Based on the citywide service population shown in Table 2 
(b) Equal to net variable General Fund operating expenditures per service population multiplied by the net new service 
population associated with the Proposed Project shown in Table 1. 
 
Sources: City of Menlo Park; BAE, 2022. 

 

 

Summary of Net Fiscal Impact to the City of Menlo Park General Fund 
Table 18 summarizes the annual recurring net General Fund fiscal impact from the Proposed 

Project at buildout and full occupancy in 2022 dollars.  The Proposed Project would increase the 

City’s annual General Fund revenues by approximately $501,700 and increase the City’s annual 

General Fund expenditures by approximately $1.1 million, resulting in a net negative fiscal impact 

totaling approximately $570,500 per year once the project is complete and fully occupied.  This is 

equal to approximately 0.7 percent of the City’s total 2022/23 Fiscal Year Adopted General Fund 

budget ($80.4 million).  The fiscal impacts shown in the table below reflect the impacts of the 

Proposed Project itself, irrespective of other changes in the City’s population, workforce, 

property tax base, and other factors that could impact the City’s budget.  The project will not 

occur in isolation, and therefore other projects that have a net positive fiscal impact on the City, 

as well as other factors that affect the City budget, could potentially counterbalance the impacts 

of the Proposed Project. 

 

General Fund

Expenditures

Per Service

Department Population (a) Total (b) % of Total

Human Resources $22.11 $23,452 2.2%
Library and Community Services $181.54 $192,549 18.0%
Police $478.90 $507,949 47.4%
Public Works $328.27 $348,189 32.5%
Total Dept. Expenditures $1,010.82 $1,072,139 100.0%

Assumptions

Net Change in Service Population from Project (c) 1,061

General Fund Impacts

N22



 

19 

Table 18: Annual Net Fiscal Impact to the City of Menlo Park General Fund at Full 

Buildout and Occupancy 
 

 
 
Note: Revenues and expenditures are expressed in 2022 dollars at the future point in time when the proposed project would 
be fully built out and occupied. 
 
Source: BAE, 2022. 

 

 

Total 10-Year Impact 

The estimates in Table 18 do not account for the long-term impact of inflation on revenues, 

expenditures, and the resulting net fiscal impact to the City.  Table 19 provides a longer term 

view of the potential net fiscal impact to the City’s General Fund.  The table shows the annual 

revenues and expenditures that would be attributable to the Proposed Project on a year-by-year 

basis, adjusted for projected increases in revenues and costs in each year from 2022 to 2031.  The 

fiscal impacts shown in the table below reflect the impacts that are attributable to the Proposed 

Project itself, irrespective of other changes in the City’s population, workforce, property tax base, 

and other factors that could impact the City’s budget.  Consistent with standard City Finance 

Department budgeting practices, the analysis escalates most revenues and expenditures based 

on an inflation rate of three percent per year.3  The one exception is property tax revenues, which 

is inflated at a rate of two percent per year, the maximum allowed by the Proposition 13 limit on 

annual increases in tax assessments unless a property is transferred or sold.   

 

As shown in Table 19, the annual fiscal impact associated with the Proposed Project would 

remain slightly positive during the construction period.  Between 2022 and 2027, Table 19 shows 

a net decrease in revenues from the project site along with a net decrease in City expenditures 

                                                                  

 
3 As of the writing of this report, the current inflation rate is higher than three percent.  However, a three-percent 
inflation rate is used for this analysis to reflect typical long-term annual inflation, which has typically averaged 
approximately three percent. 

123 Independence

Project

Total Net Change in Revenues $501,686

Property Tax $281,388
ILVLF $52,520
Sales Tax $65,787
Business License Tax $1,750
Utility Users Tax $38,396
Other Revenues $61,844

Total Net Change in Expenditures ($1,072,139)

Human Resources ($23,452)
Library and Community Services ($192,549)
Police ($507,949)
Public Works ($348,189)

Net Fiscal Impact ($570,453)

N23



 

20 

due to demolition of existing improvements and an associated decrease in employment at the 

project site.  Although the City would not actually decrease its operating expenditures in 

response to a demolition of improvements on the project site, the cost of providing City services 

based on activity at the project site would be projected to decrease during this period.  The 

Proposed Project would have a negative fiscal impact on the City’s General Fund beginning in 

2028 following the completion of the first phase of the Proposed Project.  Following full buildout 

of the Proposed Project in year 2029, the annual deficit would total approximately $728,600. 

 

While this type of projection can be useful because it accounts for the effect of inflation on 

revenues and expenses over time, it should be understood that these long-term estimates are 

subject to uncertainty and are sensitive to changes in inflation and other factors.  Perhaps most 

importantly, the property tax and property tax ILVLF revenues shown assume that the same 

entity would retain ownership of the multifamily portion of the Proposed Project through the end 

of the ten-year period shown below.  In addition, these figures are based on an assumption that 

none of the initial buyers of the townhouse units sell these units within the ten-year timeframe.  

As a result, these revenues would increase by two percent per year following construction in 

accordance with Proposition 13.  If ownership of any portion of the Proposed Project is 

transferred to a different entity during this period, that transfer would trigger a reassessment of 

the project based on market value, which would likely increase the property tax and property tax 

ILVLF to a greater extent than shown in the table below. 

 

 

N24



 

21 

Table 19: Projected Net Fiscal Impact to the City of Menlo Park General Fund, 2022-2031, Proposed Project 
 

 
 
Note: Figures have been inflated based on the following rates: 

Property Tax Inflation Rate: 2% 
Other Revenue Inflation Rate: 3% 
Expenditure Inflation Rate: 3% 

 
All values shown in nominal dollars (i.e., not adjusted to 2022 dollars). 
 
Source: BAE, 2022.

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031

Net Change in Residential Units 0 0 0 0 0 0 316 432 432 432

Net Change in Service Population 0 (49) (49) (49) (49) (49) 763 1,061 1,061 1,061

Total Net Change in Revenues $0 ($12,500) ($13,000) ($13,300) ($13,600) ($14,100) $379,000 $589,900 $603,600 $618,000

Property Tax $0 ($2,700) ($2,800) ($2,900) ($2,900) ($3,000) $197,400 $323,200 $329,700 $336,300
ILVLF $0 ($500) ($500) ($500) ($500) ($600) $36,800 $60,300 $61,500 $62,800
Sales Tax $0 ($2,700) ($2,800) ($2,900) ($3,000) ($3,100) $56,600 $80,900 $83,300 $85,800
Business License Tax $0 ($1,800) ($1,900) ($1,900) ($2,000) ($2,000) $2,100 $2,200 $2,200 $2,300
Utility Users Tax $0 ($1,800) ($1,900) ($2,000) ($2,000) ($2,100) $33,000 $47,200 $48,600 $50,100
Other Revenues $0 ($3,000) ($3,100) ($3,100) ($3,200) ($3,300) $53,100 $76,100 $78,300 $80,700

Total Net Change in Expenditures $0 $51,300 $53,000 $54,500 $56,100 $57,900 ($920,400) ($1,318,500) ($1,358,200) ($1,398,900)

Human Resources $0 $1,100 $1,200 $1,200 $1,200 $1,300 ($20,100) ($28,800) ($29,700) ($30,600)
Library and Community Services $0 $9,200 $9,500 $9,800 $10,100 $10,400 ($165,300) ($236,800) ($243,900) ($251,200)
Police $0 $24,300 $25,100 $25,800 $26,600 $27,400 ($436,100) ($624,700) ($643,500) ($662,800)
Public Works $0 $16,700 $17,200 $17,700 $18,200 $18,800 ($298,900) ($428,200) ($441,100) ($454,300)

Net Fiscal Impact $0 $38,800 $40,000 $41,200 $42,500 $43,800 ($541,400) ($728,600) ($754,600) ($780,900)

N25



 

22 

SPECIAL DISTRICT FISCAL IMPACT 
ANALYSIS 

This section of the report provides analysis and findings related to the fiscal impact that the 

Proposed Project would have on the Menlo Park Fire Protection District and the school districts 

that serve the project site.  Appendix A provides findings from the fiscal impact analysis of the 

Midpeninsula Regional Open Space District, San Mateo County Community College District, the 

San Mateo County Office of Education, and the Sequoia Healthcare District. 

 

Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
The Menlo Park Fire Protection District (MPFPD) provides fire protection services to Menlo Park, 

Atherton, East Palo Alto, portions of unincorporated San Mateo County, and federal facilities 

such as the veteran’s hospital, United States Geological Survey facility, and the Stanford Linear 

Accelerator, covering approximately 30 square miles.  The MPFPD also has agreements with 

neighboring departments, including the cities of Palo Alto, Redwood City, Fremont, and the 

Woodside Fire District, to provide automatic aid.  According to population and employment 

figures from Esri Business Analyst, the MPFPD serves approximately 90,328 residents and 46,668 

employees, for a service population of 105,884.4    

 

The District operates three fire stations in Menlo Park, two fire stations in unincorporated San 

Mateo County, one station in Atherton, and one station in East Palo Alto.  Each of the seven fire 

stations is equipped with a heavy fire engine and is continuously staffed by three crew members, 

and two of the seven are equipped with aerial apparatus.  Two stations—Station 2 in East Palo 

Alto and Station 6 in downtown Menlo Park—were recently reconstructed.  Station 77 is located 

at 1467 Chilco Street in the Bayfront Area of Menlo Park and is slated to add more sleeping 

rooms.  The District plans to rebuild Stations 4 and 1 within the next decade, though District 

leadership reports that plans are currently on hold due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.  

Station 1 is located on Middlefield Road in Menlo Park, while Station 4 is located outside City 

limits in the unincorporated community of West Menlo Park. 

 

MPFPD currently employs 12 chief officers, 30 captains, and 66 engineers/firefighters, for a total 

of 108 fire safety personnel.  The MPFPD also employs an administrative support staff of 22.  To 

support its fire safety personnel, the MPFPD also employs a fire-prevention staff of 10.  In 

addition, the MPFPD is part of the greater San Mateo County boundary-drop plan, which means 

the closest unit responds to each call, regardless of the department.   

 

                                                                  

 
4 Service population is defined as all residents plus one third of all employees. 

N26



 

23 

Revenue Impacts from the Project 

Property taxes are the primary source of revenue for the MPFPD.  Other sources of General Fund 

revenues for the MPFPD include licenses and permits, monies from intergovernmental transfers, 

current service charges, and use of money and property.  For this FIA, revenues from licenses, 

permits, and service charges are assumed to be the only revenue source other than property tax 

that would be affected by new development.   

 

The MPFPD receives approximately 13.3 percent of the 1.0 percent base property tax collected in 

the TRA where the Proposed Project is located.  Based on the projected net increase in assessed 

value from the Proposed Project shown in Table 20, the MPFPD would receive additional annual 

property tax revenue of approximately $392,700 following buildout of the Proposed Project.  

Other revenues from licenses, permits, and service charges were projected at approximately $1.6 

million in the MPFPD’s FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget, averaging $14.72 per member of the service 

population.  Based on the estimated net increase in service population associated with the 

Proposed Project, additional MPFPD revenues from licenses, permits, and service charges from 

the Proposed Project would total approximately $15,600 per year. 

 

Expenditure Impacts from the Project 

This study estimates the costs that the Proposed Project would generate for the MPFPD on a per 

service population basis.  Unlike the analysis of City expenditures presented above, the analysis 

of the MPFPD includes most MPFPD General Fund expenditures in the variable cost estimate, 

including executive compensation, which may overestimate the potential cost impacts for the 

MPFPD.  This approach provides a relatively conservative assessment to avoid underestimating 

potential impacts on the District.  The MPFPD budget for the 2022-23 fiscal year includes $65.6 

million in expenditures (net of expenditures on fixed assets and transfers) from its General Fund, 

at an average rate of $620 per member of the service population.  Assuming that costs increase 

in accordance with service population, the Proposed Project would generate additional annual 

District expenditures of approximately $657,400. 

 

Net Fiscal Impact from the Project  

Based on the revenue and expenditure estimates shown in Table 20, the Proposed Project would 

have a negative net fiscal impact on the MPFPD.  The deficit associated with the Project is 

estimated to total $249,080 annually, which amounts to approximately 0.4 percent of MPFPD’s 

FY 2022-23 General Fund operating budget (excluding transfers and expenses on fixed assets).  

As with the analysis of the fiscal impacts to the City, the fiscal impacts shown in the table below 

do not reflect the impacts of other changes in the District that could potentially counterbalance 

the fiscal impacts of the Proposed Project. 

 

The Menlo Park Fire Protection District has adopted an Emergency Services and Fire Protection 

Impact Fee to fund the District’s fire protection capital facilities.  Although the City has not 

formally adopted this fee, for illustrative purposes this analysis includes a calculation of the 

impact fee revenue that the Proposed Project would generate for the MPFPD if the City of Menlo 

N27



 

24 

Park had adopted the impact fee proposed by the MPFPD before the application for the 

Proposed Project had been deemed complete.  Assuming the City had adopted this fee before 

the application for the project was deemed complete, the Proposed Project would generate 

approximately $242,000 in one-time impact fee revenue to the District (approximately $283,000 

from the new residential units less a credit totaling $41,000 based on the net decrease in non-

residential space shown in Table 15).  However, it should be noted that this fee will not actually 

apply to the Proposed Project.  

 

Table 20: Projected Net Fiscal Impact to Menlo Park Fire Protection District 

 
Note: 
(a) This is the MPFPD's share of the base 1.0 percent property tax in the TRA where the project site is located, after 
accounting for the reduction in property tax revenues to fund ERAF.  This figure does not account for excess ERAF 
revenues that the County refunds to the District when its ERAF balance exceeds K-14 educational funding needs.  Many 
taxing entities do not consider excess ERAF to be a reliable revenue source due to its volatility, difficulty to predict, and 
likelihood of being eliminated by State action in coming years.  Not including excess ERAF when determining property tax 
share results in a slightly lower, more conservative property tax revenue estimate. 
(b) Does not include transfers or expenses on fixed assets not expected to increase with service population. 
 
Sources: Menlo Park Fire Protection District; San Mateo County Controller; Esri Business Analyst; BAE, 2022.  

123 Independence

Project

Project Net Change in Service Population 1,061

Project Net Change in Assessed Value $294,298,966

Net Change in Property Tax Revenues $392,703
Net Change in License, Permit, and Service Charge Revenues $15,618
Less: Net Change in Projected Expenditures ($657,401)
Projected Net Fiscal Impact to MPFPD ($249,080)

Assumptions

MPFPD Service Population, 2022 105,884

Revenues

MPFPD Share of Base 1% Property Tax Revenue (a) 13.3%

License and Permit Revenues, FY 22-23 Preliminary Budget $1,100,000
Current Service Charge Revenues, FY 22-23 Preliminary Budget $459,100
Licenses, Permits, and Service Charges per Service Population $14.72

Expenditures

General Fund Operating Expenditures, FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget (b) $65,626,900
Expenditures per Service Population $619.80

N28



 

25 

School Districts Serving the Project Site 
This section evaluates the fiscal impacts that the Proposed Project would have on the two school 

districts that serve the project site.  Elementary and middle school students that live in the 

project would be assigned to the Redwood City School District, while high school students would 

be assigned to the Sequoia Union High School District.  In general, potential impacts from the 

growth in households associated with the Proposed Project could include the additional costs of 

instruction for new students, which are typically wholly or partially offset by property tax 

revenues or State funding.  In addition, growth in households could lead to a need for additional 

facilities to accommodate more students.  This analysis focuses on the ongoing operating costs 

associated with providing instruction for new students, though some information regarding 

potential new facilities needs is also summarized below. 

 

In addition to the Proposed Project, there are a range of other demographic and socioeconomic 

factors that can affect near- and long-term school district enrollment.  Thus, the findings in this 

section are meant to provide general order-of-magnitude estimates of the potential ongoing 

fiscal impacts to the two school districts from the Proposed Project.  The estimates are not 

intended to be a projection of the future fiscal or facility impacts that will be experienced by the 

school districts that serve Menlo Park residents. 

 

California School District Operating Revenues 

Under California’s funding system for public school districts, the impact that new development 

has on instructional operating costs depends in part on whether or not a district is a “Basic Aid” 

district.  In California, most public school districts are not Basic Aid districts, meaning that local 

property taxes are not sufficient to meet the minimum funding requirement for the district based 

on the statewide Local Control Funding Formula (LCFF).  Therefore, in non-Basic Aid districts, 

local property taxes are supplemented with State funds to meet required funding levels.  Within 

non-Basic Aid districts, as local property tax revenues increase (including from new 

development), State funding is reduced by a commensurate amount such that these districts do 

not actually realize increased revenues.  Conversely, any increase in the gap between the 

minimum funding requirement and property tax revenues, due to either increased enrollment or 

reduced property tax revenue, is met with a commensurate increase in State aid. 

 

By comparison, if local property taxes are sufficient to exceed the funding requirement 

established by the State LCFF, a district becomes a “Basic Aid” district and receives only minimal 

State funding.  Within Basic Aid districts, as assessed property values increase, the district 

generally retains any additional property tax revenues.  While this can support higher levels of 

student spending in districts with a strong property tax base, it also means that property taxes 

from new development are the primary source of funds for additional annual operating costs to 

educate any new students.  Therefore, a district’s Basic Aid or non-Basic Aid status determines 

whether it can retain new operating revenues as a result of new development that increases the 

local property tax rolls. 

 

N29



 

26 

Redwood City School District 

The Redwood City School District transitioned from a non-Basic Aid to a Basic school district 

beginning in the 2019-20 fiscal year.  The Redwood City School District’s student generation 

rates for elementary schools are 0.36 students per unit for single family detached units, 0.18 

students per unit for single-family attached units, and 0.10 students per unit for multi-family 

units.  The District’s student generation rates for middle schools are 0.10 students per unit for 

single-family detached units, 0.06 students per unit for single-family attached units, and 0.04 

students per unit for multi-family units.  Applying these student generation rates to the units in 

the Proposed Project results in an estimate that the Project will generate 72 new students in the 

District.  The estimated ADA associated with this new enrollment is 68.3 based on the District’s 

budgeted attendance rate of 95 percent as of the 2022-23 school year. 

 

Revenue Impacts from the Project.  The Proposed Project would generate property tax revenue 

and a small amount of State funding for the District.  In the TRA where the project site is located, 

the District’s share of the base one-percent property tax is 22.5 percent.  Based on this 

percentage and the estimated net increase in assessed values shown in Table 21, the Proposed 

Project would increase annual property tax revenues to the District by approximately $661,900.  

In addition to funding from property tax revenues, the Redwood City School District would 

receive a small amount of State funding per student on an annual basis (approximately $27,200). 

 

Expenditure Impacts from the Project.  Based on the District’s approved budget for FY 2022-23, 

unrestricted expenditures average $16,435 per enrolled student.  The projected net change in 

enrolled students due to the Proposed Project (72 students) would generate new annual 

unrestricted expenditures totaling $865,700.   

 

Net Fiscal Impact from the Project.  As shown in Table 21, the Proposed Project would have a 

net negative annual fiscal impact on the District.  Projected annual expenditures would exceed 

offsetting revenues by approximately $176,700.  This annual deficit is equivalent to 

approximately 0.2 percent of the District’s 2022-23 unrestricted General Fund budget.   

 

In addition to these ongoing fiscal impacts, the Proposed Project would generate one-time 

impact fees to the District totaling approximately $1.0 million (see Table 15). 

 

N30



 

27 

Table 21:  Projected Fiscal Impacts to the Redwood City School District 
 

 
Notes: 
(a) Based on a 2015 report prepared by Decision Insite.  According to the report, the single family attached category 
includes townhomes, condominiums, and duplexes. 
(b) This figure was calculated by dividing the District's FY 2022-23 estimated regular P-2 ADA by its projected enrollment.   
(c) This is Redwood City SD's share of the base 1.0 percent property tax in TRA 08-010. 
(d) Redwood City SD is a "basic aid" district.  Basic aid districts, also known as "community-funded" districts, collect enough 
property tax revenues to meet their state-determined LCFF minimum funding targets without state support.  Though basic 
aid districts are entitled to other state funds tied to ADA (listed separately) and a minimum level of guaranteed state support 
(not tied to growth), they will not receive LCFF state aid to offset the costs generated by additional ADA.  For that reason, 
BAE assumes zero state LCFF funds per ADA. 
 
Sources: Decision Insite, 2015; Redwood City School District; San Mateo County Controller; BAE, 2022. 
 

 

123 Independence

Project

Project Net Change in Residential Units 432
Single-Family Attached 116
Multifamily 316

Project Net Change in Enrolled Students 72
Project Net Change in ADA 68.3

Project Net Change in Assessed Value $294,298,966

Net Change in Annual Property Tax Revenues $661,854
Net Change in Annual State Revenues from ADA $27,182
Less: Net Change in Projected Annual Expenditures from Enrollment ($865,696)
Projected Net Fiscal Impact to Redwood City ESD (Annual) ($176,659)

One-Time Impact Fee Revenue  

Assumptions

Redwood City ESD Student Generation per Unit (a)
Single-Family Attached 0.24
Multifamily 0.14

Estimated Average Daily Attendance (ADA) per Enrolled Student (b) 0.95

Redwood City ESD Share of Base 1% Property Tax Revenue (c) 22.5%

Unrestricted Revenues per ADA, FY 2022-23 $397.94
Unrestricted State Local Control Funding Formula (LCFF) Funds per ADA (d) $0.00
Unrestricted State Educational Protection Account Funds per ADA $200.00
Unrestricted State Lottery Funds per ADA $163.00
Unrestricted State Mandated Costs Block Grant per ADA $34.94

Unrestricted General Fund Expenditures, FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget $74,594,126
Estimated Enrolled Regular Students, FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget 6,204
Estimated Regular P-2 ADA, FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget 5,885.82
Unrestricted Expenditures per Enrolled Student $12,024

N31



 

28 

Sequoia Union High School District  

The Sequoia Union High School District is a Basic Aid district and therefore gets the bulk of its 

revenue from property taxes, with a minimal amount of funding from other state and local 

sources.  The Sequoia Union High School District has not established its own student generation 

rate, and instead uses the statewide figure of 0.2 students per dwelling unit for high school 

districts established by the State’s School Facility Program.  Using the 0.2 student per unit ratio 

results in an estimated increase of 86 new students from the Proposed Project.  The estimated 

ADA associated with this new enrollment is 78.2 based on the district’s budgeted attendance rate 

of 91 percent in the 2022-23 adopted budget.  

 

Revenue Impacts from the Project.  Because the Sequoia Union High School District is a Basic 

Aid district, the district gets the bulk of its revenue from property taxes, with a minimal amount 

of funding from other state and local sources.  In the TRA where the project site is located, the 

district’s share of the base one percent property is 14.9 percent.  Based on this percentage and 

the estimated net increase in assessed values shown in Table 22, the Proposed Project would 

increase annual property tax revenue by approximately $437,300.   

 

In addition to funding from property tax revenues, the Sequoia Union High School District would 

receive a small amount of State funding per student on an annual basis.  These sources include 

the minimum State Educational Protection Account entitlement, State Lottery Funds, and the 

State Mandated Costs Block Grant, all of which are allocated based on ADA.  Annual revenues 

from these sources would total approximately $34,700 due to the estimated increase in 

enrollment from the Proposed Project. 

 

Expenditure Impacts from the Project.  As shown in Table 22, the District budget for FY 2022-

23 includes $143.7 million in total unrestricted General Fund expenditures, at a rate of $16,435 per 

enrolled student.  Applying this figure to the increase in enrollment attributable to the Proposed 

Project (86 students) yields additional Sequoia Union High School District expenditures of 

approximately $1.4 million.   

 

Net Fiscal Impact from the Project.  After accounting for the projected increases in annual 

revenues and expenditures, the Proposed Project would have a negative fiscal impact on the 

District, generating an annual fiscal deficit equal to approximately $941,400.  This is equivalent to 

approximately 0.7 percent of the District’s 2022-23 unrestricted General Fund budget net of 

transfers. 

 

In addition to these ongoing operating impacts, the Proposed Project would also generate one-

time impact fees to the District totaling approximately $830,800 (see Table 15). 

 

 

   

N32



 

29 

Table 22:  Projected Fiscal Impacts to the Sequoia Union High School District 
 

 
 
Notes: 
(a) This student generation rate was reported by the District Associate Superintendent of Administrative Services and is 
derived from the statewide yield average calculated by the State Office of Public School Construction. 
(b) This figure was calculated by dividing the District's FY 2022-23 projected ADA by its projected enrollment. 
(c) This is Sequoia Union High School District’s share of the base 1.0 percent property tax in TRA 08-010. 
(d) Sequoia Union HSD is a "basic aid" district.  Basic aid districts, also known as "community-funded" districts, collect 
enough property tax revenues to meet their state-determined LCFF minimum funding targets without state support.  Though 
basic aid districts are entitled to other state funds tied to ADA (listed separately) and a minimum level of guaranteed state 
support (not tied to growth), they will not receive LCFF state aid to offset the costs generated by additional ADA.  For 
that reason, BAE assumes zero state LCFF funds per ADA. 
 
Sources: Sequoia Union High School District; San Mateo County Controller; BAE, 2022. 

123 Independence

Project

Project Net Change in Multifamily Residential Units 432
Project Net Change in Enrolled Students 86
Project Net Change in ADA 78.2

Project Net Change in Assessed Value $294,298,966

Net Change in Annual Property Tax Revenues $437,314
Net Change in Annual State Revenues from ADA $34,742
Less: Net Change in Projected Annual Expenditures from Enrollment ($1,413,433)
Projected Net Fiscal Impact to Sequoia Union HSD (Annual) ($941,378)

One-Time Impact Fee Revenue $830,822

Assumptions

Sequoia Union HSD Student Generation per Unit (a) 0.20
Estimated Average Daily Attendance (ADA) per Enrolled Student (b) 0.91

Sequoia Union HSD Share of Base 1% Property Tax Revenue (c) 14.9%

Unrestricted Revenues per ADA, FY 2022-23 $444.29
Unrestricted State Local Control Funding Formula (LCFF) Funds per ADA (d) $0
Unrestricted State Educational Protection Account Funds per ADA $213.98
Unrestricted State Lottery Funds per ADA $163.00
Unrestricted State Mandated Costs Block Grant per ADA $67.31

Unrestricted General Fund Expenditures, FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget $143,693,521
Estimated Enrolled Regular Students, FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget 8,743
Estimated Regular P-2 ADA, FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget 7,949.60
Unrestricted Expenditures per Enrolled Student $16,435

N33



 

30 

APPENDIX A: FISCAL IMPACTS TO OTHER 
SPECIAL DISTRICTS 

In addition to impacts to the fire and school districts, the project would have fiscal impacts on 

several other special districts, as described below. 

 

Water and Sanitary Districts 
The Menlo Park Municipal Water District (MPMWD), which is part of the City’s Department of 

Public Works, owns and operates its distribution system and purchases water from the San 

Francisco Public Utilities Commission.  The MPMWD serves approximately one-half of the City’s 

population, covering the Sharon Heights area and portions of the City north of El Camino Real, 

including the Project site. 

 

The West Bay Sanitary District provides wastewater treatment services to areas in Menlo Park, 

Atherton, Portola Valley, East Palo Alto, Woodside, and unincorporated San Mateo County and 

Santa Clara County.  The District is a member agency of Silicon Valley Clean Water Joint Powers 

Authority which serves the communities of Redwood City, Belmont, San Carlos, and the West 

Bay Sanitary District. 

 

Both the MPMWD and the West Bay Sanitary District operate on a cost recovery basis, covering 

operational costs through user fees.  As such, the Project is not anticipated to have an ongoing 

fiscal impact to the two districts.   

 

The Project would generate connection fees for both districts, providing one-time fee revenue to 

cover the cost of service connections.  The MPMWD assesses connection fees based on the water 

meter size, while the West Bay Sanitary District collects connection fees that vary based on land 

use and volume of wastewater discharge.   

 

Midpeninsula Regional Open Space District 
The Midpeninsula Regional Open Space District preserves open space and provides opportunities 

for low-intensity recreation and environmental education.  The district covers an area of 550 

square miles spanning 17 cities, including the City of Menlo Park.  To date, the district has 

preserved nearly 65,000 acres of public land and created 26 open space preserves, of which 24 

are open to the public year-round.   

 

Revenue Impacts from the Project 

Property taxes are the primary source of revenue to the District, accounting for over 90 percent 

of operating revenues.  The District’s other sources of revenue, such as grants, interest income, 

and rental income, are comparatively small and not projected to be impacted by the Proposed 

Project.  The district’s share of the base one percent property tax is 1.7 percent in the TRA where 

N34



 

31 

the Project site is located.  At buildout, the Proposed Project is projected to increase annual 

property tax revenues by approximately $51,400.   

 

Expenditure Impacts from the Project 

This analysis assumes that the District would not increase its land acquisition efforts as a direct 

result of the project.  In addition, the District’s debt service expenditures would not increase due 

to the project.  As a result, salaries, benefits, services, and supplies, which total approximately 

$39.0 million in the FY 2022-23 budget, are the only District expenditures that are likely to be 

impacted by growth.  This results in estimated expenditures equal to $42 per member of the 

service population.  Annual expenditures would thus be expected to increase by $44,700 

following buildout of the Proposed Project.  

 

Net Fiscal Impact from the Project 

As detailed in Table A- 1, the Proposed Project would generate a small positive net fiscal impact 

on Midpeninsula Regional Open Space District (approximately $6,700 annually).   

 

Table A- 1: Projected Net Fiscal Impact to Midpeninsula Regional Open Space 

District 

 
Notes: 
(a) This is the Open Space District's share of the base 1.0 percent property tax in the TRA where the project site is located.  
Open Space District property tax revenues are not reduced to fund ERAF. 
(b) Includes salaries, benefits, services, and supplies only.  Does not include capital and project expenses because these 
expenses are not expected to increase with service population. 
 
Sources: Midpeninsula Regional Open Space District; San Mateo County Controller; Esri Business Analyst; BAE, 2022. 

 

 

San Mateo County Community College District 
The San Mateo County Community College District (SMCCCD) offers Associate in Arts and 

Science degrees and Certificates of Proficiency at three campuses: Cañada College in Redwood 

City, College of San Mateo in the City of San Mateo, and Skyline College in San Bruno.  As of the 

2022-23 school year, the District had 12,327 Resident Full Time Equivalent Students (FTES), 

123 Independence

Project

Project Net Change in Service Population 1,061

Project Net Change in Assessed Value $294,298,966

Net Change in Property Tax Revenues $51,421
Less: Net Change in Projected Expenditures ($44,728)
Projected Net Fiscal Impact to Open Space District $6,694

Assumptions

Open Space District Service Population, 2022 925,581

Open Space District Share of Base 1% Property Tax Revenue (a) 1.7%

General Fund Operating Expenditures, FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget (b) $39,031,112
Expenditures per Service Population $42.17

N35



 

32 

which amounts to approximately 0.014 Resident FTES per member of the District’s total service 

population.  Assuming the same student generation rate for the net new service population 

associated with the Project, the Project would result in 14.71 new FTES. 

 

Revenue Impacts from the Project 

SMCCD became a Basic Aid district beginning in FY 2012-2013.  Similar to Basic Aid elementary 

and high school districts, Basic Aid community college districts collect local property taxes and 

student enrollment fees in excess of their State-determined funding target and, therefore, do not 

receive a general apportionment of funds from the State.  State funding is mainly limited to 

specific small entitlements, several of which accrue to the district’s unrestricted General Fund, as 

well as categorical funds, which do not contribute to the unrestricted General Fund.  As a result, 

most of the district’s unrestricted General Fund revenues are derived from local property taxes 

and student enrollment fees. 

 

As detailed in Table A-2, SMCCCD receives approximately 6.5 percent of the base one percent 

property tax in the TRA where the Project site is located.  In the District’s 2022-23 adopted 

budget, resident student enrollment fees were projected to total approximately $7.9 million, or 

approximately $636 per Resident FTES.   Based on this figure and the estimated student 

generation described above, resident student fees from new enrollment are estimated to 

increase by approximately $9,400 from the Proposed Project.  The new enrollment generated by 

the Project would also increase funding from three state entitlements, which are unrestricted 

and allocated on a per-FTES basis.  These include the Educational Protection Account funds 

($100 per FTES), unrestricted State Lottery funds ($163 per FTES), and State Mandated Cost 

Block Grant funds ($32.68 per FTES).  As shown below, revenues from these sources would 

increase by approximately $4,300. 

 

Expenditure Impacts from the Project 

In the 2022-23 Adopted Budget, the District budgeted approximately $242.7 million in 

unrestricted General Fund expenditures, or $18,106 per Total District FTES.  Assuming the 

District maintains this per-FTES spending level, the new FTES generated by the Proposed Project 

(14.71 FTES) would increase the District’s operating expenditures by approximately $266,300.   

 

Net Fiscal Impact from the Project 

As reported in Table A-2, the Proposed Project would have a negative net fiscal impact on 

SMCCCD, totaling $62,700 per year.  This is equal to just 0.02 percent of the District’s 

unrestricted General Fund expenditures reported in the 2022-23 Adopted Budget. 

 

 

 

 

Table A-2: Projected Net Fiscal Impact to San Mateo County Community College 

District 

N36



 

33 

 

  
 
Notes: 
(a) This is the San Mateo County CCD's share of the base 1.0 percent property tax in the TRA where the project site is 
located. 
(b) This figure omits capital outlay expenditures as they are not impacted by growth in FTES. 
(c) Total District FTES includes Resident, Out of State, and International Full-Time Equivalent Students (FTES). 
 
Sources: San Mateo County Community College District; San Mateo County Controller; Esri Business Analyst; BAE, 2022. 

 

 

San Mateo County Office of Education  
The San Mateo County Office of Education (SMCOE) provides support for public schools 

throughout the County through instructional services, fiscal and operational services, and 

student services.  The Office’s instructional services include teacher support, educational 

technology, and professional development.  The fiscal services division assists school districts 

with accounting, budgeting, payroll functions, and maintaining compliance.  SMCOE also 

provides direct educational services to students with severe disabilities, incarcerated students 

through juvenile court schools, and at-risk students through community schools.  

 

123 Independence

Project

Project Net Change in Service Population 1,061
Project Net Change in Full-Time Equivalent Students (FTES) 14.71

Project Net Change in Assessed Value $294,298,966

Net Change in Property Tax Revenues $189,903
Net Change in Student Fee Revenues $9,358
Net Change in State Revenues from FTES $4,348
Less: Net Change in Projected Expenditures ($266,277)
Projected Net Fiscal Impact to SMCCCD ($62,667)

Assumptions

SMCCCD Service Population, 2022 897,194
Projected Resident Full-Time Equivalent Students (FTES), 2022-23 Adopted Budget 12,440
Resident FTES per Service Population Member 0.014

Revenues

SMCCCD Share of Base 1% Property Tax Revenue (a) 6.5%

Resident Student Fee Revenues, 2022-23 Adopted Budget $7,916,079
Student Fee Revenues per Resident FTES $636.34

Unrestricted State Revenues per Resident FTES, 2022-23 Adopted Budget $295.68
Unrestricted State Educational Protection Account Funds per FTES $100.00
Unrestricted State Lottery Funds per FTES $163.00
Unrestricted State Mandated Costs Block Grant per FTES $32.68

Expenditures

Unrestricted General Fund Expenditures, 2022-23 Adopted Budget (b) $242,674,080
Projected Total District Full-Time Equivalent Students (FTES), 2022-23 Adopted Budget (c) 13,403
Unrestricted Expenditures per Total District FTES $18,106

N37



 

34 

Revenue Impacts from the Project 

Like K-12 school districts, SMCOE is funded through a combination of local property taxes and 

State funds, as determined by the LCFF.  SMCOE is a Basic Aid entity, meaning that its property 

tax revenues exceed its LCFF funding entitlement.  The State provides a fixed minimum level of 

funding, as well as some minor unrestricted and categorical funds, but does not adjust its funding 

to offset changes in SMCOE’s revenues or expenditures.  Consequently, SMCOE could potentially 

experience fiscal impacts from new development, including the Proposed Project.  

 

This analysis assumes that property tax is the only unrestricted SMCOE revenue source that 

would be impacted by the Project.  Though SMCOE receives several minor unrestricted state 

funds, such as lottery and Educational Protection Account funds, these funds are tied to ADA for 

SMCOE-operated schools only.  The project is unlikely to generate significant new enrollment at 

SMCOE-operated schools, given the very low enrollment these schools constitute as a 

percentage of countywide enrollment.5  As summarized in Table A-3, SMCOE’s share of the base 

1.0 percent property tax in the TRA where the Project site is located is approximately 3.4 percent.  

Annual property tax revenue to SMCOE would increase by an estimated $98,800 from the 

Proposed Project. 

 

Expenditure Impacts from the Project 

In FY 2022-23, SMCOE budgeted $37.9 million in unrestricted expenditures, omitting capital 

outlay and transfers.  These expenditures amount to approximately $438 per enrolled student in 

San Mateo County as of the 2021-22 school year.  The Project would generate 158 new students 

in Redwood City School District and Sequoia Union High School District combined.  As shown in 

Table A-3, estimated growth-related expenditures would total approximately $69,200 from the 

Proposed Project. 

 

Net Fiscal Impact from the Project 

As detailed in Table A-3, the Proposed Project would produce an annual fiscal surplus for SMCOE 

totaling approximately $29,600. 

 

 

 

 

 

Table A-3: Projected Net Fiscal Impact to San Mateo County Office of Education 
 

                                                                  

 
5 SMCOE-operated schools enroll about 250, or 0.27 percent, of San Mateo County’s approximately 90,315 students, 
according to 2020-21 enrollment data from the California Department of Education. 

N38



 

35 

 
 
Notes: 
(a) See Redwood City SD fiscal impact table for details. 
(b) See Sequoia Union HSD fiscal impact table for details. 
(c) This is San Mateo COE's share of the base 1.0 percent property tax in the TRA where the project site is located. 
(d) Expenditures for all unrestricted funds, excluding capital outlay and transfers.   
(e) 2021-22 academic year Census day enrollment for all K-12 public schools, including charter schools, in San Mateo 
County, as reported by the California Department of Education. 
 
Sources: San Mateo County Office of Education; San Mateo County Controller; California Department of Education; BAE, 
2022. 
 

123 Independence

Project

Project Net Change in Enrolled Students 158
Project Net Change in Enrolled Students, Redw ood City ESD (a) 72
Project Net Change in Enrolled Students, Sequoia Union HSD (b) 86

Project Net Change in Assessed Value $294,298,966

Net Change in Property Tax Revenues $98,829
Less: Net Change in Projected Expenditures from Enrollment ($69,204)
Projected Net Fiscal Impact to San Mateo COE $29,625

Assumptions

San Mateo COE Share of Base 1% Property Tax Revenue (c) 3.4%

Unrestricted Central Office Expenditures, FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget (d) $37,852,567
Service Population (i.e., Enrolled Students Countyw ide) (e) 86,422
Unrestricted Expenditures per Service Population $438.00

N39



From: Johnston, Jon
To: Bhagat, Payal
Cc: Johnston, Jon
Subject: 123 Independence Drive DEIR comments
Date: Wednesday, November 30, 2022 3:12:30 PM
Attachments: image001.png

image002.png
image003.png
image004.png
Menlo Park Fire Protection District Independent Assessment_Final 3.pdf
Menlo Park FPD SOC_Final.pdf
primary response routes.pdf
1818-2015 Response Times.pdf
Menlo Park Fire Fee Nexus Study.pdf

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Unless you recognize
the sender's email address and know the content is safe, DO NOT click links, open
attachments or reply.

Please find the following documents relatable to the EIR for 123 Independence.

Menlo Park Fire Protection District comments still apply from the ConnectMenlo EIR.  While no
additional facilities are needed at this time, the M-2 area growth is changing significantly the added
call volume, traffic impacts to response times, building height and area requiring ladder trucks, and
population increases requiring additional firefighters.  The cumulative effect of all projects will
change and require additional resources and facilities upgrade to Station 77 which serves this area. 
Most importantly is traffic and continued decrease in road width and traffic calming measures in this
area which adds to the response times.  MPFPD adopts response time standards of which may need
to be addressed in the very near future as we are at a area of concern for current response times. 

Please feel free to contact me with any specific questions.

Thank you!

Jon

Jon Johnston
Division Chief/Fire Marshal
Menlo Park Fire Protection District  |  170 Middlefield Road  |  Menlo Park, CA  94025
(650) 688-8431
jonj@menlofire.org
Mission Statement: To protect and preserve life and property from the impact of
fire, disaster, injury and illness.
menlofire.org

ATTACHMENT O

O1

mailto:JonJ@MenloFire.org
mailto:PBhagat@menlopark.org
mailto:JonJ@MenloFire.org
mailto:jonj@menlofire.org
http://www.menlofire.org/
http://www.facebook.com/mpfpd
https://twitter.com/menlofire
https://www.instagram.com/menlopark.firedistrict/







  


1 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


MENLO PARK FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 


EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AND COMMUNITY 
PREPAREDNESS ASSESSMENT  


November 5, 2021 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


2 
 
 


Table Of Contents 


TABLE OF CONTENTS ................................................................................................................ 2 


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ............................................................................................................... 3 


Acknowledgements .................................................................................................................... 5 


INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND ............................................................................................ 6 


Background ................................................................................................................................ 6 


Methodology ............................................................................................................................... 6 


Current State of the Fire District ................................................................................................ 8 


RECOMMENDATIONS ............................................................................................................... 15 


CONCLUSION ............................................................................................................................. 37 


APPENDICES .............................................................................................................................. 39 


Appendix A: Survey Analysis ................................................................................................... 39 


Appendix B: Comparative Case Study #1 - San Ramon Valley Fire Protection District ........ 46 


Appendix C: Comparative Case Study #2 - The East Contra Costa Fire Protection District . 51 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


3 
 
 


Executive Summary 


Constant Associates, Inc. (CONSTANT) was contracted by the Menlo Park Fire Protection 
District (MPFPD) in the July of 2021 to conduct a 360-degree assessment of the District’s 
disaster preparedness and emergency management efforts, in order to address varying 
perspectives on the successes of its efforts to date and possible recommendations for 
improving community resilience. This assessment collected data from MPFPD staff, the Board 
of Directors, staff within the cities/towns involved with emergency management, and finally 
community-based volunteer neighborhood preparedness groups. Data was collected via a 
digital survey, multiple key stakeholder interviews, and a comprehensive review of current 
plans, policies, and procedures. The consultant team also participated in virtual meetings of 
the MPFPD Board of Director’s Emergency Preparedness Subcommittee and conducted two 
case study reviews of comparable fire districts and their operations with regard to emergency 
preparedness. 


Overall, there were five main themes of feedback identified throughout the data collection 
process: 


1. Support for MPFPD’s Community Emergency Response Team (CERT) Program 
and other volunteer neighborhood preparedness groups 


2. Exercise Participation 


3. Clarification of Responsibilities with Cities/Towns and the County Department of 
Emergency Management 


4. Staffing for the Office of Emergency Management within MPFPD 


5. Clarification of Objectives for the Emergency Preparedness Subcommittee 


This assessment aims to provide feasible, measurable, and specific strategies that will 
immediately improve the success of the District’s emergency preparedness efforts. The 
purpose of this assessment is not to address each and every piece of commentary or 
feedback given throughout the data collection phase. Instead, the contracting team has 
identified the themes and patterns emerging most often from multiple stakeholders. Each 
recommendation provided is based on compliance with emergency management best 
practices identified at the federal level (e.g., in alignment with the National Incident 
Management System and FEMA’s Whole Community Approach) and at the state level (e.g., 
California Emergency Services Association and the California Standardized Emergency 
Management System). The contracting team has focused on recommendations which are 
feasible for the MPFPD given current resources and staff time available which have the 
highest likelihood of success.  


 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


4 
 
 


A summary of the recommendations can be found in the table below, along with recommended 
priority levels and timelines. A further, in-depth analysis of each recommendation and the data 
that contributed to each can be found in the Recommendations section of this assessment.  


Table 1: Recommendations Summary by Priority and Timeline 


Recommendation Priority Level 
Recommended 


Timeline for 
Implementation 


1. Clearly define the scope of MPFPD’s CERT 
Program in a dedicated CERT program 
support plan or Standard Operating 
Procedure (SOP). 


High 1 – 3 Months 


2. Increase MPFPD presence at County, City, 
Town, and other local exercises to re-enforce 
understanding of roles, build relationships 
with community groups and City Emergency 
Management, and identify ongoing needs for 
community preparedness. 


Low 1 – 2 years 


3. a. Convene a meeting with the Menlo Park 
City Manager and Emergency Management 
staff to re-assess a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) which clearly identifies 
roles for MPFPD and the City.  


b. Advocate for County DEM to lead efforts to 
hold signatories on the newly updated Joint 
Powers Agreement (JPA) accountable for 
their responsibilities (and to ensure 
adoption). 


High 


 


 


 


Medium 


6 – 9 months 


 


 


 


6 – 9 months 


4. As part of JPA and MOU discussions, 
determine a consistent policy for designating 
volunteers within the District as Disaster 
Service Worker (DSW) volunteers and 
establish mutual aid agreements that would 
allow the deployment of DSW volunteers as 
part of mutual aid deployments. 


Medium 6 – 9 months 


5. Hire additional administrative and support 
positions within the Office of Emergency 
Management (OEM) at MPFPD to alleviate 
concerns regarding lack of resources and to 
bring new perspectives to communication 


High 3 – 6 months 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


5 
 
 


Recommendation Priority Level 
Recommended 


Timeline for 
Implementation 


between the Board, Fire District staff, and the 
community.  


6. Revisit the Emergency Preparedness 
Subcommittee’s mission, goals, and 
objectives and update the Board of Director’s 
Policy and Procedures Manual accordingly to 
ensure due process is followed and adhered 
to. 


Medium 6 - 9 months 


 


The contracting team would like to applaud the efforts of the MPFPD in commissioning this 
assessment to provide an opportunity for multiple voices and perspectives in the community to 
be heard, as well as to identify opportunities to directly improve community preparedness and 
resilience within the District.  


Acknowledgements 


The contracting team would like to thank the MPFPD staff, city personnel, members of the 
MPFPD Board of Directors, and members of the community volunteer groups for providing 
their time, input, and energy into this assessment. Members of all of these groups are deeply 
committed to the overall resiliency of the District, and we appreciate the work that you all do on 
a daily basis.  


  







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


6 
 
 


Introduction & Background 


Background 


The Menlo Park Fire Protection District is one of the oldest special protection districts in the 
State of California, having recently celebrated its 100-year anniversary in 2017. The District 
serves three cities/towns: Atherton, East Palo Alto, and Menlo Park, in addition to some 
unincorporated areas within San Mateo County. The community served by the District is a 
diverse community serving the Silicon Valley region that has grown significantly with the 
technology boom that began in the 1990s and each city/town varies in geography, population, 
and diversity.  


As of 2020, the District had 148 full time employees with 109 employees providing direct fire 
services. The additional 39 staff members provide day-to-day administrative support. This 
group of employees includes those that oversee emergency management, preparedness, and 
the coordination of the Community Emergency Response Team (CERT) Program along with 
support for other community-based volunteer neighborhood preparedness organizations.  


In addition to fire prevention and suppression duties, the District has expanded to assist local 
communities with their emergency preparedness and response efforts. Through multiple 
Memorandums of Understanding (MOUs) and joint agreements, the District has worked to use 
its subject matter expertise and staff time to improve overall emergency response capabilities 
across all three cities/towns. The District has assisted some of the jurisdictions with the 
creation and maintenance of their emergency operations plans and hazard mitigation plans, 
established an agreement with the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) to serve 
as the sponsoring agency for California Task Force 3 (CA-TF3) Urban Search and Rescue (US 
& R) Team, and continued to manage the local CERT program by providing training and 
exercise opportunities.  


The District is overseen by a Board of Directors, comprised of 5 resident community members 
who are elected to four-year terms. The elections are staggered and thus held every two 
years. The Board’s purpose is to provide strategic leadership, policy and direction, fiscal 
oversight, and support to the Fire Chief and the District staff. According to established policies 
and procedures for the Board, the communication between the Board and MPFPD staff is 
meant to pass through the Fire Chief in order to ensure that the correct staff are engaged and 
to maintain the organizational chain of command. 


Methodology 


The purpose of this assessment is to conduct a 360-degree analysis of the Fire District’s 
Disaster and Emergency Preparedness Services and provide recommendations based on 
feasible and measurable strategies. As the Board of Directors searches for a new Fire Chief 
for the first time in nearly 15 years, they have actively recognized that a breakdown in 
communication and trust had occurred between many of the stakeholders with an interest in 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


7 
 
 


the District’s emergency preparedness services and this may be an opportunity to address 
these issues. The Board and District Staff hired a contracting team to provide an independent, 
third-party assessment to provide an unbiased review of the strengths, areas of improvements, 
and overall operations of the District’s emergency preparedness plans, polices, and initiatives.  


Constant & Associates, Inc. (CONSTANT) is an emergency management consulting firm that 
has been serving clients at all levels of government since August 2004. The recommendations 
included in this document were reached by a team of subject matter experts with more than 60 
years of experience in the fields of fire department operations, emergency management, and 
local government operations. From July 1, 2021 to October 31, 2021, the contracting team 
conducted 15 virtual interviews with key stakeholders; developed a survey which was 
completed by 39 stakeholders; conducted a thorough documentation review of current plans; 
policies, and procedures; conducted a case study review of two comparable fire districts (see 
Appendices B and C); and researched additional best practices from special districts across 
the country to develop the recommendations discussed in this document. The 
recommendations reflect reoccurring themes and patterns, and while they are comprehensive, 
they do not reflect each individual piece of feedback received. 


As the effects of natural and manmade disasters 
become more frequent and far-reaching, 
preserving the safety and security of local 
communities is becoming more complex and more 
difficult every year. The need to bring together a 
diverse set of stakeholders from across 
communities to develop a whole community 
approach1 to emergency preparedness, response, 
and recovery is more critical than ever. This 
assessment represents the collective and shared 
understanding of emergency preparedness needs 
for the District across a wide-range of these 
stakeholders.  


For the purposes of this assessment, the term 
“emergency management” will refer to the managerial function charged with creating a 
framework within which communities can reduce vulnerability to hazards and cope with 
disasters. Emergency management must be comprehensive, progressive, risk-driven, 
integrated, collaborative, coordinated, flexible, and professional. It recognizes community 
capabilities and needs and creates a unified structure to meet those needs and address likely 
hazards. The term “community preparedness” will also appear frequently within this 
assessment, and will refer to the ability of a community to prepare for, withstand, and recover 
from natural or man-made disasters. 


The unprecedented nature of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic cannot be understated, and it 
has forced local government agencies to pivot their focus over the past year and a half to 
responding to this public health emergency. That in addition due to a tenuous political 
environment that has led to the public’s growing mistrust of government on all levels 


 
1 FEMA. “A Whole Community Approach to Emergency Management: Principles, Themes, and Pathways for Action.” 2011. 


The FEMA Whole Community 
Approach as a concept, whole 
community is a means by which 
residents, emergency management 
practitioners, organizational and 
community leaders, and government 
officials can collectively understand 
and assess the needs of their 
respective communities and determine 
the best ways to organize and 
strengthen their assets, capacities, 
and interests. 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


8 
 
 


exacerbating some of the communication and trust issues that already existed between District 
staff and other stakeholders. The inability to conduct trainings, hold exercises, and interface 
outside of the virtual environment due to social distancing measures put in place by county, 
state, and federal governments has also presented a challenge for emergency preparedness 
services. These operations are critical to readiness and relationship building and given that 
these restrictions have been in place for a majority of the OEM division’s existence it has 
hindered the ability to build these relationships and accomplish some goals set in 2019 during 
its formation.  


To properly implement the recommendations provided in this document, the new Fire Chief 
and partners will need to bridge the growing gaps in perspective between the district staff, Fire 
Board members, partner cities/towns, and community members in order to continue to build a 
whole community approach to emergency management and community preparedness. Based 
on a shared understanding of actual needs and achievable next steps, the District can 
continue to facilitate a transparent discussion of priorities and required resources.  


Current State of the Fire District 


In the Menlo Park Fire Protection District’s 2020-2025 Strategic Plan, there are 6 key pillars 
that establish the foundation for how the District will continue to guide its decision-making 
process. Those pillars are Responsive, Professional, Trust, Ethical, Visionary, and 
Technology. The District believes that if they are able to successfully embody these 
foundational values in their decision-making, they will be directly contributing to the 
improvement of the community’s resiliency, preparedness, and safety.2  


In most of its current service areas, the District is exemplifying the pillars outlined in their 
strategic plan. The District is well-funded, has built trust with their partner jurisdictions, has 
employed the use of the latest technologies to improve response capabilities, and has begun 
to build its own Office of Emergency Management (OEM) over the past year to further organize 
emergency management efforts. The recommendation to create OEM came from a report in 
2019 that identified that neither the municipalities nor the District had a department that was 
solely responsible for emergency management. While not legally mandated, the District noted 
an ethical responsibility to their community to establish a department that could “properly 
coordinate an effective inter-governmental standardized emergency management system.3”  In 
addition, the communities the District serves are heavily invested in disaster response and 
preparedness and OEM would provide further infrastructure to assist these organizations as 
well as the municipalities. Their participation and engagement in this assessment alone signals 
community appetite to study and discuss challenging risk management problems. These can 
all be considered significant assets to the District in emergency management and community 
preparedness.  


However, the most difficult challenge facing the District currently is that the communication and 
trust between the District staff, Board members, and community members has eroded over the 
past decade due to a lack of clear emergency management roles and responsibilities for 


 
2 Menlo Park Fire Protection District “2020-2025 Strategic Plan” 
3 “Establish an Office of Emergency Management: Recommendation Report”. February 12, 2019.  







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


9 
 
 


MPFPD, a lack of capacity at the city/town level for emergency management, and 
conflicts of interest between stakeholders. 


This inability to properly communicate roles and responsibilities and a breakdown in 
community trust is not unique to MPFPD and is frequently seen in other special protection 
districts across the country, as priorities, legal requirements, and organizational structures 
differ from how typical public service agencies typically operate. The endemic communication 
issues specific to the District’s emergency management efforts have existed for long enough 
that they have now drifted from professional differences into the political and personal realm. In 
the interviews and the survey analysis, nearly every respondent mentioned communication as 
the major area for improvement, yet many were unsure of how to fix these fractured 
relationships.  


This communication issue is multi-faceted and complex, given the nature of the organizational 
structure of the District. One factor has been the role of the Fire Chief. The structure as it 
exists now relies on the Fire Chief as the communication focal point for the public and the 
District staff. While other staff members interact directly with the community and partner 
jurisdiction representatives, the Chief must approve these communications. Using the Fire 
Chief as the main focal point of communication for the Board, community, and District staff is 
intended to create a structure in which the Chief can collect necessary situational awareness 
and lead as the visionary for the District. However, it has inadvertently created an hour-glass 
type communication process leading to a backlog in responsiveness to the community groups, 
which has caused some individuals to attempt to circumvent this structure. During the interview 
process we found a number of individuals who violated the organizational structure and 
engaged with District staff or Board members directly on a frequent basis without informing the 
Chief.  


Staff turnover for the cities/towns and for the volunteer neighborhood preparedness groups 
has also contributed to these communication issues and a lack of understanding regarding the 
emergency management roles and responsibilities of MPFPD. Varying perspectives and 
departmental priorities have contributed a wide spectrum of expectations for MPFPD’s level of 
commitment to local emergency preparedness programs.   


Another contributor to the widespread miscommunication on the roles and responsibilities of 
the District in emergency management is the various agreements and contracts it has entered 
into with the each partner jurisdiction. One of the greatest strengths of the Fire District is that it 
has been flexible and adaptable to assist the lower-resourced municipalities in varying 
emergency preparedness and readiness services, but there has been a failure to communicate 
with the public and community volunteer groups regarding the unsustainable nature of these 
arrangements. These arrangements are also very different depending on the municipality. It 
has also led to an over-reliance on MPFPD by these municipalities in areas such as 
emergency plan development and maintenance, among other duties.   


The District has, however, succeeded in creating three distinct, but overall positive 
relationships with their partner cities/towns. During the interview process each partner 
jurisdiction’s representative described the District as a positive part of their emergency 
services and a partnership that they valued. However, these relationships are distinct from 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


10 
 
 


each other given their varying levels of support based on their own needs, goals, and 
objectives.  


East Palo Alto prefers a more distanced relationship with the District and have not heavily 
leaned on the District for emergency preparedness assistance outside of their provision of 
CERT training to local volunteer groups. East Palo Alto’s emergency preparedness liaisons 
with the District operate out of their police department, but their disaster preparation falls under 
“Community & Economic Development.4” While East Palo Alto does not directly offer any 
emergency management training, their website includes a number of links to CERT groups, 
San Mateo County agencies, and the Menlo Park Fire Protection District’s website. East Palo 
Alto has a diverse population and it was noted by City staff, District Staff, and community 
group representatives that these populations are more difficult to reach due to government 
mistrust for a myriad of political reasons outside of the City’s control5. That is why one of their 
main volunteer groups rEPACT (formerly known as EPA CERT), has taken a leading effort in 
providing neighborhood-based teams with CERT training who provide assistance with 
preparedness activities.  During the data collection process for this assessment, the East Palo 
Alto stakeholders noted that they are appreciative of their relationship with the District and for 
the essential fire and medical services they provide. Given the geographic location of East 
Palo Alto, the city also has Joint Power Agreements (JPAs) with the bordering Santa Clara 
County and the City of Palo Alto which they also rely on. The City of East Palo Alto described 
the communication from the District as helpful but sometimes somewhat disjointed and, from 
their viewpoint, believed the cause to be internal communication challenges between the Chief 
and staff.  


The Town of Atherton also noted a strong relationship with the Menlo Park Fire Protection 
District, noting that the District is highly responsive to requests from Atherton and has been 
willing to help when called upon. Atherton representatives did note that there seemed to be 
communication issues at the District and that staff and executive leadership at the District did 
appear to struggle to communicate properly with each other, Atherton officials, and the 
community groups. The District and some volunteer neighborhood preparedness groups in the 
area have tended to disagree with the direction of emergency management and response 
services, which impacts a small town such as Atherton heavily since they are more likely to 
rely upon community volunteers than the other two municipalities, which are larger in size and 
resources. Emergency preparedness services are run through the police department, but they 
noted that they are currently “in the midst of a rebuild as emergency management services 
[have] bounced around for awhile.6” Atherton officials noted that they believed stronger internal 
communication and coordination between the Chief and his staff at the District could help to 
alleviate these challenges. In particular, the Town of Atherton has an active CERT-based 
volunteer group called A.D.A.P.T. (Atherton Disaster and Preparedness Team) which is a 
group of residents partnered with the Atherton Police Department to “educate, communicate 
with, and aid fellow Athertonians in preparing for major emergencies and natural disasters7.” 
ADAPT has been incorporated as a 501(c)(3) organization and works closely with Town and 


 
4 City of East Palo Alto Website, https://www.ci.east-palo-alto.ca.us/econdev/page/overview-disaster-preparation  
5 Interviews with District Staff 
6 Interview with Atherton Police Department Representatives 
7 ADAPT Website. https://www.getreadyatherton.org/our-organization.  



https://www.ci.east-palo-alto.ca.us/econdev/page/overview-disaster-preparation

https://www.getreadyatherton.org/our-organization





Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


11 
 
 


District partners to conduct drills/exercises, disseminate emergency preparedness materials, 
empower neighborhood preparedness, and facilitate meetings to improve coordination of 
preparedness efforts. Atherton’s emergency management team relies heavily on the ADAPT 
team to assist with training and exercise and has activated them most recently to assist with 
COVID-19 related emergency preparedness and management activities, including identifying 
vulnerable and at-risk population in the town.  


Of the three jurisdictions, the District has the closest relationship with the City of Menlo Park 
due to a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) that contracted some District Staff, specifically 
the Disaster Response Manager, to assist the city with emergency management services. 
Included in the 2009 MOU was an agreement to assist with the development of the City’s 
Emergency Operations Plan (EOP), the identification of EOC personnel, and the development 
of a structured training plan to ensure activated staff were adequately prepared for emergency 
activation. Officers from the Menlo Park Police Department described their relationship with the 
District as one of “exemplary communication, [a] constant sharing of ideas, and have always 
been able to reach [them] and [they] have always provided assistance”.8 The Emergency 
Preparedness services are handled by the City’s Police Department, but major financial 
decisions are made by the City Manager’s Office. During the interview with representatives 
from the Menlo Park Police Department they noted that the previous City Manager did not 
recognize emergency preparedness activities as a high spending priority, however that has 
changed with the new City Manager. It was noted that the COVID-19 pandemic has “slowed 
our recovery”, in reference to bolstering their emergency preparedness efforts9. The District’s 
interactions with community members in Menlo Park also extends to its volunteer groups, one 
of the largest of which is MPC Ready. MPC Ready is a volunteer-based organization aimed at 
building disaster preparedness capacity at the individual, household, and neighborhood level 
for the communities of Menlo Park10. MPC Ready is heavily involved in providing input on the 
District’s emergency management activities, particularly through the Emergency Preparedness 
Subcommittee and through input on the District’s emergency plans and policies.  


One example of when the District has been able to assist a jurisdiction to fulfill their emergency 
management responsibilities occurred with the creation of the EOP for Menlo Park. Some 
district staff members were contracted to help write the EOP and shepherd its approval with 
the City Council, as well as provide assistance when it was time to update the EOP. Menlo 
Park representatives noted that the EOP had not been updated because the City Manager had 
not made emergency management a priority for the city. In this case, the City still had district 
staff members as contracted workers for the City of Menlo Park, which caused some 
community members to interpret this as the District and its staff not fulfilling the agreements of 
the MOU. This issue has caused some members of the community to believe that the District 
was using taxpayer funds without performing the services they were contracted to perform. 
The District has made it clear, both in interviews for this assessment and in the Strategic Plan, 
that they do not believe it is their responsibility to justify every decision to the public, but in this 


 
8 Interview with Menlo Park Police Department Representatives 
9 Interview with Menlo Park Police Department Representatives 
10 MPC Ready Website. https://mpcready.org/business/  



https://mpcready.org/business/





Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


12 
 
 


instance it may have alleviated tensions to explain how the District was assisting and that it 
should be a temporary measure.  


Each jurisdiction expressed a unique perspective and relationship with the District, but all three 
commented on the same two challenges: communication and fractured relationships with 
community groups. The Town of Atherton relies more heavily on the use and activation of 
community groups to assist them with emergency response compared to East Palo Alto and 
Menlo Park, so their representatives distinctly noted that having the District and the volunteer 
neighborhood preparedness groups repair their relationship was critical to their mission. These 
volunteer groups would like additional funding, training, and resource support from the District, 
but are not inclined to incur additional oversight from the District in their operations or 
organizational structure. 


Another critical factor in recent communication breakdowns has been the ongoing COVID-19 
pandemic response. The unprecedented nature of the COVID-19 pandemic cannot be 
understated, and it has forced local government agencies to pivot their focus over the past 
year and a half to responding to this public health emergency. That in addition to a tenuous 
political environment that has led to the public’s growing mistrust of government on all levels 
has exacerbated some of the communication and trust issues that already existed between 
District staff and other stakeholders. The inability to conduct trainings, hold exercises, and 
interface outside of the virtual environment due to social distancing measures put in place by 
county, state, and federal governments has also presented a challenge for emergency 
preparedness services. These operations are critical to readiness and relationship building and 
given that these restrictions have been in place for a majority of the OEM division’s existence it 
has hindered the ability to build these relationships and accomplish some goals set in 2019 
during its formation.  


Another potential contributing factor to the ongoing issues for the District seems to be that 
some Board members are overstepping their role by assigning direct operational tasks for 
emergency management and community preparedness to District staff. In multiple instances 
including in Emergency Preparedness Subcommittee Meetings, survey responses, 
documentation review, and even interviews with Board members themselves, this overreach 
was noted. The role of the Board according to the Board of Directors’ Policy and Procedures 
Manual is to provide oversite, approval of budget, approve major purchases, and the 
formulation and evaluation of major policy. It is clearly stated that “routine matters concerning 
the operational aspects of the District are delegated to professional staff members.”  


The Board members have a unique conflict in that they are meant to represent the 
communities and the public in providing oversight and policy development but in support of the 
District staff’s operations. There is a vested interest expressed by Board members in further 
providing support to volunteer groups in the community, which has resulted in District staff 
feeling pressured to cater to the agendas of the volunteer groups, regardless of whether or not 
the requests were within the scope of MPFPD’s responsibilities or whether the groups are part 
of the formal District CERT program or not. District staff believe that some of this time and 
energy spent on trying to better support the various volunteer groups, regardless of whether or 
not they are part of the District CERT program, could instead be spent on further building up 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


13 
 
 


internal emergency preparedness projects, such as drills, internal response plan development, 
or community outreach to vulnerable communities outside of the community volunteer groups.  


On the other side, however, many of the volunteer and community groups expressed 
frustration with the Chief and the OEM staff (both past and present) and felt that their voices 
were not being heard. There were repeated complaints that MPFPD staff ignore their 
feedback, refuse their offers of assistance, and do not respond to their concerns. There were 
also concerns about competition or favoritism between the volunteer groups, as members of 
each expressed concerns that other groups were being treated “better” than others. This 
resulted in community groups feeling that their only recourse was to go directly to Board 
members to enact change or to provide feedback to the District.  


In recent years the District has provided CERT training and communication for each of their 
partner jurisdictions. However, they have also attempted to establish a Community Crisis 
Management Department (CCM), establish a broad Voluntary Organizations Active in Disaster 
(VOAD), and help community groups seek 501(c)(3) nonprofit status so that they could expand 
their roles. Survey data and interviews from District staff noted that these initiatives failed due 
to the lack of community support and staff turnover as well as a lack of resources to fully 
support them. Community members believed that these initiatives were unsuccessful because 
the District did not want to take on the responsibility and workload that it would take to more 
fully engage these community groups (both formal CERT and non-CERT) in emergency 
management and community readiness.  


The District’s flexibility to assist partner jurisdictions upon request has created the appearance 
of “selective mission creep” into emergency management roles traditionally handled at the 
municipal level. Many survey respondents and interviewees noted that it sometimes feels as 
though the District “cherry picks” when to employ this dynamic flexibility and when not to. This 
is another example of a situation in the District moves from the professional realm to the 
political and personal due to miscommunication. While District staff have noted that their 
mission is to serve the community and partner jurisdictions, they cannot accommodate every 
request that is made of them by the community. A clear delineation of the roles and 
responsibilities of the District as well as the municipalities is needed and should be shared with 
the community.  


District staff noted that under the newly established OEM, they will be returning to a CERT 
program more focused on “Train & Release”. The intention of CERT is to educate volunteers 
about disaster preparedness for the hazards that may impact the area and to provide basic 
disaster response skills such as fire safety, limited search and rescue, team organization, and 
disaster medical operations. This commitment to refocus the training provided around CERT 
education offers a consistent nationwide approach to volunteer training and organization that 
professional responders can rely on during disaster situations. In general, the continued 
expansion and establishment of OEM will likely help to alleviate some of the confusion around 
the responsibilities of MPFPD with regard to emergency management and offer more 
resources as the office grows.  


The community volunteer groups have a clear desire for CERT volunteers to be able to take on 
more expansive roles with regard to disaster response. While CERT volunteers in these 
organizations play a critical role during disasters, they are not meant to be activated on a 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


14 
 
 


regular basis and the ability to activate them as Disaster Service Worker (DSW) volunteers is 
predicated on the ability of the District to support them in the field as well as the status of the 
volunteer group within the Disaster Service Worker Volunteer Program (DSWVP). Federal and 
state guidelines require that CERT programs have a formal relationship with a local 
government entity and be supervised by a representative of the sponsoring entity in order to be 
covered under the DSWVP. CERT is meant to be utilized to assist when major incidents occur 
and emergency response resources in the District are overwhelmed. These community groups 
have also expressed a desire for less oversight from the District on their activities. This 
preference for less oversight yet expanded roles in disaster response has led to further 
conflicts and miscommunications. Clarifying the exact level of CERT support provided by the 
District will help to provide a stronger foundation for communication on both sides.  


It is the opinion of the contracting team that the issues and challenges faced by the District are 
solvable, but that it will require reinforcing the organizational structure that is already in place. 
It will be the responsibility of the new Chief to ensure they have the respect and trust of the 
partner jurisdictions, the Board of Directors, the community, and most importantly the District 
staff. The goal of the recommendations on the following pages is to empower stakeholders at 
the city/town, District, Board, and community volunteer group level of the role the District plays, 
as well as the role of other partners in emergency management. By more clearly defining the 
roles and responsibilities to all stakeholders, the District will begin to better convey how they fit 
into the larger picture of emergency management in the area.  


 


 


  







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


15 
 
 


Recommendations 


Recommendation 1: Clearly define the scope of MPFPD’s CERT Program in a dedicated 
CERT program support plan or Standard Operating Procedure (SOP): 


• Continue to focus MPFPD emergency preparedness efforts around supporting CERT 
education and training. This includes continuing to offer regularly scheduled CERT 
classes (which are publicized throughout communities in all three partner jurisdictions 
as well as unincorporated areas), collaboration on drills and exercises (including 
offering CERT trainees the opportunity to participate in exercises hosted by MPFPD), 
and bringing other training resources (e.g., Red Cross course offerings) to the CERT 
trainees within these communities.  


• Advocate for each individual City/Town and the County/Operational Area 
Department of Emergency Management to work directly with volunteer neighborhood 
preparedness groups and CERT trainees as part of their Community Outreach 
programs through their own emergency management programs, including Disaster 
Service Worker Volunteer Program (DSWVP) registration, DSW designation, and 
mutual aid agreements to cover cross-jurisdictional efforts.  


• Advocate for the County’s new VOAD to include the existing community volunteer 
groups and to further leverage them as resources across the county.  


• Reassert, pursuant to MOUs with the Cities/Town and/or the Countywide JPA (see 
Recommendation 3a and 3b), the MPFPD Chief’s (and/or the activated Incident 
Commander’s) authority to decide when and if CERT volunteers will be activated and 
deployed during emergency response and/or recovery operations. This decision should 
be based on whether or not the appropriate resources, including liability protections for 
CERT Volunteers and the MPFPD are in place.  MPFPD should consider utilizing 
strategies such as coordination with the City/Town DSWVP or MOUs with volunteer 
neighborhood preparedness groups in assuring an effective CERT volunteer activation 
and deployment. 


• Initiate dialogue with each City/Town to develop an MOU (for more see 
Recommendation 3a), with supporting plans and procedures, that clearly defines 
emergency management expectations, needs, and support from the District to the 
partner jurisdictions and determining resource support from them to support the delivery 
of the District’s emergency management support. 


 
Analysis: This recommendation is already underway at the time of writing this assessment, as 
a CERT SOP is currently under development by OEM. Based on the feedback collected for 
this assessment, there is a wide spectrum of organizational capacity, roles, resources, and 
training across some of the most active CERT-related organizations currently within the District 
(e.g., ADAPT, MPC Ready, and rEPACT, to name a few). Only one municipality currently has 
a formal CERT program (which requires a formal relationship with a sponsoring government 
entity) and is incorporated as a 501(c)(3): the Town of Atherton with ADAPT. Some of the 
other volunteer neighborhood preparedness groups, such as MPC Ready and rEPACT, do not 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


16 
 
 


currently have that formal designation as a formal CERT program or 501(c)(3) status. There is 
also a significant economic gap between these communities and varying support expectations 
amongst the volunteer neighborhood preparedness groups within each. This seems to be a 
result of varying perspectives, group size, and training between the volunteer groups. Some 
CERT volunteers and volunteer groups are more active or engaged than others in working 
directly with the MPFPD through the Board, through the Emergency Preparedness 
subcommittee meetings, or through personal relationships with individuals employed at 
MPFPD. This has resulted in inconsistent support provided to all volunteer groups from the 
District, and in some unclear and inconsistent definitions of what MPFPD can and is willing to 
provide in terms of support to these volunteer organizations. In addition, these groups seem to 
report to multiple different agencies and points of contact. They report to the MPFPD Board on 
occasion, to the Office of Emergency Management, to their respective City/Town’s emergency 
programs, and may soon also be a part of the County’s new efforts to establish a VOAD 
program. This has resulted in multiple inequities, miscommunications, and overlapping or 
duplicative efforts, as well as perceptions of inequality in the District’s relationships with each.  


The original intent of the CERT Program was to educate volunteers and community members 
about critical disaster preparedness skills, such as fire safety, light search and rescue, team 
organization, and disaster medical operations. CERT offers a consistent, nationwide approach 
to volunteer training and organization that professional responders can rely on during disaster 
situations, allowing them to focus on more complex tasks.11 In many fire departments and 
districts across the U.S., CERT classes are offered to community members to build 
neighborhood resiliency and a local community-based volunteer program. In 2012, the City of 
Los Angeles Fire Department conducted a nationwide survey of fire department-sponsored 
CERT programs to identify how CERT volunteers were most frequently utilized.12 Some of the 
most common ways that fire departments and districts utilize CERT volunteers for emergency 
preparedness or response support include but are not limited to: 


• Community outreach 


• Exercise or drill participation and support 


• Traffic control and security at large gatherings or events 


• Shelter support 


• Language translation 


• Commodity distribution (e.g., bottled water, supplies, sandbags, masks, etc.) 


• Preparedness or safety fairs 


• First aid booths at events 


• Radio operators or communications backup (e.g., call center staffing) 


• Scribes or minor support roles at EOCs 


• Volunteer management and coordination 
 


 
11 Ready.gov via FEMA. CERT Program Introduction. https://www.ready.gov/cert  
12 City of Los Angeles CERT Website. “Using CERT Volunteers” Survey Response Data. https://www.cert-la.com/cert-


programs-information/using-cert-volunteers/  



https://www.ready.gov/cert

https://www.cert-la.com/cert-programs-information/using-cert-volunteers/

https://www.cert-la.com/cert-programs-information/using-cert-volunteers/





Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


17 
 
 


Similar uses for CERT volunteers were illuminated by a survey of Bay Area CERT programs 
conducted by Director Ralston in 2018 as part of preparation for a presentation to the 
Emergency Preparedness Subcommittee regarding the emergency preparedness program.13 


The volunteer neighborhood preparedness groups within MPFPD’s jurisdictions that utilize 
CERT training provide an invaluable source of support to MPFPD by representing their 
communities and building neighborhood resiliency, and it is imperative that MPFPD continue to 
support a local CERT training and education program in order to bolster emergency 
preparedness across the District. These volunteer groups are also a key part of FEMA’s Whole 
Community Approach14, and can serve as a valuable source of community input for plans, 
policies, and needs in the communities they serve. 


However, MPFPD has no legal responsibility or imperative to 
provide a minimum level of support to local volunteer 
neighborhood preparedness groups which self-organize after 
the class is offered. CERT is considered a “best practice” and 
a valuable way to organize community volunteers for 
emergency preparedness and response but is not a legal 
requirement or responsibility on the part of a fire district to 
provide to communities. “Each CERT is organized and 
trained in accordance with standard operating procedures 
developed by the sponsoring agency.”15 Therefore, the 
resources and labor spent by a fire district to support CERT 
programs is entirely up to the District as the sponsoring 
agency, which should be documented in standard operating 


procedures. There may be grants or specially funded programs aimed at developing CERT 
programs which may have particular requirements that must be adhered to for grantees such 
as a fire district, but this will vary based on the grant or funding entity.  


In 2018 as part of a special meeting for the Emergency Preparedness Subcommittee, the 
Board and the meeting attendees discussed the level of support provided to volunteer 
neighborhood preparedness groups by MPFPD. Director Carpenter and others at the time 
agreed that the level of volunteer group support had gotten out of hand, and that it would be 
better to “decouple” CERT training/education versus overall command and control. The District 
would keep some level of fiscal oversight over any monies or equipment provided to the 
groups, but that overall the groups would work semi-autonomously as their own volunteer 
organizations. The District would primarily be aimed at providing the training and occasionally 
a budget for equipment.16 One potential problem, however, is the level of autonomy desired or 
exercised by each of the community volunteer organizations varies.  


For a time, between 2015 and 2020, a separate advisory board for the CCM/CERT program 
made up of members of the various volunteer neighborhood preparedness groups was created 


 
13 Special Meeting Report from Lisa Chow. September 2018. 
14 FEMA. A Whole Community Approach to Emergency Management: Principles, Themes, and Pathways for Action. 2011. 
https://www.fema.gov/sites/default/files/2020-07/whole_community_dec2011__2.pdf  
15 CERT Program Basic Training Manual, Federal Emergency Management Agency, 2019.  
https://www.ready.gov/sites/default/files/2019.CERT_.Basic_.PM_FINAL_508c.pdf  
16 Special Meeting Report from Lisa Chow. September 2018. 


“FEMA left to each locale to 
shape the program [CERT] 
as they see fit from 
regimented army to simple 
awareness campaigns. 
MPFPD has gone 
somewhere in between.”  


– Special Meeting Report, 
Lisa Chow, Sept 2018. 



https://www.fema.gov/sites/default/files/2020-07/whole_community_dec2011__2.pdf

https://www.ready.gov/sites/default/files/2019.CERT_.Basic_.PM_FINAL_508c.pdf





Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


18 
 
 


and operated to advise the Fire District on how to better support these programs. However, 
many of the members of this advisory board quit or were lost due to frustrations on both sides 
and mounting political pressure. This advisory group was eventually disbanded in 2020.  


There also seems to be confusion over how and when these volunteer groups should be 
leveraged or activated during an emergency response. Some of the volunteer groups 
expressed frustration that they have not been used more frequently for disaster response, 
while MPFPD staff indicated that they do not always have the capability to protect and provide 
resources for volunteers in addition to their own staff when incident response is ongoing. In the 
MPFPD’s Disaster Volunteer Management Annex (v.1.1); there is an established policy for 
conducting a needs assessment after a disaster to determine whether or not volunteers will be 
utilized.17 This includes CERT-trained volunteers as well as other affiliated volunteers such as 
Red Cross, Salvation Army, County Search and Rescue volunteers, and more. It also applies 
to spontaneous and unaffiliated volunteers who express a desire to assist in the aftermath of a 
disaster. Ultimately, CERT volunteers will not be deployed for emergency response activities 
unless there is a formal request from the Incident Commander and/or the MPFPD Chief. This 
will be based on the need (either due to staffing shortages, the need for specialized skillsets, 
or the locality of an incident), and the ability to support volunteers (provide adequate 
resources, protective equipment, oversight, and liability protections). MPFPD may not always 
need to activate volunteers for their response efforts. However, the recent efforts by the 
County’s Office of Emergency Services to create a VOAD will create another strong, cross-
jurisdictional forum for these volunteer groups to better advocate for the use of their skillsets 
and contribute to more emergency response capabilities for multiple different agencies, not just 
MPFPD, which may result in greater activity and alignment for these groups.  


A clear, concise, and shared (e.g., on the MPFPD website) MPFPD CERT Program Standard 
Operating Procedure (SOP) document or plan that clearly outlines the role of CERT within 
the communities represented by the District, as envisioned by the District, would help to further 
clarify roles and responsibilities. This document should outline some of the following: 


• An inventory of MPFPD resources (staff time and funds) dedicated to the CERT 
program annually, both past and projected. 


• A description of the training and education program, with annual goals for training and a 
multi-year training and exercise plan (which ideally incorporates some engagement from 
CERT volunteers where possible and productive in MPFPD exercises or drills, and/or 
MPFPD representation in local volunteer neighborhood preparedness group drills or 
exercises). 


• A designated point of contact between MPFPD and the volunteer groups and previous 
CERT class trainees (this should be the CERT Program Coordinator and/or a designee) 
as well as communication protocols and procedures. 


• A list of sample roles and responsibilities that CERT trainees may be asked to 
participate in by MPFPD both in the preparedness phase (e.g., safety and preparedness 
fairs, exercises) and in the response phase (e.g., shelter support, commodity 
distribution).  


 
17 Disaster Volunteer Management Annex (v1.1) page 3. Last updated March 3, 2021. 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


19 
 
 


• A description of roles and liabilities for CERT volunteers for activations by MPFPD 
independent of a DSWVP response sponsored/requested by a city or town.  


• A description of the DSWVP registration/designation requirements and the 
authorities/points of contact which can implement DSWVP registration at each of the 
three cities/towns.  


• A contact list of the designated community outreach and volunteer points of contact at 
the emergency preparedness offices for each city/town and for the County.  


• A clear list of resources or equipment that MAY be purchased by MPFPD for use by 
volunteer neighborhood preparedness groups or formal CERT programs when funding 
is available (e.g., personal protective equipment, CERT field manuals, etc.), as well as a 
list of resources that will not be purchased (e.g., search and rescue equipment or 
medical devices). Include a process for these individuals or groups to identify when and 
how to apply for supplemental funding from specialized grant programs issued by 
MPFPD (e.g., a standard form, application, required status as a 501(c)(3), etc.).  


 
 
Estimated Financial Impacts: Minimal, primarily labor-based for existing staff positions at 
OEM and additional time for input from key community and municipal stakeholders, efforts are 
already underway by OEM.  


The development of a finalized SOP, including opportunities for review/revision/dissemination 
with stakeholders should take an estimated 60 – 100 staff hours over a period of a 3 – 6 
months, depending on review cycles.  


 
  







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


20 
 
 


Recommendation 2: Increase MPFPD participation at County, City, Town, and other local 
exercises to re-enforce understanding of roles, build relationships with community groups and 
City Emergency Management, and identify ongoing needs for community preparedness.  


Analysis: As part of the survey conducted for this assessment, respondents were asked who 
was responsible for leading and coordinating emergency preparedness, emergency response, 
and emergency recovery efforts within their community. The results strongly indicated that 
there is widespread confusion at all three levels (MPFFD staff, city/town staff, and community 
groups) over roles and responsibilities for each of these three phases. Respondents replied 
with answers ranging from the fire district, the city/town, law enforcement, the county, the 
volunteer groups and their leadership, and many simply answered they were unsure.  


While it is important to document roles and responsibilities clearly in emergency operations 
plans, standard operating procedures, joint powers agreements, and memorandums of 
understanding, the reality of emergency management is that many stakeholders at all levels 
will not be familiar with written plans or be able to adequately interpret how policy and plans 
are implemented in the field during an emergency.  


Experience gained during exercises is commonly cited in post-incident evaluations as the best 
and most effective way to prepare teams and organizations to respond effectively to an 
emergency18. Engaging actively in regular exercises with community groups, city/town 
leadership, and county-level organizations will help to solidify these roles and responsibilities 
and encourage a shared understanding of MPFPD’s role.  


During the interview phase for this assessment, multiple 
stakeholders commented that MPFPD’s participation in 
local exercises (at the community, city, and county level) 
has been inconsistent and unpredictable and often 
simply based on availability and interest. However, 
respondents were adamant that when MPFPD actively 
participated as part of exercises, the results were 
extremely beneficial and reinforced the common mission 
of each organization. This not only helped to establish 
trusted relationships, but it also opened up discussion 
around areas of response, recovery, or preparedness 
that may not be covered by the fire district and may 
require additional resources from the city, town, county, 
or the community.  


MPFPD’s primary obstacle in participating in local exercises is staff time and availability. With 
so many volunteer groups conducting their own drills along with increased efforts at the 
city/town level and now at the county level by various departments to conduct exercises on a 
regular basis, the number of exercise invitations has steadily increased every year. MPFPD 
regularly receives invitations to participate in exercises from the following (not counting their 
own internal exercise programs): 


 
18 Federal Emergency Management Agency. “Emergency Planning Exercises for Your Organization.” Last Updated July 2020. 


AND Ready.gov “Exercises.” Last Updated October 2021.  


 “As yesterday's (9/11/21) drill 
showed, there is a great deal of 
cooperation between the Fire 
District, the Police Department 
and ADAPT. I think there is a 
good working relationship and 
mutual respect. The general 
feeling is that we are all in this 
together, and the better 
prepared we all are, the better 
off everyone will be.”  


– Survey Respondent 


 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


21 
 
 


 


• San Mateo County Department of Emergency Management 


• San Mateo County Sheriff’s Office 


• San Mateo County Health 


• Menlo Park Police Department 


• Atherton Police Department 


• East Palo Alto Police Department 


• ADAPT 


• MPC Ready 


• rEPACT 


• California Governor’s Office of Emergency Services (particularly Urban Search and 
Rescue) 


 
This does not include MPFPD’s internal exercises or state and federal exercise programs 
which may also call for additional commitment. At this rate, participation and active 
engagement in every exercise is not possible for MPFPD alongside their other responsibilities. 
Therefore, the following steps are recommended in order to consolidate efforts and establish a 
consistent participation model when feasible: 


• Identify an internal Exercise Lead at MPFPD under the supervision of OEM to serve as 
an official liaison for exercise participation requests. This could be separately assigned 
and not the Disaster Response Manager’s role in order to free them up to focus on 
response coordination. If separately assigned, however, the lead should still report to 
OEM for these efforts. 


• Document decision-making criteria and parameters for MPFPD participation in an 
exercise hosted by an external organization, such as: 


o Must receive the request at least 90 days in advance of conduct 
o Must be appropriate for the Fire District to participate and within the scope of 


practice and mission of MPFPD  
o Requires approval from the Chief  
o Must have a clear set of exercise objectives and scenario 
o Must involve active participation from more than one entity or organization 


• Advocate with DEM for further alignment of countywide training and exercise planning 
efforts (as dictated by the JPA, see Recommendation 3b) to provide regular, 
coordinated opportunities for multiple agencies to exercise together and to consolidate 
efforts. 


o The County has a Training and Exercise Group which is meant to align training 
and exercise efforts. This Group will likely continue to be led by the newly formed 
County Department of Emergency Management (DEM). The Group should 
collaboratively develop a multi-year training and exercise plan which maps out 
shared exercise dates and opportunities over the next 3-5 years. Cities, towns, 
and community groups (through the County VOAD group) should also be 
encouraged to participate. This allows everyone to consolidate and combine 
exercise opportunities and reduce the frequency of separate invitations received 
by any given agency or group.  







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


22 
 
 


• Establish exercise goals annually for MPFPD in the Emergency Operations Plan and 
include exercises from outside organizations. 


• Prioritize staff time at MPFPD to spend time on exercises and rotate participating 
individuals (avoid sending the same person every time to every drill or exercise). 


• Avoid participating only on the day of the exercise. Engage in the planning process, 
clarify the realistic role of MPFPD early on in the exercise planning process to avoid 
confusion or assignment of response roles that would normally fall to other 
organizations. 


 
Estimated Financial Impacts: Slight increase in staff labor hours at MPFPD allocated to 
exercise planning and participation for external stakeholders. However, advocacy efforts with 
the County to align multi-year training and exercise planning efforts will eventually streamline 
the number of hours required over the next 3 – 5 years.  


Expect to rotate exercise participation duties amongst multiple MPFPD staff members, for a 
total of 40-60 hours per exercise per staff member (in order to be involved with planning as 
well as execution and evaluation). May also involved at least 60-80 hours annually for a 
designated Exercise Liaison to interact with and engage with external stakeholders on exercise 
participation requests and meetings of countywide training and exercise committee or 
workgroup efforts.  


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


23 
 
 


Recommendation 3a: Convene a meeting with the Menlo Park City Manager and Emergency 
Management staff to re-assess an MOU which clearly identifies roles for MPFPD and the City. 
Consider including a representative from the County Department of Emergency Management 
(DEM) as well to further delineate County-level responsibilities from those of the city and the 
fire district. The MOU should address: 


• Primary responsibility for drafting and maintaining the city’s Emergency Operations Plan 
and Hazard Mitigation Plan should be delegated to the emergency manager for the city. 


• MPFPD should provide critical review and input on the plans in order to ensure 
alignment with MPFPD plans as well as federal and state regulatory requirements.  


• Primary responsibility for coordinating emergency response training for city staff should 
fall to the city emergency manager. MPFPD can help provide critical training (e.g., 
SEMS, ICS, NIMS, EOC section training, etc.).  


• Responsibility for maintenance of the City’s CERT program should be defined within the 
agreement under MPFPD. This should also address authority to purchase supplies or 
provide funding for CERT purposes. The responsibility for providing Disaster Service 
Worker Volunteer designation (DSWV) for volunteers should also be addressed as part 
of the MOU.  


• Responsibilities for disaster-related documentation for qualification for federal or state 
reimbursement funding should fall to the city emergency manager and/or County DEM 
with assistance from MPFPD where appropriate.  


• EOC staffing for the city may be supplemented by MPFPD, but approval authorities and 
parameters from MPFPD and reimbursement should be included in the MOU. 


 
Recommendation 3b: Advocate for County DEM to lead efforts to hold signatories on the 
newly updated Joint Powers Agreement (JPA) accountable for their responsibilities (and to 
ensure adoption), including but not limited to: 


• Attendance at and active participation in Emergency Services Council meetings, 


• Active leadership in the development of emergency operations plans and associated 
policies and plans for each municipality and response entity, 


• Regular participation in the San Mateo County Emergency Managers’ Association, 


• Alignment of training and exercise planning efforts via the County’s Training and 
Exercise Group. 


Analysis: Each of the three municipalities within the District have varying levels of capability 
for emergency management and planning. In Menlo Park, emergency management is 
coordinated through the Police Department, who have historically maintained a liaison to work 
with MPFPD and the Disaster Services Manager to coordinate on emergency planning.  


In 2009, there were efforts to establish an MOU between MPFPD and the City of Menlo Park 
regarding emergency response and management. The MOU required that MPFPD create and 
maintain the emergency operations plan for the City of Menlo Park as well as staff emergency 
operations center positions for the City and setup a structured training plan accordingly. The 
MOU led to an over-reliance on MPFPD for coordination of City of Menlo Park emergency 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


24 
 
 


management, as well as a common misperception within the community that MPFPD was 
responsible for all things emergency and disaster-related within the City. The MOU also led to 
a relationship breakdown between MPFPD and the City of Menlo Park which has affected 
coordination efforts for the past decade. This agreement has expired, and a new MOU has not 
been established. In the process of collecting data for this assessment, both MPFPD and the 
City of Menlo Park staff have expressed an interest in renegotiating the terms of this 
agreement but have not been able to implement this effort. Currently, according to staff within 
Menlo Park, there is no single role or entity responsible for emergency management in the city. 
Staff within Menlo Park suggested that it might be helpful to have a designated emergency 
manager or coordinator within the City Manager’s Office. They agreed that it would better 
benefit all parties involved if the City had a full-time capacity rather than relying on the fire 
district. While this is outside the scope of a recommendation that MPFPD can implement, the 
fire district can continue to advocate for further funding and resources at the municipal level for 
full-time emergency management staff at each municipality. 


 


The overarching problem seems to be larger than simply the MOU between MPFPD and 
Menlo Park. There are larger misconceptions within the district regarding the role of the fire 
district for activities such as EOC staffing, plan development and maintenance, training 
implementation, and providing funding disaster preparedness activities, as a result of limited 
city/town capacity to take on these tasks. The level of expectations for MPFPD’s emergency 
management duties for each municipality has steadily grown over the past decade. This is 
partially because of the Menlo Park MOU (which also affected expectations for other 
municipalities), as well as the lack of adoption or clear adherence to the latest Joint Powers 
Agreement within the county on the part of the cities/town within the District.  


In 1997, an initial Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement (JPA) was signed to create a “San 
Mateo Operational Area Emergency Services Organization” between the County of San Mateo 
and the cities and towns within the County of San Mateo and other identified partners. Within 
the parameters of this JPA, the signatories agreed that all local governments within the 
geographic area of the County, special districts, unincorporated areas, and participating non-


“The municipalities within the district have different levels of emergency management 
capabilities and commitment. There seems to be a belief that the district is responsible for 


supporting the response and recovery efforts of the municipalities by providing staffing 
and guidance during an event. It appears that some within the municipalities seem to have 
expectations of the role of the district that are not in line with State and Federal statutory 


requirements. It is not uncommon for municipal staff to refer citizen questions or concerns 
to district staff. This leads to unrealistic demands placed on district staff to address the 


needs and concerns of the various communities within the district, with a very limited staff 
and no ability to utilize or even engage the staff and/or resources of the local municipality 


having jurisdiction.” 


 – Survey Respondent 


 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


25 
 
 


governmental agencies would be a part of this ‘emergency services organization.’ The JPA 
called for coordination amongst signatories on public notification systems, emergency plans, 
exercises and drills, and more. It also called for each entity to have a designated local 
coordinator for regular participation in ‘San Mateo County Emergency Managers Association 
Meetings’ and other activities. This JPA was revised in 2015 (along with a small revision in 
2021 to reflect the newly formed County Department of Emergency Management) with 
proposed language to include additional components such as an Area Emergency Services 
Council, local coordinator responsibilities (e.g., participation in multi-year training and 
exercises, operating department and emergency operations centers, overseeing updates to 
the local emergency operations plan and the local hazard mitigation plan, etc.), and an 
acceptance that the county and cities shall each accept primary responsibility for the readiness 
within their respective jurisdictions and development of disaster preparedness plans in 
alignment with area-wide emergency planning. However, in the data collection for this 
assessment, it appears that this JPA has only recently been signed/adopted by the City of 
Menlo Park (September 2021) and adherence to the responsibilities delineated for the 
municipalities has been loose and slow to progress over the previous few years. The recently 
formed County Department of Emergency Management will likely have a vested interest in the 
coming years in taking a more active role in leading adherence to the JPA on the part of the 
signatories. MPFPD should continue to advocate for DEM’s leadership and refer municipalities 
to their responsibilities outlined within the JPA.  


The lack of consistency in emergency management roles and responsibilities for the County, 
the Cities/Towns, and other entities such as MPFPD has further led to confusion at the 
community-level regarding who is responsible for which components. It is difficult for MPFPD 
to push back against community members who feel that key emergency management activities 
are not being accomplished, because the criticism is valid and if they respond that it is not 
MPFPD’s responsibility, they are seen to be shirking responsibility, blaming the cities/towns, or 
ignoring the public. Now that the County has an established Department of Emergency 
Management and a brand new Emergency Operations Center facility, this may be perfect 
timing for a county-led effort to review the Joint Powers Agreement with all signatories and 
identify gaps, which could address many of the elements already discussed in this assessment 
– from plan development to EOC staffing to volunteer disaster service worker designation and 
volunteer usage across municipal boundaries.  


With regard to plan development specifically, it should be noted that a fire department or 
district is not typically responsible for completion of tasks such as emergency operations or 
hazard mitigation plan maintenance for the cities and towns within their jurisdiction. Certainly a 
fire department or district is responsible for their own emergency operation plans and is 
encouraged to provide key input and review on city, town, and county plans in order to align 
efforts, but it is typically up to the city or town to complete these plans. In order to meet the 
requirements of Title 44 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 201.6 for FEMA approval and 
eligibility to apply for FEMA Hazard Mitigation Assistance grant programs (as well as qualify for 
FEMA reimbursement post-disaster), local governments (particularly cities and towns) have a 
responsibility to conduct hazard mitigation planning for their communities and to have a 
documented emergency operations plan. Section 322 of the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 
(which amended the Stafford Act) requires state and local governments to prepare multi-
hazard mitigation plans as a precondition for receiving FEMA mitigation project grants. 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


26 
 
 


Counties typically create a multi-jurisdictional hazard mitigation plan and cities draft their own 
hazard mitigation plans to meet these requirements. In certain rural jurisdictions with far fewer 
emergency response resources, occasionally the fire district is tasked with these plans, 
however the municipalities within San Mateo County are comparable to other jurisdictions such 
as those in the case studies presented earlier, in which plan development and maintenance for 
the cities is left with the city emergency management coordinator role.   


Ultimately, when compared with other fire districts, MPFPD seems to have taken on too many 
of the traditional roles and responsibilities of the county and/or the municipalities in emergency 
management. This has led to gaps in critical emergency preparedness functions and 
perceptions by the public of lack of effort and overwhelmed department staff. This will require 
multiple discussions amongst MPFPD, the municipalities, and County DEM to deconflict these 
roles and document them appropriately in newly established JPAs/MOUs.  


Estimated Financial Impacts: Medium, primarily labor-based for existing staff positions at 
OEM and additional time for meetings with DEM and municipalities to negotiate terms of 
MOUs and review gaps in JPA adherence.  


The development of updated MOUs (if deemed necessary), including opportunities for 
review/revision/dissemination with stakeholders, should take an estimated 120-150 MPFPD 
staff hours over a period of 6 - 9 months, depending on review cycles.  


 
 


 


 
 
 
 
  







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


27 
 
 


Recommendation 4: As part of JPA and MOU discussions, determine a consistent policy for 
designating CERT volunteers or other volunteers within the District as DSWVs and establish 
mutual aid agreements that would allow the deployment of these volunteers as part of mutual 
aid deployments.  


Analysis: One particular area that was repeatedly addressed in survey responses and 
interviews with community groups was the Disaster Service Worker designation for CERT 
volunteers that are a part of the volunteer neighborhood preparedness groups, especially the 
members of ADAPT, MPC Ready, and rEPACT. These groups would like to determine the 
appropriate responsible agency for the swearing in of volunteers as DSWs and believe that 
MPFPD should be the authorized entity.  


The State of California created a Disaster Service Worker Volunteer Program (DSWVP) to 
provide workers’ compensation benefits to registered DSW volunteers who are injured while 
participating in authorized disaster-related activities.19 It can also protect DSWs from certain 
liability while conducting disaster response activities in good faith and in line with their training. 
The Program defines disaster service as activities designed to aid in the response and 
recovery phases after a disaster. It does not include day-to-day emergency management 
activities or response activities, such as those conducted on a routine basis by law 
enforcement, fire, or EMS.  


Becoming a part of the DSWVP entails a number of required activities: 


1. The volunteer must take a loyalty oath. This can be administered either through “Officer 
Administration” (where a volunteer takes an oath before an officer with oath 
administration authority) or “Self-Certification” (where the volunteer reads the oath and 
self-certifies by signing the oath under penalty of perjury). The self-certification method 
is often used in a disaster when mass officer administration is not possible. Note that 
county/city ordinances can dictate who has delegation authority as an officer. If the 
Officer Administration method is used, note that the oath cannot be administered 
remotely online or via telephone or video call. It must be in-person if that method is 
used. The oath subscription is effective for the entire period that the DSW volunteer 
remains a member with the authorized registering entity.  


2. The authorized registering entity must have the name and address of the registrant, 
date of enrollment, name of registering entity with signature and title of authorized 
person, classification, and status of oath subscription. This is typically done through a 
form or registration system.  


3. Background checks are not always required but may be required by the registering 
entity at their discretion.  


4. Supervision and training of DSWs is required for all authorized disaster service 
activities. Specific training requirements are determined by the registering authority, but 
typically include items such as ICS, NIMS, CERT, first aid, etc.  


5. Volunteers may need to be registered in multiple jurisdictions or counties in order to be 
able to provide services. Since counties and jurisdictions have their own ordinances and 
registering requirements, someone registered as a DSW in one area may not be able to 


 
19 CalOES. “Disaster Service Worker Volunteer Program.” https://www.caloes.ca.gov/cal-oes-divisions/administrative-


services/disaster-service-worker-volunteer-program  



https://www.caloes.ca.gov/cal-oes-divisions/administrative-services/disaster-service-worker-volunteer-program

https://www.caloes.ca.gov/cal-oes-divisions/administrative-services/disaster-service-worker-volunteer-program





Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


28 
 
 


volunteer in another area with the same protections. However, DSWs can be eligible for 
protection when officially activated as part of a mutual aid deployment. This would need 
to be stipulated within the mutual aid agreement.  


 
Most cities and all counties in California have established Accredited Disaster Councils (ADCs) 
that are accredited by the California Emergency Council to administer the program. Affiliation 
with an accredited Disaster Council and delegated authority from that council are required prior 
to a jurisdiction administering a DSWVP (Cal. Code of Regs., Title 19, 2571).  


The County Manager and DEM in San Mateo County currently have the authority county-wide 
to administer the oath and to register DSWs (they are 
considered an authorized registering entity) or to 
designate that authority to other entities. Most recently, the 
County of San Mateo certified and registered multiple 
DSWs to serve at vaccination sites for COVID-19, for 
example. They also recently worked with Coastside CERT 
programs to provide DSW status to Coastside CERT 
volunteers in response to the recent CZU Lightning 
Complex fires. As part of this most recent effort, the 
County authorized uniformed Fire Chief officers (Battalion 
Chiefs and above) to swear in DSWs to swear in CERT 
volunteers as Disaster Service Workers as part of a 
Coastside MOU.20 Of note, this only granted the authority 
to swear in DSWs, not to serve as the authorized 
registering entity. As of September 19, 2019, the San 
Mateo County Emergency Services Council approved a 
resolution to ‘allow for the San Mateo County Emergency 
Services Council (ESC), acting as the County of San 
Mateo’s Accredited Disaster Council (ADC), to make the 
following CERT host/sponsor agencies an authorized 
designee of the Disaster Service Worker program in 
support of CERT teams in unincorporated areas of San 
Mateo County: Coastside Fire Protection District, San Mateo County Fire Department; Kings 
Mountain Fire Brigade; and La Honda Fire Brigade.” These fire departments now have 
authority to swear in CERT members as DSWs.  


This led to the inevitable discussion as to whether or not MPFPD should have the same level 
of authority to swear in volunteers as DSWs (separate from serving as a registering entity). 
County DEM ultimately has the authority through the ESC to make a CERT host/sponsor 
agency an authorized designee of the DSWVP for swearing in volunteers. They can also give 
this designation to individual municipalities, including Menlo Park, Atherton, and East Palo 
Alto.  


There is disagreement as to whether or not the authority for swearing in volunteers belongs 
with the municipalities or MPFPD and other fire departments. Clearly a precedent has already 


 
20 Ochavillo, Vanessa. “CERT delivered communications during evacuation.” Half Moon Bay Review. Feb 3, 2021.  


“When deployed, CERTs are 
expected to sign a liability 
release form, confidentiality 
agreement (if applicable), 
and be screened for 
suitability (e.g., license 
verifications, background 
checks). MPFPD prefers that 
CERT volunteers deployed 
for a disaster are registered 
by their City or Town as 
Disaster Service Workers 
(DSWs) in order to be 
covered through the worker’s 
compensation program”  


– MPFPD Volunteer 
Management Annex 


 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


29 
 
 


been set in the Coastside region to work through fire departments for swearing in CERT 
program volunteers. However, it should be noted that in most other jurisdictions in California, 
counties most frequently delegate this authority to city emergency managers or municipal 
emergency management programs. While CERT programs are often hosted and sponsored by 
a fire department, the DSW designation is typically managed through the municipality. It should 
also be made clear that MPFPD cannot be given the authority to register DSWVPs. They can 
be given the authority to swear in the volunteers but registration is handled separately and 
most often by the municipalities or the County. 


Either option may be feasible for MPFPD but must be coordinated with DEM and the 
municipalities. The previous recommendation outlined the need to revisit MOUs and the JPA 
with city/town and county stakeholders. This particular discussion of authorizing a designee 
should be part of those meetings. The JPA and/or future amendments to the JPA could 
address and list which entities have been designated as authorizing entities. It should also 
address the creation of a standardized mutual aid agreement that can be leveraged between 
the municipalities in order to provide DSWs as part of mutual aid deployments across area 
boundaries in the event of an emergency.  


Whichever decision is made, the outcomes will require open and transparent communication 
with volunteer neighborhood preparedness groups on the part of MPFPD regarding how the 
decision was made and what parameters are required for a volunteer to be given DSW 
designation. The CERT SOP mentioned in an earlier recommendation should include a section 
on how and when DSW designation can be given to a CERT volunteer/trainee within the 
District. It should also include reminders of what a DSW volunteer can and cannot do under 
the designation, and how they may be leveraged as part of mutual aid deployments to other 
jurisdictions at the discretion of MPFPD and the affected area. A request for mutual aid must 
be made before deploying mutual aid resources. DSWs cannot and should not self-deploy to 
other affected jurisdictions without that mutual aid request and deployment from their 
authorized entity if they want to be covered by the necessary DSW liability protections. 


Estimated Financial Impacts: Initially low, involves incorporating discussions of DSW 
designation authority into previous JPA and MOU discussions.  


If MPFPD is given the ability to swear in volunteers as DSWVs, there may be additional labor 
costs associated with implementing this program. This will entail additional volunteer tracking 
and administration of the oath. It will require supervision and enforcement of training 
requirements for all DSW volunteers. It may also require coordination of requests for mutual 
aid to deploy these volunteers to other areas. It may also require reporting to DEM and/or 
other accrediting agencies. This may involve up to 60-120 MPFPD staff hours annually, 
depending on the number of DSWVs.  


 


  







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


30 
 
 


Recommendation 5: Hire additional administrative and support positions within OEM to 
alleviate concerns regarding lack of resources and to bring new perspectives to 
communication between the Board, Fire District staff, and the community.  


Analysis: As described above, much of the Office of Emergency Management’s (OEM) efforts 
and the Disaster Response Manager day-to-day role has been taken up by plan development 
(both for MPFPD and for local Cities and Towns), internal and external training 
implementation, and coordination of incident response by fire district personnel to emergencies 
such as the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and the recent CZU Lightning Complex Fires).  


OEM was created to begin to coordinate emergency management efforts for MPFPD as a 
whole, and mostly consists of the Disaster Response Manager position alongside another 
Emergency Services Specialist position. OEM works to develop local hazard mitigation plans 
and threat and hazard identification risk assessments, critical infrastructure protection 
assessments, and emergency preparedness public information and messaging campaigns. 
OEM helps to staff and coordinate efforts for local Emergency Operation Center response 
during emergencies and/or to deploy staff to active incident command. OEM organizes, 
implements, and evaluates training and exercises for MPFPD personnel in accordance with 
the Homeland Security Exercise and Evaluation Program (HSEEP) and ensures that staff are 
adequately trained in the Incident Command System (ICS) and the National Incident 
Management System (NIMS) as well as emergency alert notification systems and emergency 
response plans.21 The Disaster Response Manager ensures that MPFPD is in compliance with 
federal and state regulatory requirements related to emergency management and provides 
review and input on emergency plans not only for MPFPD but also for cities and towns 
throughout the district. This role maintains key response relationships with other state and 
federal agencies and neighboring jurisdictions and applies for grant funding where applicable.22   


In the past year alone, OEM has accomplished a number of vital activities, including the 
development of the Red Cross Ready training program for community members, participating 
in the update to the Hazard Mitigation Plan, the development of weekly COVID-19 Situational 
Reports, the creation of a new centralized database of CERT contacts and community 
response partners for the District, the implementation of the CERT Connect newsletter, the 
onboarding of a volunteer CERT Social Media Coordinator and additional training instructors, 
the conduct of a volunteer preparedness forum for community leaders, the completion of 
Urban Search and Rescue Emergency Management Accreditation Program (EMAP) 
accreditation training, and many other activities in addition to ongoing COVID-19 response and 
the CZU Lightning Complex response.  


 
21 OEM Strategic Plan 2018-2020. Final Draft November 14, 2018.  
22 See Disaster Response Coordinator Job Description as of 2013. Available at 


https://www.menlofire.org/media/HR/Job%20Descriptions/Unrep%20Management/Disaster%20Response%20Manager 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


31 
 
 


OEM and the Disaster Response Manager position fulfill vital emergency management 
functions for MPFPD on a day-to-day basis, but there are shared misconceptions by volunteer 
groups and the Fire Board regarding which functions should be a priority. Certainly, cities and 
towns taking a more active role in their own plan development and maintenance should help to 
free up some time for the OEM staff, however OEM may still not have enough dedicated time 
to meet the high standards and expectations of community groups and the Board with regard 
to active community outreach and engagement.  


It appears that many members of the Board and the community volunteer groups do not fully 
understand the demands of the emergency response coordination that is currently handled by 
OEM and the Disaster Response Manager position. This is not uncommon and frequently 
occurs with other emergency management professions, as there is a common misconception 
that a single individual can be responsible for all things emergency-related, despite the 
demands.  


There is shared frustration that certain elements of emergency preparedness and public 
education are not being handled. MPFPD staff feel overwhelmed and under-resourced. 
Community groups feel ignored and do not see the day-to-day outputs and demands on OEM 
staff. The lack of active leadership (and staff resources) in emergency preparedness at the city 
and town level has left a gap in service which community groups feel should be filled by 
MPFPD, while MPFPD struggles to find the resources to cover them.  


“The Fire District's Office of Emergency Management has given itself a very broad and 
sweeping role. Unfortunately, the job position lacks specifics. The role also focuses on 


activities during a disaster – rather than ongoing collaboration and capability building. The 
role makes broad claims without a strategy, metrics and a reporting mechanism. I've seen 


no description of actual responsibilities. The responsibility for disasters is driven by 1-2 
people” 


– Survey Respondent 


 


 “The Fire District has limited staffing personnel to cover all the localities/communities 
needs whether its emergency planning, training, public education, or developing 


exercises. Local government has no resource capabilities to assist the Fire District with 
preparedness services. The staffing configuration Districtwide and at the local level is 


grossly unbalanced to keep up with workload, the spontaneous community requests, and 
the political pressures of preparedness needs. Fire District has no resources to interface 


with at the City level- no counterpart or capability. No partner. Our Public Education 
Division should also consider extending services that include emergency preparedness- 
many of the programs provided are limited in scope and labor resources idle or under-


utilized”  


– Survey Respondent 


 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


32 
 
 


In addition, it seems that individual personalities and politics have begun to interfere with 
collaboration and coordination amongst all concerned parties. Almost everyone surveyed or 
interviewed for this assessment agreed that one of MPFPD’s primary issues with regards to 
emergency preparedness or management was “politics.” This is unfortunate, as it appears that 
most of the individuals involved in the volunteer groups, in the Board of Directors, and at 
MPFPD are well-intentioned and have a shared goal of improving community resilience and 
preparedness for the District. However, this does occur and occasionally it is worth considering 
bringing in additional staff and adding them to the team in order to bring new perspectives and 
to eliminate the possibility of passing blame from previous incidents onto individuals. 


Many of the individuals at each level (Board, Volunteer Groups, MPFPD) have also been in 
their positions for a number of years, which can sometimes result in a stagnation of new ideas 
or the ability to compromise as relationships have been established which may alter or 
supersede documented communication protocols.  


It may be beneficial, therefore, to hire or assign additional administrative and outreach support 
staff to the Disaster Response Manager and OEM in order to expand capacity and build new 
relationships. Efforts to bring in additional volunteer assistance for OEM are already underway 
at the time of the writing of this assessment, as OEM recently brought on a volunteer Social 
Media Coordinator to assist with communications with volunteer groups. However, OEM could 
still benefit from additional expansion of staff to help streamline overall programmatic efforts. 


These new staff positions could take on roles such as: 


• Liaison regularly with community volunteer groups (e.g., MPC Ready, ADAPT, rEPACT, 
etc.). 


• Participate actively in the VOAD group at the county level and present on MPFPD 
training and exercise opportunities or volunteer needs. 


• Provide targeted community outreach (coordinate with the Public Education Division) to 
traditionally underserved communities to understand needs and promote training 
opportunities. 


• Serve as an exercise lead or liaison with external agencies. 


• Engage with and provide subject matter expertise to city/town emergency managers. 


• Produce regular reports (e.g., quarterly) of activities conducted by OEM to share 
amongst Board members, volunteer groups, and city/town/county personnel. 


• Present to the Emergency Preparedness Subcommittee and the Board on ongoing 
efforts as well as present at other local meetings (e.g., County VOAD, healthcare 
coalition meetings, etc.). 
 


It is recommended that these support personnel for OEM include individuals who represent the 
diversity of communities within the three cities/towns represented, who represent a fire 
background or experience with MPFPD, who have emergency management or response 
experience, and/or who have a history of public service and experience. However, if budgetary 
limitations preclude MPFPD from adding on more experienced support personnel to OEM, it 
may still be helpful to supplement OEM’s resources with internships (students, trainees, etc.) 
as a backup option. It is the sincere opinion of this evaluation team that simply adding in new 
representatives and fresh perspectives will help, along with the new Chief, to “start from 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


33 
 
 


scratch” and rebuild relationships that have suffered from previous experience over the last 
few years. It will allow the Disaster Response Manager to manage efforts more effectively, 
utilizing their emergency management expertise to guide overall required response activities 
for MPFPD, while increasing coordination and collaboration between the District and the 
volunteer groups, the Board, and city/town personnel by offering more available staff time and 
energy.  


Estimated Financial Impacts: High, involves the creation of new positions (1-2) within OEM 
and addition of competitive salary-based positions. Comparative Emergency Services Analyst 
positions for other fire districts and departments typically range from $60,000 - $90,000 at a 
minimum. Another option is to provide OEM with .25 - .5 FTE time for other existing MPFPD 
staff members dedicated to assisting and supporting the OEM mission, though this would take 
them away from other duties and responsibilities.  


Alternatives: MPFPD could instead invest in creating a trainee or student internship program 
in OEM to provide additional support capacity for these roles without investing significant 
salary funds. However, this internship program would entail additional hours to implement, 
including recruitment, management of turnover, and mentorship.  


  







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


34 
 
 


Recommendation 6: Revisit the Emergency Preparedness Subcommittee’s mission, goals, 
and objectives and update the Board of Director’s Policy and Procedures Manual accordingly 
to ensure due process is followed and adhered to.  


Analysis: One contributor to some of the problems and miscommunications experienced over 
the past few years between the community groups, the Board, and the District staff has been a 
result of the inaccurate expectations involved in establishing emergency management 
priorities, based on the experiences and background of those involved. 


As an example, many of the Board members come from a CERT background themselves. The 
two Board members who currently co-chair the Emergency Preparedness Subcommittee were 
both originally CERT trainees and volunteers. There is a vested interest expressed by Board 
members in further providing support to CERT volunteers and other volunteer neighborhood 
preparedness groups, which has resulted in District staff feeling pressured to cater to the 
agendas of the volunteer groups, regardless of whether or not the requests were within the 
scope of MPFPD’s responsibilities. District staff believe that some of this time and energy 
spent on trying to better support the volunteer groups could have instead been spent on further 
building up internal emergency preparedness projects, such as drills, internal response plan 
development, or community outreach to vulnerable communities outside of the volunteer 
groups.  


Others stated that it has been problematic for the Board to directly dictate emergency 
management or volunteer management-related tasks to OEM rather than through the Fire 
Chief, who is designated as the Board’s point of contact for MPFPD operations. Per the Board 
of Director’s Policy and Procedures Manual (last approved and adopted in 2019), “the primary 
responsibility of the Board of Directors is the formulation and evaluation of policy. Routine 
matters concerning the operational aspects of the District are delegated to professional staff 
members of the District.” It was felt that certain volunteers or community groups were able to 
go directly to Board members to accomplish their objectives rather than working through the 
Office of Emergency Management staff.  


On the other side, however, many of the volunteer neighborhood preparedness groups 
expressed frustration with the OEM staff (both past and present) and felt that their voices were 
not being heard. They expressed frustration that the CCM/CERT advisory committee group 
was created and then disbanded within five years, and clearly resulted in many advisory 
members quitting or leaving. There were repeated complaints that their feedback was ignored 
and their offers of assistance have been rejected. This resulted in community groups feeling 
that their only recourse was to go directly to Board members to enact change or to provide 
feedback.  


This results in a unique conflict for the members of the Board of Directors. They are expected 
to provide a critical forum for public input and community involvement, particularly in their 
public meetings and through the Emergency Preparedness Subcommittee. They listen to 
feedback from the communities and in turn help to evaluate emergency preparedness activities 
and develop policy for MPFPD with regard to these programs. However, they must also 
respect the operational authority for the Fire Chief, OEM staff, and other MPFPD staff to make 
day-to-day implementation decisions such as how to use volunteers in response operations, 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


35 
 
 


how to implement a training program, what resources can be reallocated towards 
preparedness activities, who to send to an exercise, etc.  


Discussing the problem with city staff representatives offered another perspective. There was 
widespread city recognition that the relationship between some of the volunteer neighborhood 
preparedness groups and their respective cities has not been productive. This has been 
partially a result of high turnover on both sides and a lack of resource capability on the 
city/town side. As a result, many of the criticisms of gaps in emergency plans and whole 
community planning has fallen on MPFPD.  


The Emergency Preparedness Subcommittee is an invaluable opportunity for MPFPD to 
continue to gather Board feedback on emergency preparedness activities while also offering 
public input opportunities. However, the parameters around the subcommittee meetings may 
benefit from additional clarification on what is and is not the role of MPFPD and these 
subcommittee meetings. In the Policy and Procedures Manual, the Emergency Preparedness 
subcommittee’s main mission is to “work with the jurisdictions on policy guidance and planning 
to ensure readiness in the event of an emergency.” However, this description may not be 
completely accurate (the subcommittee does not typically engage directly with the jurisdictions 
in these meetings, for example), and may not reflect the current activities or objectives of the 
committee. This may warrant a discussion between the entire Board, the new Fire Chief, and 
OEM to determine a specific set of objectives for this committee going forward, such as: 


• Provide a regular progress update to the Board and members of the public on OEM 
activities conducted each month and progress towards annual plan development, 
training, and exercise goals. 


• Provide a forum for members of the public (including community volunteer groups) to 
ask questions of OEM and the Board regarding emergency preparedness activities 
conducted specifically by MPFPD (rather than the cities/towns/county). 


• Provide a forum for members of the public (including community volunteer groups) to 
present on activities completed to further develop community preparedness (e.g., local 
trainings, drills, safety fairs, community surveys, etc.) or to provide comments on 
preparedness activities conducted by MPFPD (e.g., exercises, safety fairs, public 
messaging campaigns).  


• Provide recommendations to the Fire Chief on policy updates or resource allocation 
decisions directly related to the emergency preparedness activities under MPFPD’s 
purview.  


 
It is also important to note that the Policy and Procedures Manual stipulates that Fire Board 
members should “present personal criticisms, complaints, or problems regarding Fire District 
operation directly to the Fire Chief and discuss them at a regular meeting only after failure of 
an administrative solution.” Opinions and concerns can be expressed but personal criticisms 
should be handled outside of these open forums, so that it does not discourage open dialogue 
and communication for new members of the public who participate. If a member of the public, 
who does have the right to speak their opinion on these meetings, has personnel concerns 
which are expressed during the meeting, it is the responsibility of the Chair to control the 
situation and refer the individual to the Fire Chief for their review. The Chair may request the 
concern be placed in writing and forwarded to the Fire Chief.  







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


36 
 
 


Having a more clearly defined set of objectives and parameters for the subcommittee may also 
help to keep meetings from straying into areas of emergency management and preparedness 
that are better addressed at the city/town level or the county’s VOAD meetings as they may fall 
outside the scope of the District’s responsibilities.  


As of the writing of this assessment, the District is already reviewing applications for a new Fire 
Chief, and previous recommendations have outlined the need for additional staff to supplement 
OEM. Leveraging this momentum, it may be worth considering a special meeting with the new 
Chief and the Board and OEM to determine updated goals and objectives for this 
subcommittee.  


Estimated Financial Impacts: Minimal, primarily labor-based for existing staff at OEM and 
Fire Board Members to convene a special meeting (or multiple special meetings) upon hire of 
new Fire Chief to determine future objectives of the committee.  


  







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


37 
 
 


Conclusion 


The Menlo Park Fire Protection District and its partners continue to show an exemplary 
commitment toward the preparedness, safety, and resiliency of their community. With the 
threats of complex natural and man-made disasters worsening each year it is becoming more 
likely that the District’s disaster response capabilities will continue to be tested. The District 
itself will need to be prepared, but they will also need to be able to effectively collaborate and 
communicate with their partner jurisdictions and community volunteer groups in order to 
respond and surge effectively.  
 
The Menlo Park Fire Protection District will soon have their first new Fire Chief in nearly 15 
years and to be successful they will need to be an effective administrator, communicator, and 
diplomat. Over the past decade the relationship between District staff, the Board, partner 
jurisdictions, and community volunteer groups has faced significant communication challenges 
and in some instances a breakdown of trust and mutual expectations. One of the top priorities 
for the new Fire Chief related to emergency management and community preparedness will be 
to attempt to repair these relationships by expanding the capacity of OEM; revisiting the 
delineation of roles with the municipalities and the new County Department of Emergency 
Management; and establishing a clear vision for the level of CERT program support for 
MPFPD, among some of the other recommendations identified in this assessment.  
 
The Menlo Park Fire Protection District’s Chief is an executive position meant to act as the 
visionary for the direction of the District. When all district stakeholders are communicating 
according to the bylaws established by the organizational structure, the Fire Chief becomes 
not only the leader, but also the person in charge of effectively communicating stakeholder 
positions, weaving competing viewpoints together, and establishing one vision for the District.  
 
The Harvard Business Review states that an effective administrator will have three skillsets.23 
  


• Technical- this skillset includes possessing specialized knowledge, analytical ability 
within the specialized field, and the capability to use the tools and techniques of the 
discipline. This skillset is the most basic and states that the next Chief would have years 
of experience at a high level within a fire department and understand each area of 
service offered by the District. 
 


• Human- this skillset will be vital for the next District Chief as they will need to 
understand the various viewpoints of the multitude of stakeholders involved with the 
District. Someone adept in this skillset should be able to communicate their viewpoint, 
opinions, vision, ideas, etc. to others eloquently and diplomatically, but will also be 
invested in spending the time to understand opposing viewpoints from other key 


 
23 Katz, Robert. Harvard Business Review “Skills of an Effective Administrator”  







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


38 
 
 


stakeholder groups. They will also need to effectively communicate these differing 
viewpoints to District staff, Board members, municipal staff, or members of the 
community who may not be able to understand them. The District’s Fire Chief will be 
key to improving communication and trust amongst all groups.   


 


• Conceptual- this skillset involves the ability to see the District, partner jurisdictions, San 
Mateo County, and the communities involved as one enterprise and how they can work 
collaboratively to respond to emergencies. An effective conceptual administrator will be 
able to fuse all viewpoints together, see the bigger picture of emergency management 
needs across the District (including traditionally under-served areas) while 
understanding they are responsible for final decisions. They will be able to equitably 
evaluate the perspectives given and to take the action that is likely to achieve the 
maximum amount of good for the organization.  


 
Given that the Board has final approval over the hiring of the new Fire Chief, it is also 
imperative of the Board to ensure the Chief and their staff have their support. The Board’s 
support, guidance, and trust will be critical for the new Chief’s success in earning the trust of 
the community members as well. The Board must be invested in the new Chief’s success and 
assist in promoting their role within the communities they represent.  
 
Finally, one of the key commonalities in the successes of the two fire districts chosen for the 
case studies in this assessment (see Appendices B and C) was their transparency with their 
communities on their day-to-day projects and operations. Aside from the recommendations 
within this assessment, the ability of the District to provide opportunities for community 
engagement and transparency on the progress made towards those recommendations, on the 
day-to-day operations of OEM and other partners, and the resource needs and gaps for the 
District (or for city/town emergency management) will have far-reaching impacts on helping to 
build back trusted relationships between the parties involved. 
  







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


39 
 
 


Appendices 


Appendix A: Survey Analysis 


Overview 


As part of the multi-pronged approach to collect stakeholder input, Menlo Park Fire Protection 
District in partnership with CONSTANT created the Menlo Park Fire Protection District Survey. 
Upon approval from the Board of Directors, the online survey was open from August 3, 2021, 
to September 17, 2021, and distributed to the following audiences:  


• Menlo Park Fire Protection District staff (i.e., District staff) 


• Atherton, East Palo Alto, or Menlo Park/San Mateo County staff (i.e., municipal staff) 


• Community Based Volunteer Organization representatives (i.e., CBO representatives) 


Thirty-nine (n=39) people participated and provided feedback to the questions posed based on 
their role in relation to the Menlo Park Fire Protection District. Most respondents were CBO 
representatives and only two municipal staff completed the survey.  


 


Respondent Background 


Out of the respondents who were not District staff, the city/town where they were employed or 
where their group primarily provided emergency/disaster services varied. More than half (58%) 
were affiliated with the City of Menlo Park and 18% indicated the area they served had a 
county or regional reach.  


32


2


5


Role In Relation to Menlo Park Fire District


Community Based Volunteer Organization Representatives


Staff from Atherton, East Palo Alto, or Menlo Park/San Mateo County Staff


Fire District Staff







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


40 
 
 


 


The 82% of respondents indicating they were CBO representatives were affiliated with one or 
more of the following community-based volunteer organizations:  


• ADAPT 


• ARES 


• Blackberry REACT 


• CERT 


• Climate Ready North Fair Oaks 


• EPA 


• FAST 


• Felton Gables 


• MPC Ready 


• Menlo Fire Community Crisis Management  


• Red Cross  


CBO members were asked to describe in an open-ended response the emergency/disaster 
services provided by their organization. Based on the brief descriptions, the types of services 
could be categorized as 1) Emergency Preparedness and Education, 2) Emergency 
Response, 3) Communication and Coordination, or 4) Resilience and Community Building. 
Many of the answers from respondents fell into more than one category, making percentages 
total more than 100%. However, all the responses given mentioned the organization either 
provided emergency preparedness and education or emergency response activities. 


6% 6%


12%


18%


58%


0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


East Palo Alto Unincorporated
Areas


Atherton County and/or
Regional Reach


Menlo Park


City/Town Affiliation







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


41 
 
 


 


Menlo Park Fire Protection District Capabilities 


Two questions posed to District staff were focused on District capabilities and potential 
challenges/areas of improvement in providing services. They were:  


1. What overall emergency/disaster capabilities does the Fire District contribute to the 
community? 


2. What are the challenges/areas of improvement facing the Fire District in providing the 
community with emergency preparedness services and disaster response? 


District staff indicated that, from their perspectives the District provides emergency 
preparedness and response services to the community. Multiple respondents listed community 
education and preparedness efforts as primary capabilities in addition to life-saving services 
such as fire response, search and rescue, and emergency medical services. Others stated that 
as a multijurisdictional entity, the District is in a “unique position to help facilitate the 
coordination of response and recovery efforts between the individual municipalities.” 


While the District was seen as a coordination agency that can support preparedness and 
response activities in multiple municipalities, working with various jurisdictional agencies was 
seen as a challenge. Competing priorities between municipalities and government agencies, 
the lack of a joint EOC for the District, and low participation from partners were all noted as 
concerns from District staff. Multiple respondents also noted the issue of unrealistic 
expectations from the public and political entities. There was a reported perception that the 
community believes the District “is responsible for supporting the response and recovery 
efforts of the municipalities by providing staffing and guidance during an event.” However, 
District staff reported being understaffed and with limited resource capabilities to “keep up with 
workload, the spontaneous community requests, and the political pressures of preparedness 
needs.”  


 


13%
16%


53%
56%


0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


Resilience and
Community Building


Communication and
Coordination


Emergency Response Emergency
Preparedness and


Education


Emergency/Disaster Services Provided by 
Community Group







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


42 
 
 


District staff respondents indicated that there was combined pressure from the Board of 
Directors advocating for volunteer groups rather than “disaster response and recovery 
capability building efforts” and from municipal staff referring citizen questions to the District. All 
these added responsibilities are placed on a District with “very limited staff and no ability to 
utilize or even engage the staff and/or resources of the local municipality having jurisdiction.” 


Relationships Between Partners 


To gain the perspectives of CBO representatives and municipal staff on relationships between 
partners, three questions were asked:  


1. CBO representatives - What are the strengths that impact the current relationship 
between your organization, your city/town, and the Fire District with regards to 
emergency preparedness and response? 


2. CBO representatives - What are the challenges that impact the current relationship 
between your organization, your city/town, and the Fire District with regards to 
emergency preparedness and response? 


3. Municipal staff - What are the challenges in obtaining support from the Fire District to 
city/town overall preparedness and response? 


The most common strength reported was established relationships between partners. CBO 
representatives noted that they or their organization had strong relationships with fire 
departments, police departments, the District, and/or elected officials which assisted in 
“increased awareness of the need to prepare for disasters” and facilitates coordination.  One 
respondent noted that their organization “coordinates our emergency quarterly drills with the 
Menlo Park Fire Station which encourages the residents and firemen to work together.”  


Multiple respondents reported that a strength impacting their emergency preparedness and 
response relationships was a shared mission. All partner entities have a “strong desire to 
support the community in times of need” and believe that “we are all in this together, and the 
better prepared we all are, the better off everyone will be.”  


Most respondents who reported a challenge impacting current relationships focused on the 
need to improve partner collaboration (e.g., coordination between the District, response 
agencies, municipal staff, and CBOs). Concerns included CBOs not being involved in 
response structures (e.g., command posts), that coordination is dependent upon governing 
boards and executives cooperating, and that some partners do not interact with or support 
others. Respondents specifically noted that volunteers were often engaged to fill in roles at 
response agencies and then their engagement and support was not seen as being respected. 
For instance, “volunteer trainers stepped up and were the saving grace of the [CERT] 
program” when CERT leadership was in transition and yet there is not a “well-articulated plan 
or model” for what CERT volunteers’ roles will be within the partner organization. 


Another challenge raised was a lack of understanding or knowledge of response plans and a 
feeling that “there's a big gap in connecting to and informing the residents” of preparedness 
and response planning efforts. Respondents noted a lack of transparency around emergency 
management programs and a lack of trust that plans were in place and preparedness 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


43 
 
 


personnel were engaged in efforts to address emergency management issues in 
municipalities.  


Emergency Planning and Preparedness 


Both District staff and municipal staff respondents were asked specifically about emergency 
planning and preparedness roles and responsibilities. The questions included:  


1. Municipal staff - What do you understand is the role and responsibility of the Fire District 
in developing emergency plans and procedures and training as well as exercising staff 
for your city/town? 


2. Municipal staff - What do you understand is the role of the Fire District in providing 
individual and community preparedness information, training and encourage 
emergency/disaster preparedness in your community? 


3. Municipal staff - What are the significant strengths that the Fire District contributes to 
city/town emergency/disaster preparedness and response? 


4. District staff - What do you understand is the role of the Fire District in providing 
individual and community preparedness information and training? 


From the perspective of both District and municipal staff respondents, the District’s role in 
emergency planning and community training/preparedness is to provide community education 
and support interagency collaboration. The District was described as having basic information 
that could be offered through community education programs such as “CERT training and 
individual/family preparedness training.” However, respondents did not feel it was solely the 
District’s responsibility to facilitate educational programs. One respondent noted that there is 
not a statutory requirement that the District provides community training but that “these 
programs were started years ago and have been continuously offered since then in one form 
or another.” These programs were seen by respondents as being conducted “alongside our 
community partners” but that as the scope of the community education program grew, 
“expectations have also grown with little attention paid to assessing if the expectations are 
realistic.” 


Training and planning efforts were noted to be the responsibility of municipal agencies and that 
the District should be available to assist and support. Municipal staff noted that the role of 
District staff, and the strengths they contribute to disaster preparedness and response, are 
their expertise and the ability to advise municipalities. One respondent highlighted the efforts of 
a District employee stating that their “considerable experience [was] invaluable with assisting 
the city with emergency/disaster preparedness and response.” 


Disaster Response and Recovery 


All survey audiences were asked at least one question about disaster response and recovery 
roles and responsibilities in their jurisdictions. These included: 


1. Municipal staff - Who in your city/town is responsible for leading and coordinating 
emergency/disaster response for your jurisdiction? 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


44 
 
 


2. Municipal staff - Who is responsible in your city/town for leading and coordinating 
emergency/disaster recovery including requesting and receiving federal disaster relief 
for the public and reimbursement for government agencies? 


3. CBO representatives - Who in your city/town/unincorporated county area is responsible 
for leading and coordinating emergency/disaster response and recovery for your 
jurisdiction? 


4. District staff - What do you understand as the primary roles and responsibilities of the 
Fire District during an emergency/disaster response? 


5. Municipal staff - What do you understand as the role and responsibility of the Fire 
District during emergency/disaster response in your jurisdiction? 


6. Municipal staff - What do you see as the role of the Fire District in leading and 
coordinating emergency/disaster recovery in your city/town? 


7. CBO representatives - What do you understand as the role and responsibility of the Fire 
District during emergency/disaster response in your jurisdiction? 


Survey respondents listed a variety of groups and people that they believed were responsible 
for leading and coordinating disaster response and recovery in their jurisdiction. The most 
common response from CBO representatives was the name of their volunteer group or the 
leader of their organization. All municipal staff and some CBO representatives indicated it was 
the responsibility of local jurisdictional departments (e.g., fire, police) and a few CBO 
representatives reported that they believed the District was the lead agency.  


The most common role for the District in emergency response and recovery reported by 
respondents was tactical on-the-ground activities. This included examples like “to protect life 
and property,” “assist citizens,” firefighting, emergency medical services, search and rescue 
activities, etc. The second most frequently described responsibility was interagency 
coordination and collaboration. District staff respondents all indicated either a tactical and/or 
interagency collaboration role. They described activities such as “EOC participation” and 
“[providing] subject matter EM experts to the localities…as part of the incident management 
support capabilities.”  


Some CBO representatives stated that the District’s role in emergency response efforts was to 
“lead the response” or that “they are the ultimate authority.” Others were unsure what the 
District’s responsibilities were for response and recovery efforts in the community. One 
respondent said, “I have no idea” and wondered if the District would lead the response or if it 
was up to CERT teams to “help ourselves and our neighbors.” Another noted that the District’s 
emergency management duties are not clearly defined or described with a “limited public 
knowledge of [the] current state, including by elected officials making policy decisions.” 


Volunteers 


CBO representatives and municipal staff were asked to provide perspectives on volunteer 
coordination and deployment.  







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


45 
 
 


1. Municipal staff - Who is responsible in your city/town for organizing, training and 
registering volunteers and coordinating with community volunteer groups such as the 
American Red Cross and Community Emergency Response Teams? 


2. Municipal staff - What do you understand is the role and responsibility of the Fire District 
in organizing, training and registering volunteers and coordinating Community 
Emergency Response Teams? 


3. CBO representatives - How is your group activated and deployed during an 
emergency/disaster? 


4. CBO representatives - Have your group’s members been registered as DSWVs with a 
city or county government? If so, which one? 


The municipal staff respondents saw local jurisdictional agencies (e.g., police department, 
community development department) as being responsible for organizing volunteer groups and 
the District as coordinating the CERT program.  


Two of the most common ways CBO representatives noted that they activated during a 
disaster was either through a volunteer coordinator or through self-deployment. “Block 
captains” or “neighborhood coordinators” were said by some to connect with volunteers and 
coordinate the citizen response. Other respondents noted that they “will self-activate and 
deploy to help our neighbors after first checking on our…household’s safety” and then “gather 
at the assembly point and organize into teams to do reconnaissance, search and rescue, 
triage & medical treatment, etc.” A few respondents indicated that they would activate after 
receiving emergency alerts or communications from local response agencies such as fire or 
police departments.  


Most people asked if their group members had been registered as Disaster Service Worker 
(DSW) Volunteers were unsure if or who had been registered. Some stated that they believed 
those who were CERT trained/certified were registered but did not provide the name of a 
jurisdiction. One respondent was personally registered with a Disaster Medical Assistance 
Team (DMAT) under HHS and two stated they were a DSW for Santa Clara County but that 
the local San Mateo County did not have the option available. Feedback from CBO 
representatives was that “the bureaucracy on getting this [DSW] designation is a nightmare!” 
and that “nobody can give a clear explanation [about registering].” 


 


 


 
 


  







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


46 
 
 


Appendix B: Comparative Case Study #1 - San Ramon Valley Fire 
Protection District  


Appendices B and C provide comparative case studies of two California Special Fire Districts 
that serve similar communities (i.e. population, geographic size, state oversight, etc.). These 
case studies provide an introduction, background, reasoning for case study selection, legal 
requirements, organizational structure, and key findings that could benefit the Menlo Park Fire 
Protection District. 


Introduction  


A spirit of transparency and collaboration strengthens the San Ramon Valley Fire Protection 
District (SRVFPD), exemplified in its mission statement, “One Team, One Mission.”  


Background 


The SRVFPD is an autonomous Special District consisting of a 
service area of approximately 155 square miles, servicing the 
communities of Alamo, Blackhawk, the Town of Danville, Diablo, 
the City of San Ramon, the southern area of Morgan Territory, 
and the Tassajara Valley.24 Overall, the District serves a 
population of approximately 193,000 people which grows by 
another 30,000 commuters to include personnel employed in the 
Bishop Ranch Business Park.25 


The District began as a volunteer fire department in 1912, and 
grew to become a Special District out of several reorganizations 
and mergers. Today, the SRVFPD employs approximately 200 
personnel and 50 volunteers.  


The SRVFPD staffs 15 companies, and is comprised of 10 fire 
stations, nine quarters for paid firefighters, and one remote 
station in addition to 21 reserve firefighters. In addition, it 
maintains an administration building and a training facility. It 
facilitates training for a robust CERT, which trains citizen volunteers. Its service area contains 
expansive wildland areas, single-family homes, urban areas, a regional hospital, and a facility 
housing a low-level nuclear reactor.26  


The SRVFPD developed and maintains its own Emergency Operations Plan. This Plan 
specifies the District’s responsibility during a disaster with the acknowledgement that it will 
serve as the primary provider of firefighting, medical services, rescue services, and hazardous 
materials release mitigation to the communities it serves, as specified by statutory authority 


 
24 Contra Costa County Local Hazard Mitigation Plan, approved in 2018 
25 San Ramon Valley Fire Protection District, Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, 2020 
26 Contra Costa County Local Hazard Mitigation Plan, approved in 2018. 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


47 
 
 


and the Emergency Operations Plans for the City of San Ramon, the Town of Danville, and 
Contra Costa County.27  


Executive staff within the SRVFPD are responsible for distinct operational functions of the 
District: 


1. Deputy Chief-Operations/Emergency Medical Services – Delivery of emergency 
services to citizens and the public, and overseeing the training and education of 
District personnel 


2. Deputy Chief-Training/Logistics/Fire Marshal – Delivery of training and ensuring 
essential District facilities, equipment, apparatus and vehicles are maintained 
and updated; ensures prevention services are efficient and effective; oversees 
code compliance, exterior hazard abatement and provides public education to 
citizens and customers of the District  


3. Director of Emergency Communications – Acquisition and maintenance of 
districtwide information and communications systems, ensuring that citizens in 
need of emergency and non-emergency services are matched quickly and 
effectively with appropriate resources; monitors the location and status of 
emergency response resources in the District 


4. Human Resources Director – Oversees personnel standards and procedures, 
recruiting and hiring District employees, risk management, labor negotiations and 
benefits administration 


5. Chief Financial Officer – Responsible for the District’s financial policies, systems, 
and procedures. 


Case Studying Reasoning 


The SRVFPD was chosen as a case study for comparison to the Menlo Park Fire Protection 
District (MPFPD) due to its close proximity, similar historical background, and industry best 
practices. Both Districts have experienced significant growth in their respective service areas 
alongside booming population growth. Both the MPFPD and SRVFPD serve unincorporated 
areas, towns, and cities, making the municipal makeup of both districts similar.  


In addition, both districts participate in active public engagement, awareness, and education 
opportunities. The SRVFPD has won 19 consecutive awards from the Government Finance 
Officers Association for its Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports (CAFRs), demonstrating 
a spirit of transparency and full disclosure that reaches goes beyond minimum requirements of 
accounting principles.  


Legal Requirements 


The SRVFPD is an autonomous Special District as defined under the Fire Protection District 
Law of 1987, Health and Safety Code, Section 13800, of the State of California.28 It is 
governed by a five-member Board of Directors, serving staggered four-year terms and elected 


 
27 San Ramon Valley Fire Protection District Emergency Operations Plan, 2019 
28 Contra Costa County Local Hazard Mitigation Plan, approved in 2018 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


48 
 
 


at-large by the populace. The directors provide financial oversight and strategic policy direction 
to maximize the public value of District services.29  


Organizational Structure 


The Fire Chief serves as the CEO of the District. In collaboration with the Board of Directors 
and in partnership with all members of the organization, the chief provides direction, protection, 
and order to the District.30  


According to the SRVFPD organizational chart, the public elects the Board of Directors, who 
interacts directly with the District Fire Chief. Alongside the Fire Chief operate the District Clerk 
and District Council. The organizational chart can be seen below: 


Figure 1: SRVFPD Organizational Chart 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


The District can adequately staff the capacity to handle two simultaneous structure fires and 
two to three medical emergencies before requiring assistance from the regional mutual aid 
response system. The total population served by the District in 2009 exceeded 160,000 
people.31  


 
29 San Ramon Valley Fire Protection District Website, “Board of Directors” 
30 San Ramon Valley Fire Protection District Website, “Fire Chief” 
31 San Ramon Valley Fire Protection District, “Standards of Cover,” August 2010 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


49 
 
 


Community Outreach 


The SRVFPD takes part in the San Ramon Valley Emergency Preparedness Citizen Corps 
Council (SRVEPCCC) to promote public education and awareness related to all-hazards 
preparedness and response. The council includes city managers from the Town of Danville 
and the City of San Ramon, the fire chief, police chiefs, mayors, and emergency managers. 
This council includes running operations for programs such as CERT and Access and 
Functional Needs (AFN) training; it also supports a team versed in emergency 
communications.32 This council works collaboratively as part of a Joint Powers Authority (JPA) 
that includes Contra Costa County, the San Ramon Valley Unified School District, the City of 
San Ramon, and the SRVFPD. The District’s CERT program includes over 650 trained 
members, with pre-determined scope and capabilities.33 Students that take part in CERT 
trainings are sworn in as DSWVs for the District and are used to augment first responder and 
rescue teams during disaster and emergency incidents, and may also assist in recovery 
activities.  


The SRVFPD also hosts Be Ready SRV, which is a page on its website that provides recent 
information regarding emergency preparedness for all ages. It provides resources and guides 
for information gathering, preparation activities, awareness activities for children, supply 
checklists, and training opportunities.  


The SRVFPD website hosts a community event calendar so that community members can 
stay up-to-date on activities offered by the District including class registrations and its 
HeartSafe activities. The HEartSafe Committee trains residents in the Hands-Only CPR 
method through booths at community events, presentations to civic groups, its CPR in the 
Schools program, and in trainings.  


Key Findings 


The District gives more mutual aid than it receives from its partner agencies, and benefits from 
strong mutual aid agreements that assists the District in maintaining performance during times 
of resource strain or depletion.34 During the COVID-19 pandemic, this strong foundation in 
mutual aid and transparent financial management allowed for the SRVFPD to maintain strong 
fund balances and even waive fees for small businesses without risking any changes to 
operations or safety.  


Similar to the MPFPD, the Fire Chief acts as the main conductor of public concerns as filtered 
through the Board. The establishment of the SRVEPCCC may be a best practice, as it spreads 
responsibility for training, public initiatives, and awareness activities across several 
jurisdictions and agencies. This allows a collaborative approach to public engagement and 
keeps the District from being overwhelmed by demand from the public.  


Overall, the District seems to benefit from strong relationships with the public, consistently 
showing District equipment and capabilities at local demonstrations, shows, and fundraisers in 
addition to training and preparedness opportunities. The District Facebook posts frequent 


 
32 Contra Costa County Local Hazard Mitigation Plan, approved in 2018 
33 San Ramon Valley Fire Protection District Emergency Operations Plan, 2019 
34 Standards of Cover Deployment Analysis, August 2010 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


50 
 
 


updates and includes comment replies to public inquiries and responses especially during 
emergencies. These small gestures demonstrate transparent communication and help to build 
community trust, fostering tight-knit community relationships.  


  







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


51 
 
 


Appendix C: Comparative Case Study #2 - The East Contra Costa 
Fire Protection District 


Introduction 


A fire district with strong Board of Director support and a dedication to transparent 
communication demonstrates how to address community concerns and bring focus to a shared 
mission of preserving and protecting life, property, and the environment.   


Background 


The East Contra Costa Fire Protection District (ECCFPD) is a rural special district that protects 
approximately 128,000 residents within a 249 square mile radius. ECCFPD personnel respond 
to over 7,700 calls a year that depend on approximately 9,590 fire engine responses in urban, 
rural, and what is formally designated Frontier/Wilderness areas. It provides firefighting and 
emergency medical services to the residents and businesses of the cities, towns, and 
territories covered within its boundaries. There are a total of three fire stations with three 
firefighters staffing each of them (i.e., a total district staffing of nine firefighters) each day.35  


Formally formed in 2002 by combining the Bethel Island Fire District, The East Diablo Fire 
District, and the Oakley Fire District, ECCFPD has been closing fire stations throughout the 
area to reduce costs and stay within budget. However, during a strategic planning data 
collection process, it was found that ECCFPD had response times significantly higher than 
recommended national averages.  


Based on these findings and feedback from stakeholders, a Master Plan was developed to 
define ECCFPD’s current capabilities and recommendations for the adequate level of staffing 
and resources for fire and rescue protection in the district. The ECCFPD's Master Plan called 
for nine stations to adequately provide coverage to the District's citizens and businesses and 
the district proposed opening strategic locations to enhance its response capacity.36  


However, concern continued to increase around resource availability and its impacts on 
emergency response. ECCFPD shared finance and resource allocation information to the 
public through monthly reports, strategic planning documents, recorded Board presentations, 
and yearly budgets. Board members and the Fire Chief jointly validated the public’s concerns 
about response times while also linking them back to financial limitations in public 
communications. Then, in 2021, a series of fire district annexation studies were reviewed.37 
The findings showed that resource limitations were projected to continue for ECCFPD. In 
September 2021, ECCFPD and Contra Costa County Fire Protection District (Con Fire) Boards 
of Directors approved the annexation of ECCFPD to Con Fire. This move was determined by 


 
35 ECCFPD Website. https://www.eccfpd.org/about-the-district 
36 ECCFPD About and History Webpages. https://www.eccfpd.org/about-the-district 
37 Fire District Annexation Study. July 2021. https://legistarweb-


production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/968312/Fire_District_Annexation_Study_FINDINGS-_7-2021-2.pdf 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


52 
 
 


both districts and its Boards to be the best way to increase response times and address 
resource shortages for ECCFPD.38 


Case Study Reasoning 


ECCFP was chosen as a case study comparison due to both its similarities to Menlo Park Fire 
District and its industry best practices. Like the District, ECCFP covers both urban and 
unincorporated areas and it works in conjunction with distinct municipalities that have their own 
departments charged with coordinating disaster response efforts. It, along with its local 
municipal agency and community based organization partners, engages in community 
preparedness education and outreach. Additionally, like the District, ECCFP has sought to 
engage its various stakeholders when assessing its capabilities and defining its strategic 
objectives. In 2018, ECCFP conducted a strategic planning initiative that interviewed and 
surveyed partner agencies, ECCFP staff, and community members. This resulted in an outline 
of ECCFP’s goals and strategies for 2019-2023.39  


An area of best practice that drew ECCFPD to the fore as a case study is its transparency and 
public communication initiatives. It was even awarded the Special District Leadership 
Foundation Transparency Certificate of Excellence in 2019. This award recognized the 
outstanding efforts of ECCFPD in promoting transparency and good governance as well as 
being open and accessible to its stakeholders.40 Some of efforts ECCFPD emphasizes on their 


webpage is openness about finances including where money for the district comes from, how it 
has been spent, and the pay ranges of its employees and the “We are Listening” initiative with 
a video series from ECCFPD’s Chief. Additionally, ECCFPD Board members are shown within 
public communications to support the Fire Chief and the district’s activities. Calls for increased 
resources and public support appear to be a joint effort between ECCFPD and its Board.  


Legal Requirements 


The Fire Protection District Law (Health and Safety Code §13800 et seq.) is the source of 
statutory authority for ECCFPD. Under this law the district has the rights and power to carry 
out its function of providing fire protection and other emergency services.41,42 As a designated 
special district under the California Constitution, ECCFPD is governed by an elected Board of 
Directors. This is a legislative body with centralized power that holds collective authority within 
the district and individual directors do not retain individual authority. Per Board policies, the 
directors are required to represent and act for the community as a whole, rather than towards 


 
38 Kukulich, T. 2021. Fire District Vote Should Resolve Resource Shortage in East County. The Press. 


https://www.thepress.net/townnews/institutes/fire-district-vote-should-resolve-resource-shortage-in-east-
county/article_6d92d2bc-1c93-11ec-9fb6-973cb44ade3a.html  
39 ECCFPD Strategic Plan 2019 through 2023. https://www.eccfpd.org/files/f774145fb/ECCFPD_Strategic_Plan_2018.pdf 
40 ECCFPD Press Release. 2019. https://www.eccfpd.org/august-2019-eccfpd-awarded-the-sdlf-district-transparency-


certificate-of-excellence 
41 ECCFPD Strategic Plan 2019 through 2023. https://www.eccfpd.org/files/f774145fb/ECCFPD_Strategic_Plan_2018.pdf 
42 Senate Governance and Finance Committee. The Fire Protection District Law of 1987. 


https://sgf.senate.ca.gov/thefireprotectiondistrictlawof1987 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


53 
 
 


the good of “any fractional segment of the community.” Additionally, the Board is expected to 
delegate operational aspects of the district to ECCFPD staff members.43  


ECCFPD Board Policy No. 241 stipulates that: 


It is the policy of the district to create and maintain an active emergency preparedness 
program to manage the district’s critical functions during any emergency and to protect district 
staff. The district will coordinate the 
emergency plan, function and response 
with those responders from the public and 
private entities and organizations charged 
with emergency services. 


According to this policy should an 
emergency declaration be needed within 
district boundaries, the Fire Chief, in 
consultation with the Board President, will 
contact city/county officials where the 
emergency exists. The Fire Chief may 
declare an emergency which must then 
be ratified by the Board and made 
public.44  


Within its jurisdiction, ECCFPD has entered into various agreements with Contra Costa 
County, the City of Brentwood, and the City of Oakley for certain services and/or the provision 
of fire stations. However, it makes clear to the public on its website that ECCFPD is not funded 
by general funds of those entities, it does not drive their budget or policy decisions, nor vice 
versa. The district is also in a contractual relationship with CAL FIRE to serve as first 
responders in the Marsh Creek/Morgan Territory area and ECCFPD pays CAL FIRE to keep 
that station open in the non-wildfire season. 


During a declaration of emergency with ECCFPD, the Fire Chief may request mutual aid in 
accordance with the emergency plan and the California Master Mutual Aid Agreement 
(Government Code §§ 8561-8619.5). This may include requesting aid from other agencies or 
committing district resources to agencies requesting aid.45  


Of the eight cities, towns, and territories within ECCFPD’s boundaries, only three include 
emergency preparedness or response information on their websites. The Town of Discovery 
Bay provides links to health and safety information (including ECCFPD’s website)46 while the 
City of Brentwood offers an emergency preparedness page with family disaster plan 


 
43 ECCFPD Board Policy No. 130: Basis of Authority. https://www.eccfpd.org/files/64f46e01c/No.+130+-


+Basis+of+Authority.pdf 
44 ECCFPD Board Policy No. 241: Emergency Preparedness. https://www.eccfpd.org/files/66d15ebfb/No.+241+-


+Emergency+Preparedness.pdf 
45 ECCFPD Board Policy No. 241: Emergency Preparedness. https://www.eccfpd.org/files/66d15ebfb/No.+241+-


+Emergency+Preparedness.pdf 
46 The Town of Discovery Bay. Health & Safety. https://todb.ca.gov/health-safety 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


54 
 
 


information47 and notes in its 2019-2020 strategic plan that a focus area is improving disaster 
preparedness for the community.48 Only the City of Oakley provides a publicly available 
emergency operations plan. Within this plan, ECCFPD is listed as one of multiple response 
agencies contributing to emergency procedures. There are also readiness and response 
checklists for ECCFPD which outline actions and responsibilities. These range from assuming 
incident command to coordinating and communicating with city agencies.49  


Organizational Structure 


Division leads as well as key ECCFPD staff are introduced to the public on the website. These 
positions include the Fire Chief, Chief Administrative Officer, Fire Marshal, and three Battalion 
Chiefs.  


While governed by the Board of Directors, the Fire Chief holds numerous responsibilities. In 
addition to those described above regarding disaster declarations, Board Policy No. 190 
describes in detail the Fire Chief’s Role. He/she/they is the administrative head of the district 
under the direction of the Board and is responsible for administration of all district affairs. 
Specifically, he/she/they is responsible for:  


The implementation of policies established by the Board of Directors for the operation of the 
district;  


• The planning, direction, and coordination of the day-to-day operations of the District 
through the appropriate members of District management including administration, 
financing, maintenance, engineering, human resources, and others to effect operational 
efficiency; 


• The appointment, supervision, discipline, and dismissal of the District's employees, 
consistent with the employment policies established by the Board of Directors; 


• Attend and participate in District Board meetings, prepare and present reports as 
necessary, represent the Board before external organizations including other agencies, 
governmental and regulatory entities, business and community groups; 


• The supervision of the District's facilities and services; and 


• The supervision of the District's finances. 


The Fire Chief is appointed by and serves at the pleasure of the Board. Board members deal 
with matters within their authority through the Fire Chief at convened Board meetings and not 
through other District employees. District employees other than the Fire Chief are not to be 


 
47 City of Brentwood. Emergency Preparedness. https://www.brentwoodca.gov/gov/police/emergency/default.asp 
48 City of Brentwood Strategic Plan FY2018/19-FY2019/20. 


https://www.brentwoodca.gov/civicax/filebank/blobdload.aspx?BlobID=24417 
49 City of Oakley Emergency Operations Plan. https://www.ci.oakley.ca.us/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/Emergency-Plan-


2007.pdf 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


55 
 
 


requested by Board members to “undertake analyses, perform other work assignments, or 
change the priority of work assignments.”50 


Community Outreach 


Primary outreach to the community is conducted through the public education division. 
ECCFPD hosts school presentations, participates in community events, contributes to news 
stories, and develops public service announcements to share injury and fire prevention 
information. Board Policy 430 encourages district staff to directly engage with the public 
through organized activities throughout the service area. Although community outreach cannot 
interfere with response and prevention duties, a variety of example activities are described in 
the policy (e.g., tours of facilities, community events, displaying district apparatus, ride-
alongs).51  


The ECCFPD website hosts a number of public facing 
materials and opportunities for engagement with the 
community. News and press releases are frequently updated 
and contact information for the PIO is provided. The Fire Chief 
hosts a video series available on both the ECCFPD website 
and on YouTube. This series is in response to the “We Are 
Listening” initiative of the district. A Board initiated initiative, it is 
focused on outreach to the public to understand their 
perspectives, concerns, and needs prior to implementing any 
new activities or plans within the district. The posted videos 
show the Fire Chief, district employees, Board members, and 
residents providing an overview of the district, discussing 
concerns, and answering frequently asked questions. The Fire 
Chief is often at the forefront of the videos addressing the 
biggest and most common questions posed by stakeholders.52  


Although ECCFPD does not directly manage or lead community response programs, it did 
emphasize the importance of these efforts in relation to its strategic goal of developing a 
community risk reduction program. One of the strategies listed in the strategic plan was to 
“support and encourage the development of a CERT program for improved community-based 
self-help during a natural disaster.”53 The Implementation Action Plan for January to 
September 2020 showed that ECCFPD has continued to cooperate with the Brentwood CERT 
program and the newly established Oakley CERT program. It also noted that there was an 
anticipated launch of CERT programs in Marsh Creek and Morgan Territory. Although it was 
not clarified what agency would be running these programs.54  


 
50 ECCFPD Board Policy No. 190: Overview of the Fire Chief’s Role. https://www.eccfpd.org/files/c53c09cdd/No.+190+-


+Overview+of+the+Fire+Chief%27s+Role.pdf 
51 ECCFPD Board Policy No. 430: Outreach Activities. https://www.eccfpd.org/files/a524535bd/No.+440+-


+Outreach+Activities.pdf 
52 The Chief’s Video Series. https://www.eccfpd.org/the-chief-s-video-series 
53 ECCFPD Strategic Plan 2019 through 2023. https://www.eccfpd.org/files/f774145fb/ECCFPD_Strategic_Plan_2018.pdf 
54 ECCFPD Strategic Plan Implementation Action Plan Monitoring Report. January to September 2020. 


https://www.eccfpd.org/files/9270d80d8/October+14+2020+Board+of+Directors+Regular+Meeting+Agenda+Packet.pdf 


“We Are Listening” 
Initiative Video Topics 


 
- COVID-19 Response 
- Fire District Response 
Times 
- Resource and Service 
Levels 
- Firefighter 
Compensation and 
Benefits 
- A Day in the Life of 
ECCFPD 







Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
Emergency Management and Community Preparedness Assessment 
Independent Assessment Draft 
   
   


56 
 
 


Key Findings 


The ECCFPD faced concerns from residents and district personnel about service response 
times and the ability of the district to achieve its mission with the financial and resource 
constraints it was under. To better define existing and recommended capabilities, a strategic 
planning process was undertaken which encompassed ECCFPD staff and Board perspectives, 
partner agency input, and resident feedback. Then, before the district implemented initiatives 
designed to reach strategic goals, the “We Are Listening” campaign gathered and addressed 
concerns in the community. This was one example of how ECCFPD sought to enhance the 
relationship between the district and the community.  


Part of public information dissemination included the Chief’s Video Series which demonstrated 
direct communication with stakeholders and displayed the support of Board members for the 
Chief and ECCFPD. Interviews with Directors showed their adherence to Board policies of 
prioritizing the good of the community while also demonstrating a united effort of the Board and 
the district. The good governance of ECCFPD was further demonstrated in the prioritization of 
transparency with webpages specifically dedicated to sharing administrative and budgetary 
information.  


An emphasis on operational transparency can also be seen in the clearly defined roles and 
responsibilities on ECCFPD’s webpages regarding response activities. Partner agencies 
demonstrate this through the identification of district roles within emergency plans, where they 
exist. Agreements and mutual aid are outlined in official documents and articulated up front to 
the public. Board policies likewise offer clarity on role and behavior expectations. They outline 
ethical conduct from the Board and the Fire Chief as well the limitations of their authority in 
enforceable policies.  


Although ECCFPD is expected to be annexed with Con Fire, it continues to make progress 
towards achieving its strategic goals. It is working to strengthen partnerships with CERTs and 
support resident preparedness and safety. In its openness about limited resources, ECCFPD 
creates strategies that are achievable and within the confines of its authority. Collaboration 
with and encouragement of volunteer groups and fellow response agencies strengthens 
partnerships to allow the district to meet its mission despite financial restrictions. 


 





		Table Of Contents

		Executive Summary

		Table 1: Recommendations Summary by Priority and Timeline

		Acknowledgements



		Introduction & Background

		Background

		Methodology

		Current State of the Fire District



		Recommendations

		Conclusion

		Appendices

		Appendix A: Survey Analysis

		Overview

		Respondent Background

		Menlo Park Fire Protection District Capabilities

		Relationships Between Partners

		Emergency Planning and Preparedness

		Disaster Response and Recovery

		Volunteers



		Appendix B: Comparative Case Study #1 - San Ramon Valley Fire Protection District

		Introduction

		Background

		Case Studying Reasoning

		Legal Requirements

		Organizational Structure

		Community Outreach

		Key Findings



		Appendix C: Comparative Case Study #2 - The East Contra Costa Fire Protection District

		Introduction

		Background

		Case Study Reasoning

		Legal Requirements

		Organizational Structure

		Community Outreach

		Key Findings










 
 


Menlo Park Fire 
Protection District 


California 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


COMMUNITY RISK ASSESSMENT: 
STANDARDS OF COVER 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE i 


 


 


Introduction 


The following report serves as the Menlo Park Fire Protection District’s Community Risk Assessment: 
Standards of Cover. It follows the Center for Fire Public Safety Excellence (CPSE) 6th Edition Community Risk 
Assessment: Standards of Cover model that develops written procedures to  determine  the  distribution and 
concentration of a fire and emergency service agency’s fixed and mobile resources. The purpose of 
completing such a document is to assist the agency in ensuring a safe and effective response forcefor fire 
suppression, emergency medical services, and specialty response situations. 


 


Creating a Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover document requires that a number of areas be 
researched, studied, and evaluated. This report will begin with an overview  of  both  the community and the 
agency. Following this overview, the plan will discuss areas such as risk assessment, critical task analysis, 
agency service-level objectives, and distribution and concentration measures. The report will provide an 
analysis of historical performance and will conclude with policy and operational recommendations. 


 


ESCI extends its appreciation to the elected officials, business members, and community members of the 
District and the cities they protect, the members of  the Fire District,  and all others  who contributed to this 
plan. 


 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District Board of Directors 


 
Robert Jones 


President 
 


Jim McLaughlin 
Vice President 


 


Chick Bernstein 
Director 


Virginia Chang Kiraly 
Director 


 


Rob Silano 
Director 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE iii 


 


 


 


Table of Contents 


Introduction .................................................................................................................... i 


Table of Contents........................................................................................................ iii 


Table of Figures ......................................................................................................... vii 


Executive Summary ...................................................................................................... 1 


Recommendations ................................................................................................................................ 3 


Description  of Community Served ....................................................................................... 6 


Organization Overview ......................................................................................................................... 6 


Service Area Overview ................................................................................................................................. 9 
Review of Services Provided ........................................................................................................................ 10 


Staffing Information ...................................................................................................................... 10 


Resources as Currently Deployed ......................................................................................................... 11 


Apparatus/Vehicles .................................................................................................................................... 12 
Apparatus Summary ............................................................................................................................ 14 


Review of Community Expectations .................................................................................. 15 


Stakeholder Input ................................................................................................................................ 15 


Citizen and Business Community Members .................................................................................................. 15 
Administrative Support ............................................................................................................................... 17 
Chief Officers, Labor Leaders, Rank & File ................................................................................................... 18 
Fire District Board, City & County Manager(s) ............................................................................................. 19 
Fire Prevention ........................................................................................................................................... 21 


Community Risk Assessment ............................................................................................ 23 


Risk Classification ................................................................................................................................ 23 


Population Density .............................................................................................................................. 27 


At-Risk Populations ............................................................................................................................. 31 


Physical Hazards .................................................................................................................................. 32 


Earthquakes............................................................................................................................................... 32 
Wildfires .................................................................................................................................................... 34 
Severe Weather .................................................................................................................................... 35 
Seasonal Winds .......................................................................................................................................... 37 
Dam Failure ................................................................................................................................................ 37 
Flood Risk ................................................................................................................................................... 37 
Extreme Heat ....................................................................................................................................... 39 
Drought ..................................................................................................................................................... 40 


Technological (Human-Caused) Hazards .............................................................................................. 41 


Transportation ........................................................................................................................................... 41 


Infrastructure Protected ................................................................................................................ 43 


Target Hazards/Critical Infrastructure and Key Resources (CIKR) ................................................................. 43 
Public Assembly ......................................................................................................................................... 45 
Schools ...................................................................................................................................................... 46 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE iv 


 


 


Other Critical Infrastructure ............................................................................................................ 48 


Communicati ons ........................................................................................................................................ 48 
Energy ....................................................................................................................................................... 48 
Water Distribution ...................................................................................................................................... 49 


Structural Risks ................................................................................................................................... 51 


Very Large Homes ................................................................................................................................. 51 
Hazardous Materials .................................................................................................................................. 51 
Buildings Three or More Stories in Height .................................................................................................... 53 
Large Square Footage Buildings .................................................................................................................. 54 


Comparison of Fire Risk in Other Communities ...................................................................................... 55 


Arson ........................................................................................................................................................................ 56 
ISO Fire Protection Class Rating ............................................................................................................. 57 


Historic System Response Workload ................................................................................ 58 


Temporal Analysis .............................................................................................................................. 59 


Spatial Analysis ................................................................................................................................... 61 


Unit Workload Analysis ....................................................................................................................... 66 


Response Unit Workload ....................................................................................................................... 66 


Population and Incident Workload Projections ...................................................................................... 68 


Critical Tasking and Alarm Assignments .............................................................................. 69 


Critical Tasking ................................................................................................................................... 70 


Alarm Assignments ............................................................................................................................. 74 


Review of Historical System Performance ........................................................................ 79 


Detection ................................................................................................................................................... 80 
Call Processing ........................................................................................................................................... 80 
Turnout Time ............................................................................................................................................. 82 
Distribution and Initial Arriving Unit Travel Time .......................................................................................... 83 


Performance Objectives and Performance Measures ........................................................... 95 


Dynamics of Fire in Buildings ............................................................................................................... 95 


Emergency Medical Event Sequence .................................................................................................... 98 


People, Tools, and Time ...................................................................................................................... 99 


Overview of Compliance Methodology ........................................................................... 100 


Compliance Model ............................................................................................................................. 100 


Phase 1—Establish/Review Performance Measures.................................................................................... 100 
Phase 2—Evaluate Performance ............................................................................................................... 101 
Phase 3—Develop Compliance Strategies .................................................................................................. 101 
Phase 4—Communicate Expectations to Organization s ............................................................................. 101 
Phase 5— Validate Compliance ................................................................................................................. 101 
Phase 6—Make Adjustments/Repeat Process ............................................................................................ 102 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE v 


 


 


Overall Evaluation, Conclusions, and Recommendations ...................................................... 103 


Overall Evaluation ..............................................................................................................................103 


Recommendations .............................................................................................................................105 


Recommendation A: Continue to maintain adequate cash reserves to provide for emergency purchases or 
economic downturns ................................................................................................................................ 105 
Recommendation B: Continue to maintain the apparatus and equipment replacement plan and ensure 
sufficient funds are available to replace apparatusand equipment .............................................................. 105 
Recommendation C: Continue to evaluate growth within the District to take advantage of opportunities to use 
specially designated tax revenues to fund stations or other capital assets ................................................... 106 
Recommendation D: Add a second Battalion Chief per shift for a total of three additional Battalion Chiefs. 106 
Recommendation E: Implement a standardized program for pre-incident target hazard planning for operations 
personnel ................................................................................................................................................. 106 
Recommendation F: Limit the use of traffic “calming” and other measures that increase travel time ............. 106 
Recommendation G: Work with the cities of Atherton, Menlo Park, and East Palo Alto to designate primary 
emergency access routes ....................................................................................................................................... 106 
Recommendation H: Continue to work with  the cities of Atherton,  Menlo Park, and East Palo Alto to 
coordinate and, where appropriate, enhance emergency preparedness planningand response efforts ........... 107 
Recommendation I: Improve the efficiency of response to emergency medical incidents ................................ 107 
Recommendation J: Review dispatch processes to reduce call processing time .............................................. 107 
Recommendation  K: Reduce the turnout time interval ................................................................................ 108 
Recommendation L: Closely monitor the impact of new development on fire department workload .............. 108 
Recommendation  M:Consider relocating Station 77 to anew site ................................................................ 111 
Recommendation  N: Move Rescue 77 to Station 6. .............................................................................. 112 


Appendix A—Hazard Vulnerability Risk Tables ................................................................... 113 


Appendix B—Fire Stations/Capital Assets .......................................................................... 119 


Capital Assets and Improvements .......................................................................................................119 


Fixed Facilities ........................................................................................................................................... 119 
Facilities Summary ................................................................................................................................... 129 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE vii 


 


 


 
Table  of Figures 


Figure 1: Menlo  Fire Protection District Organizational Chart .................................................................... 7 
Figure 2: MPFPD Revenue, FY 2014–FY 2018 .................................................................................................... 8 
Figure 3: MPFPD Actual Expenditures by Year, FY 2014–FY 2018 .................................................................... 8 
Figure 4: Menlo Park FPD ................................................................................................................ 9 
Figure 5: Administrative  and Support Staff .................................................................................................. 10 
Figure 6: Response Personnel by Rank .................................................................................................... 11 
Figure 7: Resource Staffing and Capabilities ..................................................................................................... 11 
Figure 8: MPFPD Fire Stations and Apparatus ......................................................................................... 13 
Figure 9: PRI Score Categories ........................................................................................................................... 24 
Figure 10: Hazard Risk Summary ....................................................................................................................... 25 
Figure 11: Relative Community Risk ......................................................................................................... 25 
Figure 12: Population Densities Criteria ............................................................................................................. 27 
Figure 13: Study Area Population Density .................................................................................................... 28 
Figure 14: Population History, 2007–2018 ............................................................................................... 28 
Figure 15: Demographics for the MPFPD Service Area ............................................................................ 29 
Figure 16: Federally  Declared Disasters,  Jan. 1965–Mar. 2018 ............................................................... 32 
Figure 17: Earthquakes Measuring 6.0 or Greater  Within 50 Miles .................................................................... 34 
Figure 18: MPFPD Study Area Wildland Fire Risk ..................................................................................... 35 
Figure 19: Historical Tornado Activity ...................................................................................................... 36 
Figure 20: Tornado Intensity, Enhanced Fujita Scale ....................................................................................... 36 
Figure 21: Menlo Park area Average Monthly Wind Speeds ............................................................................ 37 
Figure 22: Flood Zones ............................................................................................................................ 38 
Figure 23: NWS Heat Index ...................................................................................................................... 39 
Figure 24: Menlo Park Area Monthly Temperatures ......................................................................................... 39 
Figure 25: U.S. Drought Conditions, December 3, 2019 ........................................................................ 40 
Figure 26: Rail Lines ...................................................................................................................................... 42 
Figure 27: Critical Facilities .................................................................................................................................. 43 
Figure 28: Buildings Requiring Fire Flow over 3,000 GPM or More ........................................................... 44 
Figure 29: Public Assembly Facilities ................................................................................................................. 45 
Figure 30: K-12 School Locations ............................................................................................................. 46 
Figure 31: Daycare and Preschools .......................................................................................................... 47 
Figure 32: Fire Hydrants .......................................................................................................................... 50 
Figure 33: Hazardous Material  Tier II Locations ....................................................................................... 52 
Figure 34: Buildings Three  or More Stories in Height ................................................................................... 53 
Figure 35: Buildings 100,000 Square Feet and Larger ...................................................................................... 54 
Figure 36: Fire Losses by Region and Size of Community, 2017 ............................................................. 55 
Figure 37: Arson Rate per 100,000 Population ......................................................................................... 56 
Figure 38: Comparison of ISO Class Ratings, California .................................................................................... 57 
Figure 39: Response Workload History, 2009–2018 .............................................................................. 58 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE viii 


 


 


Figure 40: Responses by Type of Incident, 2018 .................................................................................................... 59 
Figure 41: Monthly Response Workload, 2016–2018 .................................................................................... 59 
Figure 42: Daily Response Workload, 2016–2018 ..............................................................................................60 
Figure 43: Hourly Response Workload, 2016–2018 ...........................................................................................60 
Figure 44: Incidents per Square Mile, 2018......................................................................................................... 61 
Figure 45: Fires, 2018 ................................................................................................................................................. 62 
Figure 46: Building Fires by Hour of Day, 2016–2018 ........................................................................................ 63 
Figure 47: EMS Incidents per Square Mile, 2018 ................................................................................................64 
Figure 48: EMS Incidents by Hour of Day, 2016–2018 ............................................................................... 65 
Figure 49: Response Unit Workload, 2016–2018 ...................................................................................... 66 
Figure 50: Average Time Committed to an Incident by Unit, 2016–2018 ..................................................... 67 
Figure 51: Unit-Hour Utilization, 2016–2018 ............................................................................................. 67 
Figure 52: Service Utilization Rate, 2009–2018 ............................................................................................ 68 


Figure 53: Staffing CFAI Recommendations Based on Risk ....................................................................... 70 
Figure 54: Structure Fire .......................................................................................................................... 70 
Figure 55: High-Rise Structure Fire (75+ Feet in Height) ............................................................................... 71 
Figure 56: Wildland Fire—Low Risk .......................................................................................................... 71 
Figure 57: Wildland Fire—High Risk .......................................................................................................... 71 
Figure 58: Hazardous Materials—Low Risk ............................................................................................... 72 
Figure 59: Hazardous Materials—High Risk .............................................................................................. 72 
Figure 60: Emergency Medical Aid (Life Threatening) .................................................................................. 72 
Figure 61: Major Medical Response (10+ Patients) ....................................................................................... 72 
Figure 62: Motor Vehicle Accident (Non-Trapped) ....................................................................................... 73 
Figure 63: Motor Vehicle Accident(Trapped) ........................................................................................... 73 
Figure 64: Technical Rescue—Water .................................................................................................................. 73 
Figure 65: Technical Rescue—Rope .................................................................................................................... 73 
Figure 66: Technical Rescue—Confined Space ....................................................................................................... 74 
Figure 67: Structure Fire .......................................................................................................................... 74 
Figure 68: High-Rise Structure Fire (75+ Feet) .............................................................................................. 74 
Figure 69: Wildland Fire—Low Risk.......................................................................................................... 75 
Figure 70: Wildland Fire—High Risk ......................................................................................................... 75 
Figure 71: Hazardous Materials—High Risk ............................................................................................... 75 
Figure 72: Emergency Medical Service (Life Threatening) ............................................................................ 75 
Figure 73: Major Medical Response(10+ Patients) ........................................................................................ 76 
Figure 74: Motor Vehicle Accident (Non-Trapped) ....................................................................................... 76 
Figure 75: Motor Vehicle Accident(Trapped) ........................................................................................... 76 
Figure 76: Technical Rescue—Water ................................................................................................................... 76 
Figure 77: Technical Rescue—Rope ............................................................................................................... 77 
Figure 78: Technical Rescue—Confined Space ................................................................................................... 77 
Figure 79: Technical Rescue—Trench ............................................................................................................. 77 
Figure 80: Mutual Aid Resources, Including Resources Available Through 3rd Alarm ................................. 77 
Figure 81: MPFPD Performance Goals .......................................................................................................... 79 


  Figure 82: PSC  Dispatch Time Performance ............................................................................................. 81  







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE ix 


 


 


Figure 83: Call Processing Time by Hour of Day, 2018 .............................................................................. 82 
Figure 84: Turnout Time Performance..................................................................................................... 82 
Figure 85: Turnout Time by Hour of Day, 2018 ......................................................................................... 83 
Figure 86: MPFPD 4-Minute Travel Coverage .................................................................................................. 84 
Figure 87: Adjacent Agency 4-Minute Travel Coverage ............................................................................ 85 
Figure 88: Travel-Time Performance, First Arriving Unit ..................................................................................... 86 
Figure 89: Travel Time by Hour of Day, 2018 ............................................................................................ 86 
Figure 90: Response-Time Performance, First Arriving Unit ............................................................................ 87 
Figure 91: Response Time by Hour of Day, 2018 ....................................................................................................87 
Figure 92: Received to Arrival Time, First Arriving Unit ................................................................................... 88 
Figure 93: Received to Arrival Time by Hour, 2018 ................................................................................................ 88 
Figure 94: Effective Response Force Performance ................................................................................... 89 
Figure 95: Frequency Distribution of Response Time for Full ERF Arrival....................................................... 89 
Figure 96: Effective Response Force, Firefighters ......................................................................................... 90 
Figure 97: Effective Response Force, Apparatus—Low-Rise Building Fire.................................................. 91 
Figure 98: Effective Response Force, Apparatus—High-Rise Building Fire ........................................................ 92 
Figure 99: Incident Concurrency .............................................................................................................. 93 
Figure 100: Unit Concurrency .................................................................................................................. 94 
Figure 101: Station Reliability ................................................................................................................................... 94 
Figure 102: Fire Growth versus Reflex Time.......................................................................................................96 
Figure 103: Consequence of Fire Extension in Residential Structures—United States, 2011–2015 ............. 97 
Figure 104: Cardiac Arrest Event Sequence .................................................................................................. 98 
Figure 105: Six-Step Compliance Model ..................................................................................................... 100 
Figure 106: Incidents by Station and Period of Day, 2018 ....................................................................... 109 
Figure 107: Current and Proposed Response Units.............................................................................................. 110 
Figure 108: Current Station 77 4-Minute Travel Coverage ....................................................................... 111 
Figure 109: Proposed Station 77 4-Minute Travel Coverage .................................................................... 111 
Figure 110: Fire Station Condition Definitions ............................................................................................ 120 
Figure 111: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 1 .............................................................................................. 121 
Figure 112: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 2 ............................................................................................. 122 
Figure 113: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 3 .............................................................................................. 123 
Figure 114: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 4 ............................................................................................. 124 
Figure 115: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 5 .............................................................................................. 125 
Figure 116: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 6 ............................................................................................. 126 
Figure 117: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 77 ...................................................................................................... 127 
Figure 118: Menlo Park FPD Administration .................................................................................................... 128 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 1 


 


 


Executive Summary 


The Menlo Park Fire Protection District (MPFPD) contracted with Emergency Services Consulting 
International in 2019 to conduct a Center for Public Safety Excellence, 6th Edition-compliant, Community 
Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover report. This Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover report 
quantifies community risks and recommends standards of service. 


 


ESCI analyzed the data provided by MPFPD and others to determine the current levels of response 
performance. From this analysis, ESCI also identified factors influencing risk, response performance, and 
has identified opportunities for delivery system improvement. This document establishes response time 
objectives and standards for measuring the effectiveness of District resources and the  deployment  of those 
resources. This report is divided into sections generally based on the format recommended by the Center 
for Public Safety Excellence, Community Risk Assessment: Standardsof Cover, 6th Edition. 


MPFPD serves a resident population of approximately 95,263 people and protects an area of roughly 29 
square miles. MPFPD operates from seven fire stations. The District currently utilizes ten response apparatus, 
not including reserve apparatus. San Mateo County Office of Public Safety Communications (PSC) provides 
emergency (9-1-1) answering. PSC is an accredited 9-1-1 center and  utilizes  Medical Priority Dispatch to 
prioritize requests for emergency medical services (EMS). 


 


The analysis completed during this study revealed a number of important findings. These include: 
 


• The total response workload has increased by 17.9% over the past seven years. 
• The currentfire department utilization rate is 91.7 incidents per 1,000 population. This is 


comparable to similar communities. 
• Requests for emergency medical services are 65.3% of all responses. 
• Responseworkload is the highest around Fire Stations 2 and 6. 
• Engine 2 is very near 10% utilization (UHU). 
• The addition of the second truck companyhas resulted in the current daily staffing being at the 


upper limit of the recommended span of control for the one Battalion Chief per shift configuration. 
• MPFPD lacks a District-wide program that fully identifies and pre-plans responses to target 


hazards. 
• The amount of time PSC takes to dispatch fire department response units exceeds the MPFPD 


performance goal and national standards. 
• The amount of time that response personnel take to assemble on apparatus and initiate response 


exceeds the MPFPD performance goaland nationalstandards. 
• The amount of time that units spend traveling to an incident exceeds the MPFPD performance 


goal and national standards. 
• MPFPD provided an effective response force to 27 building fires during the study period. It delivered 


the effective response force to only 9 of those fires within the time defined in the MPFPD 
performance goals. 


• MPFPD is quite dependent on neighboring agencies to deliver an effective response force. 
• MPFPD has adopted written financial guidelines and practices. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 2 


 


 


• Population density is increasing steadily with multiple families living in single-family residences. 
Training and effective response force assignments should consider difficulties encountered by 
overcrowding in residences. 


• Traffic will continue to increase in the region, impacting MPFPD streets and roadways. Peak traffic 
times may decrease the MPFPD ability to gather an effective response force within the 
recommended guidelines. 


• Buildings are increasing in vertical size. This will increase the response times to the incident as 
firefighters must travel vertically before they arrive at the patient or fire location. 


• There are numerous large residential structures in the district, some of which lack residential fire 
sprinklers. 


• Natural disasters can occur in the service area. MPFPD should continue to work with the local 
community to ensure community resilience and preparedness. 


• While very few unreinforced masonry buildings still remain, these buildings remain a concern during 
seismic and fire activity. 


• The District’s financial statements are audited, and its submission of its Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report (CAFR) has resulted in its receipt of the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence 
in Financial Reporting from the Government Finance Officers Association. 


• The District has a detailed calendar for the preparation and adoption of its annual budget. 
• The District follows sound business practices accounting for its operations through the use of four 


major funds; General Fund, US&R Special Revenue Fund, Capital Improvement ProjectsFund, and 
Debt Service Fund. 


• The District has established an Apparatus and Equipment Replacement Plan to ensure adequate 
funds are available for the replacement of apparatus and equipment. 


• MPFPD has experienced an average of 6.1% increase in assessed property valuation between FY 
17/18 and FY 08/09; increasing from $20,911,498,219 in FY 08/09 to $34,832,408,120in FY 17/18. 


• The CalPERS Classic pension plans were closed to new employees on January 1, 2013. Employees 
hired after January 1, 2013, areeligible to enroll in the PEPRA plans. 


 
The analysis conducted during the evaluation phase of  this process  identified  a  number  of opportunities to 
improve service (Improvement Goals). The following recommendations are offered for consideration. 
These recommendations are described in more detail at the end of this report in the Overall Evaluation, 
Conclusions, and Recommendationssection. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 3 


 


 


RECOMMENDATIONS 
 


Recommendation A: Continue to maintain adequate cash reserves to provide for 
emergency purchases or economic downturns. 
The Board of Directors should continue to place a high priority on closely monitoring the financial impact of 
changing economic conditions on the District’s ability to maintain service levels, fund infrastructure needs, 
and maintain sufficient reserve  balances. The  Board  should continue to follow  its  budget process of 
requiring recurring expenses to be paid with recurring revenue and to fund deferred compensation amounts 
annually. 


 
Recommendation B: Continue to maintain the apparatus and equipment replacement 
plan and ensure sufficient funds are available to replace apparatus and equipment. 
The Board of Directors should continue with the established policies on the creation and maintenance of 
various capital expenditure plans and related reserve funds. Planning and setting aside funds for future 
capital expenditures allows for the replacements to be purchased with minimal impact on the funding for 
the delivery of services. These funds are currently in various accounting classifications, including 
“restricted,” “committed,” and “assigned,” and can only be used for the stated purpose as determined by 
the Board of Directors. 


 
Recommendation C: Continue to evaluate growth within the District to take advantage 
of opportunities to use specially designated tax revenues to fund stations or other 
capital assets. 
The Board of Directors should continue to seek alternative revenue sources, including grants or specially 
designated tax revenues. Funding assistance from any source outside the existing revenue stream reduces 
stress to improve service, replace apparatus, or build new stations on that existing revenuestream. 


 
Recommendation D: Add a second Battalion Chief per shift for a total of three additional 
Battalion Chiefs. 
MPFPD currently staffs each operational shift with one Battalion Chief. The Battalion Chief’s  duties include 
coordination of all on-shift response personnel and supervision of response crews, ensuring coverage is 
balanced across the District, and assuming command of larger incidents. Typically, agencies staff with one 
Battalion Chief for every five response units. MPFPD’s single on-shift Battalion Chief is managing nine 
response units. Adding a second Battalion Chief will improve overall shift management  and enhance the 
District’s effective response force. 


 


Recommendation E: Implement a standardized program for pre-incident target hazard 
planning for operations personnel. 
Pre-incident planning is designed to provide information for responding personnel to assist with strategies 
and tactics during an event and provides building familiarization to operations staff. MPFPD  should institute 
a standardized pre-incident target hazard planning program as soon as possible for operations personnel 
and develop a system to access the plans during an event. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 4 


 


 


Recommendation F: Limit the use of traffic “calming” and other measures that increase 
travel time. 
Speed humps, hard medians, curb extensions, and other measures can slow traffic and improve highway 
safety—however, these also slow emergency response vehicles. 


 
Recommendation G: Work with the cities of Atherton, Menlo Park, and East Palo Alto 
to designate primary emergency access routes. 
The designation and marking of emergency access routes will enhance emergency response times during 
highly congested commute times. 


 
Recommendation H: Continue to work with the cities of Atherton, Menlo Park, and East 
Palo Alto to coordinate and, where appropriate, enhance emergency preparedness 
planning and response efforts. 
Where possible, the District should work to eliminate duplication of efforts and provide support to the 
City’s emergency preparedness planning and emergency operations center design and development. 


 


Recommendation I: Improve the efficiency of response to emergency medical incidents. 
MPFPD’s current practice is to send afire engine to all emergency medical incidents regardless of severity. 
Response protocols should be modified to eliminate fire unit response to low-risk or ambulance-only 
responses. 


 


Recommendation J: Review dispatch processes to reduce call processing time. 
PSC’s call processing times are long as compared to national standards. Current overall call processing times 
are within 1  minute,  45  seconds, 90%  of  the  time. For  fire   incidents,   it   is   even   longer   within 2 
minutes, 43 seconds, 90% of the time. National standards (NFPA 1221) recommend that call processing time 
for most calls should be within 64 seconds, 90% of the time. If medical dispatch triage questions are asked, 
as is the casehere, the time is within 90 seconds, 90% of thetime. 


 
Recommendation K: Reduce the turnout time interval. 
Turnouttime is the period between when dispatchers notify response personnel of the incident and when 
response crews begin to travel towards the incident location. MPFPD’s performance goal for turnout time 
is currently within 2 minutes, 90% of the time. MPFPD’s overall turnout time performance is currently within 
2 minutes, 3 seconds, 90% of thetime. 


 
Recommendation L: Closely monitor the impact of new development on fire department 
workload. 
There exists developable land within MPFPD’s service area and areas that can and will be redeveloped to 
more intense uses. Response workload will increase because of rising population and service utilization 
rates. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 5 


 


 


Recommendation M: Consider relocating Station 77 to a new site. 
MPFPD is considering relocating Station 77 to a new location near the 1200 block of Willow Road in Menlo 
Park. Current and proposed first-due coverage was evaluated for both sites to determine if this relocation 
would provide a benefit. 


 
Recommendation N: Move Rescue 77 to Station 6. 
Rescue 77 was moved to Station 77 in January 2019. Moving this unit to Station 6 will provide a better result 
for the system. Station 6 is much busier than Station 77. Station 77 sits adjacent to two other stations (1 and 
2) that house two response units each. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 6 


 


 


Description of Community Served 
 


ORGANIZATION OVERVIEW 


This overview of the District focuses on the demographics, history, service delivery infrastructure, 
governancestructures (and lines of authority), policies, and organizational design. 


 
The Menlo Park Fire Protection District (MPFPD or District) was established in 1916; the District was 
reaffirmed and operates under the authority of the California Health and Safety Code Section 13800  et  seq. 
(Fire Protection District Law of 1987). Located on the peninsula in the southernmost part of  San Mateo 
County in the Metropolitan Bay Area, the District covers approximately 29 square miles that reach into the 
bay. The District's population is estimated at around 95,263. In addition, via acontractfor services, the 
district provides fire and EMS response to the Stanford Linear Accelerator and National Department of 
Energy Laboratory. 


 
MPFPD is a Special District governed by a Board of Directors comprised of five community members, duly 
elected by the citizens of the District and serving staggered four-year terms. As a Special District, MPFPD 
provides a full array of fire, rescue, and emergency medical services to the cities of East Palo Alto and Menlo 
Park, the Town of Atherton, and unincorporated areas of southern San Mateo County. The District employs 
125 personnel and responds to approximately 8,743 calls for service annually. Currently, the District’s 
assessed valuation is $34.75 billion, with an approved budget for the fiscal year (FY) 2019–2020  of 
$62,015,046. The Fire Chief is hired by and answers to the Board of Directors. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 7 


 


 


Figure 1: Menlo Fire Protection District Organizational Chart 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 8 


 


 


Financial Overview 
Organizational Finance 


The establishment of the financial policy for MPFPD is the responsibility of the Board of Directors with the 
Fire Chief responsible for fiscal administration. The District has an assessed valuation of approximately 
$34.75 billion before the redevelopment increment. 


 
The District uses a one-year budget cycle to prepare the operating budget and the capital improvement 
plan based on a July through June fiscal year. The general fund budget for all divisions of the fire 
department for FY 2020 is $62,015,046. 


 
The fire district’s operating funds are generated primarily from property taxes.  MPFPD  generates additional 
revenue through billings for service, permit fees, redevelopment agency pass-throughs, homeowner 
property tax relief collections, and interest on invested funds. 


 
The following figure lists the total actualrevenue for MPFPD for FY 2014 through FY 2018. 


 
Figure 2: MPFPD Revenue, FY 2014–FY 2018 


Description Actual 
2013–2014 


Actual 
2014–2015 


Actual 
2015–2016 


Actual 
2016–2017 


Actual 
2017–2018 


Total Revenues $40,132,295 $42,454,179 $45,684,444 $50,542,805 $56,826,863 


 
The next figure shows the general operating expenditure history for the previous five fiscal years. During 
the five-year period, the District’s operating expenditures increased by approximately 62%. Capital 
expenditures have increased dramatically as the District’s Capital Improvement Program has rebuilt two 
stations and is continuing to execute its plan. 


 
Figure 3: MPFPD Actual Expenditures by Year, FY 2014–FY 2018 


Description Actual 
2013–2014 


Actual 
2014–2015 


Actual 
2015–2016 


Actual 
2016–2017 


Actual 
2017–2018 


Operating Expenses 27,881,815 40,953,284 30,730,918 42,357,866 45,197,988 


Capital Expenditures 1,909,554 4,340,850 4,591,325 12,521,567 22,364,246 


Debt Service 1,001,585 1,002,210 1,020,489 1,017,766 1,002,685 
Total Expenditures $30,792,954 $46,296,344 $36,342,732 $55,897,199 $68,564,919 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 9 


 


 


The District has developed a comprehensive apparatus and equipment replacement program to plan for the 
obsolescence of its fleet of apparatus and equipment. This plan ensures that adequate funds are set aside for 
the replacement of old apparatus and equipment. Planning of this nature is important to the long-term 
financial and operational stability of any fire and emergency medical service organization. Such programs 
provide systematic development and renewal of the physical assets and rolling stock of the agency. The 
District has also created several Capital Improvement Projects Funds to pay for land acquisition, station 
improvement or replacement projects, and other major capital expenditures. These funds are derived from 
transfers from the General Fund or new debt instruments. The capital program must link with the planning 
process to anticipate and time capital expenditures in a manner that does not adversely influence the 
operation of the agency or otherwise place the agency in an unfavorable financial position. In 2012, MPFPD 
contracted with a facilities management firm to perform a detailed and comprehensive Facilities Condition 
Assessment of the District’s Administration Building and its seven fire stations. As a result, the District 
commenced with a rebuilding projectfor its outdated firestations. 


 
Service Area Overview 
The Menlo Park Fire District is located on the peninsula in the southernmost part of San Mateo County in 
the Metropolitan Bay Area. It covers approximately 29 square miles that reach into the bay. The District's 
population is estimated at around 95,263. 


 
Figure 4: Menlo Park FPD 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 10 


 


 


Review of Services Provided 
MPFPD’s service area includes the cities of East Palo Alto and Menlo Park, the Town of Atherton, the 
Stanford Linear Accelerator and the National Department of Energy  Laboratory,  and  other unincorporated 
areas of southern San Mateo County. The District provides services from several strategically located fire 
stations housing seven enginefire companies, two Truck/Ladder Companies, one EMS Rescue, one Type 1 
Heavy Rescue Unit, and several water rescue crafts (airboat, rigid bottom inflatable boat, jet skis). The 
District provides administrative support from one  main  administrative building and a secondary located 
behind the main building. These buildings house the offices of senior administrative staff and the Fire 
Prevention and Inspection Bureau. Additionally, MPFPD is the sponsoring agency for one of the CAL-OES 
Swift Water Rescue Task Forces and FEMA Urban Search and Rescue California Task Force#3. 


 


MPFPD also provides and receives automatic and mutual aid to other agencies within the  region.  San Mateo 
County Office of Public Safety Communications (PSC)  provides  emergency (9-1-1)  answering. PSC is an 
accredited 9-1-1 center and utilizes Medical Priority Dispatch to prioritize requests for emergency medical 
services (EMS). 


 
STAFFING INFORMATION 


At the time of this study, there were 99 full-time shift personnel involved in delivering services to the 
jurisdiction. Staffing coverage for emergency response is through the use of career firefighters on 48-hour 
shifts. For an immediate response, no less than 32 personnel are on duty at all times. One of the 32 personnel 
on each shift is a Battalion Chief, who is responsible for commanding incidents and relieving company officers 
of that responsibility on multi-company emergency operations and more complex incidents. 


 
The following figure illustrates administrative and staffing support for the Menlo Park Fire Protection 
District at the time of the study. 


 
Figure 5: Administrative and Support Staff 


Position Number 


Fire Chief 1 
Deputy Chief 1 
Division Chief 4 
Fire Marshal 1 
Deputy Fire Marshal 1 
Fire Prevention Coordinator 1 
Fire Inspectors 4 
Administrative Support Staff 10 
Administrative Captain 1 
Fleet Mechanic (CSFirefighters) 2 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 11 


 


 


The following figure illustrates response personnel by rank in the organization. 
 


Figure 6: Response Personnel by Rank 


Position Number 


Battalion Chief 3 
Fire Captain 27 
Firefighters cross-certified as Apparatus Operators 49 
Firefighter—Career 20 


 
RESOURCES AS CURRENTLY DEPLOYED 


The following figure provides basic information on each of the District’s coreservices, its general resource 
capability, and information regarding staff resources for each service. 


 
Figure 7: Resource Staffing and Capabilities 


Service General Resource/Asset Capability Basic Staffing Capability per Shift 


 
 
 
 


Fire Suppression 


7 staffed engines 
2 staffed ladder trucks 
1 command response units 
1 two-person rescue 
1 Safety Officer 


 
Additional automatic and mutual 
aid engines, aerials, and support 
units available. 


32 suppression-trained personnel 
on-duty 24/7/365. 


 
Additional automatic and mutual 
aid firefighters available. 


 
Emergency Medical Services 


7 Engines – ILS equipped 
2 Ladder trucks – ILS equipped 
1 Rescue – ILS equipped 


32 minimum staffing 24/7/365 
trained to BLS minimum, of those 
10 full ALS Paramedics. 


 
 


Vehicle Extrication 


2 trucks equipped with hydraulic 
rescue tools, hand tools, airbags, 
cutting torch, stabilization cribbing, 
and a combination cutter-spreader 
hydraulic rescue tool. 


32 minimum staffing 24/7/365, all 
firefighters vehicle rescue trained. 


 
High-Angle Rescue 


1 cross-staffed heavy rescue 
equipped with rescue-rated rope 
and all associated hardware. 


66 personnel trained to RS1 level, no 
policy with respect to 24/7/365 
minimum daily staffing.1 


 


Trench and Collapse Rescue 


1 cross-staffed heavy rescue 
equipped with pneumatic shoring 
jacks, cribbing, limited lumber, and 
hand tools for initial stabilization. 


32 minimum staffing 24/7/365 
trained to minimum Basic Trench 
Rescue and awareness. 


 
 
 


Swift-Water Rescue 


All engines and trucks equipped 
with throw bags, PFDs, and 
helmets. Two cross-staffed water 
rescue vehicles, two Air Boats (one 
is reserve), and one rigid hull 
inflatable. 


42 certified as swimmers, 42 Swift 
Rescue Technicians, 20 Air Boat 
Drivers, 21 Rigid Bottom Inflatable 
Boats, and 20 Inflatable Rubber 
Boats.1 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 12 


 


 


 


Service General Resource/Asset Capability Basic Staffing Capability per Shift 


 
 


Confined Space Rescue 


1 cross-staffed heavy rescue 
equipped with a tripod, cribbing, 
pneumatic shores, air monitoring 
equipment, basket stretchers, and 
rescue-rated rope. 


32 minimum staffing 24/7/365 
trained to a minimum, all personnel 
trained to the operations level. 


 


 
Hazardous Materials Response 


Hazardous Materials response 
vehicle equipped with personal 
protective equipment, gas and 
radiation monitoring equipment, 
containment supplies, and non- 
sparking tools. 


32 minimum staffing 24/7/365 
trained to minimum operations 
awareness level. 


1 Many District members are members of the CA-TF3 US&R Team and fully trained Larro, RS1, RS2, and RS3 in addition to 
supplementary training for each technician position. 


 
Apparatus/Vehicles 
Other than firefighters assigned to stations, response vehicles are undoubtedly the next most important 
resource of the emergency response system. The delivery of emergency services will be compromised if 
emergency personnel cannot arrive quickly due to unreliable transportation or if the equipment does not 
function properly. 


 


Fire apparatus are unique and expensive pieces of equipment, customized to operate efficiently for a 
narrowly defined mission. An engine may be built in such a way that the compartments fit specific equipment 
and tools. Virtually every space on a fire vehicle is designed for function. This  same vehicle,  with its 
specialized design, does not lend itself well  to operate  in  a completely different capacity, such as  a 
hazardous materials unit or a rescue squad. For this reason, fire apparatus offers little flexibility in use or 
reassigned purpose. As a result, communities across the country have sought to achieve the longest life span 
possible for these vehicles. Unfortunately, no piece of mechanical equipment can be expected to last 
forever. As vehicles age, repairs tend to become more frequent and morecomplex. 


 
Parts may become more difficult to obtain, and downtime for repairs increases. Given the emergency mission 
that is so critical to the community, downtime is one of the most frequently identified reasons for apparatus 
replacement. Because of the expense of fire apparatus,  most  communities  develop replacement plans. To 
enable such planning, communities often turn to the accepted practice of establishing a life cycle for 
apparatus that results in an anticipated replacement date for each vehicle. The reality is that it may be best to 
establish a life cycle for planning purposes, such as the development of replacement funding for various types 
of apparatus; yet, applya different method (such as a maintenance and performance review) for determining 
the actual replacement date, thereby achieving greater cost- effectiveness when possible. 


 
It is beyond the scope of work and the expertise of ESCI to provide a mechanical assessment of the 
apparatus. For a mechanical evaluation of the apparatus. The information that follows was provided by 
MPFPD staff. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 13 


 


 


The following figure lists the apparatus assigned to each of the seven MPFPD fire stations. 
 


Figure 8: MPFPD Fire Stations and Apparatus 


Station 1 
Apparatus 


Designation 
Type Year Make/Model Condition 


Seating 
Capacity 


Pump 
Capacity 


Tank 
Capacity 


Battalion 1 Pickup 2017 Chevy Excellent 4 N/A N/A 


Engine 1 Type 1 Engine 2009 Pierce Good 4 1,500 650 


Truck 1 Truck 2003 Pierce Good 4 N/A N/A 


Engine 101 Type 1 
Reserve 


2002 Pierce Fair 4 1,500 650 


Training 101 Type 1 Engine 2005 Pierce Fair 4 1,500 650 


 


Station 2 
Apparatus 


Designation 
Type Year Make/Model Condition 


Seating 
Capacity 


Pump 
Capacity 


Tank 
Capacity 


Engine 2 Type 1 Engine 2018 Pierce Excellent 5 1,500 650 


Truck 2 Truck 2018 Pierce Excellent 5 N/A N/A 


 


Station 3 
Apparatus 


Designation 
Type Year Make/Model Condition 


Seating 
Capacity 


Pump 
Capacity 


Tank 
Capacity 


Engine 3 Type 1 Engine 2015 Pierce Good 5 1,500 650 


 


Station 4 
Apparatus 


Designation 
Type Year Make/Model Condition 


Seating 
Capacity 


Pump 
Capacity 


Tank 
Capacity 


Engine 4 Type 1 Engine 2019 Pierce Excellent 5 1,500 650 


Engine 104 Type 1 Engine 2002 Pierce Fair 4 1,500 650 


Engine 504 Type 6 Engine 2016 Pierce Good 3 50 400 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 14 


 


 


 


Station 5 
Apparatus 


Designation 
Type Year Make/Model Condition 


Seating 
Capacity 


Pump 
Capacity 


Tank 
Capacity 


Engine 5 Type 1 Engine 2018 Pierce Excellent 5 1,500 650 
 


Station 6 
Apparatus 


Designation 
Type Year Make/Model Condition 


Seating 
Capacity 


Pump 
Capacity 


Tank 
Capacity 


Engine 6 Type 1 Engine 2019 Pierce Excellent 5 1,500 650 
 


Station 77 
Apparatus 


Designation 
Type Year Make/Model Condition 


Seating 
Capacity 


Pump 
Capacity 


Tank 
Capacity 


Engine 77 Type 1 Engine 2009 Pierce Fair 4 1,500 650 


Engine 177 Type 1 Engine 2007 Pierce Fair 4 1,500 650 


Rescue 77 Type 5 Engine 2017 BME Good 3 50 400 


Engine 677 Type 6 Engine 20o6 Ford Fair 3 50 150 


Quint Quint 2016 Pierce Good 5 2000 650 
 


These are the types of apparatus shown in the preceding figure: 


• Engine—Primaryresponse unitfrom each station for most types of service requests equipped 
with a pump and ability to carrywater. 


• Truck—A specialized apparatus used for structurefires, rescues, and other service requests 
equipped with long ladders, salvage, overhaul equipment, and rescue tools. 


• Tender—A vehicle used for fires in areas without fire hydrants that is designed to carry large 
quantities of water to a fire incident. 


• Wildland Engine—A smaller vehicle with a pump and water tank designed to be used for brush 
and grass fires in wildland areas. 


• HazMat—A vehicle that carries specialized equipment for useon hazardous materials 
emergencies. 


 
Apparatus Summary 
Generally, fire agencies utilize the guideline as follows to establish capital equipment replacement 
programs: 


 


• Engines: 15 years frontline and 5 years in reserve. 


• Wildland Engines: 15 years frontline and 5 in reserve. 


• Truck Companies: 15 years frontline and 5 to 10 years in reserve. 
 


The level of activity, topography, and other factors may influence these guidelines. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 15 


 


 


Review of Community Expectations 


ESCI gathered community attitudes about the Menlo Park Fire Protection District and its services bydirect 
interviews of stakeholders. ESCI completed 29 stakeholder interviews over a three-day period. Of the 29 
interviewees, these stakeholders represented the Fire District Board, City and County Administration, 
Community Members, Business Community, MPFPD Labor, Administrative Staff Members, Human 
Resources, Chief Officers, and the Fire Prevention Bureau. 


 


It is important to note that the information solicited and provided during this process was provided in the 
form of “individual inputs,” some of which are perceptions as reported bystakeholders. ESCI accepted all 
information at face value without an in-depth investigation of its origination  or  reliability.  The  project team 
reviewed the information for consistency and frequency of comment to identify specific patterns and 
trends. The observations included in this report were confirmed by multiple sources, or the information 
provided was significant enough to be included. Based on the information review, the team was able to 
identify a series of observations, recommendations, and needs that are included in this report. The 
stakeholder responses are summarized next. 


 
STAKEHOLDER INPUT 


 
Citizen and Business Community Members 
Describeyour expectationsofthe Fire District: 


• The Fire District should provide the community with an adequate responsetime. 
• Be fiscally responsible. 
• Have in place and follow, adequate and up-to-date policies and procedures. 
• Be responsible to the ratepayers. 
• Be transparent so that the public knows what is going on. 
• Provide well-trained personnel that are thoughtful of the community’s needs. 
• That the District’s website is informative, up-to-date, and provides the public an opportunity to 


fill outforms, communicate with the District, etc. 
• That the Fire District is well organized and attract the right people to bemembers. 
• Pleased with the direction the District is taking regarding accreditation and is aware of the 


Standards of Cover process. 
• Providethe highest level/full spectrum of emergency services while protecting life andproperty. 
• Be professional to the utmost degree. 


 
Whichofthese expectationsisnot met to yoursatisfaction? 


• None! All expectations are being met. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 16 


 


 


What do you thinkthe Fire District isdoing particularlywell? 


• Fiscal planning is excellent. 
• The growth of the District. 
• Impressed that the District is a multi-city jurisdiction. 
• East/West coverage. 
• The website is updated, providing new information and is relatively easy to find whatever you are 


looking for, including being able to search for aform. 
• Training is very good and is adapted to the Community. 
• Members are trained as FEMA Search & Rescue Task Force 3 and Swift Water rescue. 
• The District has the ability to obtain the appropriate equipment. 


 
Are there services that youthinkthe District shouldbeproviding that theyare not providing now? 


• Emergency Planning. 
• The District should be more involved in training the citizens to be better prepared for 


emergencies, i.e., Disaster Preparedness. 
• Improve community outreach. 


 
Are there services the District isproviding that youthinkshouldbediscontinuedordonedifferently? 


• Eliminate duplication of services provided by the City and Fire District; it is notcost-effective. 
• Improve the currentprocess for inspections; perception is that it is taking too long. 
• Members of the public have indicated there are too many fees charged by more than one agency. 


Possibly consider combining Fire, City, and Police fees. 
• Implement a policy or protocolthat governs whether or notthe District will pilot equipment/new 


technologywhen approached by vendors and or from an internal source. 
 


Whenyou dial 9-1-1 to report an emergency, how long should it take for help to arrive? 


• Immediately. 
• Seven minutes, 90% of the time; however, if someone is not breathing 7 minutes isn’t acceptable. 
• Feel comfortable that they will get there as quickly as they can. 


 
Does that expectation change dependingonwhereinthe communityyou are located? 


• No, it does not, and it should not. 
• Smaller quick-attack response units could decrease response time. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 17 


 


 


Administrative Support 
What strengthscontributeto thesuccessofthe Fire District? 


• The recruitment processes. 
• The District’s Rank and File, their training and skillsets. 
• The District’s current processes and procedures have resulted in the highest quality of workers in 


the District. 
• Training Division. 
• Good apparatus and rolling stock. 
• Quality skillsets in the office. 


 
What doesthe District do well? 


• Recruitment and Retention. 
• The Deputy Chief has buy-in fromthe line personnel. 
• The relationship with line personnel is comfortable. 
• The firefighters go the extra mile. 
• Living in this community is better because of our Safety Officer’s dedication. 


 
What are someareas inwhichyouthink the District couldmakeimprovements? 


• A Business Manager or position similar. 
• Strategic Planning. 
• The promotion or reclassifying process is focused on the individual rather than the position. 
• There is a diversity problem; 90% of our employees are Caucasian. 
• Explorer Program and Cadet Programs. 


 
What do you see as the top issuesfaced bythe Fire District today? 


• Reorganization of Administration. 
• Upgrade of the stations. 
• Succession Plan—lack of. 
• Growth Management/Vision/Traffic Management/etc. 
• Consensus of the “buy-in” 


 
If you couldchangeonething in the Fire District, what wouldit be? 


• Fire Board-Fire District leadership relations. 
 


Howwouldyoudescribe the level of services providedby the District inparticularbyyourdivisionor 
section? 


• Extremely high. 
• Everyone cares aboutwhat they are doing. 
• A solid “A” or “A-.” 
• We do very well; there is always room for improvement. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 18 


 


 


Chief Officers, Labor Leaders, Rank & File 
What strengthscontributeto thesuccessofthe Fire District, andwhat doesthe District do well? 


• Manages emergencies well. 
• Extremely strong Training Division. 
• Trains at a high level. 
• Provides a high level of service. 
• Responds well. 
• Deployment of apparatus and crews is strong. 
• Solid members in the crew. 
• The budget allows the District to attack a problem. Different fromother fire agencies, funding is 


not a problem. 
• The District fosters “Peer Review” and addresses issues before they get out of hand. 
• We are veryfortunate to attract and hire good people 


 
What are someareas inwhichyouthink the District couldmakeimprovements? 


• Succession planning. 
• Improved communication with the Fire Chief. 
• Gather together and stand true to our Mission Statement. 
• Overtime is causing members to be overworked. 
• A Strategic Plan is being prepared. At this point in time it is not adopted by the Board. 
• Leadership training and Officer Development is needed. 
• Improvement of communicating at the Senior  Management  level. 
• The strained  relationship  with all  jurisdictions including Atherton. 


 
What opportunities, fromyourviewpoint, areavailableinorder to improvethe District’sservicesand 
capabilities? 


• Increased training at the Officer-level should be addressed. 
• Consider developing an emergency management division and offer services to other agencies. A 


member of the District is highly qualified to create an Office of Emergency Services, manage training 
and exercises. 


• Revisit the joint (Menlo Park Fire Protection District & Menlo City Police Department) Emergency 
Operations Center concept to prepare for disasters. 


• Lookat creating a Succession Plan and/or reviewing our structure top to bottom; reprioritize 
programs considering the process of elimination, when necessary. 


• Complete a project before beginning a new one. 
• Focus on mentorship for leaders. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 19 


 


 


What challenges do you see in making thoseimprovements? 


• The District’s opportunities are endless; can we just focus on oneor two items, complete them 
before moving forward? 


• All ranks should get back into the Strategic Plan and learn it and do it. 
• Increase Public Education bygoing into theneighborhoods. 
• Consider developing a Community Classroom. Send a group of people into a neighborhood every 


weekend. Consider using Amazon’s door-to-door program. 
 


What do you see as critical issuesfacedby the Fire District today? 


• The Mechanical Division is understaffed, has no Succession Plan, and has only two full-time 
mechanics. 


• No set priorities. 
• Increasecommunication with the Fire Chief. 
• No County-wide HazMat team and no training for the County’s Chief officers. 
• Improve focus on what weare good at and whatwe wantto be; cannot do everything. 
• Relationship with the Town of Atherton. 
• A staffing model is needed for the east/west traffic. 
• Establish minimum daily staffing at 4 fire personnel. 
• Focus on hiring new hires that are already Paramedics. 
• Initiate Leadership training beginning at the Captain level. 
• Improve internal relationships—top to bottom. 
• A Management Staffing Study is needed. 
• A Long-Range Plan, a Fiscal Master Plan, and a Succession Plan. 
• Increased community engagement. 
• Fire Board cohesion. 


 
Fire District Board, City & County Manager(s) 
Describeyour expectationsofthe Fire District. 


• Good partnerships that include a boundary-drop arrangement. 
• Provide life and safety protection. 
• Educateand provide emergency preparedness. 
• Maintain an appropriate responsetime. 
• Maintain partnership with other departments, i.e., Police, etc. 
• Work with Public Works regarding traffic calming. 
• The Fire District should providethe best emergency response services our residents deserve. 
• View our residents as clients. 
• The Fire District needs to promote itself. 
• The Fire District needs to be innovative; think out of the box. 
• Provide excellent quality service at an efficient cost. 
• Cultivate high quality within the ranks while focusing on thefuture. 
• Adaptto the changing environment utilizing currenttechnology to improve the quality of 


services. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 20 


 


 


Which ofthese expectationsisnot being met to yoursatisfaction? 


• Would like to see quicker response time(s). 
• Need for more communityoutreach. 
• Promote the District better—community outreach. 
• Prepare for the future; several Officers will be retiring in the near future; no succession plan. 
• Focus on controlling costs and being more efficient. 
• The District is slow to adapt to changes in measuring how the changeaffects overall service. 
• The District seems to lack the capacity for “planning.” 


 
Are there services that youthinkthe Fire District shouldbeproviding that theyare not providing now? 


• There exists a desire to have the District providemore community engagement. 
• The Council wants more presence from the Fire District; there is no representation by the Fire 


District at their meetings. 
• There is a need to mutually invest in an Emergency Preparedness Plan. 
• Public Education is needed. 
• The Fire District should be more visible; more community outreach. Be visible and approachable. 
• District-based ambulance services. 


 
Whenyou dial 9-1-1 to report any emergency, how long should it take for thehelp to arrive? 


• 5 to 7 minutes 
• Less than 3 minutes; maybe longer on the west end. 
• As quick as the ambulance; no longer. 
• 6 to 8 minutes 


• 4 to 5 minutes, depending on the time of day. 
• As quickly as possible; pleased with currentresponse time(s). 


 
Does that expectation changedependingon where in the system service area youare located? 


• Yes. 
• More staging should be considered during peak hours. 
• There is a concern on the eastern side, that they will get there on time. 
• Possibly; consider measuring demand levels and staffing efficiency in order to provide the 


appropriate service within an appropriate timeframe. 
 


There are two deployment strategies for fire service resources. The first suggests that  all  residents of  the 
District should receive generally the same level of service (i.e., fire stations are spaced uniformly to 
equalize response time throughout the community). The other suggests  resources  should be  deployed to 
serve the next most-likely emergency to occur (the more populated an area, the more likely an emergency 
will occur). Onechoice tries tocreate as much equity in the delivery ofservice to all residents. The other 
will concentrate resources in areas with higher incident activity, leaving other areas with slower service. 
Whichstrategy do youthinkmakes the most sense for thecommunity? 


• Where the next likely event could occur. 
• Would like to see quick attacks—also known as “Peak hour units.” 
• The second option as long as there is a protocol in place. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 21 


 


 


Firedistrictshave no mandates for Disaster Preparedness. What are your expectations ofthe Fire 
District regarding Disaster Preparedness? 


• Fire and Policework together to get it accomplished. 
• There is an Emergency Operations Center within the Menlo Park Fire Protection District’s area of 


responsibility. There is an expectation that the District participate. 
 


Fire Prevention 
What strengthscontributeto thesuccessofthe Fire District? 


• Other strengths: Community support—being able to do what weare doing! 
• Small agency with several programs. 
• Healthy finances. 
• The level of service weprovide is exceptional! 


 
What doesthe District do well? 


• Continually providing a high level of service. 
• Task-driven  orientation  “get it done, get it done,” is  amazing. 


 
What are  someareas  inwhichyouthink the District  couldmakeimprovements? 


• Succession planning. 
• Receiving good Management Training. 
• Identify future Chiefs. 
• Currently overloaded with programs, projects, etc. Need some time to dwindle down to the 


basics. 
• Leadership Development. 
• Mission Statement and stick to it. 
• Identify primary objectives. 


 
What opportunities, fromyourviewpoint, areavailableto improvethe District’s service and 
capabilities? 


• Externally: Improverelationships with other governmental entities. 
• Consider liaison(s) that work with the cities we serve. We do not attend their meetings. 
• How do they get involved and have some presence? We need to find away. 


• Consider implementing an electronic plan submittal program, which is a City governmentmulti- 
use system. 


 
What do you see as the top critical issuesfacedbythe Fire District today? 


• Relationship with Atherton. 
• Getting a true Risk Assessment. 
• Evacuation Plan—the State is putting pressureon all communities to have the plan. 
• Pre-plan maps. 
• Investigations as well as vegetation mapping. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 22 


 


 


Howwouldyoudescribe the level of services providedby the District inparticularto your Division? 


• The process of modernization; weare better than most Prevention Bureaus. 
• On a 1 to 10 scoreboard, a“10.” 
• Plan reviews and inspections; turnaround time for inspections is 1 to 2 days! 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 23 


 


 


Community Risk Assessment 


There are numerous risk factors that can influence the types of services a communityrequires. 
 


Hazard identification is the process of recognizing the range of natural or human-caused events that 
threaten an area. Natural hazards result from uncontrollable, naturally occurring events such as flooding, 
windstorms, and earthquakes, whereas human-caused hazards result from human activity and 
technological hazards. An example of a technical hazard is an accidental hazardous materials release. 


 
Community risk is assessed based on several factors; service area population  and  its population  density, the 
demographics of the population served, local land use and development, and the geography and natural 
risks present within the community. These factors affect the number and type of resources—both personnel 
and apparatus—necessary to mitigate an emergency. Each of these unique factors presents its own unique 
challenges to the District. 


 
• Population density is a significant risk factor. In some parts of the jurisdiction, such as East Palo Alto, 


the number of single-family residential homes shared by multiple families is staggering. The number 
of persons living in a household is reported to be 3.91 persons compared to a California average of 
2.96 persons. 


• In parts of the District, traffic flow is severely impacted bycommuter traffic and narrow streets. 
• Language can be a barrier to emergency services. In East Palo Alto, over 70% of the population 


speak languages other than English at home (compared to a California average of40%). 
• The physical characteristics of the area and the resultant natural hazards are risk factors. Menlo Park 


is bordered on one side by a natural watershed and the other by wetlands and bay infill. The entire 
area has a significant risk of earthquakes and flash floods. The wildfire risk within Menlo Park Fire 
Protection District is low; however, the city is bordered by high wildfire risk to  the  east in the local 
mountains and hills. 


• Land use and zoning can also affect risk. Risk can be characterized as low (e.g., agricultural and low-
density housing); moderate (e.g., small commercial and office); or high (e.g.,  large commercial, 
industrial, and high-density residential). 


 


RISK CLASSIFICATION 


Based on the narrative descriptions of the various hazards found throughout the MPFPD response area, ESCI 
has developed anumerical ranking of community hazards using historical incident data, as well as an 
assessment of the community and its vulnerabilities. Community hazards were grouped into broad 
categories, as follows: 


• Structure Fires 
• Hazardous Materials 
• Non-structure Fires 
• Natural Hazards 


• EMS-Medical Assist 
• Technological Hazards 
• Rescue 
• Human Hazards 







PAGE 24 


Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover DRAFT REPORT Menlo Pak Fire Protection District CA 
 


 


Within each category, ESCI identified specific hazards and a probability (likelihood) score between zero 
(representing “Not Applicable”) and four (representing “Catastrophic”). Then, a severity score was 
developed for each of the subcategories using the same scale for impact and a reverse scale for 
preparedness and response. The overall scores were then used to generate a relative risk score  as  it applies 
to the MPFPD. The methodology of the Priority Risk Index (PRI) of categorical scoring is found in the 
following figure. The completed hazard vulnerability analysis, including relative community risk, is shown 
in the following figures.1 Details of each risk category are in Appendix A. 


 
Figure 9: PRI Score Categories 


Risk Factor 
Weighting 


Factor 
Index 
Value 


Level Criteria 


 
 


Probability 


 
 


45% 


1 Unlikely < 0.1% annual 


2 Possible 0.1–1.0% annual 


3 Likely 1–10% annual 


4 Highly Likely > 10% annual 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Magnitude 
Severity 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


30% 


 
 
 


1 


 
 
 


Negligible 


Negligible propertydamages, < 5% of critical and 
non-critical facilities and infrastructure. 
Injuries or illnesses treatable with first aid, no 
deaths. 
Negligible quality of life lost. 
Shut down of critical facilities for < 24 hours. 


 
 
 


2 


 
 
 


Limited 


Slightproperty damages > 5% and < 25% of critical 
and non-critical facilities andinfrastructure. 
Injuriesor illnessesno permanentdisability,no 
deaths. 
Moderate quality of life lost. 
Shut down of critical facilities > 1 day and < 1 week. 


 
 


3 


 
 


Critical 


Moderate property damages > 25% and < 50% of 
critical and non-critical facilities and infrastructure. 
Injuries/illnesses result in permanent disability, at 
least 1 death. 
Shut down of critical facilities > 1 week and 
< 1 month. 


 
 


4 


 
 


Catastrophic 


Severe property damages > 50% of critical and 
non-critical facilities and infrastructure. 
Injuries or illnesses result in permanent disability 
and multiple deaths. 
Shut down of critical facilities > 1 month. 


 
 


1 Based on reported NFIRS data January 01, 2016, to December 31, 2018, the San Mateo Hazard Mitigation Plan, personnel 
interviews, and onsitevisits. 







PAGE 25 


Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover DRAFT REPORT Menlo Pak Fire Protection District CA 
 


 


 


Risk Factor 
Weighting 


Factor 
Index 
Value 


Level Criteria 


 


Warning 
Time 


 
 


15% 


1 Long More than 24 hours 


2 Moderate 12 to 24 hours 


3 Short 6 to 12 hours 


4 Limited Less than 6 hours 


 
 


Duration 


 
 


10% 


1 Limited Less than 6 hours 


2 Short Less than 24 hours 


3 Moderate Less than 1 week 


4 Long More than 1 week 
Note: The highest possible PRIvalue is 4.0. 


 


Figure 10:  Hazard Risk Summary 
 Structure 


Fires 


Non- 
Structure 


Fires 


 
EMS 


 
Rescue 


 
Hazmat 


Natural 
Hazards 


Tech. 
Hazards 


Human 
Hazards 


 
Total 


Probability 100% 81% 100% 50% 50% 37% 47% 50% 55% 


Severity 63% 61% 42% 50% 58% 51% 64% 65% 57% 


Relative Risk 63% 50% 42% 25% 29% 19% 30% 33% 31% 


 
Figure 11: Relative Community Risk 


 
100% 


 
 


75% 
 
 


50% 
 
 


25% 
 
 


0% 
Structure Fires EMS-Medical Assist Hazmat Technological Hazards 


 
 


   Probability Severity 
 


ESCI also identified the following vulnerabilities specific to fire operations. Each is discussed in greater 
detail in the following pages. 


• Population Density 
• Physical Hazards 


• At-Risk Populations 
• Human-Caused Hazards 


  


 


    
 


    


 
 


Re
la


tiv
e 


Co
m


m
un


it
y 


Ri
sk


 







 


 


 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 27 


 


 


 


POPULATION DENSITY 


The United States Census Bureau classifies the Menlo Park Fire Protection District as an urban area, 
encompassing approximately 29 square miles. The estimated population of the District is 95,263, with an 
estimated population density from a low of 1,428 per square mile in Atherton to  a population  density high 
of 29,519 per square mile in East Palo Alto. This density, as compared to California’s average of 239 people 
per square mile, is significantly higher. 


 
The population in East Palo Alto is much more concentrated than the other cities and communities in the 
Fire District. High-density single-family neighborhoods characterize the City. Many of these 
neighborhoods have multiple families living in single residents. The areas displaying the highest population 
density correspond to the areas with the highest service demand illustrated in the Service Demand 
Analysis, while lower-density areas are generally found to have a lower servicedemand. 


 
Given the nature of commercial development within the MPFPD service area in the last few years, including 
the Facebook campus, the population density increases significantly during business and commuting hours. 
Still, it is appropriate  for planning  purposes to characterize the entire  area  as urban. To maintain 
consistency with well-established fire service classifications, MPFPD has chosen to use the population 
density classifications, as shown here. 


 
Figure 12: Population Densities Criteria 


 
Urban 


 
• Population over 30,000 people; and/or 
• Population density over 2,500 people per squaremile. 
• Significant commercial/industrial development, dense 


neighborhoods, and some mid-rise or high-rise buildings. 


 
Suburban 


 
• Population of 10,000 to 29,999; and/or 
• Population density between 1,000 and 2,500 people per squaremile. 
• Single/multi-family neighborhoods, smaller commercial 


developments. 


 
Rural 


 
• Population of less than 10,000 people; and/or 
• Population density less than 1,000 people per squaremile. 
• Low density residential, little commercial development, and 


significant farm or open spaceuses. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 28 


 


 


Figure 13: Study Area Population Density 


 
Figure 14: Population History, 2007–2018 


Year Atherton East Palo Alto Menlo Park Total MPFPD2 


2018 7,257 29,845 34,398 95,263 
2017 7,238 29,765 34,357 94,758 
2016 7,207 29,684 33,888 88,733 
2015 7,167 29,662 33,449 90,883 
2014 7,147 29,530 33,309 89,997 
2013 7,159 29,143 33,071 89,254 
2012 7,191 28,867 32,881 88,591 
2011 7,043 28,532 32,496 87,921 
2010 6,914 28,155 32,026 95,679 
2009 7,501 33,899 30,276 94,647 


 
 
 
 


 
2 Data provided from MPFPD includes the three incorporated cities shown and the unincorporated areas. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 29 


 


 


Figure 15: Demographics for the MPFPDService Area 
 


Category 
Number/% 


Atherton East Palo 
Alto Menlo Park MPFPD 


Average 
Geography (estimates) 


Population (2018) 7,257 29,845 34,398 95,263 
Land area in square miles, 2010 30 


Age and Sex (estimates) 
Persons under 5 years, 2017 5% 6.9% 8.1% 7.1% 
Persons under 18 years, 2017 21.7% 27.7% 25.6% 26.4% 
Persons 65 years and over, 2017 22.5% 6.4% 13.7% 10.6% 
Male persons, 2017 50.3% 50.6% 49.1% 49.8% 
Female persons, 2017 49.7% 49.4% 50.9% 50.1% 


Race 
Hispanic or Latino 5.3% 63.2% 15.4% 36.7% 
White alone 75.4% 34.4% 68.9% 53.5% 
Other Races or "two or more races" 4.3% 4.3% 4.8% 4.5% 


Population Characteristics 
Veterans, 2013–2017 306 526 1,141 3% 
Foreign born persons, 2012–2017 20.3% 42.5% 24.6% 32.5% 


Housing 
Owner-occupied housing unit rate, 
2013–2017 93.4% 36% 58.3% 49% 


Median value of owner-occupied 
housing units, 2013–2017 


$2,000,000+ $600,200 $1,764,600 N/A 


Median selected monthly owner costs—
with a mortgage, 2013–2017 $4,000+ $2,596 $4,000+ N/A 


Median selected monthly owner 
costs—without a mortgage, 2013–2017 $1,500+ $645 $1,028 N/A 


Median gross rent, 2013–2017 $3,500 + $1,613 $2,111 N/A 
Familiesand Living Arrangements 


Households, 2013–2017 2,320 7,534 11,861 21,715 
Persons per household, 2013–2017 2.87 3.91 2.75 3.25 
Living in same house 1 year ago, 
persons age 1 year+, 2013–2017 84.3% 89% 83.1% 85.7% 


Languageother than English spoken at 
home, persons age 5 years+, 2013–2017 20.6% 73.3% 31.4% 50% 


Education 
High schoolgraduate or higher, 
persons age 25 years+, 2013–2017 96.9% 68.1% 94.1% 82.4% 


Bachelor's degree or higher, persons 
age 25 years+, 2013–2017 77.9% 18.2% 70.7% 47% 



https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/salinascitycalifornia/RHI725217#qf-headnote-b





Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 30 


 


 


 


 
Category 


Number/% 


Atherton 
East Palo 


Alto Menlo Park 
MPFPD 
Average 


Health 
With a disability, under age 65 years, 
2012–2016 3.3% 4.9% 4.7% 4.7% 


Persons without health insurance, 
under age 65 years .8% 12.8% 3.4% 7.5% 


Economy 
In civilian labor force, total, population 
age 16 years+, 2013–2017 51.6% 73.1% 66.1% 68.9% 


In civilian labor force, female, 
population age 16 years+, 2013–2017 40.8% 68.3% 59.2% 62.9% 


Total retail sales, 2012 $92,604,000 $270,530,000 $438,222,000 $801,356,000 


Total retail sales per capita, 2012 $12,878 $9,372 $13,328 $11,859 
Transportation 


Mean travel time to work(minutes), 
workers age 16 years+, 2013–2017 24.5 24.5 25 24.67 


Income and Poverty 
Median household income (in 2017 
dollars), 2013–2017 $250,000+ $58,783 $132,928 N/A 


Per capita income in past 12 months (in 
2017 dollars), 2013–2017 $147,828 $22,068 $77,030 $82,309 


Persons in poverty 3.5% 13.7% 8.5% 10.7% 
Businesses 


All firms, 2012 622 1,527 5,491 7,640 
Women-owned firms, 2012 169 622 1,765 2,556 
Men-owned firms, 2012 362 841 2,700 3,903 
Minority-owned firms, 2012 85 1,226 1,172 2,483 
Nonminority-owned firms, 2012 492 247 3,661 4,400 
Veteran-owned firms, 2012 61 96 403 560 
Nonveteran-owned firms, 2012 500 1373 4414 6287 



https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/salinascitycalifornia/RHI725217#qf-headnote-b





Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 31 


 


 


AT-RISK POPULATIONS 


In addition to the distribution of residents, the demographics of the population can affect the amount of 
service demand, and the nature of risk within a community. In urban cities, several factors that place 
groups of people at risk have been identified. An NFPA report has identified the groups that face a higher 
risk of being injured or killed in a fire as follows:3 


• Children under 5 years of age 
• Older adults over 65 years of age 
• People with disabilities 
• Languagebarriers 
• People in low-income communities 


 
According to the 2017 Census Bureau estimate, a number of the residents within the MPFPD response 
area are in one or more at-risk population groups. These segments of the population are more likely to 
use fire department services, especially EMS, than other population groups. 


 
Age 


The United States average for children under 5 years of age is 8.1% of the population as compared to an 
average of 7.1% in MPFPD. Older adults over 65 years of age in the United States make up 13.7% of the 
population compared to 10.6% in MPFPD. Neither of the factors is significantly higher or lower than the 
national average. Regardless, both of these populations affect the service demand and present a 
community risk profile that is significant. 


 
Disabilities 


People under 65 years of age with disabilities make up 4.7% of the population. These people may have 
difficulty or be incapable of self-preservation during an emergency. Likewise, people under  65 years  of age 
with no health insurance are more prone to chronic illness or exhibit poor physical condition simply because 
they do not seek treatment promptly. Almost 7.5% of the population is under 65 and has no health 
insurance; thus, they may require a higher level of fire-rescue response. 


 
Low-Income 


Likewise, low-income people are more at risk from fire or medical condition; almost one-in-ten residents 
(or 10.7% of the total residents) are below the poverty level. The low-income category is often combined 
with other factors such as education, disability, and work status. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
3 National Fire Protection Association, 2007; Urban Fire Safety Project, Emmitsburg, MD; retrieved from 


http://www.nfpa.org/public-education/by-topic/people-at-risk/urban-fire-safety/reports-and-presentations. 



http://www.nfpa.org/public-education/by-topic/people-at-risk/urban-fire-safety/reports-and-presentations

http://www.nfpa.org/public-education/by-topic/people-at-risk/urban-fire-safety/reports-and-presentations





Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 32 


 


 


PHYSICAL HAZARDS 


Since 1965, the number of federally declared disasters in San Mateo County (20) is near average when 
compared to both the state (19) and national (16) averages.4 The cause for each of these declarations is 
shown in the next figure. Although most of these declarations did not affect MPFPD, they are  an  indication 
of the hazards present throughout the county. 


 
Figure 16: Federally Declared Disasters, Jan. 1965–Mar. 2018 


Type Type, Number Type, Percent 


Fire 1 6.7% 


Flood 4 26.6% 


Severe Storms 6 40% 


Coastal Storm, Hurricane 1 6.7% 


Freezing 1 6.7% 


Earthquake 1 6.7% 


Drought 1 6.7% 


Tsunami 0 0% 
Total 15 100.0% 


 
Earthquakes 
Earthquakes occur throughout California, but certain areas, including MPFPD, have a higher  probability of 
experiencing damaging ground motions caused byseismic activity. Since 1931, over 4,352 records exist of 
earthquakes within 30 miles of MPFPD.5 


 


The Menlo Park area has an earthquake index of 20.46. This compares very similarly to a California average 
of 20.8, but much higher than the national average of 1.81. A large percentage of the Menlo Park planning 
area’s population is located in a high shaking hazard area. A high-shaking hazard area is derived from the 
U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) seismic hazard map, which shows the distribution of earthquake shaking 
levels that have a certain probability of occurring. 


 
There are several active faults in San Mateo County, including the San Andreas fault lines. According to the 
San Mateo Hazard Mitigation Plan, the San Andreas Fault has a 21% chance of generating a magnitude 6.7 
or greater earthquake in the next 30 years.6 The risk of earthquake activity in  the Menlo Park area is 
significant. The probability of a 5.0 magnitude or greater earthquake within the next 50-years is 99.5%; the 
probability of a 6.0 is 91%.7 The largest earthquake within 30 miles of Menlo Park was a 6.1 magnitude in 
1984. 


 
 


 
4 FEMADisaster Declarations Summary—Open Government Dataset, U.S. Department of Homeland Security, last updated March 


5, 2018. Retrieved from: https://www.fema.gov/media-library/assets/documents/28318. 
5 Retrieved from: https://www.homefacts.com/earthquakes/California/San-Mateo-County/Menlo-Park.html. 
6 San Mateo County Hazard Mitigation Plan, July 2016. 
7 Retrieved from: https://www.homefacts.com/earthquakes/California/San-Mateo-County/Menlo-Park.html. 



http://www.fema.gov/media-library/assets/documents/28318

http://www.homefacts.com/earthquakes/California/San-Mateo-County/Menlo-Park.html

http://www.homefacts.com/earthquakes/California/San-Mateo-County/Menlo-Park.html





Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 33 


 


 


While no known faults are within the District limits, the Menlo Park area is vulnerable to seismic activity due 
to the presence of several active faults in the region. The closest and most prominent active fault is the San 
Andreas Fault, which is located about 2.5 miles west of Interstate 280. Several other faults in the region 
include the Monte Vista Fault, which lies roughly 3 miles to the south, the Hayward Fault, which  lies roughly 
13 miles to the east, and the Calaveras Fault, which is approximately 19 miles to the east. 


 


Most losses of life and injuries resulting from an earthquake occur in or near structures. The potential for 
damage and collapse of structures is greatest in the downtown area due to the high number of masonry 
buildings. Given the history of seismic activity, the Menlo Park area has adopted several state and local 
regulations and codes to reduce seismic risk. As examples, the communities located within MPFPD has 
identified unreinforced masonry structures in the area and adopted standards to ensure each will be 
brought up to current standards as building permits are requested for improvements. According to 
MPFPD, more than 99% of unreinforced masonry buildings in the Menlo Park area have been retrofitted  in 
this manner. 


 


Building on soils subject to liquefaction is another concern. Liquefaction has been responsible for 
tremendous amounts of damage in historical earthquakes around the world. Generally, liquefaction 
occurs in areas where moist, fine-grained, cohesionless sediment or fill materials are found. When an 
earthquake occurs in these areas, the sediment can temporarily lose its stiffness and turn into an almost 
liquid state. The areas near the bay area of the Fire District are the most susceptible to liquefaction. 


 


According to the 2010 San Mateo Hazard Mitigation Plan, the communities served by the MPFPD could 
have over $1.5 billion in damage after a 100-year probabilistic earthquake. This equates to almost 9% of 
the total infrastructurevalue in the service area. 


 
Historical Earthquake Events 


A total of 196 historical earthquake events that had recorded magnitudes of 3.5 or above were  found in or 
near the Menlo Park area.8 Of these, 17 of these measuring 5.0 or greater on the Richter Scale are shown in 
Figure 17.9 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
8 Retrieved from: http://www.usa.com/menlo-park-ca-natural-disasters-extremes.htm. 
9 Earthquakes that measure 6.0–6.9 on the Richter scale areconsidered to bestrong earthquakes (VIII to X on the Mercalli intensity 


scale) and are expected to result in damage to a moderate number  of well-built structures in populated areas. Earthquake- 
resistant structures survivewith slight to moderate damage. Poorly designed structures receive moderate to severe damage. 
Strong to violent shaking in the epicenter, felt in wider areas, up to hundreds of miles/kilometers away. 



http://www.usa.com/menlo-park-ca-natural-disasters-extremes.htm





Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 34 


 


 


Figure 17: Earthquakes Measuring 6.0 or Greater Within 50 Miles 


Distance (miles) Date Magnitude Depth (km) Latitude Longitude 


27.0 1911-07-01 6.6 N/A 37.25 -121.75 
26.9 1984-04-24 6.2 8 37.32 -121.7 
44.2 1979-08-06 5.9 6 37.1 -121.5 
21.6 1955-09-05 5.8 N/A 37.37 -121.78 
31.1 1980-01-24 5.8 8 37.83 -121.79 
19.9 1943-10-26 5.5 N/A 37.4 -121.8 
30.4 1980-01-27 5.4 10 37.75 -121.71 
34.3 1955-10-24 5.4 N/A 37.97 -122.05 
40.6 1964-11-16 5.3 N/A 37 -121.72 
45.8 1959-03-02 5.3 N/A 36.98 -121.6 
45.9 1954-04-25 5.3 N/A 36.93 -121.68 
48.5 1949-03-09 5.3 N/A 37.02 -121.48 
37.9 1967-12-18 5.2 N/A 37.01 -121.79 
47.6 1954-04-22 5.2 N/A 36.9 -121.68 
30.6 1980-01-24 5.1 3 37.8 -121.76 
34.1 1967-09-28 5 N/A 37.22 -121.62 
34.6 1967-09-28 5 N/A 37.22 -121.61 


 
Wildfires 
Like many fire jurisdictions in the Western United States, especially California, wildland fire risk is a factor 
in the MPFPD service area. The following figure uses CAL FIRE GIS data to examine wildland fire risk in 
and around MPFPD. This model produced by CAL FIRE considers vegetation, topography, weather, crown 
fire potential, and ember production and movement to summarize fire hazard zones as little to no risk, 
moderate, high, or very high. This figure demonstrates that most of  the District has a moderate risk of 
wildfire due to urbanization, but consideration should be given to any vacant areas with cured fuels 
(generally grass or shrubs). A very high wildfire risk characterizes the foothills located just outside of the 
District boundaries to the southwest. These foothills could readily burn butwill likely not result in a major 
threat to the jurisdiction (other than poor air quality or small spot fires near the boundaries closest to the 
foothills). 


 
The vast majority of the MPFPD is an urbanized community infilled with ornamental vegetation and season 
grasses. The greatest fire risk is that from within the community’s buildings in the urban area or smaller 
grass fires that may develop next to structures and spread to infrastructure before fire resources can arrive. 
Structural and automobile fires are the most common fire risks for residents of MPFPD. 


 


The Menlo Park Fire Protection District participates in State- and County-level mutual aid agreements, 
which provide additional resources to deal with wildland fire incidents. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 35 


 


 


Figure 18: MPFPD Study Area Wildland Fire Risk 


Severe Weather 
Tornadoes are created when warm, moist air near the ground interacts with cooler air above and rapidly 
increasing winds that change direction. Tornadoes are rare in California and even more so in the Menlo 
Park area: The expectation of a tornado in MPFPD is almost 10 times lower than the U.S. average. 


 


Since 1951, only two tornados have been recorded within 30 miles of Menlo Park. While both events 
caused some damage, only one of these events caused injuries when a tornado touched down in the 
Chevy Chase residential area of Sunnyvale, California, near Hwy 85. This storm survey indicates that 
damage to 15 homes and a large church occurred, and one woman was injured when struck by flying 
debris. The storm was well documented on a video shot bya person from their backyard. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 36 


 


 


Figure 19: Historical Tornado Activity 
Distance 


(miles) Date Mag. Start 
Lat/Long 


End 
Lat/Long Length Width Fatalities Injuries Prop. 


Damage 


7.3 1/11/1951 2 37°22'N/ 
122°07'W 


37°25'N/ 
122°02'W 


5.70 
Miles 


33 
Yards 


0 0 $2.5M 


10 5/5/1998 2 37°22'N/ 
122°02'W 


37°22'N/ 
122°02'W 


0.60 
Miles 


100 
Yards 0 1 $3.8M 


 
The following figure describes the various tornado intensities on the Enhanced Fujita Scale. 


 
Figure 20: Tornado Intensity, Enhanced Fujita Scale 


Designation Wind Speed, mph Typical Damage 


 


EF-0 


 


65–85 


Minor or no damage. Peels surface off some roofs; some damage 
to gutters or siding; branches broken off trees; shallow-rooted 
trees pushed over. Confirmed tornadoes with no reported damage 
(i.e., those that remain in open fields) are always rated EF-0. 


 
EF-1 


 
86–110 


Moderate damage. Roofs severely stripped; mobile homes 
overturned or badly damaged; loss of exterior doors; windows and 
other glass broken. 


 


EF-2 


 


111–135 


Considerable damage. Roofs torn off well-constructed houses; 
foundations of frame homes shifted; mobile homes completely 
destroyed; large trees snapped or uprooted; light-object missiles 
generated; cars lifted off the ground. 


 
 


EF-3 


 
 


136–165 


Severe damage. Entire stories of well-constructed houses 
destroyed; severe damage to large buildings such as shopping 
malls; trains overturned; trees debarked; heavy cars lifted off the 
ground and thrown; structures with weak foundations are badly 
damaged. 


 
EF-4 


 
166–200 


Devastating damage. Well-constructed and whole frame houses 
completely leveled; cars and other large objects thrown, and small 
missiles generated. 


 
 


EF-5 


 
 


> 200 


Extreme damage. Strong-framed, well-built houses leveled off 
foundations are swept away; steel-reinforced concret e structures 
are critically damaged; tall buildings collapse or have severe 
structural deform ations; some cars, trucks, and train cars can be 
thrown approximately 1 mile (1.6 km). 


 
Microbursts can cause devastation similar to  that caused by a  tornado, but the mechanism is  different. A 
microburst is a strong, small-scale downdraft of wind that hits the ground and spreads out; there is no 
rotation as there is with a tornado. Microbursts are frequently associated with strong thunderstorms. 


 
A macroburst is another form of straight-line winds similar to a microburst but spread out over a larger 
area. These damaging downdrafts do not occur very often in and around the Menlo Park area unless 
associated with significant and violent thunderstorms. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 37 


 


 


Seasonal Winds 
Generally, the Menlo Park area has mild winds (averaging 15.4 mph ) with the month of December having 
a sharp increase in wind speeds.10 Foehn winds can occur in the San Francisco Bay area in the form of Diablo 
Winds which occur in the spring and fall. Figure 21 shows typical seasonal winds. 


 
Figure 21: Menlo Park area Average Monthly Wind Speeds11 


 
Dam Failure 
Dam failure is ranked as the lowest concern in  the San  Mateo  County Hazard Mitigation  Plan. However, a 
dam failure would affect 10% of the population of the City of Menlo Park and almost 5% of the population 
of Atherton.12 Dam failure is a structural collapse of a dam that  releases  the water  stored  in the reservoir 
behind the dam. A dam failure is usually the result of the age of the structure, inadequate spillway capacity, 
earthquakes, erosion, design flaws, or water overflow during large storms. According to the San Mateo 
County Hazard Mitigation Plan, almost $1.5 billion in damages could occur during a  dam failure. 


 
Flood Risk 
In 1998, parts of East Palo Alto and Menlo Park experienced asignificant flood along the San Francisquito 
Creek. This event impacted more than 1,100 homes and businesses and caused more than $28 million in 
damages. Last year, significant improvements were completed along the creek to prevent futurefloods. 


 


All populations currently residing in sea-level rise inundation areas would be exposed to the hazard of the 
ocean levels increasing. It is unlikely that exposure would result in death or injury because the sea-level rise 
is expected to occur gradually over the years and decades; however, residents in these areas would need to 
relocate. According to the 2010 San Mateo Hazard Mitigation Plan, 11,725 East Palo  Alto residents and 
1,964 Menlo Park residents would be displaced by sea-level rise. 


 
 


 
10 Retrieved from: http://www.usa.com/menlo-park-ca-weather.htm. 
11 Retrieved from: http://www.usa.com/menlo-park-ca-weather.htm. 
12 This represents about 4,200 persons. 



http://www.usa.com/menlo-park-ca-weather.htm

http://www.usa.com/menlo-park-ca-weather.htm





Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 38 


 


 


The flood risk is moderate within the MPFPD boundaries. Besides the risks described in the two proceeding 
sections, much of the area adjacent to the coast is susceptible to floods. Figure 22 demonstrates that the 
jurisdiction is subject  to 100-year flood zones. Existing flood  infrastructure  must be regularly maintained 
to allow water runoff and distribution to pre-planned flood areas. Sea-level rise could also be a distant 
futureconcern along the MPFPD adjacent to the Bay Area. 


 
Figure 22: Flood Zones 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 39 


 


 


Extreme Heat 
Extreme heat is any period when the temperature is high enough that overexposure can cause distress, 
including injury, heat-related illness, or death to humans and animals. Related to temperature is the heat 
index—an indicator of how hot it feels based on actual temperature and humidity. The higher the  humidity, 
the hotter it feels due to the body’s inability to cool itself. The National Weather Service (NWS) publishes 
a Heat Index, shown in the next figure, to help local planners prepare for and mitigate  the effects of extreme 
temperatures.13 


 
Figure 23: NWS Heat Index 


 
While extreme temperatures are 
known to occur, prolonged heat 
waves in the Menlo Park area are 
rare, with a historical average of 
only four extreme heat days per 
year. Generally, the area is known 
for relatively mild temperatures, 
with a very low variation in 
seasonal monthly temperatures. 


 
 
 
 
 


Figure 24: Menlo Park Area Monthly Temperatures14 


 
 
 


 
13 U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Weather Service. 


http://www.nws.noaa.gov/om/heat/heat-images/heatindexchart.png. 
14http://www.usa.com/menlo-park-ca-weather.htm. 



http://www.nws.noaa.gov/om/heat/heat-images/heatindexchart.png

http://www.usa.com/menlo-park-ca-weather.htm





Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 40 


 


 


Drought 
Drought is any period of dry weather, characterized by insufficient rain to grow crops or replenish surface 
water supplies. Droughts are gradual and persistent with secondary impacts on wildfire, crop production, 
oil and gas production, and socio-economic impact. In recent years, much of California has been in a  severe 
drought. 


 
Last year there was asignificant recovery of the drought index. In fact, by August 2019, only a few locales 
in the southern San Joaquin Valley and the far southern part of the state remained in drought. The drought 
index changes quickly in California. In November 2019, the drought index in Figure 25 showed much of 
California in an “abnormally dry” (the lowest drought level on the index) state. 


 
Figure 25: U.S. Drought Conditions, December 3, 2019 


 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 41 


 


 


TECHNOLOGICAL (HUMAN-CAUSED) HAZARDS 


The most prominent technological, or human-caused hazards faced by residents of the Menlo Park Fire 
Protection District include transportation emergencies, structural fires, long-time power outages, and 
hazardous material releases. 


 
Transportation 
Transportation corridors provide necessary, but limited, access and egress for the District. The area lacks 
major highways that allow for the fast distribution of vehicles; instead, traffic must negotiate narrow 
streets. The configuration of the transportation system affects the response capability of emergency 
services. Limited access freeways and rail lines can interrupt street connectivity, forcing apparatus to 
negotiate a circuitous routeto reach an emergency scene. 


 
Roads 


Surface streets dominate the MPFPD service area. California State Route 101 is primarily a north-south 
highway with no major east-west connectors. The primary risk is related to over-the-road shipments of 
combustible and hazardous materials and vehicle accidents. 


 
The balance of the District’s service area has a mix of relatively well-interconnected street networks, but 
these streets are not designed for heavy traffic flows. Often, neighborhood streets are characterized by 
meandering roads and cul-de-sacs. 


 
Railroads 


Caltrain provides commuter rail service along the San Francisco Peninsula, through the South Bay to San 
Jose and Gilroy. The Caltrain rail line passes through MPFPD’s service area, which includes grade crossings. 
Caltrain maintains a passenger station in Menlo Park and one in Atherton that is active during weekends. 
This can create risks for train/vehicle collisions and mass casualty incidents in the event of a collision or 
derailment. 


 
A proposed Dumbarton rail-line has been in the planning stages for many years. Two segments of this rail-
line would cross through MPFPD. Segment A would utilize the existing two-track Dumbarton cut-off line as 
a single track system with centralized traffic control. This segment would include the proposed Willow Road 
and Redwood City (Second Avenue) stations. The Dumbarton Rail Corridor merges with the Peninsula 
Corridor in Redwood City at the Redwood Junction, which is a large wye roughly bounded by Middlefield 
Road, Woodside Road, El Camino Real, and Dumbarton Avenue. 


 
Segment B would reuse the existing line established for the Dumbarton Cut-off in 1910. It would be a single-
track line with two sidings, one industrial siding to serve the Cargill Salt Plant,  and  one future siding 
justeast of the Dumbarton Rail Bridge. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 42 


 


 


Figure 26: Rail Lines 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 43 


 


 


INFRASTRUCTURE PROTECTED 


Many buildings in the service area are used for purposes that create a more significant risk than others. 
High-occupancy buildings, facilities providing care to vulnerable populations, and others may require higher 
numbers of emergency response resources during an emergency. This section  draws  on information from 
MFPFD’s records and other sources. 


 
Target Hazards/Critical Infrastructure and Key Resources (CIKR) 
The definition of target hazards varies among jurisdictions. For continuity, ESCI uses the FEMA definition 
of target hazards as “facilities in either the public or private sector that provide essential products and 
services to the general public, are otherwise necessary to preserve the welfare and quality of life in the 
community, or fulfill important public safety, emergency response, and/or disaster recovery functions.”15 


 
Other buildings to consider listing as target hazards could include buildings with apotential for large loss of 
life—such as places of public assembly, schools and childcare centers, medical and congregate-care facilities, 
residential care facilities, multifamily dwellings, and high-rise office buildings—or those with substantial 
value to the community—economic loss, replacement cost, or historical significance—that, if damaged or 
destroyed, would have a significant negative impact. Responses to target hazards are expected to require 
a substantial number of MPFPD resources during an incident. The following  figure lists the inventory of 
critical facilities as provided by the District. ESCI purposely did not identify the location of these facilities in 
the interest of homeland security. Detailed  information  about  critical facilities is kept in the Emergency 
Operations Center. 


 
Figure 27: Critical Facilities 


Type Number 


Airport 0 


Communication Center 2 
Detention Center 1 


Emergency Command Center 0 
Emergency Operation Center 3 
Fire Department Stations 7 


Health Care Facilities 3 


Law Enforcement Facilities 5 


Maintenance Yards 3 


Residential Elderly Facilities 6 
Library 6 


Schools 9 


Public Utilities 15 
Total 60 


 
 


15 Community Risk Assessment: AGuide for Conducting a Community Risk Assessment, Version 1.5, John Stouffer for Vison 20/20, 
2016, page 12. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 44 


 


 


Occupancies can be classified, according to the risk level, as low-, medium-, or high-risk factors used in 
assigning a risk classification to an individual occupancy include the size of the building(s), construction 
type, the presence or absence of fire suppression features such as sprinklers and standpipes, the needed 
fire flow, the risk to life, the presence of chemicals and/or hazardous processes, and the amount of water 
available in relation to the needed fire flow. 


 


The ISO batch report lists the needed fire flow (the amount of water required to extinguish a fire if the 
building was fully involved) for every occupancy within MPFPD’s service area.  The following figure lists the 
properties with needed fire flows of 3,000 gallons per minute or greater. 


 
Figure 28: Buildings Requiring Fire Flow over 3,000 GPM or More 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 45 


 


 


Public Assembly 
Numerous buildings lie within the District in which large numbers of people gather for entertainment, 
worship, and such. A variety of nightclubs, theaters, and other entertainment venues exist. 


 


These facilities present additional risk, primarily for mass casualty incidents. Fire, criminal mischief, and 
potentially terrorism could cause a major medical emergency requiring significant emergency service 
resources. The following figure shows the locations of buildings identified as public assembly facilities 
within MPFPD’s service area. 


 
Figure 29: Public Assembly Facilities 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 46 


 


 


Schools 
The Menlo Park Elementary School District serves parts of Menlo Park, Atherton,  and  unincorporated San 
Mateo County. There are 2,930 students, preschool through 8th grade, enrolled in the four schools and the 
English Learning Center in the District. Menlo, Atherton, and East Palo Alto high school students are served 
by the Sequoia Union High School District annually serves 9th to 12th-grade students through its four 
distinguished comprehensive high schools, including Menlo-Atherton and a dependent charter school East 
Palo Alto Academy. 


 


Several private institutions also exist in the service area, including the Eastside College Preparatory school 
and the Mid-Peninsula High School. The following figure shows the locations of public and private K-12 
schoolfacilities inside or nearby the MPFPD area. 


 
Figure 30: K-12 School Locations 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 47 


 


 


The next figure shows the locations of daycares and preschools. 
 


Figure 31: Daycare and Preschools 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 48 


 


 


OTHER CRITICAL INFRASTRUCTURE 


In this section, ESCI discusses other types of infrastructure critical to a community in general terms. It is 
important that the District plan for emergencies at anyof these facilities. 


 


Communications 
Emergency communication centers and the associated transmitting and receiving equipment  are essential 
facilities for emergency response. The San Mateo County Office of Public Safety Communications 
dispatches the Menlo Park Fire Protection District. This communication center is equipped with a state-of-
the-art computer-aided-dispatch system and has the primary responsibility to receive and process 9-1-1 calls 
for service and coordinate the response of emergency equipment and personnel. 


 
The communication center staffs full-time dispatchers supplemented by professional firefighters. It 
provides emergency fire and medical dispatch service for the entire County, dispatching for 24 agencies 
(including 12 different fire agencies), one paramedic ambulance provider (AMR) as well as coordinates 
dispatch services for 11 other agencies. 


 
The communication center is well prepared to answer calls from callers who speak various worldwide 
languages. The State of California provides transfer numbers for translation services for 9-1-1 telephone 
calls in foreign languages (Spanish, Vietnamese, and Mandarin Chinese) or via  telecommunications devices 
for the deaf. 


 
There are other communication facilities and equipment that are equally important to the community  and 
government operations. These are the telephone company central offices and the transmission lines of 
local telephone service providers. Internet service providers, along with wireless  cellular communication 
providers, provide essential communication capabilities for the community as well as emergency 
personnel through their facilities and equipment. 


 
Energy 
Previously discussed community services, from communications to traffic signals to normal operations, 
require the use of energy. Whether it is electricity generation and transmission systems, fuel distribution 
and storage tanks, or natural gas pipelines and regulator stations, the community is dependent upon 
energy sources. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 49 


 


 


Water Distribution 
The most obvious concern to the fire department is the water reservoir, water main, and fire hydrant 
system. Providing enough storage, distribution, and access to this valuable firefighting resource through 
well-distributed fire hydrants is very important. As shown in the next figure, hydrants are generally well- 
distributed through portions of the area; however, it should benoted that many areas lack the necessary 
fire flow to supportcurrentinfrastructure, let alone futuredevelopments. 


 


Several water districts and systems exist in the MPFPD service area. 
 


Menlo Park Municipal Water provides water to approximately 16,000 residents through 4,000 service 
connections within two service areas: the Upper Zone (providing water to the Sharon Heights area) and 
the Lower Zone (providing water to areas east of El Camino Real). 


 


The American Water Enterprises supplies 3,985 connections and 26,000 residents in East Palo Alto. 
 


The California Water Service provides service through its Bear Gulch District. This district is in southern San 
Mateo County and serves the communities of Atherton, Portola Valley, Woodside, parts of Menlo Park, 
parts of unincorporated Redwood City, and adjacent unincorporated portions of  San  Mateo County, 
including West Menlo Park, Ladera, North Fair Oaks, and Menlo Oaks. 


 
O’Connor Tract Co-operative Water Company is a non-profit organization founded to supply water to 
certain areas of East Palo Alto and Menlo Park. The company serves 343 connections, of which 37 are 
apartment buildings. 


 


The Palo Alto Mutual Water Company serves a few residents in the District. The Palo Alto Park Mutual 
Water Company is a privately held companyserving about 680 connections in the MPFPD. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 50 


 


 


Figure 32: Fire Hydrants 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 51 


 


 


STRUCTURAL RISKS 


Certain buildings, their contents, functions, and size present a greater firefighting challenge and require 
special equipment, operations, and training. ESCI drew information for this section from MPFPD records 
and the Insurance Services Office(ISO) database. 


 
Very Large Homes 
Within the Town of Atherton and other areas of the District, there exists a significant number of very large 
homes. For years these homes—some the size of commercial buildings—were built without the benefit of 
fire sprinkler systems. Many of these homes have large basements, also not protected with fire sprinkler 
systems. Basements, because of limited accessibility, present a uniquehazard to firefighters. 


 
In 2007, the District implemented a District-wide residential sprinkler ordinance. Since the implementation 
of the ordinance, all new homes are protected with fire sprinkler systems greatly minimizing the risk to 
occupants and firefighters. However, a significant inventory of these large, unprotected homes still exists. 


 
Hazardous Materials 
Buildings that have been identified as containing hazardous materials can create a dangerous environment 
for the community as well as the firefighters during a spill or fire. Special equipment, such as protective 
clothing and sensors, along with specialized training, are necessary to mitigate a hazardous materials 
incident successfully. Any location that has on-site, for any day in a  calendar year, an  amount of a 
hazardous chemical equal to or greater than the following threshold limits established by the EPA must file 
information, known as Tier II reports, about each material and the on-site amount with local authorities, 
planning committees, and the State’s Emergency Response Commission under the Emergency Planning 
and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986 (EPCRA), commonly known as SARA Title III: 


• Ten-thousand pounds for hazardous chemicals 
• Lesser of 500 pounds or the threshold planning quantityfor extremely hazardous substances 


 
The State of California established a five-tiered program for authorizing the treatment and storage of 
hazardous waste at many businesses required to have State authorization, but not federal authorization 
(i.e., authorization under the federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act or RCRA). The  Department 
of Toxic Substance Control (DTSC) regulates Full and Standardized Permitted facilities, and San Mateo 
County Environmental Health Services Division  regulates  facilities  in  the  lower  tiers:  Permit by Rule (PBR), 
Conditionally Authorized (CA), and Conditionally Exempt(CE). 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 52 


 


 


According to the San Mateo County Health Department, there are 964 facilities in the Menlo Park Fire 
Protection District area with Extremely Hazardous Substances (EHS); these EHS include only the 356 
chemicals listed under Section 302 of the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act. Most 
of these facilities store large amounts of ammonia; the following figure shows the location of those facilities. 
In addition to facilities with EHS, many Tier II facilities exist (not shown in the figure) that are required to have 
Safety Data Sheets (SDS) for products stored on site. Most of these facilities store crop management 
products—fertilizers, insecticides, and weed control. Normally, SDS are available both on- site and on the 
company’s website. 


 
Figure 33: Hazardous Material Tier II Locations 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 53 


 


 


Buildings Three or More Stories in Height 
The Insurance Services Office calls for a ladder truck within 2.5 miles of developed areas containing 
buildings three or more stories in height. Accessing the upper floors and roofs of buildings this tall typically 
requires ladder truck capability as ground ladders may not provide access. The following figure shows the 
locations of buildings that are three to more stories in height. 


 
Figure 34: Buildings Three or More Stories in Height 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 54 


 


 


Large Square Footage Buildings 
Large buildings, such as warehouses, malls, and large “box” stores, require greater volumes of water for 
firefighting and require more firefighters to advance hose lines long distances into the building. The 
following figure shows the locations for buildings 100,000 squarefeetand larger. 


 
Figure 35: Buildings 100,000 Square Feetand Larger 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 55 


 


 


COMPARISON OF FIRE RISK IN OTHER COMMUNITIES 


Using the information provided by MPFPD, recent NFPA reports, and other sources, ESCI compared fire 
risk in the District with fire risk of communities of comparable populations across the U.S. and in the 
Western Region. ESCI based the information contained in this section on the latest data reported to the 
NFPA and other sources. As such, the information does not reflect recommended rates or some 
definedfire protectionstandard, and is provided for illustrative, benchmark purposes only. 


 
For additional context, United States fire departments responded to an estimated 1,319,500 fires in 2017. 
These fires resulted in 3,400 civilian fire fatalities, 14,670 civilian fire injuries, and an estimated $23 billion in 
direct property loss (this figure includes a$10 billion loss in Northern California wildfires). There was a 
civilian fire death every 2 hours, 34 minutes, and acivilian fire injury every 36 minutes in 2017. Home fires 
caused 2,630, or 77%, of the civilian fire deaths. 


 
Figure 36: Fire Losses by Region and Size of Community, 2017 


Community Size 
150,000–199,999 


Number of Fires 
Per Thousand 


Population 


Property Loss 
Per Capita 


Menlo Park Fire Protection District 1.8 $28.75 


West 2.3 $46.9016 


U.S. 3.1 $42.20 
 


In smaller communities, even a single fire death can greatly affect the number of deaths per million 
population. Therefore, this large number should be considered in that context. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
16 West and U.S. data retrieved from“Fire Loss in the United States” October 2018, NFA. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 56 


 


 


Arson 
As a District, MPFPD nearly matches the national average of arson as measured per 100,000 population. 
However, when broken into cities, East Palo Alto has generally exceeded the average. This  high arson  rate 
in East Palo Alto greatly raises the average of the entirety of the District. 


 
Figure 37: Arson Rate per 100,000 Population17 


 
Adjusted Atherton Adjusted Menlo Park Adjusted East Pa lo Alto MPFPD Avera ge US Avera ge 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
17 Retrieved fromthe FBI crimedatabase found at https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2017/crime-in-the-u.s.-2017/topic- 


pages/arson. 


13
.7


 
9.


1 
0 


13
.7


 
15


.6
 


0 0 
20


.4
 


6.
8 


15
.3


 


13
.9


 
3 


30
.1


 
23


.9
 


14
.9


 


0.
1 


14
.8


 
43


.4
 


14
.6


 
15


.2
 


0.
1 


0 
26


.7
 


9 
13


.2
 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 57 


 


 


ISO Fire Protection Class Rating 
The Insurance Services Office (ISO), a subsidiary of Verisk Analytics, is a national data analytics provider 
that evaluates fire protection for communities across the country. According to ISO’s Public Protection 
Classification program, or PPC, its rating “is a proven and reliable predictor of futurefire losses.” All other 
factors being equal, commercial property insurance rates are expected to be lower in areas with lower 
(better) ISO PPC Class rating. 


 


At the time of the most recent ISO survey, the ISO Fire Suppression Rating Schedule (FSRS) measured three 
primary elements of a community’s fire protection system: Emergency Communications (max 10 points); 
Fire Department (max 50 points); and Water Supply (max 40points). In addition, the ISO grants 
5.5 points for Community Risk Reduction activities for a maximum possible total of 105.5 points. After the 
points are accumulated, the ISO then assigns agrade using ascale of 1 to 10, with Class 1 representing the 
highest level of fire protection, and Class 10 is a fire suppression program that does not meet ISO's minimum 
criteria. 


 
In 2014, the Menlo Park Fire Protection District was assigned an ISO rating of Class 2. MPFPD is one of 153 
communities out of 895 communities surveyed across the State to achieve a Class 2 rating and ranks in the 
top quartile of all communities surveyed, as shown in the following figure. 


 
Figure 38: Comparison of ISO Class Ratings, California 


250 
 
 


200 
 
 


150 
 
 


100 
 
 


50 
 
 


0 


212 


183 


153 151 


63 


34 
41    


31 
17 


1 9 


Cl
as


s 
1 


Cl
as


s 
2 


Cl
as


s 
3 


Cl
as


s 
4 


Cl
as


s 
5 


Cl
as


s 
6 


Cl
as


s 
7 


Cl
as


s 
8 


Cl
as


s 
8B


 


Cl
as


s 
9 


Cl
as


s 
10


 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 58 


 


 


Historic System Response Workload 


Before ESCI conducts a full response-time analysis, it is essential to first examine the level of workload 
(service demand) that the fire department has experienced. Higher service demands can strain the 
resources of a department and can result in a negative effect on response-time performance. 


 


The following figure shows the response workload for the last 10 years. The total response workload has 
increased by 17.9% over the 10 years, primarily driven by the increase in emergency medical responses. As 
of 2018, MPFPD has a population of 95,263. The community utilization rate of District services was 
91.7 incidents per 1,000 population. 


 
Figure 39: Response Workload History, 2009–2018 


 


10000 


9000 


8000 


7000 
6000 


5000 


4000 


3000 


2000 
1000 


0 
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 


 


 
 


The next figure shows responses by type of incident in 2018. Emergency medical type responses (EMS 
and motor vehicle accidents) are the most common at 65.3% of total responses. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 59 


 


 


Figure 40: Responses by Type of Incident, 2018 


 
EMS 


65.30% 
 
 
 
 


Overpressure 
0.08% 


Fire 
1.98%  Other 


0.10% 


Falsealarm 
9.92% 


Good 
intent 
9.47% 


Public assist 
10.94% 


 
 
 
 


Hazard 
2.21% 


 
 
 
 


 
TEMPORAL ANALYSIS 


A temporal analysis also reveals when the greatest response demand is occurring. The following figures 
show how activity and demand change for MPFPD by month of the year, day of the week,  and  time  of the 
day. The following figure shows response activity during 2016, 2017, and 2018 (the study period) by month. 
There is little variation by month. 


 
Figure 41: Monthly Response Workload, 2016–2018 


 
800 


 
700 


600 


500 


400 


300 


200 


100 
 


0 
Jan    Feb     Mar   Apr   May   Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 


2016 2017 2018 


In
ci


de
nt


s 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 60 


 


 


Next, response workload is compared by the day of week. Again, there is little variation in response 
workload byday of the week. 


 
Figure 42: Daily Response Workload, 2016–2018 


 
1400 


 
1200 


 
1000 


 
800 


 
600 


 
400 


 
200 


 


0 
Sun Mon  Tue  Wed  Thu Fri Sat 


2016 2017 2018 
 


The time analysis that always shows a significant variation is response activity by the hour of day.  Response 
workload directly correlates with the activity of people, with workload increasing  during daytime hours and 
decreasing during nighttime hours, as shown  in  the following figure. Incident activity is at its highest 
between 9:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m. 


 


Figure 43: Hourly Response Workload, 2016–2018 


600 


 
500 


 
400 


 
300 


 
200 


 
100 


 
0 


0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 
2016 2017 2018 


In
ci


de
nt


s 
In


ci
de


nt
s 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 61 


 


 


SPATIAL ANALYSIS 


In addition to the temporal analysis, it is useful to examine the geographic distribution of service demand. 
The following figures indicate the distribution of emergency incidents in MPFPD during 2018. 


 


The first figure displays the number of incidents per square mile within various parts of the District. 
 


Figure 44: Incidents per Square Mile, 2018 


 
The preceding figure reflects all calls within the District. Service demand can vary by area based on 
incident type. The following figure displays the location of fires occurring within the MPFPD service area 
during 2018. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 62 


 


 


Figure 45: Fires, 2018 


 
The following figure illustrates building fires bythe hour of day during the study period. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 63 


 


 


Figure 46: Building Fires by Hour of Day, 2016–2018 
 


7 
 


6 
 


5 
 


4 
 


3 
 


2 
 


1 
 


0 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 


Hour 


Bu
ild


in
g 


fir
es


 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 64 


 


 


Similarly, emergency medical incidents also occur in greater concentration in areas of higher population 
density. The following figure displays emergency medical incidents per square mile during 2018. Incident 
concentration follows population density. 


 
Figure 47: EMS Incidents per Square Mile, 2018 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 65 


 


 


EMS response workload also varies by the hour of day. The following figure illustrates EMS incidents by 
the hour during the studyperiod. It closely follows the total workload bythe hour of day. 


 
 
 


1200 


 
1000 


 
800 


 
600 


 
400 


 
200 


 
0 


Figure 48:  EMS  Incidents by Hour of Day, 2016–2018 
 


 


 
 
 


0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 
Hour 


EM
S 


in
ci


de
nt


s 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 66 


 


 


UNIT WORKLOAD ANALYSIS 


A review of workload by response unit can reveal much about response-time performance. Although fire 
stations and response units may be distributed in a manner to provide quick response, that level of 
performance can only be obtained when the response unit is available in its primary service area. If a 
response unit is already on an incident and a concurrent request for service is received, a more distant 
response unit will need to be dispatched. This will increase responsetimes. 


 
Response Unit Workload 
The workload on individual response units during the study period is shown in the following figure. The 
individual response unit workload can be greater than the workload in its home station area. Many 
incidents, such as structure fires, require more than one response unit. Engine 2 is the busiest engine in the 
system. In January 2019, the District placed a second truck  in  service  at  Station  2  and  moved Rescue 2 to 
Station 77 as Rescue 77. 


 
Figure 49: Response Unit Workload, 2016–2018 


 
BC1 


E1 


E2 


E3 


E4 


E5 


E6 


E77 


R2 


T1 


0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500 3000 
Responses 


 
The amount of time a given unit is committed to an incident is also an important workload factor. The 
following figure illustrates the average time each unit was committed to an incident, from initial dispatch 
until it was available for another incident. 


 


 


 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 67 


 


 


Figure 50: Average Time Committed to an Incidentby Unit, 2016–2018 


Unit 2016 2017 2018 


BC1 15:53 17:55 16:28 
E1 19:51 19:32 19:38 
E2 23:26 20:49 20:03 
E3 18:49 21:31 20:02 
E4 20:18 22:12 23:03 
E5 19:42 20:40 20:41 
E6 18:51 20:40 20:11 
E77 19:15 18:17 17:44 
R2 N/A 18:57 20:20 
T1 14:13 15:26 14:34 


 
Unit-hour utilization  (UHU)  is an important workload indicator. It is calculated by dividing the total time   a 
unit is committed to all incidents during a year divided by the total time in a year. Expressed as a percentage, 
UHU describes the amount of time a unit is not available for response because it is already committed to 
an incident. The larger the percentage, the greater a unit’s utilization, and the less available it is for 
assignment to an incident. 


 
UHU is an important statistic to monitor for those fire agencies using percentile-based performance 
standards, as does MPFPD. In MPFPD’s case, where performance is measured at the 90th percentile, a 
response unit with greater than 10% utilization will not be able to provide an on-time response to its 90% 
target even if response is its only activity. Engine 2 is very near 10% utilization. 


 
Figure 51: Unit-Hour Utilization, 2016–2018 


 
BC1 


E1 


E2 


E3 


E4 


E5 


E6 


E77 


R2 


T1 


0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 
Unit Hour Utilization 


2018 


2017 


2016 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 68 


 


 


POPULATION AND INCIDENT WORKLOAD PROJECTIONS 


The most significant predictor of future incident workload is population; 100% of requests for emergency 
medical services are people-driven. The National Fire Protection Association reports that approximately 
70% of all fires are the result of people either doing something they should not have (i.e., misuse of an ignition 
source) or not doing something they should have (i.e., failure to maintain equipment). It is reasonable to 
use forecast population growth to predict future fire department response workload. 


 
The current utilization rate for fire department services is 91.7 incidents per 1,000 population. This is 
comparable to similar-sized communities. The total utilization rate has increased by 2% per year over the 
past 10 years. The following figure illustrates thatgrowth. 


 


Figure 52: Service Utilization Rate, 2009–2018 


120 
 


100 
 


80 


 
60 


 


40 
 


20 
 


0 
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 


 
If the utilization growth rate of the past 10 years continues, the total utilization rate could reach 120.7 
incidents per 1,000 population by 2040. The increased utilization rate, plus expected population growth, 
could increase the MPFPD’s workload to over 12,700 incidents per year by 2040, driven primarily by 
requests for emergency medical services. 


U
til


iz
at


io
n 


ra
te


 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 69 


 


 


Critical Tasking and Alarm Assignments 


The MPFPD service area is a highly populated urban environment and, as such, contains an elevated 
number, density, and distribution of risk. As the actual or potential risk increases, the need for higher 
numbers of personnel and apparatus also increases. With each type of incident and corresponding risk, 
specific critical tasks need to be accomplished, and certain numbers and types of apparatus should be 
dispatched. 


 


Tasks that the District must perform at a fire can be broken down into two key components: life  safety and 
fire flow. Life safety tasks are based on the number of building occupants, and their location, status, and 
ability to take self-preservation action. Life safety-related tasks involve the search, rescue, and evacuation 
of victims. The fire flow component involves delivering sufficient water to extinguish the fire and create an 
environment within the building that allows entry byfirefighters. 


 
The number and types of tasks needing simultaneous action will dictate the minimum number of 
firefighters required to combat different types of fires. In the absence of adequate personnel to perform 
concurrent action, the commanding officer must prioritize the tasks and complete some in chronological 
order, rather than concurrently. Thesetasks include the following: 


 
• Command 
• Scene safety 
• Search and rescue 
• Fire attack 
• Medical assistance 


• Water supply 
• Pump operation 
• Ventilation 
• Backup/rapid intervention 


 
Critical task analyses also apply to non-fire-type emergencies, including medical, technical rescue, and 
hazardous materials emergencies. Numerous simultaneous tasks must be completed to control an 
emergency effectively. The District’s ability to muster needed numbers of trained personnel quickly 
enough to make a difference is critical to successful incident outcomes. 


 
The following figure illustrates the minimum emergency incident staffing recommendations of the 
Commission on Fire Accreditation International (CFAI). Thefollowing definitions apply to the figure: 


• Low Risk: Minor incidents involving small fires (fire flow less than 250 gallons per minute), 
single patient non-life-threatening medical incidents, minor rescues, small fuel spills, and 
small wildland fires without unusualweather or fire behavior. 


• Moderate Risk: Moderate-risk incidents involving fires in single-family dwellings and 
equivalently sized commercial office properties (fire flow between 250 gallons per minute to 
1,000 gallons per minute), life-threatening medical emergencies, hazardous materials 
emergencies requiring specialized skills and equipment, rescues  involving  specialized  skills 
and equipment, and larger wildland fires. 


• High Risk: High-risk incidents involving fires in larger commercial properties with sustained 
attack (fire flows more than 1,000 gallons per minute), multiple patient medical incidents, 
major releases of hazardous materials, high-risk rescues, and wildland fires with extreme 
weather or fire behavior. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 70 


 


 


Figure 53: Staffing CFAI Recommendations Based on Risk 


Incident Type High 
Risk 


Moderate 
Risk 


Low 
Risk 


Structure Fire 29 15 6 
Emergency MedicalService 12 4 2 
Rescue 15 8 3 
Hazardous Materials 39 20 3 


 
The MPFPD has developed the following Critical Task Analysis using the risk matrices included in the 
Critical Task Section for various incident types. Further, it has defined, based on current unit staffing 
levels, the number and type of apparatus needed to deliver sufficient numbers of personnel to meet the 
critical tasking identified. ESCI’s review of the Critical Task Analysis concludes that all are generally in 
keeping with industry standards and provide the minimum number of personnel needed for effective 
incident operations. 


 
Establishing resource levels needed for various types of emergencies is a uniquely local decision. Factors 
influencing local decisions for incident staffing include the type of equipment operated, training levels of 
responders, operating procedures, geography, traffic, and the nature of buildings and other risks protected. 


 
CRITICAL TASKING 


Critical tasks are those activities that must be conducted early on and in  a timely manner by firefighters  at 
emergency incidents in order to control the situation, to stop loss, and to perform necessary tasks required 
for a medical emergency. MPFPD is responsible for assuring that responding companies are capable of 
performing all of the described tasks in a prompt, efficient, and safe manner. These are the minimum 
number of personnel needed by incident type. More personnel will be needed for incidents of increased 
complexity or size. 


 
Figure 54: Structure Fire 


Task Numberof Personnel 


Command 1 
Safety 1 
Pump Operations 4 
Attack Line 4 
Backup Line 4 
Search and Rescue 2 
Ventilation 2 
RIT 3 


Total 21 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 71 


 


 


Figure 55: High-Rise Structure Fire (75+ Feetin Height) 


Task Numberof Personnel 


Command/Safety 3 
Pump Operations 2 
Attack Line 6 
Search and Rescue 4 
Ventilation 4 
RIC 3 
Backup Line 5 


Total 27 
 
 


Figure 56:  Wildland Fire—Low Risk 


Task Numberof Personnel 


Command/Safety 1 
Pump Operation/Lookout 3 
Attack Line 4 
Exposure 2 


Total 10 
 
 


Figure 57:  Wildland Fire—High Risk 


Task Numberof Personnel 


Command 2 
Safety 1 
Pump Operations/Lookout 6 
Attack Line 6 
Structure Protection/Exposures 6 
Water Supply 2 


Total 23 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 72 


 


 


Figure 58:  Hazardous  Materials—Low Risk 


Task Numberof Personnel 


Command 1 
Liaison 1 
Decontamination 4 
Research/Support 2 
Entry Team and Backup Team 6 


Total 14 
 
 


Figure 59:  Hazardous  Materials—High Risk 


Task Numberof Personnel 


Command 1 
Safety 1 
Decontamination 3 
Research Support 2 
Team Leader, Safety, Entry 
Team, and Backup Team 6 


Total 13 
 
 


Figure 60: Emergency Medical Aid (Life Threatening) 


Task Numberof Personnel 


Patient Management 1 
Patient Care 4 
Documentation 1 


Total 6 
 
 


Figure 61: Major Medical Response (10+ Patients) 


Task Numberof Personnel 


Incident Command 1 
Safety 1 
Triage 3 
Treatment Manager 1 
Patient Care 4 
Transportation Manager 1 
Documentation 1 


Total 12 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 73 


 


 


Figure 62: Motor Vehicle Accident(Non-Trapped) 


Task Numberof Personnel 


Scene Management/Documentation 1 
Patient Care/Extrication 2 


Total 3 
 
 


Figure 63: Motor Vehicle Accident(Trapped) 


Task Numberof Personnel 


Command 1 
Safety 1 
Patient Care 3 
Extrication/Vehicle Stabilization 4 
Pump Operator/Suppression Line 1 


Total 10 
 
 


Figure 64: Technical Rescue—Water 


Task Numberof Personnel 


Command/Safety 1 
Rescue Team 3 
Backup Team 3 
Patient Care 1 
Rope Tender 3 
Upstream Spotter 1 
Downstream Safety 2 


Total 14 
 
 


Figure 65: Technical Rescue—Rope 


Task Numberof Personnel 


Command/Safety 2 
Rescue Team 4 
Backup Team 4 
Patient Care 2 
Rope Tender 2 


Total 14 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 74 


 


 


Figure 66: Technical Rescue—Confined Space 


Task Numberof Personnel 


Command/Safety 3 
Rescue Team 4 
Documentation 1 
Monitoring 1 
Backup/Support Team 3 
Patient Care 3 
Rope Tender 4 


Total 19 
 


ALARM ASSIGNMENTS 


To ensure sufficient personnel and apparatus are dispatched to an emergency event, the following first 
alarm response assignments have been established. “Total Staffing Needed” is the number identified in 
the previous Critical Tasking Analysis. The number of personnel and apparatus required to mitigate an 
active and complex working incident will require additional resources above and beyond the numbers 
listed next. With currently available resources, MPFPD is able to staff a number of incident types in 
accordancewith its Critical Tasking Analysis. 


 
Figure 67: Structure Fire 


Unit Type Numberof Units Total Personnel 


Engine 5 15 
Truck 1 4 
Air Supply 0 0 
Battalion Chief 2 1 
Total Staffing Provided  21 
Total Staffing Needed  22 


 
 


Figure 68: High-Rise Structure Fire (75+ Feet) 


Unit Type Numberof Units Total Personnel 


Engine 5 15 
Truck 2 8 
Air Supply 0 0 
Battalion Chief 3 3 
Total Staffing Provided  24 
Total Staffing Needed  26 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 75 


 


 


Figure 69:  Wildland Fire—Low Risk 


Unit Type Numberof Units Total Personnel 


Engine 3 9 
Battalion Chief 1 1 
Total Staffing Provided  10 
Total Staffing Needed  10 


 
 


Figure 70:  Wildland Fire—High Risk 


Unit Type Numberof Units Total Personnel 


Engine 6 9 
Battalion Chief 1 1 
Total Staffing Provided  10 
Total Staffing Needed  23 


 
 


Figure 71: Hazardous Materials—High Risk 


Unit Type Numberof Units Total Personnel 


Engine 3 9 
Truck 1 4 
Battalion Chief 1 1 
Hazardous Materials Unit County  


Total Staffing Provided  14 
Total Staffing Needed  18 


 
 


Figure 72: Emergency Medical Service (Life Threatening) 


Unit Type Numberof Units Total Personnel 


Engine 2 6 
Total Staffing Provided  6 
Total Staffing Needed  6 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 76 


 


 


Figure 73:  Major Medical Response (10+ Patients) 


Unit Type Numberof Units Total Personnel 


Engine 4 12 
Battalion Chief 1 1 
Truck 1 4 
Total Staffing Provided  16 
Total Staffing Needed  16 


 
 


Figure 74:  Motor  Vehicle Accident(Non-Trapped) 


Unit Type Numberof Units Total Personnel 


Engine 1 3 
Truck 1 4 
Battalion Chief 1 1 
Total Staffing Provided  8 
Total Staffing Needed  8 


 
 


Figure 75: Motor Vehicle Accident(Trapped) 


Unit Type Numberof Units Total Personnel 


Engine 2 6 
Truck 1 4 
Battalion Chief 1 1 
Total Staffing Provided  11 
Total Staffing Needed  11 


 
 


Figure 76: Technical Rescue—Water 


Unit Type Numberof Units Total Personnel 


Boat 1 3 
Truck 1 4 
Battalion Chief 1 1 
Total Staffing Provided  8 
Total Staffing Needed  8 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 77 


 


 


Figure 77: Technical Rescue—Rope 


Unit Type Numberof Units Total Personnel 


Engine 3 9 
Truck 1 4 
Squad 1 2 
Battalion Chief 1 1 
Total Staffing Provided  16 
Total Staffing Needed  16 


 
 


Figure 78: Technical Rescue—Confined Space 


Unit Type Numberof Units Total Personnel 


Engine 3 9 
Truck 1 4 
Battalion Chief 1 1 
Total Staffing Provided  14 
Total Staffing Needed  18 


 
 


Figure 79: Technical Rescue—Trench 


Unit Type Numberof Units Total Personnel 


Engine 3 9 
Truck 1 4 
Battalion Chief 1 1 
Total Staffing Provided  14 
Total Staffing Needed  16 


 
 


Figure 80: Mutual Aid Resources, Including Resources Available Through 3rd Alarm 


 
Department 


Resources 


Engines Ladders Trucks 
Total Available 


Staffing 
Redwood City 7 1 25 
Woodside Fire Protection District 3 0 9 
Palo Alto 6 1 22 


Totals 16 2 56 







 


 


 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 79 


 


 


Review of Historical System Performance 


Incident data for the period between January  1, 2016,  and December 31, 2018, were  evaluated  in  detail to 
determine MPFPD’s current performance. ESCI obtained data from MPFPD’s incident reports and the 
dispatch center’s computer-aided dispatch system. 


 


ESCI included priority incidents occurring within the MPFPD service area in the analysis only. Priority 
incidents involve emergencies to which the fire department initiated a “code 3” (using warning lights and 
sirens) response (5,865 incidents during 2016; 6,152 during 2017; and 6,118 incidents during 2018). ESCI 
excluded non-emergency public assistance requests. Performance is reported based on the initial type of 
incident as dispatched. Three categories are used to report performance: 


 


• Fire and Special Operations—Responses to a report of fire or other emergency requiring full 
personal protective equipment. 


• Emergency Medical—All emergency medical incidents. 
• Other—Anyother incident to which the fire district responded with lights and sirens. 


 
Each phase of the incident response sequence was evaluated to determine the current performance. This 
allows an analysis of each phase to determine whereopportunities might exist forimprovement. 


 


The total incident response-time continuumconsists of several steps, beginning with the initiation of the 
incident and concluding with the appropriate mitigation of the event. The time required for each of the 
components varies. The policies and practices of the District directly influence some of thesteps. 


 
ESCI compared MPFPD’s response performance to its adopted performance goals. The following figure 
summarizes the performance goals as adopted by the MPFPD Board of Directors. 


 
Figure 81: MPFPD Performance Goals 


Incident Interval Performance Goal 


Call process time (time fromacceptance at the dispatch 
center until notification of response units). Within 1 minute, 90% of the time. 


Turnout time (time from notification of response personnel 
until the initiation of movement towards the incident). Within 2 minutes, 90% of the time. 


First unit travel time (time from initiation of response until 
the arrival of the first unit at the incident). Within 4 minutes, 90% of the time. 


First unit total response time (time fromreceipt of the call 
at dispatch until the arrival of the first unit at the incident). Within 7 minutes, 90% of the time. 


Full effective response forcetravel time (Time from receipt 
of the call at dispatch until all units initially dispatched 
arrive at the incident). 


 
Within 11 minutes, 90% of the time. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 80 


 


 


In keeping with MPFPD’s performance goals, all response-time elements are reported at  a  given percentile. 
Percentile reporting is a methodology by which response times are sorted from least to greatest, and a “line” 
is drawn at a certain percentage of the calls to determine the percentile. The point at which the “line” 
crosses the 90th percentile, for example, is the percentile time performance. Thus, 90% of the times were 
at or less than the result; Only 10% were longer. 


 


Percentiles differ greatly from averages. Averaging calculates response times by adding all  response times 
together and then dividing the total number of minutes by the total number of responses (mean average). 
Measuring and reporting average response times is not recommended.  Using  averages  does not give a 
clear picture of response performance because it does not clearly identify the number and extent of events 
with times beyond the stated performance goal. 


 
What follows is a detailed description and review of each phase of the response-time continuum. All 
phases will be compared to MPFPD’s performance goals. 


 


Detection 
The detection of  a fire (or medical incident) may occur immediately  if  someone happens to be present or if 
an automatic system is functioning. Otherwise, detection may be delayed,  sometimes  for  a considerable 
period. The time for this phase begins with the inception of the emergency and ends when the emergency 
is detected. It is largely outside the control of the fire department and not a part of the event sequence that 
is reliably measurable. 


 


Call Processing 
Most emergency incidents are reported by telephone to the 9-1-1 center. Call takers must quickly elicit 
accurate information about the nature and location of the incident from persons who are apt to be excited. 
A citizen well trained in how to report emergencies can reduce the time required for this phase. The 
dispatcher must identify the correct units based on incident type and location, dispatch them to the 
emergency, and continue to update information about the emergency while the units respond. This phase 
begins when the 9-1-1 call is answered at the primary public safety answering point (PSAP) and ends when 
response personnel are notified of the emergency. This phase, which has two parts, is labeled “call 
processing time.” 


 


San Mateo County Office of Public Safety (PSC) is the PSAP and dispatch service provider for MPFPD. It 
answers the call, processes the information, and dispatches MPFPD response units. PSC is the primary 
PSAP for the City of East Palo Alto and the secondary PSAP for the cities of Atherton and Menlo Park. 


 
The cities of Atherton and Menlo Park Police Departments maintain their own primary PSAPs and   transfer 
requests for fire-based services to PSC. In addition, cell-based 9-1-1 calls that originate within proximity to 
highways may go direct to CHP. These calls will be routed to the appropriate primary PSAP and may result 
in considerable delays. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 81 


 


 


National Fire Protection Association Standard 1221 recommends that 9-1-1 calls be answered within 15 
seconds, 95% of the time (within 40 seconds, 99% of the time). Call answer and transfer times from 
Atherton and Menlo Park were not provided. 


 
The second part of call processing time, dispatch time, begins when the call is received at the dispatch 
center (PSC) and ends when response units are notified of the incident. MPFPD’s goal prescribes that this 
phase should occur within 1 minute, 90% of thetime. 


 
The following figure illustrates performance by PSC from the time it receives the call until it notifies 
response units. Performance during 2018 for all incidents was within 1 minute, 45 seconds, 90% of the 
time. 


 
Figure 82: PSC Dispatch Time Performance 


 
03:30 


 
03:00 


 
02:30 


 
02:00 


 
01:30 


 
01:00 


 
00:30 


 


00:00 
EMS   Fire Other EMS   Fire Other EMS Fire Other 


2016  2017  2018 


The workload at the dispatch center can influence call processing performance. The following figure 
illustrates performance at different times of the day compared to the District’s response workload. Given 
that call processing time increases with higher call volume and decreases during periods of lower call 
volume, it appears that workload may be impacting dispatch center performance. 


Ca
ll 


pr
oc


es
s 


m
in


ut
es


 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 82 


 


 


Figure 83: Call Processing Time by Hour of Day, 2018 


02:30 400 
 


 
02:00 


 
 


01:30 
 
 


01:00 


350 
 


300 
 


250 
 


200 
 


150 


 


 
00:30 


 
 


Call process Incidents 


100 
 


50 


 


00:00 0 
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 


Hour 


 
Turnout Time 
Turnout time is a response phase controllable by the fire district. This phase begins at the notification of an 
emergency in progress by the dispatch center and ends when personnel and apparatus begin to move 
towards the incident location. Personnel must don appropriate equipment, assemble on the response 
vehicle, and begin travel to the incident. Good training and proper fire station design can minimize the time 
required for this step. 


 


The performance goal for turnout time is within 2 minutes, 90% of the time. The following figure lists 
turnouttime byspecific incident types. Overall turnouttime during 2018 was within 2 minutes, 3 seconds, 
90% of the time. 


 
Figure 84: Turnout Time Performance 


 
02:30 


 
02:00 


 
01:30 


 
01:00 


 
00:30 


 
00:00 


EMS  Fire Other EMS  Fire Other EMS Fire Other 


2016  2017  2018 


Ca
ll 


pr
oc


es
s 


m
in


ut
es


 


Tu
rn


ou
t m


in
ut


es
 


In
ci


de
nt


s 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 83 


 


 


Turnout time can vary by hour of day. For MPFPD, turnout times are longer at night than during the day. 
 
 
 


03:00 


Figure 85: Turnout Time by Hour of Day, 2018  
 


400 


 


 
02:30 


 
02:00 


350 
 


300 
 


250 


 


01:30 200 
 


 
01:00 


 
00:30 


 
00:00 


 
 
 
 
 


Turnout Incidents 


 
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 1819 20 21 2223 


Hour 


150 
 


100 
 


50 
 


0 


 


Distribution and Initial Arriving Unit Travel Time 
Travel time is potentially the longest of the response phases. The distance between the fire station and the 
location of the emergency influences response time the most. The quality and connectivity of streets, 
traffic, driver training, geography, and environmental conditions are also factors. This phase begins with 
the initial apparatus movement towards the incident location and ends when response personnel and 
apparatus arrive at the emergency’s location. Within the performance goal, 4 minutes is allowed for the 
first response unit to arrive at an incident. 


 


The following figure illustrates  the street sections  that  can  be reached  from all  MPFPD fire stations  in 4 
minutes of travel time. It is based on posted road speeds modified to account for turning, stops, and 
acceleration. Existing stations serve the MPFPD service area well. 


Tu
rn


ou
t m


in
ut


es
 


In
ci


de
nt


s 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 84 


 


 


Figure 86: MPFPD 4-Minute Travel Coverage 


 
The next figure shows the 4-minute travel coverage from adjacent agency stations. Some 4-minute 
coverage is provided in the center of the jurisdiction. Most adjacent agency stations are beyond 4 travel 
minutes of MPFPD. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 85 


 


 


Figure 87: Adjacent Agency 4-Minute Travel Coverage 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 86 


 


 


The following figure lists travel time byspecific incident types. Overall travel time during 2018 was within 
4 minutes, 24 seconds, 90% of thetime. 


 
Figure 88: Travel-Time Performance, First Arriving Unit 


 
0:06:00 


 
0:05:00 


 
0:04:00 


 
0:03:00 


 
0:02:00 


 
0:01:00 


 


0:00:00 
EMS   Fire Other EMS   Fire Other EMS Fire Other 


2016  2017  2018 


Travel time can vary considerably by the time of day. Heavy traffic at  morning  and  evening rush hours can 
slow fire district response. Concurrent incidents can also increase travel time  because  units  from more 
distant stations would need to respond. Except for an unusual spike between 3:00 a.m. and  4:00 a.m., travel 
times are relatively consistent across the day. 


06:00 


Figure 89: Travel Time by Hour of Day, 2018 


400 


05:00 


04:00 


 
350 


 
300 


 
250 


 


03:00 200 
 


 
02:00 


 
01:00 


 
00:00 


 
 
 
 
 


Tra vel Incidents 
 


0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 
Hour 


150 
 


100 
 


50 
 


0 


Tr
av


el
 m


in
ut


es
 


Tr
av


el
 m


in
ut


es
 


In
ci


de
nt


s 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 87 


 


 


To provide an on-time response, aresponse unit must be within 4 travel minutes of the incident. Incidents 
were reviewed to identify how many occurred within 4 travel minutes of afire station. During 2018, 6,056 
of the 6,118 priority incidents inside the District (98.9%) occurred within 4 travel minutes of a fire station. 


 
First Arriving Unit Response Time 


Response time is defined as that period between the notification of response personnel by the dispatch 
center that an emergency is in progress until the arrival of the first fire department response unit at the 
emergency. The MPFPD goalfor response time is within 6 minutes, 90% of the time. 


 
The following figure illustrates the response time for specific incident types. Overall response time during 
2018 was within 5 minutes, 59 seconds, 90% of thetime. 


 
Figure 90: Response-Time Performance, First Arriving Unit 


 
07:00 


06:00 
 


05:00 
 


04:00 
 


03:00 


02:00 
 


01:00 
 


00:00 
EMS   Fire Other EMS   Fire Other EMS Fire Other 


2016  2017  2018 


The next figure shows response time and the number of incidents bythe hour of day for all incidents. 


08:00 


Figure 91: Response Time by Hour of Day, 2018 


400 


07:00 350 


06:00 300 
 


05:00 250 


04:00 200 


03:00 150 


02:00 


01:00 


 
 


Response Incidents 


 
100 


 
50 


 


00:00 0 
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 


Hour 


Re
sp


on
se


 m
in


ut
es


 
Re


sp
on


se
 m


in
ut


es
 


In
ci


de
nt


s 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 88 


 


 


First Arriving Unit Received to Arrival Time 


From the customer’s standpoint, response time begins when the emergency occurs. Their first contact with 
emergency services is when they call for help, usually by dialing 9-1-1. Received to arrival time combines 
answer/transfer, call processing, turnout, and travel time. MPFPD has set its received to arrival goal (total 
response time) within 7 minutes, 90% of thetime. 


 


The next figure shows received to arrival performance for priority incidents within the MPFPD service area 
during the study period. Overall, received to arrival time  was within  7 minutes,  17 seconds, 90% of the time 
during 2018. 


 
Figure 92: Received to Arrival Time, First Arriving Unit 


 
09:00 


08:00 


07:00 


06:00 


05:00 


04:00 


03:00 


02:00 


01:00 


00:00 
EMS  Fire Other EMS  Fire Other EMS Fire Other 


2016  2017  2018 


The next figure shows received to arrival performance compared to incident activity by time of the day. 


09:00 


Figure 93: Received to Arrival Time by Hour, 2018 


400 


08:00       


07:00       


06:00       


05:00       


04:00       


03:00       


02:00       


 
350 


 
300 


 
250 


 
200 


 
150 


 
100 


01:00   Received to arrival Incidents 50 


00:00  0 


0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 


Re
ce


iv
ed


 to
 a


rr
iv


al
 m


in
ut


es
 


Re
ce


iv
ed


 to
 a


rr
iv


al
 m


in
ut


es
 


In
ci


de
nt


s 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 89 


 


 


Hour 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 90 


 


 


Concentration and Effective Response Force Capability Analysis 


Effective Response Force (ERF) is the number of personnel and apparatus required to be present on the 
scene of an emergency incident to perform the critical tasks in such a manner to effectively mitigate the 
incident without unnecessary loss of life and property. The ERF is specific to each type of incident and is 
based on the critical tasks that must be performed. 


 


The response-time goal for the delivery of the full ERF to a moderate-risk building fire is within 11 minutes, 
90% of the time from the time the call is received at the dispatch center. MPFPD  has  defined the minimum 
full effective response force for low-rise building fires as five fire engines, one truck, and two Battalion 
Chiefs with a total of 21 firefighters. For high-rise building fires, the minimum force is five fire engines, two 
trucks, three Battalion Chiefs, and  26 firefighters. The apparatus and staffing complement for this response 
type are all that is immediately available to MPFPD without using mutual or automatic aid. 


 
No data are available to identify building fires by type of risk (low rise, high-risk commercial, etc.). All 
building fires have been evaluated using the low-rise effective response force criteria. The following figure 
illustrates effective response performance during the study period. The effective response force was 
delivered to 27 building fires during the studyperiod. 


 
Figure 94: Effective Response Force Performance 


 2016 2017 2018 


Number of fires with full ERF 6 10 11 
Time to deliver the full ERF 16:18 19:47 21:23 


 
The following figure illustrates the frequency distribution of the response times experienced during the 
study period. Response times between 8 and 13 minutes occurred for 55.5% of those building fires that 
received the full effective response force. 


 
Figure 95: Frequency Distribution of Response Time for Full ERF Arrival 


 
4 


 
 


3 
 
 


2 
 
 


1 
 
 


0 
7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 1516 1718 19 2021 22 


Timeto deliver effective responseforce 


N
um


be
r o


f b
ui


ld
in


g f
ire


s 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 91 


 


 


A concentration analysis reviews the physical capability of MPFPD’s resources to achieve its target ERF 
travel time to its service area. The following figures depict the physical capability of MPFPD and its 
neighboring automatic aid partners to assemble apparatus and firefighters by area within an 8-minute 
travel time. The modeled analysis shown assumes that all responseunits are available. 


 


The first figure shows the area that can be reached by the various numbers of firefighters. Most of the 
MPFPD service area can be provided with sufficient firefighters to manage a high rise building fire. 


 
Figure 96: Effective Response Force, Firefighters 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 92 


 


 


The next figure shows the area to which five fire engines, one ladder truck, and two Battalion Chiefs can 
respond within 8 minutes of travel time, the standard for a low-rise building fire. Most of the MPFPD 
service area can be provided sufficientapparatus to manage a low-rise building fire. 


 
Figure 97: Effective Response Force, Apparatus—Low-Rise Building Fire 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 93 


 


 


The next figure shows the area to which five fire engines, two ladder trucks, and three Battalion  Chiefs can 
respond within 8 minutes of travel time, the standard for a high-rise building fire. Effective response force 
coverage is substantially diminished due largely to the limited number of Battalion  Chiefs  and ladder trucks 
in the system. 


 
Figure 98: Effective Response Force, Apparatus—High-Rise Building Fire 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 94 


 


 


Second Unit Arrival Time 


MPFPD staffs fire engines with three personnel and ladder trucks with four personnel. Safety regulations 
require that at least four firefighters be on-scene before firefighters can enter a burning building.  The only 
exception is if it is known that a person is inside the building and needs rescue. Current staffing levels on 
engines require the arrival of a second response unit before non-rescue interior firefighting activities can 
be initiated. 


 
Incident data for building fires during the study period were reviewed to determine the time the second 
response unit arrived on the scene. According to the data, the second unit arrived on the scene of a structure 
fire within 2 minutes, 47 seconds, 90% of the time after the arrival  of  the first  unit (1  minute, 25 seconds 
on average). 


 


Incident Concurrencyand Reliability 


When evaluating the effectiveness of any resource deployment plan, it is necessary to assess the  workload 
of the individual response units to determine to what extent their availability for dispatch is affecting the 
response-time performance. In simplest terms, a response unit cannot make it to  an incident across the 
street from its own station in 4 minutes if it is unavailable to be dispatched to that incident because it is 
committed to another call. 


 


Concurrency 
One way to look at resource workload is to examine the number of  times  multiple  incidents  happen within 
the same time frame. ESCI examined incidents during the study period to determine the frequency of 
concurrent events. This is important because concurrent incidents can stretch available resources and delay 
response to other emergencies. This factor significantly impacts total response times to emergencies in the 
jurisdiction. 


 


The following figure shows the number of times during the study period that one or more incidents 
transpired concurrently. 


 
Figure 99: Incident Concurrency 


Concurrent 
Incidents 2016 2017 2018 


1 5,125 5,311 5,219 
2 2,274 2,489 2,331 
3 589 608 624 
4 86 119 131 
5 12 19 25 
6 2 2 6 


 
It is also useful to review the number of times one or more response units are committed to incidents at the 
same time. The following figure shows the number of times one or more MPFPD response units were 
committed to incidents. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 95 


 


 


Figure 100: Unit Concurrency 
Concurrent Unit 


Responses 
2016 2017 2018 


1 5,722 5,902 5,773 
2 2,619 2,999 2,878 
3 1,290 1,522 1,420 
4 936 951 930 
5 563 714 692 
6 226 341 327 
7 75 132 129 
8 19 37 43 
9 0 9 6 


10 0 0 1 


Reliability 
The ability of a fire station’s first-due unit(s)  to respond to an incident within its assigned response area is 
known as unit reliability. The reliability analysis is normally done by measuring the number of times 
response units assigned to a given fire station were available to respond to a request for service within that 
station’s service area. The following figure illustrates station reliability during the study period. 


 
Figure 101:  Station Reliability 


 
100% 


95% 


90% 


85% 


80% 


75% 


70% 


65% 


60% 


55% 


50% 
Sta ti on 1 Sta tion 2 Sta tion 3 Sta tion 4 Sta tion 5 Station 6 Sta tion 


77 


92% 


85% 87% 87% 85% 85% 
82% 


Pe
rc


en
t r


el
ia


bl
e 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 96 


 


 


Performance Objectives and Performance Measures 


DYNAMICS OF FIRE IN BUILDINGS 


Most fires within buildings develop predictably unless influenced by highly flammable material or a well- 
ventilated environment. Ignition, or the beginning of a fire, starts the sequence of events. It may take several 
minutes or even hours from the time of ignition until a flame is visible. This  smoldering  stage  is very 
dangerous, especially during times when people are sleeping, because large amounts of highly toxic smoke 
may be generated during this phase. 


 
Onceflames do appear, the sequence continues rapidly. Combustible material adjacent to the flame heat 
and ignite, which, in turn, heats and ignites other adjacent materials if  sufficient oxygen  is  present.  As  the 
objects burn, heated gases accumulate at the ceiling of the room. Some of the gases are flammable and 
highly toxic. 


 
The spread of the fire from this point continues quickly. Soon, the flammable gases at the ceiling, as well as 
other combustible material in the room of origin, reach ignition temperature. At that point, an event termed 
“flashover” occurs; the gases and other material ignite, which, in turn, ignites everything in the room. Once 
flashover occurs, damage caused by the fire is significant, and the environment within the room can no 
longer support human life. Flashover usually occurs about 5 to 8 minutes from the appearance of flames in 
typically-furnished and ventilated buildings. Because flashover has such a dramatic influence on the 
outcome of a fire event, the goal of any fire agency is to apply water to a fire before flashover occurs. 


 
Although modern codes tend to make fires in newer structures more infrequent, today’s energy-efficient 
construction (designed to hold heat during the winter) also tends to confine the heat of a hostile fire. In 
addition, research has shown that modern furnishings generally ignite more quickly and burn hotter (due 
to synthetics). In the 1970s, scientists at the National Institute of Standards and Technology found that 
after a fire broke out, building occupants had about 17 minutes to escape before being overcome byheat 
and smoke. Today, that estimate is as short as 3 minutes.18 The necessity of effective early  warning (smoke 
alarms), early suppression (fire sprinklers), and firefighters arriving on the scene of a fire in the shortest span 
of time is more critical now than ever. 


 


The prompt arrival of at least four personnel is critical for structure fires. Federal regulations (CFR 1910.120) 
require that personnel entering a building involved in fire must be in groups of two. Further, before 
personnel can enter a building to extinguish a fire, at least two personnel must be on-scene and assigned to 
conduct search and rescue in case the fire  attack crew becomes trapped.  This is  referred  to as the two-in, 
two-outrule. 


 
 
 
 


 
18 National Institute of Standards and Technology, Performance of Home Smoke Alarms, Analysis of the Response of Several 


Available Technologies in Residential Fire Settings, Bukowski, Richard, et al. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 97 


 


 


However, if it is known that victims are trapped inside the building, a rescue attempt can be performed 
without additional personnel ready to intervene outside the structure. Further, there is no requirement 
that all four arrive on the same response vehicle. Many fire departments rely on more than one unit 
arriving to initiate an interior fire attack. 


 


Perhaps as important as preventing flashover is the need to control a fire before it does damage to the 
structural framing of a building. Materials used to construct buildings today are often less  fire-resistive than 
the heavy structural skeletons of older frame buildings. Roof trusses and floor joists are commonly made 
with lighter materials that are more easily weakened by the effects of fire. “Lightweight” roof trusses fail 
after 5 to 7 minutes of direct flame impingement. Plywood I-beam joists can fail after as little as 3 minutes 
of flame contact. This creates a dangerous environment for firefighters. 


 
In addition, the contents of buildings today have a much greater potential for heat production than in the 
past. The widespread use of plastics in furnishings and other building contents rapidly accelerates fire 
spread and increases the amount of water needed to control a fire effectively. All of these factors make the 
need for early application of water essential to a successfulfire outcome. 


 
The following figureillustrates the sequence of events during the growth of a structurefire over time. 


 
Figure 102: Fire Growth versus Reflex Time 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 98 


 


 


As is apparent by this description of the sequence of events, the application of water in time to prevent 
flashover is a serious challenge for any fire department. It is critical, though, as studies of historical fire 
losses can demonstrate. 


 
The National Fire Protection Association found that fires contained to the room of origin (typically 
extinguished prior to or immediately following flashover) had significantly lower rates of death,  injury, and 
property loss when compared to fires that had an opportunity to spread beyond the room of origin 
(typically extinguished post-flashover). As evidenced in the following figure, fire losses, casualties, and 
deaths rise significantly as the extent of fire damage increases. 


 
Figure 103: Consequence of Fire Extension in Residential Structures—United States, 2011–2015 


 
Extension 


Ratesper 1,000 Fires 


Civilian Deaths Civilian Injuries 
Average Dollar 


Loss Per Fire 
Confined to the room of origin or smaller 1.8 24.8 $4,200 
Confined to floor of origin 15.8 81.4 $36,300 
Confined to building of origin or larger 24.0 57.6 $67,600 


Source: National Fire Protection Association 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 99 


 


 


EMERGENCY MEDICAL EVENT SEQUENCE 


Cardiac arrest is the most significant life-threatening medical event in emergency medicine  today.  A victim 
of cardiac arrest has mere minutes in which to receive lifesaving care if there is to be any hope for 
resuscitation. The American Heart Association (AHA) issued a set of cardiopulmonary resuscitation 
guidelines designed to streamline emergency procedures for heart attack victims and to increase the 
likelihood of survival. The AHA guidelines include goals for the application of cardiac defibrillation to cardiac 
arrest victims. Cardiac arrest survival chances fall by 7 to 10% for every minute between collapse and 
defibrillation. Consequently, the AHA recommends cardiac defibrillation within 5 minutes of cardiac arrest. 


 


As with fires, the sequence of events that lead to emergency cardiac care can be graphically illustrated, as 
in the following figure. 


 
Figure 104: Cardiac Arrest Event Sequence 


 
The percentage of opportunity for recovery from cardiac arrest drops quickly as time progresses. The 
stages of medical response are very similar to the components described for a fire response. Recent 
research stresses the importance of rapid cardiac defibrillation and administration of certain medications as 
a means of improving the opportunityfor successful resuscitation and survival. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 100 


 


 


PEOPLE, TOOLS, AND TIME 


Time matters a great deal in the achievement of an effective outcome to an emergency event. Time, 
however, is not the only factor. Delivering sufficientnumbers of properly trained, appropriately equipped 
personnel within the critical time period completes the equation. 


 
For medical emergencies, this can vary based on the nature of the event. Many medical emergencies are not 
time critical. However, for serious trauma, cardiac arrest, or conditions that may  lead  to  cardiac arrest, a 
rapid response is essential. 


 


Equally critical is delivering enough personnel to the scene to perform all of the concurrent tasks required 
to provide quality emergency care. For a cardiac arrest, this can be up to six personnel; two to perform CPR, 
two to set up and operate advanced medical equipment, one to record the actions taken by emergency 
care workers, and oneto direct patient care. 


 
Thus, for a medical emergency, the real test of performance is the time it takes to provide the personnel 
and equipment needed to deal effectively with the patient’s condition, not necessarily the time it takes for 
the first person to arrive. 


 
Fire emergencies are even more resource critical. Again, the true test of performance is  the time it takes to 
deliver sufficient personnel to initiate the application of water to a fire. This is the only practical method to 
reverse the continuing internal temperature increases and ultimately prevent flashover. The arrival of one 
person with aportable radio does not provide fire intervention capability and should not be counted as an 
“arrival” by the fire department. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 101 


 


 


Overview of Compliance Methodology 


The preceding sections of this report provide a detailed analysis of the historical performance of  the Menlo 
Park Fire Protection District. For this evaluation to prove beneficial to the District and its policymakers, a 
continual analysis should be performed routinely. 


 


MPFPD is committed to a continual process of analyzing and evaluating actual performance against the 
adopted Standards of Cover and will enhance the data collection procedures of  field  operations personnel. 
A periodic review of the District’s records management system reports will be necessary to ensure 
compliance and reliability of data. 


 


COMPLIANCE MODEL 


Compliance is best achieved through a systematic approach. ESCI has identified the following six-step 
compliance model for the District’s consideration. 


 
Figure 105: Six-Step Compliance Model 


 
Phase 1—Establish/Review Performance Measures 
Complete the initial Standards of Cover process. Conduct a full review of the performance  measures  every 
five years: 


• Identify services provided. 
• Define levels of service. 
• Categorize levels of risk. 
• Develop performance objectives and measures: 


 By incident type 
 By geographic demand zone 
 Distribution (first on scene) 
 Concentration (arrival of full first alarm) 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 102 


 


 


Phase 2—Evaluate Performance 
Performance measures are applied to the actual service provided: 


• System-level 
• First-due area level 
• Unit level 
• Full effective response force(ERF) 


 
Phase 3—Develop Compliance Strategies 
Determine issues and opportunities: 


• Determine whatneeds to be done to close thegaps. 
• Determine if resources can/should be reallocated. 
• Seek alternative methods to provide service at the desired level. 
• Develop budget estimates as necessary. 
• Seek additional funding commitment as necessary. 


 
Phase 4—Communicate Expectations to Organizations 
Communicate expectations: 


• Explain the method of measuring compliance to personnel who are expected to perform services. 
• Provide feedback mechanisms. 
• Define the consequences of noncompliance. 


 
Train personnel: 


• Provide appropriate levels of training/direction for all affected personnel. 
• Communicateconsequences of noncompliance. 
• Modify (remediate) business processes, business application systems, and technical 


infrastructure as necessary to comply. 
 


Phase 5—Validate Compliance 
Develop and deploy verification tools and/or techniques that can be used by subsections of the 
organization on an ongoing basis to verify that they are meeting the requirements: 


• Monthly evaluation: 
 Performance byunit 
 Overall performance 
 Review of performanceby division/section management 


• Quarterly evaluation: 
 Performance byunit 
 Performance byfirst-due 
 Overall performance 
 Review of performance by executive management 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 103 


 


 


Phase 6—Make Adjustments/Repeat Process 
Review changes to ensure that service levels have been maintained or improved. Develop and implement 
a review program to ensure ongoing compliance: 


 


• Annualreview and evaluation: 
 Performance byunit 
 Performance byfirst-due 
 Overall performance 
 Review of performance by governing body 
 Adjustmentof performance standards by governing bodyas necessary 


• Five-year update of Standards of Cover: 
 Performance byunit 
 Performance byfirst-due 
 Full effective response force 
 Overall performance 
 Adoption of performance measures bythe governing body 


• Establish management processes to deal with futurechanges in the MPFPD service area. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 104 


 


 


 


Overall Evaluation, Conclusions, and Recommendations 


OVERALL EVALUATION 


This Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover is based on the CFAI Standards of Cover, 6th Edition. 
It required the completion of an intensive analysis of all aspects of the MPFPD deployment policies. The 
analysis used various tools to review historical performance, evaluate risk, validate  response coverage, and 
define critical tasking and alarm assignments. The analysis relied on the experience of staff officers and 
their historical perspective combined with historical incident data captured by both the dispatch center and 
MPFPD’s in-houserecords management system. 


 
The Description of Community Served section provided a general overview of the organization, including 
governance, lines of authority, finance, and capital and human resources, as well as an overview of the 
service area, including population and geography served. The Review of Services  Provided  section detailed 
the core services the organization provides based on general resource/asset capability and basic staffing 
complements. 


 
An overview of community risk was provided to identify the risks and challenges faced by the fire 
department. Geospatial characteristics, topographic and weather risks, transportation network risks, 
physical assets, and critical infrastructure were reviewed and then identified as medical incidents, structure 
fires, and rescues as the primary risks within the community. As a factor of risk, ESCI evaluated community 
populations and demographics against historical and projected service demand. Population and service 
demand has increased over the pastdecade and will continueto increase in thefuture. 


 
Evaluating risk using advanced geographic information systems (GIS) provided an increased 
understanding of community risk factors and led to an improved deployment policy. 


 
During the analysis of service level goals, critical tasking assignments were completed for incident types 
ranging from a basic medical emergency to a high-rise structure fire. Critical tasking required a review of on-
scene staffing requirements to mitigate the effects of an emergency. These tasks  ultimately determine the 
resource allocation necessary to achieve successful operation. 


 


The review of historical system performance evaluated each component of the emergency incident 
sequence. These included call processing, turnout, and travel time. Beyond the response time  of  the initial 
arriving units, ESCI evaluated the additional components of concentration and effective response force, 
reliability, and call concurrency. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 105 


 


 


The analysis completed during this study revealed many significant findings. These include the following: 
 


• The total response workload has increased by 17.9% over the past seven years. 
• The current fire department utilization rate is 91.7 incidents per 1,000 population. This is comparable 


to similar communities. 
• Requests for emergency medical services are 65.3% of all responses. 
• Responseworkload is the highest around Fire Stations 2 and 6. 
• Engine 2 is very near 10% utilization (UHU). 
• The addition of the second truck company has resulted in the current daily staffing being at the 


upper limit of the recommended span of control for the one Battalion Chief per shift configuration. 
• MPFPD lacks a District-wide program that fully identifies and pre-plans responses to target 


hazards. 
• The amount of time PSC takes to dispatch fire department response units exceeds the MPFPD 


performance goal and national standards. 
• The amount of time that response personnel take to assemble on apparatus and initiate response 


exceeds the MPFPD performance goaland nationalstandards. 
• The amount of time that units spend traveling to an incident exceeds the MPFPD performance goal 


and national standards. 
• MPFPD provided an effective response force to 27 building fires during the study period. It delivered 


the effective response force to only 9 of those fires within the time defined in the MPFPD 
performance goals. 


• MPFPD is quite dependent on neighboring agencies to deliver an effective response force. 
• MPFPD has adopted written financial guidelines and practices. 
• Population density is increasing steadily with multiple families living in single-family residences. 


Training and effective response force assignments should consider difficulties encountered by 
overcrowding in residences. 


• Traffic will continue to increase in the region, impacting MPFPD streets and roadways. Peak traffic 
times may decrease the MPFPD ability to gather an effective response force within the 
recommended guidelines. 


• Buildings are increasing in vertical size. This will increase the response times to the incident as 
firefighters must travel vertically before they arrive at the patient or fire location. 


• There are numerous large residential structures in the district, some of which lack residential fire 
sprinklers. 


• Natural disasters can occur in the service area. MPFPD should continue to work with the local 
community to ensure community resilience and preparedness. 


• While very few unreinforced masonry buildings still remain, these buildings remain a concern 
during seismic and fire activity. 


• The District’s financial statements are audited, and its submission of its Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report (CAFR) has resulted in its receipt of the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence 
in Financial Reporting from the Government Finance Officers Association. 


• The District has a detailed calendar for the preparation and adoption of its annual budget. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 106 


 


 


• The District follows sound business practices accounting for its operations through the use of four 
major funds; General Fund, US&R Special Revenue Fund, Capital Improvement Projects Fund, and 
Debt Service Fund. 


• The District has established an Apparatus and Equipment Replacement Plan to ensure adequate 
funds are available for the replacement of apparatus and equipment. 


• MPFPD has experienced an average of 6.1% increase in assessed property valuation between FY 
17/18 and FY 08/09; increasing from $20,911,498,219in FY 08/09 to $34,832,408,120in FY 17/18. 


• The CalPERS Classic pension plans were closed to new employees on January 1, 2013. Employees 
hired after January 1, 2013, areeligible to enroll in the PEPRA plans. 


 


RECOMMENDATIONS 


During the course of this study, ESCI identified a number of issues, concerns, and opportunities. The 
following recommendations are described as goals, and MPFPD should implement them as funding allows. 
Each will improve MPFPD’s ability to provide effective service to the community. 


 
Recommendation A: Continue to maintain adequate cash reserves to provide for 
emergency purchases or economic downturns. 
The Board of Directors should continue to place ahigh priority on closely monitoring the financial impact 
of changing economic conditions on the District’s ability to maintain service levels, fund infrastructure 
needs, and maintain sufficient reserve balances. The Board should continue to follow its budget process of 
requiring recurring expenses to be paid with recurring revenue and to fund deferred compensation 
amounts annually. 


 


Cost to Implement: StaffTime 
 


Recommendation B: Continue to maintain the apparatus and equipment replacement 
plan and ensure sufficient funds are available to replace apparatus and equipment. 
The Board of Directors should continuewith the established policies on the creation and maintenance of 
various capital expenditure plans and related reserve funds. Planning and setting aside funds for future 
capital expenditures allows for the replacements to be purchased with minimal impact on the funding for 
the delivery of services. These funds are currently in various accounting classifications, including 
“restricted,” “committed,” and “assigned,” and can only be used for the stated purpose as determined by 
the Board of Directors. 


 


Cost to implement: Staff Time 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 107 


 


 


Recommendation C: Continue to evaluate growth within the District to take advantage 
of opportunities to use specially designated tax revenues to fund stations or other 
capital assets. 
The Board of Directors should continue to seek alternative revenue sources, including grants or specially 
designated tax revenues. Funding assistance from any source outside the existing revenue stream reduces 
stress to improve service, replace apparatus, or build new stations on that existing revenue stream. 


 


Cost to Implement: StaffTime 
 


Recommendation D: Add a second Battalion Chief per shift for a total of three 
additional Battalion Chiefs. 
MPFPD currently staffs each operational shift with one Battalion Chief. The Battalion Chief’s duties include 
coordination of all on-shift response personnel and supervision of response crews, ensuring coverage is 
balanced across the District, and assuming command of larger incidents. Typically, agencies staff with one 
Battalion Chief for every five response units. MPFPD’s single on-shift Battalion Chief is managing nine 
response units. Adding a second Battalion Chief will improve overall shift management and enhance the 
District’s effective response force. 


 


Cost to Implement: $978,152 
 


Recommendation E: Implement a standardized program for pre-incident target hazard 
planning for operations personnel. 
Pre-incident planning is designed to provide information for responding personnel to assist with strategies 
and tactics during an event and provides building familiarization to operations staff. MPFPD should institute 
a standardized pre-incident target hazard planning program as soon as possible for operations personnel 
and develop a system to access the plans during an event. 


 
Cost to Implement: StaffTime 


 
Recommendation F: Limit the use of traffic “calming” and other measures that 
increase travel time. 
Speed humps, hard medians, curb extensions, and other measures can slow traffic and improve highway 
safety—however, these also slow emergency response vehicles. 


 


Cost to Implement: Stafftime to develop the plan. 
 


Recommendation G: Work with the cities of Atherton, Menlo Park, and East Palo Alto 
to designate primary emergency access routes. 
The designation and marking of emergency access routes will enhance emergency response times during 
highly congested commute times. 


 


Cost Implement: Stafftime todevelop a plan andthe costof street signage. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 108 


 


 


Recommendation H: Continue to work with the cities of Atherton, Menlo Park, and East 
Palo Alto to coordinate and, where appropriate, enhance emergency preparedness 
planning and response efforts. 
Where possible, the District should work to eliminate duplication of efforts and provide support to the 
City’s emergency preparedness planning and emergency operations center design and development. 


 


Cost to Implement: Stafftime and possible hardwareand software upgrades 
 


Recommendation I: Improve the efficiency of response to emergency medical incidents. 
MPFPD’s current practice is to send a fire engine to all emergency medical incidents  regardless  of severity. 
Response protocols should bemodified to eliminate fire unit response to low-risk or ambulance- only 
responses. 


 


Many dispatch centers, including PSC, will query the caller with a standardized list of questions that can 
differentiate between a life-threatening incident and a non-life-threatening incident, or between 
emergent and nonemergent. The response (or other alternative) to a medical incident is based on the 
results of this query. 


 
PSC currently does a complete triage of medical events to determine the degree of life threat posed by the 
patient’s condition. However, MPFPD does not use this information  to differentiate the response to a 
medical event. 


 
Cost to Implement: Stafftime to modifyresponse guidelines. 


 
Recommendation J: Review dispatch processes to reduce call processing time. 
PSC’s call processing times are long as compared to national standards. Current overall call processing 
times  are within  1  minute,  45 seconds,  90%  of  the   time.  For  fire incidents,  it   is   even   longer  within 2 
minutes, 43 seconds, 90% of the time. National standards (NFPA 1221) recommend that call processing 
time for most calls should be within 64 seconds, 90% of the time. If medical dispatch triage questions are 
asked, as is the casehere, the time is within 90 seconds, 90% of thetime. 


 
PSC often provides a pre-alert to response personnel of an incident; however, this action has some 
irregularities and is not resulting in better call processing performance. A pre-alert system should notify 
response personnel of the emergency once the basic nature of the call (EMS, house fire, etc.) and the 
location are known. This should typically be within the first 10 to 15 seconds of the conversation. 


 
There are computer-based systems that can be implemented that broadcast this information via computer-
generated voice to responders that can be integrated into the computer-aided dispatch system. High-
performance dispatch centers using this pre-alert process are notifying responders within 30 to 40 
seconds, 90% of the time, a significant overall response time savings versus PSC’s current performance. 


 
Cost to implement: None unless computer assistedpre-alert is implemented. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 109 


 


 


Recommendation K: Reduce the turnout time interval. 
Turnouttime is the period between when dispatchers notify response personnel of the incident and when 
response crews begin to travel towards the incident location. MPFPD’s  performance  goal  for  turnout time 
is currently within 2 minutes, 90% of the time. MPFPD’s overall turnout time performance is  currently within 
2 minutes, 3 seconds, 90% of the time. 


 
National standards (NFPA Standard 1710) specifies turnouttime should bewithin 80 seconds, 90% of the 
time for fire and special operations incidents and within 60 seconds, 90% of the time for all  other incidents. 
MPFPD should adopt this standard as its own and then take steps to meet it. 


 


A review of fire station design should be conducted to identify and remove impediments to  quick response. 
This can include station alerting systems, pathways from quarters to apparatus, multiple floors of travel to 
the apparatus bay, and the like. 


 
District management should regularly prepare information that describes current turnout time 
performance by individual response crews (by shift and by unit). Performance expectations should be 
reinforced, and periodic monitoring conducted to determine if improvements are being made and 
sustained. Response personnel should avoid activities that extend turnout times. Response personnel 
must make serious efforts to improve their turnouttime performance for the benefit of the community. 


 


Cost to Implement: Dependent upon the cost of improvements to or modifications of internal pathways for 
rapid egress. 


 
Recommendation L: Closely monitor the impact of new development on fire 
department workload. 
There exists developable land within MPFPD’s service area and areas that can and will be redeveloped to 
more intense uses. Response workload will increase because of rising population and service utilization 
rates. 


 
MPFPD should continuously monitor new development and calculate the potential impact each will have 
on the delivery of service. New workload can be reasonably predicted by applying expected new population 
against the current utilization rate to determine the expected increase in responses. These increases can 
be applied to current response units to determine if unit utilization rates are reaching the maximum of 10 
percent. 


 
There are two important ways to monitor the system’s ability to manage workload. Earlier  in  this  report a 
discussion of unit hour utilization was made along with current unit hour utilization percentages of response 
apparatus. As demonstrated, no unit currently exceeds 10% utilization. As units begin to approach 10% 
utilization consideration should be made to add another unit in that station during periods of high incident 
activity. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 110 


 


 


Another way to review capability is to use a process called queueing analysis. This process utilizes probability 
analysis to determine the number of units needed in each station area to reduce the likelihood that a 
response unit would not be available to serve an incident to 10% or less. It uses the variables incidents per 
hour, number of available response units, and average time committed perincident. 


 


Though very useful to this effort, queuing analysis has some limitations. It assumes that customers 
(incidents) arrive at a constant rate. This is not always true in emergency services. It also assumes  that each 
customer requires an equal amount of time from servers (response units). While the average time committed 
to an incident was used for service time, some incidents require less or substantially more  than the average. 


 


Peak workload periods occur every day of the week. The following figure illustrates workload by station 
and by time of day during the study period. The workload is based on responses made by each unit 
assigned to the station. 


 
Figure 106: Incidents by Station and Period of Day, 2018 


Station 
Incidents 


9:00 a.m.–8:59 p.m. 
Incidents 


9:00 p.m.–8:59 a.m. 
Incidents per hour 


9:00 a.m.–8:59 p.m. 
Incidents per hour 


9:00 p.m.–8:59 a.m. 


1 764 413 0.17 0.09 


2 1793 1010 0.41 0.23 


3 391 197 0.09 0.04 


4 703 347 0.16 0.08 


5 400 187 0.09 0.04 


6 846 396 0.19 0.09 


77 573 299 0.13 0.07 


 
The following figure illustrates the current deployment (as it exists since the changes made in January 
2019) for both daytime (9:00 a.m. to 8:59 p.m.) and nighttime (9:00 p.m. to 8:59 a.m.) based on current 
station locations and staffing. The figure includes the current and proposed probability of wait analysis 
based on the current number of stations. No stations exceed the recommended probability of wait; 
however, this will likely changeover time. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 111 


 


 


Figure 107: Current and Proposed Response Units 
 


Station 
Current Units 


Day 


 
Current Units Night 


Current Probability 
of Wait—Day 


Current Probability 
of Wait—Night 


1 2 2 0.2% 0.1% 
2 2 2 1.2% 0.4% 
3 1 1 3.6% 1.8% 
4 1 1 6.4% 3.2% 
5 1 1 3.7% 1.7% 
6 1 1 7.7% 3.6% 
77 2 2 0.1% 0.0% 


 
Cost to Implement: Stafftime to conductanalyses. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 112 


 


 


 
Recommendation M: 


Consider relocating Station 77 
to a new site. 
MPFPD is considering relocating 
Station 77 to a new location near the 
1200 block of Willow Road in Menlo 
Park. Current and proposed first-due 
coverage was evaluated for both sites 
to determine if this relocation would 
provide a benefit. 


 
Figure 108 and 
Figure 109 compare four-minute travel 
coverage for both sites. 


Figure 108: Current Station 77 4-Minute Travel Coverage 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


There is an improvement in first-due 
coverage, but only in areas already 
well served by Stations 1 and 2. 
MPFPD will need to evaluate thecost 
of the new location in land and 
building against the limited 
improvement in first-due coverage. 


 
Cost to Implement: Dependent on the 
relocation decision. 


 
Figure 109: Proposed Station 77 4-Minute Travel Coverage 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 113 


 


 


Recommendation N: Move Rescue 77 to Station 6. 
Rescue 77 was moved to Station 77 in January 2019. Moving this unit to Station 6  will provide a better result 
for the system. Station 6 is much busier than Station 77. Station 77 sits adjacent to two  other stations (1 and 
2) that house two response units each. 


 
Moving Rescue 77 to Station 6 will also provide some improvement in the effective response force 
coverage in the District’s southwest area. 


 
Cost to Implement: None. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 114 


 


 


Appendix A—Hazard Vulnerability Risk Tables 
 


 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 115 


 


 


 


 
 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 116 


 


 


 


 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 117 


 


 


 


 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 118 


 


 


 


 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 119 


 


 


 


 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 120 


 


 


Appendix B—Fire Stations/Capital Assets 
 


CAPITAL ASSETS AND IMPROVEMENTS 


Three basic resources are required to successfully carry out the mission of a fire department―trained 
personnel, firefighting equipment, and fire stations. No matter how competent or numerous the 
firefighters, if appropriate capital equipment is not available for use by responders, it is impossible for a fire 
department to deliver services effectively. The capital assets that are most essential to the provision of 
emergency response are facilities and apparatus (response vehicles). The following figures summarize the 
fire stations operated by the Menlo Park Fire Protection District. 


 
Fixed Facilities 
Fire stations play an integral role in the delivery of emergency services for several reasons. A station’s 
location will dictate, to a large degree, response times to emergencies. A poorly located station can mean 
the difference between confining a fire to a single room and losing the structure. Fire stations also need to 
be designed to adequately house equipment and apparatus, as well as meet the needs of the organization, 
its workers, and/or its members. 


 


Consideration should be given to a fire station’s ability to support the jurisdiction’s mission as it exists today 
and into the future. The activities that take place within the fire station should be closely examined to 
ensure the structureis adequate in both size andfunction. 


 
ESCI associates conducted walk-through inspections of the District’s Administrative Headquarters, fire 
stations, and fleet maintenance facility. ESCI utilized a standard checklist at each facility inspection. 


 


ESCI paid special attention to the building’s location, future use viability in terms of serving the community, 
and the capability of accommodating an increase in staffing levels and emergency response apparatuses in 
the future. 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 121 


 


 


Figure 110: Fire Station Condition Definitions 
 
 


Excellent 


Like new condition. No visible structural defects. The facility is clean and well 
maintained. Interior layout is conducive to function with no unnecessary impediments 
to the apparatus bays or offices. No significant defect history. Building design and 
construction match the building’s purposes. 


 
 


Good 


The exterior has a good appearance with minor or no defects. Clean lines, good 
workflow design, and only minor wear of the building interior. Roof and apparatus apron 
are in good working order, absent any significant full-thickness cracks or crumbling of 
apron surfaceor visible roof patches or leaks. Building design and 
construction match the building’s purposes. 


 
 


Fair 


The building appears to be structurally sound with weathered appearance and minor 
to moderate nonstructural defects. The interior condition shows normal wear and tear 
but flows effectively to the apparatus bay or offices. Mechanical systems are in working   
order.  Building   design   and   construction  may   not   match   the  building’s 
purposes well. Shows increasing age-related  maintenance, butwith no critical defects. 


 
 
 
 


Poor 


The building appears to be cosmetically weathered and worn  with  potentially structural 
defects, although not imminently dangerous or unsafe. Large, multiple full- thickness 
cracks and crumbling of concrete on apron may exist. The roof has evidence of leaking 
and/or multiple repairs. The interior  is  poorly maintained  or showing signs  of advanced 
deterioration with moderate to significant nonstructural defects. Problematic age-
related maintenance and/or major defects are evident. May not be 
well suited to its intended purpose. 


 
The following figures depict the results of ESCI’s inspections: 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 122 


 


 


Figure 111: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 1 


Station Name/Number: Menlo Park Station 1 


Address/Physical Location: 300 Middlefield Road, Menlo Park, CA 94025 
 


 


General Description: 
This station originally housed crews and the District’s 
headquarters staff. The station currently houses an 
Engine Company, Ladder (quint), and Battalion Chief. To 
the rear of the station are a classroom and a limited 
training area. This station needs a fairly extensive remodel. 


Structure 
Construction Type Ordinary 


Date of Construction 1955 


Seismic Protection Yes, 1996 


Auxiliary Power Yes, generator 


General Condition Fair to poor 


Number of Apparatus Bays 1 Drive-through bays 2 Back-in bays 


Special Considerations (ADA, etc.) ADA complaint elevator 


Square Footage 11,869 
Facilities Available 
Separate Rooms/Dormitory/Other 9 Bedrooms 10 Beds 0 Beds in dormitory 


Maximum Station Staffing Capability 10 line personnel 


Exercise/Workout Facilities Yes 


Kitchen Facilities Yes 


Individual Lockers/Storage Assigned Yes 


Shower Facilities Yes, 4 total 


Training/Meeting Rooms Yes 


Washer/Dryer yes 
Safety & Security 
Sprinklers Yes 


Smoke Detection Yes 


Decontamination/Biohazard Disposal Yes, Biohazard Disposal System 


Security Parking gates only 


Apparatus Exhaust System Yes, Plymovent 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 123 


 


 


Figure 112: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 2 


Station Name/Number: Menlo Park Station 2 


Address/Physical Location: 2290 University Ave, East Palo Alto, CA 94303 
 


 


General Description: 
This station was constructed in 2016, houses an Engine 
Company, USAR 102, and Tiller Ladder. The station is in 
excellent shape and should serve the District for many 
years to come. 


Structure 
Construction Type Steel Frame Cinder Block– Type II 


Date of Construction 2016 


Seismic Protection Earthquake Warning System 


Auxiliary Power Yes Generator 


General Condition New – Excellent 


Number of Apparatus Bays 3 Drive-through bays 0 Back-in bays 


Special Considerations (ADA, etc.) ADA compliant ramp & elevator 


Square Footage 12,562 
Facilities Available 


Separate Rooms/Dormitory/Other 8 Bedrooms 8 Beds 0 Beds in dormitory 


Maximum Station Staffing Capability 8 


Exercise/Workout Facilities Yes 


Kitchen Facilities Yes 


Individual Lockers/Storage Assigned Yes 


Shower Facilities Yes 


Training/Meeting Rooms Yes 


Washer/Dryer Yes 
Safety & Security 


Sprinklers Yes 


Smoke Detection Yes 


Decontamination/Biohazard Disposal Yes 


Security Yes 


Apparatus Exhaust System Yes, Plymovent 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 124 


 


 


Figure 113: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 3 


Station Name/Number: Menlo Park Station 3 


Address/Physical Location: 32 Almendral Ave, Atherton, CA 94027 
 


 


General Description: 
This station was built in 1998, houses one Engine 
Company, and, while fairly new, has limited space as 
constructed for expansion. The District owns property 
next to this station that could accommodate future 
expansion. 


Structure 
Construction Type Ordinary Type 5 


Date of Construction 1998 


Seismic Protection None 


Auxiliary Power Generator 


General Condition Good 


Number of Apparatus Bays 0 Drive-through bays 1 Back-in bays 


Special Considerations (ADA, etc.) Adacompliant, all ground floor 


Square Footage 3,600 
Facilities Available 
Separate Rooms/Dormitory/Other 3 Bedrooms 3 Beds 0 Beds in dormitory 


Maximum Station Staffing Capability 3 


Exercise/Workout Facilities Yes 


Kitchen Facilities Yes 


Individual Lockers/Storage Assigned No 


Shower Facilities Yes 


Training/Meeting Rooms No 


Washer/Dryer Yes 
Safety & Security 


Sprinklers Yes 


Smoke Detection Yes 


Decontamination/Biohazard Disposal Yes 


Security Yes 


Apparatus Exhaust System Yes, Plymovent 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 125 


 


 


Figure 114: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 4 


Station Name/Number: Menlo Park Station 4 


Address/Physical Location: 3322 Alameda de Las Pulgas, Menlo Park, CA 94025 
 


 


General Description: 
This station was constructed in 1949, houses an Engine 
Company, a Type 5 Brush Engine, and a reserve Engine. 
The age and design of this station limit future expansion 
and viability. 


Structure 


Construction Type Ordinary Type 5 


Date of Construction 1949 


Seismic Protection Yes 


Auxiliary Power Generator 


General Condition Fair to Poor 


Number of Apparatus Bays 0 Drive-through bays 3 Back-in bays 
Special Considerations (ADA, etc.) No 


Square Footage 4,200 


Facilities Available 
Separate Rooms/Dormitory/Other 4 Bedrooms 4 Beds 0 Beds in dormitory 


Maximum Station Staffing Capability 4 


Exercise/Workout Facilities Yes 


Kitchen Facilities Yes 


Individual Lockers/Storage Assigned Yes 


Shower Facilities Yes, 2 
Training/Meeting Rooms No 


Washer/Dryer Yes 


Safety & Security 


Sprinklers Yes 


Smoke Detection Yes 


Decontamination/Biohazard Disposal Yes 


Security None 


Apparatus Exhaust System Yes, Plymovent 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 126 


 


 


Figure 115: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 5 


Station Name/Number: Menlo Park Station 5 


Address/Physical Location: 4101 Fair Oaks Avenue, Menlo Park, CA 94025 
 


 


General Description: 
This station was built in 1998 and houses one Engine 
Company. Although it is a bit dated, the station is well 
maintained. The size of the station limits any expansion. 


Structure 


Construction Type Ordinary Type 5 


Date of Construction 1998 


Seismic Protection Yes 


Auxiliary Power Generator 


General Condition Good0 


Number of Apparatus Bays 0 Drive-through bays 1 Back-in bays 


Special Considerations (ADA, etc.) No 


Square Footage 2,900 


Facilities Available 


Separate Rooms/Dormitory/Other 3 Bedrooms 3 Beds 0 Beds in dormitory 


Maximum Station Staffing Capability 3 


Exercise/Workout Facilities Yes 


Kitchen Facilities Yes 


Individual Lockers/Storage Assigned Yes 


Shower Facilities Yes, 3 


Training/Meeting Rooms 0 


Washer/Dryer Yes 


Safety & Security 
Sprinklers Yes 


Smoke Detection Yes 


Decontamination/Biohazard Disposal Yes 


Security No 


Apparatus Exhaust System Yes, Plymovent 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 127 


 


 


Figure 116: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 6 


Station Name/Number: Menlo Park Station 6 


Address/Physical Location: 700 Oak Grove Avenue, Menlo Park, CA 94025 
 


 


General Description: 
This state-of-the-art fire station was  built  in  2018, houses 
one Engine Company and the Fire District museum. While 
the station is state-of-the-art,  its  size  and location limit  
future expansion for other than an additional Shift 
Battalion Chief. 


Structure 


Construction Type Steel Frame, Masonry 


Date of Construction 2018 
Seismic Protection Yes 


Auxiliary Power Yes 


General Condition Excellent/New 


Number of Apparatus Bays 1 Drive-through bays 1 Back-in bays 


Special Considerations (ADA, etc.) Compliant; elevator 


Square Footage 8,335 


Facilities Available 


Separate Rooms/Dormitory/Other 6 Bedrooms 6 Beds 0 Beds in dormitory 


Maximum Station Staffing Capability 6 
Exercise/Workout Facilities Yes 


Kitchen Facilities Yes 


Individual Lockers/Storage Assigned Yes 


Shower Facilities Yes 


Training/Meeting Rooms Yes 


Washer/Dryer Yes 


Safety & Security 
Sprinklers Yes 


Smoke Detection Yes 
Decontamination/Biohazard Disposal Yes 


Security Yes 


Apparatus Exhaust System Yes, Plymovent 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 128 


 


 


Figure 117: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 77 


Station Name/Number: Menlo Park Station 77 


Address/Physical Location: 1467 Chilco St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 


 


General Description: 
This station was built in 1998, houses an Engine Company, 
staffed Rescue, and the District’s water Rescue program, 
along with mechanical shops to the rear. The size and age 
of this station limit its ability to meet the expanding needs 
of the area. 


Structure 
Construction Type Ordinary Type 5 


Date of Construction 1998 


Seismic Protection No 


Auxiliary Power Generator 


General Condition Good 


Number of Apparatus Bays 1 Drive-through bays 1 Back-in bays 


Special Considerations (ADA, etc.) No 


Square Footage 4,400 


Facilities Available 
Separate Rooms/Dormitory/Other 4 Bedrooms 5 Beds 0 Beds in dormitory 


Maximum Station Staffing Capability 5 


Exercise/Workout Facilities Apparatus floor 


Kitchen Facilities Yes 


Individual Lockers/Storage Assigned Yes 


Shower Facilities Yes 2 


Training/Meeting Rooms Not in the station – rear building 


Washer/Dryer Yes 


Safety & Security 
Sprinklers Yes 


Smoke Detection Yes 


Decontamination/Biohazard Disposal Yes 


Security Yes 


Apparatus Exhaust System Yes, Plymovent 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 129 


 


 


Figure 118: Menlo Park FPD Administration 


Station Name/Number: Menlo Park Administration Building 


Address/Physical Location: 170 Middlefield Road, Menlo Park, CA 94025 


 


 


General Description: 
Based on ESCI’s observations, the District has outgrown 
the available space of this facility. In fact, some of the 
administrative staff are being housed in a District-owned 
structure to the rear of the Administrative Building. 


Structure 
Construction Type Ordinary Type 5 


Date of Construction 2009 


Seismic Protection Yes 


Auxiliary Power Generator 


General Condition Good 


Number of Apparatus Bays o Drive-through bays o Back-in bays 


Special Considerations (ADA, etc.) Compliant elevator 


Square Footage 6,094 


Facilities Available 
Separate Rooms/Dormitory/Other 0 Bedrooms 0 Beds 0 Beds in dormitory 


Maximum Station Staffing Capability  
Exercise/Workout Facilities No 


Kitchen Facilities Yes 


Individual Lockers/Storage Assigned some 


Shower Facilities Yes, 1 


Training/Meeting Rooms Yes, 1 


Washer/Dryer No 


Safety & Security 


Sprinklers Yes 


Smoke Detection Yes 


Decontamination/Biohazard Disposal No 


Security Yes cameras & card ley* 


Apparatus Exhaust System No 







Community Risk Assessment: Standards of Cover Menlo Park Fire Protection District, CA 


PAGE 130 


 


 


Facilities Summary 
The eight facilities (fire stations) range in age from 70 to 1 years old. Several have undergone varying 
levels of remodel/upgrades since their construction date and, some stations need expansion. Due to the 
size of the stations’ footprint on the lots, expansion is limited or not possible. 


 
Although all structures require routine maintenance, fire stations require even more because they are 
staffed with three or more firefighters operating 24 hours per day. In addition to the routine maintenance 
needs, there are safety standards that should be reviewed. For example,  there  are  diesel  emission removal 
systems within each station however, their effectiveness is compromised by doors from living areas to the 
apparatus bays being propped open. In addition, some of the stations have their workout areas within the 
apparatus bays and are exposed to diesel exhaust. 


 


Stations have a minimum of two to a maximum of four shower facilities. The majority of the fire stations are 
ADA compliant except for Station 4, constructed in 1949, Stations 5 and 77, both constructed in 1998. 


 
A positive and impressive note is that despite many of the stations being aged and some in need of repair or 
update(s), personnel display a truesense of pride in what they have. 


 
In summary, of the eight facilities inspected, one of which is the Administration Headquarters, two stations 
were ranked as “excellent or excellent/new,” four were ranked “good,” and two were ranked as “fair to 
poor” condition. Five of the stations have seismic protection, with  two of those stations  having  an 
Earthquake Warning System. 





		Introduction

		Chick Bernstein

		Virginia Chang Kiraly

		Rob Silano





		Table of Contents

		Executive Summary

		Recommendation A: Continue to maintain adequate cash reserves to provide for emergency purchases or economic downturns.

		Recommendation B: Continue to maintain the apparatus and equipment replacement plan and ensure sufficient funds are available to replace apparatus and equipment.

		Recommendation C: Continue to evaluate growth within the District to take advantage of opportunities to use specially designated tax revenues to fund stations or other capital assets.

		Recommendation D: Add a second Battalion Chief per shift for a total of three additional Battalion Chiefs.

		Recommendation E: Implement a standardized program for pre-incident target hazard planning for operations personnel.

		Recommendation F: Limit the use of traffic “calming” and other measures that increase travel time.

		Recommendation G: Work with the cities of Atherton, Menlo Park, and East Palo Alto to designate primary emergency access routes.

		Recommendation H: Continue to work with the cities of Atherton, Menlo Park, and East Palo Alto to coordinate and, where appropriate, enhance emergency preparedness planning and response efforts.

		Recommendation J: Review dispatch processes to reduce call processing time.

		Recommendation K: Reduce the turnout time interval.

		Recommendation L: Closely monitor the impact of new development on fire department workload.

		Recommendation M: Consider relocating Station 77 to a new site.

		Recommendation N: Move Rescue 77 to Station 6.



		Description of Community Served

		Figure 1: Menlo Fire Protection District Organizational Chart

		Figure 2: MPFPD Revenue, FY 2014–FY 2018

		Figure 3: MPFPD Actual Expenditures by Year, FY 2014–FY 2018

		Figure 4: Menlo Park FPD

		Figure 5: Administrative and Support Staff

		Figure 6: Response Personnel by Rank

		Figure 7: Resource Staffing and Capabilities

		Apparatus/Vehicles

		Figure 8: MPFPD Fire Stations and Apparatus



		Apparatus Summary



		Review of Community Expectations

		Citizen and Business Community Members

		Describeyour expectationsofthe Fire District:

		Whichofthese expectationsisnot met to yoursatisfaction?

		What do you thinkthe Fire District isdoing particularlywell?

		Are there services that youthinkthe District shouldbeproviding that theyare not providing now?

		Are there services the District isproviding that youthinkshouldbediscontinuedordonedifferently?

		Whenyou dial 9-1-1 to report an emergency, how long should it take for help to arrive?

		Does that expectation change dependingonwhereinthe communityyou are located?



		Administrative Support

		What strengthscontributeto thesuccessofthe Fire District?

		What doesthe District do well?

		What are someareas inwhichyouthink the District couldmakeimprovements?

		What do you see as the top issuesfaced bythe Fire District today?

		If you couldchangeonething in the Fire District, what wouldit be?

		Howwouldyoudescribe the level of services providedby the District inparticularbyyourdivisionor section?



		Chief Officers, Labor Leaders, Rank & File

		What strengthscontributeto thesuccessofthe Fire District, andwhat doesthe District do well?

		What are someareas inwhichyouthink the District couldmakeimprovements?

		What opportunities, fromyourviewpoint, areavailableinorder to improvethe District’sservicesand capabilities?

		What challenges do you see in making thoseimprovements?

		What do you see as critical issuesfacedby the Fire District today?



		Fire District Board, City & County Manager(s)

		Describeyour expectationsofthe Fire District.

		Which ofthese expectationsisnot being met to yoursatisfaction?

		Are there services that youthinkthe Fire District shouldbeproviding that theyare not providing now?

		Whenyou dial 9-1-1 to report any emergency, how long should it take for thehelp to arrive?

		Does that expectation changedependingon where in the system service area youare located?

		There are two deployment strategies for fire service resources. The first suggests that  all  residents of  the District should receive generally the same level of service (i.e., fire stations are spaced uniformly to equalize response time throughout ...

		Firedistrictshave no mandates for Disaster Preparedness. What are your expectations ofthe Fire District regarding Disaster Preparedness?



		Fire Prevention

		What strengthscontributeto thesuccessofthe Fire District?

		What doesthe District do well?

		What are  someareas  inwhichyouthink the District  couldmakeimprovements?

		What opportunities, fromyourviewpoint, areavailableto improvethe District’s service and capabilities?

		What do you see as the top critical issuesfacedbythe Fire District today?

		Howwouldyoudescribe the level of services providedby the District inparticularto your Division?





		Community Risk Assessment

		Figure 9: PRI Score Categories

		Figure 10:  Hazard Risk Summary

		Figure 12: Population Densities Criteria

		Figure 15: Demographics for the MPFPDService Area

		Disabilities

		Low-Income

		Figure 16: Federally Declared Disasters, Jan. 1965–Mar. 2018



		Historical Earthquake Events

		Figure 17: Earthquakes Measuring 6.0 or Greater Within 50 Miles

		Figure 18: MPFPD Study Area Wildland Fire Risk

		Figure 19: Historical Tornado Activity

		Figure 20: Tornado Intensity, Enhanced Fujita Scale

		Figure 21: Menlo Park area Average Monthly Wind Speeds11

		Flood Risk

		Figure 22: Flood Zones

		Figure 23: NWS Heat Index

		Figure 24: Menlo Park Area Monthly Temperatures14



		Drought

		Figure 25: U.S. Drought Conditions, December 3, 2019



		Transportation



		Roads

		Railroads

		Figure 26: Rail Lines

		Figure 27: Critical Facilities

		Figure 28: Buildings Requiring Fire Flow over 3,000 GPM or More

		Figure 29: Public Assembly Facilities

		Figure 30: K-12 School Locations

		Figure 31: Daycare and Preschools

		Communications

		Energy

		Water Distribution

		Figure 32: Fire Hydrants



		Very Large Homes

		Hazardous Materials

		Figure 33: Hazardous Material Tier II Locations

		Figure 34: Buildings Three or More Stories in Height

		Figure 35: Buildings 100,000 Square Feetand Larger

		Figure 36: Fire Losses by Region and Size of Community, 2017



		Arson

		Figure 37: Arson Rate per 100,000 Population17



		ISO Fire Protection Class Rating

		Figure 38: Comparison of ISO Class Ratings, California







		Historic System Response Workload

		Figure 39: Response Workload History, 2009–2018

		Figure 40: Responses by Type of Incident, 2018

		Figure 41: Monthly Response Workload, 2016–2018

		Figure 42: Daily Response Workload, 2016–2018

		Figure 43: Hourly Response Workload, 2016–2018

		Figure 44: Incidents per Square Mile, 2018

		Figure 45: Fires, 2018

		Figure 46: Building Fires by Hour of Day, 2016–2018

		Figure 47: EMS Incidents per Square Mile, 2018

		Figure 48:  EMS  Incidents by Hour of Day, 2016–2018

		Figure 49: Response Unit Workload, 2016–2018

		Figure 50: Average Time Committed to an Incidentby Unit, 2016–2018

		Figure 51: Unit-Hour Utilization, 2016–2018

		Figure 52: Service Utilization Rate, 2009–2018



		Critical Tasking and Alarm Assignments

		Figure 53: Staffing CFAI Recommendations Based on Risk

		Figure 54: Structure Fire

		Figure 55: High-Rise Structure Fire (75+ Feetin Height)

		Figure 56:  Wildland Fire—Low Risk

		Figure 57:  Wildland Fire—High Risk

		Figure 58:  Hazardous  Materials—Low Risk

		Figure 59:  Hazardous  Materials—High Risk

		Figure 60: Emergency Medical Aid (Life Threatening)

		Figure 61: Major Medical Response (10+ Patients)

		Figure 62: Motor Vehicle Accident(Non-Trapped)

		Figure 63: Motor Vehicle Accident(Trapped)

		Figure 64: Technical Rescue—Water

		Figure 65: Technical Rescue—Rope

		Figure 66: Technical Rescue—Confined Space

		Figure 67: Structure Fire

		Figure 68: High-Rise Structure Fire (75+ Feet)

		Figure 69:  Wildland Fire—Low Risk

		Figure 70:  Wildland Fire—High Risk

		Figure 71: Hazardous Materials—High Risk

		Figure 72: Emergency Medical Service (Life Threatening)

		Figure 73:  Major Medical Response (10+ Patients)

		Figure 74:  Motor  Vehicle Accident(Non-Trapped)

		Figure 75: Motor Vehicle Accident(Trapped)

		Figure 76: Technical Rescue—Water

		Figure 77: Technical Rescue—Rope

		Figure 78: Technical Rescue—Confined Space

		Figure 79: Technical Rescue—Trench

		Figure 80: Mutual Aid Resources, Including Resources Available Through 3rd Alarm

		Figure 81: MPFPD Performance Goals

		Call Processing

		Figure 82: PSC Dispatch Time Performance

		Figure 83: Call Processing Time by Hour of Day, 2018



		Turnout Time

		Figure 84: Turnout Time Performance

		Figure 85: Turnout Time by Hour of Day, 2018



		Distribution and Initial Arriving Unit Travel Time

		Figure 86: MPFPD 4-Minute Travel Coverage

		Figure 87: Adjacent Agency 4-Minute Travel Coverage

		Figure 88: Travel-Time Performance, First Arriving Unit

		Figure 89: Travel Time by Hour of Day, 2018

		Figure 90: Response-Time Performance, First Arriving Unit

		Figure 91: Response Time by Hour of Day, 2018



		First Arriving Unit Received to Arrival Time

		Figure 92: Received to Arrival Time, First Arriving Unit

		Figure 93: Received to Arrival Time by Hour, 2018



		Concentration and Effective Response Force Capability Analysis

		Figure 94: Effective Response Force Performance

		Figure 95: Frequency Distribution of Response Time for Full ERF Arrival

		Figure 96: Effective Response Force, Firefighters

		Figure 97: Effective Response Force, Apparatus—Low-Rise Building Fire

		Figure 98: Effective Response Force, Apparatus—High-Rise Building Fire



		Incident Concurrencyand Reliability

		Figure 99: Incident Concurrency

		Figure 100: Unit Concurrency

		Figure 101:  Station Reliability





		Performance Objectives and Performance Measures

		Figure 102: Fire Growth versus Reflex Time

		Figure 103: Consequence of Fire Extension in Residential Structures—United States, 2011–2015

		Figure 104: Cardiac Arrest Event Sequence



		Overview of Compliance Methodology

		Figure 105: Six-Step Compliance Model

		Phase 3—Develop Compliance Strategies

		Phase 4—Communicate Expectations to Organizations

		Phase 5—Validate Compliance

		Phase 6—Make Adjustments/Repeat Process



		Overall Evaluation, Conclusions, and Recommendations

		Recommendation A: Continue to maintain adequate cash reserves to provide for emergency purchases or economic downturns.

		Recommendation B: Continue to maintain the apparatus and equipment replacement plan and ensure sufficient funds are available to replace apparatus and equipment.

		Recommendation C: Continue to evaluate growth within the District to take advantage of opportunities to use specially designated tax revenues to fund stations or other capital assets.

		Recommendation D: Add a second Battalion Chief per shift for a total of three additional Battalion Chiefs.

		Recommendation E: Implement a standardized program for pre-incident target hazard planning for operations personnel.

		Recommendation F: Limit the use of traffic “calming” and other measures that increase travel time.

		Recommendation G: Work with the cities of Atherton, Menlo Park, and East Palo Alto to designate primary emergency access routes.

		Recommendation H: Continue to work with the cities of Atherton, Menlo Park, and East Palo Alto to coordinate and, where appropriate, enhance emergency preparedness planning and response efforts.

		Recommendation J: Review dispatch processes to reduce call processing time.

		Recommendation K: Reduce the turnout time interval.

		Recommendation L: Closely monitor the impact of new development on fire department workload.

		Figure 106: Incidents by Station and Period of Day, 2018

		Figure 107: Current and Proposed Response Units



		Recommendation M:

		Figure 108: Current Station 77 4-Minute Travel Coverage

		Figure 109: Proposed Station 77 4-Minute Travel Coverage





		Appendix A—Hazard Vulnerability Risk Tables

		Fixed Facilities

		Figure 110: Fire Station Condition Definitions

		Figure 111: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 1

		Figure 112: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 2

		Figure 113: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 3

		Figure 114: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 4

		Figure 115: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 5

		Figure 116: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 6

		Figure 117: Menlo Park FPD Fire Station 77

		Figure 118: Menlo Park FPD Administration
























































February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 1 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District 


Emergency Services and Fire 
Protection Impact Fee 


Nexus Study  
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


February 2016 
 


 


 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 2 
 


Executive Summary 


The Menlo Park Fire Protection District (MPFPD) was created in 1916 as an independent Special District. 
MPFPD provides emergency services consisting of fire protection, prevention, emergency medical, 
technical rescue, hazardous materials, disaster preparedness and public education, as well as other 
important, related emergency services. MPFPD provides these services to the Town of Atherton, the 
Cities of East Palo Alto and Menlo Park and to portions of unincorporated areas of San Mateo County.  


New development and the intensification of existing land uses are expected to occur within the MPFPD’s 
service area boundaries over the next few years. The population and employment growth will lead to 
increased numbers of service calls and will create a need for additional facilities and equipment to 
maintain MPFPD’s level of service. Additionally, new development and intensification of existing land 
use will likely lead to the construction of taller buildings, increased traffic congestion, and greater 
service call volume. These changes will result in the need for additional apparatus, new/specialized 
equipment and further personnel, all of which will require either an expansion or relocation of existing 
fire stations. 


MPFPD has limited funding sources to upgrade or expand existing resources. The primary objective of 
the proposed Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Program is to ensure that new 
development funds its fair share of the costs of needed capital facilities to serve growth within MPFPD’s 
boundaries. These capital facilities include fire stations and buildings, emergency response vehicles and 
other fire protection and emergency equipment.  


This Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study provides the necessary technical 
documentation to support the adoption and implementation of a District‐wide Emergency Services and 
Fire Protection Impact Fee Program that will fund the fire protection capital facilities for the MPFPD. 
This study demonstrates the relationship, or nexus, between the need for capital facilities to serve new 
development and the type and amount of impact fees that would ensure new development pays its fair 
share of capital facilities. The Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee (Impact Fee) calculated 
in this study represents the maximum supportable fee burden (the “fair share”) that could be charged 
on new development for which there is a reasonable nexus and proportional relationship. Due to 
economic and/or policy considerations, the MPFPD may elect to adopt fees that are below the 
maximum supportable level. 


The proposed Impact Fee could be adopted under the authority allowed by Assembly Bill 1600 (the 
“Mitigation Fee Act”), contained in Section 66000 and subsequent section of the California Government 
Code as described in Chapter I of this study. Assembly Bill 1600 established a process for local 
governments and districts to formulate, adopt, impose, collect and account for impact fees. 
Per Assembly Bill 1600, cities hold the legal authority to impose fees on behalf of MPFPD within their 
city limits. Similarly, San Mateo County has the authority to impose impact fees on its unincorporated 
areas. 


The proposed Impact Fee would be levied on new residential and non‐residential development within 
MPFPD’s boundaries. This study presents why capital improvements will be needed to accommodate 
new development and describes the types of capital improvements to be funded by the fee. The fee 
computation utilizes the Standards of Cover (SOC) Assessment prepared for the District and presented 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 3 
 


to the Board for review in June 2015 to help identify facilities required by new development,1 the 
District’s current CIP (adopted by the Board of Directors on 6/16/2015), and the MPFPD FY2015‐16 
budget. 


The proposed Impact Fee could be levied on all new development (including the intensification of land 
use, such as secondary housing units) leading to an increased demand for services. The proposed Impact 
Fee on residential and non‐residential development of various types is summarized in Executive 
Summary Table S‐1, below.  


Because future development and fire service costs may vary from the projections in this report due to 
future events not fully known at this time, implementation of the impact fee includes periodic review 
and update to assure that the fee amounts and fees collected are sufficient to fund improvements, and 
that the fees do not exceed new development’s proportionate share of the costs.  These reviews may 
require that the amount of the fees be modified. 


 


   


                                                      
1 Standards of Cover Assessment, Citygate Associates (June 16, 2015). 


Table S‐1


Summary of Proposed Fire Protection Impact Fee by Land Use


2016 Fire Protection Fee Nexus Study ‐ MPFPD


Land Uses


Residential Uses


Base Rate $299 per service population


Single Family $879 per dwelling unit


Multi Family $655 per dwelling unit


2nd Unit $655 per dwelling unit


Other Unit Types $299 per service population


Non‐Residential Uses


Base Rate $173 per employee


Retail $433 per 1,000 gross sqft


Hotel $347 per 1,000 gross sqft


Office ‐ R&D $572 per 1,000 gross sqft


Industrial $217 per 1,000 gross sqft


Other Unit Types $173 per employee


(1)  Allowable fee rates are based on growth as projected by ABAG,


      Placeworks for Menlo Park; and AECOM for East Palo Alto. See Table 1 for 


      detailed growth projections.  Employment is counted as 58%


     of resident for purposes of study


Sources: AECOM; Placeworks; ABAG; Menlo Park Fire Protection District.


Rates based on Planned Growth (1)







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 4 
 


Table of Contents 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District 


Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study 
   


Executive Summary 2 


I.  Introduction 6 


A.  Organization of the Nexus Study 6 


B.  Overview of Legislative Requirements 6 


C.  Purpose of the Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee   7 


D.  Methodology for Impact Fee Calculation 10 


E.  Key Assumptions and Sources 11 


II.  Growth Projections 13 


A.  Relationship between Impact Fees and Demographic Data 13 


B.  Growth Projections 13 


II.  New Development’s Share of Needed Facility, Vehicle and Equipment 
Costs 16 


A.  Existing Fire Facilities 16 


B.  Fire Protection Service Standards and SOC Report 17 


C.  Capital Improvement Projects and Use of Fee Revenues 17 


D.  Calculation of Impact Fee 21 


IV.  Proposed Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee 22 


A.  Type of Development on Which the Fee Is Imposed 22 


B.  Cost Allocation and Fee Schedule 23 


C.  Revenue Estimate 25 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 5 
 


V.  Program Implementation 26 


A.  Annual Escalation/Periodic Updates 26 


B.  Ongoing Administration 26 


C.  Fee Credits or Reimbursements 27 


VI.  Nexus Findings 28 


A.  Purpose of Fee 28 


B.  Use of Fee Revenues 28 


C.  Benefit Relationship 29 


D.  Burden Relationship 29 


E.  Proportionality 29 
 


Figure and Tables 


Figure 1    MPFPD Service Area 


Table S‐1    Summary of Proposed Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee by Land Use 


Table 1     ABAG and Placeworks Population and Employment Estimates ‐ 2015 and 2035 


Table 2     2015‐2035 Capital Improvement Plan Summary ‐ 2015 Dollars 


Table 3     Capital Improvements Needed to Service New Development and Cost Allocations 


Table 4     Estimated Fire Impact Fee per Service Population 


Table 5     Proposed Fire Protection Fee Rates by Land Use 


Table 6     Proposed Fees by Land Use Compared to Palo Alto Impact Fees 


 


Appendix Tables 
Table A‐1  Fire Protection Facility Inventory 


Table A‐2  Estimated Construction Costs for Stations 2 and 6 


 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 6 
 


I.  Introduction 


The Menlo Park Fire Protection District (MPFPD) provides emergency and fire protection services to the 
Town of Atherton, the Cities of East Palo Alto and Menlo Park, and to portions of unincorporated areas 
in San Mateo County. This Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study, also referred 
to as the “Nexus Study” provides the necessary technical documentation to support the adoption and 
implementation of a District‐wide Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Program to ensure 
that new development funds its fair share of the cost of MPFPD’s fire protection facilities and 
emergency response vehicles.  


A. Organization of the Nexus Study  


 Chapter I of this study provides an overview of legislative requirements of the Mitigation Fee Act 
(MFA) and describes the purpose of the proposed Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact 
Fee (Impact Fee).  It describes the methodology used to calculate the fee and lists the key 
assumptions and sources for the Nexus Study.  


 Chapter II describes the relationship between impact fees and demographic data and summarizes 
population and employment growth projections (expected service population) for areas served by 
MPFPD and its capital facilities. 


 Chapter III describes MPFPD fire protection response time service standards, describes MPFPD’s 
capital improvements needed to serve demand from new development, and estimates new 
development’s share of the cost of those facilities. 


 Chapter IV describes the types of development (land use) on which the fee will be imposed and 
calculates fees for each use.  


 Chapter V describes program implementation issues, including fee adjustments and credits for in‐
kind construction and contributions.  


 Chapter VI summarizes the nexus findings from this study as required by the MFA. The Appendices 
provide supporting information and calculations for the findings. 


B. Overview of Legislative Requirements 


Impact fees are governed by the California Government Code Sections 66000‐66008, commonly referred 
to by their 1987 authorizing legislation Assembly Bill 1600 or the title provided by the legislature, “the 
Mitigation Fee Act (MFA).” The MFA establishes a process for local governments and districts to 
formulate, adopt, impose, collect and account for impact fees. The Town of Atherton, Cities of East Palo 
Alto and Menlo Park and San Mateo County (the jurisdictions within the MPFPD boundaries, collectively 
referred to as Local Agencies in this study) have the legal authority to impose fees on development 
projects on behalf of the MPFPD within their jurisdictional limits. Each local agency will consider the 
adoption of the proposed fee. 


Under the MFA, an “impact fee” is a monetary exaction (other than a tax or assessment) used to defray 
all or a portion of the cost of additional public facilities needed to provide service to new development. 
The MFA stipulates that local governments and districts may only charge fees on new development for 
which public facilities and improvements are needed and that the amount of the fee must be in 
reasonable proportion to that need.  







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 7 
 


In order to adopt the proposed Impact Fee, a “nexus” (or, a reasonable relationship) must be 
demonstrated between the amount and type of the fee and the need for additional public facilities in 
order to serve new development. This study provides the necessary documentation for the Local 
Agencies to adopt the proposed fee, including the following required components: 


 Purpose of the fee; 


 Description of the use or improvements for which the fee will be used; and 


 Demonstration of a reasonable relationship between: 


o Use and the type of development on which the fee is imposed, 


o Need for the public improvements/facilities and the type of new development which will 
benefit from them, and 


o Amount of the fee and the cost of the public facility attributable to the new development on 
which the fee is imposed. 


The proposed fee will fund fire protection capital facilities that will serve projected growth within the 
MPFPD boundaries. These capital facilities include fire stations and buildings, fire protection vehicles 
and other fire protection and emergency equipment for MPFPD (for purposes of this Nexus Study, these 
capital facilities are collectively referred to as fire protection facilities). 


C. Purpose of the Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee  


MPFPD was created in 1916 as an independent Special District that is currently governed by five Board 
of Directors who are elected and delegate authority to the Fire Chief to manage the organization. 
MPFPD provides emergency services consisting of fire protection, prevention, emergency medical, 
technical rescue, hazardous materials, disaster preparedness and public education as well as other 
important, related emergency services. MPFPD provides these services to the Town of Atherton, the 
Cities of East Palo Alto and Menlo Park and to portions of unincorporated areas of San Mateo County 
(see Figure 1, MPFPD service area). 


MPFPD has seven stations, which are currently staffed at the minimum levels needed to provide 
adequate fire services. Based on information provided by MPFPD, the District’s current service level is 
approximately 0.87 fire safety personnel positions per 1,000 population served and the District’s daily 
safety front line staffing is comprised of 25 Firefighters and 1 Battalion Chief.  MPFPD’s current average 
response time for the arrival of the first due engine is 6.34 minutes.2 In 2013, the Insurance Services 
Organization (ISO) completed the Public Protection Classification (PPC) survey, which evaluates structure 
fire suppression capabilities for fire agencies. MPFPD received a Class 2 classification.3  MPFPD’s fire 
protection facilities are the critical factor to maintain its service standards.  


“The Fire District’s deployment  system meets  the  current  system demands but  is becoming  strained, 


especially east of Highway 101 and needs adjustment soon, as growth occurs. Traffic congestion is also 


an  increasing problem as communities  the District protects continue  to evolve. The District’s growing 


employment base and regional post‐recession economic recovery is yielding intense traffic congestion at 


                                                      
2 Per Standards of Coverage Final Report Executive Summary. 
3 Among approximately 47,000 fire agencies nationwide, 61 are designated as Class 1 agencies, 592 are designated as Class 2 
agencies and the remaining fire agencies received a Class 3 or higher classification. While MPFPD has not formally adopted 
the ISO as a standard, it serves as a national measuring tool to evaluate MPFPD’s capabilities. 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 8 
 


rush hours. The GIS travel time analysis  in the Standards of Cover study and prior  incident travel time 


data for the District responses clearly show the substantial hindrance this causes to emergency response 


travel in the District.” 4 


MPFPD faces operational challenges as a result of ongoing and increasing traffic congestion, most 
notably along Marsh Road, Willow Road and University Avenue. In order to navigate through congestion 
during peak hours, MPFPD vehicles drive against the flow of traffic with increasing frequency. Traffic 
congestion also affects non‐emergency operations, decreasing the efficiency of everyday travel for 
routine activities such as fire prevention inspections, maintenance and supply purchases.  In order to 
provide adequate cover for the entire district, MPFPD re‐positions resources to prevent gaps in 
coverage, however as traffic congestion increases so does the time it takes for reposition apparatus 
which leads to longer response times.  Greater challenges exist when units from the City side (West side 
of 101) respond to the Bay side (East side of 101).   


As described in Chapter II, new development and the intensification of existing land uses are expected 
to occur within the MPFPD boundaries. Population and employment growth will increase service call 
volume and traffic congestion which will create a need for additional facilities and equipment to 
maintain MPFPD response time goals and staffing ratios. New development and intensification of 
existing land use will also result in increased development and the construction of taller buildings. These 
changes will result in the need for additional apparatus, new and specialized equipment and additional 
personnel, all of which will require either an expansion or relocation of existing fire stations in order to 
maintain MPFPD’s current service standards.  


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


                                                      
4 Per Standards of Coverage Final Report section 5.2 Service Demand for 2014 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 9 
 


 
Figure 1 


MPFPD Service Area 
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study 


Menlo Park Fire Protection District  


 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 10 
 


MPFPD’s capital improvement projects have been funded primarily by the General Fund and Certificates 
of Participation (COPs). For example, the recent reconstruction of Fire Station 2 and construction of the 
Administration/Fire Prevention Building were partially funded General Fund and partially funded by the 
Certificates of Participation.  However, these funding sources are not sufficient alone to upgrade or 
expand fire protection facilities to serve new development. 


MPFPD is dependent upon property tax for revenues to the General Fund, which have fluctuated 
significantly during the past decade. While the annual growth rate of property tax revenues increased 
annually through FY 2008/09, the recent economic recession slowed the rate of growth to less than 
1 percent in fiscal year 2010/2011, according to the adopted Fiscal year 2015/16 MPFPD budget.  
Although the local economy has significantly recovered in the past two fiscal years, future property tax 
growth is not guaranteed, as it is dependent upon local economic climate and activity. However, in 
recent years assessed values have increased more than expected.  
 


MPFPD budgeting philosophy states that ongoing expenditures will be funded by ongoing revenues.  
Therefore property tax revenues are used to fund ongoing operating expenditures such as salaries and 
benefits, training, small tools and equipment, maintenance and repair services and supplies, fuel, 
utilities, insurance, as well as other operating expenses.  Property tax revenue depends on economic 
conditions and has varied over time.  The MPFPD has been able to build up reserves in recent years as a 
result of increased property tax revenue from the recovered economy and strong growth in real estate 
values. These reserves can help to partially fund capital improvements, including the share of 
improvement costs attributable to existing development. The use of impact fees equitably allocates a 
share of new facility costs to new development to help assure the facilities can be provided without 
adverse impacts on existing residents. New development will also generate the need for additional 
personnel and increased operating expenditures which are not funded by impact fees.  However, to the 
extent new development results in increased property tax revenues, these revenues can be used to pay, 
in part, increases in ongoing operating expenditures not covered by an impact fee.  


The primary objective of the Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Program is to ensure 
that new development helps to fund the one‐time costs of expanding fire protection capital facilities to 
serve growth within the MPFPD boundaries. These capital facilities include fire stations and buildings, 
fire protection vehicles and other fire protection and emergency equipment, as further described in 
Chapter III. MPFPD’s emergency services are operated and maintained on a district‐wide basis to assure 
consistent level of service to all areas. Thus, it is reasonable to establish an impact fee program that is 
consistent throughout the MPFPD boundaries, as described further below. 


D. Methodology for Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee 
Calculation 


In order to determine the amount of the impact fee to be charged to new development, MPFPD must 
determine baseline conditions (existing resident and employee populations) and the total projected new 
growth in population and employment, and intensification of existing land use within the MPFPD 
boundaries. The difference between the two reflects the amount of new development on which an 
impact fee may be levied. The fee methodology creates one fee rate per service population, which 
equals 100% of population and 58% of employment. This study establishes the nexus between the 
impacts stemming from new development and the amount of the fee imposed based on the following 
steps: 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 11 
 


 Step 1 – Estimate existing and expected future levels of population and employee growth, based 
on data available from Placeworks (a planning consultant for the City of Menlo Park that has 
provided development, population and employment growth projections to the City), the 
Association of Bay Area Governments and local jurisdictions.  


 Step 2 – Estimate the service population served based on new development and intensification 
of use projections. The service population served is the aggregate population that generates 
demand for MPFPD’s services and is comprised of new residents and new employees that will be 
served by MPFPD. 


 Step 3 – Establish the new and/or expanded facilities needed by new development and estimate 
the total capital cost needed to provide these facilities. 


 Step 4 – Determine new development’s fair share of capital costs to maintain fire protection 
service standards in the future as the population served increases as a result of new 
development and estimate a base cost per service population rate. 


 Step 5 – Determine the appropriate impact fee level for each development type based on the 
future population served and new development’s proportionate allocation of the cost of needed 
facilities and/or improvements. 


E. Key Assumptions and Sources 


The impact fee calculations are based on a variety of conditions and assumptions regarding growth 
projections, as well as the inventory and cost of recently constructed fire protection facilities, such as 
fire stations and buildings, fire protection vehicles, and other fire protection equipment. These 
assumptions are discussed in detail in later chapters and are summarized below: 


 Growth Projections – The base year for this study is 2015. The future year is 2035 or a 20‐year 
horizon. The base year and future population and employment for the City of Menlo Park are 
from the proposed ConnectMenlo General Plan Update. The proposed General Plan Update has 
been in processing over a year and is scheduled to be considered by the City Council for 
adoption in August 2016.  Therefore, the District believes the proposed land use changes and 
associated development in General Plan Update represent reasonable assumptions regarding 
future service population growth in the City of Menlo Park.  The City of East Palo Alto’s base 
year for population and employment is based on ABAG Projections 13 and future population 
and employment is based on data from the “Development Impact Fee Program Nexus Study” 
prepared for the City of East Palo Alto by AECOM in 2013. Base year and future population and 
employment for the Town of Atherton and unincorporated areas of San Mateo County are 
based on California Department of Finance and ABAG Projections 13.  


 Capital Improvement Program –The MPFPD’s FY2015‐16 Capital Improvement Program 
includes an annual plan for facilities and equipment needed to serve both existing and future 
development.  Land value and improvement cost of fire stations and buildings are primarily 
based on the recent land acquisition and construction costs associated with Fire Stations 2 and 
6, and the Administration/Fire Prevention Building. Costs of new vehicles and equipment are 
calculated based on the average replacement costs for the current stock of vehicles and 
equipment. All figures are presented in constant 2015 dollars. 


 Standards of Cover (SOC) – The SOC document identifies current and future facilities and 
equipment needed to serve existing and future development, while achieving its recommended 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 12 
 


levels of service.  The cost of those facilities and equipment provide the basis for the impact fee 
calculation. 


 


The analysis presented in this study has been gathered from the most reliable sources available to 
MPFPD staff. The estimates and projections of current and future information assembled and provided 
herein are intended solely for the purpose of establishing reasonable estimates for use in this study. 
While the MPFPD believes these estimates are reasonable and are based on the best available 
information at the present time, future population, employment, service and facility requirements may 
vary based on numerous factors not fully known at this time. Implementation of the impact fee will 
include provisions to review and update the fee in the future in order to adjust for future changes in 
assumptions every five years. 


Some of the costs and calculations shown in this study are rounded. All numbers are expressed in 
constant 2015 dollars. 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 13 
 


II.    Growth Projections  


Chapter II describes the relationship between impact fees and demographic data, as well as summarizes 
population and employment growth projections and estimates expected service population served by 
MPFPD’s capital facilities. 


A. Relationship between Impact Fees and Demographic Data 


Demographic data for existing and projected new development provide the foundation for the 
computation of impact fees. This section describes the ways in which data presented in this study are 
used in calculating the Impact Fee. 


Demographic data is essential in apportioning the costs of needed services and facilities to future 
residents and employees. For the purpose of this analysis, existing development is defined as 
development built as of 2015. Future development is development planned to occur from 2015 onward. 
For planning and forecasting purposes, the planning horizon for this study is the time period from 2015 
through 2035 or a 20‐year period, consistent with most general plan planning horizons. 


The Impact Fee is calculated using baseline statistics for existing residential and employee population for 
2015 and projected residential and employee population in 2035. “Resident Population” is the measure 
of total population within the MPFPD boundaries. Employee Population refers to existing and projected 
jobs by location. “Population Served” (or “Service population”) is the measure of the aggregate 
population and employment that will generate demand for the MPFPD services, including all residents in 
the MPFPD boundaries and those employees who work within the MPFPD boundaries but reside 
elsewhere. For this study, Service Population is equal to 100% of population and 58% of employees.  
That is, employees are not assumed to generate as much demand for services as residents given that 
they only spend a portion of their time in the District working. Demographic data for both residential 
and employee populations within the MPFPD boundaries in 2015 and 2035 are used to calculate current 
and projected service demand populations, as further described below. 


B. Growth Projections 


This section summarizes existing residential population and employment and provides projections of 
future growth. Estimates of the existing residents and employment and projections of growth are critical 
assumptions used throughout this study. These estimates and projections are used as the basis for the 
following:  


1) Estimating fire protection facilities to accommodate growth; 


2) Allocating facility costs per unit of development (for fee schedules);and 


3) Estimating future fee revenues. 


MPFPD is anticipated to face significant new development within its boundaries through 2035. In 
addition to Facebook’s recently opened West Campus, additional planned projects include Facebook’s 
planned new development on the TE site and old Prologis Site, the Menlo Gateway project (all east of 
101), the Commonwealth Corporate Center project, and downtown development allowed by the Menlo 
Park Downtown Specific Plan, all located in Menlo Park, and future development at the 
Ravenswood/Four Corners Plan area in East Palo Alto.  Furthermore, the Cities of East Palo Alto and 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 14 
 


Menlo Park are working towards the completion of the update of their General Plans that will intensify 
land use development, especially within the M‐2 zoning area in Menlo Park east of Highway 101.  


Base year and future residential population and employment for the City of Menlo Park is based on data 
from the proposed “ConnectMenlo General Plan Update.” The proposed General Plan Update for Menlo 
Park has been in processing over a year and is scheduled to be considered by the City Council for 
adoption in August 2016.  Therefore, the District believes the proposed land use changes and associated 
development in General Plan Update represent reasonable assumptions regarding future service 
population growth in the City of Menlo Park.  For the City of East Palo Alto, base year is from ABAG 
Projections 13 and future residential population and employment is based on the “Development Impact 
Fee Program Nexus Study” prepared for the City of East Palo Alto by AECOM in 2013. For the Town of 
Atherton and the unincorporated areas of San Mateo County (within the MPFPD boundaries), base year 
and future residential and employment population is based on ABAG projections.  


Residential Growth 


Table 1 summarizes the growth of residential population within the MPFPD boundaries between 2015 
and 2035. As shown, approximately 26,900 additional persons are expected to reside within the MPFPD 
boundaries during the planning horizon as a result of new residential development. The City of Menlo 
Park is estimated to experience the greatest total residential population growth, accounting for nearly 
52 percent of all new residents that will be added within the MPFPD boundaries through 2035. 


Employment Growth 


As shown in Table 1, existing employment within the MPFPD boundaries is estimated at 41,000. 
Based on adjusted 2035 projections, employment is estimated to grow by 25,300 jobs over the planning 
horizon. The City of Menlo Park is estimated to experience the greatest total employment growth, 
accounting for nearly 70 percent of all new jobs that will be added within the MPFPD boundaries 
through 2035.     







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 15 
 


 


 


Summary of Existing and Future Service Population 


The previous sections described the existing development within the MPFPD boundaries in 2015 and the 
projected foreseeable residential population and employment growth through 2035. This section 
presents estimates of the “Service Population” in 2015 and in 2035. Service Population is a reasonable 
indicator of facility demand because fire facilities support fire protection services for both residential 
and non‐residential development. As described in Chapter I, the impact fee nexus is determined based 
on new development’s fair share of capital costs to maintain MPFPD’s existing fire protection service 
standards in the future as the population served increases as a result of new development. 


This nexus study uses a factor (or ratio) of 0.58 employees per resident to calculate the employee 
component of service population (based on analysis of MPFPD staff hours that were spent on service 
calls to residential and non‐residential property types).5 For the purposes of having a common 
measurement of resident and non‐resident employees, the term “resident equivalent” is also used in 
this study (i.e. an employee is considered to be the equivalent of 0.58 residents).  


As shown in Table 1, the service population in 2015 is approximately 111,600 with a forecasted increase 
of approximately 41,600 between 2015 and 2035 or an increase of about 37%.  


                                                      
5 Citygate Associates analyzed annual MPFPD staff hours for 2013 and 2014 by incidents and by property use. 


Table 1


Population and Employment Estimates ‐ 2015 and 2035


2016 Fire Protection Fee Nexus Study ‐ MPFPD


Projections/City‐Area 2015 2035 Growth % Inc. 2015 2035 Growth % Inc. 2015 2035 Growth % Inc.


Proposed New Projections 


Atherton (1) 7,100        7,700      600          8.5% 2,730      3,080      350          12.8% 8,683      9,486      803          9.2%


East Palo Alto (2) 29,200      37,100    7,900      27.1% 2,920      9,171      6,251      214.1% 30,894    42,419    11,526    37.3%


Menlo Park (3) 32,900      46,860    13,960    42.4% 30,910    48,678    17,768    57.5% 50,828    75,093    24,265    47.7%


Unincorporated San Mateo (4)  18,630      23,054    4,424      23.7% 4,410      5,386      976          22.1% 21,188    26,178    4,990      23.6%


Total District  87,830      114,714  26,884    30.6% 40,970    66,315    25,345    61.9% 111,593  153,177  41,584    37.3%


(1) Population and employment estimates for Atherton are from ABAG Projections 13. 


(2) Population and employment estimates for East Palo Alto are from:


 "Development Impact Fee Program Nexus Study" prepared for City of East Palo Alto by AECOM (December 12, 2013).


  See Table 1, page 16; figures are for entire city with RBD, and adjusted from 2010 to 2035 to 2015 to 2035, on a prorata basis.


  Population and employment base year estimates are from ABAG 13.


(3) Population and employment estimates for Menlo Park are from:


     "ConnectMenlo General Plan Update" project description, Table 3‐2 Existing and Planned 2040 Horizon Year Buildout Projections


       Figures have been adjusted for 2015 to 2035, on a prorata basis.  From City Council Staff Report 15‐149‐CC, page 49 of PDF.


(4) Population and employment estimates for the uinincorporated areas projections were derived from


     ABAG Projections 2013 and CA State Dept. of Finance estimates dated January 1, 2015.


      Figures have been reduced on a prorata basis, to 2035 or by 5 years.


(5) Service Population shown equals Population + Employment x 0.58


Sources: AECOM; Placeworks; ABAG; CA Dept of Finance; Menlo Park Fire Protection District.


Population Employment Service Population (5)







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 16 
 


III. New Development’s Share of Needed Facility, Vehicle 
and Equipment Costs  


Chapter III discusses the MPFPD fire protection service standards, capital improvement costs, and 
estimates new development’s fair share of capital costs to maintain service standards in the future. 
Chapter III also describes MPFPD’s capital improvements needed to accommodate new development. 


A. Existing Fire Facilities  


MPFPD currently has seven fire stations, a mechanical repair and water rescue facility, and an 
administrative office building spread throughout the 33‐square mile service area, as shown in Figure 1 in 
Chapter I. MPFPD’s facility distribution averages one Fire Station every 4.7 square miles within the 
service area. The nearest MPFPD Fire Station to any one MPFPD Fire Station is less than 2 miles away.  


The quantity, location and proximity of Fire Stations is important as it is a reasonable indicator of 
MPFPD’s ability to serve the district.  At a minimum, MPFPD maintains a ratio of three personnel to 
one fire engine at each of the seven fire stations.  In addition, the District staffs a Battalion Chief and a 
single ladder truck, which is staffed with four personnel. MPFPD is currently staffed at the standard 
levels needed to provide adequate fire services.  MPFPD also staffs approximately 20 support personnel 
comprised of Administrative personnel, Fleet services and other support related positions.   
 
MPFPD responds to approximately 8,547 incidents in 2015, or about 23.41 incidents per day. Of those 
incidents, approximately 2.16% were fires, 64.72% were emergency medical service calls (EMS), and 
33.12% were other types of incidents.6  MPFPD’s current average response time for the arrival of the 
first due engine is 6:34 minutes, while the County’s standard and the recommended average response 
time per the Standards of Coverage report is 7:00 minutes.  In 2013, ISO completed the Public 
Protection Classification (PPC) survey, which evaluates structure fire suppression capabilities for fire 
agencies. MPFPD received a Class 2 classification.7 MPFPD’s fire protection facilities vehicle and 
equipment are the critical factor in meeting service standards and MPFPD will need additional fire 
protection facilities, vehicles and equipment to accommodate new development to maintain its current 
service standards. 
 


The following section summarizes the recent SOC document prepared for the MPFPD.  The SOC 
document recommends a response time standard, and identifies facilities and vehicles necessary to 
serve additional service needs from new development, while maintaining the response time standards. 


 


 


 


 


                                                      
6 Per District’s internal incident tracking software: Firehouse. 
7 Among approximately 47,242 fire agencies nationwide, 61 agencies are designated as Class 1, 592 agencies are designated as 
Class 2 and the remaining fire agencies received a Class 3 or higher classification. While MPFPD has not formally adopted the 
ISO as a standard, it does serve as a measuring tool to evaluate MPFPD’s capabilities. 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 17 
 


B. Fire Protection Service Standards and SOC Report 


The SOC study prepared in 2015 for the MPFPD recommended service standards subsequently adopted 
by the MPFPD:  


The goal of first response unit shall be to arrive on the scene of all code 3 emergencies within 
7 minutes, 90% of the time from the receipt of the 9‐1‐1 call in the dispatch center and the 
goal of multi‐unit responses shall be to have all units on scene within eleven minutes from the 
time of the 9‐1‐1 call in the dispatch center.8 


The SOC study also identified a number of improvements that would be necessary to serve demand 
created by new development. These improvements included the following: 


1. To ensure the District can also add other units as needed east of Highway 101, Station #77 
should be rebuilt and expanded to accommodate at least two fire crews.9  The station currently 
houses one crew that serves existing development.  The Fire Station #77 property is not owned 
by the District.  The rebuilding and expansion of Fire Station #77 will likely require acquisition of 
property for the new Station. 


2. If expansion of Station #77 is not enough to maintain adopted response times, the SOC proposes 
longer‐term that the District should plan to add a reliever unit (e.g., a 2‐firefighter Fast Response 
Rescue Squad) to assist with peak hour incidents inside traffic‐congested areas.10 


3. The SOC study also recommended options for adding ladder truck coverage on the east side of 
Highway 101 to respond to increased demand; this option would add a second front line ladder 
truck and would require the relocation of the existing ladder truck from Station 1 to provide 
broader coverage on the west side of Highway 101 which could lead to the expansion of Station 
#4.11 


These improvements have been included by the MPFPD in their Capital Improvement Plan, and a share 
of the cost of these facilities and apparatus has been allocated proportionately to new development. 
The following sections describe these improvements and costs in greater detail. 


C. Capital Improvement Projects and Use of Fee Revenues  


MPFPD has assessed future facility needs to maintain its existing fire protection service standards and 
has prepared a capital improvement plan including short‐ and long‐term capital improvement projects 
and the estimated costs associated with these improvements, considering the cumulative impact of new 
development and intensification of land use projected through 2035.  Land values and building 
improvement costs are primarily based on the recent land acquisition and construction costs associated 
with Fire Stations 2 and 6 and the Administration/Fire Prevention Building. 


                                                      
8 MPFPD Board of Directors Resolution 1818‐2015, Meeting Date: 9/15/2015. 
9 Standards of Cover Volume 2 of 3 Technical Report: Section 7 Next Steps – Short Term Steps #4  
10 Standards of Cover Volume 2 of 3 Technical Report: Section 7 Next Steps – Long Term Steps #2  
11 Standards of Cover Volume 1 of 3 Executive Summary: Section 1.4  







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 18 
 


Table 2 shows the MPFPD’s Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) and Table 3 identifies the proportionate 
share of costs for facilities and vehicles attributable to new development.12 The impact fee is calculated 
based on the costs attributed to new development, and will be used to fund new development’s 
proportionate share of the costs of those facilities. Proposed new improvements include the following: 


 New Apparatus (1 additional ladder truck/quint and 1 smaller apparatus such as a Rescue squad or 
Heavy rescue vehicle, including equipment) – MPFPD currently has one front line ladder truck. 
However, MPFPD will require a second ladder truck due to increasing population and the addition of 
proposed elevated structures. With only one ladder truck, MPFPD would locate the ladder truck 
near the middle of MPFPD’s service area, which can lead to longer response times. If an emergency 
required a second ladder truck, a neighboring jurisdiction would provide the second ladder truck 
through “automatic aid.”13  Having two front line ladder trucks would allow MPFPD to strategically 
place the ladder trucks on the east side and west side of the District at stations located near existing 
and proposed elevated structures, thus improving response times. A new squad vehicle will help to 
address increased service demand from incidents related to worsening traffic congestion due to 
increased employees and residents. These vehicle costs are attributable 100 percent to demand 
generated by new development. 


 Relocation, Expansion, Remodeling and/or New Construction of Fire Stations – While MPFPD 
currently does not have a plan to increase its number of fire stations, most of the existing fire 
stations will need to be upgraded and/or expanded within the next 25 years due to population 
growth and building age. MPFPD has identified at least two fire stations (Station #4 and Station #77) 
which are proposed to be rebuilt and potentially relocated in order to respond to demand from new 
development and maintain service standards including response times. The costs for these 
expansions have been allocated 50 percent to new development; the expansions effectively double 
the capacity of the stations, and the additional capacity is needed for additional vehicles and staff to 
serve new development. 


The total cost of the Capital Improvement Plan from 2015 to 2035 is $82,089,500. The share of costs 
attributable to new development is 15% or a total $12,068,500 as shown in Table 3.  The allocation 
factors by project were estimated by District staff and represent the share of each project triggered by 
planned new Service Population. These costs are allocated to projected service population in the MPFPD 
to calculate the fee, as described in the following section.  


                                                      
12 The MPFPD’s CIP was developed using the MPFPD adopted five year CIP plan, the District’s vehicle and apparatus 
replacement schedule and the 2012 facilities condition assessment developed by CH2Mhill. 


13 MPFPD has working agreements with the City of Palo Alto Fire Department, the City of Redwood City Fire Department, 
Woodside Fire District, along with others to provide automatic aid. 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 19 
 


 


 


Table 2


2015‐2035 Capital Improvement Plan Summary ‐ 2015 Dollars 


2016 Fire Protection Fee Nexus Study ‐ MPFPD


Facility 2015‐16 2016‐17 2017‐18 2018‐19 2019‐20 2020‐25 2025‐30 2030‐35 Total


Buildings


Admin. & Fire Prevention $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0


Station 1 & Training Facility $0 $75,000 $250,000 $3,000,000 $5,000,000 $4,678,472 $0 $0 $13,003,500


Station 2 $4,363,422 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $4,363,400


Station 3 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,000,000 $5,292,842 $6,292,800


Station 4 $0 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 $9,993,548 $0 $0 $10,068,500


Station 5 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 6,292,842$      $6,292,800


Station 6 $1,500,000 $3,300,000 $3,300,000 $1,500,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $9,600,000


Station 77 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $10,068,548 $0 $10,068,500


Station 77 Ancillary Bldgs $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 1,000,000$     $0 $1,000,000


Subtotal $5,863,422 $3,375,000 $3,550,000 $4,500,000 $5,075,000 $14,672,020 $12,068,548 $11,585,684 $60,689,500


Apparatus


Fire Engine $595,000 $0 $1,190,000 $1,190,000 $0 $1,190,000 $2,975,000 $1,190,000 $8,330,000


Ladder Truck $0 $0 $0 $1,700,000 $0 $0 $0 $3,400,000 $5,100,000


Ladder Truck (New) $0 $0 $0 $1,700,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,700,000


Squad (New) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $300,000 $0 $300,000


Patrol Pumper  $190,000 $0 $0 $200,000 $0 $0 $0 $390,000 $780,000


BC Command Vehicle $0 $0 $0 $110,000 $0 $0 $110,000 $110,000 $330,000


Airboat $0 $0 $0 $0 $80,000 $0 $0 $80,000 $160,000


Other Vehicles and Equip. $200,000 $200,000 $200,000 $200,000 $200,000 $1,000,000 $1,400,000 $1,300,000 $4,700,000


Subtotal $985,000 $200,000 $1,390,000 $5,100,000 $280,000 $2,190,000 $4,785,000 $6,470,000 $21,400,000


Grand Total $6,848,422 $3,575,000 $4,940,000 $9,600,000 $5,355,000 $16,862,020 $16,853,548 $18,055,684 $82,089,500


Source: Menlo Park Fire Protection District.


Capital Improvement Plan Summary‐ 2015 Forecasted Expenditures







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 20 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


Table 3


Capital Improvements Needed to Service New Development and Cost Allocations


2016 Fire Protection Fee Nexus Study ‐ MPFPD


Facilities


Net Cost to 


District


Percent of 


Cost 


Allocated to 


New 


Development


Cost Allocated 


to New 


Development


Remaining Portion 


to be Offset by 


Other Funding 


Sources


Admin. & Fire Prevention $0 0% $0 $0


Station 1 & Training Facility $13,003,500 0% $0 $13,003,500


Station 2 $4,363,400 0% $0 $4,363,400


Station 3 $6,292,800 0% $0 $6,292,800


Station 4 $10,068,500 50% $5,034,250 $5,034,250


Station 5 $6,292,800 0% $0 $6,292,800


Station 6 $9,600,000 0% $0 $9,600,000


Station 77 $10,068,500 50% $5,034,250 $5,034,250


Station 77 Ancillary Bldgs $1,000,000 0% $0 $1,000,000


Subtotal $60,689,500 17% $10,068,500 $50,621,000


Apparatus & Equipment (# of items)


Fire Engine (14) $8,330,000 0% $0 $8,330,000


Ladder Truck (3) $5,100,000 0% $0 $5,100,000


Ladder Truck (1) $1,700,000 100% $1,700,000 $0


Squad (1) $300,000 100% $300,000 $0


Patrol Pumper (4) $780,000 0% $0 $780,000


BC Command Vehicle (3) $330,000 0% $0 $330,000


Airboat (2) $160,000 0% $0 $160,000


Other Vehicles and Equipment $4,700,000 0% $0 $4,700,000


Subtotal $21,400,000 9% $2,000,000 $19,400,000


Grand Total $82,089,500 15% $12,068,500 $70,021,000


(#) Indicates the quantity to be purchased over the next 20 years which includes replacement


 per the District's replacement schedule.


Source: Menlo Park Fire Protection District







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 21 
 


 


 


D. Calculation of Impact Fee 


Table 4 shows the resulting fire fee per Service Population, which totals $298.92 including a 3% 


administrative charge added to cover costs of annual reporting and periodic updates. Chapter IV 


describes the application of this fee to specific types of land uses. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


Table 4


Estimated Fire Impact Fee per Service Population


2016 Fire Protection Fee Nexus Study ‐ MPFPD


Item Table Ref. Amount


New Facility Costs associated See Table 3 $12,068,500


  with New Development


Net New Growth See Table 1 41,584            


  Service Population 


New fee based on Facility Costs $290.22


Fee Administration 3.0% $8.71


New Fire Fee per Service Population $298.92


Source: Menlo Park Fire Protection District.







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 22 
 


IV. Proposed Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact 
Fee 


A. Type of Development on Which the Fee Is Imposed 


The Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee (Impact Fee) will be assessed on all types of 
development within the MPFPD boundaries that results in the addition of new residents and/or jobs, 
and thereby increases demand on services, as new residents and employees from future development 
will utilize facilities funded through the Impact Fee. The Impact Fee will be levied on all new 
development and also on the intensification of land use (such as secondary residential units) that may 
result in an increased demand for MPFPD’s services. 


The fee schedule is differentiated between residential and non‐residential land use types to reflect the 
differences in facility need among types of new development, as shown below. Each land use has a 
density factor14 that is applied to the base Service Population cost estimated in Table 4.  


 Residential Development: 


 Single‐Family ‐ 2.94 persons per household 


 Multi‐Family  ‐ 2.19 persons per household 


 Secondary Unit – 2.19 persons per household 


 Other – 1.0 times number of estimated residents (includes mobile homes units, group homes, 
nursing homes, etc.) 


 Non‐Residential Development: 


 Retail – 400 sq. ft. per employee or 2.5 employees per 1,000 sq. ft. 


 Hotel – 500 sq. ft. per employee or 2.0 employees per 1,000 sq. ft. 


 Office – R&D – 300 sq. ft. per employee or 3.3 employees per 1,000 sq. ft. 


 Industrial – 800 sq. ft. per employee or .25 employees per 1,000 sq. ft. 


 Other – 1.0 times number of estimated employees for any other non‐residential use not 
included in the above 


The need resulting from residential development is based on the number of new residents per unit or 
persons per household. Projections of the number of new residents are based on estimates of the 
average person per household for each unit type. The need resulting from non‐residential development 
is based on the number of jobs generated by new development or per 1,000 sq. ft. of building space. 
Projections of new jobs are based on the estimated number of employees per square foot for each type 
of non‐residential land use within the MPFPD boundaries. The maximum supportable fee for each land 
use is calculated based on relevant ratios for residents (per unit) for residential uses and based on 
relevant ratios for employees (per 1,000 square foot) for non‐residential uses.  


                                                      
14 Persons per dwelling unit ratios were calculated using data from the US Census: Table B254.  A weighted average of the three 


communities for each residential type was used.  Employee ratios were developed from the review of EPA’s 2013 nexus study, 
MP Bohannon mixed use Project (KMA Housing Need Study), Ravenswood/4 Corners TOD Specific Plan, Bohannon FIA by 
BAE, Facebook FIA by BAE, and MP Downtown Specific Plan FIA by Strategic Economics. 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 23 
 


B. Cost Allocation and Fee Schedule 


Capital costs to serve new development will be allocated to individual development projects based on 
the fee schedule shown in Table 5. As described above, the fee is calculated based on the MPFPD capital 
cost allocated to new development per new persons served, which is then allocated by land use based 
on the relevant ratios for residential (per unit or resident) and for non‐ residential (per square foot or 
employee). The fee for each development is calculated by multiplying the number of units and/or size of 
development for each land use in the development project to determine the total fee for that project.  


MPFPD’s emergency services are operated and maintained as a district‐wide system. Thus, it is 
reasonable to establish an impact fee that is consistent throughout the MPFPD boundaries, although 
new development may occur more intensively in some areas. In essence, each land use pays the same 
fee regardless of where it is located within the District boundaries.  


Table 5 shows the maximum supportable Impact Fee that can be charged based on the methodology 
and assumptions in this Report.15 For both residential and non‐residential uses, a base rate of $299 per 
service population is calculated by taking the total CIP cost attributable to new development 
($12,068,500) and dividing it by the total growth in service population between 2015 and 2035 of 
41,458 and then adding 3 percent to the base fee to cover administrative costs of the impact fee 
program. As these calculations are in 2015 dollars, the District plans to include in the proposed fee 
program an annual adjustment to the fee amount each year to account for inflation and to maintain the 
fee’s purchasing power over time.  


                                                      
15 The MPFPD may elect to adopt fees at or below the maximum supportable level based on economic or policy considerations. 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 24 
 


 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Table 5


Proposed Fire Protection Fee Rates by Land Use


2016 Fire Protection Fee Nexus Study ‐ MPFPD


Land Uses


Residential Uses


Base Rate 1.00 per service population $299 per service population


Single Family 2.94 persons per unit $879 per dwelling unit


Multi Family 2.19 persons per unit $655 per dwelling unit


2nd Unit 2.19 persons per unit $655 per dwelling unit


Other Unit Types (2) 1.00 per resident $299 per resident


Non‐Residential Uses


Base Rate  0.58 per service population $173 per employee


Retail 400 sqft per employee $433 per 1,000 gross sqft


Hotel 500 sqft per employee $347 per 1,000 gross sqft


Office ‐ R&D 300 sqft per employee $572 per 1,000 gross sqft


Industrial 800 sqft per employee $217 per 1,000 gross sqft


Other Unit Types (2) 1.00 per employee $173 per employee


(1)  Allowable fee rates are calculated using growth as projected by ABAG, Placeworks for Menlo Park; and


AECON for East Palo Alto.  See Table 1 for detailed growth projections.  Employment is .58% of population rate.


(2) For all other units, fee would equal base rate times number of estimated residents/employees.  


Sources: AECOM; Placeworks; ABAG; Menlo Park Fire Protection District.


Unit of Measure Rates based on Planned Growth (1)







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 25 
 


Table 6 shows a comparison of the new proposed rates based on planned growth to the current fees in 
the City of Palo Alto, which recently adopted a new fire impact fee. Overall, the new proposed fees are 
slightly lower than those in Palo Alto, except for the proposed industrial fee which is slightly higher. 
 


 
   


C. Revenue Estimate 


Based on the proposed fee levels shown in Table 5 and the amount of projected development, MPFPD 
estimates it will receive approximately $12,068,500 in fee revenue between 2015 and 2035 if the 
projected rate of development and resident and employee growth occurs.16 Future fee revenue 
represents new or intensified development’s fair share contribution, consistent with the nexus 
principles described in this report, toward the anticipated cost of the proposed capital improvement 
projects included in MPFPD’s Capital Improvement Plan which are necessary to maintain fire protection 
standards as service population increase. The remaining capital improvement costs estimated at 
$70,021,000 will need to be funded by other revenue sources such as through contributions from the 
General Fund, the issuance of COPs or cost efficiencies. Implementation of the impact fee includes 
periodic review and updates to assure that the fee amounts and fees collected are sufficient to fund 
improvements, and that the fees do not exceed new development’s proportionate share of costs. These 
reviews may lead to a modification of the fee.  


 


 


                                                      
16 The fee revenue projections are based on the projected number of residents and employees through 2035, and assume that 
the Impact Fee is adopted at the maximum supportable level. The MPFPD may elect to adopt fees below the maximum 
supportable level. 


Table 6


Proposed Fees by Land Use Compared to Palo Alto Fire Impact Fees


2016 Fire Protection Fee Nexus Study ‐ MPFPD


Land Uses


Palo Alto 


Fees


MPFPD as % 


of Palo Alto


Residential Uses


Base Rate 1.00 per service population $299 per service population NA NA


Single Family 2.94 persons per unit $879 per dwelling unit $996 88%


Multi Family 2.19 persons per unit $655 per dwelling unit $797 82%


2nd Unit 2.19 persons per unit $655 per dwelling unit NA NA


Other Unit Types 1.00 per service population $299 per resident NA NA


Non‐Residential Uses


Base Rate 0.58 per service population $173 per employee NA NA


Retail 400 sqft per employee $433 per 1,000 gross sqft $560 77%


Hotel 500 sqft per employee $347 per 1,000 gross sqft $560 62%


Office ‐ R&D 300 sqft per employee $572 per 1,000 gross sqft $740 77%


Industrial 800 sqft per employee $217 per 1,000 gross sqft $190 114%


Other Unit Types 1.00 per service population $173 per employee NA NA


Sources: ABAG; Menlo Park Fire Protection District.


Unit of Measure Proposed Fees







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 26 
 


 


V.  Program Implementation 


The Impact Fee will be collected at the time of building permit issuance in each jurisdiction, along with 
all other fees charged to new development. As MPFPD does not have the statutory authority to adopt a 
fee, it must rely on the legislative bodies of the Local Agencies to adopt a new impact fee. Each 
jurisdiction would then transfer fee revenue to the District. The following items should be addressed 
during the implementation of the fee. 


A. Annual Escalation/Periodic Updates  


The facility costs are in 2015 dollars, but every year, construction costs have generally increased (i.e. on 
average, construction costs have increased by 7.1 percent from 2010 to 2013 – Turner Building Cost 
Index). To account for this construction cost inflation, impact fees must be adjusted commensurately 
each year. As an escalation mechanism, impact fees will be automatically increased each year by the 
change in the San Francisco Construction Cost Index (CCI) as reported in Engineering News Record.  
 
The Nexus Study should be updated every five years to account for changes in the project list, the scope 
of projects, other funding sources, changes in growth and development, and land use in each 
jurisdiction. The cost of these regular updates is encapsulated in the 3 percent administrative cost added 
to the fee rates. 


B. Ongoing Administration  


The Government Code requires the MPFPD to report certain information to the MPFPD Board and 
forward a copy to each local jurisdiction every year and update the nexus study and fee calculations 
every five years. The District must make the following information from the previous fiscal year available 
within 180 days after the last day of that fiscal year. 


 A brief description of the type of fees in the account or fund;  


 The amount of the fee revenue;  


 The beginning and ending balance in the account or fund;  


 The amount of the fee collected and the interest earned;  


 An identification of each public improvement for which fees were expended and the amount of 
the expenditures;  


 A description of each inter‐fund transfer or loan made from the account and when it will be 
repaid; and  


 Identification of any refunds made once it is determined that sufficient monies have been 
collected to fund all fee‐related projects (as needed).  


The MPFPD must make this information available for public review and present it at the next regularly 
scheduled public meeting not less than 15 days after this information is made available to the public. For 
the 5th year following the first deposit into the account or fund, and every five years thereafter, the 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 27 
 


MPFPD must make the following findings with respect to any remaining funds in the fee account, 
regardless of whether those funds are committed or uncommitted.  


 The purpose to which the fee is allocated;  


 A reasonable relationship between the fee and the purpose for which it is charged;  


 All sources and amounts of funding anticipated to fill any financing shortfalls;  


 The approximate dates on which funding is expected to be deposited into the fee account; and 


 The nexus study should be updated with new costs, service assessments, facility needs and 
growth data.  If this update results in a new base fee rate, the fee resolutions and ordinances in 
each jurisdiction should be updated as well. 


The five‐year report must be made public within 180 days after the end of the MPFPD’s fiscal year, and 
must be reviewed at the next regularly scheduled public meeting. If the MPFPD does not disclose these 
findings, the law may require that the MPFPD refund the money, on a prorated basis, to the then 
current‐record owners of the development project.  


C. Fee Credits or Reimbursements  


The MPFPD may provide fee credits to developers who dedicate land and/or construct facilities included 


in the nexus study and fee program. Fee credits may be provided up to the planned cost of the 


improvement cited in the MPFPD improvement plan, subject to periodic inflation adjustments or the 


actual cost paid by the developer, whichever is lower. Prior to approving a credit for work constructed 


by the developer, the MPFPD shall approve the plans to ensure consistency with the MPFPD’s 


engineering, design, and planning standards. For construction cost overruns, only that amount shown in 


the applicable MPFPD improvement plan, subject to periodic inflation adjustments, will be credited, 


unless otherwise determined to be justifiable and unavoidable by the MPFPD. The MPFPD will evaluate 


the appropriate fee credit or reimbursement based on the value of the dedication or improvement. Fee 


credits will be determined on a case‐by‐case basis.  


 


   







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 28 
 


VI. Nexus Findings 


This chapter describes the necessary nexus between new development within the MPFPD boundaries 
and the proposed capital improvements, as required under the MFA (Government Code Section 66000). 
The MFA requires local governments to document five findings (described below) when adopting an 
impact fee. 


A. Purpose of Fee 


The purpose of the Impact Fee is to provide an ongoing funding source for fire protection facilities, 
vehicles and equipment that serves new development. The proposed fee will help MPFPD fund the costs 
of fire protection facilities and services for new development within the District boundaries.  Section C 
of Chapter I details the purpose of the fee. 


B. Use of Fee Revenues 


Revenue from the proposed fee will be used to fund fire protection facilities, vehicles and equipment to 
serve new development, as described in Chapter III. All planned facilities will be located within the 
MPFPD boundaries.  


The use of fee revenues is restricted to funding fire protection facilities, vehicles and equipment to serve 
new development. More specifically, allowable use of fee revenues includes: 


 Land to expand existing stations or for new stations;17 


 New development’s fair share of the total cost of land for relocation of existing stations (net of 
funds received from the sale of any land associated with existing stations that are relocated); 


 Expansions (additional building square feet) to existing stations; 


 New and/or expanded facilities to house administration, support fire prevention and provide for 
mechanical needs, as well as specialized equipment to support future growth. 


 New development’s share of the total cost of a relocated station (associated with buildings that 
are larger than the existing station size); 


 Station remodeling and renovations that result in improved service (for example, remodeling to 
accommodate new apparatus or to improve radio communications); 


 Apparatus and vehicles with equipment that expand or upgrade the current fleet (not 
replacement of existing apparatus or vehicles); 


 Equipment that expands or upgrades the current stock of equipment (not replacement of 
existing equipment); 


 Equipment that results in improved service (for example, traffic preemption devices); 


 Costs of financing associated with any of the above expenditures;  


                                                      
17 No additional new stations are currently anticipated by MPFPD, but some stations may require significant upgrading and/or 
expansion. 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 29 
 


 Costs of administering the Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Program, 
including the cost of fee updates and related legal and consultant fees;18 


 Other capital improvements (yet to be determined) that would be needed as the result of new 
development.   


Impact fee revenue is not allowed to be used for annual operating and maintenance or staff costs except 
administrative costs associated with the fee program.  MPFPD has assessed its future facility, vehicle and 
equipment needs and estimated the cost to maintain existing fire protection service standards as part of 
its capital improvement planning efforts. MPFPD’s preliminary list of long‐term capital improvement 
projects and estimated costs is described in Chapter III and shown in Table 2. MPFPD will continue to 
update its Capital Improvement Plan to provide additional details, updated cost estimates, and 
proposed timing for acquisition of land and construction of facilities.  


C. Benefit Relationship 


New development and intensification of land use within the MPFPD boundaries will increase the 
demand for fire protection facilities, vehicles and equipment utilized for district‐wide service provision. 
Revenues from the proposed fee will be used to finance the acquisition of land, construction of fire 
protection buildings and the purchase of related equipment and vehicles that serve new development. 
These facilities will contribute to the district‐wide network of services accessible to the additional 
residents and employees associated with new development. 


D. Burden Relationship 


The need for the proposed fee is based on the projected growth in MPFPD’s service population served 
through 2035 (see Chapter II) the fire protection service standards (determined in Chapter III) and the 
Capital Improvement Plan.  New development will increase the overall demand for fire facilities, vehicles 
and equipment. The estimated cost to provide new fire protection facilities is used as the basis to 
determine how much funding would be required for facilities in order to determine new development’s 
share of these facility costs as described in Chapter III and Chapter IV.  


E. Proportionality 


The costs of facilities, vehicles and equipment are allocated proportionately between new and existing 
development based on the proportionate demand and need for fire protection facility needs, as 
described in Chapters III and IV. These costs are similarly allocated between land uses in proportion to 
their relative demand generation as measured by the population served. Thus, the relationship between 
the proposed impact fee, new development and the costs of new facilities, vehicles and equipment is 
reasonable and proportional to the impact or demand generated.   


 
 


                                                      
18 The updates of the impact fee program are periodic reviews, which involve in‐depth analysis necessary to fairly balance the 
burden of costs attributable to new and existing development. This detailed analysis and subsequent setting of fee levels 
maintains equity in the fee program. Activities related to the comprehensive updates include reviews of the methodology 
used to calculate fees, updates of project costs, amendments to the program, forecasts for demographic and financial data 
and reviews of facility standards. 







February 16, 2016 
 


 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District   
Emergency Services and Fire Protection Impact Fee Nexus Study  Page 30 
 


 


APPENDIX TABLES 


 


 


 


 


 


 


Table A‐1


Fire Protection Facility Inventory


2016 Fire Protection Fee Nexus Study ‐ MPFPD


Fire Stations/Buildings City or Town


Land Area 


(Sq. Ft.)


Building Size 


(Sq. Ft.)


Date 


Constructed 


Proposed 


Replacement 


Completion Year 


Proposed 


Building Size 


(Sq. Ft.)


Replacement 


Cost/Sq.Ft. 


(1 & 2)


2015 Replacement 


Value @ Proposed 


Sq. ft. 


Admin. & Fire Prevention Offices Menlo Park 11,230                  6,094             2009 2048 7,000                   $219 $1,533,700


Fire Station 1  Menlo Park 43,158                  11,869             1955 2022 14,000                   $839 $11,746,683


Station 1 Classroom, Gym & Shop Menlo Park


 Included above 


with Station  2,855               1976 2022


 Included above 


with Station  $839 na


Station 1 Training Tower Menlo Park


 Included above 


with Station  2,063               1955 2022 5,586                     $225 $1,256,850


Fire Station 2 East Palo Alto 24,570                  12,562             2015 2016 12,562                   $781 $9,809,683


Station 2 Communications Bldg.  East Palo Alto


 Included above 


with Station  185                   2012 2052 185                         $6,844 $1,266,130


Fire Station 3 Atherton                   11,250  3,600             1997 2033 7,500                   $839 $6,292,866


Fire Station 4 Menlo Park 22,560                  3,969               1949 2025 12,000                   $839 $10,068,586


Fire Station 5 Menlo Park 7,125                    3,200               1997 2035 7,500                     $839 $6,292,866


Fire Station 6 Menlo Park 15,676                  5,303               1953 2018 10,700                   $897 $9,600,000


Fire Station 77 Menlo Park 43,412                  4,400               1996 2030 12,000                   $839 $10,068,586


Station 77 Mechanics Shop, 


Washbay, Classroom & Water 


Rescue Bldgs. Menlo Park


 Included above 


with Station  9,259               1998 2030 10,000                   $100 $1,000,000


Total                 178,981  65,359           99,033                 $68,935,950


(1) Admin bldg cost replacement estimate based on remodel cost of existing admin bldg., Fire Stations 1, 3, 4, 5, 77 based on average construciton costs as 


detailed in Appendix table A‐2, Station 2 based on actual costs and estimated cost to complete the station, Station 6 based on cost estimate provided by design 


firm, and Station 77 ancillary buildings based on a cost estimate to construct butler style buildings.


(2) The Station 2 Communication Building cost per sq. ft. includes cost of comm. bldg, monopole and surrounding site improvements. The cost per sq. ft. 


is high due to soft and hard costs being distributed over a smaller sized building. 


Source: Menlo Park Fire Protection District


Table A‐2


Estimated Construction Costs for Station 2 and 6


2016 Fire Protection Fee Nexus Study ‐ MPFPD


Station #


Land Acquisition 


Costs


Construction 


Costs (1)


Total 


Estimated 


Sq. Ft Per 


Station


Total cost 


per sq. ft. (2)


2 1,288,093$           9,809,683$      11,097,776$  12562 781$             


6 1,508,302$           9,600,000$      11,108,302$  10700 897$             


Average 839$             


(1) Costs associated with the construction of the Station 2 Communication Bldg are not included


      in the estimate.


(2) Cost per square foot is based on Construction costs only.


Source: Menlo Park Fire Protection District.







December 5th, 2022

To Whom It May Concern,

The Housing Action Coalition's Project Review Committee is proud to endorse the proposed
project at 123 Independence Drive. We commend the Sobrato Organization for creating a
variety of housing types at various levels of affordability in a high opportunity area. Their efforts
to listen and adjust their project plan in response to community input, promotion of affordable
homeownership opportunities, and inclusion of public open space exemplifies the types of
projects needed throughout the Bay Area, and Menlo Park.

Land Use: This project will create 316 homes in a residential, mixed use zoning district and will
be replacing five one-story buildings used for offices and warehouses. The site is currently
surrounded by mid-rise commercial buildings, but is expected to become a mixed use
neighborhood in future years.

Density: This project will include 316 homes (53 units per acre) consisting of a 5 story
apartment building with studios and 2-bedroom units, 18 below market rate townhomes, and 98
market rate townhomes. The committee commends the project team for utilizing a density bonus
to exceed the baseline density. While we wish that the project team maximized density under
the bonus, we understand that the townhomes were in response to community input and
provide for much needed affordable home ownership opportunities.

Affordability: The project exceeds the 15% BMR requirement, with 17% of the project
designated as affordable. In addition to going above the mandated affordability levels, the
project team will provide additional affordable housing options through 18 affordable
homeownership opportunities in addition to the 56 BMR rental units. The committee commends
TSO's partnership with Habitat for Humanity Greater San Francisco to develop the affordable
townhomes.

Parking and Alternative Transportation: The total site has 1.28 parking spots for every unit of
housing which slightly exceeds the minimum parking requirement of 1:1. It will additionally
include 714 bike parking spaces. While this is more car parking than we would like, the
committee understands financing and feasibility concerns. We highly commend the project
team's ample bike parking.

Urban Design: The project plan includes a .60-acre public park, as well as a 20 foot wide
pedestrian and bike connection to the greater neighborhood. The committee is strongly
supportive of this public open space, which will help foster community and recreational
activities. We encourage the project team to promote access to the park to those living nearby.

Environmental Features: This project has a number of features that will make it
environmentally friendly, including that it will be all electric, include EV charging stations, feature
efficient plumbing, and contain dual plumbing for recycled water reuse. We are excited that this

O2



project is aiming for LEED gold certification in both the apartments and townhomes.

Community Benefits: The project includes a number of great residential amenities, most
notably the public park, underground wiring, and lifting of the site to remove the development
from the flood zone. The committee additionally appreciates the inclusion of 8 below market rate
apartments as a community amenity in response to community outreach.

Community Input: The Committee is giving this project the highest community input rating due
to its efforts to meet with different community members and stakeholders, as well as its
willingness to adjust the development plan in response to community outreach. Some of the
main results of community input were the decision to eliminate the construction of an office
building in favor of creating more housing and the greater home ownership opportunities that
came from this project's relationship with Habitat for Humanity Greater San Francisco.

Sincerely,

Corey Smith, Executive Director
Housing Action Coalition (HAC)

O3



Community Development 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission 
Meeting Date:  
Staff Report Number:  

Public Hearing and
Study Session: 

12/12/2022 
22-073-PC

Public hearing for the environmental impact report 
(EIR) scoping session and study session for the 
proposed Parkline masterplan project to redevelop 
SRI International’s research and development 
(R&D) campus with a new office/R&D campus with 
no net increase in commercial square footage, up to 
550 new multi-family dwelling units and 25 acres of 
publicly accessible open space at 333 Ravenswood 
Avenue 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission conduct the following items for the proposed project to 
redevelop SRI International’s research campus with a new office/R&D, transit-oriented campus with no net 
increase in commercial square footage, up to 550 new dwelling units at a range of affordability levels, new 
bicycle and pedestrian connections, and 25 acres of publicly accessible open space: 

• EIR scoping session to receive public testimony and provide comments on the scope and content of a
EIR for the proposed project; and

• Study session to receive public comments and provide feedback on the proposed project.

The December 12th meeting will not include any project actions. The proposal will be subject to additional 
review at future Planning Commission and City Council meetings. 

Staff recommends the following meeting procedure to effectively and efficiently move through the two items, 
allowing the public and the Planning Commission to focus comments on the specific project components. 

EIR scoping session 
• Introduction by Staff
• Presentation by Applicant on Project Proposal
• Presentation by City’s EIR Consultant
• Public Comments on EIR scope
• Commissioner Questions on EIR scope
• Commissioner Comments on EIR scope
• Close of Public Hearing

Project proposal study session 
• Introduction by Staff
• Public Comments on Project
• Commissioner Questions on Project



Staff Report #: 22-073-PC 
Page 2 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

• Commissioner Comments on Project 
 
Staff believes that it would be beneficial for the Planning Commission and members of the public to receive 
the applicant’s presentation during the EIR scoping session portion of the public hearing to provide a more 
robust understanding of the proposed project that will be studied in the EIR. Accordingly, staff recommends 
that the Planning Commission allow the applicant to present the overall project, followed by a presentation 
from the City’s EIR consultant (ICF) outlining the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) process. 

 
Policy Issues 
Scoping sessions on the EIR provide an opportunity early in the environmental review process for Planning 
Commissioners, public agencies, and community members to comment on specific topics that they believe 
should be addressed in the environmental analysis. Study sessions provide an opportunity for Planning 
Commissioners and interested community members to provide more general feedback on a proposed 
project, with comments used to inform future review and consideration of the proposal. The EIR scoping 
session public hearing and study session should be considered as separate items, as part of the same 
hearing. 
 
A masterplan project provides a vision and framework for growth and development of the site. The applicant 
is requesting general plan and zoning ordinance amendments to enable the proposed masterplan 
development. The new general plan land use designation would allow for residential dwelling units, public 
and quasi-public uses, office, R&D, and supporting uses. As currently proposed, the designation would 
apply to the entire site and establish a maximum residential density at 45 dwelling units per acre and a 
maximum commercial floor area ratio (FAR) of 0.6, based on the amount of existing square footage on-site, 
to allow up to approximately 1.38 million square feet of non-residential uses. The non-residential square 
footage would not exceed the current square footage of all buildings on the project site.  
 
 
The proposed project is anticipated to require the following entitlements and/or City permits: 
 

1. Environmental Review to analyze potential environmental impacts of the proposed project through 
a full EIR, pursuant to CEQA; 

2. General Plan and Zoning Ordinance Amendments to enable the proposed masterplan 
development; 

3. Rezoning to apply the new zoning district(s) to the project site; 
4. Conditional Development Permit (CDP) to enable comprehensive planning of the project; 
5. Development Agreement (DA) for vested rights in exchange for community benefits; 
6. Architectural Control to review the design of the future new buildings and associated site 

improvements;  
7. Vesting Tentative Map to merge the existing lots and re-subdivide in a manner consistent with the 

proposed improvements; 
8. Heritage Tree Removal Permits to remove heritage trees to enable the proposed project and plant 

heritage tree replacements per the City’s municipal code requirements; and 
9. Below Market Rate (BMR) Housing Agreement to provide on-site BMR units in accordance with 

the City’s BMR Ordinance. 
 
In addition, a Fiscal Impact Analysis (FIA), Water Supply Assessment (WSA), and Housing Needs 
Assessment (HNA) will be prepared.  Additional actions and entitlements may be required as the project 
plans are refined. 



Staff Report #: 22-073-PC 
Page 3 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
The City Council would be the decision-making body for the EIR, general plan amendment, zoning 
ordinance amendment, and rezoning to allow the proposed mix of uses and densities/intensities requested 
by the applicant, and the CDP to enable comprehensive planning of the project. The City Council would also 
be the acting body on the development agreement, which would provide vested rights in exchange for 
community benefits, the vesting tentative map to merge the existing lots and re-subdivide in a manner 
consistent with the proposed improvements, and the BMR Housing Agreement. The Planning Commission 
would be the acting body for any future architectural control permits for the proposed new buildings and the 
recommending body on all other entitlements, and the City Arborist would issue the Heritage Tree Removal 
Permits. 

 
Background 
SRI International (formerly known as the Stanford Research Institute) is an independent, nonprofit research 
institute located on an approximately 63-acre campus at 333 Ravenswood Avenue. The existing 
development on the SRI campus is regulated through a CDP, which was first approved in 1975. The most 
recent amendment to the CDP occurred in 2004 for the construction of Building T, at the southernmost 
portion of the campus. The CDP establishes standards for the use and development of the campus. 
 
The site of SRI’s campus has been reduced over time. In 1978, an amendment to the CDP was approved to 
remove approximately 10.3 acres from the site for the development of the McCandless office complex on 
Middlefield Road, and in 1997, the size of the campus was further reduced when part of the property was 
sold to Classic Communities for the development of 33 single family residential units in the Burgess 
Classics development. 
 
The existing CDP allows a maximum employee count of 3,308. The applicant indicates approximately 1,100 
people are currently employed at the project site, although SRI’s headcount has fluctuated between 
approximately 1,400 and 2,000 workers since 2003.  
 
Lane Partners has been working with staff on this proposal and submitted a pre-application package in April 
2021. On June 22, 2021, the applicant gave an introductory presentation on the project to the City Council. 
Although the Council didn’t provide specific feedback, public comment was received. In October 2021, the 
applicant submitted a formal application package, with a resubmittal package submitted in January 2022. 
The Planning Commission reviewed the proposed project at a study session during its meeting on March 
28, 2022, received public comments and asked clarifying questions. Planning Commissioners discussed the 
following at the study session: 
• Interest in increasing residential densities and inquiries regarding an acre of land being used for a fully 

affordable project, in addition to the required 15% below market rate (BMR) housing units; 
• Interest in reducing proposed parking and/or placing parking underground;  
• Questions about the programming for the sports field and potential conflict with the adjacent church; 
• Questions about the pre-pandemic parking needs and number of employees at SRI; 
• Concerns about traffic congestion and interest in increased transit use for future site occupants; and 
• Interest in the potential realignment of Ravenswood Avenue and Ringwood Avenue. 
 
Excerpt minutes from the March 28th Planning Commission meeting are included as Attachment I.  
 
The City Council held a study session on May 10, 2022, reviewed the proposed project, received public 
comments and asked clarifying questions. City Council members discussed the following general topics at 



Staff Report #: 22-073-PC 
Page 4 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

the study session:  
• Options to mitigate noise; 
• Security and bike and pedestrian safety; 
• Potential shuttle programs, parking ratios, and transit passes; 
• BMR requirements and other affordable housing; 
• Onsite amenities/community amenities; 
• Site density and intensity; and 
• Water usage of the proposed project. 
 
Site location 
For purposes of this staff report, Ravenswood Avenue is used in an east to west geographic orientation. 
The project site is located at 333 Ravenswood Avenue and generally bound by Laurel Street to the west, 
Ravenswood Avenue to the north, Middlefield Road to the east and the Burgess Drive ROW to the south. 
The site contains 38 existing buildings, totaling approximately 1.38 million gross square feet, which include 
a mix of office, R&D, and support uses. The surrounding zoning and land uses are provided in Table 1 and 
a location map is included as Attachment A.  
 

Table 1:Surrounding Land Uses and Zoning 

Item Existing Land Uses Zoning 
North  Single-Family & Multi-Family Residential/Church R-1-S/R-2/R-3/City of Atherton  

South City Corp. Yard/USGS/Multi-Family Residential PF/R-3(A) 

East Menlo Atherton High School/Office (McCandless 
office complex) City of Atherton/C-1-X 

West Civic Center/Burgess Park/Single-Family 
Residential  (Classic Communities) PF/R-3(X)  

 
Most nearby buildings are one to three stories in height. Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield Road are 
major city through streets (classified as “Avenues – Mixed Use” in the City’s Circulation Element). The Park 
Station (Caltrain) and the developing Downtown/El Camino Real area are within walking and biking 
distance.  
 
Project overview 
The applicant is proposing to comprehensively redevelop the SRI campus with a residential, office, R&D, 
and retail mixed-use project. The proposed project would be divided into an approximately 53-acre 
office/R&D campus covering most of the existing project site and a 10-acre residential area along the Laurel 
Street edge of the project site extending slightly east along Ravenswood Avenue. Site circulation, open 
space, and landscaping (other than retained trees) would be redesigned and rebuilt per a new 
comprehensive campus plan, including new bicycle and pedestrian connections. There would be no net 
increase of non-residential square footage. Primary program elements include: 
• Approximately 287,000 square feet of existing office/R&D (retained in Buildings P, S, and T); 
• Demolition of 35 structures comprising approximately 1.1 million square feet, to be replaced with new 

office/R&D space in five main structures, three to five stories in height, along with a smaller amenity 
building; 

• Three new parking structures for the non-residential uses; 
• 450 multifamily residential dwelling units (19 townhomes at two stories) and (431 apartments at three to 



Staff Report #: 22-073-PC 
Page 5 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

six stories) in approximately 500,000 square feet of floor area; 
• An approximately one-acre portion of land, proposed to be dedicated to an affordable housing developer 

for the future construction of a 100 percent affordable housing or special needs project of up to 100 
dwelling units;  

• Approximately 25 acres of landscaped, publicly-accessible open space, including a large central open 
space between the office/R&D buildings; and 

• A sports field and one-story community building adjacent to the Ravenswood Avenue/Middlefield Road 
intersection. 

 
As part of the proposed project, the existing 6-megawatt natural gas power plant that generates power and 
steam energy for the existing SRI International campus would be demolished and the entire project site 
would be converted to all-electric energy usage, with the exception of two of the existing buildings that 
would remain (Buildings P and T) and potential backup diesel generators, in compliance with the city Reach 
Code. (It is possible that limited exceptions may be requested to accommodate additional life science uses.) 
 
The project plans are included in Attachments B, C and D and the applicant’s project description letter is 
included in Attachment E. 
 
CEQA review 
An EIR is an informational document that the City must prepare and consider before any discretionary 
action is taken by the City on the proposed project.  The purpose of an EIR is to provide decision makers 
and the public with detailed information about the effect that the proposed project may have on the 
environment, list ways in which the significant effects of the proposed project might be minimized and 
identify alternatives to the proposed project. The main substantive components of an EIR are as follows: 
• The project description, which discloses the activities that are proposed for approval; 
• Discussion and analysis of the potentially significant environmental effects of the proposed project, 

including cumulative impacts and growth-inducing impacts;  
• Discussion of ways to mitigate or avoid the proposed project’s potentially significant environmental 

impacts; and  
• Discussion of alternatives to the project as proposed. 
 
The EIR process begins with the City’s decision to prepare an EIR. The City determined that an EIR was 
required for the proposed project and issued a Notice of Preparation (NOP). The proposed project requires 
a full EIR instead of a focused EIR as has been prepared for some projects in the Specific Plan and 
Bayfront areas. Because this will be a full EIR, an initial study was not prepared as has been done for 
projects that utilize a focused EIR; this is because a full analysis will be done in the EIR of the proposed 
project’s potential impacts. The City released the NOP (Attachment F) on December 2, 2022.   
 
The draft EIR will be prepared and processed in accordance with CEQA and the State CEQA Guidelines in 
effect at the time of the release of the NOP.  
  



Staff Report #: 22-073-PC 
Page 6 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

CEQA topic areas included in EIR 
The EIR will analyze whether the proposed project would have significant environmental effects in the 
following topic areas: 
 

• Aesthetics1 
• Air Quality 
• Biological Resources 
• Cultural Resources 
• Energy 
• Geology and Soils 
• Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
• Hazards and Hazardous Materials 

• Hydrology and Water Quality 
• Land Use and Planning 
• Noise 
• Population and Housing 
• Public Services and Recreation 
• Utilities 
• Transportation and Traffic 
• Tribal Cultural Resources 

 
To help prepare several of these sections and analyze the potential impacts, a transportation impact 
analysis (TIA) will be prepared in accordance with the City’s TIA Guidelines. The EIR will use vehicle miles 
traveled (VMT) as the CEQA threshold of significance for transportation and traffic. In addition, while not 
required by CEQA, a housing needs assessment (HNA) will be prepared to inform the population and 
housing analysis. 
 
CEQA topic areas not requiring further analysis 
The proposed project is not anticipated to result in environmental impacts in the following topic areas: 

• Agricultural or Forestry Resources 
• Mineral Resources 
• Wildfire 

 
The project site is fully developed in an urbanized area and within a transit priority area. As such, 
agricultural and mineral resources do not exist on the site and wildfires are not considered a concern. A 
detailed analysis of these topics will not be included in the EIR. Therefore, these topic areas are currently 
scoped out of the EIR.  This, however, does not limit the public or Planning Commission’s ability to 
comment on the scope and content of the EIR relative to these topic areas. 

 
Analysis 
EIR Scoping Session 
The City released a Notice of Preparation (NOP) (Attachment F) for the proposed project on December 2, 
2022, beginning an extended review and comment period ending on January 9, 2023 to account for the City 
Hall closure from December 26, 2022 through January 2, 2023. Hard copies are also available for review at 
the Menlo Park Main Library and Belle Haven Branch Library. Interested persons should inquire at the 
library reference desk.  
 
A NOP signals the City plans to prepare an EIR for the proposed project and begins the EIR process. The 
NOP and scoping process is designed as an early opportunity to seek guidance from interested parties, 

                                                 
1 The project site is located within a “transit priority area”, as defined, and thus pursuant to Public Resources Code 
Section 21099, aesthetic and parking impacts are not considered significant impacts on the environment. Accordingly, 
the analysis in the EIR will reflect this statutory directive. Nevertheless, the City still retains authority to consider 
aesthetic impacts pursuant to its design review authority.   



Staff Report #: 22-073-PC 
Page 7 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

agencies and members of the public on the scope and content of the EIR. The EIR is an informational 
document the purpose of which is to provide decision makers and the public with detailed information about 
the potential impacts that the proposed project may have on the environment, list ways in which the 
potentially significant impacts of the proposed project might be minimized, and identify alternatives to the 
proposed project.  
 
The December 12, 2022 Planning Commission meeting falls within the required minimum 30-day comment 
period, and serves as a scoping session for the proposed project. Comments can be made on the scope, 
content, and focus of the analyses in any of the CEQA topic areas, including the topics proposed to be 
scoped out of the EIR. Examples of comments include, but are not limited to, suggested mitigation 
measures, suggested alternatives (e.g. increase or decrease in housing units, commercial square footage, 
other uses etc.), or areas of study that should not be scoped out. These topics are only examples to help 
provide context to the Commission, interested agencies, and members of the public on the types of 
comments that could be provided on the EIR scope and are not intended to limit the scope of comments. 
 
Verbal comments received during the scoping session and written comments received during the NOP 
comment period on the scope and content of the environmental review will be considered while preparing 
the draft EIR. NOP comments will not be responded to individually; however, all written comments on the 
NOP will be included in an appendix of the draft EIR, and a summary of all comments received (both written 
and verbal) on the NOP will be included in the body of the draft EIR. 
 
Analysis of proposed office and R&D 
The Office/R&D District buildings would be flexibly designed to accommodate office or R&D tenants, 
including life science uses, depending on future tenant and market needs. Likely the proposed project 
buildout would contain a mixture of these uses.  Because future tenants have not been identified, the EIR 
will evaluate two scenarios: a 100 percent office scenario and a 100 percent R&D scenario. Each section in 
the EIR will evaluate the most intense scenario for the resource area being analyzed. This will ensure that 
the EIR evaluates the proposed project’s maximum potential impact, and that any future tenant mix is within 
the scope of the EIR. The applicant indicates anticipated tenant occupancy levels within the Office/R&D 
District would be consistent with current market demands: 
• Office: Approximately one occupant per 250 square feet 
• R&D: Approximately one occupant per 350 square feet to 425 square feet for life sciences 
 
Variants 
Variants are variations of a project at the same project site, with the same objectives, background, and 
development controls but with additions and changes from a project, whose inclusion may or may not 
reduce environmental impacts. Thus, variants are distinct from “alternatives” (discussed below) insofar as 
CEQA requires the consideration of alternatives to avoid or lessen significant effects of a project. The EIR 
will include variants proposed by the Project Sponsor or the City and the description and analysis of the 
variants will be equal in detail to those of the proposed project. The EIR will describe and analyze the 
following variants: 
• Emergency Reservoir Variant: This variant would be similar to the proposed project except it would also 

include an approximately 2 million gallon below grade concrete water reservoir and associated facilities 
(including a pump station building, surge tank, and well head) that would be aboveground and 
surrounded by a fence or screen. The area for the emergency reservoir and associated facilities would 
be leased by the City. The specific location of the emergency water reservoir and associated facilities 
within the project site has not yet been determined, but would likely be located on the northeastern 
portion of the project site.  



Staff Report #: 22-073-PC 
Page 8 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

• Increased Residential Variant: This variant would be similar to the proposed project except it would 
include up to 600 multi-family residential units, 50 more dwelling units than under the Proposed Project. 
The additional residential dwelling units would be located along Laurel Street within the Residential 
District. As a result, the proposed building height along Laurel Street would increase and additional 
subterranean parking may be required. 

 
Alternatives 
If there are significant impacts, the alternatives analysis will focus on those alternatives that would reduce 
identified impacts. If the impacts are less than significant with mitigation, the alternatives analysis is 
anticipated to focus on those alternatives that would further reduce those impacts or provide policy focused 
alternatives considering allowable development under the Zoning Ordinance. Section 15126.6(e) of the 
State CEQA Guidelines requires the evaluation of a No Project Alternative. Other alternatives may be 
considered during preparation of the EIR and will comply with the State CEQA Guidelines, which call for a 
“range of reasonable alternatives to the project, or to the location of the project, which would feasibly attain 
most of the basic objectives of the project but would avoid or substantially lessen any of the significant 
effects of the project.” The City is currently considering analysis of the following alternatives, and is seeking 
input on these alternatives and any other potential alternative that should be evaluated as part of the EIR: 
• CEQA-Required No Project Alternative (maintaining the existing buildings with no new construction);  
• Project Alternative that would reduce any environmental impacts; and 
• Policy focused project alternative.  
 
Next steps 
Following the close of the comment period on the scope and content of the EIR, City staff and the 
consultant will consider all comments in the development of the draft EIR. The draft EIR is tentatively 
planned to be released in the summer of 2023 with a minimum 45-day public review and comment period. 
During the 45-day review and comment period on the draft EIR, the Planning Commission would hold a 
public hearing to discuss the draft EIR at which interested persons would be able to provide comments. 
Once the draft EIR comment period is completed, the environmental consultant will review and respond to 
all comments received in what is referred to as a “Response to Comments” document or final EIR. 
 
Study Session 
Planning Commission considerations 
The study session portion of this report highlights a variety of topic areas and discussion items for 
consideration. As the Planning Commission reviews the proposal, staff recommends that the Commission 
consider the following topics and use these as a guide to ask clarifying questions: 
• Proposed land uses and site density and intensity; 
• Site access, including vehicular, pedestrian and bicycle;  
• Architectural styles;  
• Design and layout of open space; 
• Parking locations and ratios; and 
• Proposed sustainability measures. 
 
Project updates 
The addition of a separate parcel of land to be leased to an affordable housing developer and the increase 
from 400 to 450 proposed dwelling units, not including the separate parcel, are the main revisions to the 
proposed project since the previous Planning Commission study session on March 28, 2022. Smaller 
revisions, including orienting proposed buildings to make the main publicly accessible open spaces visible 



Staff Report #: 22-073-PC 
Page 9 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

from the public streets and some square footage updates have also been made and are discussed below.  
 
Office/R&D district 
The office/R&D district would be located in the middle of the site and extend to the eastern and southern 
property lines as well as to a portion of the northern property line. The applicant proposes that the new 
office/R&D buildings would be designed for established and emerging businesses. The project would 
consist of approximately 1.1 million square feet of office/R&D in five new buildings, an office amenity 
building, and a new community building. The project site currently contains approximately 1.38 million 
square feet of R&D/office uses. Existing Buildings S and T, located to the west of the USGS site, and 
Building P, located to the east of the proposed new residential buildings along Laurel Street, total 
approximately 283,826 square feet and would be retained for SRI’s continued operations. Table 2 provides 
additional information on the buildings that would comprise the non-residential uses and minor square 
footage adjustments made since the previous submittal. 
 

Table 2:  Non-residential buildings  

Building Gross floor area (March 
2022) 

Gross floor area 
(December 2022) 

Bldg. 1 (3 stories)  165,000 sf 184,000 sf 

Bldg. 2 (5 stories) 244,000 sf 227,300 sf 

Bldg. 3 (5 stories) 244,000 sf 227,300 sf 

Bldg. 4 (4 stories) 198,000 sf 229,000 sf 

Bldg. 5 (4 stories) 198,000 sf 184,000 sf 

Office Amenity Bldg. (2 stories) 44,719 sf 40,000 sf 

Community Bldg. (1 story) 2,000 sf 2,002 sf 

Sub-Total (new) 1,095,719 sf 1,093,602 sf 

Bldg. P (existing to remain) 180,519 sf 183,423 sf* 

Bldg. S (existing to remain) 21,241 sf 21,241 sf** 

Bldg. T (existing to remain) 82,066 sf 82,066 sf** 

Sub-total (existing to remain) 283,826 sf 286,730 sf 

TOTAL 1,379,545 sf 1,380,332 
sf 

  *This number is a correction of the existing square footage for Building P 
** These square footages represent the existing square footages and do not reflect any changes associated with SRI’s 
separately proposed tenant improvements. The applicant indicates the tenant improvements are estimated to yield 
approximately 3,000 additional square feet within Building P and a reduction of approximately 6,000 square feet within Building 
S.  

 
The applicant proposes that the non-residential portion of the project would be accessible to vehicles from 
two entrances along Ravenswood Avenue and two entrances along Middlefield Road. The applicant 
indicates the proposed office/R&D buildings would be arranged to form a central aggregated, publicly-
accessible open space, and the proposed architectural character of the buildings would be modern, with 



Staff Report #: 22-073-PC 
Page 10 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

building masses defined by main entrances, first floor articulations such as loggias, elevated exterior 
balconies, and the use of natural materials and integrated indoor/outdoor workspaces. As shown in the 
preliminary architectural plans exterior cladding systems under consideration include terracotta rainscreen, 
glass fiber reinforced concrete, metal panel, stone, and other natural materials.  
materials. 
 
An approximately 40,000-square-foot, two-story office/R&D amenity building is proposed directly adjacent to 
Parking Garage 3. The building would contain a full-service café and other amenities, including a possible 
fitness center, for SRI and the site’s commercial tenants.  
 
The project plans identify that parking for the non-residential uses would be provided in three parking 
garages, three to four stories tall, and surface parking areas located throughout the site. Parking Garages 1 
and 2 would be located along the eastern property line and Parking Garage 3 would be located more 
centrally near the southwest of the project site, just south of the office amenity building. Buildings 1 and 5 
would each have some underground parking spaces as well.  
 
Community building 
An approximately 2,000-square-foot, one-story, community-serving building is proposed to be located on 
the northeast corner of the site, across Middlefield Road from Menlo Atherton High School. The applicant 
indicates this building would include community-serving retail uses, which may include a bicycle repair shop 
and juice bar, and publicly-accessible restrooms. As project review continues, the uses within this building 
would be further refined by the applicant. This building is proposed to be adjacent to a publicly-accessible 
open space, which could provide community functions, such as a recreational field, public parking, and a 
children’s play area. The public parking would be available to users of the publically-accessible open space 
and community building, and the neighboring church would use some spaces, as they currently use some 
SRI parking spaces per parking agreements. The applicant indicates specific programming functions for the 
community building and surrounding facilities would be determined in coordination with the City and 
community. 
 
Residential district  
The proposed 450 housing units would consist of approximately 431 apartments and 19 townhomes, with 
15 percent of units proposed to be affordable units pursuant to the City’s BMR housing program. Table 3 
below indicates the proposed unit types and totals. As currently proposed, the totals include BMR units but 
the specific numbers of BMR units for each unit type and income level have not been determined. 
 

Table 3: Residential Units  

Unit Type Unit total (March 2022) Unit total 
(Dec. 2022) 

Studio  70 75 

1 bedroom/1 bath 175 198 

2 bedroom/2 bath 125 144 

3 bedroom/ 2 bath 11 14 



Staff Report #: 22-073-PC 
Page 11 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

3 bedroom/2bath (townhouse) 19 19 

Total  400 450 

 
The residential district would extend from the Burgess Classics neighborhood along Laurel Street north to 
Ravenswood Avenue and east, partially along Ravenswood Avenue. Approximately 19 rental townhouses 
would be located between the apartment buildings and the Burgess Classics neighborhood to further 
diversify the housing mix and provide a scaled transition from the multi-family buildings to the single-family 
residences. The 431 apartments would be distributed between the three buildings, three to six stories in 
height, and a total of approximately 500,000 square feet of gross floor area. All residential units are noted in 
the project description to have some type of exterior deck or patio.  
 
Since the previous study session, the proposed project has been revised to include a separate 
approximately one-acre portion of land, proposed to be dedicated to an affordable housing developer for the 
future construction of a 100 percent affordable housing or special needs project which would be separately 
rezoned as part of the proposed project for up to 100 units. The exact location of this dedicated land area 
has not been determined. 
 
Parking for the apartments is proposed to be above-grade, in one-story garages, creating a podium on the 
second floor for common open space for each apartment building. Residential buildings 1 and 2 are also 
now designed to include one level of subterranean parking. The majority of the garages would not be visible 
as apartments would partially wrap the sides of the parking structures on the first level. There would also be 
some surface parking along the private street adjacent to apartment buildings for short-term and visitor 
parking. The townhome portion of the project would be organized around its vehicle access, with the 
parking spaces for the townhomes in attached garages.  
 
The project description indicates the buildings would be Mission Style (i.e., Spanish derivative) with white 
stucco walls, heavy timber brackets and detailing, and clay tile roofs. Building massing would include 
peaked/sloped rooflines. Additionally, the applicant indicates main building entrances would be highlighted 
along the street with landscaping, human-scaled plazas, lighting, and trellis structures.  
 
The proposed residential units would be rental units. The applicant indicates that a ground lease for the 
residential units, and the rest of the project site, is anticipated and this would limit the ability to include for-
sale units. 
 
Vehicular access and site circulation 
The proposal includes separate vehicular circulation for the residential and office/R&D uses although paths 
for pedestrian and bicycle access would provide connections between the two elements. A loop road, with 
access off of Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield Road, would provide access to the office/R&D buildings 
and the community building. The apartment buildings are proposed to have their own access road with entry 
points at Laurel Street and Ravenswood Avenue. The townhomes are proposed to have a separate access 
directly from Laurel Street, which would not connect to the road between the apartment buildings or the loop 
road. As shown on the master plan project plans (Attachment B), there would also be emergency vehicle 
access from the apartment buildings to the loop road and from the loop road to Laurel Street. There would 
also be emergency vehicle access to the loop road from Burgess Drive. The applicant indicates a security 



Staff Report #: 22-073-PC 
Page 12 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

gate for emergency access and limited service vehicles would likely be located where Burgess Drive 
intersects the loop road, however, the gate would not impede bicycle or pedestrian circulation. 
 
The applicant’s proposal states the circulation design would achieve the following objectives: 
• Establishment of private internal streets and roads; 
• Separation of office/R&D from residential access and circulation; 
• Creation of on-site roads to manage internal vehicular circulation and access to office/R&D and 

residential buildings; 
• Minimization of additional vehicular circulation to and from Laurel Street; 
• Three access points to the residential portion of the site (one along Ravenswood Avenue, toward the 

west side of the site, one along Laurel Street for the multi-family residential buildings, and a separate 
driveway entrance along Laurel Street for the townhouses; 

• An internal road to the three main residential buildings and vehicular access to parking 
garages and loading areas;  

• Four access points to the office/R&D portion of the site (two along Ravenswood Avenue and two along 
Middlefield Road, with one at Ringwood Avenue and one at Seminary Drive); and 

• An internal loop road to provide access to all of the office/R&D buildings, office amenity building, 
community building, parking garages, surface parking areas, loading areas, as well as emergency 
vehicle access.  

 
The applicant indicates the project would develop a project-specific TDM (Transportation Demand 
Management) plan for both the residential and non-residential uses to reduce the total number of single-
occupancy vehicle trips affiliated with the project by 20 percent, with a TDM plan that would complement the 
mixed-use campus’ proximity to downtown and the Menlo Park Caltrain station. The applicant indicates that 
they anticipate the Project would provide electric-powered shuttles for use by employees and residents for 
access to and from the Caltrain station.  

 
Pedestrian and bicycle circulation 
A Class I multiuse bicycle and pedestrian path would be located on the north side of the site along 
Ravenswood Avenue. This on-site path would create a protected alternative option for bicyclists currently 
using the bike lane on Ravenswood Avenue. The Class I path would loop southward into the project site 
toward the east and provide a crossing at Ringwood Avenue and Middlefield Road. This would provide 
safe access to Menlo Atherton High School and would connect to the existing bicycle path on Middlefield 
Road. A Class I multi-use bicycle and pedestrian path would extend from Laurel Street at Burgess Drive 
along Burges and the south side of the project site to connect to Middlefield Road at Seminary Drive. On the 
west, this path would be situated at Laurel Street to connect to the City’s proposed Caltrain undercrossing 
at El Camino Real. 
 
The proposed bicycle and pedestrian connections through the site would link with a broader network of 
existing and planned infrastructure, as can be seen on the map included as Attachment G from the City’s 
Transportation Master Plan. The proposed Middle Avenue undercrossing would connect bicycle/pedestrian 
infrastructure to the west of El Camino Real with the bicycle/pedestrian path along the southern edge of the 
project site. At Middlefield Road, bicyclists would be able to travel east along Ringwood Avenue to the US 
101 bicycle and pedestrian bridge, through the Belle Haven neighborhood and access the Bay Trail through 



Staff Report #: 22-073-PC 
Page 13 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

the recently opened bicycle/pedestrian bridge over Bayfront Expressway at the Meta West Campus.  
 
Parking 
Overall, the parking rate for the non-residential uses would be approximately two spaces per 1,000 square 
feet. According to City records, the current parking rate for the project site is approximately 2.3 spaces per 
1,000 square feet. For comparison, the LS (Life Sciences) district in the Bayfront area requires a maximum 
of 2.5 parking spaces per 1,000 square feet and a minimum of 1.5 parking spaces per 1,000 square feet for 
R&D uses and the O (Office) district requires a maximum of three spaces and a minimum of two spaces per 
1,000 square feet of office space. 
 
The parking rate for the residential dwelling units would be approximately one space per apartment and two 
spaces per townhome. The applicant indicates in their project description letter that shared parking would 
be available for residential visitors on evening and weekends at the office/R&D surface lots and parking 
structures. While parking rates vary throughout the zoning districts, the R-MU (Residential Mixed Use) 
zoning district has an emphasis on residential and requires a minimum of one parking space per unit. This 
district also limits permitted parking to a maximum of 1.5 spaces per unit. 
 
Trees, landscaping, and open space  
The applicant indicates their landscape concept is to create a network of publicly-accessible pedestrian and 
bicycle trails, parks, open spaces, and active/passive recreational areas, incorporating many existing and 
new trees. Additionally, the applicant indicates open space would also be utilized to create welcoming 
edges along Ravenswood Avenue, Laurel Street and Middlefield Road. The three main open space areas 
are described below. 
 
Ravenswood Avenue Parklet 
The Ravenswood Avenue parklet would be approximately six acres located on the northerly edge of the site 
along Ravenswood Avenue and would protect the existing heritage trees and provide a landscaped and 
screened frontage. A shared use path would weave through the existing trees in the setback area to 
connect with and support pedestrian and bicycle circulation throughout the site. Small scale public spaces, 
such as picnic areas and exercise stations would be connected to the shared-use path. The parklet would 
lead to a large multi-use plaza which would provide a visual connection to the Parkline Central Commons. 
 
Parkline Recreational Area 
The Parkline Recreational Area would provide a community recreational sports area of approximately two 
acres, located on the northeast corner of the site at the intersection of Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield 
Road. This area would be connected to the Ravenswood shared-use path. This open space area would 
provide publicly accessible community functions, such as a recreational field, public parking, a 
children’s play area, and other activity areas. In addition, the approximately 2,000-square-foot community 
amenities building would contain publicly accessible restrooms, and potentially small retail spaces. The City 
is exploring a possible partnership with Parkline to evaluate opportunities for emergency water supply 
and/or storage facilities in this area, and this concept is included as a project variant and described under 
the EIR Scoping Session portion of this report. 
 
Parkline Central Commons 



Staff Report #: 22-073-PC 
Page 14 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

The Parkline Central Commons would provide an approximately 9-acre central open space area located 
between the Office/R&D buildings and the office amenities building. This space would offer a variety of 
programmed open space, such as flexible-use lawn areas and a multi-use plaza that can accommodate 
gatherings. The Parkline Central Commons may also include an event pavilion and landscaped areas. 
Additionally, smaller landscaped spaces for tenant use would be located adjacent to the buildings, which 
would provide outdoor seating and shaded tree groves. Primary pedestrian circulation paths would 
connect all the edges of the site to the Parkline Central Commons. 
 
Since the previous study session, the applicant has revised the plans to increase the visibility of the central 
publically accessible open space by relocating the office amenity building to be directly adjacent to Parking 
Garage 3 and reorienting Office Building 5. These revisions to the site plan would allow the Central 
Commons to be visible from Laurel Street, and to lesser extent from Ravenwood Avenue.  
 
Heritage trees 
The site currently contains 565 heritage trees, of which 351 would be retained and 214 would be removed. 
Including non-heritage trees, approximately 615 trees would be retained on site and an additional 912 trees 
are proposed to be planted. The size/age of the trees to be planted has not yet been determined but as the 
plans develop, staff will work with the applicant to determine appropriate tree sizes/ages. A complete tree 
survey and disposition plan is included as hyperlink Attachment H. The applicant indicates their tree 
management and retention plan is based on the following:  
• The preservation of healthy heritage trees that are of a desirable tree species; 
• Special effort to preserve coastal live oaks, valley oaks, and coast redwoods based on their native 

habitat and ecological significance; and  
• Incorporation of existing heritage trees into the overall design.  

 
As the project review continues, the Planning Division and City Arborist team will review and evaluate the 
arborist report, the tree disposition and removal plans, and determine whether the requested heritage tree 
removals are supportable based on the information to be provided with heritage tree removal permit 
applications. If the City Arborist approves some or all of the removals, his or her decision is appealable to 
the Environmental Quality Commission. Further, as part of that review, the City will evaluate the potential 
impacts of the project on the heritage trees proposed to remain and work with the applicant team to identify 
preservation measures. The heritage tree replacement plan would be subject to the City’s valuation 
requirements for replacement trees. The replacement plan will be incorporated into subsequent reviews of 
the proposed project.   
 
Sustainability 
The applicant indicates the project would incorporate the following sustainability measures:  
• Pursue certification by the state as an Environmental Leadership Development Project (under SB 7). As 

part of that certification, the proposed project would need to demonstrate that it would result in no net 
additional GHG emissions compared to existing conditions. 

• Source-separating and tracking waste throughout construction to divert waste away from landfills. 
• Demolition of most existing buildings onsite, including the cogeneration plant, and replacement with more 

energy efficient buildings. 
• Incorporation of a range of LEED certification strategies or equivalent standards across the Office/R&D 



Staff Report #: 22-073-PC 
Page 15 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

and Residential Districts, including minimum LEED Gold certification by the USGBC or equivalency 
verified through the City of Menlo Park’s LEED Performance Program, and related certifications; 

• LEED New Construction certification or equivalent standards for multifamily residential buildings; 
• LEED for Homes certification or equivalent standards for residential. 

 
Correspondence 
As of the writing of this report, staff has received one item of correspondence regarding the project since the 
previous study session. The email, included as Attachment J, discusses concerns regarding the sports field. 

 
Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building and Public Works permit fees, based on the City’s 
Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the proposed project. The 
project sponsor is also required to fully cover the cost of work by consultants performing environmental 
review and additional analyses to evaluate potential impacts of the project. 

 
Environmental Review 
An EIR will be prepared for the proposed project. On October 18, 2022 the City Council authorized the City 
Manager to enter into a revised contract with ICF to complete the environmental review and prepare an EIR 
for the proposed project. The Planning Commission would provide a recommendation to the City Council on 
the project entitlements including the certification of the EIR, after the completion of the environmental 
review. 

 
Public Notice 
Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 
and notification by mail of owners and occupants within a 1,320-foot radius of the subject property. 
 
Attachments 
A. Location Map 
B. Masterplan Project Plan: – hyperlink: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-

development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/20221031-parkline-masterplan-plan-set.pdf  
C. Non-residential Project Plans – hyperlink: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-

development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/20221031-non-residential-architectural-
plans.pdf  

D. Residential Project Plans – hyperlink: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-
development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/20221031-residential-architectural-control-
plans.pdf  

E. Project Description letter – hyperlink: 
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/services/community-
development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/20221205-parkline-project-description.pdf  

F. Notice of Preparation – hyperlink: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-
development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-notice-of-preparation.pdf 

G. Existing and Proposed Bike Paths from Transportation Master Plans 

https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/20221031-parkline-masterplan-plan-set.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/20221031-parkline-masterplan-plan-set.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/20221031-non-residential-architectural-plans.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/20221031-non-residential-architectural-plans.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/20221031-non-residential-architectural-plans.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/20221031-residential-architectural-control-plans.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/20221031-residential-architectural-control-plans.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/20221031-residential-architectural-control-plans.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/services/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/20221205-parkline-project-description.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/services/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/20221205-parkline-project-description.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-notice-of-preparation.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-notice-of-preparation.pdf


Staff Report #: 22-073-PC 
Page 16 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

H. Tree disposition Plan – hyperlink: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-
development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-tree-disposition-plan.pdf  

I. Excerpt minutes of Planning Commission meeting on March 28, 2022 
J. Correspondence 
 
 
Report prepared by: 
Corinna Sandmeier, Acting Principal Planner 
 
Report reviewed by: 
Kyle Perata, Planning Manager 
Michael Biddle, Special Counsel 

https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-tree-disposition-plan.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/projects/under-review/parkline/parkline-tree-disposition-plan.pdf


CITY OF MENLO PARK
LOCATION MAP

333 RAVENSWOOD AVENUE - PARKLINE

Scale: 1:9,000     Drawn By: CDS     Checked By: JICM      Date: 5/10/2022

ATTACHMENT A

A1



CITY OF MENLO PARK TRANSPORTATION MASTER PLAN       53

G
E

N
E

R
A

L IN
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N
 

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 F
O

R
M

S
F

P
P

C
 F

O
R

M
S

¹

¹ ¹
A

B

Existing Bicycle Network and Recommendations

1 MILE

1 MILE

¹

B

A

Proposed Bicycle  Improvements

Existing Bicycle Network

Class IV Separated Bikeway

Bicycle Intersection Improvements

Bike Bridge

Class I Bike Path

Class II Bike Lane

Class III Bike Route

Class IV Separated Bikeway

Paseo

Bike Bridge

Class I Bike Path

Class II Bike Lane

Class III Bike Route

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
E

D
 TM

P PR
O

JE
C

TS

Recommendations for people biking at various locations throughout Menlo Park will help improve safety and connnections to 
the existing bicycle network. 

EXISTING BIKE NETWORK AND RECOMMENDATIONS

MIDDLEFIELD RD
W

ILL
OW

RD

SAND HILL RD

SAND HI LL RD

UNIVERSITY
AVE

W
ILL

OW
RD

MA
RS

H
RD

MA
RS

H
RD

HAMILTON AVE

OAK
GRO

VE
AV

E

HA
VE

N
AV

E

SAND HILL RD

RA
VE

NS
WOODAV

E

EN
CI

NA
L AV

E

COLEMAN AVE

IVY DR

HAVEN AVE

CONSTITUTION DR

UNIVERSITY DR

SAND HILL RD

VA
LP

ARA
ISO

AV
E

OBRIEN DR

CHILCO ST

NEWBRIDGE ST

MONTE ROSA DR

BAY RD

HAMILTON AVE

MIDDLE
AV

E

RI
NG

W
OO

D
AV

E

UN
IV

ER
SI

TY
AV

E

HAMILT
ON AV

E

SA
NTA

CRU
Z AV

E EL CAMINO REAL

BAY RD

EL CAMINO REAL

BAYFRONT EXPY

8

39

41

47

63
64

65
74

81

85

87

89
90

92

95

70

86

88

91

2

40

113

79

1

118

84

178

14

59

129

134

75

59

59

44

61

69

59

189

107

Legend

Transit Improvement

Multimodal Improvement

Vehicle Improvement

Bicycle Improvement

Pedestrian Improvement
Civic Buildings

City Hall

Library

Caltrain Station
Future Street Connection
School/University
Menlo Park Destination
Park
City of Menlo Park

146

134

SAND HILL RD

MONTE ROSA DR
SHARON PARK DR

1/2 MILE

1/2 MILE

Recommended TMP Projects

ATTACHMENT G

G1



City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Planning Commission

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES - EXCERPT 

Date: 03/28/2022 
Time: 7:00 p.m. 
Meeting Location: Zoom.us/join – ID# 871 4022 8110 

Regular Meeting 

A. Call To Order

Chair Michael Doran called the meeting to order at 7:01 p.m. At Chair Doran’s request, Associate
Planner Matt Pruter explained how applicants and the public would be able to participate in the
virtual meeting.

B. Roll Call

Present: Andrew Barnes, Chris DeCardy (Vice Chair), Michael Doran (Chair), Camille Gonzalez
Kennedy, Cynthia Harris, Henry Riggs, Michele Tate

Staff: Payal Bhagat; Contract Planner; Nira Doherty, City Attorney; Fahteen Khan, Assistant
Planner; Eric Phillips, Special Counsel; Matt Pruter; Associate Planner; Corinna Sandmeier, Acting
Principal Planner

G. Study Session

G1. Study Session/Nick Menchel/333 Ravenswood Avenue (Parkline):
Request for a study session on a master plan development to comprehensively redevelop the SRI 
campus with a residential, office, research and development, and retail mixed-use project. The 
proposed project includes requests for a general plan amendment, zoning ordinance amendment, 
rezoning, conditional development permit (CDP), development agreement (DA), architectural 
control, vesting tentative map, and below market rate (BMR) housing agreement. The project would 
necessitate the preparation of an environmental impact report (EIR) in compliance with the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). (Staff Report #22-018-PC) 

Staff Comment: Acting Principal Planner Sandmeier said 23 new emails had been received on the 
proposed project, and that many were in favor of additional housing and additional BMR housing; 
and some expressed concerns about the impacts to neighbors and to the church located at 201 
Ravenswood Avenue. She said the existing SRI campus was an approximately 63-acre site with 38 
buildings and 1.38 million square feet of gross floor area. She said the proposed project had no net 
increase of nonresidential square footage and that approximately 284,000 square feet would be 
retained for SRI’s use in Buildings P, S and T. She said approximately 1.1 million new square feet of 
office and research and development uses were proposed in five main structures from three to five 
stories, a new office amenity building, and three parking structures for nonresidential use. She said 
the proposal included 400 residential rental units. She said that included 15% Below Market Rate 
(BMR) units, 19 two-story townhomes with attached two-car garages, 391 apartments in three 
buildings, three to five stories tall, and approximately one parking space per unit and one-story 
parking garages with podiums at the second level for private open space for the apartments. She 

ATTACHMENT I

I1

https://zoom.us/join


Planning Commission Meeting Excerpt Minutes 
March 28, 2022 
Page 2 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

said the proposal also included a sports field and a one-story community building adjacent to the 
Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield Road intersection, 25 acres of landscaped publicly accessible 
open space, and new pedestrian and bicycle paths and connections through the site.  

 
 Ms. Sandmeier highlighted that the proposed circulation was private internal streets, an internal road 

to the three main residential buildings and parking garages, and an internal loop road to provide 
access to all nonresidential buildings, parking garages, surface parking areas, loading areas and for 
emergency vehicle access. She described the entry points for each of the building types. She said 
the requested entitlements included a General Plan Amendment, Zoning Ordinance Amendment, 
Rezoning, Development Agreement, Conditional Development Permit, architectural control for the 
new buildings, and a vesting tentative map to merge existing walks and create new parcels.  

 
 Ms. Sandmeier said topics for the Commission’s consideration were the proposed land uses 

including site density and intensity, the site layout including building orientation and site access, 
conceptual architectural styles, design and layout of open space, parking locations and ratios, and 
proposed sustainability measures.  

 
 Questions of Staff: Commissioner DeCardy asked if this project would be reviewed standardly or 

whether it would have unique review. 
 
 Ms. Sandmeier said it would require a number of public hearings both at the City Council and 

Planning Commission as the environmental review progressed but it would be similar to what they 
saw with other projects. 

 
 Applicant Presentation: John McIntire, SRI, said that they were collaborating with a local firm Lane 

Partners to reimagine the site to serve both SRI’s and the community’s needs. 
 
 Mark Murray, Lane Partners, said their firm was Menlo Park based with an office about a half mile 

from the SRI campus. He said they had met with City staff and the Fire District, with community 
groups and had one on ones with dozens of residents. He said they held a series of open houses 
last summer before making their initial submittal in the fall. He said three of those were open to the 
general public and then they held a fourth specifically for the Burgess Classics neighborhood. He 
said those 32 homes shared a property line with the SRI site. He said that meeting was focused on 
the design particularly regarding the buffer zone between those properties and SRI. He said they 
received constructive feedback and were able to implement changes that responded to that.  

 
 Mr. Murray said one of their goals was to open up what currently was kind of a void in the center of 

town. He said the existing campus was large and for the most part had had security fencing around 
it. He said they envisioned as the Parkline name implied a new district characterized by open space, 
noting they planned to have 25 acres of publicly accessible green space. He said the site contained 
numerous mature heritage trees with some species over 100 years old that many community 
members had never seen. He said the goal was to preserve many of those heritage trees. He said 
another goal was to improve pedestrian and bicycle transportation through the area. He said 
regarding the commercial development component they were doing a one-to-one replacement for 
the existing 38 buildings. He said SRI would consolidate into three of the existing buildings and the 
other older 35 ones would be demolished and that same square footage would be consolidated into 
five new state of the art R&D buildings that were much more efficient and sustainable. He said 
another goal shared with the community was housing and that was proposed on 10 acres closest to 

I2



Planning Commission Meeting Excerpt Minutes 
March 28, 2022 
Page 3 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

the downtown and amenities. He said they were proposing 400 units at variable affordability and 
were open to community feedback on what the appropriate amount and types of housing were.  

 
 Thomas Yee, principal architect, Studios Architecture, referred to the site analysis and noted in 

addition to Mr. Murray’s comments that there was an electrical substation near the corner of 
Ravenswood and Laurel. He said the three buildings, P, S and T that SRI was planning to retain 
were intended to be included in the master plan effort. He said the existing parking made up about 
50% of the entire site area with the building footprint another 23% so 70% of the existing site was 
hard surface. He said their goal was to convert that into a more amenable resource for the 
community. He said onsite there were about 1,370 existing trees, a great percentage of which were 
heritage trees, and that it had been important to incorporate the trees into the plan. He described 
how in removing the fence the site would be opened up and how it might connect with other parts of 
the city. He described the pedestrian circulation plan and how the City’s bicycle path plan might be 
extended through the redeveloped campus. He said regarding vehicular circulation they were 
purposely trying to separate residential from the office R&D and to not have any office R&D traffic go 
onto Laurel. He described elements of the residential portion of the development that would provide 
separation and enhanced open space for neighboring residential areas. He said for the residential 
design they took cues from the Allied Arts neighborhood and the Davis Polk building and were 
proposing sort of the Mission style. He provided visual imagery of the proposed design starting with 
Laurel Street and then from the corner of Ravenswood and Laurel toward the east with an 
alternative pathway that was pedestrian oriented and an alternative bicycle pathway. He showed a 
view if walking down Ravenswood toward one of the entrances to the office R&D side with entrances 
clearly defined. He said they would create signals for the public to clearly show that this was a public 
trail and people were welcome into the site. He showed the proposed commons area of the office 
R&D site and existing heritage trees and the introduction of both passive and active uses that might 
be utilized both by tenants and the public. He showed lastly a view to the upper right of the playing 
field at Ravenswood and Middlefield. 

 
 Chair Doran opened for public comment. 
 
 Public Comment: 
 

• Sue Connelly said she saw three potential problem areas noting she was a resident of the 
Burgess Classics community. She said her community’s chief concern was the size of the 
proposed project. She said the elevations shown were only of the lower story and the apartment 
buildings would be five, five-story buildings and three five-story buildings plus the 20 townhomes. 
She referred to the office noting those were also five story buildings. She said the project meant 
the introduction of a great number of people who had not been there before and that would put 
pressure on the infrastructure and on water. She said safety was another chief concern as 
having the area fenced for many years had protected her community on one side. She noted 
they were having problems with the shared gate area with unhoused people. She said they had 
been trying for three years to resolve this humanely to obtain services and help and had been 
steadily rejected. She said she and her neighbors proposed that the number and the height of 
the office buildings be reduced. She said having fewer office buildings meant less of an impact 
on housing. 
 

• Kalisha Webster, Housing Advocate for Housing Choices, said they were a nonprofit service 
provider helping people with developmental and other disabilities find and retain affordable 
housing throughout San Mateo County. She said she was calling in support of the proposed 

I3



Planning Commission Meeting Excerpt Minutes 
March 28, 2022 
Page 4 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

project but noted the City’s draft Housing Element and the development need of around 1700 
affordable units, nearly half of which were for very low-income level. She urged the applicants to 
do more with the project to serve people of all income levels and abilities. She said the site was 
ideally situated near transit and the downtown that supported a walkable and more sustainable 
community. She encouraged the city and developer to take advantage of the opportunities at the 
site to increase heights and densities and to include more affordable homes at all income levels 
and abilities. She said they supported the request for a one-acre parcel to be donated to an 
affordable housing developer that could develop more affordable housing at deeper levels of 
affordability than that under the inclusionary housing ordinance. She said a nonprofit developer 
was batter able to serve the needs of lower income residents for the provision of more onsite 
support services. She said as of December 2021, 77% of Menlo Park adults with developmental 
disabilities still lived in the family homes, not by choice, but due to the lack of deeply affordable 
housing available. 
 

• Kelly Vavor said she was a former public high school teacher and now a community volunteer 
engaged. She said she felt optimistic about this proposed development and grateful for the 
thought that had gone into it.  She said she was the mother of four children and the public open 
space and better bicycle and pedestrian routes really resonated with her. She said the project 
would generate significant new tax revenue that would benefit their elementary and high school 
districts. She said she supported the project.  
 

• Michal Bortnik, Allied Arts, expressed appreciation for SRI and Lane Partners for bringing a great 
opportunity and being open to the community’s feedback. He said he liked all the open and 
green space, the trees, the bicycle and walking paths, and the thoughtful layout to work with the 
surroundings. He said it was great that hundreds of housing units were within easy walking 
distance of so many things. He said his only request was that more housing be provided. He 
noted the unfortunate reality of homelessness in the community. He said he made more specific 
comments in his written letter to the Planning Commission. He said at the last Commission 
meeting a presentation was made on development in the Bayshore area and how much new 
development was happening there and how quickly. He said he hoped that a double standard 
would not be applied here as to what was acceptable versus what was acceptable in other parts 
of town. 

  
• Anna Zara, Linfield Oaks, said she supported the Parkline project as it was an ideal location due 

to its proximity to transportation, shopping, entertainment and recreation. She said she also 
supported higher density apartment buildings as part of the project so that one of those buildings 
might be made available to people with intellectual, developmental and physical challenges. She 
said many in this vulnerable population in Menlo Park were forced to relocate away from family, 
friends and familiar surroundings due to the lack of affordable housing.  

 
• Verle Aebi, Linfield Oaks, said for those who lived on Laurel Street the traffic impact of the 

proposed project in conjunction with the projects that would be occupied in the near future on El 
Camino Real, the Stanford project and the other project further north on El Camino Real could 
put quite a few additional cars on Laurel Street as it was commonly used to cut through. He said 
when they got to the environmental impact analysis the traffic needed to be analyzed in 
conjunction with the future grade separation project, which he was sure would happen someday. 
He said one of those options involved cutting off Alma Street, which would put quite an increase 
in traffic pressure on Laurel Street. He said he thought it was discussed last summer that there 
should be no car access from the project even from the residential portion onto Laurel Street and 

I4



Planning Commission Meeting Excerpt Minutes 
March 28, 2022 
Page 5 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

the access should all be onto Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield Road as those were much 
larger streets. He said years ago SRI maintained a “black house” with very toxic gases and 
chemicals that were used for some of the semiconductor work on campus and if that was the 
case today that was inconsistent with the density housing proposed.  
 

• Bob MacDonald, Chair, ad hoc Church Committee for the Parkline project for the Menlo Park 
Christian Science Church on Ravenswood, and a Menlo Park resident said on behalf of his 
fellow church members attending this evening, that their church had been a neighbor and partner 
with SRI for over 60 years. He said in the late 1950s their church did a land swap with SRI that 
led to their current location surrounded by SRI on three sides. He said at that time a perpetual 
parking agreement was made that provided parking on SRI property for services, meetings and 
events at their church as well as some mutual traffic flow easements that ensured traffic flow and 
emergency vehicle access around the perimeter of their property and the ability to exit onto 
Middlefield Road. He said they had identified a significant issue for their church with the 
proposed plan, and were requesting that the playing field be moved so it was not adjacent to 
them to ensure the sanctity and serenity of their religious services, meetings and events. He said 
they were comfortable with continuing to have parking lots, parking structures, and office 
buildings adjacent to their property as that would create a buffer similar to what they had enjoyed 
for over 60 years. He said two of the three existing mutual traffic flow easements, Ravenswood 1 
and Ravenswood 2, needed to remain in place to ensure that emergency vehicles were able to 
get to any location around the periphery of their property. He said they would also like to reach a 
mutually acceptable agreement regarding the Middlefield Road connection.  
 

• Alex Ho, said he lived near the site. He said it was great that SRI was planning to redevelop the 
property and help solve the City’s housing shortfall. He said Lane Partners had incorporated 
much input from the neighbors. He said there were two issues he hoped might be addressed. He 
noted the egress from Burgess Drive and that it was specified during the presentation as a 
locked gate but he wondered about assurances that it would remain so in the future. He said the 
entry would drive additional commute traffic through the Linfield Oaks residential neighborhood 
and more importantly along Laurel Street, which was the Peninsula Bicycle Corridor and used by 
numerous children going back and forth to Encinal School. He said it was really important to look 
at traffic flows along Laurel Street. He asked what could be done to ensure that unhoused 
people did not start camping along the bicycle path and behind the Burgess Classics adjoining 
homes. He said currently people were sleeping on the sidewalks back there. He said also there 
was a history of shopping cars and garbage being left in the neighborhood, and the SRI back 
fence served as a homeless laundry every weekend. He asked that this be addressed through 
the project development. 
 

• Emily Simonson, Laurel Street resident, said she supported the proposed project. She noted the 
thoughtful planning, additional housing, and the addition of better and safer ways to commute by 
bike and walking. She said as a mother of three young children that was lacking in this area. She 
said she appreciated the addition of green space as it was a rare opportunity to create more 
green space while creating more housing.  

 
• Ken Chan said he was an organizer with the nonprofit Housing Leadership Council of San Mateo 

County. He said they worked with communities and their leaders to produce and preserve quality 
affordable homes. He expressed appreciation for SRI and their partners for the proposal. He said 
while the 400 proposed housing units would address the housing and jobs imbalance there was 
much more that could be done. He said they would like the project proponents to partner with an 

I5



Planning Commission Meeting Excerpt Minutes 
March 28, 2022 
Page 6 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

affordable housing developer to provide the highest number of affordable homes at the deepest 
affordability levels that would include services and support for residents such as after school 
care, computer lab, playgrounds and other amenities.  

 
• Adina Levin, resident, said she served on the Complete Streets Commission but was speaking 

for herself. She said the proposed development was near amenities and offered paths and green 
space for people to enjoy and go to and from without really having to use cars for numerous 
short local needs and potentially near jobs. She said a letter recently sent to the City Council 
observed that southern California cities were ahead of Menlo Park in developing draft Housing 
Elements and had had their Housing Elements rejected due to unviable sites and lack of 
affirmatively furthering fair housing. She said it was pointed out that Menlo Park was at risk of a 
similar situation. She said she agreed with others to have additional homes particularly deeply 
affordable homes to accommodate housing needs.  

 
• Karen Grove, Housing Commission, said she was speaking for herself. She said she supported 

the project noting the bike and walking paths, preservation of the beautiful trees, and the 
housing. She agreed that the site could be used for more housing and highlighted the comments 
made by Housing Choices noting the relationship of homelessness to low income. She said she 
supported the property owner donating land to an affordable housing provider to partner with to 
provide homes and support services. She said the Housing Element was dependent upon 
affordable housing. She said she canvassed nearby residents of the project over the weekend 
and found that may were supportive of more housing, more affordable housing, more extremely 
low-income homes through the dedication of land and partnership with a nonprofit provider for 
this proposed project.  

 
• Brittani Baxter, District 3 resident, said she lived within walking distance of the proposed project 

and loved the idea of opening up the site. She said her neighborhood was walkable and fantastic 
and she would love for more people to have that opportunity. She said she shared the 
enthusiasm for the future of this project and what this once in a generation opportunity meant for 
the city. She said concerns were expressed about traffic and parking and the site was perfectly 
located wherein a person would not actually need a car to get around. She suggested the site be 
set up with things in place to encourage people to choose more sustainable, ecofriendly, and 
congestion-reducing transit.  She said using space for homes and people was preferable to 
using it for car storage. She said given the scale of the site there was a great opportunity to think 
about everybody in the community and help create that much needed difficult to create 
affordable housing especially for populations with specific needs. She noted the density of 
Bayshore projects with 100 units per acre and 40 units here per acre and suggested more could 
be done. 
 

• Lynne Bramlett, District 3 resident on Mills Court, said she was speaking for herself noting she 
also led the disaster preparedness organization MPC Ready, which focused on Menlo Park and 
the unincorporated county islands within or adjacent to Menlo Park. She said their focus was 
disaster prepared neighborhoods as research showed in a disaster the most immediate source 
of help was the neighbors living closest. She said there were serious gaps in the local 
government’s disaster preparedness. She said development projects represented opportunities 
to significantly improve disaster preparedness through the community amenity process. She said 
she agreed with another speaker’s suggestion about the idea of putting underground water 
cisterns in new development. She said the city had less than one day’s worth of stored water for 
emergency medical drinking and water was also essential for firefighting. She said fires were 

I6



Planning Commission Meeting Excerpt Minutes 
March 28, 2022 
Page 7 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

secondary consequences of earthquakes and pointed to the Hetch Hetchy water delivery’s 
vulnerability to disruption from an earthquake. She said the local fire district had very little water 
stored and she thought water storage was much more important than a juice bar or a playing 
field. 
 

• Rob Willington, Menlo Park resident, said he and his family supported the project. He said the 
SRI campus land was currently underutilized and it was a great idea to redevelop it into a new 
neighborhood with open space and new housing. 
 

• Steve Pang, Burgess Classics, said he was opposed to the open space concept of the proposal 
as it would lead to unhoused people using for encampments. He said over the past three years 
they had tried to work with SRI to handle the unhoused problem with their back gate and nothing 
had been done. He said their children used to be able to bike and walk around the neighborhood 
but it did not feel safe anymore. He said he opposed the bicycle path from Middlefield to Laurel 
for substantially the same reason. He said he opposed the number and location of housing units 
proposed.as there was potential for a lot of traffic on Laurel Street. He said he had submitted 
additional comments in a written comment letter. 
 

• Frank Contreras, Menlo Park resident, said he and his family had lived in the area for 40 years 
and he supported the project proposal. He said he would like his family to be able to stay in the 
area and affordable housing was needed. He said he agreed about the homelessness and 
encampments that those needed to be addressed. He said he agreed with housing being 
provided to special needs population as he thought everybody should have the opportunity to 
live in Menlo Park as it was such a great area.  

 
• Will Connors, Willows resident, said he strongly supported the project particularly the bicycle and 

pedestrian access to schools and the downtown. He said his only critique was about the 
townhomes on Laurel Street as he would like to see more density in that area similar to the other 
residential units proposed at three to five stories as that was a better use of space near transit.  

 
• Susan Stimson, Linfield Oaks, said she had attended some of the community input sessions and 

was pleased to see that some of what was recommended by residents had been incorporated. 
She said she would appreciate consideration of a closed wall for the parking structure to 
preserve privacy and block headlights at night as well as noise. She said she would like 
information on how security would be maintained throughout the green space so that the space 
might be utilized at night. She said that other large mixed-use projects in this area and their 
impacts on traffic and resources should be determined before adding another large 
development.  

 
• Kenneth Mah, Burgess Classics, said they generally supported the proposal particularly the 

bicycle and pedestrian paths. He said they asked that the impact of the development and 
specifically the housing density be thoroughly considered. He said he and his wife used to bike 
to Stanford for five years and there was a safety issue at Laurel Street and Ravenswood Avenue 
as there was no dedicated bike lane. He said this project would worsen that safety issue. He said 
traffic in general would be increased on Laurel by the project. He said the current proposed 
designs might decrease the safety of both residents in his neighborhood and the Parkline 
residents trying to cross Laurel Street to get to Burgess Park. He asked the Commission to 
mitigate impact to Laurel Street by considering ingress and egress exclusively onto Ravenswood 
Avenue and Middlefield Road. He said they supported other issues needing attention including 

I7



Planning Commission Meeting Excerpt Minutes 
March 28, 2022 
Page 8 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

gate access on Burgess Drive, ensuring the intended use of the green space and insuring 
provision of safety and security of that space.  

 
• Katie Behroozi, Menlo Park, said she served on the Complete Streets Commission, but was 

speaking for herself. She said this project addressed three big needs. She said one was a direct 
response to increased density as they needed better connectivity for bikes and pedestrians 
between Middlefield Road and Laurel Street. She said the project also offered open space noting 
recent conversations in the city on how to save parks. She said with the housing crisis there 
were homeless people. She said for several years there had been discussion to have a shelter in 
the area which was not supported. She said in general this was a great area for denser housing. 
She supported keeping the proposed openness and ensuring safe crossings at Middlefield Road 
noting the Vintage Oaks intersection. She said she was a member of the Trinity Church and they 
had a shared parking agreement with SRI but were also joyfully anticipating the idea of new 
potential parishioners and members of the community. 

 
• Peter (no last name given) said he met with Mark Murray and Lane Partners and they had 

listened to the community’s opinions. He said he lived in the Classics and loved the quiet nature 
and the streets. He said his one concern was traffic as although the plan was to replace existing 
square footage one to one those were primarily currently unoccupied buildings with lower 
employee density. He said he understood the vision for open space but that had consequences. 
He said the connectivity to the ingress and egress made sense but did not really address safety 
issues of the ingress and egress along Burgess. He said there were dedicated bicycle lanes 
already along Linfield Drive and Ravenswood Avenue so they disagreed with having ingress and 
egress along Burgess. He said he wanted to make sure that they did not provide programming 
activities directly behind his and his neighbors’ back yards between his community and the 
parking structure as that would encourage homeless encampments. He referred to comments on 
safety and unhoused people in the vicinity.  

 
• Gail Gorton, Burgess Classics, said in general she supported the proposed project. She asked 

that the Commission be sensitive to a huge residential development dropped into a mixed 
residential area ranging from single family homes to apartment buildings, the tallest of which 
were only two-story. She said traffic impacts would be huge. She said Laurel Street, 
Ravenswood Avenue and Middlefield Road were two-lane roads already heavily congested. She 
said traffic was heavy on Laurel Street with Burgess Park there and she had seen near misses 
with bicycles from cars exiting the parking lots. She said they had to consider how the schools 
would absorb additional population and the impacts to natural resources. She said she 
appreciated the inclusion of a playing field as the fields at Burgess were at maximum usage. She 
asked how the Parkline playing field would be operated. She said she would prefer to see 
affordable homes for purchase on the site. She said it was important to provide affordable rental 
housing too.  She said she would like the number of affordable units to remain the same as 
proposed but for the overall number housing units to the reduced.  

  
Chair Doran closed public comment 

 
Commission Comment: Chair Doran noted the time was 10:24 p.m. and that they would need to stop 
at 11 p.m. unless they voted to extend beyond that time. 

 
Chair Doran said the first topic staff requested input on was land use. He said overall he thought the 
project was great and very thoughtful, and the land use was appropriate. He said he liked the 

I8



Planning Commission Meeting Excerpt Minutes 
March 28, 2022 
Page 9 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

residential uses closest to the train station, the playing field close to Menlo Atherton (MA) because 
there was not a lot of parkland around MA. He said the application included a request for a zoning 
ordinance amendment and rezoning so everything was on the table. He said it was a very large site 
and a great opportunity close to transit. He said he would encourage more housing and was 
amenable to higher density for housing. He said the proposed site layout seemed respectful to 
neighbors and he liked the townhouses as a bridge to existing residential neighbors. He said he 
liked the three stories nearer the front edge of the property and the five stories further behind. He 
said he would support higher densities especially if they were behind the five stories so height was 
gradual. He said also he would support more land being used for residential than for office. He said 
he appreciated the preservation of the heritage trees.  He said access seemed well thought out. He 
said he heard the objections to residential access on Laurel Street but they needed residential 
development and the applicants had done a good job of keeping at least the commercial access off 
Laurel Street. He said regarding conceptual architectural styles that he believed it was very 
appropriate noting it was in early stages but he thought Mission style seemed appropriate. He said 
the design layout of the open space looked good. He said regarding parking locations and ratios that 
it was better than what was there now. He said regarding proposed sustainability measures it was 
still early in the design but he appreciated the LEED gold goal. He said he was generally supportive 
and would like to see more housing. 

 
Commissioner Kennedy said generally she was supportive of the proposed project. She said she 
agreed with Chair Doran’s comments on increased density and that significantly increasing density 
would be appropriate for this project. She said they had seen a number of letters contemplating what 
it would look like to take an acre and partner with an affordable housing developer to provide 
meaningful affordable housing. She said that might help them to embrace what was starting to 
happen across both Santa Clara and San Mateo Counties to move toward the attempted zero of 
homelessness. She said this site was their hope for putting the right amount of housing at the right 
densities downtown where it belonged.  

 
Commissioner Andrew Barnes asked if the project site was outside of the Downtown / El Camino 
Real Specific Plan area (Specific Plan) and if so, what community amenities program applied to it.  
Planner Sandmeier said the site was outside of the Specific Plan and there was no specific 
community amenities program. She said the applicant was requesting a new general plan 
designation and new zoning ordinance amendment that the property would be rezoned to. She said 
as part of those there could be an exchange for some type of community amenity that was 
negotiated. 

 
Commissioner Barnes said he liked the idea of a sports field but that was not a community amenity 
in the formal sense. He asked if they were considering have Parks and Recreation program the use 
of the field. Mr. Murray said they were open to how the field would be programmed. He said in a 
sense it was a community amenity as that sports field with an adjacent park area and a community 
building was really a community use rather than an amenity base for their office occupants or 
residents. He said it was meant for AYSO or other recreational leagues. He said hopefully it could 
allow for office occupants use as well but they intended it to be truly a community sports field. He 
said that it was early on and they were open to ideas on management of it.   

 
Commissioner Riggs asked what the approximate occupied density of SRI was currently. Planner 
Sandmeier said she did not have that information. Mr. Murray said they did not either as occupancy 
had been significantly disrupted by the pandemic. He said SRI’s intent was to consolidate into those 
three existing buildings totaling about 280,000 square feet but he thought currently employees were 

I9



Planning Commission Meeting Excerpt Minutes 
March 28, 2022 
Page 10 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

spread out in much more space. Commissioner Riggs said they would have to look at something 
historic then like a 2019 Google map or something like that. He said his question related to traffic 
and noted the Meta campus with three office clusters of roughly 500,000 square feet each and the 
amount of traffic going in and out of those clusters. He said over the 20 years he had regularly 
traveled down Ringwood and Ravenswood he had never seen even a fraction of that traffic in the 
SRI parking lots. He asked if that was accurate. Mr. Murray said the last Conditional Use Permit, 
approved around 2004, showed a headcount cap of about 3,200 people but that had declined 
significantly due to Covid.  

 
Commissioner Riggs said the public they heard from were supportive of the project because of 
housing, BMR units and opportunities to create more affordable housing and for special needs 
populations. He said however the project would have approximately 1.4 million square feet of office 
space and 400 residential units. He said by comparison Willow Village had over 1700 proposed 
housing units for roughly the same amount of office use, and that project was providing significantly 
less housing than the additional workers generated by it. He said the proposed Parkline project was 
not a housing development project. He said that did not mean he was opposed to it unless it was a 
housing project – he just thought it should be clear what the project was. He said one letter from the 
public asked how many workers were expected and how that related to housing / jobs imbalance 
and traffic. He said five story office buildings here would indicate a higher density. He said there 
were three parking structures proposed so he expected there was some concept of what kind of 
density was expected. He said information on that would be expected at the next session. 

 
Commissioner Riggs said regarding the proposed land use, intensity and density, that the most 
notable thing was this was not a jobs and housing imbalance correcting project. He said the question 
would be how much it would contribute to the imbalance. He said that this might not be the project 
that needed to address the imbalance, just that it was something to be noted. He said since the 
project was predominantly an office space project, he thought it made sense to put the office space 
as close to the train station as possible. He suggested that office space users might take advantage 
of transportation much better and more immediately than residents. He said that he did not really 
have any comments on the site access, design, layout of open space, parking locations or ratios as 
theoretically those would be rethought to place office closer to transit. He said regarding conceptual 
architectural styles that they were taking the correct approach, and when that style was done well, it 
was really exciting.  

 
Commissioner Harris said this was a unique opportunity for the City to transform an aging property 
with limited use to an open and mixed-use neighborhood. She said with so much community interest 
there were of course different ideas about what was wanted. She complimented the applicants on 
the 25 acres of publicly available green space, the retention of heritage trees and locating buildings 
around them, only the residential entrance on Laurel Street, listening to the community, and the 
pedestrian / bicycle paths and connectivity. She agreed they could not go wrong with the attractive 
Mission style architecture and was supportive that the five stories were set back from the three 
stories, and the 50-foot setback between the site buildings and Burgess Classics. She said her 
areas of concern included traffic impacts and mitigation. She said regarding a Transportation 
Demand Management plan (TDM) they had indicated a shuttle to Caltrain and suggested that might 
be extended to go downtown, maybe circle around to Safeway and then back again. She said she 
would like the TDM to go even further than that. She said they had had success on other projects 
with trip caps so she would like to see that. She said she would like Menlo Park to eliminate 
minimum parking requirements entirely toward significantly reducing the number of people driving 
and parking on this site as it was close to Caltrain and El Camino Real buses, and close to 

I10



Planning Commission Meeting Excerpt Minutes 
March 28, 2022 
Page 11 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

downtown amenities. She said the proposed three large parking structures took up too much land 
that could be used for housing. She asked if they had considered putting the parking underground, 
which would allow room for additional residences and reduce parking.  
 
Mr. Murray said they considered it and a big drawback was the digging as that increased 
construction timing by nearly two times, and involved environmental impact and construction noise 
impact with trucks hauling dirt away. He said while the end result made the parking sort of 
disappear, it obviously was very costly. He said with this site and being able to provide 25 acres of 
open space they did not think it was necessary to do underground parking.  
Commissioner Harris said the difference between the number of office workers for R&D versus 
regular office use was a pretty big delta, which might mean a greater parking need. She said when 
the project came back, she would like information on employee count, to see the parking reduced or 
ideas of how they might do that. She said to let the Commission know if the city would need to help 
them with parking reduction. She said they might consider charging for parking both the residents 
with unbundled parking and also the office workers or give rebates to those who did not drive to 
work. She said her second suggestion was to increase the number of housing units noting if parking 
was reduced that they would have more space. She referred to the idea of dedicating an acre to a 
nonprofit housing group to get more density and housing for people of all abilities and deeply 
affordable housing, and noted that deeply affordable housing residents were less likely to need cars 
and that would help the parking. She said as they got closer to a project submittal that she would like 
to review the recreation site to understand what made the most sense, whether it was really for the 
community, whether it was truly a recreational field and if so what type.  

 
Chair Doran noted it was 10:59 p.m. and two Commissioners were requesting to speak. He 
proposed taking a vote on extending the meeting time in a finite amount, and suggested 20 minutes 
acknowledging that some Commissioners had severe time constraints.  

 
 ACTION: M/S (Harris/Doran) to extend the meeting to 11:20 p.m.; passes 7-0. 
 

Commissioner Tate said her biggest concern was the project would not provide enough housing. 
She said she liked the idea of donating not just one but a couple of acres to a nonprofit or low-
income housing developer for affordable housing development. She said additionally she was 
concerned about the field near the existing church, as she thought the church needed quiet for their 
activities. She suggested the project team as a good neighbor might consider moving the field or to 
come to a compromise with the church. She said her assumption was there would be some sort of 
security to ensure the grounds were safe, but she had not heard that addressed in response to 
community comments.  

 
Mr. Murray said the 25 acres would be privately owned. He said it was something they were trying to 
create as an amenity and not to burden the neighbors or the city. He said he envisioned that they 
would privately develop and maintain the space and there would be some kind of public access 
license or easement to use it as a park during certain hours. He said they were open to ideas. He 
said in terms of safety late at night and early morning, as this was private property, they would be 
responsible for securing it. He said they would have every incentive to secure it as the property 
owner for the benefit of the residents who lived there. He said that was something they were very 
confident they could manage.  

 

I11



Planning Commission Meeting Excerpt Minutes 
March 28, 2022 
Page 12 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

Commissioner Tate asked if they had given consideration to donating some of the land. Mr. Murray 
said they were speaking with different groups and others about how to generate more affordable 
housing. He said the idea had been discussed and they were open to it.  

  
Commissioner Barnes said a couple of areas could use more thought. He said as he conceptualized 
the 25 acres of green space, he saw that was good for the site and for instance the office users and 
residents. He said the common area in the middle was underutilizing the site. He noted the dearth of 
playing fields in the area and suggested two fields on the site that were neither a park or a tenant 
feature amenity. He said he had no use for in lieu fees but a use for an accretive, material and 
tangible community benefit. He said he supported parceling out some of the property, an acre or so, 
for a deeply affordable housing project. He referred to traffic impacts from the project notably to the 
Willow Road, Middlefield Road and Woodland intersection. He said moving forward he would want 
discussion on what impacts the project would have transportation and transit infrastructure.  

 
Commissioner Tate said for the record that her request was for one or two acres donated to a low-
income housing group but that it was not in lieu of the BMR units the project was providing. She said 
that integrated housing was better than when it was just in one building but she understood the need 
for the latter, and they had the property size to make it happen.  

 
Commissioner DeCardy said he appreciated community interest in the project. He said what the 
applicants were trying to do and the direction they were going could work very well and there were 
challenging things to sort out. He said two things were not working and those needed to work in a 
fundamentally different way. He said one was affordable housing. He said with 400 units that 15% 
BMR would be about 60 units of affordable housing. He said that was one unit of affordable housing 
per acre on this property. He said the simplest thing would be to set a goal for affordable housing 
and then they could sort out what that required but the goal needed to be significantly higher than 60 
units. He said the second was the congestion that would come with attracting so many people to this 
area and what to do about that. He said a parking garage would not get them out of the congestion 
problem. He said the project team proposed shuttles. He said he had the opportunity to have a 
walkthrough with Mr. Murray and that was helpful. He said an electric shuttle that went from the site 
down to Caltrain was a beginning point. He said working with City Council they could open this up 
and as Commissioner Harris had commented, take the opportunity to look across the community 
and finally get connectivity from Bayfront to the downtown that would get people out of cars, work for 
this development and act as a catalyst to make that work for the rest of the community. He said the 
city had major developments from the Bayfront, along Willow Road and downtown not to mention 
what might come out of the Life Sciences District and the USGS site. He said now was the time as a 
community to address connecting all that with something other than single occupancy vehicles. He 
said it was not this project’s responsibility to own this but it was their responsibility to catalyze it to 
help make their project work.  

 
Commissioner Riggs said he supported Commissioner DeCardy’s call for action for transit from 
Bayfront, past SRI and to the Caltrain station and that would require the City Council to do 
something more locally. He said he was surprised the challenging Ravenswood and Ringwood 
intersection had not been mentioned as here was an opportunity to bring Ravenwood around the 
church property and align with Ringwood. He said the current intersection was dangerous for the 
many pedestrians coming from the high school, particularly dangerous for bicyclists going 
southbound on Middlefield Road and crossing that loop connector. He said it was an annoyance to 
everyone who had to navigate those double traffic lights and it was time to fix it.  

 

I12



Planning Commission Meeting Excerpt Minutes 
March 28, 2022 
Page 13 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org  

 
I.  Adjournment  
  

Chair Doran adjourned the meeting at 11:20 p.m. 
 
Staff Liaison: Corinna Sandmeier, Acting Principal Planner 
 
Recording Secretary: Brenda Bennett 
 
Approved by the Planning Commission on August 29, 2022 

I13



From: David Fencl
To: Sandmeier, Corinna D
Subject: Parkline
Date: Tuesday, December 6, 2022 2:24:23 PM

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Unless you recognize
the sender's email address and know the content is safe, DO NOT click links, open
attachments or reply.

I was looking at the map of the proposed Parkline development…the map was very small but there
was green at the corner of Ravenswood and Middlefield…between the church and Middlefield…if
that is a park, my experience with the police department would predict a big problem with kids
hanging around even during school days and other kids hanging out waiting for the HS kids…
Dominick  (650) 269-6279

Sent from Mail for Windows

ATTACHMENT J

J1

mailto:david@vallombrosa.org
mailto:cdsandmeier@menlopark.org
https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?LinkId=550986

	20221212 PC Agenda
	E1_20221003 PC Draft Minutes
	F1_ 715 Laurel staff report
	ATT A - Draft Resolution - UP_VAR
	Exhibit A - Project Plans
	Exhibit B - Project Description Letter
	Exhibit C - Variance Letter
	Exhibit D - Conditions of Approval

	ATT B - Location Map
	ATT C - Data Table
	ATT D - Arborist Report 

	F2 & G1_123 Independence Dr staff report
	ATT A - Location Map
	ATT C - Sept 27, 2021 excerpt minutes 
	ATT E - Previous project milestones and meetings
	ATT G - Summary of Draft EIR Impacts - Table 1-1 from Draft EIR
	ATT H - Comparision of alternatives from the Draft EIR - excerpt
	ATT I - Non-CEQA LOS Section from Draft EIR - excerpt
	ATT J- Potential improvements for intersections exceeding the LOS thresholds for Near-Term and Cumulative Plus Project conditions table
	ATT L - 123 Independence Appraisal for Bonus Level Development
	ATT N - 123 Independence FIA Report (Final)
	ATT O - Comments

	H1 & I1_Parkline Scoping and Study Session
	ATT A - Location Map
	ATT G- Bike Network
	ATT I -  March 28, 2022 PC execerpt minutes
	ATT J - Correspondence


